## **IMPORTANT NOTICE**

THE SECURITIES DESCRIBED HEREIN ARE AVAILABLE ONLY TO INVESTORS WHO ARE EITHER (1) QIBS (AS DEFINED BELOW) UNDER RULE 144A OF THE SECURITIES ACT (AS DEFINED BELOW) OR (2) ADDRESSEES WHO ARE NON-U.S. PERSONS (AS DEFINED BELOW) PURCHASING THE SECURITIES OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES IN AN OFFSHORE TRANSACTION IN RELIANCE ON REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT.

**IMPORTANT:** You must read the following disclaimer before continuing. The following disclaimer applies to the attached offering memorandum. You are therefore advised to read this disclaimer carefully before reading, accessing or making any other use of the attached offering memorandum. In accessing the attached offering memorandum, you agree to be bound by the following terms and conditions, including any modifications to them from time to time, each time you receive any information from us as a result of such access.

Confirmation of Your Representation: By accepting the e-mail and accessing the attached offering memorandum you shall be deemed to have represented that (1) (i) you are not in the United States and, to the extent you will purchase the securities described in the attached offering memorandum, you will be doing so pursuant to Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933 (the "Securities Act") OR (ii) you are acting on behalf of, or you are, a qualified institutional buyer ("QIB"), as defined in Rule 144A under the Securities Act, AND (2) you consent to the delivery of the attached offering memorandum and any amendments or supplements thereto by electronic transmission.

The attached offering memorandum has been made available to you in electronic form. You are reminded that documents transmitted via this medium may be altered or changed during the process of transmission and consequently none of J.P. Morgan Securities Asia Private Limited, Merrill Lynch (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. and Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited or any of their respective directors, employees, representatives, affiliates or agents accept any liability or responsibility whatsoever in respect of any discrepancies between the offering memorandum distributed to you in electronic format and the hard copy version. We will provide a hard copy version to you upon request.

**Restrictions:** The attached document is an offering memorandum and is being furnished in connection with an offering exempt from registration under the Securities Act solely for the purpose of enabling a prospective investor to consider the purchase of the securities described herein.

THE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN, AND WILL NOT BE, REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OR THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE OR OTHER JURISDICTION OF THE UNITED STATES AND MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD WITHIN THE UNITED STATES EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM, OR IN A TRANSACTION NOT SUBJECT TO, THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT AND ANY APPLICABLE STATE OR LOCAL SECURITIES LAWS.

NOTHING IN THIS ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION CONSTITUTES AN OFFER OF SECURITIES FOR SALE IN ANY JURISDICTION WHERE IT IS UNLAWFUL TO DO SO.

Except with respect to eligible investors in jurisdictions where such offer is permitted by law, nothing in this electronic transmission constitutes an offer or an invitation to subscribe for or purchase any of the securities described herein, and access has been limited so that it shall not constitute a general advertisement or solicitation in the United States or elsewhere. If a jurisdiction requires that the offering be made by a licensed broker or dealer and the underwriters or any affiliate of the underwriters is a licensed broker or dealer in that jurisdiction, the offering shall be deemed to be made by the underwriters or such affiliate on behalf of the Issuer in such jurisdiction.

You are reminded that you have accessed the attached offering memorandum on the basis that you are a person into whose possession the attached offering memorandum may be lawfully delivered in accordance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which you are located. If you have gained access to this transmission contrary to the foregoing restrictions, you will be unable to purchase any of the securities described therein.

**Actions That You May Not Take:** You should not reply by e-mail to this communication, and you may not purchase any securities by doing so. Any reply e-mail communications, including those you generate by using the "**Reply**" function on your e-mail software, will be ignored or rejected.

YOU ARE NOT AUTHORIZED TO AND MAY NOT FORWARD OR DELIVER THE ATTACHED OFFERING MEMORANDUM, ELECTRONICALLY OR OTHERWISE, TO ANY OTHER PERSON OR REPRODUCE SUCH OFFERING MEMORANDUM IN ANY MANNER WHATSOEVER. ANY FORWARDING, DISTRIBUTION OR REPRODUCTION OF THIS DOCUMENT AND THE ATTACHED OFFERING MEMORANDUM, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, IS UNAUTHORIZED. FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THIS DIRECTIVE MAY RESULT IN A VIOLATION OF THE SECURITIES ACT OR THE APPLICABLE LAWS OF OTHER JURISDICTIONS.

You are responsible for protecting against viruses and other destructive items. Your use of this e-mail is at your own risk and it is your responsibility to take precautions to ensure that it is free from viruses and other items of a destructive nature.



## **Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited**

(incorporated with limited liability in the Republic of Singapore)
(Company Registration Number: 193200032W)

#### U.S.\$30,000,000,000 Global Medium Term Note Program

Under the Global Medium Term Note Program described in this Offering Memorandum (the "Program"), Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited and any of its branches outside Singapore, including but not limited to its Sydney branch, ("OCBC Bank" or the "Issuer"), and certain other companies in and outside Singapore that are subsidiaries of OCBC Bank (each, a "Specified Issuer"), subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, may from time to time issue debt securities (the "Notes"). The Notes may include Subordinated Notes and Perpetual Capital Securities (each as defined herein) issued by the Issuer which may qualify as regulatory capital of the Issuer. Where used in this Offering Memorandum unless otherwise stated, "Notes" includes the Perpetual Capital Securities that may be issued from time to time under the Program. The aggregate nominal amount of Notes outstanding will not at any time exceed U.S.\$30,000,000,000 (or the equivalent in other currencies and subject to such increase as provided herein). Defined terms used in this Offering Memorandum have the meanings given to such terms in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities", "Form of Pricing Supplement relating to Notes other than Perpetual Capital Securities", "Form of Pricing Supplement relating to Perpetual Capital Securities" and "Summary of the Program" as applicable.

Application has been made for permission to deal in and for qualities of any Notes which are accounted at the line of the Perpetual of the Perpetual of the Perpetual Capital Securities".

Application has been made for permission to deal in, and for quotation of, any Notes which are agreed at the time of issue to be listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the "SGX-ST"). The relevant pricing supplement in respect of any issue of Notes (a "Pricing Supplement") will specify whether or not such Notes will be listed on the SGX-ST or any other stock exchange. There is no guarantee that an application to the SGX-ST will be approved. Admission of the Notes to the Official List of the SGX-ST is not to be taken as an indication of the merits of the Issuer, the Program or such Notes. The SGX-ST assumes no responsibility for the correctness of any of the statements made or opinions or reports contained in this Offering Memorandum.

The Program provides that Notes may be listed on such stock exchange(s) as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer (as defined herein). Unlisted Notes may be issued pursuant to the Program.

In connection with the proposed issue of Senior Notes (as defined herein) by a Specified Issuer, such Specified Issuer will have executed an accession letter agreeing to be bound by all the terms of the Program Agreement (as defined herein) and a deed of accession agreeing to be bound by all the terms of the Agency Agreement (as defined herein) and the Trust Deed (as defined herein), respectively. In connection with the proposed issue of Senior Notes denominated in Australian dollars and issued in the Australian domestic capital market ("AMTNs") by a Specified Issuer, such Specified Issuer will have executed an accession letter agreeing to be bound by all the terms of the Australian Agency Agreement and a Note (AMTN) Deed Poll (each as defined herein). From and after execution and delivery of such letters and documents, such Specified Issuer shall become and be treated as an "Issuer" for the purposes of the Program Documents (as defined in the Program Agreement) and this Offering Memorandum. References herein to "Issuer" are references to the relevant Specified Issuer in respect of (and only to the extent of) the Senior Notes issued by it and in respect of the Program Documents only to the extent that it is bound by them and such references specifically exclude any other Specified Issuer. The liability of the Specified Issuer under the Senior Notes and each of the Program Documents is several and is separate in respect of each Series (as defined herein). No Specified Issuer shall be responsible for the obligations of any other Specified Issuer under any Senior Notes issued by such Specified Issuer, or any of the Program Documents.

Each Tranche (as defined in "Summary of the Program") of Notes (other than AMTNs) in bearer form ("Bearer Notes") will be represented on issue by a temporary global note in bearer form (each a "Temporary Global Note") or a permanent global note in bearer form (each a "Permanent Global Note" and, together with the Temporary Global Notes, the "Global Notes") and will be sold in an "offshore transaction" within the meaning of Regulation S") under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933 (the "Securities Act"). Interests in a Temporary Global Note generally will be exchangeable for interests in a Permanent Global Note, or if so stated in the applicable Pricing Supplement, definitive Notes ("Definitive Notes"), on or after the date falling 40 days after the later of the commencement of the offering and the relevant issue date of such Tranche, in each case, upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership. Interests in Permanent Global Notes will be exchangeable for Definitive Notes as described under "Summary of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form".

Notes to be issued in registered form ("Registered Notes") (other than AMTNs) will be represented by registered certificates (each a "Certificate"), without interest coupons, with one Certificate being issued in respect of each Noteholder's entire holding of Registered Notes of one Series. AMTNs will be issued in registered certificated form, and will take the form of entries on a register established and maintained by a registrar in Australia and may be lodged with the clearing system ("Austraclear System") operated by Austraclear Ltd ("Austraclear"). Each Tranche of AMTNs will be represented by a certificate without coupons (each an "AMTN Certificate"), which shall be issued by the Issuer in respect of each Tranche of AMTNs. Registered Notes which are sold in an "offshore transaction" within the meaning of Regulation S ("Unrestricted Notes"), will initially be represented by a permanent registered global certificate (each an "Unrestricted Global Certificate") without interest coupons, which may be deposited on the relevant issue date: (a) with, and registered in the name of, a common depositary on what is sub-custodian for the Central Moneymarkets Unit Service ("CMU") operated by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority ("HKMA"); and (b) in the case of a Series intended to be cleared through a clearing system other than, or in addition to, Euroclear and/or Clearstream, CDP or the CMU, or delivered outside a clearing system, as agreed between the Issuer, the Issuing and Paying Agent (as defined herein), the Trustee (as defined herein) and the relevant Dealer. Registered Notes which are sold in the United States to "qualified institutional buyers" (each, a "QIB") within the meaning of Rule 144A ("Rule 144A") under the Securities Act ("Restricted Notes") will initially be represented by a permanent registered global certificate (each a "Restricted Global Certificate") and, together with the Unrestricted Global Certificate, the "Global Certificates for other Global Certificates or Definitive Notes are described in "Summa

In relation to any Tranche, the aggregate nominal amount of the Notes of such Tranche, the interest or Distribution (as defined below) (if any) payable in respect of the Notes of such Tranche, the issue price and any other terms and conditions not contained herein which are applicable to such Tranche will be set out in a Pricing Supplement which, with respect to Notes to be listed, will be delivered to the SGX-ST on or before the date of issue of the Notes of such Tranche.

Pursuant to the Monetary Authority of Singapore Act 1970 of Singapore (the "MAS Act") and the Monetary Authority of Singapore (Resolution of Financial Institutions) Regulations 2018 (the "MAS Regulations"), Subordinated Notes and Perpetual Capital Securities (each as defined herein) are eligible instruments (as defined in the MAS Regulations). Accordingly, should a Bail-in Certificate (as defined herein) be issued, Subordinated Notes and Perpetual Capital Securities (each as defined herein) may be subject to cancelation, modification, conversion and/or change in form, as set out in such Bail-in Certificate.

THE NOTES HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OR WITH ANY SECURITIES REGULATORY AUTHORITY OF ANY STATE OR OTHER JURISDICTION OF THE UNITED STATES, AND THE NOTES MAY INCLUDE BEARER NOTES THAT ARE SUBJECT TO U.S. TAX LAW REQUIREMENTS. SUBJECT TO CERTAIN EXCEPTIONS, THE NOTES MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD OR, IN THE CASE OF BEARER NOTES, DELIVERED WITHIN THE UNITED STATES OR TO, OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OR BENEFIT OF, U.S. PERSONS (AS DEFINED IN REGULATION S). THE NOTES ARE BEING SOLD OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES TO NON-U.S. PERSONS (AS DEFINED IN REGULATION S) IN RELIANCE ON REGULATION S AND WITHIN THE UNITED STATES TO QIBS IN RELIANCE ON RULE 144A.

Notes issued under the Program may be rated or unrated. When an issue of Notes is rated, its rating will not necessarily be the same as the rating applicable to the Program. A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, revision, downgrade or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

Prospective investors should have regard to the factors described under the section headed "Risk Factors" in this Offering Memorandum. This Offering Memorandum is an advertisement and is not a prospectus for the purposes of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129.

Arrangers and Dealers

**BofA Merrill Lynch** 

J.P. Morgan

**OCBC Bank** 

This Offering Memorandum dated April 6, 2022.

If you are in any doubt about this Offering Memorandum, you should consult your broker, dealer, bank manager, solicitor, certified public accountant or other professional advisor. By accepting delivery of this Offering Memorandum, you agree to the conditions described below.

This Offering Memorandum is to be read in conjunction with all documents which are deemed to be incorporated herein by reference (see "Documents Incorporated by Reference" below).

This Offering Memorandum is confidential and is being furnished by us in connection with an offering exempt from registration under the Securities Act solely for you to consider the purchase of the Notes described in this Offering Memorandum. The information contained in this Offering Memorandum has been provided by us and from other sources identified in this Offering Memorandum. Any reproduction or distribution of this Offering Memorandum, in whole or in part, and any disclosure of its contents or use of any information in this Offering Memorandum for any purpose other than considering an investment in the Notes, is prohibited.

No person has been authorized to give any information or to make any representation other than those contained in this Offering Memorandum in connection with the issue or sale of the Notes and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorized by any Issuer, or any of the Arrangers, the Dealers, the Trustee or any Agent (each as defined in "Summary of the Program"). Neither the delivery of this Offering Memorandum nor any sale made in connection herewith shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Issuer since the date hereof or the date upon which this Offering Memorandum has been most recently amended or supplemented or that there has been no adverse change in the financial position of the Issuer since the date hereof or the date upon which this Offering Memorandum has been most recently amended or supplemented or that any other information supplied in connection with the Program is correct as of any time subsequent to the date on which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing the same.

The distribution of this Offering Memorandum or any Pricing Supplement and the offering or sale of the Notes in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this Offering Memorandum or any Pricing Supplement comes are required by the Issuer, the Arrangers and the Dealers to inform themselves about and to observe any such restrictions. For a description of certain further restrictions on offers and sales of the Notes and distribution of this Offering Memorandum, see "Plan of Distribution" and "Transfer Restrictions" and the applicable Pricing Supplement.

THE NOTES MAY BE OFFERED AND SOLD OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES TO NON-U.S. PERSONS IN RELIANCE ON REGULATION S AND/OR WITHIN THE UNITED STATES TO QIBS IN RELIANCE ON RULE 144A. PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS ARE HEREBY NOTIFIED THAT SELLERS OF REGISTERED NOTES MAY BE RELYING ON THE EXEMPTION FROM THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 5 OF THE SECURITIES ACT PROVIDED BY RULE 144A. ANY SERIES OF NOTES MAY BE SUBJECT TO ADDITIONAL SELLING RESTRICTIONS. FOR A DESCRIPTION OF THESE AND CERTAIN FURTHER RESTRICTIONS ON OFFERS, SALES AND TRANSFERS OF NOTES AND THE DISTRIBUTION OF THIS OFFERING MEMORANDUM, SEE "PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION" AND "TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS" AND THE APPLICABLE PRICING SUPPLEMENT.

THE NOTES HAVE NOT BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE U.S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION OR ANY OTHER U.S. REGULATORY AUTHORITY, NOR HAVE ANY OF THE FOREGOING AUTHORITIES PASSED UPON OR ENDORSED THE MERITS OF THE OFFERING OF NOTES OR THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS OFFERING MEMORANDUM. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE IN THE UNITED STATES. THIS OFFERING MEMORANDUM DOES NOT CONTAIN ALL OF THE INFORMATION THAT WOULD BE INCLUDED IN AN OFFERING MEMORANDUM IF THE OFFERING OF THE NOTES WERE REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT.

Neither this Offering Memorandum nor any information supplied in connection with the Program constitutes an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer or the Dealers to subscribe for, or purchase, any Notes.

OCBC Bank was granted the authority to carry on banking business in Australia under the Banking Act 1959 of Australia (the "Australian Banking Act") by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority ("APRA"). The depositor protection provisions of Division 2 of Part II of the Australian Banking Act do not apply to OCBC Bank (including OCBC Bank acting through its Sydney branch). However, under Section 11 F of the Australian Banking Act, if OCBC Bank (whether in or outside Australia) suspends payment or becomes unable to meet its obligations, the assets of OCBC Bank in Australia are to be available to meet its liabilities in Australia (including where those liabilities are in respect of AMTNs issued by OCBC Bank acting through its Sydney branch) in priority to all other liabilities of OCBC Bank. Further, under Section 86 of the Reserve Bank Act 1959 of Australia, debts due by OCBC Bank to the Reserve Bank of Australia shall in any winding-up of OCBC Bank have priority over all other debts of OCBC Bank.

OCBC Bank is authorized by the Prudential Regulation Authority under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended (the "FSMA") in the United Kingdom, with firm reference number 204687. It is subject to regulation by the Financial Conduct Authority and limited regulation by the Prudential Regulation Authority.

This Offering Memorandum is not a prospectus for the purposes of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as implemented in the member states of the European Economic Area (the "EEA") (the "EU Prospectus Regulation") or Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law in the United Kingdom by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (the "UK Prospectus Regulation"). This Offering Memorandum has been prepared on the basis that all offers of the Notes will be made pursuant to an exemption under the Prospectus Regulation from the requirement to produce a prospectus in connection with offers of the Notes. Accordingly, any person making or intending to make any offer within the EEA or in the UK of Notes which are the subject of any offering contemplated in this Offering Memorandum should only do so in circumstances in which no obligation arises for OCBC Bank, or any of the Dealers to produce a prospectus for such offers.

### MIFID II PRODUCT GOVERNANCE/TARGET MARKET

The Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled "MiFID II Product Governance" which will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "MiFID II") is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the MiFID Product Governance rules under EU Delegated Directive 2017/593 (the "MiFID Product Governance Rules"), any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise neither the Arrangers nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the MiFID Product Governance Rules.

## **UK MIFIR PRODUCT GOVERNANCE/TARGET MARKET**

The Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled "UK MiFIR Product Governance" which will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the "UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules") is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the UK MiFIR Product Governance rules, any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise neither the Joint Arrangers nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules.

#### PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS

The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the EEA. For these purposes, a retail investor in the EEA means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (as amended, the "Insurance Distribution Directive"), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II. Consequently, no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the "PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.

### PROHIBITION OF SALES TO UK RETAIL INVESTORS

The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom (the "UK"). For these purposes, a retail investor in the UK means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (the "EUWA"); or (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the "FSMA") and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement the Insurance Distribution Directive, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA. Consequently, no key information document required by the PRIIPs Regulation as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the "UK PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the UK may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.

### SINGAPORE SFA PRODUCT CLASSIFICATION

In connection with Section 309B of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore, as modified or amended from time to time (the "SFA") and the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore (the "CMP Regulations 2018"), unless otherwise specified before an offer of Notes, the Issuer has determined, and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309A(1) of the SFA), that the Notes are 'prescribed capital markets products' (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).

## CERTAIN DEFINITIONS, CONVENTIONS AND PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION

In this Offering Memorandum, references to "we", "our" and "us" mean, as the context requires, Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited on an unconsolidated basis or Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. References to "OCBC Bank" or "the Issuer" are to Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited on an unconsolidated basis and references to "OCBC Group", "the Group" or "our Group" are to OCBC Bank and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. In this Offering Memorandum, references to "Note Conditions" are to the terms and conditions of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities, "Perpetual Capital Securities Conditions" are to the terms and conditions of the Perpetual Capital Securities and "Conditions" are to the Note Conditions and the Perpetual Capital Securities Conditions together.

Rounding adjustments have been made in calculating some of the financial and operating information included in this Offering Memorandum. As a result, numerical figures shown as total amounts in some tables may not be exact arithmetic aggregations of the figures that make up such total amounts.

Unless otherwise specified or required by the context: references to "days" are to calendar days; references to "years" are to calendar years; references to "China" are to the People's Republic of China and to "Greater China" are to China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan; references to "Singapore dollars" or "S\$" are to the lawful currency of Singapore; references to "Malaysian Ringgit" or "MYR" are to the lawful currency of Malaysia; references to "U.S.\$" or "U.S. dollars" are to the lawful currency of the United States; references to "£" are to the lawful currency of the United Kingdom; references to "€" are to the lawful currency of the member states of the European Union that have adopted and retained a common single currency; references to "Indonesian Rupiah" or "IDR" are to the lawful currency of the Republic of Indonesia; references to "Renminbi" or "RMB" are to the lawful currency of the People's Republic of China; all references to "HK\$" or "Hong Kong dollars" are to the lawful currency of Hong Kong and references to "AUD" and "A\$" are to the lawful currency of Australia.

In this Offering Memorandum, all of our financial information is presented on a consolidated basis, unless we state otherwise. This Offering Memorandum incorporates by reference our audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2020. Our audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021 are set forth on pages F-2 to F-155 of this Offering Memorandum.

In this Offering Memorandum,

- (a) references to "Loans to customers" refer to "Loans and bills receivable" in the financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019;
- (b) references to "Net change in life insurance fund contract liabilities" refer to "Change in life insurance fund contract liabilities" in the financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019; and
- (c) references to "Global Wholesale Banking" refer to "Global Corporate/Investment Banking" in the financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019.

For the purpose of financial reporting of business segment results, our businesses are presented under five main segments representing the key customer and product groups: Global Consumer/Private Banking, Global Wholesale Banking, Global Treasury and Markets, Insurance and Others. The Global Consumer/Private Banking segment covers consumer banking, private banking and retail brokerage services, and Global Wholesale Banking encompasses corporate

banking, corporate finance and capital market solutions. The Global Treasury and Markets segment reflects the management of the Group's asset and liability positions as well as trading activities, with income from products and services offered to customers reflected in the respective business segments. The Insurance segment covers the Group's insurance business and includes its fund management activities. The "Others" segment comprises mainly property holding, investment holding and items not attributable to the other four business segments. Where there are material changes in the organizational structure and management reporting methodologies, segment information for prior periods is restated to allow comparability.

Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) ("SFRS(I)"). The SFRS(I) differs in certain respects from generally accepted accounting principles in the United States ("U.S. GAAP"), and in other countries and from International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"). You should consult your own professional advisors for an understanding of the differences between SFRS(I) and U.S. GAAP, IFRS and the generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") of other jurisdictions and how those differences might affect the financial information contained in this Offering Memorandum. We do not expect to publish financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP or IFRS.

In this Offering Memorandum, we have adopted non-generally accepted accounting principles ("non-GAAP") measures such as adjusted average total assets, adjusted return on assets, adjusted average ordinary shareholders' equity and adjusted return on ordinary shareholders' equity, which are non-GAAP measures. Adjusted average total assets is defined as average total assets excluding life insurance fund investment securities and other assets. While adjusted average total assets and adjusted return on assets are not SFRS(I)/GAAP measures, we believe that disclosing adjusted return on assets, which is calculated by dividing profit attributable to equity holders of OCBC Bank by adjusted average total assets, allows the reader to better understand OCBC Bank's banking operations and compare these with those of similar banks. Adjusted average ordinary shareholders' equity is defined as average shareholders' equity excluding preference shares and other equity instruments. While adjusted average ordinary shareholders' equity and adjusted return on ordinary shareholders' equity are not SFRS(I)/GAAP measures, we believe that disclosing adjusted return on ordinary shareholders' equity, which is calculated by dividing profit attributable to equity holders of OCBC Bank less preference share dividends and distributions on other equity instruments by adjusted average ordinary shareholders' equity, better represents the return attributable to ordinary shareholders of OCBC Bank. We believe that these adjusted metrics allow the reader to better understand OCBC Bank's performances. The data, however, should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance prepared in accordance with SFRS(I). These non-GAAP measures should be read in conjunction with the "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and with the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Offering Memorandum.

In order to facilitate the offering of any Tranche of Notes, one or more Dealers named as stabilization manager(s) (the "Stabilization Manager(s)") (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilization Manager(s)) in the applicable Pricing Supplement, to the extent permitted by applicable laws and regulations, may engage in transactions that stabilize, maintain or otherwise affect the market price of the relevant Notes during and after the offering of the Tranche, including stabilizing or maintaining the market price of the Notes at a level above that which might otherwise prevail. No representation is made as to whether such stabilization activities will take place at all or the magnitude or effect of any such stabilizing or other transactions. Any stabilization action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the relevant Tranche of Notes is made and, if begun, may be ended at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of Notes and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche of Notes. Any such stabilization action may only be conducted outside Australia and on a market operated outside Australia.

### **DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE**

This Offering Memorandum should be read and construed in conjunction with any supplemental Offering Memorandum thereto, each applicable Pricing Supplement and all other documents which are deemed to be incorporated by reference into the relevant Offering Memorandum and in the applicable Pricing Supplement. The relevant supplemental Offering Memorandum and the applicable Pricing Supplement shall, save as specified herein and therein, be read and construed on the basis that such documents are so incorporated by reference and form part of the relevant supplemental Offering Memorandum and the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Our audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021 are set forth on pages F-2 to F-155 of this Offering Memorandum. This Offering Memorandum should also be read and construed in conjunction with (i) our audited consolidated financial statements as of and for each of the two years ended December 31, 2019 and 2020 which have been previously published and filed with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority of Singapore and (ii) any of the consolidated interim or annual financial statements (whether audited or unaudited) published subsequently to such annual financial statements, each of which shall be deemed to be incorporated in, and to form part of, this Offering Memorandum and which shall be deemed to modify or supersede the contents of this Offering Memorandum to the extent that a statement contained in any such document is inconsistent with such contents.

Any statement contained in a document incorporated by reference into this Offering Memorandum shall be deemed to be modified or superseded to the extent that a statement contained in any subsequent document which also is incorporated by reference into this Offering Memorandum modifies or supersedes such statement (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise). Any statement so modified or superseded shall not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this Offering Memorandum.

Copies of documents deemed to be incorporated by reference into this Offering Memorandum, including OCBC Bank's latest consolidated audited financial statements, may be obtained at our registered office, such other place as may also be set out in the terms and conditions of any Notes, our website (http://www.ocbc.com) or the website of the SGX-ST (http://www.sgx.com). Website addresses in this Offering Memorandum are included for reference only and the contents of any such websites are not incorporated by reference into, and do not form part of, this Offering Memorandum.

### **AVAILABLE INFORMATION**

For so long as any of the Notes are "restricted securities" within the meaning of Rule 144(a)(3) under the Securities Act, we will, during any period in which we are neither subject to Section 13 or 15(d) under the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act"), nor exempt from reporting pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b) thereunder, provide to any QIB who is a holder or beneficial owner of such restricted securities, or to any prospective purchaser of restricted securities who is a QIB, designated by such holder or beneficial owner, upon the request of such holder, beneficial owner or prospective purchaser, the information specified in Rule 144A(d)(4) under the Securities Act.

#### **INFORMATION ON WEBSITES**

As a company whose shares are quoted on the SGX-ST, we are required to make continuing disclosures under the relevant listing rules of the SGX-ST. These may be viewed at http://www.sgx.com. Further information on OCBC Bank may be found at http://www.ocbc.com. Access to such websites is subject to the terms and conditions governing the same.

The above websites and any other websites referenced in this Offering Memorandum are intended as guides as to where other public information relating to the Issuer may be obtained. Information appearing in such websites does not form part of this Offering Memorandum or the applicable Pricing Supplement and none of the Issuer, the Arrangers and the Dealers accept any responsibility whatsoever that any information, if available, is accurate and/or up-to-date. Such information, if available, should not form the basis of any investment decision by an investor to purchase or deal in any Notes.

## **ENFORCEABILITY OF JUDGMENTS**

We are a company with limited liability incorporated under the laws of Singapore. Most or all of our directors, executive officers and corporate auditors are non-residents of the United States and all or a substantial portion of our assets and the assets of these non-resident persons are located outside the United States. As a result, it may not be possible for you to effect service of process within the United States upon us or such non-resident persons, or to enforce against any of us judgments obtained in United States courts predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the United States federal or state securities laws. We have been advised by Allen & Gledhill LLP, our Singapore counsel, that judgments of United States courts based upon the civil liability provisions of United States federal or state securities laws are not enforceable in Singapore courts and that there is doubt as to whether Singapore courts will enter judgments in original actions brought in Singapore courts of civil liabilities predicated solely upon the United States federal or state securities laws.

#### FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Offering Memorandum contains forward-looking statements regarding our intent, belief or current expectations of our management with respect to the future results of our operations and financial condition and the OCBC Group, including without limitation future loan loss provisions and financial support to borrowers. In many cases but not all, the words "anticipate", "believe", "estimate", "expect", "intend", "may", "would", "could", "plan", "probability", "project", "risk", "seek", "should", "future", "target" and similar expressions, as they relate to us or our management, are intended to identify forward-looking statements. You can also identify forward-looking statements by discussions of strategy, plans or intentions. Forward-looking statements reflect our current views with respect to future events and are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including the risk factors described in this Offering Memorandum. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary materially from those described here as anticipated, believed, estimated, expected or intended.

Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve risks and uncertainties, and actual results may differ from those in the forward-looking statements as a result of various factors and the differences may be material. Potential risks and uncertainties include, without limitation, the following:

- the impact of COVID-19;
- the health of the economies of Singapore, Malaysia, Indonesia and Greater China;
- our ability to successfully implement our strategy;
- our growth and expansion in domestic and overseas markets;
- the actual growth in demand for banking and other financial products and services in the countries in which we operate, including Singapore, Malaysia, Indonesia and Greater China;

- changes in political, social, legal or economic conditions in the markets in which we and our customers operate in;
- insufficient liquidity;
- the state of the global financial system and systemic risk arising from problems of other financial institutions;
- the constraints on our operations due to capital adequacy requirements;
- the evolving capital adequacy requirements;
- our future levels of non-performing and restructured loans;
- the adequacy of our allowance for credit losses;
- the incurrence of significant credit-related costs;
- changes in credit spreads, interest rates and exchange rates;
- our ability to roll over our short-term funding sources and our exposure to credit, market and liquidity risks;
- our exposure to new risks as we expand the scope of our business;
- the success of our business alliances;
- the declines in the value of our securities portfolio;
- · revisions to actuarial assumptions;
- our ability to maintain an effective system of internal controls;
- our failure to hire and retain qualified employees;
- regulatory sanctions;
- technological changes;
- the impact of changes in accounting standards, banking laws and regulations and other regulatory changes in jurisdictions affecting our business; and
- our ability to maintain competitiveness.

Given these and other risks and uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this Offering Memorandum. We disclaim any obligation to update or to announce publicly any revision to any of the forward-looking statements contained in this Offering Memorandum to reflect any actual events or developments. The information contained in this Offering Memorandum, including without limitation the information under "Risk Factors", identifies important factors in addition to those referred to above that could cause differences.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

	Page
SUMMARY OF THE PROGRAM	12
SUMMARY FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION	25
RISK FACTORS	28
EXCHANGE RATES	67
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES OTHER THAN THE PERPETUAL CAPITAL SECURITIES	68
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE PERPETUAL CAPITAL SECURITIES	156
SUMMARY OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE NOTES WHILE IN GLOBAL FORM	233
USE OF PROCEEDS	242
BUSINESS	243
DESCRIPTION OF OCBC BANK'S SYDNEY BRANCH	292
CAPITALIZATION	293
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS	294
MANAGEMENT	322
PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS	338
SUBSIDIARIES, AFFILIATES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES	340
SUPERVISION AND REGULATION	341
UNITED STATES BENEFIT PLAN INVESTOR CONSIDERATIONS	376
TAXATION	378
PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION	401
FORM OF PRICING SUPPLEMENT RELATING TO NOTES OTHER THAN PERPETUAL CAPITAL SECURITIES	412
FORM OF PRICING SUPPLEMENT RELATING TO PERPETUAL CAPITAL SECURITIES	430
CLEARING AND SETTLEMENT	441
TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS	450
LEGAL MATTERS	454
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS	455
GENERAL INFORMATION	456
INDEX TO FINANCIAL INFORMATION	F-1

### SUMMARY OF THE PROGRAM

The following summary does not purport to be complete and is taken from, and is qualified in its entirety by, the remainder of this Offering Memorandum and, in relation to the terms and conditions of any particular Tranche or Series of Notes and the applicable Pricing Supplement. Words and expressions defined in the "Terms and Conditions of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities" (the "Note Conditions") and "Terms and Conditions of the Perpetual Capital Securities" (the "Perpetual Capital Securities Conditions" and, together with the Note Conditions, the "Conditions") shall have the same meanings in this summary.

Issuers of Senior Notes Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited or any of

its branches outside Singapore, including but not limited

to its Sydney branch, or any Specified Issuer.

**Issuer of Subordinated Notes** Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited.

Issuer of Perpetual Capital Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited.

**Description** Global Medium Term Note Program.

**Securities** 

Size Up to U.S.\$30,000,000 (or the equivalent in other

currencies at the date of issue) in aggregate nominal

amount of Notes outstanding at any one time.

Arrangers Merrill Lynch (Singapore) Pte. Ltd., J.P. Morgan

Securities Asia Private Limited and Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited (other than in connection with Notes offered or sold in reliance on Rule 144A).

Dealers Merrill Lynch (Singapore) Pte. Ltd., J.P. Morgan

Securities Asia Private Limited and Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited (other than in connection with Notes offered or sold in reliance on Rule 144A). The Issuer may from time to time terminate the appointment of any dealer under the Program or appoint additional dealers either in respect of one or more Tranches or in respect of the Program. References in this Offering Memorandum to **Permanent Dealers**" are to the persons listed above as Dealers and to such additional persons that are appointed as dealers in respect of the Program (and whose appointment has not been terminated) and to "**Dealers**" are to all Permanent Dealers and all persons appointed as a dealer in respect of one or more

Tranches.

Trustee The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch (in respect

of Notes other than AMTNs).

Issuing and Paying Agent The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch (in respect

of Notes other than AMTNs and Notes cleared through the CMU, CDP and DTC) and BTA Institutional Services Australia Limited (ABN 48 002 916 396) (in respect of

AMTNs).

**Exchange Agent** The Bank of New York Mellon.

**Calculation Agent** 

The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch (in respect of Notes other than AMTNs) and BTA Institutional Services Australia Limited (ABN 48 002 916 396) (in respect of AMTNs).

**CDP Paying Agent** 

The Bank of New York Mellon, Singapore Branch (in respect of Notes cleared through CDP).

**CMU Lodging and Paying Agent** 

The Bank of New York Mellon, Hong Kong Branch (in respect of Notes cleared through the CMU).

**U.S. Paying Agent** 

The Bank of New York Mellon (in respect of the Notes cleared through DTC).

Paying Agent in respect of AMTNs only

BTA Institutional Services Australia Limited (ABN 48 002 916 396).

Registrars

The Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV, Luxembourg Branch (in respect of Notes other than AMTNs and Notes cleared through CMU, CDP and DTC), The Bank of New York Mellon, Hong Kong Branch (in respect of Notes cleared through CMU), The Bank of New York Mellon, Singapore Branch (in respect of Notes cleared through CDP), The Bank of New York Mellon (in respect of Notes cleared through DTC) and BTA Institutional Services Australia Limited (ABN 48 002 916 396) (in respect of AMTNs).

**Transfer Agent** 

The Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV, Luxembourg Branch (in respect of Notes other than AMTNs and Notes cleared through CMU, CDP and DTC). The Bank of New York Mellon, Hong Kong Branch (in respect of Notes cleared through CMU), The Bank of New York Mellon, Singapore Branch (in respect of Notes cleared through CDP) and The Bank of New York Mellon (in respect of Notes cleared through DTC).

**Method of Issue** 

The Notes will be issued on a syndicated or nonsyndicated basis. The Notes will be issued in series (each a "Series") having one or more issue dates and on terms otherwise identical (or identical other than in respect of the first payment of interest (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) or Distributions (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable, and their issue price), to the Notes of each Series being intended to be interchangeable with all other Notes of that Series. Each Series may be issued in tranches (each a "Tranche") on the same or different issue dates. The specific terms of each Tranche (which will be supplemented, where necessary, with supplemental terms and conditions and, save in respect of the issue date, issue price, first payment of interest (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) or Distributions (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable, and principal amount of the Tranche will be identical to the terms of other Tranches of the same Series) will be set out in a Pricing Supplement.

#### **Issue Price**

#### **Form of Notes**

Notes may be issued at their principal amount or at a discount or premium to their principal amount. Partly Paid Notes may be issued, the issue price of which will be payable in two or more installments.

The Notes may be issued in bearer form ("Bearer Notes") or in registered form ("Registered Notes") only. Registered Notes will not be exchangeable for Bearer Notes and vice versa. Subordinated Notes and Perpetual Capital Securities will only be issued in registered form.

Each Tranche of Notes in bearer form will be represented on issue by a temporary global note in bearer form (each a "Temporary Global Note") or a permanent global note in bearer form (each a "Permanent Global Note" and, together with the Temporary Global Notes, the "Global Notes"), as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. Interests in Temporary Global Notes generally will be exchangeable for interests in Permanent Global Notes, or if so stated in the applicable Pricing Supplement, definitive Notes ("Definitive Notes"), after the date falling 40 days after the later of the commencement of the offering and the relevant issue date of such Tranche upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership. Interests in Permanent Global Notes will be exchangeable for Definitive Notes in whole but not in part as described under "Summary of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form".

Registered Notes (other than AMTNs) will be represented by Certificates, one Certificate being issued in respect of each Noteholder's entire holding of one Registered Notes of Series. Certificates representing Registered Notes (other than AMTNs) that are registered in the name of a nominee for one or more clearing systems are referred to as "Global Certificates". Registered Notes sold in an "offshore transaction" within the meaning of Regulation S will initially be represented by an Unrestricted Global Certificate. Registered Notes sold in the United States in reliance on Rule 144A will initially be represented by a Restricted Global Certificate.

AMTNs will be issued only as Registered Notes. AMTNs will be issued in registered certificated form and will take the form of entries on a register established and maintained by a registrar in Australia and may be lodged with the Austraclear System. Each Tranche of AMTNs will be represented by an AMTN Certificate. AMTNs will not be issued as Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities.

#### **Status of Senior Notes**

The Senior Notes will constitute direct, unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the Issuer as described in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities – Status – Status of Senior Notes".

#### **Status of Subordinated Notes**

The Subordinated Notes will constitute direct, subordinated and unsecured obligations of the Issuer as described in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities – Status – Status of Subordinated Notes".

## Subordination of the Subordinated Notes

Upon the occurrence of any winding-up proceeding (other than pursuant to a Permitted Reorganization), the rights of the Noteholders to payment of principal of and interest on the Subordinated Notes and any other obligations in respect of the Subordinated Notes are expressly subordinated and subject in right of payment to the prior payment in full of all claims of Senior Creditors and will rank senior to all share capital of the Issuer and Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities and/or as otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement or in a supplement to this Offering Memorandum. The Subordinated Notes will rank pari passu with Tier 2 Capital Securities and/or as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement or in a supplement to this Offering Memorandum and any instrument or security issued, entered into or guaranteed by the Issuer that ranks or is expressed to rank, by its terms or operation of law, pari passu with a Subordinated Note.

## Status of Perpetual Capital Securities

The Perpetual Capital Securities will constitute direct, subordinated and unsecured obligations of the Issuer as described in "Terms and Conditions of the Perpetual Capital Securities – Status – Status of Perpetual Capital Securities".

# Subordination of the Perpetual Capital Securities

Upon the occurrence of any winding-up proceeding, (other than pursuant to a Permitted Reorganization) the rights of the Securityholders to payment of principal of and Distributions on the Perpetual Capital Securities and any other obligations in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities are expressly subordinated and subject in right of payment to the prior payment in full of all claims of Senior Creditors and will rank senior to Junior Obligations. The Perpetual Capital Securities will rank pari passu with Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities and/or as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement or in a supplement to this Offering Memorandum and any instrument or security issued, entered into or guaranteed by the Issuer that ranks or is expressed to rank, by its terms or operation of law, pari passu with a Perpetual Capital Security.

## **Clearing Systems**

CDP (subject to any restrictions or conditions which may be applicable as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement), Clearstream, Euroclear, DTC, the Austraclear System and/or, in relation to any Tranche, such other clearing system as may be agreed between the Issuer, the relevant Paying Agent, the Trustee and the relevant Dealer.

Currencies

Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, Notes may be issued in any currency agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealers. Payments in respect of Notes may, subject to such compliance, be made in and/or linked to any currency or currencies other than the currency in which such Notes are denominated.

Renminbi Fallback

If by reason of inconvertibility, non-transferability or illiquidity, the Issuer is not, in its sole and absolute discretion, able to satisfy payments of principal or interest (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) or Distributions (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable, when due in Renminbi, the Issuer may settle such payment in U.S. Dollars (in the case of CMU Notes) or in Singapore dollars (in the case of CDP Notes).

**Maturities** 

Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, Senior Notes may have any maturity as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and Subordinated Notes that qualify as Tier 2 Capital Securities of the Issuer will have a minimum maturity of five years. Perpetual Capital Securities have no maturity date.

Denomination

Definitive Notes will be in denominations as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, save that unless otherwise permitted by then current laws and regulations, Notes (including Notes denominated in sterling) which have a maturity of less than one year and in respect of which the issue proceeds are to be accepted by the Issuer or the Specified Issuer in the United Kingdom or whose issue otherwise constitutes a contravention of Section 19 of the FSMA will have a minimum denomination of £100,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies). In the case of any Notes which are to be sold in the United States in reliance on Rule 144A, the minimum Specified Denomination shall be U.S.\$200,000 (or its equivalent in any other currencies as of the date of the relevant Notes) and integral multiples of U.S.\$1.000 (or its equivalent in any other currencies) in excess thereof. In the case of any Notes which are to be admitted to trading on a regulated market within the European Economic Area or in the United Kingdom or offered to the public in a Member State of the European Economic Area or in the United Kingdom in circumstances which require the publication of a Prospectus under either the EU Prospectus Regulation or in the UK Prospectus Regulation, the minimum Specified Denomination shall be €100,000 or £100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency as at the date of issue of the relevant Notes).

Notes issued in, or into, Australia may be issued in such denominations as may be agreed save that:

- the aggregate consideration payable to the Issuer by each offeree is at least A\$500,000 (or the equivalent in another currency and disregarding moneys lent by the Issuer or its associates to the purchaser) or the issue results from an offer or invitation of those Notes which otherwise does not require disclosure to investors under Part 6D.2 or Chapter 7 of the Corporations Act 2001 of the Commonwealth of Australia (the "Australian Corporations Act");
- (ii) the issue is not to a "retail client" for the purposes of Section 761 G of the Australian Corporations Act;
- (iii) the issue complies with all other applicable laws;and
- (iv) does not require any document to be lodged with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission or ASX Limited.

Fixed Rate Notes and Fixed Rate Perpetual Capital Securities

**Rate Perpetual Capital Securities** 

Floating Rate Notes and Floating

Fixed interest (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) or Distributions (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable, will be payable in arrear on the date or dates in each year specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Floating Rate Notes will bear interest and Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities will confer the right to receive Distributions determined separately for each Series as follows:

- (i) on the same basis as the floating rate under a notional interest rate swap transaction in the relevant Specified Currency governed by an agreement incorporating the 2021 ISDA Definitions, as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc.; or
- (ii) by reference to EURIBOR, HIBOR, SONIA Benchmark or SOFR Benchmark (or such other benchmark as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) as adjusted for any applicable margin; or
- (iii) by reference to SORA Benchmark (or such other benchmark as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement for Notes or, as the case may be, Perpetual Capital Securities denominated in Singapore dollars) as adjusted for any applicable margin.

Interest periods (in respect of Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) or Distribution Periods (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only) will be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

**Zero Coupon Notes** 

Zero Coupon Notes may be issued at their nominal amount or at a discount to it and will not bear interest. Zero Coupon Notes will not be issued as Perpetual Capital Securities.

Change of Interest Basis or Distribution Basis Notes or, as the case may be, Perpetual Capital Securities may be converted from one interest basis (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) or one Distributions basis (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable, to another in the manner specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

**Index Linked Notes** 

Payments of principal in respect of Index Linked Redemption Notes or interest in respect of Index Linked Interest Notes will be calculated by reference to such index and/or formula as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. Index Linked Notes will not be issued as Perpetual Capital Securities.

**Equity Linked Notes** 

Payments of principal in respect of Equity Linked Redemption Notes and interest in respect of Equity Linked Interest Notes will be calculated by reference to such shares and/or formula as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. Zero Coupon Notes will not be issued as Perpetual Capital Securities.

**Credit Linked Notes** 

Terms applicable to Credit Linked Notes, including the applicable settlement terms upon the default of a reference entity or obligation, will appear in the applicable Pricing Supplement. Equity Linked Notes will not be issued as Perpetual Capital Securities.

**Bond Linked Notes** 

Payments of principal and/or interest in respect of Bond Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to such bonds and/or formula as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. Bond Linked Notes will not be issued as Perpetual Capital Securities.

**Dual Currency Notes** 

Payments (whether in respect of principal or interest and whether at maturity or otherwise) in respect of Dual Currency Notes will be based on such rates of exchange as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. Dual Currency Notes will not be issued as Perpetual Capital Securities.

Interest Periods, Interest Rates,
Distribution Periods and
Distribution Rates

Redemption of the Notes (other than the Perpetual Capital Securities)

The length of the interest periods (in respect of Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities), Distribution Periods (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only) and the applicable interest rate (in respect of Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities), Distribution rates (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), or their methods of calculation may differ from time to time or be constant for any Series. Notes may have a maximum interest rate (in respect of Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) or maximum Distribution rate (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), a minimum interest rate (in respect of Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) or minimum Distribution rate (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), or both. The use of interest accrual periods permits the Notes (other than Perpetual Capital Securities) to bear interest at different rates in the same interest period. The use of Distribution accrual periods permits the Perpetual Capital Securities to confer the right to receive Distributions at different rates in the same Distribution period. All such information will be set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

The Pricing Supplement issued in respect of each issue of Senior Notes will indicate either that the Senior Notes cannot be redeemed prior to their stated maturity (other than in specified installments, if applicable, or for taxation reasons or following an Event of Default) or that such Senior Notes will be redeemable (in whole or in part) at the option of the Issuer and/or the Noteholders (upon giving notice to the Noteholders), on a date or dates specified prior to such stated maturity and at a price or prices and on such terms as are indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

The Pricing Supplement issued in respect of each issue of Subordinated Notes will indicate either:

- that such Subordinated Notes will be redeemable prior to their stated maturity (in whole, with the prior approval of the MAS) at the option of the Issuer for taxation reasons; or
- (ii) that such Subordinated Notes will be redeemable (in whole, with the prior approval of the MAS) following a Change of Qualification Event (as defined below) on a date or dates specified prior to such stated maturity and at a price or prices and on such terms as are indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement; or
- (iii) that such Subordinated Notes will be redeemable (in whole, with the prior approval of the MAS) at the option of the Issuer; or

(iv) that such Subordinated Notes will be redeemable (in whole, with the prior approval of the MAS) on such other terms as may be indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

The applicable Pricing Supplement will specify the basis for calculating the redemption amounts payable.

Redemption of the Perpetual Capital Securities

The applicable Pricing Supplement issued in respect of each issue of Perpetual Capital Securities will indicate that the Perpetual Capital Securities cannot be redeemed other than, with the prior approval of the MAS, at the option of the Issuer: (i) for taxation reasons; or (ii) following a Change of Qualification Event; or (iii) on such other terms, as may be indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

The applicable Pricing Supplement will specify the basis for calculating the redemption amounts payable.

Redemption by Installments

The Pricing Supplement issued in respect of each issue of Notes that are redeemable in two or more installments will set out the dates on which, and the amounts in which, such Notes may be redeemed.

Variation instead of Redemption of the Subordinated Notes and the Perpetual Capital Securities The Issuer may, subject to the approval of the MAS, vary the terms of the Subordinated Notes or the Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, so they remain or become Qualifying Securities (as defined in the relevant Conditions) as provided in Note Condition 5(h) (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) or Perpetual Capital Securities Condition 6(f) (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable.

Loss Absorption upon a Trigger Event in respect of the Subordinated Notes or the Perpetual Capital Securities

The applicable Pricing Supplement will specify whether "Write-off" or "Conversion" applies as the relevant Loss Absorption Option to the Subordinated Notes or the Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, upon the occurrence of a Trigger Event. If "Write-off" is specified, the provisions of Note Conditions 6(b) and 6(c) (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) or Perpetual Capital Securities Conditions 7(b) and 7(c) (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only) shall apply. If "Conversion" is specified, the terms applicable thereto will be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Contractual Recognition of Bail-In regime in respect of Subordinated Notes and Perpetual Capital Securities

The Trustee (on behalf of the holders of Subordinated Notes or the holders of Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable) and each holder of a Subordinated Note or a Perpetual Capital Security shall be subject, and shall be deemed to agree, to be bound by and acknowledge that the Subordinated Notes or the Perpetual Capital Securities, as the case may be, and each holder may be subject to cancelation, modification, conversion, change in form, or have the effect as if a right of modification, conversion, or change of form had been exercised by the Monetary Authority of Singapore ("MAS") in the exercise of the MAS' powers under Division 4A of Part IVB of the MAS Act without prior notice. The Trustee (on behalf of the holders of Subordinated Notes or the holders of the Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable) and each holder of a Subordinated Note or a Perpetual Capital Security shall be subject, and shall be deemed to agree, to be bound by and acknowledge that they are each subject to, having the Subordinated Notes or a Perpetual Capital Security, being the subject of the exercise of the MAS' powers under Division 4A of Part IVB of the MAS Act. The Trustee (on behalf of the holders of Subordinated Notes or the holders of the Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable) and each holder of a Subordinated Note or a Perpetual Capital Security shall be deemed to agree to be bound by the terms of a Bail-in Certificate (as defined in Note Condition 6(d) or Perpetual Capital Securities Condition 7(d), as applicable).

**Negative Pledge** 

**Cross Default** 

**Events of Default in respect of the Senior Notes** 

Default and Enforcement in respect of the Subordinated Notes

None.

None.

Events of Default for the Senior Notes are set out in Note Condition 10(a).

If a Default in respect of the payment of principal of or interest on the Subordinated Notes occurs and is continuing, the sole remedy available to the Trustee shall be the right to institute proceedings in Singapore (but not elsewhere) for the winding-up of the Issuer. If the Issuer shall default in the performance of any obligation contained in the Trust Deed or the Subordinated Notes other than a Default specified in the Note Conditions, the Trustee and the Noteholders shall be entitled to every right and remedy given under the Note Conditions and the Trust Deed or existing at law or in equity or otherwise, provided, however, that the Trustee shall have no right to enforce payment under or accelerate payment of any Subordinated Note except as provided in the Note Conditions and the Trust Deed.

If any court awards money damages or other restitution for any default with respect to the performance by the Issuer of its obligations contained in the Trust Deed, the relevant Subordinated Notes, the payment of such money damages or other restitution shall be subject to the subordination provisions set out in the Note Conditions and the Trust Deed.

Default and Enforcement in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities

If a Default in respect of the payment of principal of or Distribution on the Perpetual Capital Securities occurs and is continuing, the sole remedy available to the Trustee shall be the right to institute proceedings in Singapore (but not elsewhere) for the winding-up of the Issuer. If the Issuer shall default in the performance of any obligation contained in the Trust Deed, the relevant Perpetual Capital Securities other than a Default specified in the Perpetual Capital Securities Conditions, the Trustee and the Securityholders shall be entitled to every right and remedy given under the Perpetual Capital Securities Conditions or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or otherwise, provided, however, that the Trustee shall have no right to enforce payment under or accelerate payment of any Perpetual Capital Security except as provided in the Perpetual Capital Securities Conditions and the Trust Deed.

If any court awards money damages or other restitution for any default with respect to the performance by the Issuer of its obligations contained in the Trust Deed, the relevant Perpetual Capital Securities, the payment of such money damages or other restitution shall be subject to the subordination provisions set out in the Perpetual Capital Securities Conditions and the Trust Deed.

Each Tranche of Notes issued under the Program may be rated or unrated. When a Tranche of Notes is rated, its rating will not necessarily be the same as the rating applicable to the Program. A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, revision, downgrade or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

All payments of principal and interest (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) or Distributions (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable, by or on behalf of the Issuer in respect of the Notes, the Receipts and the Coupons shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, any taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or within a Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax, unless such withholding or deduction is required by law. In that event, the Issuer shall pay such additional amounts as shall result in receipt by the Noteholders, Receiptholders, Couponholders or, as the case may be, Securityholders of such amount as would have been received by them had no such withholding or deduction been required, subject to certain exceptions.

Rating

Withholding Tax

## **Governing Law**

Listing

**Selling Restrictions** 

**Transfer Restrictions** 

The Pricing Supplement issued in respect of each issue of Notes will state whether such Notes will be governed by (i) English law, except for the provisions of the Subordinated Notes and the Perpetual Capital Securities in relation to subordination, set-off and payment void, default and enforcement, which shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of Singapore, (ii) the laws of New South Wales, Australia (in respect of AMTNs), or (iii) the laws of Singapore.

Application has been made for Notes issued under the Program which are agreed at the time of issue to be so listed, to be listed on the SGX-ST. For so long as any Notes are listed on the SGX-ST and the rules of the SGX-ST so require, such Notes will be traded on the SGX-ST in a minimum board lot size of \$\$200,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies) or such other amount as may be allowed or required from time to time. The Notes may also be listed on such other or further stock exchange(s) as may be agreed in relation to each Series.

Unlisted Notes may also be issued.

United States, United Kingdom, European Economic Area, Singapore, Japan, Hong Kong and Australia. See "Plan of Distribution".

Notes in bearer form will be issued in compliance with U.S. Treas. Reg. §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D) (or any successor rules in substantially the same form that are applicable for purposes of Section 4701 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code")) ("TEFRA D") unless (i) the applicable Pricing Supplement states that Notes are issued in compliance with U.S. Treas. Reg. § 1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(C) (or any successor rules in substantially the same form that are applicable for purposes of Section 4701 of the Code) ("TEFRA C") or (ii) the Notes are issued other than in compliance with the TEFRA D or the TEFRA C but in circumstances in which the Notes will not constitute "registration required obligations" under the United States Tax Equity and Fiscal Responsibility Act of 1982 ("TEFRA"), which circumstances will be referred to in the applicable Pricing Supplement as a transaction to which TEFRA is not applicable.

There are restrictions on the transfer of Notes sold pursuant to Regulation S prior to the expiration of the relevant Distribution Compliance Period (as defined in "Plan of Distribution") and on the transfer of Registered Notes sold pursuant to Rule 144A. See "Transfer Restrictions".

#### **ERISA Considerations**

Unless otherwise provided in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the Notes may be purchased and held by an employee benefit plan subject to Title I of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("ERISA"), an individual retirement account or other plan subject to Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), or an entity whose underlying assets are considered to include "plan assets" of any such plan, account or arrangement. A fiduciary of an employee benefit plan subject to ERISA must determine that the purchase and holding of a note is consistent with its fiduciary duties under ERISA. The fiduciary of an ERISA plan, as well as any other prospective investor subject to Section 4975 of the Code or any similar law, must also determine that its purchase and holding of the Notes does not result in a non-exempt prohibited transaction, as defined in Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code, or violate any similar law. Each purchaser and transferee of a Note who is subject to ERISA, Section 4975 of the Code or any similar law will be deemed to have represented by its acquisition and holding of the Note that its acquisition and holding of the Notes does not constitute or give rise to a non-exempt prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA, Section 4975 of the Code or any similar law.

**Legal Entity Identifier** 

In the case of the Issuer acting through its registered office in Singapore is 5493007O3QFXCPOGWK22 or as otherwise specified for a Specified Issuer as set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

## SUMMARY FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION

The following table sets out the summary financial and other information derived from our audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the three years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021, each prepared in accordance with SFRS(I).

The financial information is based on, and should be read in conjunction with: (i) our audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021 and the notes related thereto and which are set forth beginning on page F-2 of this Offering Memorandum; (ii) our audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2020 and the notes related thereto which are incorporated by reference into this Offering Memorandum; and (iii) the section entitled "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations".

Our audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021 differ in certain material respects from U.S. GAAP. Investors should consult their own professional advisors for an understanding of the differences between SFRS(I) and U.S. GAAP, IFRS and the generally accepted accounting principles of other jurisdictions and how those differences might affect the financial information contained in this Offering Memorandum.

	Year ended December 31,		
	2019	2020	2021
	S\$	S\$	S\$
		(in millions)	
Summary income statement information:			
Interest income	12,098	9,143	7,425
Interest expense	(5,767)	(3,177)	(1,570)
Net interest income	6,331	5,966	5,855
Premium income	10,965	14,592	17,987
Investment income	6,911	6,298	1,519
Net claims, surrenders and annuities	(6,404)	(9,574)	(10,772)
Net change in life insurance fund contract	()	(0.000)	(, , , , , , , )
liabilities	(8,557)	(9,009)	(4,196)
Commission and others	(2,136)	(1,609)	(3,401)
Profit from life insurance	779	698	1,137
Premium income from general insurance	197	201	197
Fees and commissions (net)	2,123	2,003	2,245
Dividends	92	78	113
Net trading income <sup>(1)</sup>	977	863	763
Other income <sup>(1)</sup>	372	330	286
Non-interest income	4,540	4,173	4,741
Total income	10,871	10,139	10,596

	Year ended December 31,		
	2019	2020	2021
	S\$	S\$ S\$	S\$
		(in millions)	
Staff costs	(2,840)	(2,748)	(3,028)
Other operating costs	(1,804)	(1,691)	(1,736)
Total operating expenses	(4,644)	(4,439)	(4,764)
Operating profit before allowances and			
amortization	6,227	5,700	5,832
Amortization of intangible assets	(103)	(104)	(103)
Allowances for loans and other assets	(890)	(2,043)	(873)
Operating profit after allowances and			
amortization	5,234	3,553	4,856
Share of results of associates, net of tax	566	612	824
Profit before income tax	5,800	4,165	5,680
Income tax expense	(778)	(437)	(648)
Profit for the period	5,022	3,728	5,032
Profit attributable to:			
Equity holders of OCBC Bank	4,869	3,586	4,858
Non-controlling interests	153	142	174
	5,022	3,728	5,032

	As of December 31,		
	2019	2020	2021
	S\$	S\$	S\$
	(in millions, except for percentages		
Summary balance sheet information:			
Loans to customers <sup>(1)</sup>	262,348	263,538	286,281
Placements with and loans to banks	35,864	32,816	25,462
Total assets	491,691	521,395	542,187
Deposits of non-bank customers	302,851	314,907	342,395
Deposits and balances of banks	8,250	9,586	8,239
Total liabilities	443,088	470,219	487,849
Total equity	48,603	51,176	54,338
Credit quality information:			
Total non-performing loans	3,838	3,917	4,215
Total non-performing loans as a percentage of gross loans	1.5%	1.5%	1.5%
Total non-performing assets	3,883	4,005	4,338
Substandard	2,330	2,171	2,398
Doubtful	1,119	1,511	1,405
Loss	434	323	535
Allowances for impaired assets	1,397	1,815	1,537
Consolidated capital information:			
Common Equity Tier 1 capital	31,800	33,206	34,845
Tier 1 capital	33,331	34,436	36,076
Eligible total capital	35,992	38,966	39,573
Total risk weighted assets	213,356	218,145	224,866
CET1 CAR	14.9%	15.2%	15.5%
Tier 1 CAR	15.6%	15.8%	16.0%
Total CAR	16.8%	17.9%	17.6%

Note:

<sup>(1)</sup> Net of allowances.

## **RISK FACTORS**

Prior to making an investment decision, investors should carefully consider, along with other matters set forth in this Offering Memorandum, the following risk factors. These risk factors are not necessarily of equal importance, likelihood of occurrence or duration. Additionally, some risk factors may be related to others, and the occurrence of events described in one risk factor could increase the likelihood of occurrence of events described in others. The occurrence of any of the following events could have a material adverse effect on our business including our ability to grow our asset portfolio, the quality of our assets, our liquidity, our financial performance, our ability to implement our strategy and our ability to repay the interest or principal on the Notes in a timely fashion or at all. Terms used but not defined in this or prior sections have the meanings given to them in the other sections of this Offering Memorandum.

### Risks Relating to the Current Financial Environment

Global and regional geopolitical economic and financial conditions could adversely affect our operations, asset quality and growth and cause our business to suffer.

The OCBC Group has been, and in the future will continue to be, materially affected by geopolitical, economic and market conditions, including factors such as the liquidity of the global financial markets, the level and volatility of debt and equity prices, interest rates, currency and commodity prices, investor sentiment, inflation and the availability and cost of capital and credit.

There are a number of uncertainties ahead in the global markets. The continuing COVID-19 pandemic worldwide, including the places of businesses at which OCBC Group operates, has a significant adverse impact on the global economy due to the disruptions around the world and across all social and economic activities, causing large scale dislocation to global supply chains, border controls and travel restrictions, halting production, restricted labor supply, reducing demand and inflicting loss in income. It has also resulted in weakened sentiment in consumption and retail, travel, hospitality related sectors and overall confidence. As COVID-19 evolves into a more livable endemic, there will be more pressures to re-shore certain manufacturing activities and ensure self-sufficiency while putting more emphasis on diversification of the production bases away from China. In addition, the emergence of new COVID-19 variants could lead to resurgence in infection rates and re-imposition of tight border control and disruptions and restrictions on movement and economic activities, posing further economic growth risk. The resurgence in infection rates and fatalities could lead to further restrictions which in turn could prolong production and supply-chain disruptions and delay the restoration of business and consumer confidence. These may result in a prolonged global economic crisis or recession, which may in turn adversely impact the OCBC Group's business, financial condition and results of operations.

While the OCBC Group maintains capital buffers above the regulatory requirement, the market volatility arising from the COVID-19 outbreak may have a material impact on the OCBC Group's capital position. In the event of a continued market downturn and/or sustained market volatility, there is no assurance that the OCBC Group's business, financial condition and results of operations would not be materially affected.

In China, concerns include bilateral trade relations and friction with the U.S. and managing an economic slowdown and putting in place new legal frameworks to deal with an expected rise in defaults in its bond market amidst continued structural imbalances in the China economy. The Sino-US trade tensions have brought uncertainty into world markets with the imposition of tariffs on products and foreign technology restrictions. These restrictions and tariffs have disrupted supply chains, created uncertainty for companies, raised costs for consumers and caused the global growth to slow. Policymakers are steering the economy towards a path of sustainable growth for the long term, which has resulted in slower growth as the economy shifts away from relying on real estate investment and towards relying on consumption and services to drive growth. China's rising leverage is also a growing risk and it continues to face vulnerabilities associated with high corporate indebtedness, particularly in sectors with overcapacity and deteriorating profitability. Credit growth still outpaces nominal GDP growth, despite monetary and regulatory tightening.

The implications for the world and the OCBC Group are significant. First, a rise in global trade protectionism will negatively impact the trade-dependent economies in Asia. Second, with the world entering a third year of the pandemic in 2022, the end of the moratorium on loan repayments and reduction of governments' fiscal stimulus plans could expose bad loans and asset quality on banks' balance sheets, although this has been modest thus far. Third, normalization of monetary policies, such as the tapering of asset purchase and interest rate hikes, have also started in various parts of the world and if mis-calibrated, could have adverse implications to economic growth. On the other hand, if inflation is not managed properly by governments and central banks and there is a continued sharper-than-expected rise in inflation, this could also lead to more downside risks for global economies and impact economic growth, including in the countries we operate in. Fourth, while the OCBC Group's direct exposures in Europe and the United Kingdom are not material, financial market volatility and increased uncertainty may have a broader global economic impact that may in turn have a material adverse effect on the OCBC Group's business, financial condition and results of operations.

To the extent uncertainty regarding the economic outlook continues to negatively impact consumer confidence and consumer credit factors globally, the OCBC Group's business and results of operations could be significantly and adversely affected. See further "Risk Factors – Risks relating to the Current Financial Environment" – Terrorism, epidemics and other events could adversely affect the economies of countries where we operate and our business" for details on the impact of COVID-19 on the OCBC Group's business and results of operations.

We offer banking and financial services to our customers globally and throughout the Asia Pacific region, particularly to those in Singapore, Greater China, Malaysia and Indonesia. As such, our financial performance, business growth and portfolio quality are substantially dependent on the health of the economies of Singapore, Greater China, Malaysia and Indonesia, which in turn are heavily dependent on international trade, investment and other global economic factors discussed above.

A further slowdown in the rate of growth or a contraction in the Singaporean or the Malaysian economy or other markets in which we operate, such as Indonesia or Greater China, could result in lower demand for credit and other financial products and services and higher defaults among corporate and retail borrowers, which could materially and adversely impact our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. The Malaysian economy remains susceptible to internal sizable household debt levels and external shocks such as a global growth slowdown or geopolitical tensions. In Indonesia, faster and larger increases in U.S. interest rates are risks to the Indonesian economy's prospects, as they could lead to capital outflows and put pressure on the Indonesian Rupiah.

Our operations are exposed to the political and social environment of the countries in which we operate. Volatility in social and political conditions and geopolitical risks may interrupt, limit or otherwise affect our operations and in turn adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Additionally, the political instability in the Middle East is still ongoing. Geopolitical tensions in the Indo-pacific region may also continue to disrupt regional stability. The ongoing war between Russia and Ukraine has also caused disruptions to global supply chains, increased inflationary pressures from a rise in energy and commodities prices and increased volatility in global markets. The addition of various types of sanctions on Russia, Russian banks and businesses and certain Russian individuals by the U.S., the European Union and other countries, including Singapore, could also disrupt businesses and cause greater geopolitical uncertainty globally. The fast-growing refugee situation in Europe as a result of the Russia-Ukraine conflict may also negatively European economies. Such conflicts and geopolitical tensions, especially if protracted, could have a material impact on economic growth and global markets, including in the countries we operate in.

The regulatory environment for financial institutions is facing unprecedented change in the post-financial crisis environment, and regulators are increasingly viewing us, as well as other financial institutions globally, as generally presenting a higher risk profile than in the past.

We are subject to a wide variety of banking, insurance and financial services laws, regulations, regulatory policies and many regulatory and enforcement authorities in several jurisdictions. The global financial crisis in particular has led to significant and unprecedented changes in the laws, regulations and regulatory policies of Singapore and the other jurisdictions in which we operate. Such changes may include new, revised or more burdensome standards with respect to regulatory capital requirements, leverage or liquidity standards, cross-border capital flows, local lending obligations, management compensation, consumer protection and risk management, among other areas. We may also incur increased compliance costs associated with laws, regulations and standards enacted outside of our primary markets, such as the United States Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act and the Common Reporting Standard developed by the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development.

The MAS and other regulators regularly review our operations and there can be no guarantee that any regulator will agree with our internal assessments of asset quality, provisions, risk management, capital adequacy, management functioning, other measures of the safety and soundness of our operations or compliance with applicable laws, regulations or regulatory policies. Our ability to predict future legal or regulatory changes is limited and we may face greatly enhanced legal or regulatory burdens without advanced notice. We cannot predict the timing or form of any current or future regulatory or law enforcement initiatives, which are increasingly common for international banks and financial institutions.

Any such changes to laws, regulations or regulatory policies, including their interpretation or application, may result in increased expenses or operational restrictions, revisions to our business operations, limitations on the products and services we offer, diminished asset values, increased cost of funds or limits on the collateral available for our loans, which may reduce our profitability or force us to forgo potentially profitable business opportunities. In addition, we may face adverse legal or regulatory actions and higher compliance costs from the increased review and scrutiny. Regulators may find that we are not in compliance with applicable laws, regulations or regulatory policies or with the regulators' revised interpretations of such laws, regulations or regulatory policies, and may take formal or informal actions against us. If taken, such formal or informal actions might force us to make additional provision for our non-performing assets, divest our assets, adopt new compliance programs or policies, remove personnel or undertake other changes to our business operations. Any of these changes, if required, could reduce our profitability by restricting our operations, reducing our capitalization, imposing new costs or harming our reputation.

Systemic risk resulting from failures in the banking industry and financial difficulties of other financial institutions could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Within the banking industry, the default of any institution could lead to defaults by other institutions. Concerns about, or a default by, one institution could lead to significant liquidity problems, losses or defaults by other institutions because the commercial soundness of many financial institutions may be closely related as a result of their credit, trading, clearing or other relationships. This risk is sometimes referred to as "systemic risk" and may adversely affect financial intermediaries, such as clearing agencies, clearing houses, banks, securities firms and exchanges with whom we interact on a daily basis. Any default by other institutions or any difficulties or instability of the financial system in general could create an adverse market perception and materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

### **Risks Relating to Our Business**

## We face increased competition which may result in decreased loan margins and reduce our market share.

We face intense competition from other commercial banks, investment banks, insurance companies and non-bank finance companies. Our primary competitors consist of other Singapore banks, major foreign banks licensed in Singapore and other financial institutions in Southeast Asia, Greater China and other markets in which we operate.

In recent years, the Singapore government has taken steps to liberalize the Singapore banking industry, which has resulted in increased competition among domestic and foreign banks operating in Singapore, leading to reduced margins for certain banking products. In particular, the MAS, which supervises banks in Singapore, has granted Qualifying Full Bank ("QFB") licenses to various foreign financial institutions since 1999. QFBs are permitted to establish operations in up to 25 service locations in Singapore which can be used for branches or off-site Automated Teller Machines ("ATMs") or cash deposit machines, and are also permitted to share ATMs among themselves. Foreign banks granted such licenses face fewer restrictions on their Singapore dollar deposit-taking and lending activities. In June 2012, the MAS indicated that it will continue to allow greater foreign bank participation in the Singapore banking industry and refine the QFB system. including the addition of the "significant rooted foreign bank" ("SRFB") framework. Certain QFBs that meet MAS' qualifications for being "significantly rooted" and are from jurisdictions that have a Free Trade Agreement with Singapore may be allowed to have an additional 25 places of business in Singapore, of which 10 may be branches. The MAS announced in August 2020 that SRFB privileges will be awarded to one of the other banks in Singapore, and that the SRFB framework will be enhanced such that the MAS will consider granting an additional full bank license to an SRFB that substantially exceeds the SRFB baseline criteria, enabling such an SFRB to have the flexibility to establish subsidiaries, including with joint-venture partners, to operate new or alternative business models. In recent years, the Singapore government has also allowed more foreign banks to obtain "wholesale banking" licenses to enable them to expand their Singapore dollar wholesale banking business in Singapore and to broaden the scope of Singapore dollar banking activities in which foreign banks may participate. Further, since the implementation of the United States Singapore Free Trade Agreement, which was signed in May 2003, Singapore banks, including us, are subject to additional competition in areas that were traditionally the stronghold of local banks. This trade agreement has removed QFB and wholesale bank license quotas for U.S. banks and significantly relaxed certain other restrictions on international banking activities. The European Union-Singapore Free Trade Agreement, which entered into force in November 2019, also included SRFB commitments. Further liberalization of the Singapore financial sector could lead to a greater presence or new entries of domestic and foreign banks offering a wider range of products and services, which could adversely impact our competitive environment.

In December 2020, the MAS announced the successful applicants of two digital full bank ("**DFB**") licenses and two digital wholesale bank ("**DWB**") licenses. The new digital banks are expected to commence operations in 2022. The digital bank licenses will allow entities, including non-bank players, to conduct digital banking businesses in Singapore. Additionally, one of the other banks in Singapore which was awarded SFRB privileges has also announced a digital banking joint venture with NTUC Enterprise Co-operative Limited to launch a digital-only bank in Singapore.

There can be no assurance that we will be able to maintain our competitive position or compete successfully with other domestic and foreign financial institutions or that such increased competition will not have a material adverse effect on our business. If we are unable to provide competitive products and services or fail to attract new customers and/or retain existing customers, we may experience decreases on our interest, fee and commission income, and/or lose market share, the occurrence of any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

## We may be exposed to new or increased risks as we expand the range of our products and services and the geographic scope of our business.

Building growth in overseas markets forms a key pillar of our strategy.

Our regional expansion into Indonesia, Greater China and other Asian markets outside of Singapore and Malaysia increases our risk profile and exposure to asset quality problems. This expansion and operation of our overseas business and our strategy to further deepen our presence in the international markets may further increase our exposure to risks of adverse developments in foreign economies and markets, including interest rate and foreign exchange rate risk and regulatory and political risk. Our overseas expansion also exposes us to the compliance risks and the credit and market risks specific to the countries and regions in which we operate. There can be no assurance that such regional expansion will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects, or that our credit and provisioning policies will be adequate in relation to such risks.

Taking into consideration the fluctuations and changes in customer behavior, rising smart device and social media usage as well as increasing use of non-bank players for effecting payments. traditional banking is fast changing. The rapidly changing financial landscape, advances in the application of digital technology and the attendant cyber security risks, together with the entry of global e-commerce platform and Fintech companies offering financial services, require us to be highly adaptable and responsive to the new demands and competition. As part of our business strategy, we are expanding our distribution channels and our range of products and services beyond our traditional commercial banking business to other services. Accordingly, we will need to develop, invest in and implement systems to manage new products and services and distribution channels. We may incur expenses necessary to address regulatory requirements that enhance consumer protections, including improvements to information technology systems and employee training. There may be risks associated with our new services and businesses for which we have limited or no experience. As a result, our risk management systems may prove to be insufficient and may not be effective in all cases or to the degree required. Further, while digitalization has provided new business opportunities, it has also introduced new and increased cyber risk exposures for the Group. Despite increased investments in digital technologies and new digital initiatives, digitalization remains a fast moving and evolving landscape and there can be no assurance that the Group will be able to fully and successfully execute its strategy in the digitalization space.

## Any substantial increase in non-performing assets, non-performing loans and allowances could impair our financial condition.

Our financial condition and results of operations have been and will continue to be affected by the quality of our assets, including loans and allowances. If unexpected domestic or global economic events happen, our borrowers do not repay their loans, and past experience, evaluations, assumptions and estimates about our borrowers, valuation of collateral and guarantees, changes in levels of market interest rates, and general economic and business conditions upon which our allowances are based fail to provide an accurate representation of actual future incurred losses, among other things, our non-performing assets, NPLs and allowances may increase significantly above the current level. Changes in law or government policies that have an adverse impact on the rights of creditors could also cause us to incur increased credit costs.

If we are not able to control or reduce the level of non-performing assets and NPLs, the overall quality of our assets may deteriorate, and we may become subject to enhanced regulatory oversight and scrutiny and our reputation, business, financial condition, results of operations, prospects and capital adequacy ratios may be materially and adversely affected.

A decline in the value of our collateral, including real estate, may increase our loan loss allowances and result in failure to recover the expected value of collateral security, exposing us to a potential loss.

Adverse changes in the credit quality of our borrowers and counterparties or adverse changes arising from a deterioration in global and regional economic conditions or asset values could reduce the value of our assets. In particular, a significant portion of our loan portfolio is secured by real estate. In the event of a downturn in the real estate markets in Singapore or the other markets in which we conduct business, changes in asset prices may cause the value of our collateral to decline and a portion of our loans may exceed the value of the underlying collateral.

Any decline in the value of the collateral securing our loans or failure to recover the expected value of collateral may require us to increase our loan loss allowances. In the event of default, this may increase our losses if we are unable to obtain additional collateral or realize the value of existing collateral, any of which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Our funding is predominantly short-term or repayable on demand, and liquidity shortfalls may increase our cost of funds and materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

We need liquidity to pay our operating expenses, pay interest on and principal of debt, maintain our lending activities and meet deposit withdrawals and regulatory requirements. Most of our funding requirements are met through a combination of funding sources, primarily in the form of deposit-taking activities, issuance of debt securities and interbank funding.

A significant portion of our deposits has current maturities of one year or less or is payable on demand. Such deposits are mainly from savings deposits, term and current account and demand deposits. Because a large portion of our assets has medium or long-term maturities and may be in different currencies, this creates a potential for funding mismatches. Although our deposit base is currently diversified and does not rely solely on any significant depositor, no assurance can be given that this will continue or that factors affecting a large portion of our depositor base, such as factors affecting the Singaporean economy, will not limit our access to deposits. High volumes of deposit withdrawals, failure of a substantial number of our depositors to roll over deposited funds upon maturity or to replace deposited funds with fresh deposits or our inability to grow our deposit base or a disproportionate increase in the cost of deposits relative to our return on assets, could each have an adverse effect on our liquidity position. In such a situation, we could be required to seek alternative short-term and long-term funds, or alternative foreign currency funds, to meet our liquidity requirements, these alternative funds may be more expensive than current funding sources and may also increase our exposure to interest rate changes, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

In addition, circumstances outside our control, such as adverse market and economic conditions in the domestic and global economies, disruptions in the financial markets or negative developments concerning other financial institutions perceived to be comparable to us, may limit or adversely affect our access to liquidity required to operate our business. If our counterparties or the markets are reluctant to finance our operations due to actual or perceived weaknesses in our business as a result of large losses, changes in our credit ratings, a general decline in the level of business activity in the financial services sector or other factors, we may be unable to meet our payment obligations when they become due or only be able to meet them with funding obtained at unfavorable terms. Without sufficient liquidity, we will be forced to curtail our operations, and our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects would be materially and adversely affected.

## Our risk management policies, procedures and framework may not adequately address unidentified or unanticipated risks.

We are constantly exposed to significant credit, market and operational risks and we have devoted significant resources to strengthening our risk management policies and procedures to mitigate and manage such risks. Nevertheless, in light of the continuing evolution of our operations and expansion into new areas, our policies and procedures designed to identify, monitor and manage risks may not be fully effective in time.

Our risk management systems are dependent on our ability to properly identify, and mark-to-market, changes in the value of financial instruments caused by changes in market prices or rates. If the available information which we evaluate and on which our risk management procedures depend is not accurate, our anticipation of risks could be adversely affected. Moreover, severe declines in asset values, unanticipated credit events or unforeseen circumstances that may cause previously uncorrelated factors to become correlated may create losses resulting from risks not appropriately taken into account.

Our risk management strategies may not be effective in a difficult or less liquid market environment because other market participants may be attempting to use the same or similar strategies to deal with difficult market conditions. In such circumstances, it may be difficult for us to reduce our risk positions due to the activity of such other market participants. To the extent any of the instruments and strategies we use to hedge or otherwise manage our exposure to market or credit risk are not effective, we may not be able to mitigate effectively our risk exposures in particular market environments or against particular types of risk.

To the extent our assessments, assumptions or estimates prove inaccurate or not predictive of actual results, we could suffer higher than anticipated losses and enhanced regulatory scrutiny. Furthermore, investigations, administrative actions or litigation could commence in relation to violations, which may involve costs, including possible deterioration of our reputation, and affect the evaluation of our credit ratings by rating agencies. This, in turn, could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

# We may face pressure on our capital and liquidity positions due to Basel III or other relevant regulatory requirements, which could constrain our operations.

On December 16, 2010, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (the "Basel Committee") published Basel III: A global regulatory framework for more resilient banks and banking systems ("Basel III"), which presents the details of global regulatory standards on bank capital adequacy and liquidity, aimed at strengthening the resilience of the banking sector. Basel III sets out higher capital standards for banks, and introduced two global liquidity standards: the "Liquidity Coverage Ratio" and the "Net Stable Funding Ratio". The Liquidity Coverage Ratio promotes the short-term resilience of a bank's liquidity risk profile by ensuring that it has sufficient high-quality liquid assets to survive a significant stress scenario lasting for 30 days. The Net Stable Funding Ratio aims to mitigate funding risk over a longer time horizon by requiring banks to fund their activities with sufficiently stable sources of funding.

On January 13, 2011, the Basel Committee also published requirements for all non-common Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital instruments issued on or after January 1, 2013 to be loss absorbing at the point of non-viability.

On September 14, 2012, the MAS re-issued the MAS Notice 637 on Risk Based Capital Adequacy Requirements for Banks Incorporated in Singapore ("MAS Notice 637") to implement the Basel III capital adequacy framework for Singapore. The Basel III capital standards came into effect on January 1, 2013 and were progressively phased in on January 1 each year, from 2013 to 2019. Singapore-incorporated banks that are designated by the MAS as domestic systemically important banks ("D-SIBs") are required to meet minimum Common Equity Tier 1 ("CET1"), Tier 1, and total capital adequacy ratios ("CAR") of 6.5%, 8.0%, and 10.0%, respectively. These minimum ratios are two percentage points higher than those established by the Basel Committee.

To ensure that banks build up adequate capital buffer outside periods of stress, a Capital Conservation Buffer ("CCB") of 2.5 percentage points above the minimum capital adequacy requirements was introduced. The CCB is to be maintained in the form of CET1 capital, and began at 0.625% on January 1, 2016, and increased by 0.625 percentage point on January 1 each year, to reach 2.5% on January 1, 2019. Including the CCB, D-SIBs incorporated in Singapore have been required to meet CET1 CAR, Tier 1 CAR and total CAR of 9.0%, 10.5% and 12.5%, respectively, from January 1, 2019.

In addition, Singapore-incorporated banks will be subject to a Countercyclical Buffer requirement if this buffer is applied by regulators in countries which the Group has credit exposures to. The Countercyclical Buffer is not an ongoing requirement but it may be applied by regulators to limit excessive credit growth in their economy. In the range of 0% to 2.5% of risk-weighted assets, the actual magnitude of the Countercyclical Buffer applicable under MAS Notice 637 is the weighted average of the country-specific Countercyclical Buffer requirements that are being applied by the regulators in the countries to which the Group has private sector credit exposures.

On December 28, 2017, MAS revised MAS Notice 637 to introduce a minimum leverage ratio requirement of 3.0% at the Solo and Group levels with effect from January 1, 2018.

On March 31, 2020, MAS revised MAS Notice 637 to allow full recognition of balances maintained in regulatory loss allowance reserve accounts pursuant to paragraph 6.3 of MAS Notice 612 on Credit Files, Grading and Provisioning ("MAS Notice 612") as Tier 2 Capital, as a temporary relief to enable financial institutions to focus on dealing with issues related to COVID-19 pandemic and supporting their customers during this difficult period. The relief was applicable from March 31, 2020 to September 30, 2021.

On January 1, 2022, MAS revised MAS Notice 637 to incorporate clarifications by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision to the standardized approach for counterparty credit risk framework and the revised capital requirements for bank exposures to central counterparties.

In December 2017, the Basel Committee finalized certain changes to the Basel III post-crisis regulatory reforms, including revisions to the standardized as well as internal ratings-based approaches to measuring credit risk. On May 7, 2019, the MAS released a consultation paper on "Proposed Implementation of the Final Basel III Reforms in Singapore", seeking feedback on proposed revisions to the risk-based capital requirements and leverage ratio requirements for Singapore-incorporated banks to align with the Basel III reforms, and to implement these revisions from January 1, 2022. On April 7, 2020, the MAS announced the deferment of the final set of Basel III reforms for banks in Singapore by one year to January 1, 2023. On December 17, 2020, the MAS released its "Response to Feedback Received on the Proposed Implementation of the Final Basel III Reforms in Singapore - Operational Risk Capital and Leverage Ratio Requirements". On March 25, 2021, the MAS released its "Response to Feedback Received on the Proposed Implementation of the Final Basel III Reforms in Singapore – Credit Risk Capital and Output Floor Requirements". On the same day, the MAS also released a consultation paper on "Draft Standards for Credit Risk Capital and Output Floor Requirements for Singapore-incorporated banks", seeking feedback on proposed amendments to MAS 637 in respect of credit risk capital and output floor requirements which take into account this Response. The revised standards are expected to take effect from January 1, 2023, with transitional arrangements provided for implementation of the output floor till January 1, 2028. On September 13, 2021, the MAS published its "Response to Feedback Received on the Proposed Implementation of the Final Basel III Reforms in Singapore – Market Risk Capital Requirements". The MAS also released a consultation paper on "Draft Standards for Market Risk Capital and Capital Reporting Requirements for Singapore-Incorporated Banks" seeking feedback on draft standards relating to market risk capital and capital reporting requirements for Singapore-incorporated banks. Under this consultation paper, amendments have been proposed to MAS Notice 637 to take into account the aforementioned Response as well as standards relating to market risk capital requirements in the consolidated Basel Framework published by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision. MAS intends to implement the revised standards for market risk capital for supervisory reporting purposes from January 1, 2023, and for the purposes of compliance with capital adequacy and disclosure requirements from January 1, 2023 or later. These proposals, if implemented, can affect the way banks in Singapore calculate their exposures, which may in turn affect their capital or liquidity requirements.

On November 28, 2014, the MAS issued MAS Notice 649 on Minimum Liquid Assets and Liquidity Coverage Ratio ("MAS Notice 649"). MAS Notice 649, which took effect on January 1, 2015 and applies to banks in Singapore, introduced a new liquidity requirement framework to implement the Basel III liquidity coverage ratio ("LCR") rules. Under MAS Notice 649, a bank that has been notified by the MAS that it is a D-SIB which is incorporated in Singapore and whose head office or parent bank is incorporated in Singapore shall maintain at all times, a Singapore Dollar LCR ("Singapore Dollar LCR requirement") of at least 100% and an all currency LCR ("all currency LCR requirement") of at least 60% by January 1, 2015, with the all currency LCR requirement increasing by 10% each year to 100% by 2019. There is no assurance that the Group will not face increased pressure in the future to comply with the MAS' capital adequacy or liquidity requirements, which may have a material adverse effect on the Group's return on capital and profitability.

On July 10, 2017, the MAS issued a new MAS Notice 652 on Net Stable Funding Ratio ("MAS Notice 652") which applies to D-SIBs and internationally active banks. MAS Notice 652 took effect from January 1, 2018 (save for the Required Stable Funding add-on for derivative liabilities, which took effect from October 1, 2019). Under MAS Notice 652, a D-SIB incorporated in Singapore and whose head office or parent bank is incorporated in Singapore must maintain a consolidated all-currency Group Net Stable Funding Ratio ("NSFR") of at least 100% on a consolidated level (excluding certain banking group entities such as an insurance subsidiary). As a temporary measure due to COVID-19, MAS Notice 652 was amended with effect from April 8, 2020 to (a) lower the required stable funding factors for all loans from a D-SIB or an internationally active bank to non-financial corporates, retail customers and small business customers, that have a residual maturity of less than six months, from 50% to 25% for the period between April 8, 2020 and September 30, 2021 (both dates inclusive); and (b) gradually phase back the required stable funding factors in (a) from 25% to 50% by April 1, 2022.

If our capital adequacy and liquidity ratios fall below the required levels, the MAS could require us to take a variety of corrective actions, including additional capital or fund raising, withdrawal from international operations or suspension of all or part of our operations, which in turn may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

In addition, some of our banking subsidiaries and affiliates in jurisdictions outside Singapore will be subject to local Basel III or other capital adequacy and liquidity requirements, as and when the Basel III framework or other relevant regulation is adopted and implemented by the relevant local regulatory authorities. There is no assurance that our banking subsidiaries and affiliates will not face pressure to meet local Basel III or other relevant regulatory requirements, and any failure by our subsidiaries to meet such requirements may result in administrative actions or sanctions imposed by local regulatory authorities.

We were designated as a D-SIB in Singapore on April 30, 2015. Broadly, D-SIBs are subject to more intensive supervision by the MAS than banks not so designated. In particular, there is no assurance that the MAS will not impose increased capital adequacy or liquidity requirements on D-SIBs, which may have an adverse effect on our return on capital and profitability.

### Losses on our investments may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Our investment returns, and thus our profitability, may be materially and adversely affected by conditions affecting our investments, including the level or volatility of interest rates or prices, currency exchange rates, credit and liquidity conditions, the performance and volatility of capital markets, asset values, and macroeconomic and geopolitical conditions, all of which could, in turn, have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

We have investments in debt securities. Increases in interest rates could substantially decrease the value of our fixed income portfolio, and any unexpected change in yield curves could adversely affect the value of our bonds and interest rate derivative positions, resulting in lower-than-expected income or losses from trading and investment activities. Market volatility may also result in significant unrealized losses or impairment losses on our investments. Furthermore, ratings downgrades of investment securities by major rating agencies may also cause declines in the value of our securities portfolio.

We also hold Singapore government securities and securities of other governments. Investment in sovereign debt obligations involves direct or indirect risks resulting from political, governmental, social or economic changes in the countries of such sovereign issuers and the creditworthiness of such sovereign issuers. Investing in such instruments creates exposure to the direct or indirect consequences of political, governmental, social or economic changes in the countries in which the issuers are located and the creditworthiness of the sovereign. In addition, the issuer of the debt or the governmental authorities that control the repayment of the debt may be unable or unwilling to repay principal or pay interest when due in accordance with the terms of such debt, and we may have limited recourse to compel payment in the event of a default. If a sovereign were to default on its obligations, this could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Furthermore, our operations outside Singapore are subject to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and a portion of our assets and liabilities in Singapore are denominated in foreign currencies which could be adversely affected by currency exchange rate fluctuations. To the extent that our foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities are not matched in the same currency or appropriately hedged, fluctuations in foreign currencies against the Singapore dollar will create foreign currency translation gains or losses and may materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. For further information, see "Business – Risk Management – Asset Liability Management – Structural Foreign Exchange Risk".

Our business relies on our information technology systems, and significant security breaches in our computer system and network infrastructure or system failures could harm our relationships with customers, adversely affect our provision of services to customers, subject us to sanctions by our regulators and materially and adversely impact our business and reputation.

In all aspects of our business, we use information technology systems to deliver services to and perform transactions on behalf of our customers, as well as for back office operations. We therefore depend on the capacity and reliability of the electronic and information technology systems supporting our operations. There can be no assurance that we will not encounter service disruptions owing to failures of these information technology systems. Our information technology systems are subject to damage or incapacitation as a result of quality problems, human error, natural disasters, power loss, sabotage, computer viruses, acts of terrorism and similar events. In addition, we may not be prepared to address all contingencies that could arise in the event of a major disruption of services.

Physical or electronic break-ins, security breaches, service disruptions and other disruptive problems caused by our increased use of the internet or power disruptions could also affect the security of information stored in and transmitted through our computer systems and network infrastructure. Although we have implemented security technology and operational procedures, including firewalls, tokens and password encryption technologies, designed to minimize the risk of security breaches, and we intend to continue to implement such security technologies, conduct regular vulnerability assessments and network penetration tests and establish operational procedures to prevent any such break-ins, damages and failures, there can be no assurance that these security measures will be successful. In addition, although our centralized data center and backup systems are separately located in different places, there can be no assurance that both systems will not be simultaneously damaged or destroyed in the event of a major disaster. A significant breakdown in internal controls, fraudulent activities by employees, major service disruptions or failure of security measures or backup systems could significantly affect our operations, result in enhanced regulatory scrutiny and could result and have resulted in the past in regulatory or administrative sanctions and consequently could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

We handle personal information obtained from our individual and corporate customers in relation to our banking, securities, credit card, insurance and other businesses. The controls we have implemented to protect the confidentiality of personal information, including those designed to meet the strict requirements of banking secrecy laws, may not be effective in preventing unauthorized disclosure of personal information. Leakage of personal information could expose us to lawsuits, administrative or regulatory actions or sanctions and reputational harm, thereby materially and adversely affecting our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Our customers may be the victims of phishing scams, providing cyber criminals access to their accounts, or credit or debit card information. In these situations, we incur costs to replace compromised cards and address fraudulent transaction activity affecting our customers. In January 2022, we arranged for S\$13.7 million in full goodwill payouts to cover amounts lost in text messaging scams.

# Fraud or other misconduct by employees or third parties could expose us to losses and regulatory sanctions.

Our business operations are based on a high volume of transactions. Although we take adequate measures to safeguard against fraud, there can be no assurance that we will be able to prevent fraud. We are exposed to potential losses resulting from fraud and other misconduct by our employees. Our employees may bind us to transactions that exceed authorized limits or present unacceptable risks, hide unauthorized activities from us and from our customers, neglect to carry out their duties properly, conduct improper sales activities, improperly use confidential information or otherwise abuse customer confidences. Third parties may engage in fraudulent activities, including fraudulent use of bank accounts or the use of false identities to open accounts for money laundering, tax evasion or other illegal purposes. Third parties could also use stolen or forged ATM cards or engage in credit card fraud, and we may be required to indemnify victims of such fraud for related losses. In the broad range of businesses in which we engage, fraud and other misconduct are difficult to prevent or detect, and we may not be able to recover the losses caused by these activities. Our reputation could be adversely affected by fraud or other unauthorized actions committed by employees, representatives, agents, customers or outsiders, or by our perceived inability or failure to properly manage fraud-related risks and our inability or perceived inability to manage these risks could lead to ensuing inquiries or investigations and enhanced regulatory oversight and scrutiny. The occurrence of any of the above could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

We are exposed to derivative financial instruments and market counterparties and any deterioration of creditworthiness of counterparties and/or adverse market impact on fair value of derivatives may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

As part of our trading, hedging and other operations, we have exposure to derivative financial instruments which are carried at fair value. The fair value of these derivatives and our exposure to the risk of default by the underlying counterparties depends on the valuation and the perceived risk of the derivatives as well as on the creditworthiness of the relevant counterparty.

In addition, lawmakers and regulators may adopt and/or propose legislation containing restrictions that could adversely impact the liquidity of and increase costs of participating in the derivative markets. These legislative and regulatory changes, and the resulting increased costs and regulatory oversight requirements, could result in market participants being required to, or deciding to, limit their trading activities, which could cause reductions in market liquidity and increases in market volatility. In addition, transaction costs incurred by market participants are likely to be higher than in the past, reflecting the costs of compliance with the new regulations. These consequences could adversely affect the fair value of derivatives, which could in turn adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

### We may seek opportunities for growth through acquisitions and could face integration and other acquisition risks.

We may seek opportunities for growth through acquisitions. There can be no assurance that we will not actively pursue other acquisitions or mergers in the Singapore market or elsewhere or that any of these efforts will be successful. The success of the acquisitions depends heavily on a smooth integration of post-merger operations. Potential difficulties of the integration process may include delays or difficulty in harmonizing support functions and business work streams. Benefits of the acquisition may not be realized if the post-merger integration is not well executed or well received by each bank's employees or historical customers and may adversely affect our business and financial results. Any future acquisitions or mergers, both domestic or international, may involve a number of risks, including the possibility of a deterioration of asset quality and regulatory capital ratios, financial impact of employee-related liabilities, diversion of our management's attention required to integrate the acquired business and the failure to retain key acquired personnel and clients, leverage synergies or rationalize operations, or develop the skills required for new businesses and markets, or unknown and known liabilities including any ongoing litigation, claims or disputes concerning such acquisition, merger, our shareholders, share capital or our legal and regulatory compliance obligations or practices, some or all of which could have an adverse effect on our business. There can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully integrate with or into any such acquired businesses, or that such mergers or acquisitions will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Local regulations may also limit our ability to successfully complete acquisitions outside of Singapore. We cannot assure you that future regulations will not limit our ability to expand our operations outside of Singapore or require us to divest existing interests.

Fee and commission income have become important elements of our profitability, and economic and market conditions could cause these income streams to decline and adversely impact our financial performance.

We earn fee and commission income from a variety of activities, including brokerage, fund management, distribution of investment and insurance products, credit cards, wealth management, transaction banking, trade finance, loan and debt syndication and advisory services for corporate clients. Our fee and commission income is therefore impacted by market demand for

these products and services, investment and risk appetite, the level of corporate activity and the overall level of economic and trade activity. Volatile market conditions may also have an adverse impact on various streams of our fee and commission income, including brokerage, fund management, distribution of investment and insurance products, the wealth management business and the level of corporate activity. The above factors could cause these income streams to decline in the future and materially and adversely impact our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

### We depend on the accuracy and completeness of information about customers and counterparties.

In deciding whether to extend credit or enter into other transactions with customers and counterparties, we may rely on information furnished to us by or on behalf of customers and counterparties, including financial statements and other financial information. We may also rely on certain representations as to the accuracy and completeness of that information and, with respect to financial statements, on reports of independent auditors. For example, in deciding whether to extend credit, we may assume that a customer's audited financial statements conform to generally accepted accounting principles and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the customer. If we rely on financial statements that do not comply with generally accepted accounting principles or other information that is materially misleading, our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects could be materially and adversely affected.

### Terrorism, epidemics and other events could adversely affect the economies of countries where we operate and our business.

Terrorist attacks, natural calamities and outbreaks of communicable diseases could lead to disruptions in the functioning of international financial markets and adversely affect Singapore and other economies in which we operate. For example, the COVID-19 outbreak has spread to many parts of the world, resulting in, among other things, ongoing travel and transportation restrictions and increased volatility in international capital markets. In particular, the COVID-19 outbreak has also caused significant disruption to the Singapore economy, in particular the travel, tourism and retail segments. In response to the COVID-19 outbreak, governments around the world have introduced measures designed to slow the spread of COVID-19, including strict border control and travel restrictions and ordering residents to stay at home with a limited range of exceptions. In Singapore, "circuit-breaker" measures were implemented by the Singapore government on April 7, 2020. These measures ended on June 1, 2020 and from June 2, 2020 to June 18, 2020, under "Phase One" post "circuit-breaker", Singapore gradually re-opened economic activities that do not pose a high risk of transmission and more businesses and workplaces were allowed to resume operations. From June 19, 2020 under "Phase Two" post "circuit-breaker", the vast majority of economic activities have been allowed to resume in Singapore, subject to safe-distancing measures. Given the uncertainties as to the development of the COVID-19 outbreak, including the introduction of new COVID-19 variants, it is difficult to predict how long such conditions will exist and the extent to which the OCBC Group may be affected by such conditions. Any material change in the financial markets, the Singapore economy or regional economies as a result of these events or developments may materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. See further "Risk Factors - Risks relating to the Current Financial Environment – Global and regional geopolitical economic and financial conditions could adversely affect our operations, asset quality and growth and cause our business to suffer." for details on the COVID-19 outbreak.

In addition, our insurance business exposes us to claims arising out of such events and catastrophes affecting a large segment of the population as portions of our insurance business cover losses from unpredictable events such as hurricanes, windstorms, monsoons, earthquakes, fires, industrial explosions, floods, riots and other man-made or natural disasters, including acts

of terrorism. In particular, our life insurance business is exposed to the risk of catastrophic mortality, such as an epidemic or other events that cause a large number of deaths. The incidence and severity of these catastrophes in any given period are inherently unpredictable. Our insurance business generally seeks to reduce its exposure through the purchase of reinsurance, through selective underwriting practices and by monitoring risk accumulation. Claims relating to catastrophes may result in unusually high levels of losses and may require additional capital to maintain solvency margins and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

An actual or perceived reduction in our financial strength, or a downgrade in our credit ratings, could have a negative effect on us, and could increase deposit withdrawals and insurance policy surrenders and withdrawals, damage our business relationships and negatively impact sales of our products.

Depositors' and policyholders' confidence in the financial strength of a bank or insurance company, as well as in the financial services industry generally, is an important factor affecting our business. Any actual or perceived reduction in our financial strength, whether due to a credit rating downgrade, a reduction in our solvency margin, or some other factor, could materially and adversely affect our business as any such development may, among other things:

- (a) increase the number of deposit withdrawals and insurance policy surrenders and withdrawals;
- (b) damage our relationship with our creditors, our customers and the distributors of our products;
- (c) negatively impact sales of our products;
- (d) require us to reduce prices for many of our products and services to remain competitive; and
- (e) increase our borrowing costs as well as affect our ability to obtain financing on a timely basis.

We have received long-term issuer ratings of "Aa1" from Moody's Investors Service, Inc. ("Moody's"), "AA-" from S&P Global Ratings ("S&P") and "AA-" from Fitch Ratings Ltd ("Fitch"). In addition, Moody's, S&P and Fitch each has a "Stable" outlook on our rating.

We cannot assure investors that we will not experience reductions in our financial strength, actual or perceived, in the future and which could materially and adversely affect the profitability of our treasury operations, our capital adequacy position, business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

#### Damage to our reputation or brand names may have an adverse effect on our business.

Maintaining our reputation is vital to our ability to attract and maintain customers, investors and employees. Our reputation could be damaged through a variety of circumstances, including, among others, fraud or scams (whether originating externally or internally by employees) or other misconduct, systems failures, compliance failures, adverse litigation judgments or regulatory decisions, or unfavorable outcomes of governmental inspections. Negative media coverage of us or the banking or insurance industry, even if inaccurate or not applicable to us, may have a materially adverse effect on our brand image and may undermine depositor confidence, thereby affecting our businesses and results of operations. Moreover, "OCBC", "Bank of Singapore", "Great Eastern Holdings" and our other brand names are important assets to us and any infringements of our brand names could reduce the value of goodwill associated with our names, result in the loss of competitive advantage and materially harm our business, results of operations and prospects. Actions by the financial services industry or the insurance industry generally or by

certain members in the industry can also adversely affect customers' confidence in the industries in which we operate. These reputational harms could lead to a decreased customer base, reduced income and higher operating costs and materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

### Any inability to attract and retain talented professionals may adversely impact our business.

Our business is growing more complex with geographic expansion internationally and product line expansion. Our continued success depends in part on the continued service of key members of our management team and our ability to continue to attract, train, motivate and retain highly qualified professionals, which are key elements of our strategy and which we believe to be a significant source of our competitive advantage. The successful implementation of our strategy depends on the availability of skilled management, both at our head office and at each of our business units and international locations and on our ability to attract and train young professionals. In addition, we rely substantially on the tied agency force of our insurance business for sales and distribution and any inability to effectively recruit newly qualified agents or retain and incentivize existing agents will hinder our insurance business' productivity and growth as sales commission for life insurance products is, to a significant extent, attributable to the initial sale of each product and any failure to recruit, retain or motivate tied agents can have a material adverse effect on its ability to maintain and increase its premium volume and market share. If we or one of our business units, international operations or other functions fail to staff operations appropriately, or lose one or more key senior executives or qualified professionals and fail to replace them in a satisfactory and timely manner, our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects, including our control and operational risks, may be materially and adversely affected. Likewise, if we fail to attract and appropriately train, motivate and retain young professionals or other talent, our business may likewise be affected.

# While our insurance business is an important part of our business, we do not directly manage its strategy and there can be no assurance of its future rates of growth or level of profitability.

Great Eastern Holdings Limited ("Great Eastern Holdings") is a significant contributor to our profit. It is a listed company with minority shareholders and its own board of directors. While OCBC Bank owned 87.9% of Great Eastern Holdings' share capital as of December 31, 2021, OCBC Bank is represented on the board of Great Eastern Holdings and works closely with Great Eastern Holdings on certain aspects of our businesses to deliver synergies, Great Eastern Holdings' business strategy and operations are managed separately by its own management team.

Moreover, there can be no assurance of the future rates of growth or level of profitability of our insurance business. The insurance industry in the Asia Pacific region may not expand or we may not succeed in increasing penetration into certain of the geographic markets in which we operate, as they may be or become saturated and exhibit low or no growth in the future. The growth and development of the life insurance and general insurance business in the Asia Pacific region is subject to industry trends and uncertainties that are beyond our control. Any slowdown in this business and, in particular, in the life insurance business could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Loss reserves for our life insurance and general insurance businesses are based on estimates as to future claims liabilities and differences between actual claims and estimates or deviations from assumptions used to price our products could lead to further reserve additions and materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Our subsidiaries in the insurance business establish and carry reserves as balance sheet liabilities to pay future policyholder benefits and claims. The estimation of the ultimate liabilities arising from claims made under life and general insurance contracts involves several sources of uncertainty in the estimation of the liabilities that our insurance subsidiaries will ultimately be required to pay as claims.

For life insurance contracts, estimates are made for future deaths, disabilities, voluntary terminations, investment returns and administration expenses using "best estimate" actuarial policies and assumptions. Our insurance subsidiaries rely on standard industry reinsurance and national mortality tables which represent historical mortality experience, and make appropriate adjustments for their respective risk exposures in deriving the mortality and morbidity estimates. The assumptions they make include the assessment of the long-term development of interest rates, investment returns, the allocation of investments between equity, fixed income and other asset classes, mortality and morbidity rates, policyholder lapses and future expense levels.

The process of determining these assumptions and estimates is a difficult and complex exercise involving many variable and subjective judgments. In addition, we may lack sufficient data to make accurate estimates of the future benefits or claims experience, and significant deviations in actual experience from our assumptions could materially and adversely reduce our profitability.

In accordance with general insurance industry practice and accounting and regulatory requirements, our insurance subsidiaries establish reserves for loss and loss adjustment expenses related to their general insurance business. Reserves are based on estimates of future payments that will be made in respect of claims, including expenses relating to such claims, which requires estimates to be made for both the expected ultimate cost of claims reported at the balance sheet date and for the expected ultimate cost of claims incurred but not yet reported at the balance sheet date. However, the assumptions made by our insurance subsidiaries in these reserves may differ from what they may experience in the future, and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

### Compliance with solvency and risk-based capital requirements as well as other regulatory changes may impact our insurance subsidiaries.

Insurance companies are generally required by applicable law to maintain their solvency at a level in excess of statutory minimum standards. Our subsidiaries in the insurance business are affected primarily by the solvency margins they are required to maintain, which is in turn affected by the volume and type of new insurance policies they sell, the composition of their in-force insurance policies and by regulations on the determination of statutory reserves. Their solvency is also affected by other factors, including the profit margin of their products, returns on their assets and investments, interest rates, underwriting and acquisition costs, and policyholder and shareholder dividends. The regulatory frameworks in Singapore, Malaysia and Indonesia currently utilize a risk-based capital regime.

Moreover, Great Eastern Holdings has been approved by the MAS as a financial holding company ("Financial Holding Company") pursuant to Section 28 of the Monetary Authority of Singapore Act 1970 of Singapore (the "MAS Act") and is subject to requirements imposed by the MAS. The Financial Holding Companies Act 2013 was gazetted on April 8, 2014 and will be applicable to Great Eastern Holdings when it comes into operation. The Financial Holding Companies Act 2013 contains provisions requiring Financial Holding Companies to, amongst other things, maintain minimum paid-up capital amounts, adhere to capital adequacy requirements, and leverage ratios.

On February 28, 2020, the MAS issued a new MAS Notice 133 on Valuation and Capital Framework for Insurers ("MAS Notice 133") following the review of and to give effect to the enhanced valuation and capital framework. MAS Notice 133 comprises both mandatory requirements and guidelines on the supervisory intervention levels, valuation of policy liabilities in respect of life business and general business, and the calculation of the total risk requirements and financial resources. These requirements may have an impact on the regulatory capital cost for our subsidiaries. The Notice came into effect on March 31, 2020, with the exception of section 6.4 and paragraph 10 in Appendix 5E, which took effect on January 1, 2022.

International Association of Insurance Supervisors ("IAIS") is a voluntary membership organization of insurance supervisors formed by more than 200 jurisdictions including Singapore. The IAIS announced its plans to develop a global Insurance Capital Standards ("ICS") for Internationally Active Insurance Groups ("IAIGs") on October 9, 2013. The ICS is a risk-based capital framework with the ultimate aim of establishing a single framework that will achieve comparable outcomes across various jurisdictions. The IAIS has begun a five-year ICS monitoring period starting from 2020. Great Eastern Holdings is deemed as an IAIG and the level of capital that it is required to maintain may be affected by the eventual implementation of the ICS.

SFRS(I) 17 was issued in May 2017 as replacement for SFRS(I) 4 Insurance Contracts and is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2021<sup>1</sup>. It is a comprehensive new accounting standard for insurance contracts covering recognition and measurement, presentation and disclosure. The Group plans to adopt SFRS(I) 17 on the required effective date and a Project Steering Committee was formed to oversee the implementation of the standard. The Group expects that SFRS(I) 17 will result in an important change to the accounting policies for insurance contract liabilities of the Group and is likely to have a significant impact on profit and total equity together with the Group's financial statement presentation and disclosures.

Any termination or disruption of our existing bancassurance relationships with Great Eastern Holdings may have a material adverse effect on our competitiveness and result in a material impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

A key focus in developing our insurance product sales is through bancassurance. If our insurance subsidiaries fail to develop or maintain existing synergies with our banking segments and other segments of our Group, our competitiveness may be materially and adversely affected or we may not be able to maintain or grow our premiums, and our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may be materially and adversely impacted.

#### Our insurance subsidiaries may not be able to obtain reinsurance successfully.

The ability of our insurance subsidiaries to obtain external reinsurance on a timely basis and at a reasonable cost is subject to a number of factors, many of which may be beyond their control. In particular, certain risks that our insurance subsidiaries are subject to, such as epidemics, are difficult to reinsure. If our insurance subsidiaries are unable to renew any expiring external reinsurance coverage or obtain acceptable new external reinsurance coverage, their net risk exposure could increase or, if they are unwilling to bear an increase in net risk exposure, their overall underwriting capacity and the amount of risk they are able to underwrite would decrease. To the extent that our insurance subsidiaries are unable to utilize external reinsurance successfully, our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may be materially and adversely affected.

Note: The International Accounting Standards Board published an amendments to IFRS 17 on June 25, 2020 and the effective date was extended to January 1, 2023 to allow industry players sufficient time to implement the standard.

In addition, although a reinsurer would be liable to our insurance subsidiaries for the risk ceded through a reinsurance arrangement, such an arrangement does not discharge their primary liability to their policyholders. As a result, we are exposed to credit risk with respect to reinsurers in all of our insurance business. In particular, a default by one or more of our reinsurers under the reinsurance arrangements would increase the financial losses arising out of a risk we have insured, which would reduce our profitability and may have a material adverse effect on our liquidity position. There can be no assurance that our reinsurers will always be able to meet their obligations under reinsurance arrangements of our insurance subsidiaries on a timely basis, if at all. In addition, under a small number of reinsurance agreements, we receive payments from our reinsurers through brokers. We are consequently subject to the risk of non-payment from these brokers. If our reinsurers or brokers fail to pay our insurance subsidiaries on a timely basis, or at all, our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may be materially and adversely affected.

# We may be involved in various litigation matters in the ordinary course of our business, and any final judgment awarding material damages against us could have a material adverse impact on our future financial performance.

We face risks of litigation, regulatory investigations and similar actions in the ordinary course of our business, including the risk of lawsuits and other legal actions relating to suitability, sales or underwriting practices, product design, disclosure, administration, and breaches of fiduciary or other duties. Any such action may include claims for substantial or unspecified compensatory and punitive damages, as well as civil, regulatory or criminal proceedings against our directors, officers or employees, and the probability and amount of liability, if any, may remain unknown for significant periods of time. We are also subject to various regulatory inquiries, such as information requests and books and records examinations, from regulators and other authorities in the geographical markets in which we operate.

A substantial liability arising from a lawsuit judgment or a significant regulatory action against us or a disruption in our business arising from adverse adjudications in proceedings against our directors, officers or employees could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Moreover, even if we ultimately prevail in the litigation, regulatory action or investigation, we could suffer significant harm to our reputation, which could materially affect our prospects and future growth.

## Changes in accounting principles relating to financial instruments may have an impact on the Group's financials and regulatory capital ratios.

The OCBC Group is subject to risk around changes in accounting standards that may change the basis upon which the OCBC Group reports its financial results, and there can be no assurance that any such changes will not have a material adverse impact on the OCBC Group's financial statements in future periods.

### Singapore accounting and corporate disclosure standards may result in more limited disclosure than in other jurisdictions.

Our Group is subject to the accounting standards and requirements of Singapore, which differ in certain material respects from those applicable to banks in certain other countries. Also, there may be less publicly available information about Singapore-listed companies than is regularly made available by or about listed companies in certain other countries. This Offering Memorandum does not include a reconciliation of our financial statements or the financial statements of the Group to U.S. GAAP and IFRS and there can be no assurance that such reconciliation would not identify material quantitative differences.

Investors should consult their own professional advisors for an understanding of the differences between SFRS(I) and U.S. GAAP, IFRS and the generally accepted accounting principles of other jurisdictions and how those differences might affect the financial information contained in this Offering Memorandum.

#### We are subject to a statutory bail-in regime.

On August 1, 2017, the Monetary Authority of Singapore (Amendment) Act 2017 ("MAS Amendment Act") was gazetted. This sets out amendments to the MAS Act which aim to strengthen MAS' powers in respect of the resolution and recovery of distressed financial institutions, and include provisions relating to temporary stays and suspensions, statutory bail-in powers, cross-border recognition of resolution actions, creditor compensation and resolution funding. The MAS Amendment Act has largely come into operation, and most of the relevant amendments relating to the resolution framework have come into force from October 29, 2018. To support the implementation of the changes, the Monetary Authority of Singapore (Resolution of Financial Institutions) Regulations 2018 (the "RFI Regulations") have been issued and also took effect from October 29, 2018.

Pursuant to the MAS Amendment Act, the MAS is empowered under Division 4A of Part 4B of the MAS Act to write down or convert a financial institution's debt into equity. The entities subject to the statutory bail-in powers of the MAS are presently limited to Singapore-incorporated banks and Singapore-incorporated bank holding companies (each a "Division 4A financial institution"). The classes of instruments subject to the bail-in are:

- (a) any equity instrument or other instrument that confers or represents a legal or beneficial ownership in the Division 4A financial institution except an ordinary share;
- (b) any unsecured liability or other unsecured debt instrument that is subordinated to unsecured creditors' claims of the Division 4A financial institution that are not so subordinated; and
- (c) any instrument that provides for a right for the instrument to be written down, canceled, modified, changed in form or converted into shares or another instrument of ownership, when a specified event occurs,

but do not include any instrument issued before November 29, 2018, or a derivatives contract as defined in regulation 9(2) of the RFI Regulations.

In addition, the amendments empower the MAS to require financial institutions to prepare, review and keep up-to-date a recovery plan, to temporarily block counterparties' rights to terminate contracts with financial institutions in resolution, and to recognize resolution actions taken by a foreign resolution authority on financial institutions in Singapore.

On November 1, 2021, a new regulation 27A of the RFI Regulations took effect. Under regulation 27A of the RFI Regulations, a "qualifying pertinent financial institution" ("QPFI") and its subsidiaries will be required to include enforceable provisions in financial contracts governed by foreign law which contain termination rights to ensure that the exercise of the termination rights for such contracts will be subject to MAS' temporary stay powers under sections 83 and 84 of the MAS Act. A QPFI is defined as a bank that is incorporated in Singapore and to which a direction has been issued under section 43(1) of the MAS Act (concerning directions for recovery planning and implementation). This would apply to our Group. A three-year transitional period has been provided from November 1, 2021 for QPFIs to implement the contractual recognition requirement.

Existing safeguards in connection with compulsory transfer of business during resolution, have also been extended to reverse and onward transfers of business with effect from November 1, 2021.

The implementation of the statutory bail-in regime could impact our future capital and funding structure and, accordingly, could affect our business.

#### Risks Relating to the Notes

### The structure of a particular issue of Notes may carry particular risks compared with other Notes.

A wide range of Notes may be issued under the Program. A number of these Notes may have features which contain particular risks for potential investors. Set out below is a description of certain such features:

#### (a) Notes subject to optional redemption by us.

An optional redemption feature is likely to limit the market value of Notes. During any period when we may elect to redeem Notes, the market value of those Notes generally will not rise substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This also may be true prior to any redemption period. If we redeem Notes when our cost of borrowing is lower than the interest rate (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) or the Distribution rate (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable on the Notes, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) or the Distribution rate (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable, as high as the interest rate (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) or the Distribution rate (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable, on the Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do so at a lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time.

#### (b) Partly-Paid Notes.

We may issue Notes where the issue price is payable in more than one installment. Failure to pay any subsequent installment on a Partly-Paid Note could result in an investor losing all of its investment.

#### (c) Fixed/Floating Rate Notes and Fixed/Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities.

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes and Fixed/Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities may bear interest (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) or Distributions (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable, at a rate that we may elect to convert from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or vice versa. Our ability to convert the interest rate (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) or the Distribution rate (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable, will affect the secondary market and the market value of such Notes or, as the case may be, Perpetual Capital Securities since we may be expected to convert the rate when it is likely to produce a lower overall cost of borrowing. If we convert from a fixed rate to a floating rate in such circumstances, the spread on the Fixed/Floating Rate Notes or, as the case may be, Fixed/Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities may be less favorable than the prevailing spreads on comparable Floating Rate Notes or, as the case may be, Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities tied to the same reference rate. In addition, the new floating rate at any time may be lower than the rates on other Notes or, as the case may be, Perpetual Capital Securities. If we convert from a floating rate to a fixed rate in such circumstances, the fixed rate may be lower than the prevailing rates on the Notes or, as the case may be, Perpetual Capital Securities.

#### (d) Notes and Perpetual Capital Securities issued at a substantial discount or premium.

The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount or premium to their nominal amount tend to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) or Distribution rates (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable than do prices for conventional interest bearing (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) or distribution bearing (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable, securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of the securities, the greater the price volatility as compared to conventional interest bearing (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) or distribution bearing (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable, securities with comparable maturities.

#### The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors.

The Notes are complex and high-risk instruments. Each potential investor in any Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:

- (a) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the relevant Notes, the merits and risks of investing in the relevant Notes and the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Offering Memorandum or any applicable supplement;
- (b) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular financial situation, an investment in the relevant Notes and the impact such investment will have on its overall investment portfolio;
- (c) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the relevant Notes, including where principal or interest or distribution is payable in one or more currencies, or where the currency for principal or interest or distribution payments is different from the potential investor's currency;
- (d) understand thoroughly the terms of the relevant Notes and be familiar with the behavior of any relevant indices and financial markets; and
- (e) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial advisor) possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

Sophisticated institutional investors generally do not purchase complex financial instruments as stand-alone investments. They purchase complex financial instruments as a way to reduce risk or enhance yield with an understood, measured and appropriate addition of risk to their overall portfolios. A potential investor should not invest in Notes which are complex financial instruments unless it has the expertise (either alone or with the help of a financial advisor) to evaluate how the Notes will perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of such Notes and the impact this investment will have on the potential investor's overall investment portfolio. Investors may also be subject to investment laws that constrain their ability to invest in the Notes. Investors should consult their own legal advisors before making an investment in the Notes.

There are risks associated with modifying or amending the Conditions of the Notes by way of a meeting of the Noteholders or the Securityholders, as the case may be.

The Note Conditions and the Perpetual Capital Security Conditions contain provisions for calling meetings of the Noteholders or the Securityholders, as the case may be, to consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all the Noteholders or the Securityholders, as the case may be, including the Noteholders or the Securityholders, as the case may be, who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and the Noteholders or the Securityholders, as the case may be, who voted in a manner contrary to the majority.

Limited rights of enforcement and subordination of the Subordinated Notes or the Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, could impair an investor's ability to enforce its rights or realize any claims on the Subordinated Notes or the Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable.

In most circumstances, the sole remedy against us available to the Trustee (on behalf of the holders of Subordinated Notes or the holders of the Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable) to recover any amounts owing in respect of the principal of or interest on the Subordinated Notes or principal of or Distributions on the Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, will be to institute proceedings for our winding-up in Singapore. If we default on the payment of principal or interest on the Subordinated Notes or principal of or Distributions on the Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, the Trustee will only institute a proceeding in Singapore for our winding-up if it is so contractually obligated. The Trustee will have no right to accelerate payment of the Subordinated Notes or the Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, in the case of default in payment or failure to perform a covenant except so provided in the Conditions and in the Trust Deed.

The Subordinated Notes and the Perpetual Capital Securities will be unsecured and subordinated obligations of ours and will rank junior in priority to the claims of Senior Creditors (as defined in the Note Conditions (in respect of the Subordinated Notes) and Perpetual Capital Securities Conditions (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable). Upon the occurrence of any winding-up proceeding, the rights of the holders of the Subordinated Notes or the Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, to payments on such Subordinated Notes or the Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, will be subordinated in right of payment to the prior payment in full of all of our deposits and other liabilities, as applicable, except those liabilities which rank equally with or junior to the Subordinated Notes or the Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable. In a winding-up proceeding, the holders of the Subordinated Notes and the Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, may recover less than the holders of deposit liabilities or the holders of other unsubordinated liabilities of ours, as applicable. As there is no precedent for a winding-up of a major financial institution in Singapore, there is uncertainty as to the manner in which such a proceeding would occur and the results thereof. An investor in the Subordinated Notes or the Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, may lose all or some of his investment should we become insolvent.

The Trust Deed and the Notes do not contain any restrictions on our ability to pledge, dispose or securitize our assets, pay dividends, incur additional debt, repurchase our securities or take other actions that could negatively impact Noteholders or Securityholders, as the case may be, and provide Noteholders or Securityholders, as the case may be, with limited protection in the event of a change in control.

The Trust Deed and the Notes do not contain any restrictions on our ability to incur indebtedness, including issue new secured and unsecured debt, repurchase our outstanding securities, pledge assets to secure other indebtedness, securitize our loan assets, or sell or otherwise dispose of substantially all of our assets, or pay dividends on our shares of common stock. These or other actions by us could adversely affect our ability to pay amounts due on the Notes. In addition, the Trust Deed and the Notes do not contain any covenants requiring us to achieve or maintain any minimum financial results relating to our financial position or results of operations.

The terms of the Subordinated Notes and the Perpetual Capital Securities will contain non-viability loss absorption provisions, and the occurrence of a Trigger Event may be inherently unpredictable and beyond our control.

MAS Notice 637 provides that the terms of all Additional Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital instruments must be loss absorbing at the point of non-viability. In this regard, the terms of all Additional Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital instruments, issued from January 1, 2013 onwards, require a provision that such instruments at the option of the MAS to be either written off or converted into ordinary shares upon the occurrence of a Trigger Event (as defined below). The applicable Pricing Supplement will specify whether the conversion option or the write-off option will apply upon the occurrence of the Trigger Event. The Trigger Event would occur on the earlier of:

- (a) the MAS notifying the Issuer in writing that the MAS is of the opinion that a write-off or conversion is necessary, without which the Issuer would become non-viable; and
- (b) a MAS decision to make a public-sector injection of capital, or equivalent support, without which the Issuer would have become non-viable, as determined by the MAS,

(for the purposes of this Offering Memorandum, each a "Trigger Event").

To the extent that a series of Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, contains provisions relating to loss absorption, upon the occurrence of a Trigger Event relating to us as determined by the MAS, we may be required, subject to the terms of the relevant series of Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, irrevocably (without the need for the consent of the holders of such Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable) to effect either a full or partial write-off of the outstanding principal and accrued and unpaid interest in respect of such Subordinated Notes or accrued and unpaid Distributions in respect of such Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, or a conversion of such Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, into our ordinary shares.

To the extent relevant in the event that such Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, are written off, any written-off amount shall be irrevocably lost and holders of such Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, will cease to have any claims for any principal amount and accrued but unpaid interest (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) or any principal amount and accrued but unpaid Distributions (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable, which has been subject to write-off. No Noteholder or Securityholder may exercise, claim or plead any right to any amount written-off, and each Noteholder or Securityholder shall be deemed to have waived all such rights to such amounts written-off.

In the event that such Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, feature a conversion to our ordinary shares upon the occurrence of a Trigger Event, on such terms as may be set forth in the applicable Pricing Supplement, we will be required, upon the occurrence of a Trigger Event, to convert some or all of the nominal amount of the Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, into ordinary shares which may be worth significantly less than the investor's Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable. In such circumstances, holders will not be entitled to any reconversion of ordinary shares to Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable. Investors in Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, featuring such conversion to our ordinary shares may be subject to additional risks as set forth in the applicable Pricing Supplement with respect to any such Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable.

A write-off or conversion of Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, will not constitute an event of default with respect to such Subordinated Notes under the relevant Conditions.

As the Trigger Event would be determined by the MAS, the write-off or conversion into ordinary shares may occur in circumstances beyond our control and with which we do not agree. While the MAS has set out a list of factors that it may take into account in assessing viability, it is not an exhaustive list and, ultimately, the circumstances in which the MAS may exercise its discretion are not limited. Due to the inherent uncertainty regarding the determination of whether a Trigger Event exists, it will be difficult to predict when, if at all, a write-off or conversion into ordinary shares will occur. Accordingly, the trading behavior in respect of Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, which have the non-viability loss absorption feature is not necessarily expected to follow trading behavior associated with other types of securities. Any indication that we are trending towards a Trigger Event could have a material adverse effect on the market price of the relevant Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable.

Potential investors should consider the risk that a holder of Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, which have the non-viability loss absorption feature may lose all of their investment in such Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, including the principal amount plus any accrued but unpaid interest (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) or the principal amounts plus any accrued but unpaid Distributions (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable, in the event that a Trigger Event occurs.

In addition, there is no assurance that the MAS will not implement non-viability loss absorption requirements which are different from those currently envisaged for Singapore-incorporated banks.

Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, that include a loss absorption feature are novel and complex financial instruments. Sophisticated institutional investors generally do not purchase complex financial instruments as stand-alone investments. They purchase complex financial instruments as a way of reducing risk or enhancing yield with an understood, measured, appropriate addition of risk to their overall portfolios. A potential investor should not invest in such Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, unless it has the knowledge and expertise (either alone or with a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes will perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the likelihood of a write off or conversion and the value of such Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, and the impact this investment will have on the potential investor's overall investment portfolio. Prior to making an investment decision, potential investors should consider carefully, in light of their own financial circumstances and investment objectives, all the information contained in this Offering Memorandum or incorporated by reference herein.

The Subordinated Notes and the Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, may be subject to a full or partial Write-off or modification or change in form upon the occurrence of a Trigger Event or issuance of a Bail-in Certificate, as applicable.

Investors may lose the entire amount of their investment in any Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, in which Write-off is specified as the applicable loss absorption option upon the occurrence of a Trigger Event, which will lead to a full or partial Write-off upon the occurrence of such Trigger Event. Separately, investors may also lose part or all of their investment in any Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, as a result of the cancelation, modification, conversion and/or change in form of such Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, should a Bail-in Certificate be issued. Upon the occurrence of a Write-off or if so specified in a Bail-in Certificate, the principal amount and any accrued but unpaid interest of such Subordinated Notes or Distributions of such Perpetual Capital Securities, will automatically be written down and if there is a full Write-off, the principal amount and any accrued but unpaid interest of such Subordinated Notes or Distributions of such Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, may be written down completely and such Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, will be canceled.

In addition, the subordination provisions set out in Note Condition 3(c) (in respect of the Subordinated Notes) and Perpetual Capital Securities Condition 3(b) (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only) are effective only upon the occurrence of any winding-up proceedings of the relevant Issuer. In the event that a Trigger Event occurs or if so specified in a Bail-in Certificate, the rights of holders of Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, shall be subject to Note Condition 6 (in respect of Subordinated Notes) and Perpetual Capital Securities Condition 7 (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only). This may result in a less favorable outcome for holders of Subordinated Notes or holders of the Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, subject to a Write-off or conversion (a) than that which would otherwise occur under Note Condition 3(c) (in respect of the Subordinated Notes) and Perpetual Capital Securities Condition 3(b) (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only) upon the occurrence of any winding-up proceedings of the relevant Issuer or (b) compared to holders of securities that otherwise rank pari passu or junior to such Noteholders or Securityholders, as applicable, but which are not subject to a full or partial Write-off or conversion. See "- The terms of the Subordinated Notes and the Perpetual Capital Securities will contain non-viability loss absorption provisions, and the occurrence of a Trigger Event may be inherently unpredictable and beyond our control".

Furthermore, upon the occurrence of a Write-off of any Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, or if so specified in a Bail-in Certificate the right to receive interest on such Subordinated Notes or Distributions on such Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, will cease to accrue and all interest amounts on such Subordinated Notes and Distribution amounts on such Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, that were not due and payable prior to the Write-off shall become null and void. Consequently, the Noteholders and the Securityholders will not be entitled to receive any interest that has accrued on such Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, from (and including) the last Interest Payment Date (in respect of the Subordinated Notes) or the last Distribution Payment Date (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only) falling on or prior to the Trigger Event Notice or if so specified in a Bail-in Certificate.

Any such Write-off or cancelation under the terms of a Bail-in Certificate will be irrevocable and the Noteholders or the Securityholders, as the case may be, will, upon the occurrence of a Write-off or if so specified in a Bail-in Certificate, not receive any of our shares or other participation rights, or be entitled to any other participation in the upside potential of any equity or debt securities issued by us or be entitled to any subsequent write-up or any other compensation in the event of our potential recovery.

The resolution regime in Singapore may override the contract terms of the Subordinated Notes and the Perpetual Capital Securities, and the exercise of bail-in powers may be beyond the control of the relevant Issuer.

Pursuant to the MAS Act and the MAS Regulations, should a Bail-in Certificate be issued, the Subordinated Notes and the Perpetual Capital Securities may be subject to cancelation, modification, conversion and/or change in form.

Holders of Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities and the Trustee, as applicable, are deemed to agree to be bound by the terms of a Bail-in Certificate. Accordingly, the rights of such holders are subject to, and will be amended and varied (if necessary), solely to give effect to, the exercise of the MAS' powers under Division 4A of Part 4B of the MAS Act.

The determination of the viability of the relevant Issuer and the exercise of the MAS' powers is largely at the discretion of the MAS. While the MAS must have regard to the desirability of giving a pre-resolution creditor the priority and treatment that the pre-resolution creditor would have enjoyed had the Division 4A financial institution been wound up, the MAS may also consider other factors in determining whether to exercise its powers in accordance with this principle.

Potential investors should consider the risk that a holder of Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, may lose all of their investment in such Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, including the principal amount plus any accrued but unpaid interest (in respect of Notes other than Perpetual Capital Securities) or the principal amount plus any accrued but unpaid Distributions (in respect of Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable, in the event that a Bail-in Certificate is issued or undergo a change in form in their investment in line with the powers of the MAS to do so.

The issue of a Bail-in Certificate may depend on a number of factors which may be outside of the relevant Issuer's or the OCBC Group's (as applicable) control. The MAS may require or may cause the Subordinated Notes or the Perpetual Capital Securities to be subject to cancelation, modification, conversion and/or change in form in circumstances that are beyond the control of the relevant Issuer or the OCBC Group (as applicable) and with which neither the relevant Issuer or the OCBC Group (as applicable) agree.

## The terms and conditions of the Subordinated Notes and the Perpetual Capital Securities may provide for multiplicity of actions in the event of enforcement.

The terms and conditions of the Subordinated Notes and the Perpetual Capital Securities (other than those that are to be governed exclusively by Singapore law) provide that they shall be governed by English law and that disputes arising in relation thereto shall be subject to the jurisdiction of the English courts, except for the provisions relating to the subordination of such Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, which shall be governed by Singapore law and subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Singapore courts in the event of a dispute. As such, in the event of an enforcement of those Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, the Trustee or the holders may need to commence separate actions in the English and Singapore courts in relation to a single claim. While the English courts and the Singapore courts may defer the relevant part of the claim to the other court, the two claims are inherently linked and there is no certainty as to the approach that the two court systems would take in relation to those separate claims and proceedings, and, therefore, the process and procedures for action and the ultimate manner of judgment would be uncertain. This multiplicity of proceedings and lack of certainty could adversely affect the Trustee's or the holders' claims and the enforcement thereof and could introduce delays into the process of enforcement of those claims.

### The Perpetual Capital Securities are perpetual securities and Securityholders have no right to require redemption.

The Perpetual Capital Securities are perpetual and have no maturity date. Securityholders have no ability to require the Issuer to redeem the Perpetual Capital Securities. The Issuer can redeem the Perpetual Capital Securities in certain circumstances as described in "Terms and Conditions of the Perpetual Capital Securities", but the Issuer is under no obligation to redeem the Perpetual Capital Securities at any time. The Issuer's ability to redeem Perpetual Capital Securities is subject to the Issuer obtaining the prior written consent of the MAS (if then required) to the redemption, and satisfying any conditions that the MAS may impose at that time.

This means that Securityholders have no ability to cash in their investment, except if the Issuer exercises its right to redeem the Perpetual Capital Securities or by Securityholders selling their Perpetual Capital Securities in the open market. There can be no guarantee that the Issuer will exercise its right to redeem the Perpetual Capital Securities or will be able to meet the conditions for redemption of the Perpetual Capital Securities.

Securityholders who wish to sell their Perpetual Capital Securities may be unable to do so at a price at or above the amount they have paid for them, or at all, if insufficient liquidity exists in the market for the Perpetual Capital Securities.

In addition, upon the occurrence of a certain tax events or a Change of Qualification Event, the Perpetual Capital Securities may be redeemed at the relevant Early Redemption Amount, as more particularly described in "Terms and Conditions of the Perpetual Capital Securities". If any Trigger Event has occurred or a Bail-in Certificate has been issued since the Issue Date, as more fully described in "Risk Factors – Risks Relating to the Notes – The Subordinated Notes and the Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, may be subject to a full or partial Write-off or modification or change in form upon the occurrence of a Trigger Event or issuance of a Bail-in Certificate, as applicable", Securityholders may lose up to the full principal amount of the Perpetual Capital Securities.

There can be no assurance that Securityholders will be able to reinvest the amount received upon redemption at a rate that will provide the same rate of return as their investment in the Perpetual Capital Securities.

### Payments of Distribution on the Perpetual Capital Securities are discretionary and such Distributions are non-cumulative.

Payment of Distributions on any Distribution Payment Date is at the sole discretion of the Issuer. Subject to the Perpetual Capital Securities Conditions, the Issuer may elect to cancel any Distribution on any Distribution Payment Date. The Issuer may make such election for any reason. In addition, the Issuer will not be obliged to pay, and will not pay, any Distribution if:

- (a) the Issuer is prevented by applicable Singapore banking regulations or other requirements of the MAS from making payment in full of dividends or other distributions when due on its Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities;
- (b) the Issuer is unable to make such payment of dividends or other distributions on its Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities without causing a breach of the MAS' consolidated or unconsolidated capital adequacy requirements set out in MAS Notice 637; or
- (c) the aggregate of the amount of the Distribution (if paid in full), together with the sum of any other dividends and other distributions originally scheduled to be paid (whether or not paid in whole or part) during the Issuer's then-current fiscal year on the Perpetual Capital Securities or its Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities, would exceed the Distributable Reserves as of the Distribution Determination Date.

Any Distributions which are not paid on the applicable Distribution Payment Date shall not accumulate or be payable at any time thereafter, whether or not funds are, or subsequently become, available. Securityholders will have no right thereto whether in a bankruptcy or dissolution as a result of the Issuer's insolvency or otherwise.

Therefore, any Distributions not paid will be lost and the Issuer will have no obligation to make payment of such Distributions or to pay interest thereon. If Distributions are not paid for whatever reason, the Perpetual Capital Securities may trade at a lower price. If a Securityholder sells its Perpetual Capital Securities during such a period, such Securityholder may not receive the same return on investment as a Securityholder who continues to hold its Perpetual Capital Securities until Distributions are resumed.

### Our ability to make payments in respect of the Notes may depend upon the performance of contractual obligations of other parties to the transaction documents.

Our ability to make payments in respect of the Notes may depend upon the due performance of the respective obligations of the other parties to the transaction documents, including the performance by the Trustee, the Issuing and Paying Agents, the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent, the CDP Paying Agent, the U.S. Paying Agent, the Transfer Agents, the Registrars and/or the Calculation Agent of their respective obligations. While the non-performance of any relevant parties will not relieve us of our obligations to make payments in respect of the Notes, we may not, in such circumstances, be able to fulfill our obligations to the Noteholders, Receiptholders and the Couponholders or, as the case may be, the Securityholders.

We and the Noteholders or the Securityholders, as the case may be, may face certain risks associated with any changes to English law, Singapore law, Australian law or administrative practice after the date of the issue of the relevant Notes.

The terms and conditions of the Notes (other than AMTNs) are based on English law or Singapore law and, in the case of AMTNs, the law of New South Wales, Australia in effect as at the date of issue of the relevant Notes (save for, in the case of Notes (other than AMTNs) based on English law, certain Note Conditions or Perpetual Capital Securities Conditions, which shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the law of the Republic of Singapore). No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change to English law, Singapore law, Australian law or administrative practice after the date of issue of the relevant Notes.

#### Limited liquidity of the Notes may affect the market price of the Notes.

The Notes will not be registered under the Securities Act or the securities or blue sky laws of any state of the United States. The Notes are being offered, and may be resold outside of the United States within the meaning of and in compliance with Regulation S under the Securities Act. The Notes may also be offered, and may be resold, within the United States to institutional investors that qualify as "qualified institutional buyers", within the meaning of and in compliance with Rule 144A under the Securities Act; or pursuant to another exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Consequently, the Notes are subject to restrictions on transfer and resale.

Application may be made to list the Notes on the Official List of the SGX-ST. However, if for any reason the Notes are not listed, the liquidity of the Notes may be negatively impacted.

The Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market does develop, it may not be liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or at prices that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary market. This is particularly the case for Notes that are especially sensitive to interest rate, currency, credit or market risks, and/or are designed for specific investment objectives or strategies or have been structured to meet the investment requirements of limited categories of investors. These types of Notes generally would have a more limited secondary market and more price volatility than conventional debt securities. Illiquidity may have an adverse effect on the market value of the Notes. Even if the Notes are traded, they may trade at a discount from their initial issue price, depending on prevailing interest rates, the market for similar securities, our performance and other factors.

The Dealers have made no commitment and have no obligation to make a market in the Notes. Therefore, no assurance can be given that any Dealer will actually make a market in any Notes that are issued under the Program, or if it does, that it will continue to make a market in the future. No assurance can be given that an active trading market for any Notes will develop and therefore the liquidity of the Notes may be considerably less than for comparable debt securities.

#### We may vary the terms of Subordinated Notes or the Perpetual Capital Securities.

We may, without the consent or approval of the Noteholders or the Securityholders, as the case may be, but subject to the prior approval of the MAS (to the extent that any variation would affect the eligibility of any Subordinated Notes as Tier 2 Capital Securities or the eligibility of the Perpetual Capital Securities as Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities of the Issuer, as applicable), vary the terms of any Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, so that they remain or, as appropriate, become Qualifying Securities, subject to certain conditions. The terms of such varied Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, may contain one or more provisions, including, without limitation, the maturity date that are substantially different from the terms of the original Notes, provided that the Subordinated Notes

or the Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, become or remain Qualifying Securities in accordance with the relevant Conditions. While we cannot make changes to the terms of the Subordinated Notes or the Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, that give rise to any right of the Issuer to redeem the varied securities that are inconsistent with the redemption provisions of such Subordinated Notes or the Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, that result in a Tax Event or Capital Event, or which do not comply with the rules of any stock exchange on which such Subordinated Note or the Perpetual Capital Security, as applicable, may be listed or admitted to trading, and following such variation the resulting securities must have at least, inter alia, the same ranking, interest rate, interest payment dates, redemption rights, existing rights to accrued interest which has not been paid and be assigned the same ratings as the Subordinated Notes, no assurance can be given as to whether any of these changes will negatively affect any particular Noteholder or Securityholder. Furthermore, the Trustee has no obligation or ability to verify whether the requirements for such variations have been satisfied, and will have no discretion in determining whether any such variation results in terms that are materially less favorable to Noteholders or Securityholders, as the case may be. Any such variation may be treated as a deemed exchange of existing Notes for newly issued Notes for U.S. federal income tax purposes, which could cause U.S. Holders (as defined in "Taxation - Certain United States Federal Income Tax Considerations") of such Notes to recognize gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes. In addition, the tax and stamp duty consequences of holding such varied Notes could be different for some categories of Noteholder from the tax and stamp duty consequences for them of holding the Notes prior to such variation.

Upon the occurrence of a Trigger Event or the issue of a Bail-in Certificate, clearance and settlement of the Subordinated Notes and the Perpetual Capital Securities will be suspended and there may be a delay in updating the records of the relevant clearing system to reflect the amount written-off or the effect of the Bail-in Certificate.

Following the receipt of a Trigger Event Notice or notice of issue of a Bail-in Certificate, all clearance and settlement of the Subordinated Notes or the Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, will be suspended. As a result, the Noteholders or the Securityholders, as the case may be, will not be able to settle the transfer of any Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, from the commencement of the Suspension Period (as defined in the relevant Conditions), and any sale or other transfer of the Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities that a holder may have initiated prior to the commencement of the Suspension Period that is scheduled to settle during the Suspension Period will be rejected by the relevant clearing system and will not be settled within the relevant clearing systems.

While a Tranche of Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, that contains non-viability loss absorption provisions is represented by one or more Global Notes or Global Certificates and a Trigger Event occurs or a Bail-in Certificate is issued, the records of Euroclear and Clearstream or any other clearing system (other than the CMU) in respect of their respective participants' position held in such Tranche of Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, may not be immediately updated to reflect the amount to be written-off (where applicable) or the effect of the Bail-in Certificate and may continue to reflect the nominal amount of such Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, prior to the Write-off or the issue of a Bail-in Certificate as being outstanding, for a period of time. The update process of the relevant clearing system may only be completed after the date on which the Write-off is scheduled or the Bail-in Certificate has been effected. Notwithstanding such delay, holders of such Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, may lose the entire value of their investment in such Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, on the date on which the Write-off occurs or when the Bail-in Certificate has been effected. No assurance can be given as to the period of time required by the relevant clearing system to complete the update of their records. Further, the conveyance of notices and other communications by the relevant clearing system to their respective participants, by those participants to their respective indirect participants, and by the participants and indirect participants to beneficial owners of interests in the Global Note or Global Certificate will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.

## Any credit ratings on the Notes do not address all risks relating to an investment in the Notes, and a downgrade in ratings may affect the market price and liquidity of the Notes.

A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to revision, suspension, downgrade or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating organization. Not all issues of Notes may be rated and such ratings are limited in scope, and do not address all material risks relating to an investment in the Notes, but reflect only the view of each rating agency at the time the rating is issued. There is no assurance that such credit ratings will remain in effect for any given period of time or that such ratings will not be revised, downgraded, suspended or withdrawn entirely by the rating agencies. In addition, any of such actions by the rating agencies could reduce the number of potential investors of the Notes and adversely affect the prices and liquidity of the Notes.

# The book-entry registration system of the Notes may reduce the liquidity of any secondary market for the Notes and may limit the receipt of payments by the beneficial owners of the Notes.

Because transfers of interests in the Global Notes or Global Certificates can be effected only through book entries at Clearstream, Euroclear, CDP or the CMU in the case of the Global Notes or Global Certificates to be issued in reliance on Regulation S, or DTC, in the case of the Global Certificates to be issued in reliance on Rule 144A, for the accounts of their respective participants, the liquidity of any secondary market for Global Notes or Global Certificates may be reduced to the extent that some investors are unwilling to hold Notes in book-entry form in the name of a Clearstream, Euroclear, CDP, the CMU or DTC participant. The ability to pledge interests in the Global Notes or Global Certificates may be limited due to the lack of a physical certificate. Beneficial owners of Global Notes or Global Certificates may, in certain cases, experience delay in the receipt of payments of principal and interest (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) or Distributions (in respect of Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable, since such payments will be forwarded by the paying agent to Clearstream, Euroclear or DTC, as applicable, who will then forward payment to their respective participants, who (if not themselves the beneficial owners) will thereafter forward payments to the beneficial owners of the interests in the Global Notes or Global Certificates. In the event of the insolvency of Clearstream, Euroclear, CDP, the CMU, DTC or any of their respective participants in whose name interests in the Global Notes or Global Certificates are recorded, the ability of beneficial owners to obtain timely or ultimate payment of principal and interest (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) or Distributions (in respect of Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable, on Global Notes or Global Certificates may be impaired.

### Where the AMTNs are lodged with the Austraclear System, investors will have to rely on the procedures of Austraclear for transfer, payment and communication with us.

AMTNs will be issued in registered certificated form. Each Tranche of AMTNs will be represented by an AMTN Certificate. Each AMTN Certificate is a certificate representing the AMTNs of a particular Tranche and will be substantially in the form set out in the Note (AMTN) Deed Poll, duly completed and signed by us and authenticated by the Registrar in respect of AMTNs. An AMTN Certificate is not a negotiable instrument nor is it a document of title. Title to any AMTNs, which is the subject of an AMTN Certificate, is evidenced by entry in the Register and, in the event of a conflict, the Register shall prevail (subject to correction for fraud or proven error).

We may procure that the AMTNs are lodged with the Austraclear System. On lodgment, Austraclear will become the sole registered holder and legal owner of the AMTNs. Subject to the rules and regulations known as the "Austraclear System Regulations" established by Austraclear (as amended or replaced from time to time) to govern the use of the Austraclear System, participants of the Austraclear System ("Accountholders") may acquire rights against Austraclear in relation to those AMTNs as beneficial owners and Austraclear is required to deal with the

AMTNs in accordance with the directions and instructions of the Accountholders. Investors in AMTNs who are not Accountholders would need to hold their interest in the relevant AMTNs through a nominee who is an Accountholder. All payments made by us in respect of AMTNs lodged with the Austraclear System will be made directly to an account agreed with Austraclear or as it directs in accordance with the Austraclear System Regulations.

Where the AMTNs are lodged with the Austraclear System, any transfer of AMTNs will be subject to the Austraclear System Regulations. Secondary market sales of AMTNs cleared through the Austraclear System will be settled in accordance with the Austraclear System Regulations.

Investors may experience difficulties in effecting service of legal process, recovering in civil proceedings for United States securities laws violations, enforcing foreign judgments or bringing original actions against us or our management in Singapore, Malaysia, Indonesia, Greater China or any of the jurisdictions in which our subsidiaries are incorporated or operate based on United States or other foreign laws.

We are a company with limited liability incorporated under the laws of Singapore and substantially all of our assets are located outside the United States. In addition, most or all of our directors and executive officers reside outside the United States, and a substantial portion of their assets are located outside of the United States. We conduct a substantial majority of our operations in Singapore and Malaysia and significantly all of our or our subsidiaries' assets are located in Singapore, Malaysia, Greater China and Indonesia. We have been advised by Allen & Gledhill LLP, our Singapore counsel, that judgments of U.S. courts based upon the civil liability provisions of federal or state securities laws are not enforceable in Singapore courts and that there is doubt as to whether Singapore courts will enter judgments in original actions brought in Singapore courts of civil liabilities predicated solely upon the U.S. federal or state securities laws.

As a result, it may not be possible for investors to effect service of process within the United States upon us or our subsidiaries or any of our respective directors and executive officers, or to enforce any judgments obtained in U.S. courts predicated upon civil liability provisions of the U.S. securities laws. In addition, we cannot assure investors that civil liabilities predicated upon the federal or state securities laws of the United States will be enforceable in such jurisdictions. See "Enforceability of Judgments".

#### We may not continue to enjoy tax concessions under Singapore tax laws.

The Notes to be issued from time to time under the Program during the period from the date of this Offering Memorandum to December 31, 2023 are intended to be "qualifying debt securities" for the purposes of the Income Tax Act 1947 of Singapore ("ITA") subject to the fulfillment of certain conditions more particularly described in the section "Taxation – Singapore Taxation".

However, there is no assurance that such Notes will continue to enjoy the tax concessions in connection therewith should the relevant tax laws be amended or revoked at any time.

# Tax treatment of Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities that contain non-viability loss absorption provisions is unclear.

It is not clear whether any particular Tranche of the Subordinated Notes or the Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, which contains non-viability loss absorption provisions will be regarded as debt securities by the Inland Revenue Authority of Singapore ("IRAS") for the purposes of the ITA and whether the tax concessions available for qualifying debt securities under the Qualifying Debt Securities Scheme (as set out in "Taxation – Singapore Taxation") would apply to such Tranche of the Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable. There is also no assurance that any Tranche of Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities, as the case may be, to be issued from time to time under the Program will be able to enjoy such tax concessions should the relevant tax laws be amended or revoked at any time.

If any Tranche of the Subordinated Notes or the Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, is not regarded as debt securities for the purposes of the ITA and/or holders thereof are not eligible for the tax concessions under the Qualifying Debt Securities Scheme, the tax treatment to holders may differ. Investors and holders of any Tranche of the Subordinated Notes or the Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable, should consult their own accounting and tax advisors regarding the Singapore income tax consequences of their acquisition, holding and disposal of such Tranche of the Subordinated Notes or the Perpetual Capital Securities, as applicable.

#### Characterization of certain Notes may be unclear for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

The characterization of a Series or Tranche of Notes (including Subordinated Notes and Perpetual Capital Securities) may be uncertain for U.S. federal income tax purposes and will depend on the terms of those Notes. The determination of whether an obligation represents debt, equity, or some other instrument or interest is based on all the relevant facts and circumstances. There may be no U.S. statutory, judicial or administrative authority directly addressing the characterization of some of the types of Notes that are anticipated to be issued under the Program or of instruments similar to the Notes. Each U.S. Holder (as defined in "Taxation – Certain United States Federal Income Tax Considerations") should consult its own tax advisor about the proper characterization of the Notes for U.S. federal income tax purposes and consequences to the U.S. Holder of acquiring, owning or disposing of the Notes.

### Noteholders or Securityholders, as the case maybe, may face certain risks associated with exchange rate fluctuations and any modifications to exchange controls.

We will pay principal and interest (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) or Distributions (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable, on the Notes in the currency specified (the "Settlement Currency"). This presents certain risks relating to currency conversions if a Noteholder's or Securityholder's financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit (the "Investor's Currency") other than the Settlement Currency. These include the risk that exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of the Settlement Currency or appreciation of the Investor's Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Settlement Currency or Investor's Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of the Investor's Currency relative to the Settlement Currency would decrease (a) the Investor's Currencyequivalent yield on the Notes, (b) the Investor's Currency-equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes and (c) the Investor's Currency-equivalent market value of the Notes. Imposition of exchange controls by government and monetary authorities could materially adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, Noteholders or Securityholders, as the case may be, may receive less interest (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) or Distributions (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable, or principal than expected, or no interest (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) or Distributions (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable, or principal.

# The regulation and reform of "benchmark" rates of interest and indices may adversely affect the value of Notes linked to or referencing such "benchmarks".

The Program allows for the issuance of Notes that reference certain interest rates or other types of rates or indices which are deemed to be "benchmarks", in particular with respect to certain Floating Rate Notes or Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities where the Reference Rate (as defined in the Conditions) may be Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate ("HIBOR"), Euro Interbank Offered Rate ("EURIBOR"), Sterling Overnight Index Average ("SONIA") Benchmark, Sterling Overnight Index Average ("SOFR") Benchmark or Singapore Overnight Rate Average ("SORA") Benchmark or another such benchmark. The Pricing Supplement for the Notes will specify whether HIBOR, EURIBOR, SONIA Benchmark, SOFR Benchmark or SORA Benchmark or another such benchmark is applicable.

Interest rates and indices which are deemed to be or used as "benchmarks" are the subject of recent international regulatory guidance and proposals for reform. Some of these reforms are already effective while others are still to be implemented. These reforms may cause such benchmarks to perform differently than in the past or to disappear entirely, or have other consequences which cannot be predicted. Any such consequence could have a material adverse effect on any Floating Rate Note or Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Security where the interest rate is calculated with reference to such benchmarks.

More broadly, any of the international reforms or the general increased regulatory scrutiny of benchmarks, could increase the costs and risks of administering or otherwise participating in the setting of a benchmark and complying with any such regulations or requirements. For example, on July 27, 2017, the United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority announced that it will no longer persuade or compel banks to submit rates for the calculation of the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate ("LIBOR") benchmark after 2021 and, on July 12, 2018, announced that the LIBOR benchmark may cease to be a regulated benchmark under the Benchmark Regulation (together, the "FCA Announcements").

The elimination of the LIBOR, SOR or SIBOR benchmark or any other benchmark, or changes in the manner of administration of any benchmark, could require an adjustment to the terms and conditions, or result in other consequences, in respect of any Floating Rate Note or Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Security linked to such benchmark. Such factors may have the following effects on certain benchmarks: (i) discourage market participants from continuing to administer or contribute to the benchmark; (ii) trigger changes in the rules or methodologies used in the benchmark or (iii) lead to the disappearance of the "benchmark".

Any of the above changes or any other consequential changes as a result of international reforms or other initiatives or investigations, could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on any Floating Rate Notes or Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Security linked to or referencing a benchmark.

Where Screen Rate Determination is specified as the manner in which the Rate of Interest (or the Rate of Distribution) in respect of Floating Rate Notes or Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities is to be determined, the Conditions provide that the Rate of Interest (or the Rate of Distribution, in the case of Perpetual Capital Securities) shall be determined by reference to the relevant screen page or website depending on whether the Reference Rate is specified as being (or derived from) HIBOR, EURIBOR, SONIA Benchmark, SOFR Benchmark or SORA Benchmark. In the case of any discontinuation or disapplication of such Reference Rate in accordance with the Conditions, which may include circumstances where the regulatory supervisor of the administrator of the original Reference Rate makes a public statement that such Reference Rate is or will be (or is or will be deemed by such supervisor to be) no longer representative of its relevant underlying market, Condition 4(o) (in respect of Floating Rate Notes) and Condition 4(I) (in respect of Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities) sets out more details on the mechanics for determining the Rate of Interest or the Rate of Distribution, respectively, in the absence of the original applicable Reference Rate. Such mechanics may involve the determination of a replacement Reference Rate and a spread adjustment to be applied to such replacement Reference Rate. The use of any replacement Reference Rate and application of a spread adjustment determined in accordance with Condition 4(o) (in respect of Floating Rate Notes) and Condition 4(I) (in respect of Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities) to determine the Rate of Interest or the Rate of Distribution, respectively, is likely to result in Notes initially linked to or referencing the original Reference Rate performing differently (which may include payment of a lower Rate of Interest or lower Rate of Distribution, as applicable) than they would do if the original applicable Reference Rate were to continue to apply in its current form. Any such determination which involves the exercise of discretion by the Issuer or, if the designated person is an affiliate of the Issuer, such affiliate, may also present the Issuer or such affiliate with a conflict of interest.

Furthermore, if a replacement Reference Rate has been determined by the Issuer (or its designated person, as the case may be) in accordance with Condition 4(o) (in respect of Floating Rate Notes) and Condition 4(I) (in respect of Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities), the Conditions provide that the Issuer may vary the Conditions and/or the Trust Deed, as necessary to ensure the proper operation of such replacement Reference Rate, without any requirement for consent or approval of the Noteholders.

Where Condition 4(o) (in respect of Floating Rate Notes) and Condition 4(I) (in respect of Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities) is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as the applicable mechanics for determining a replacement Reference Rate, there may be circumstances in which a new replacement Reference Rate may not be able to be determined before the next Interest Determination Date (or the next Distribution Determination Date in the case of Perpetual Capital Securities), or where a replacement Reference Rate is not adopted because it could reasonably be expected to prejudice the qualification of the Notes as Tier 2 capital or Additional Tier 1 capital (as the case may be) and/or the Notes as eligible liabilities or loss absorbing capacity instruments for the purposes of any applicable loss absorption regulations. In such event, the Rate of Interest or the Rate of Distribution for the next succeeding Interest Period (or the next succeeding Distribution Period in the case of Perpetual Capital Securities) will be the Rate of Interest or the Rate of Distribution applicable as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date or Distribution Determination Date before the discontinuation or disapplication of the original Reference Rate in accordance with the Conditions. This is likely to result in Notes linked to or referencing the relevant benchmark performing differently (which may include payment of a lower Rate of Interest or Rate of Distribution) than they would do if the relevant benchmark were to continue to apply, or if a replacement Reference Rate could be determined. The initial Rate of Interest or the initial Rate of Distribution, or the Rate of Interest or the Rate of Distribution applicable as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date or Distribution Determination Date before the discontinuation or disapplication of the original applicable Reference Rate in accordance with the Conditions, could, as a result, continue to apply to maturity, which would lead to the Floating Rate Notes, in effect, becoming Fixed Rate Notes.

Where ISDA Determination is specified as the manner in which the Rate of Interest or the Rate of Distribution in respect of Floating Rate Notes is to be determined, the Conditions provide that the Rate of Interest or the Rate of Distribution in respect of the Floating Rate Notes shall be determined by reference to the relevant Floating Rate Option in the 2021 ISDA Definitions. Where the Floating Rate Option specified is an "IBOR" Floating Rate Option, the Rate of Interest or the Rate of Distribution may be determined by reference to the relevant screen rate or the rate determined on the basis of quotations from certain banks. If the relevant IBOR is permanently discontinued and the relevant screen rate or quotations from banks (as applicable) are not available, the operation of these provisions may lead to uncertainty as to the Rate of Interest or the Rate of Distribution that would be applicable, and may, adversely affect the value of, and return on, the Floating Rate Notes and Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities.

Investors should consult their own independent advisers and make their own assessment about the potential risks imposed by any international reforms in making any investment decision with respect to any Notes linked to or referencing a benchmark.

## Negative benchmark rates would reduce the rate of interest or distribution on the Floating Rate Notes and Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities.

The interest rate or distribution rate, as the case may be, to be borne by Floating Rate Notes or Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities is based on a spread over the relevant benchmark, including HIBOR, EURIBOR, SONIA Benchmark, SOFR Benchmark, SORA Benchmark or another benchmark. Changes in the relevant benchmark rate will affect the rate at which Floating Rate Notes or Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities accrue interest (or distribution) and the amount of interest (or distribution) payments on Floating Rate Notes or Floating Rate Perpetual

Capital Securities. To the extent that the relevant benchmark rate decreases below 0.00% for any interest period (or distribution period), the rate at which the Floating Rate Notes or Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities accrue interest (or distribution) for such interest period (or distribution period) may be reduced by the amount by which such benchmark rate is negative. The all-in interest rate (or distribution rate) at which the Floating Rate Notes or Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities accrue interest (or distribution) would be limited to the Minimum Rate of Interest (or Minimum Rate of Distribution) as set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement for such interest period or distribution period. Unless otherwise specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the Minimum Rate of Interest and the Minimum Rate of Distribution, as applicable, will be zero.

### The market continues to develop in relation to risk free rates (including overnight rates) as reference rates for Floating Rate Notes and Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities.

Investors should be aware that the market continues to develop in relation to risk free rates as reference rates in the capital markets and their adoption as alternatives to the relevant interbank offered rates. For example, on November 29, 2017, the Bank of England and the United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority announced that the Bank of England's Working Group on Sterling Risk-Free Rates had been mandated with implementing a broad-based transition to the Sterling Overnight Index Average ("SONIA") over the following four years across sterling bond, loan and derivatives markets, so that SONIA is established as the primary sterling interest rate benchmark by the end of 2021. The New York Federal Reserve (the "NY Federal Reserve") also began to publish SOFR in April 2018, and the Alternative Reference Rates Committee (the "ARRC") has published its Paced Transition Plan which outlines the key milestones until the end of 2021 to facilitate a smooth and orderly transition from USD LIBOR to SOFR. On August 30, 2019, the MAS similarly announced the establishment of a SC-STS to oversee an industry-wide benchmark transition from SOR to SORA and on October 27, 2020, the SC-STS announced industry timelines to support a coordinated shift away from the use of SOR in financial products and accelerate usage of SORA, including that all financial institutions and their customers should, by end-April 2021, cease usage of SOR in new loans and securities that mature after end-2021. On March 31, 2021, the SC-STS further announced new industry timelines to cease issuance of SOR derivatives and SIBOR-linked financial products by end-September 2021, including that all financial institutions and their customers should cease usage of SOR in new derivatives contracts (with certain exceptions) by end-September 2021. On July 29, 2021, the SC-STS further announced new industry timelines encouraging wholesale market participants to substantially shift out of their legacy SOR exposures by December 31, 2021, with specific recommendations in respect of corporate loans, derivatives and bonds to facilitate the transitions from SOR to SORA. For the retail loan market, the SC-STS has announced a longer transition period from September 2021 to October 2022.

In addition, market participants and relevant working groups are exploring alternative reference rates based on risk-free rates, examples of which include term SONIA reference rates, term SOFR reference rates and term SORA reference rates (which seek to measure the market's forward expectation of an average SONIA, SOFR or SORA rate over a designated term).

The market or a significant part thereof may adopt an application of risk free rates that differs significantly from that set out in the Conditions and used in relation to any that reference risk free rates issued under the Program. The relevant Issuer may in the future also issue Notes referencing risk free rates that differ materially in terms of interest determination when compared with any previous Notes referencing the same risk free rate issued by it under the Program. The development of risk free rates as interest reference rates for the Eurobond markets and of the market infrastructure for adopting such rates could result in reduced liquidity or increased volatility or could otherwise affect the market price of any Notes issued under the Program which references any such risk free rate from time to time.

Furthermore, the basis of deriving certain risk free rates, such as SOFR, SONIA or SORA, may mean that interest on Notes which reference any such risk free rate would only be capable of being determined after the end of the relevant Observation Period or Interest Accrual Period and immediately prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date. It may be difficult for investors in Notes which reference any such risk free rate to accurately estimate the amount of interest which will be payable on such Notes, and some investors may be unable or unwilling to trade such Notes without changes to their IT systems, both of which could adversely impact the liquidity of such Notes. Further, in contrast to LIBOR-linked Notes, if Notes referencing SONIA Benchmark, SOFR Benchmark or SORA Benchmark become due and payable as a result of an event of default under the Conditions, the rate of interest payable for the final Interest Period in respect of such Notes shall only be determined on the date which the Notes become due and payable and shall not be reset thereafter. Investors should consider these matters when making their investment decision with respect to any such Notes.

In addition, the manner of adoption or application of risk free rates in the Eurobond markets may differ materially compared with the application and adoption of such risk free rates in other markets, such as the derivatives and loan markets. Investors should carefully consider how any mismatch between the adoption of risk free rates across these markets may impact any hedging or other financial arrangements which they may put in place in connection with any acquisition, holding or disposal of Notes referencing such risk free rates.

Since risk free rates are relatively new market indices, Notes linked to any such risk free rate may have no established trading market when issued, and an established trading market may never develop or may not be very liquid. Market terms for debt securities indexed to any risk free rate, such as the spread over the index reflected in interest rate provisions, may evolve over time, and trading prices of such Notes may be lower than those of later-issued indexed debt securities as a result. Further, if any risk free rate to which a series of Notes is linked does not prove to be widely used in securities like the Notes, the trading price of such Notes linked to a risk free rate may be lower than those of Notes linked to indices that are more widely used. Investors in such Notes may not be able to sell such Notes at all or may not be able to sell such Notes at prices that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary market, and may consequently suffer from increased pricing volatility and market risk. Daily changes in such rates may also be more volatile than daily changes in other benchmarks or market rates, such that the value on and value of Notes linked to risk-free rates may fluctuate more than floating rate debt securities linked to less volatile rates. There can also be no quarantee that any risk free rate to which a series of Notes is linked will not be discontinued or fundamentally altered in a manner that is materially adverse to the interests of investors in Notes referencing such risk free rate. If the manner in which such risk free rate is calculated is changed, that change may result in a reduction of the amount of interest payable on such Notes and the trading prices of such Notes.

#### Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments.

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisors to determine whether and to what extent (i) the Notes are legal investments for it; (ii) the Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing; and (iii) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisors or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

#### Information Reporting Obligations.

Information relating to the Notes, their holders and beneficial owners may be required to be provided to tax authorities in certain circumstances pursuant to domestic or international reporting and transparency regimes. This may include (but is not limited to) information relating to the value of the Notes, amounts paid or credited with respect to the Notes, details of the holders or beneficial owners of the Notes and information and documents in connection with transactions relating to the Notes. In certain circumstances, the information obtained by a tax authority may be provided to tax authorities in other countries. Some jurisdictions operate a withholding system in place of, or in addition to, such provision of information requirements. Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Notes and subject to certain limitations, a holder or beneficial owner of Notes is required to provide information reasonably requested by us for the purposes of our compliance with applicable information reporting regimes.

#### Risks Relating to Renminbi-Denominated Notes

Notes denominated in Renminbi ("RMB Notes") may be issued under the Program. RMB Notes contain particular risks for potential investors.

Renminbi is not freely convertible; there are significant restrictions on remittance of Renminbi into and outside the People's Republic of China (the "PRC").

Renminbi is not freely convertible at present. The PRC government continues to regulate conversion between Renminbi and foreign currencies despite the significant reduction over the years by the PRC government of control over routine foreign exchange transactions under current accounts.

Currently, participating banks in Singapore, Hong Kong, Taiwan, London, Frankfurt, Seoul, Toronto, Sydney, Doha, Paris, Luxembourg, Kuala Lumpur and Bangkok have been permitted to engage in the settlement of Renminbi trade transactions. This represents a current account activity. However, remittance of Renminbi by foreign investors into the PRC for the purposes of capital account items, such as capital contributions, is generally only permitted upon obtaining specific approvals from, or completing specific registrations or filings with, the relevant authorities on a case-by-case basis and is subject to a strict monitoring system. Regulations in the PRC on the remittance of Renminbi into the PRC for settlement of capital account items are developing gradually.

Although, since October 1, 2016, the Renminbi has been added to the Special Drawing Rights basket created by the International Monetary Fund, there is no assurance that the PRC government will continue to gradually liberalize the control over cross-border remittances of Renminbi funds in the future, that the pilot schemes for Renminbi cross-border utilization will not be discontinued or that new PRC regulations will not be promulgated in the future which have the effect of restricting or eliminating the remittance of Renminbi funds into or out of the PRC. In the event that funds cannot be repatriated out of the PRC in Renminbi, this may affect the overall availability of Renminbi outside the PRC and the ability of the Issuer to source Renminbi to finance its obligations under the Notes denominated in Renminbi. Each investor should consult its own advisors to obtain a more detailed explanation of how the PRC regulations and rules may affect their investment decisions.

There is only limited availability of Renminbi outside the PRC, which may affect the liquidity of RMB Notes and our ability to source Renminbi outside the PRC to service such RMB Notes.

As a result of the restrictions by the PRC government on cross-border Renminbi fund flows, the availability of Renminbi outside of the PRC is limited. While People's Bank of China ("PBOC") has entered into agreements on the clearing of Renminbi business with financial institutions in a number of financial centers and cities (the "Renminbi Clearing Banks") and are in the process of establishing Renminbi clearing and settlement mechanisms in several other jurisdictions (the "Settlement Arrangements"), the current size of Renminbi denominated financial assets outside the PRC is limited.

There are restrictions imposed by PBOC on Renminbi business participating banks in respect of cross-border Renminbi settlement, such as those relating to direct transactions with PRC enterprises. Furthermore, Renminbi business participating banks do not have direct Renminbi liquidity support from PBOC. The Renminbi Clearing Banks only have access to onshore liquidity support from PBOC for the purpose of squaring open positions of participating banks for limited types of transactions and are not obliged to square for participating banks any open positions resulting from other foreign exchange transactions or conversion services. In such cases, the participating banks will need to source Renminbi from outside the PRC to square such open positions.

Although it is expected that the offshore Renminbi market will continue to grow in depth and size, its growth is subject to many constraints as a result of PRC laws and regulations on foreign exchange. There is no assurance that new PRC rules and regulations will not be promulgated or amended or the Settlement Arrangements will not be terminated or amended in the future which will have the effect of restricting availability of Renminbi offshore. The limited availability of Renminbi outside the PRC may affect the liquidity of RMB Notes. To the extent we are required to source Renminbi in the offshore market to service its RMB Notes, there is no assurance that we will be able to source such Renminbi on satisfactory terms, if at all. If Renminbi is not available in certain circumstances as described under the Notes, we may make payments under the Notes in a currency other than Renminbi.

#### Investment in RMB Notes is subject to exchange rate risks.

The value of Renminbi against the U.S. dollar and other foreign currencies fluctuates from time to time and is affected by changes in the PRC and international political and economic conditions and by many other factors. In August 2015, the PBOC implemented changes to the way it calculates the Renminbi's daily mid-point against the U.S. dollar to take into account market-maker quotes before announcing such daily mid-point. This change, and others that may be implemented, may increase the volatility in the value of the Renminbi against foreign currencies. In addition, the ongoing Sino-US trade tensions has also contributed to the fluctuation of the value of Renminbi against the U.S. dollar, resulting in the easing of the Renminbi in recent months. All payments of interest (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) or Distributions (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable, and principal will be made with respect to RMB Notes in Renminbi, save as provided in Note Condition 7(j) (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) and Perpetual Capital Securities Condition 8(f) (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable. As a result, the value of these Renminbi payments may vary with the changes in the prevailing exchange rates in the marketplace. If the value of Renminbi depreciates against another foreign currency, the value of the investment made by a holder of the RMB Notes in that foreign currency will decline. If an investor measures its investment returns by reference to a currency other than Renminbi, an investment in the RMB Notes entails foreign exchange related risks, including possible significant changes in the value of RMB relative to the currency by reference to which an investor measures its investment returns. Depreciation of the Renminbi against such currency could cause a decrease in the effective yield of the RMB Notes below their stated coupon rates and could result in a loss when the return on the RMB Notes is translated into such currency. In addition, there may be tax consequences for investors as a result of any foreign currency gains resulting from any investment in RMB Notes.

#### Investment in the RMB Notes is subject to currency risk.

If we are not able, or it is impracticable for us, to satisfy our obligation to pay interest (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) or Distributions (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable, and principal on the RMB Notes as a result of Inconvertibility, Non-transferability or Illiquidity (each as defined in the relevant Conditions), we shall be entitled, on giving not less than five or more than 30 days' irrevocable notice to the Noteholders or the Securityholders, as the case may be, prior to the due date for payment, to settle any such payment in U.S. Dollars or Singapore dollars, as the case may be, on the due date at the U.S. Dollar Equivalent or the Singapore Dollar Equivalent, respectively, of any such Renminbi denominated amount.

### Payments in respect of RMB Notes will only be made to investors in the manner specified in such RMB Notes.

All payments to investors in respect of RMB Notes will be made solely (a) when RMB Notes are represented by Global Certificates, by transfer to a Renminbi bank account maintained in Hong Kong or Singapore, as the case may be, in accordance with prevailing CMU rules and procedures or CDP rules, as the case may be, or (b) when RMB Notes are in definitive form, by transfer to a Renminbi bank account maintained in Hong Kong or Singapore in accordance with prevailing rules and regulations.

In the event that a holder of RMB Notes fails to maintain a valid Renminbi account with a bank in Hong Kong or Singapore, as the case may be, and, accordingly, payments are unsuccessful, it is possible that such amounts may be settled in a currency other than Renminbi. Other than as described in the Conditions, we cannot be required to make payment by any other means (including in any other currency or in bank notes, by check or draft or by transfer to a bank account in the PRC).

### Gains on the transfer of the RMB Notes may become subject to income taxes under PRC tax laws

Under the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law, the PRC Individual Income Tax Law and the relevant implementing rules, as amended from time to time, any gain realized on the transfer of RMB Notes by non-PRC resident enterprise or individual holders may be subject to PRC enterprise income tax ("EIT") or PRC individual income tax ("IIT") if such gain is income derived from sources within the PRC. However, uncertainty remains as to whether the gain realized from the transfer of RMB Notes by non-PRC resident enterprise or individual holders would be treated as income derived from sources within the PRC and subject to the EIT or IIT. This will depend on how the PRC tax authorities interpret, apply or enforce the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law, the PRC Individual Income Tax Law and the relevant implementing rules. According to the arrangement between the PRC and Hong Kong, for avoidance of double taxation, holders who are residents of Hong Kong, including enterprise holders and individual holders, will not be subject to the PRC EIT or IIT on capital gains derived from a sale or exchange of the Notes.

Therefore, if non-PRC enterprise or individual resident holders are required to pay PRC income tax on gains derived from the transfer of RMB Notes (such EIT is currently levied at the rate of 10 per cent. of gains realized and such IIT is currently levied at the rate of 20 per cent. of gains realized (with deduction of reasonable expenses), unless there is an applicable tax treaty between PRC and the jurisdiction in which such non-PRC enterprise or individual resident holders of RMB Notes reside that reduces or exempts the relevant EIT or IIT), the value of their investment in RMB Notes may be materially and adversely affected.

#### **EXCHANGE RATES**

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, information concerning the exchange rates between Singapore dollars and U.S. dollars based on the average mid-day rate published by the MAS on each business day during the relevant period.

Singapore dollars per U.S.\$1.00 Mid-Day Rate

	Average	Low	High	Period End	
Fiscal Year/Period					
2016	1.3811	1.3375	1.4499	1.4463	
2017	1.3807	1.3366	1.4489	1.3366	
2018	1.3491	1.3053	1.3865	1.3648	
2019	1.3642	1.3465	1.3940	1.3472	
2020	1.3792	1.3221	1.4592	1.3221	
2021	1.3439	1.3174	1.3709	1.3517	
Three months ended March 31, 2022	1.3527	1.3431	1.3666	1.3534	

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, information concerning the exchange rates between Singapore dollars and U.S. dollars based on the average mid-day rate published by the MAS on each business day during the relevant period.

Singapore dollars per U.S.\$1.00 Mid-Day Rate

	Average	Low	High	Period End
Month				
January 2022	1.3506	1.3431	1.3588	1.3557
February 2022	1.3467	1.3431	1.3597	1.3597
March 2022	1.3593	1.3534	1.3666	1.3534

The above tables illustrate how many Singapore dollars it would take to buy one U.S. dollar. These transactions should not be construed as a representation that those Singapore dollar or U.S. dollar amounts could have been, or could be, converted into U.S. dollars or Singapore dollars, as the case may be, at any particular rate, or at all.

#### **Exchange Controls**

Currently, there are no exchange control restrictions in Singapore.

# TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES OTHER THAN THE PERPETUAL CAPITAL SECURITIES

The following is the text of the terms and conditions that, save for the words in italics and, subject to completion and amendment and as supplemented or varied in accordance with the provisions of the applicable Pricing Supplement, shall be applicable to the Notes (other than the Perpetual Capital Securities (as defined in the Trust Deed referred to below) in definitive form (if any) issued in exchange for the Global Note(s) or Global Certificate(s) representing each Series and to AMTNs (as defined below). These terms and conditions, together with the relevant provisions of the applicable Pricing Supplement, as so completed, amended, supplemented or varied (and subject to simplification by the deletion of non-applicable provisions), shall be endorsed on such Bearer Notes or on the Certificates relating to such Registered Notes (other than AMTNs). All capitalized terms that are not defined in these Conditions will have the meanings given to them in the applicable Pricing Supplement or the Trust Deed, as the case may be. Those definitions will be endorsed on the definitive Notes or Certificates, as the case may be. References in these Conditions to "Notes" are to the Notes of one Series only, not to all Notes that may be issued under the Program. References in these Conditions to the "Issuer" are to the Issuer issuing Notes under one Series, which, in the case of any Senior Notes, is a reference to Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited ("OCBC") or any of its branches outside Singapore or certain other companies in and outside Singapore, each being a subsidiary of OCBC (as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) and in the case of any Subordinated Notes, is a reference to OCBC.

The Notes (other than Notes which are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being denominated in Australian dollars, issued in the Australian domestic capital market and ranking as senior obligations of the Issuer ("AMTNs")) are constituted by an amended and restated trust deed (as amended or supplemented as at the date of issue of the Notes (the "Issue Date")) dated April 6, 2022 (the "Trust Deed") between Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited ("OCBC") (as may be acceded to by any branch of OCBC outside Singapore and Specified Issuers (as defined below) from time to time by the execution of a deed of accession in respect of Senior Notes (as defined below) only) and The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch (the "Trustee", which expression shall include all persons for the time being the trustee or trustees under the Trust Deed) as trustee for the Noteholders (as defined below) and, if the Notes are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being governed by Singapore law, as supplemented by the Singapore supplemental trust deed (as amended or supplemented as at the Issue Date) dated April 6, 2022 between OCBC (as may be acceded to by any branch of OCBC outside Singapore and Specified Issuers from time to time by the execution of a deed of accession in respect of Senior Notes only) and the Trustee (the "Singapore Supplemental Trust Deed"), and where applicable, the Notes which are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement to be held in and cleared through The Central Depository (Pte) Limited ("CDP") are issued with the benefit of a deed of covenant dated August 31, 2012, as supplemented on March 9, 2018, relating to the Notes executed by OCBC (and as further amended, varied or supplemented from time to time, the "CDP Deed of Covenant"). AMTNs will be constituted by the Deed Poll dated July 5, 2011 (as amended and supplemented from time to time, the "Note (AMTN) Deed Poll"). The provisions of these Conditions (as defined below) relating to Bearer Notes, Certificates, Receipts, Coupons and Talons do not apply to Notes specified in the Pricing Supplement as being AMTNs. The Trustee is not appointed in respect of AMTNs, therefore, to the extent that these Conditions relate to AMTNs, any reference herein to the agreement, opinion, approval, consent, satisfaction or any similar action or decision (however described) being specified or required of, from, by or on the part of the Trustee with respect to any Notes or documents, such agreement, opinion, approval, consent, satisfaction or any similar action or decision (however described) of the Trustee shall not be required in respect of any such AMTNs, the Note (AMTN) Deed Poll or any other document or agreement in connection with them and, where relevant, any other documents expressed to be applicable to a tranche of Notes.

These terms and conditions (the "Conditions") include summaries of, and are subject to, the detailed provisions of the Trust Deed, which includes the form of the Bearer Notes, Certificates, Receipts, Coupons and Talons defined and referred to below. OCBC (and any other branches of OCBC outside Singapore and Specified Issuers which may from time to time accede to the Agency Agreement (as defined below) by the execution of a deed of accession in respect of Senior Notes only), the Trustee, The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch, as initial issuing and paying agent in relation to each Series of Notes other than AMTNs or any Series of Notes to be held through CDP, in the Central Moneymarkets Unit Service operated by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority (the "CMU") or through The Depository Trust Company ("DTC"), The Bank of New York Mellon, Hong Kong Branch as initial CMU lodging and paying agent in relation to each Series of Notes to be held in CMU, The Bank of New York Mellon, Singapore Branch as initial CDP paying agent in relation to each Series of Notes to be held in CDP, The Bank of New York Mellon, as issuing and paying agent, exchange agent and transfer agent and registrar in respect of each Series of Notes to be cleared through DTC and the other agents named therein have entered into an amended and restated agency agreement (as amended or supplemented as at the Issue Date, the "Agency Agreement") dated April 6, 2022 in relation to the Notes (other than AMTNs) and, if the Notes are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being governed by Singapore law, as supplemented by the Singapore supplemental agency agreement (as amended and supplemented as at the Issue Date) dated April 6, 2022 between the Issuer, the CDP paying agent and the other agents named therein (the "Singapore Supplemental Agency Agreement"). OCBC and BTA Institutional Services Australia Limited as registrar and issuing and paying agent in Australia (the "Australian Agent") have entered into an Agency and Registry Services Agreement (as amended and supplemented from time to time, the "Australian Agency Agreement") dated July 5, 2011 in relation to the AMTNs. The issuing and paying agent, the CMU lodging and paying agent, the CDP paying agent, the U.S. paying agent, the exchange agent, the other paying agents, the registrar, the Australian agent, the transfer agents and the calculation agent(s) for the time being (if any) are referred to below respectively as the "Issuing and Paying Agent", the "CMU Lodging and Paying Agent", the "CDP Paying Agent", the "U.S. Paying Agent", the "Exchange Agent", the "Paying Agents" (which expression shall include the Issuing and Paying Agent, the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent, the CDP Paying Agent, the U.S. Paying Agent and the Australian Agent), the "Registrar", the "Australian Agent", the "Transfer Agents" (which expression shall include the Registrar and the Australian Agent) and the "Calculation Agent(s)". For the purposes of these Conditions, all references (other than in relation to the determination of interest and other amounts payable in respect of the Notes) to the Issuing and Paying Agent shall (i) with respect to a Series of Notes to be held in CMU, be deemed to be a reference to the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent, (ii) with respect to a Series of Notes to be held in CDP, be deemed to be a reference to the CDP Paying Agent and (iii) with respect to a Series of Notes to be held in DTC, be deemed to be a reference to the U.S. Paying Agent and all such references shall be construed accordingly. Copies of the Trust Deed, the Singapore Supplemental Trust Deed, the Note (AMTN) Deed Poll, the Agency Agreement, the Singapore Supplemental Agency Agreement, the Australian Agency Agreement and the CDP Deed of Covenant referred to above are available for inspection free of charge during usual business hours at the principal office of the Trustee (presently at One Canada Square, London, E14 5AL, United Kingdom) and at the specified offices of the Paying Agents and the Transfer Agents (other than the Australian Agent). The Note (AMTN) Deed Poll will be held by the Australian Agent and copies of the Note (AMTN) Deed Poll and the Australian Agency Agreement referred to above are available for inspection free of charge during usual business hours at the principal office of the Australian Agent (presently at Level 2, 1 Bligh Street, Sydney, NSW 2000, Australia).

The Noteholders, the holders of the interest coupons (the "Coupons") relating to interest bearing Notes in bearer form and, where specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, talons for further Coupons (the "Talons") (the "Couponholders") and the holders of the receipts for the payment of installments of principal (the "Receipts") relating to Notes in bearer form of which the principal is payable in installments (the "Receiptholders") are entitled to the benefit of, are bound by, and are deemed to have notice of, these Conditions, (in respect of the holders of Notes (other than AMTNs)) all the provisions of the Trust Deed, the applicable Pricing Supplement and (in respect

of the AMTN holders only) the Note (AMTN) Deed Poll, and, in the case of Notes specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being governed by Singapore law, the Singapore Supplemental Trust Deed, and are deemed to have notice of those provisions applicable to them of the Agency Agreement, the Australian Agency Agreement or the Singapore Supplemental Agency Agreement, as the case may be. The Pricing Supplement for any Notes (or the relevant provisions thereof) shall be attached to or endorsed on such Notes. References to "applicable Pricing Supplement" are to the Pricing Supplement (or relevant provisions thereof) attached to or endorsed on the relevant Notes.

As used in these Conditions, "**Tranche**" means Notes which are identical in all respects, "**Series**" means a series of Notes comprising one or more Tranches, whether or not issued on the same date, that (except in respect of the first payment of interest and their issue price) have identical terms on issue and are expressed to have the same Series Number specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, "**Specified Issuer**" means, in respect of Senior Notes only, certain other companies in and outside Singapore, each being a subsidiary of OCBC, as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and "**subsidiary**" has the meaning given to this term under the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore.

#### 1 Form, Denomination and Title

The Notes are issued in bearer form ("Bearer Notes") or in registered form ("Registered Notes"), as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, in each case in the Specified Currency and Specified Denomination(s) shown in the applicable Pricing Supplement. AMTNs and Subordinated Notes (as defined in Condition 3(b)) will only be issued in registered certificated form.

All Registered Notes shall have the same Specified Denomination. Unless otherwise permitted by the then current laws and regulations, Notes which have a maturity of less than one year and in respect of which the issue proceeds are to be accepted by the Issuer in the United Kingdom or whose issue otherwise constitutes a contravention of section 19 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 will have a minimum denomination of £100,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies). Notes sold in reliance on Rule 144A will be in minimum denominations of U.S.\$200,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies) and integral multiples of U.S.\$1,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies) in excess thereof, subject to compliance with all legal and/or regulatory requirements applicable to the relevant currency. Notes which are listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the "SGX-ST") will be traded on the SGX-ST in a minimum board lot size of S\$200,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies) or such other amount as may be allowed or required from time to time. In the case of any Notes which are to be admitted to trading on a regulated market within the European Economic Area or in the United Kingdom or offered to the public in a Member State of the European Economic Area or in the United Kingdom in circumstances which require the publication of a prospectus under Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (as amended or superseded), the minimum Specified Denomination shall be €100,000 or £100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency as at the date of issue of the relevant Notes).

Each Note may be a Fixed Rate Note, a Floating Rate Note, a Zero Coupon Note, a combination of any of the foregoing or any other kind of Note, depending upon the Interest and Redemption/Payment Basis specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Bearer Notes are serially numbered and are issued with Coupons (and, where appropriate, a Talon) attached, save in the case of Notes that do not bear interest in which case references to interest (other than in relation to interest due after the Maturity Date), Coupons and Talons in these Conditions are not applicable. Any Bearer Note for which the applicable Pricing Supplement indicates such Notes are Installment Notes is issued with one or more Receipts attached.

Registered Notes (other than AMTNs) are represented by registered certificates ("Certificates") and, save as provided in Condition 2(c), each Certificate shall represent the entire holding of Registered Notes by the same holder.

Title to the Bearer Notes and the Receipts, Coupons and Talons shall pass by delivery. Title to the Registered Notes shall pass by registration in the register that the Issuer shall procure to be kept by the Registrar or the Australian Agent in accordance with the provisions of the Agency Agreement or the Australian Agency Agreement (the "**Register**"). Except as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or as required by law, the holder (as defined below) of any Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon shall be deemed to be and may be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes whether or not it is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or an interest in it, any writing on it (or on the Certificate representing it) or its theft or loss (or that of the related Certificate) and no person shall be liable for so treating the holder.

In these Conditions, "Noteholder" means the bearer of any Bearer Note and the Receipts, Coupons or Talons relating to it or the person in whose name a Registered Note is registered (as the case may be), "holder" (in relation to a Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon) means the bearer of any Bearer Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon or the person in whose name a Registered Note is registered (as the case may be) and capitalized terms have the meanings given to them in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the absence of any such meaning indicating that such term is not applicable to the Notes.

For so long as any of the Notes is represented by a Global Note or Global Certificate held on behalf of Euroclear Bank SA/NV ("Euroclear") and/or Clearstream Banking S.A. ("Clearstream"), each person (other than Euroclear or Clearstream) who is for the time being shown in the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream as the holder of a particular nominal amount of such Notes (in which regard any certificate or other document issued by Euroclear and/or Clearstream as to the nominal amount of such Notes standing to the account of any person shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes save in the case of manifest error) shall be treated by the Issuer, the Trustee and the Agents as the holder of such nominal amount of such Notes for all purposes other than with respect to the payment of principal or interest on such nominal amount of such Notes, for which purpose the bearer of the relevant Global Note or the registered holder of the relevant Global Certificate shall be treated by the Issuer, the Trustee and any Agent as the holder of such nominal amount of such Notes in accordance with and subject to the terms of the relevant Global Note or Global Certificate and the expressions "Noteholder" and "holder of Notes" and related expressions shall be construed accordingly.

For so long as DTC or its nominee is the registered owner or holder of a Global Certificate, DTC or such nominee, as the case may be, will be considered the sole owner or holder of the Notes represented by such Global Certificate for all purposes under the Trust Deed and the Agency Agreement and those Notes except to the extent that in accordance with DTC's published rules and procedures any ownership rights may be exercised by its participants or beneficial owners through participants.

References in these Conditions to Coupons, Talons, Couponholders, Receipts and Receiptholders relate to Bearer Notes only.

In the case of AMTNs, the following provisions shall apply in lieu of the foregoing provisions of Condition 1 in the event of any inconsistency.

AMTNs will be debt obligations of the Issuer owing under the Note (AMTN) Deed Poll, will be represented by a certificate ("AMTN Certificate") and will take the form of entries in a Register to be established and maintained by the Australian Agent in Sydney unless otherwise agreed with the Australian Agent (pursuant to the Australian Agency Agreement). The Agency Agreement and any Singapore Supplemental Agency Agreement are not applicable to the AMTNs.

AMTNs will not be serially numbered. Each entry in the Register constitutes a separate and individual acknowledgement to the relevant Noteholder of the indebtedness of the Issuer to the relevant Noteholder. The obligations of the Issuer in respect of each AMTN constitute separate and independent obligations which the Noteholder is entitled to enforce in accordance with these Conditions and the Note (AMTN) Deed Poll. Other than an AMTN Certificate, no certificate or other evidence of title will be issued by or on behalf of the Issuer unless the Issuer determines that certificates should be made available or it is required to do so pursuant to any applicable law or regulation.

No AMTN will be registered in the name of more than four persons. AMTNs registered in the name of more than one person are held by those persons as joint tenants. AMTNs will be registered by name only, without reference to any trusteeship and an entry in the Register in relation to an AMTN constitutes conclusive evidence that the person so entered is the registered owner of such AMTN, subject to rectification for fraud or error.

Upon a person acquiring title to any AMTNs by virtue of becoming registered as the owner of that AMTN, all rights and entitlements arising by virtue of the Note (AMTN) Deed Poll in respect of that AMTN vest absolutely in the registered owner of the AMTN, such that no person who has previously been registered as the owner of the AMTN has or is entitled to assert against the Issuer or the Australian Agent or the registered owner of the AMTN for the time being and from time to time any rights, benefits or entitlements in respect of the AMTN.

Each Tranche of AMTNs will be represented by a single AMTN Certificate substantially in the form set out in the Note (AMTN) Deed Poll. The Issuer shall issue and deliver, and procure the authentication by the Australian Agent of, such number of AMTN Certificates as are required from time to time to represent all of the AMTNs of each Series. An AMTN Certificate is neither a negotiable instrument nor a document of title in respect of any AMTNs represented by it. In the event of a conflict between any AMTN Certificate and the Register, the Register shall prevail (subject to correction for fraud or proven error).

#### 2 No Exchange of Notes and Transfers of Registered Notes

- (a) No Exchange of Notes: Registered Notes may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes. Bearer Notes may not be exchanged for Registered Notes. Bearer Notes of one Specified Denomination may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes of another Specified Denomination.
- (b) Transfer of Registered Notes (other than AMTNs): This Condition 2(b) does not apply to AMTNs which are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement to be Registered Notes. Subject to Condition 2(g), one or more Registered Notes may be transferred upon the surrender (at the specified office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent) of the Certificate representing such Registered Notes to be transferred, together with the form of transfer endorsed on such Certificate, (or another form of transfer substantially in the same form and containing the same representations and certifications (if any), unless otherwise agreed by the Issuer), duly completed and executed and any other evidence as the Registrar or Transfer Agent may require without service charge and subject to payment of any taxes, duties and other governmental charges in respect of such transfer. In the case of a transfer of part only of a holding of Registered Notes represented by one Certificate, a new Certificate shall be issued to the transferee in respect of the part transferred and a further new Certificate in respect of the balance of the holding not transferred shall be issued to the transferor. All transfers of Notes and entries on the Register will be made subject to the detailed regulations concerning transfers of Notes scheduled to the Agency Agreement. The regulations may be changed by the Issuer, with the prior written approval of the Registrar and the Trustee. A copy of the current regulations will be made available by the Registrar to any Noteholder upon request.

Any transfer of interests in Notes evidenced by a Global Note or a Global Certificate will be effected in accordance with the rules of the relevant clearing systems. Transfers of a Global Certificate registered in the name of a nominee for DTC shall be limited to transfers of such Global Certificate, in whole but not in part, to another nominee of DTC or to a successor of DTC or such successor's nominee.

Any transfer of interests in any Subordinated Notes that are the subject of a Trigger Event Notice issued in accordance with Condition 6 or notice of issue of a Bail-in Certificate shall not be permitted during any Suspension Period (as defined below).

- (c) Exercise of Options or Partial Redemption, Write-off or Conversion in Respect of Registered Notes: In the case of an exercise of an Issuer or Noteholder's option in respect of, or a partial redemption or (as the case may be) a partial Write-off (as defined in Condition 6(b)(i)) or conversion (if specified and as described in the applicable Pricing Supplement) of, a holding of Registered Notes represented by a single Certificate, a new Certificate shall be issued to the holder to reflect the exercise of such option or in respect of the balance of the holding not redeemed, Written-off (as defined below) or converted. In the case of a partial exercise of an option resulting in Registered Notes of the same holding having different terms, separate Certificates shall be issued in respect of those Notes of that holding that have the same terms. New Certificates shall only be issued against surrender of the existing Certificates to the Registrar or any other Transfer Agent. In the case of a transfer of Registered Notes to a person who is already a holder of Registered Notes, a new Certificate representing the enlarged holding shall only be issued against surrender of the Certificate representing the existing holding.
- (d) **Delivery of New Certificates**: Each new Certificate to be issued pursuant to Condition 2(b) or Condition 2(c) shall be available for delivery within five business days of receipt of the request for transfer, exercise, redemption or exchange, form of transfer or Exercise Notice (as defined in Condition 5(e)) and surrender of the Certificate for transfer, exercise or redemption, except for any Write-off pursuant to Condition 6 or conversion (if specified and as described in the applicable Pricing Supplement) in which case any new Certificate to be issued shall be available for delivery as soon as reasonably practicable. Delivery of the new Certificate(s) shall be made at the specified office of the Transfer Agent or of the Registrar (as the case may be) to whom delivery or surrender of such request for transfer, exercise, redemption or exchange, form of transfer, Exercise Notice and/or Certificate shall have been made or, at the option of the holder making such delivery or surrender as aforesaid and as specified in the relevant form of transfer, Exercise Notice or otherwise in writing, be mailed by uninsured post at the risk of the holder entitled to the new Certificate to such address as may be so specified, unless such holder requests otherwise and pays in advance to the relevant Transfer Agent the costs of such other method of delivery and/or such insurance as it may specify. In this Condition 2(d), "business day" means a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, on which banks are open for business in the place of the specified office of the relevant Transfer Agent or the Registrar (as the case may be).
- (e) Transfers of AMTNs: AMTNs may be transferred in whole but not part. Unless lodged in the clearing system operated by Austraclear Ltd ("Austraclear"), the AMTNs will be transferable by duly completed and (if applicable) stamped transfer and acceptance forms in the form specified by, and obtainable from, the Australian Agent or by any other manner approved by the Issuer and the Australian Agent. Each transfer and acceptance form must be accompanied by such evidence (if any) as the Australian Agent may require to prove the title of the transferor or the transferor's right to transfer the AMTNs and be signed by both the transferor and the transferee. AMTNs may only be transferred within, to or from Australia if (i) the aggregate consideration payable by the transferee at the time of transfer is at least A\$500,000 (or its equivalent in any other

currency and, in either case, disregarding moneys lent by the transferor or its associates) or the offer or invitation giving rise to the transfer otherwise does not require disclosure to investors in accordance with Part 6D.2 or Chapter 7 of the Corporations Act 2001 of the Commonwealth of Australia (the "Australian Corporations Act"), (ii) the transfer is not to a "retail client" for the purposes of section 761G of the Australian Corporations Act, (iii) the transfer is in compliance with all applicable laws, regulations or directives (including, without limitation, in the case of a transfer to or from Australia, the laws of the jurisdiction in which the transfer takes place), and (iv) in the case of a transfer between persons outside Australia, if a transfer and acceptance form is signed outside Australia. A transfer to an unincorporated association is not permitted.

A person becoming entitled to an AMTN as a consequence of the death or bankruptcy of a Noteholder or of a vesting order or a person administering the estate of a Noteholder may, upon producing such evidence as to that entitlement or status as the Australian Agent considers sufficient, transfer such AMTN or, if so entitled, become registered as the holder of the AMTN.

Where the transferor executes a transfer of less than all of the AMTNs registered in its name, and the specific AMTNs to be transferred are not identified, the Australian Agent may register the transfer in respect of such of the AMTNs registered in the name of the transferor as the Australian Agent thinks fit, provided the aggregate nominal amount of the AMTNs registered as having been transferred equals the aggregate nominal amount of the AMTNs expressed to be transferred in the transfer.

- (f) Transfers Free of Charge: Transfers of Notes and Certificates on registration, transfer, exercise of an option or partial redemption, Write-off or conversion (if and as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) shall be effected without charge by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Registrar, the Australian Agent or the Transfer Agents, but upon payment by the relevant Noteholder of any tax or other governmental charges that may be imposed in relation to it (or the giving of such indemnity as the Registrar, the Australian Agent or the relevant Transfer Agent may require).
- (g) **Closed Periods**: No Noteholder may require the transfer of a Registered Note to be registered (i) during the period of 15 days ending on the due date for redemption of, or payment of any Installment Amount in respect of, that Note, (ii) during the period of 15 days before to any date on which Notes may be called for redemption by the Issuer at its option pursuant to Condition 5(d), (iii) after any such Note has been called for redemption, (iv) during the period of seven days ending on (and including) any Record Date, or (v) in respect of any Subordinated Notes, during a Suspension Period.

In these Conditions, "Suspension Period" means the period commencing on the business day in Singapore immediately following the date of a Trigger Event Notice (as defined in Condition 6(e)) or notice of issue of a Bail-in Certificate, as the case may be, and ending on the earlier of the close of business in Singapore on:

- (i) the date on which the Registrar or any other Agent has (A) reflected the relevant Write-off or conversion (if and as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) in the Register or (B) issued a new Certificate (as the case may be) to such Noteholder in respect of the related Write-off or conversion (if and as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement); and
- (ii) on the tenth business day in Singapore immediately following the date of any such notice, or

in the event that a Bail-in Certificate has been issued, when the Bail-in Certificate has been effected.

In relation to any Suspension Period, "business day" means a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, on which banks are open for business in the place of the specified office of the relevant Transfer Agent or the Registrar (as the case may be).

#### 3 Status

- (a) Status of Senior Notes: The senior notes (being those Notes that specify their status as senior in the applicable Pricing Supplement (the "Senior Notes")) and the Receipts and Coupons relating to them constitute direct and unsecured obligations of the Issuer and shall at all times rank pari passu and without any preference among themselves. The payment obligations of the Issuer under the Senior Notes and the Receipts and Coupons relating to them shall, save for such exceptions as may be provided by applicable legislation, at all times rank at least equally with all other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness and monetary obligations of the Issuer, present and future.
- (b) Status of Subordinated Notes: The subordinated notes (being those Notes that specify their status as subordinated in the applicable Pricing Supplement) (the "Subordinated Notes") constitute direct, unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer and rank pari passu and without any preference among themselves. The rights and claims of the Noteholders are subordinated as described below.
- Subordination: Upon the occurrence of any winding-up proceeding (other than pursuant to a Permitted Reorganization (as defined below)), the rights of the Noteholders to the payment of the principal of, and interest on, the Subordinated Notes and any other obligations in respect of the Subordinated Notes are expressly subordinated and subject in right of payment to the prior payment in full of all claims of Senior Creditors, and will rank senior to the claims of the holders of all share capital of the Issuer and Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities and/or as otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement or in a supplement to the Offering Memorandum. The Subordinated Notes will rank pari passu with Tier 2 Capital Securities and/or as otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement or in a supplement to the Offering Memorandum and any instrument or security issued, entered into or quaranteed by the Issuer that ranks or is expressed to rank, by its terms or operation of law, pari passu with a Subordinated Note. In the event that (i) the Noteholders do not receive payment in full of the principal amount due and payable in respect of the Subordinated Notes plus interest thereon accrued to the date of repayment in any winding-up of the Issuer and (ii) the winding-up order or resolution passed for the winding-up of the Issuer or the dissolution of the Issuer is subsequently stayed, discharged, rescinded, avoided, annulled or otherwise rendered inoperative, then to the extent that such Noteholders did not receive payment in full of such principal of and interest on such Subordinated Notes, such unpaid amounts shall remain payable in full; provided that payment of such unpaid amounts shall be subject to the provisions under this Condition 3, Condition 6 and Condition 1 0(b)(ii) and Clause 5 and Clause 8.2 of the Trust Deed.

The Issuer has agreed, pursuant to the terms of the Trust Deed, to indemnify the Noteholders against any loss incurred as a result of any judgment or order being given or made for any amount due under the Subordinated Notes and such judgment or order being expressed and paid in a currency other than the Specified Currency. Any amounts due under such indemnification will be similarly subordinated in right of payment with other amounts due on the Subordinated Notes and payment thereof shall be subject to the provisions under this Condition 3 and Condition 10(b)(ii) and Clause 8.2 of the Trust Deed.

On a winding-up of the Issuer, there may be no surplus assets available to meet the claims of the Noteholders after the claims of the parties ranking senior to the Noteholders (as provided in this Condition 3 and Clause 5 of the Trust Deed) have been satisfied.

The subordination provisions set out in this Condition 3(c) are effective only upon the occurrence of any winding-up proceedings of the Issuer. In the event that a Trigger Event occurs, the rights of holders of Subordinated Notes shall be subject to Condition 6. This may not result in the same outcome for holders of Subordinated Notes as would otherwise occur under this Condition 3(c) upon the occurrence of any winding-up proceedings.

In these Conditions:

"Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities" means (i) any security issued by the Issuer or (ii) any other similar instrument issued by any subsidiary of the Issuer that is guaranteed by the Issuer, that, in each case, constitutes Additional Tier 1 capital of the Issuer on an unconsolidated basis, pursuant to the relevant requirements set out in MAS Notice 637.

"MAS" means the Monetary Authority of Singapore or such other governmental authority having primary bank supervisory authority with respect to the Issuer.

**"MAS Notice 637"** means the MAS Notice 637 – "Notice on Risk Based Capital Adequacy Requirements for Banks Incorporated in Singapore" issued by MAS, as amended, replaced or supplemented from time to time.

"Offering Memorandum" means the offering memorandum dated April 6, 2022 relating to, *inter alia*, the Notes (which term shall include those documents incorporated in it by reference from time to time as provided in it) as from time to time amended, supplemented or replaced (but not including any information or documents replaced or superseded by any information so subsequently included or incorporated).

"Permitted Reorganization" means a solvent reconstruction, amalgamation, reorganization, merger or consolidation whereby all or substantially all the business, undertaking and assets of the Issuer are transferred to a successor entity which assumes all the obligations of the Issuer under the Notes.

"Senior Creditors" means creditors of the Issuer (including the Issuer's depositors) other than those whose claims rank or are expressed to rank *pari passu* with or junior to the claims of the holders of the Subordinated Notes.

"Tier 2 Capital Securities" means (i) any security issued by the Issuer or (ii) any other similar instrument issued by any subsidiary of the Issuer that is guaranteed by the Issuer that, in each case, constitutes a Tier 2 capital instrument of the Issuer on an unconsolidated basis pursuant to the relevant requirements set out in MAS Notice 637.

(d) **Set-off and Payment Void**: No Noteholder of Subordinated Notes may exercise, claim or plead any right of set-off, counterclaim or retention in respect of any amount owed to it by the Issuer arising under or in connection with the Subordinated Notes. Each Noteholder shall, by acceptance of any Subordinated Note, be deemed to have waived all such rights of set-off, counterclaim or retention to the fullest extent permitted by law. If at any time any Noteholder receives payment or benefit of any sum in respect of the Subordinated Notes (including any benefit received pursuant to any such set-off, counter-claim or retention) other than in accordance with the provisions in the second paragraph of Condition 10(b)(ii) and Clause 8.2.2 of the Trust Deed, the payment of such sum or receipt of such benefit shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be deemed void for all purposes and such Noteholder, by acceptance of such

Subordinated Note, shall agree as a separate and independent obligation that any such sum or benefit so received shall forthwith be paid or returned in full by such Noteholder to the Issuer upon demand by the Issuer or, in the event of the winding-up of the Issuer, the liquidator of the Issuer, whether or not such payment or receipt shall have been deemed void under the Trust Deed. Any sum so paid or returned shall then be treated for the purposes of the Issuer's obligations as if it had not been paid by the Issuer, and its original payment shall be deemed not to have discharged any of the obligations of the Issuer under the Subordinated Notes.

#### 4 Interest and other Calculations

(a) Interest on Fixed Rate Notes: If a Note is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as a Fixed Rate Note, it shall bear interest on its outstanding nominal amount from and including the Interest Commencement Date at the rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Rate of Interest (as defined in Condition 4(I)), such interest being payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. The amount of interest payable shall be determined in accordance with Condition 4(g), Condition 4(h), Condition 4(i) and Condition 4(j).

# (b) Interest on Floating Rate Notes (for non-Singapore Dollar Notes) and Index Linked Interest Notes:

(i) Interest Payment Dates: If a Note is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being a Floating Rate Note or an Index Linked Note, it shall bear interest on its outstanding nominal amount from and including the Interest Commencement Date at the rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Rate of Interest, such interest being payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date. The amount of interest payable shall be determined in accordance with Condition 4(g), Condition 4(h), Condition 4(i) and Condition 4(j). Such Interest Payment Date(s) is/are either shown in the applicable Pricing Supplement as Specified Interest Payment Date(s) or, if no Specified Interest Payment Date(s) is/are shown in the applicable Pricing Supplement, Interest Payment Date shall mean each date which falls the number of months or other period shown in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the Interest Period after the preceding Interest Payment Date or, in the case of the first Interest Payment Date, after the Interest Commencement Date.

In this Condition 4(b), Floating Rate Note shall refer to a Floating Rate Note which is denominated in a currency other than Singapore dollars.

Business Day Convention: If any date referred to in these Conditions that is specified to be subject to adjustment in accordance with a Business Day Convention would otherwise fall on a day that is not a Business Day (as defined in Condition 4(I)), then, if the Business Day Convention specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement is (A) the Floating Rate Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event (x) such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day and (y) each subsequent such date shall be the last Business Day of the month in which such date would have fallen had it not been subject to adjustment, (B) the Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day, (C) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day or (D) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day.

- (iii) Rate of Interest for Floating Rate Notes: The Rate of Interest in respect of Floating Rate Notes for each Interest Accrual Period shall be determined in the manner specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and the provisions below relating to either ISDA Determination or Screen Rate Determination shall apply, depending upon which is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.
  - (A) ISDA Determination for Floating Rate Notes

Where ISDA Determination is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual Period shall be determined by the Calculation Agent as a rate equal to the relevant ISDA Rate. For the purposes of this Condition 4(b)(iii)(A), "ISDA Rate" for an Interest Accrual Period means a rate equal to the Floating Rate that would be determined by the Calculation Agent under a Swap Transaction under the terms of an agreement incorporating the ISDA Definitions and under which:

- (w) the Floating Rate Option is as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;
- (x) the Designated Maturity is a period specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;
- (y) the relevant Reset Date is the first day of that Interest Accrual Period unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; and
- (z) if the Floating Rate Option is an Overnight Floating Rate Option:
  - (1) Compounding with Lookback is applicable if specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;
  - (2) Compounding with Observation Period Shift is applicable if specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and, if so, Set-in-Advance is applicable if specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement;
  - (3) Compounding with Lockout is applicable if specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; or
  - (4) OIS Compounding is applicable if specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; and
  - (5) in connection with the Overnight Rate Compounding Method, references in the ISDA Definitions to numbers, financial centers or other items specified in the Confirmation shall be deemed to be references to the numbers, financial centers or other items specified for such purpose in the applicable Pricing Supplement and references in the ISDA Definitions to "Calculation Period", "Floating Rate Day Count Fraction", "Period End Date", "Termination Date" and "Effective Date" shall be deemed to be references to the relevant Interest Accrual Period, the Day Count Fraction, the relevant Interest Period Date, the final Interest Period Date and the Interest Commencement Date respectively.

For the purposes of this Condition 4(b)(iii)(A), "Floating Rate", "Calculation Agent", "Floating Rate Option", "Designated Maturity", "Reset Date", "Swap Transaction", "Compounding with Lookback", "Compounding with Observation Period Shift", "Compounding with Lockout", "OIS Compounding", "Overnight Rate Compounding Method" and "Confirmation", have the meanings given to those terms in the ISDA Definitions.

- (B) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes where the Reference Rate is not specified as being SONIA Benchmark, SOFR Benchmark or SORA Benchmark
  - (x) Where Screen Rate Determination is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual Period will, subject as provided below, be either:
    - (1) the offered quotation; or
    - (2) the arithmetic mean of the offered quotations,

(expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate which appears or appear, as the case may be, on the Relevant Screen Page as at either 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time in the case of the Euro Interbank Offered Rate ("EURIBOR") or Hong Kong time in the case of the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate ("HIBOR")) on the Interest Determination Date in question as determined by the Calculation Agent. If five or more of such offered quotations are available on the Relevant Screen Page, the highest (or, if there is more than one such highest quotation, one only of such quotations) and the lowest (or, if there is more than one such lowest quotation, one only of such quotations) shall be disregarded by the Calculation Agent for the purpose of determining the arithmetic mean of such offered quotations.

If the Reference Rate from time to time in respect of Floating Rate Notes is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being other than EURIBOR or HIBOR, the Rate of Interest in respect of such Notes will be determined as provided in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

(y) If the Relevant Screen Page is not available or if, Condition 4(b)(iii)(B)(x)(1) applies and no such offered quotation appears on the Relevant Screen Page or if Condition 4(b)(iii)(B)(x)(2) applies and fewer than three such offered quotations appear on the Relevant Screen Page in each case as at the time specified above, subject as provided below, the Issuer shall request, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the principal Euro-zone office of each of the Reference Banks or, if the Reference Rate is HIBOR, the principal Hong Kong office of each of the Reference Banks, to provide the Calculation Agent with its offered quotation (expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time) or, if the Reference Rate is HIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Hong Kong time) on the Interest Determination Date in question and such rate shall be notified to the Calculation Agent. If two or more of the Reference Banks provide the Issuer with such offered quotations, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Accrual Period shall be the arithmetic mean of such offered quotations as determined by the Calculation Agent; and

- (z) If Condition 4(b)(iii)(B)(y) applies and the Issuer determines that fewer than two Reference Banks are providing offered quotations, subject as provided below, the Rate of Interest shall be the arithmetic mean of the rates per annum (expressed as a percentage) as communicated to (and at the request of) the Issuer by the Reference Banks or any two or more of them, at which such banks were offered, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time) or, if the Reference Rate is HIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Hong Kong time) on the relevant Interest Determination Date, deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate by leading banks in, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the Euro-zone inter-bank market or, if the Reference Rate is HIBOR, the Hong Kong inter-bank market, as the case may be, or, if fewer than two of the Reference Banks provide the Issuer with such offered rates, the offered rate for deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate, or the arithmetic mean of the offered rates for deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate, at which, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time) or, if the Reference Rate is HIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Hong Kong time), on the relevant Interest Determination Date, any one or more banks (which bank or banks is or are in the opinion of the Issuer suitable for such purpose) informs the Calculation Agent it is quoting to leading banks in, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the Euro-zone inter-bank market or, if the Reference Rate is HIBOR, the Hong Kong inter-bank market, as the case may be, provided that, if the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this Condition 4(b)(iii)(B)(z), the Rate of Interest shall be determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest is to be applied to the relevant Interest Accrual Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Accrual Period, the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to the relevant Interest Accrual Period, in place of the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to that last preceding Interest Accrual Period).
- (C) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes where the Reference Rate is specified as being SONIA Benchmark

For each Floating Rate Note where the Reference Rate is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being SONIA Benchmark, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual Period will, subject as provided below, be equal to the relevant SONIA Benchmark plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement) the Margin.

The "SONIA Benchmark" will be determined based on Compounded Daily SONIA or SONIA Index, as follows (subject in each case to Condition 4(o)):

(x) If Compounded Daily SONIA is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, Compounded Daily SONIA shall be calculated by the Calculation Agent on the relevant Interest Determination Date in accordance with the formula referenced below:

"Compounded Daily SONIA" means, with respect to an Interest Accrual Period, the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment during the SONIA Observation Period corresponding to such Interest Accrual Period (with the daily Sterling Overnight Index Average ("SONIA") rate as reference rate for the calculation of interest) and will be calculated by the Calculation Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) on the Interest Determination Date, as follows, and the resulting percentage will be rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards:

$$\left[ \prod_{i=1}^{d_o} \left( 1 + \frac{SONIA_{i-xLBD} \times n_i}{365} \right) - 1 \right] \times \frac{365}{d}$$

where:

"d" means the number of calendar days in:

- (1) where "SONIA Observation Lag" is specified as the SONIA Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Interest Accrual Period; or
- (2) where "SONIA Observation Shift" is specified as the SONIA Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant SONIA Observation Period;

"do" means:

- (1) where "SONIA Observation Lag" is specified as the SONIA Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the number of London Business Days in the relevant Interest Accrual Period; or
- (2) where "SONIA Observation Shift" is specified as the SONIA Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the number of London Business Days in the relevant SONIA Observation Period;

"i" means, for the relevant Interest Accrual Period, a series of whole numbers from one to d<sub>o</sub>, each representing the relevant London Business Day in chronological order from (and including):

- (1) where "SONIA Observation Lag" is specified as the SONIA Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the first London Business Day in the relevant Interest Accrual Period to (and including) the last London Business Day in such Interest Accrual Period; or
- (2) where "SONIA Observation Shift" is specified as the SONIA Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the first London Business Day in the relevant SONIA Observation Period to (and including) the last London Business Day in such SONIA Observation Period;

"London Business Day" or "LBD" means any day on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in London;

"ni", for any London Business Day "i", means the number of calendar days from and including such London Business Day "i" up to but excluding the following London Business Day;

# "SONIA<sub>i-xLBD</sub>" means:

- (1) where "SONIA Observation Lag" is specified as the SONIA Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, in respect of any London Business Day "i", the SONIA Reference Rate for the London Business Day falling "x" London Business Days prior to such London Business Day "i"; or
- (2) where "SONIA Observation Shift" is specified as the SONIA Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, in respect of any London Business Day ";", the SONIA Reference Rate for that day;

"SONIA Observation Period" means, for the relevant Interest Accrual Period, the period from (and including) the date falling "x" London Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual Period (and the first Interest Accrual Period shall begin on and include the Interest Commencement Date) and ending on (but excluding) the date falling "x" London Business Days prior to the Interest Payment Date at the end of such Interest Accrual Period (or the date falling "x" London Business Days prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes become due and payable);

"SONIA Reference Rate" means, in respect of any London Business Day, a reference rate equal to the daily SONIA rate for such London Business Day as provided by the administrator of SONIA to authorized distributors and as then published on the Relevant Screen Page or, if the Relevant Screen Page is unavailable, as otherwise published by such authorized distributors (on the London Business Day immediately following such London Business Day); and

"x" means five London Business Days (or such other number of London Business Days in the SONIA Observation Lookback Days as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement).

If, subject to Condition 4(o)(i), in respect of any London Business Day in the relevant SONIA Observation Period, the Calculation Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) determines that the SONIA Reference Rate is not available on the Relevant Screen Page or has not otherwise been published by the relevant authorized distributors, such SONIA reference rate shall be:

- the Bank of England's Bank Rate (the "Bank Rate") prevailing at 5.00 p.m. (or, if earlier, close of business) on the relevant London Business Day; plus
- (ii) the mean of the spread of the SONIA Reference Rate to the Bank Rate over the previous five days on which a SONIA Reference Rate has been published, excluding the highest spread (or, if there is more than one highest spread, one only of those highest spreads) and lowest spread (or, if there is more than one lowest spread, one only of those lowest spreads) to the Bank Rate.

Notwithstanding the paragraph above, and without prejudice to Condition 4(o)(i), in the event the Bank of England publishes guidance as to:

- (aa) how the SONIA Reference Rate is to be determined; or
- (bb) any rate that is to replace the SONIA Reference Rate,

the Calculation Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, and in consultation with the Issuer) shall, to the extent that it is reasonably practicable, follow such guidance in order to determine the SONIA rate for the purpose of the relevant Series of Notes for so long as the SONIA Reference Rate is not available or has not been published by the authorized distributors.

In the event that the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions by the Calculation Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement), subject to Condition 4(o)(i), the Rate of Interest shall be:

(i) that determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin or Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of Interest is to be applied to the relevant Interest Accrual Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Accrual Period, the Margin or Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of Interest (as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) relating to the relevant Interest Accrual Period in place of the Margin or Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to that last preceding Interest Accrual Period); or

- (ii) if there is no such preceding Interest Determination Date, the initial Rate of Interest which would have been applicable to such Series of Notes for the first Interest Accrual Period had the Notes been in issue for a period equal in duration to the scheduled first Interest Accrual Period but ending on (and excluding) the Interest Commencement Date (but applying the Margin and any Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of Interest applicable to the first Interest Accrual Period).
- (y) If SONIA Index ("SONIA Index") is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the relevant SONIA Benchmark, the SONIA Benchmark for each Interest Accrual Period shall be equal to the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment during the SONIA Observation Period corresponding to such Interest Accrual Period (with the daily SONIA rate as reference rate for the calculation of interest) and will be calculated by the Calculation Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) on the Interest Determination Date, as follows, and the resulting percentage will be rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards:

$$\left(\frac{SONIA\ Compounded\ Index_{END}}{SONIA\ Compounded\ Index_{START}}\ -1\right) \times \left(\frac{365}{d}\right)$$

provided, however, that, subject to Condition 4(o)(i), if the SONIA Compounded Index Value is not available in relation to any Interest Accrual Period on the Relevant Screen Page for the determination of either SONIA Compounded Index<sub>START</sub> or SONIA Compounded Index<sub>END</sub>, the Rate of Interest shall be calculated for such Interest Accrual Period on the basis of Compounded Daily SONIA and using the "SONIA Observation Shift" method (as set out in Condition 4(b)(iii)(C)(x)).

In the formula above:

"d" means the number of calendar days in the relevant SONIA Observation Period;

"London Business Day", means any day on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in London;

"p" means, for any Interest Accrual Period, five London Business Days (or such other number of London Business Days as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement);

"SONIA Observation Period" means, in respect of an Interest Accrual Period, the period from and including the date falling "p" London Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual Period (and the first Interest Accrual Period shall begin on and include the Interest Commencement Date) and ending on (but excluding) the date which is "p" London Business Days prior to the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Accrual Period (or the date falling "p" London Business Days prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes become due and payable);

"SONIA Compounded Index" means, in respect of an Interest Accrual Period, the index known as the SONIA Compounded Index administered by the Bank of England (or any successor administrator thereof);

"SONIA Compounded Index<sub>START</sub>" means the SONIA Compounded Index Value on the date which is "p" London Business Days preceding the first day of such Interest Accrual Period (or in the first Interest Accrual Period, the Interest Commencement Date);

**"SONIA Compounded Index**<sub>END</sub>" means, in respect of an Interest Accrual Period, the SONIA Compounded Index Value on the date which is "p" London Business Days preceding (i) the Interest Payment Date of such Interest Accrual Period, (ii) in the final Interest Accrual Period, the Maturity Date, or (iii) the date on which the relevant Series of Notes becomes due and payable; and

"SONIA Compounded Index Value" means, in relation to any London Business Day, the value of the SONIA Compounded Index as published by authorized distributors on the Relevant Screen Page on such London Business Day or, if the value of the SONIA Compounded Index cannot be obtained from such authorized distributors, as published on the Bank of England's Website at www.bankofengland.co.uk/boeapps/database/ (or such other page or website as may replace such page for the purposes of publishing the SONIA Compounded Index) on the next following London Business Day.

- (z) If the relevant Series of Notes become due and payable in accordance with Condition 10, the final Interest Determination Date shall, notwithstanding any Interest Determination Date specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, be deemed to be the date on which such Notes became due and payable (with corresponding adjustments being deemed to be made to the Compounded Daily SONIA formula) and the Rate of Interest on such Notes shall, for so long as any such Note remains outstanding, be that determined on such date.
- (D) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes where the Reference Rate is specified as being SOFR Benchmark

Where Screen Rate Determination is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined where the Reference Rate is SOFR Benchmark, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual Period will, subject as provided below, be equal to the relevant SOFR Benchmark plus or minus the Margin (if any) in accordance with Condition 4(h), all as determined by the Calculation Agent on the relevant Interest Determination Date.

The "SOFR Benchmark" will be determined based on Compounded Daily SOFR or SOFR Index, as follows (subject in each case to Condition 4(o)):

(x) If Compounded Daily SOFR ("Compounded Daily SOFR") is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the SOFR Benchmark will be determined, the SOFR Benchmark for each Interest Accrual Period shall be equal to the compounded average of daily SOFR reference rates for each day during the relevant Interest Accrual Period (where "SOFR Observation Lag" or "SOFR Payment Delay" is

specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement to determine Compounded Daily SOFR) or the SOFR Observation Period (where "SOFR Observation Shift" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement to determine Compounded Daily SOFR).

Compounded Daily SOFR shall be calculated by the Calculation Agent in accordance with one of the formulas referenced below depending upon which is specified as applicable in the applicable Pricing Supplement:

#### (i) SOFR Observation Lag:

$$\left(\prod_{i=1}^{d_o} \left(1 + \frac{SOFR_{i-xUSBD} \times n_i}{360}\right) - 1\right) \times \frac{360}{d}$$

with the resulting percentage being rounded, if necessary, to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 per cent. being rounded upwards (e.g., 9.876541 per cent. (or 0.09876541) being rounded down to 9.87654 per cent. (or 0.0987654) and 9.876545 per cent. (or 0.09876545) being rounded up to 9.87655 per cent. (or 0.0987655)) and where:

"SOFR<sub>i-xUSBD</sub>" for any U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i" in the relevant Interest Accrual Period, is equal to the SOFR reference rate for the U.S. Government Securities Business Day falling the number of Lookback Days prior to that U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i";

"Lookback Days" means five U.S. Government Securities Business Days (or such other number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement);

"d" means the number of calendar days in the relevant Interest Accrual Period;

"do" for any Interest Accrual Period, means the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days in the relevant Interest Accrual Period;

"i" means a series of whole numbers ascending from one to  $d_o$ , representing each relevant U.S. Government Securities Business Day from (and including) the first U.S. Government Securities Business Day in the relevant Interest Accrual Period; and

" $n_i$ " for any U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i" in the relevant Interest Accrual Period, means the number of calendar days from (and including) such U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i" up to (but excluding) the following U.S. Government Securities Business Day for which SOFR $_{i-xUSBD}$  applies.

(ii) SOFR Observation Shift:

$$\left(\prod_{i=1}^{d_o} \left(1 + \frac{SOFR_i \times n_i}{360}\right) - 1\right) \times \frac{360}{d}$$

with the resulting percentage being rounded, if necessary, to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 per cent. being rounded upwards (e.g., 9.876541 per cent. (or 0.09876541) being rounded down to 9.87654 per cent. (or 0.0987654) and 9.876545 per cent. (or 0.09876545) being rounded up to 9.87655 per cent. (or 0.0987655)) and where:

"SOFR<sub>i</sub>" for any U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i" in the relevant SOFR Observation Period, is equal to the SOFR reference rate for that U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i";

"SOFR Observation Period" means, in respect of each Interest Accrual Period, the period from (and including) the date falling the number of SOFR Observation Shift Days prior to the first day of the relevant Interest Accrual Period to (but excluding) the date falling the number of SOFR Observation Shift Days prior to the Interest Period Date for such Interest Accrual Period;

"SOFR Observation Shift Days" means five U.S. Government Securities Business Days (or such other number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement);

"d" means the number of calendar days in the relevant SOFR Observation Period;

"do" for any SOFR Observation Period, means the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days in the relevant SOFR Observation Period;

 $^{"}_{i}$ " means a series of whole numbers ascending from one to d $_{o}$ , representing each U.S. Government Securities Business Day from (and including) the first U.S. Government Securities Business Day in the relevant SOFR Observation Period; and

"n<sub>i</sub>" for any U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i" in the relevant SOFR Observation Period, means the number of calendar days from (and including) such U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i" up to (but excluding) the following U.S. Government Securities Business Day for which SOFR<sub>i</sub> applies.

(iii) SOFR Payment Delay:

87

$$\left(\prod_{i=1}^{d_o} \left(1 + \frac{SOFR_i \times n_i}{360}\right) - 1\right) \times \frac{360}{d}$$

with the resulting percentage being rounded, if necessary, to the fifth decimal point, with 0.000005 per cent. being rounded upwards (e.g., 9.876541 per cent. (or 0.09876541) being rounded down to 9.87654 per cent. (or 0.0987654) and 9.876545 per cent. (or 0.09876545) being rounded up to 9.87655 per cent. (or 0.0987655)) and where:

"SOFR<sub>i</sub>" for any U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i" in the relevant Interest Accrual Period, is equal to the SOFR reference rate for that U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i";

"Interest Payment Date" shall be the number of Interest Payment Delay Days following each Interest Period Date; provided that (i) the Interest Payment Date with respect to the final Interest Accrual Period ending on the Maturity Date will be the Maturity Date, or (ii) if the Issuer elects to redeem the Notes prior to the Maturity Date, the Interest Payment Date will be the relevant Optional Redemption Date;

"Interest Payment Delay Days" means the number of Business Days as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"d" means the number of calendar days in the relevant Interest Accrual Period;

"d<sub>o</sub>" for any Interest Accrual Period, means the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days in the relevant Interest Accrual Period:

"i" means a series of whole numbers ascending from one to do, representing each relevant U.S. Government Securities Business Day from (and including) the first U.S. Government Securities Business Day in the relevant Interest Accrual Period; and

"n<sub>i</sub>" for any U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i" in the relevant Interest Accrual Period, means the number of calendar days from (and including) such U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i" up to (but excluding) the following U.S. Government Securities Business Day for which SOFR<sub>i</sub> applies.

For the purposes of calculating Compounded Daily SOFR with respect to any Interest Accrual Period ending on the Maturity Date or the relevant redemption date, as applicable, where SOFR Payment Delay is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the SOFR reference rate for each U.S. Government Securities Business Day in the period from (and including) the SOFR Rate Cut-Off Date to (but excluding) the Maturity Date or the relevant Optional Redemption Date, as applicable, shall be the SOFR reference rate in respect of such SOFR Rate Cut-Off Date.

The following defined terms shall have the meanings set out below for purpose of this Condition 4(b)(iii)(D)(x):

"Bloomberg Screen SOFRRATE Page" means the Bloomberg screen designated "SOFRRATE" or any successor page or service;

"Reuters Page USDSOFR=" means the Reuters page designated "USDSOFR=" or any successor page or service;

"SOFR" means, with respect to any U.S. Government Securities Business Day, the reference rate determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following provision:

- (i) the Secured Overnight Financing Rate published at the SOFR Determination Time as such reference rate is reported on the Bloomberg Screen SOFRRATE Page; the Secured Overnight Financing Rate published at the SOFR Determination Time as such reference rate is reported on the Reuters Page USDSOFR=; or the Secured Overnight Financing Rate published at the SOFR Determination Time on the SOFR Administrator's Website; or
- (ii) if the reference rate specified in (i) above does not appear and a SOFR Benchmark Transition Event and its related SOFR Benchmark Replacement Date have not occurred, the SOFR reference rate shall be the reference rate published on the SOFR Administrator's Website for the first preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day for which SOFR was published on the SOFR Administrator's Website: or
- (iii) in the event that the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions by the Calculation Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement), subject to Condition 4(o), the Rate of Interest shall be:
  - (1) that determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin or Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of Interest is to be applied to the relevant Interest Accrual Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Accrual Period, the Margin or Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of Interest (as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) relating to the relevant Interest Accrual Period in place of the Margin or Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to that last preceding Interest Accrual Period); or
  - (2) if there is no such preceding Interest Determination Date, the initial Rate of Interest which would have been applicable to such Series of Notes for the first Interest Accrual Period had the Notes been in issue for a period equal in duration to the scheduled first Interest Accrual Period but ending on (and excluding) the Interest Commencement Date (but applying the Margin and any Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of Interest applicable to the first Interest Accrual Period); or

(iv) if the reference rate specified in (i) above does not appear and a SOFR Benchmark Transition Event and its related SOFR Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred, the provisions set forth in Condition 4(o) shall apply;

"SOFR Rate Cut-Off Date" means the date that is a number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to the end of each Interest Accrual Period, the Maturity Date or the relevant Optional Redemption Date, as applicable, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; and

"SOFR Determination Time" means approximately 3:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the immediately following U.S. Government Securities Business Day.

(y) If SOFR Index ("SOFR Index") is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the SOFR Benchmark for each Interest Accrual Period shall be equal to the compounded average of daily SOFR reference rates for each day during the relevant SOFR Observation Period as calculated by the Calculation Agent as follows:

$$\left(\frac{SOFR\ Index_{End}}{SOFR\ Index_{Start}} - 1\right) \times \left(\frac{360}{d_c}\right)$$

with the resulting percentage being rounded, if necessary, to the fifth decimal point, with 0.000005 per cent. being rounded upwards (e.g., 9.876541 per cent. (or 0.09876541) being rounded down to 9.87654 per cent. (or 0.0987654) and 9.876545 per cent. (or 0.09876545) being rounded up to 9.87655 per cent. (or 0.0987655)) and where:

"SOFR Index" means, in respect of a U.S. Government Securities Business Day, the SOFR Index value as published on the SOFR Administrator's Website at the SOFR Index Determination Time on such U.S. Government Securities Business Day, *provided that*:

- (i) if the value specified above does not appear and a SOFR Benchmark Transition Event and its related SOFR Benchmark Replacement Date have not occurred, the "SOFR Index" shall be calculated on any Interest Determination Date with respect to an Interest Accrual Period, in accordance with the Compounded Daily SOFR formula described above in Condition 4(b)(iii)(D)(x)(ii) "SOFR Observation Shift"; or
- (ii) if the value specified above does not appear and a SOFR Benchmark Transition Event and its related SOFR Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred, the provisions set forth in Condition 4(o) shall apply;

"SOFR Index<sub>End</sub>" means, in respect of an Interest Accrual Period, the SOFR Index value on the date that is five U.S. Government Securities Business Days (or such other number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) prior to the Interest Period Date for such Interest Accrual Period (or in the final Interest Accrual Period, the Maturity Date);

"SOFR Index<sub>Start</sub>" means, in respect of an Interest Accrual Period, the SOFR Index value on the date that is five U.S. Government Securities Business Days (or such other number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual Period:

"SOFR Index Determination Time" means, in relation to any U.S. Government Securities Business Day, approximately 3:00 p.m. (New York City time) on such U.S. Government Securities Business Day;

"SOFR Observation Period" means, in respect of an Interest Accrual Period, the period from (and including) the date falling the number of SOFR Observation Shift Days prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual Period to (but excluding) the date falling the number of SOFR Observation Shift Days prior to the Interest Period Date for such Interest Accrual Period:

"SOFR Observation Shift Days" means five U.S. Government Securities Business Days (or such other number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement); and

"d<sub>c</sub>" means the number of calendar days in the applicable SOFR Observation Period.

The following defined terms shall have the meanings set out below for purpose of this Condition 4(b)(iii)(D):

"SOFR Administrator's Website" means the website of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or any successor source;

"SOFR Benchmark Replacement Date" means the date of occurrence of a Benchmark Event with respect to the then-current SOFR Benchmark:

"SOFR Benchmark Transition Event" means the occurrence of a Benchmark Event with respect to the then-current SOFR Benchmark; and

**"U.S. Government Securities Business Day"** means any day except for a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association recommends that the fixed income departments of its members be closed for the entire day for purposes of trading in U.S. government securities.

If the relevant Series of Notes become due and payable in accordance with Condition 10, the final Interest Determination Date shall, notwithstanding any Interest Determination Date specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, be deemed to be the date on which such Notes became due and payable and the Rate of Interest on such Notes shall, for so long as any such Note remains outstanding, be that determined on such date.

- (iv) Rate of Interest for Index Linked Interest Notes: The Rate of Interest in respect of Index Linked Interest Notes for each Interest Accrual Period shall be determined in the manner specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and interest will accrue by reference to an Index or Formula as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.
- (c) **Zero Coupon Notes**: Where a Note the Interest Basis of which is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement to be Zero Coupon is repayable prior to the Maturity Date and is not paid when due, the amount due and payable prior to the Maturity Date shall be the Early Redemption Amount of such Note specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. As from the Maturity Date, the Rate of Interest for any overdue principal of such a Note shall be a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Amortization Yield (as described in Condition 5(b)(i)(B)).
- (d) Credit Linked Notes, Equity Linked Notes and Bond Linked Notes: In the case of Notes which are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being Credit Linked Notes, Equity Linked Notes or Bond Linked Notes, the rate or amount of interest payable shall be determined in the manner specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.
- (e) Dual Currency Notes: In the case of Notes which are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being Dual Currency Notes, if the rate or amount of interest falls to be determined by reference to a Rate of Exchange or a method of calculating Rate of Exchange, the rate or amount of interest payable shall be determined in the manner specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.
- (f) Partly-Paid Notes: In the case of Notes which are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being Partly-Paid Notes (other than Partly-Paid Notes which are Zero Coupon Notes), interest will accrue as aforesaid on the paid-up nominal amount of such Notes and otherwise as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.
- (g) **Accrual of Interest**: Interest shall cease to accrue on each Note on the due date for redemption unless, upon due presentation, payment is improperly withheld or refused, in which event interest shall continue to accrue (both before and after judgment) at the Rate of Interest in the manner provided in this Condition 4 to the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 8).
- (h) Margin, Maximum/Minimum Rates of Interest, Installment Amounts and Redemption Amounts and Rounding:
  - (i) If any Margin is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement (either (x) generally, or (y) in relation to one or more Interest Accrual Periods), an adjustment shall be made to all Rates of Interest, in the case of (x), or the Rates of Interest for the specified Interest Accrual Periods, in the case of (y), calculated in accordance with Condition 4(b) by adding (if a positive number) or subtracting (if a negative number) the absolute value of such Margin, subject always to Condition 4(h)(ii).
  - (ii) If any Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest, Installment Amount or Redemption Amount is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, then any Rate of Interest, Installment Amount or Redemption Amount shall be subject to such maximum or minimum, as the case may be.

For the purposes of any calculations required pursuant to these Conditions (unless otherwise specified), (x) all percentages resulting from such calculations shall be rounded, if necessary, to the fifth decimal place (with halves being rounded up), (y) all figures shall be rounded to seven significant figures (with halves being rounded up) and (z) all currency amounts that fall due and payable shall be rounded to the nearest unit of such currency (with halves being rounded up), save in the case of yen, which shall be rounded down to the nearest yen. For these purposes "unit" means the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country or countries of such currency.

(i) Calculations: The amount of interest payable per calculation amount specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement (or, if no such amount is so specified, the Specified Denomination) (the "Calculation Amount") in respect of any Note for any Interest Accrual Period shall be equal to the product of the Rate of Interest, the Calculation Amount specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, and the Day Count Fraction specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement for such Interest Accrual Period, unless an Interest Amount (or a formula for its calculation) is applicable to such Interest Accrual Period, in which case the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount in respect of such Note for such Interest Accrual Period shall equal such Interest Amount (or be calculated in accordance with such formula). Where any Interest Period comprises two or more Interest Accrual Periods, the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount in respect of such Interest Period shall be the sum of the Interest Amounts payable in respect of each of those Interest Accrual Periods. In respect of any other period for which interest is required to be calculated, the provisions above shall apply save that the Day Count Fraction shall be for the period for which interest is required to be calculated.

The amount payable in respect of the aggregate nominal amount of Notes represented by a Global Certificate or Global Note (as the case may be) shall be made in accordance with the methods of calculation provided for in these Conditions, **save that** the calculation is made in respect of the total aggregate amount of the Notes represented by a Global Certificate or a Global Note (as the case may be), together with such other sums and additional amounts (if any) as may be payable under these Conditions.

Determination and Publication of Rates of Interest, Interest Amounts, Final (j) Redemption Amounts, Early Redemption Amounts, Optional Redemption Amounts and Installment Amounts: The Calculation Agent shall, as soon as practicable on each Interest Determination Date, or such other time on such date as the Calculation Agent may be required to calculate any rate or amount, obtain any quotation or make any determination or calculation, determine such rate and calculate the Interest Amounts for the relevant Interest Accrual Period, calculate the Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount, Optional Redemption Amount or Installment Amount specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, obtain such quotation or make such determination or calculation, as the case may be, and cause the Rate of Interest and the Interest Amounts for the relevant Interest Accrual Period and, if required to be calculated, the Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount, Optional Redemption Amount or any Installment Amount to be notified to the Trustee, the Issuer, each of the Paying Agents, the Noteholders, any other Calculation Agent appointed in respect of the Notes that is to make a further calculation upon receipt of such information and, if the Notes are listed on a stock exchange and the rules of such exchange or other relevant authority so require, the Issuer shall cause the calculations to be notified to such exchange or other relevant authority as soon as possible after their determination but in no event later than (i) the commencement of the relevant Interest Period, if determined prior to such time, in the case of notification to such exchange of a Rate of Interest and Interest Amount, or (ii) in all other cases, the fourth Business Day after such determination. Where any Interest Payment Date or Interest Period Date is subject to adjustment pursuant to Condition 4(b)(ii), the Interest Amounts and the Interest Payment Date so published may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the Interest Period. If the Notes become due and payable under Condition 10, the accrued interest and the Rate of Interest payable in respect of the Notes shall nevertheless continue to be calculated as previously in accordance with this Condition 4(j) but no publication of the Rate of Interest or the Interest Amount so calculated need be made. The determination of any rate or amount, the obtaining of each quotation and the making of each determination or calculation by the Calculation Agent(s) shall (in the absence of manifest error) be final and binding upon all parties.

- (k) Determination or Calculation by an agent of the Issuer: In the case of Notes other than AMTNs, if the Calculation Agent does not at any time for any reason determine or calculate the Rate of Interest for an Interest Accrual Period or any Interest Amount, Installment Amount, Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount or Optional Redemption Amount, the Issuer shall appoint an agent on its behalf to do so and such determination or calculation shall be deemed to have been made by the Calculation Agent. In doing so, such agent shall apply the foregoing provisions of this Condition 4, with any necessary consequential amendments, to the extent that, in its opinion, it can do so, and, in all other respects it shall do so in such manner as, in its absolute discretion, it shall deem fair and reasonable in all the circumstances. The determination of any rate or amount, the obtaining of each quotation and the making of each determination or calculation by such agent pursuant to this Condition 4(k) shall (in the absence of manifest error) be final and binding upon all parties.
- (I) **Definitions**: In these Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined terms shall have the meanings set out below:

# "Business Day" means:

- (i) if the Specified Currency is not Singapore dollars, Euro or Renminbi, a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in the principal financial center for such currency; and/or
- (ii) if the Specified Currency is Euro, a day on which the TARGET System is operating (a "TARGET Business Day"); and/or
- (iii) if the Specified Currency is Renminbi:
  - (A) and the Notes are cleared through CMU, a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday) on which commercial banks in Hong Kong are generally open for business and settlement of Renminbi payments in Hong Kong;
  - (B) and the Notes are cleared through CDP, a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or gazetted public holiday) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business and settlement of Renminbi payments in Singapore and Hong Kong; and
  - (C) the Notes are cleared through Euroclear and Clearstream, a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in London;

- (iv) if the Specified Currency is Singapore dollars:
  - (A) and the Notes are cleared through CDP, a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or gazetted public holiday) on which commercial banks settle payments in Singapore; and
  - (B) the Notes are cleared through Euroclear and Clearstream, a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in London; and/or
- (v) in the case of a Specified Currency and/or one or more Business Centers specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in such Specified Currency in the Business Center(s) or, if no Specified Currency is indicated, generally in each of the Business Centers.

"Day Count Fraction" means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest on any Note for any period of time (from and including the first day of such period to but excluding the last) (whether or not constituting an Interest Period or an Interest Accrual Period, the "Calculation Period"):

- (i) if "Actual/Actual" or "Actual/Actual ISDA" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of that Calculation Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (A) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (B) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365);
- (ii) if "Actual/365 (Fixed)" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365;
- (iii) if "Actual/360" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360;
- (iv) if "30/360", "360/360" or "Bond Basis" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction = 
$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

where:

"Y<sub>1</sub>" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

"Y<sub>2</sub>" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" $M_1$ " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

"M<sub>2</sub>" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

- "D<sub>1</sub>" is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D<sub>1</sub> will be 30; and
- " $D_2$ " is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31 and  $D_1$  is greater than 29, in which case  $D_2$  will be 30;
- (v) if "30E/360" or "Eurobond Basis" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction = 
$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

where:

- "Y<sub>1</sub>" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;
- "Y<sub>2</sub>" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;
- " $\mathbf{M_1}$ " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;
- "M<sub>2</sub>" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;
- "D<sub>1</sub>" is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and
- "D<sub>2</sub>" is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D2 will be 30;
- (vi) if "30E/360 (ISDA)" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction = 
$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

where:

- "Y<sub>1</sub>" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;
- "Y<sub>2</sub>" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;
- " $M_1$ " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;
- "M<sub>2</sub>" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

"D<sub>1</sub>" is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

"D<sub>2</sub>" is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February but not the Maturity Date or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D2 will be 30:

- (vii) if "Actual/Actual ICMA" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement:
  - (A) if the Calculation Period is equal to or shorter than the Determination Period during which it falls, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year; and
  - (B) if the Calculation Period is longer than one Determination Period, the sum of:
    - (x) the number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the Determination Period in which it begins divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such Determination Period and (2) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year; and
    - (y) the number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the next Determination Period divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such Determination Period and (2) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year

#### where:

"Determination Date" means the date(s) specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement or, if none is so specified, the Interest Payment Date(s); and

"Determination Period" means the period from and including a Determination Date in any year to but excluding the next Determination Date; and

- (viii) if "RBA Bond Basis" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, means one divided by the number of Interest Payment Dates in a year (or where the Calculation Period does not constitute an Interest Period, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of the Calculation Period falls in a leap year, the sum of:
  - (A) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a leap year divided by 366; and
  - (B) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365)).

"Euro" means the currency of the member states of the European Union that adopt the single currency in accordance with the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended from time to time.

"Euro-zone" means the region comprising member states of the European Union that adopt the single currency in accordance with the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended from time to time.

"Hong Kong dollars" means the lawful currency of Hong Kong.

"Interest Accrual Period" means the period beginning on (and including) the Interest Commencement Date and ending on (but excluding) the first Interest Period Date and each successive period beginning on (and including) an Interest Period Date and ending on (but excluding) the next succeeding Interest Period Date.

#### "Interest Amount" means:

- (i) in respect of an Interest Accrual Period, the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount for that Interest Accrual Period and which, in the case of Fixed Rate Notes, and unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, shall mean the Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being payable on the Interest Payment Date ending the Interest Period of which such Interest Accrual Period forms part; and
- (ii) in respect of any other period, the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount for that period.

"Interest Commencement Date" means the Issue Date or such other date as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

"Interest Determination Date" means, in respect of a Rate of Interest and Interest Accrual Period, the date specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement or, if none is so specified:

- the first day of such Interest Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is Sterling (and in such case only if the relevant Reference Rate is not SONIA Benchmark), Hong Kong dollars or Renminbi;
- (ii) the day falling two Business Days in the relevant Financial Center for the Specified Currency prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is neither Sterling nor Euro nor Hong Kong dollars nor Renminbi and if the relevant Reference Rate is not SONIA Benchmark, SOFR Benchmark or SORA Benchmark;
- (iii) the day falling two TARGET Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is Euro;
- (iv) (where SONIA Benchmark is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the Reference Rate) the fifth London Business Day (or as otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) prior to the last day of each Interest Accrual Period;
- (v) (where SOFR Benchmark is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the Reference Rate and where SOFR Observation Lag or SOFR Observation Shift is specified as applicable in the applicable Pricing Supplement to determine Compounded Daily SOFR or where SOFR Index is specified as applicable in the applicable Pricing Supplement) the fifth U.S. Government Securities Business Day (or as otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) prior to the last day of each Interest Accrual Period;
- (vi) (where SOFR Benchmark is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the Reference Rate and where SOFR Payment Delay is specified as applicable in the applicable Pricing Supplement to determine Compounded Daily SOFR) the Interest Period Date at the end of each Interest Accrual Period, provided that the Interest Determination Date with respect to the final Interest Accrual Period will be the U.S. Government Securities Business Day immediately following the relevant SOFR Rate Cut-Off Date; and

(vii) (where SORA Benchmark is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the Reference Rate) the meaning given to it in Conditions 4(n)(ii)(B)(z)(1), 4(n)(ii)(B)(z)(2) or 4(n)(ii)(B)(z)(3), as applicable.

"Interest Period" means the period beginning on (and including) the Interest Commencement Date and ending on (but excluding) the first Interest Payment Date and each successive period beginning on (and including) an Interest Payment Date and ending on (but excluding) the next succeeding Interest Payment Date.

"Interest Period Date" means each Interest Payment Date unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

"ISDA Definitions" means the latest version of the 2021 ISDA Interest Rate Derivatives Definitions, as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. and in respect of the Notes as at the Issue Date for the first Tranche of the Notes, unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

"Rate of Interest" means the rate of interest payable from time to time in respect of this Note and that is either specified or calculated in accordance with the provisions in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

"Reference Banks" means (i) in the case of a determination of EURIBOR, the principal Euro-zone office of four major banks in the Euro-zone inter-bank market and (ii) in the case of a determination of HIBOR, the principal Hong Kong office of four major banks in the Hong Kong inter-bank market, in each case selected by the Issuer or as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

"Reference Rate" means the rate specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement. "Relevant Screen Page" means such page, section, caption, column or other part of a particular information service as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement or such other page, section, caption, column or other part as may replace it on that information service or such other information service, in each case, as may be nominated by the person providing or sponsoring the information appearing there for the purpose of displaying rates or prices comparable to the Reference Rate.

"Relevant Time" means, with respect to any Interest Determination Date, the local time in the relevant Financial Center specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement or, if none is specified, the local time in the relevant financial center at which it is customary to determine bid and offered rates in respect of deposits in the relevant currency in the inter-bank market in the relevant financial center or, if no such customary local time exists, 11:00 a.m. in the relevant financial center and, for the purpose of this definition "local time" means, with respect to the Euro-zone as a relevant financial center, Central European Time.

"Renminbi" and "CNY" means the lawful currency of the PRC (as defined herein).

"Specified Currency" means the currency specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement or, if none is specified, the currency in which the Notes are denominated.

"Sterling" means pound sterling, the lawful currency of the United Kingdom.

"TARGET System" means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer (known as TARGET2) System which was launched on November 19, 2007 or any successor thereto.

"Yen" means the lawful currency of Japan.

- (m) Calculation Agent: The Issuer shall procure that there shall at all times be one or more Calculation Agents if provision is made for them in the applicable Pricing Supplement and for so long as any Note is outstanding (as defined, in the case of Notes other than AMTNs, in the Trust Deed and, in the case of AMTNs, in the Note (AMTN) Deed Poll). Where more than one Calculation Agent is appointed in respect of the Notes, references in these Conditions to the Calculation Agent shall be construed as each Calculation Agent performing its respective duties under these Conditions. If the Calculation Agent is unable or unwilling to act as such or if the Calculation Agent fails duly to establish the Rate of Interest for an Interest Accrual Period or to calculate any Interest Amount, Installment Amount, Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount or Optional Redemption Amount, as the case may be, or to comply with any other requirement, the Issuer shall appoint a leading bank or financial institution engaged in the inter-bank market (or, if appropriate, money, swap or over-the-counter index options market) that is most closely connected with the calculation or determination to be made by the Calculation Agent (acting through its principal London office or any other office actively involved in such market) to act as such in its place. The Calculation Agent may not resign its duties without a successor having been appointed as aforesaid.
- (n) Interest on Floating Rate Notes or Variable Rate Notes (for Singapore Dollar Notes): Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the following provisions will apply to Singapore Dollar Notes which are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being either Floating Rate Notes or Variable Rate Notes. Terms used in this Condition 4(n) are defined in Condition 4(n)(vii).
  - Interest Payment Dates: Each Floating Rate Note or Variable Rate Note bears (i) interest on its Calculation Amount from and including the Interest Commencement Date in respect thereof and as shown on the face of such Note, and such interest will be payable in arrear on each date ("Interest Payment Date") which (save as mentioned in this Condition 4(n)) falls the number of months specified as the Interest Period on the face of the Note (the "Specified Number of Months") after the preceding Interest Payment Date or, in the case of the first Interest Payment Date, after the Interest Commencement Date (and which corresponds numerically with such preceding Interest Payment Date or Interest Commencement Date, as the case may be), provided that the Agreed Yield (as defined in Condition 4(n)(iii) in respect of any Variable Rate Note for any Interest Period (as defined below) relating to that Variable Rate Note shall be payable on the first day of that Interest Period. If any Interest Payment Date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a business day (as defined below), it shall be postponed to the next day which is a business day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month. In any such case as aforesaid or if there is no date in the relevant month which corresponds numerically with the preceding Interest Payment Date or, as the case may be, the Interest Commencement Date (a) the Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding business day and (b) each subsequent Interest Payment Date shall be the last business day of the month which is the last of the Specified Number of Months after the month in which the preceding Interest Payment Date or, as the case may be, the Interest Commencement Date shall have fallen.

The period beginning on (and including) the Interest Commencement Date and ending on (but excluding) the first Interest Payment Date and each successive period beginning on (and including) an Interest Payment Date and ending on (but excluding) the next succeeding Interest Payment Date is herein called an "Interest Period" and "business day" in this Condition 4(n) means a day (other than Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks are open for business in Singapore.

Interest will cease to accrue on each Floating Rate Note or Variable Rate Note from the due date for redemption thereof unless, upon due presentation thereof, payment of principal (or the Redemption Amount, as the case may be) is improperly withheld or refused, in which event interest will continue to accrue (as well after as before judgment) at the rate and in the manner provided in this Condition 4(n) and the Agency Agreement to the Relevant Date.

- (ii) Rate of Interest-Floating Rate Notes:
  - (A) Each Floating Rate Note bears interest at a floating rate determined by reference to a benchmark as stated on the face of such Floating Rate Note and the applicable Pricing Supplement, being the Singapore Overnight Rate Average ("SORA") Benchmark (in which case such Note will be a SORA Note) or in any case such other benchmark as is set out on the face of such Note.

Such floating rate may be adjusted by adding or subtracting the Margin (if any) stated on the face of such Note. The "Margin" is the percentage rate per annum specified on the face of such Note as being applicable to the rate of interest for such Note. The rate of interest so calculated shall be subject to Condition 4(n)(iv).

- (B) The rate of interest payable in respect of a Floating Rate Note from time to time is referred to in this Condition 4(n) as the "Rate of Interest". The Rate of Interest payable from time to time in respect of each Floating Rate Note under this Condition 4(n) will be determined by the Calculation Agent on the basis of the following provisions:
  - (z) in the case of Floating Rate Notes which are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being SORA Notes, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual Period will, subject as provided below, be equal to the relevant SORA Benchmark (as defined below) plus or minus the Margin.

The "SORA Benchmark" will be determined based on Compounded Daily SORA or SORA Index Average, as follows (subject in each case to Condition 4(o)(iii):

If Compounded Daily SORA ("Compounded Daily SORA") is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the SORA Benchmark for each Interest Accrual Period shall be equal to the value of the SORA rates for each day during the relevant Interest Accrual Period (where Lookback is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement to determine Compounded Daily SORA) or Observation Period (where Backward Shifted Observation Period is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement to determine Compounded Daily SORA).

Compounded Daily SORA shall be calculated by the Calculation Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) on the relevant Interest Determination Date in accordance with one of the formulas referenced below depending upon which is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement:

- (1) where Lookback is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement:
  - "Compounded Daily SORA" means, with respect to an Interest Accrual Period, the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment during the Observation Period corresponding to such Interest Accrual Period (with the reference rate for the calculation

of interest being the daily Singapore Overnight Rate Average) calculated in accordance with the formula set forth below by the Calculation Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) on the Interest Determination Date, with the resulting percentage being rounded, if necessary, to the fourth decimal place (0.0001%), with 0.00005% being rounded upwards.

$$\left[ \prod_{i=1}^{d_o} \left( 1 + \frac{SORA_{i-xSBD} \times n_i}{365} \right) - 1 \right] \times \frac{365}{d}$$

where:

"d" is the number of calendar days in the relevant Interest Accrual Period:

"do", for any Interest Accrual Period, is the number of Singapore Business Days in the relevant Interest Accrual Period;

"i", for the relevant Interest Accrual Period, is a series of whole numbers from one to do, each representing the relevant Singapore Business Days in chronological order from, and including, the first Singapore Business Day in such Interest Accrual Period to the last Singapore Business Day in such Interest Accrual Period;

"Interest Determination Date" means, with respect to a Rate of Interest and Interest Accrual Period, the date falling one Singapore Business Day after the end of each Observation Period;

"ni", for any day "i", is the number of calendar days from and including such day "i" up to but excluding the following Singapore Business Day;

"Singapore Business Days" or "SBD" means a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or gazetted public holiday) on which commercial banks settle payments in Singapore;

"Observation Period" means, for the relevant Interest Accrual Period, the period from, and including, the date falling five Singapore Business Days (or such other number of Singapore Business Days specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual Period (and the first Interest Accrual Period shall begin on and include the Interest Commencement Date) and to, but excluding, the date falling five Singapore Business Days (or such other number of Singapore Business Days specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) prior to the Interest Payment Date at the end of such Interest Accrual Period (or the date falling five Singapore Business Days (or such other number of Singapore Business Days specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes become due and payable);

"SORA" means, in respect of any Singapore Business Day "i", a reference rate equal to the daily Singapore Overnight Rate Average provided by the Monetary Authority of Singapore (or a successor administrator), as the administrator of the benchmark, on the Monetary Authority of Singapore's website currently at

http://www.mas.gov.sg, or any successor website officially designated by the Monetary Authority of Singapore (or as published by its authorized distributors) (the "Relevant Screen Page") on the Singapore Business Day immediately following such day "i"; and

"SORAI - x SBD", in respect of any Singapore Business Day falling in the relevant Observation Period, the reference rate equal to SORA in respect of the Singapore Business Day falling five Singapore Business Days (or such other number of Singapore Business Days specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) prior to the relevant Singapore Business Day "i".

(2) where Backward Shifted Observation Period is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement:

"Compounded Daily SORA" means, with respect to an Interest Accrual Period, the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment during the Observation Period corresponding to such Interest Accrual Period (with the reference rate for the calculation of interest being the daily Singapore Overnight Rate Average) calculated in accordance with the formula set forth below by the Calculation Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) on the Interest Determination Date, with the resulting percentage being rounded, if necessary, to the fourth decimal place (0.0001%), with 0.00005% being rounded upwards.

$$\left[ \prod_{i=1}^{d_o} \left( 1 + \frac{SORA_i \times n_i}{365} \right) - 1 \right] \times \frac{365}{d}$$

where:

"d" is the number of calendar days in the relevant Observation Period:

"do", for any Interest Accrual Period, is the number of Singapore Business Days in the relevant Observation Period;

"i", for the relevant Interest Accrual Period, is a series of whole numbers from one to  $d_o$ , each representing the relevant Singapore Business Days in chronological order from, and including, the first Singapore Business Day in such Observation Period to the last Singapore Business Day in such Observation Period;

"Interest Determination Date" means, with respect to a Rate of Interest and Interest Accrual Period, the date falling one Singapore Business Day after the end of each Observation Period;

"ni", for any day "i", is the number of calendar days from and including such day "i" up to but excluding the following Singapore Business Day;

"Singapore Business Days" or "SBD" means a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or gazetted public holiday) on which commercial banks settle payments in Singapore;

"Observation Period" means, for the relevant Interest Accrual Period, the period from, and including, the date falling five Singapore Business Days (or such other number of Singapore Business Days specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual Period (and the first Interest Accrual Period shall begin on and include the Interest Commencement Date) and to, but excluding, the date falling five Singapore Business Days (or such other number of Singapore Business Days specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) prior to the Interest Payment Date at the end of such Interest Accrual Period (or the date falling five Singapore Business Days (or such other number of Singapore Business Days specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes become due and payable);

"SORA" means, in respect of any Singapore Business Day "i", a reference rate equal to the daily Singapore Overnight Rate Average provided by the Monetary Authority of Singapore (or a successor administrator), as the administrator of the benchmark, on the Monetary Authority of Singapore's website currently at http://www.mas.gov.sg, or any successor website officially designated by the Monetary Authority of Singapore (or as published by its authorized distributors) (the "Relevant Screen Page") on the Singapore Business Day immediately following such day "i"; and

"SORAi" means, in respect of any Singapore Business Day falling in the relevant Observation Period, the reference rate equal to SORA in respect of that Singapore Business Day.

For the avoidance of doubt, the formula for the calculation of Compounded Daily SORA only compounds SORA in respect of any Singapore Business Day. SORA applied to a day that is not a Singapore Business Day will be taken by applying SORA for the previous Singapore Business Day but without compounding.

(3) For each Floating Rate Note where the Reference Rate is specified as being SORA Index Average ("SORA Index Average"), the SORA Benchmark for each Interest Accrual Period shall be equal to the value of the SORA rates for each day during the relevant Interest Accrual Period as calculated by the Calculation Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) on the relevant Interest Determination Date as follows:

$$\left(\frac{SORA\ Index_{End}}{SORA\ Index_{Start}} - 1\right) \times \left(\frac{360}{d_c}\right)$$

and the resulting percentage being rounded if necessary to the fourth decimal place (0.0001%), with 0.00005% being rounded upwards, where:

" $d_c$ " means the number of calendar days from (and including) the SORA Index<sub>Start</sub> to (but excluding) the SORA Index<sub>End</sub>;

"Singapore Business Days" or "SBD" means a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or gazetted public holiday) on which commercial banks settle payments in Singapore;

"SORA Index" means, in relation to any Singapore Business Day, the SORA Index as published by the Monetary Authority of Singapore (or a successor administrator), as the administrator of the benchmark, on the Monetary Authority of Singapore's website currently at http://www.mas.gov.sg, or any successor website officially designated by the Monetary Authority of Singapore (or as published by its authorized distributors) at the SORA Index Determination Time, provided that if the SORA Index does not so appear at the SORA Index Determination Time, then:

- (i) if a SORA Index Cessation Event has not occurred, the "SORA Index Average" shall be calculated on any Interest Determination Date with respect to an Interest Accrual Period, in accordance with the Compounded Daily SORA formula described above in Condition 4(n)(ii)(B)(z)(2), and the Observation Period shall be calculated with reference to the number of Singapore Business Days preceding the first date of the relevant Interest Accrual Period that is used in the definition of SORA Index<sub>Start</sub> as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; or
- (ii) if a SORA Index Cessation Event has occurred, the provisions set forth in Condition 4(o)(iii) shall apply;

"SORA Index<sub>End</sub>" means the SORA Index value on the date falling five Singapore Business Days (or such other number of Singapore Business Days as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) preceding the last date of the relevant Interest Accrual Period;

"SORA Index<sub>Start</sub>" means the SORA Index value on the date falling five Singapore Business Days (or such other number of Singapore Business Days as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) preceding the first date of the relevant Interest Accrual Period; and

"SORA Index Determination Time" means, in relation to any Singapore Business Day, approximately 3:00 p.m. (Singapore time) on such Singapore Business Day.

(4) If, subject to Condition 4(o), by 5:00 p.m., Singapore time, on the Singapore Business Day immediately following such day "i", SORA in respect of such day "i" has not been published and a SORA Index Cessation Event has not occurred, then SORA for that day "i" will be SORA as published in respect of the first preceding Singapore Business Day for which SORA was published.

- (5) In the event that the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions by the Calculation Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement), subject to Condition 4(o), the Rate of Interest shall be:
  - (A) that determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin or Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of Interest is to be applied to the relevant Interest Accrual Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Accrual Period, the Margin or Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of Interest (as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) relating to the relevant Interest Accrual Period in place of the Margin or Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to that last preceding Interest Accrual Period); or
  - (B) if there is no such preceding Interest Determination Date, the initial Rate of Interest which would have been applicable to such Series of Notes for the first Interest Accrual Period had the Notes been in issue for a period equal in duration to the scheduled first Interest Accrual Period but ending on (and excluding) the Interest Commencement Date (but applying the Margin and any Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of Interest applicable to the first Interest Accrual Period).

If the relevant Series of Notes become due and payable in accordance with Condition 10, the final Interest Determination Date shall, notwithstanding any Interest Determination Date specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, be deemed to be the date on which such Notes became due and payable (with corresponding adjustments being deemed to be made to the applicable SORA Benchmark formula) and the Rate of Interest on such Notes shall, for so long as any such Note remains outstanding, be that determined on such date.

- (C) On the last day of each Interest Period, the Issuer will pay interest on each Floating Rate Note to which such Interest Period relates at the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period.
- (iii) Agreed Yield Variable Rate Notes
  - (A) Each Variable Rate Note bears interest at a variable rate determined in accordance with the provisions of this Condition 4(n)(iii). The interest payable in respect of a Variable Rate Note for each Interest Period relating to that Variable Rate Note, which shall be payable on the first day of such Interest Period, is referred to in this Condition 4(n)(iii) as the "Agreed Yield".
  - (B) The Agreed Yield payable from time to time in respect of each Variable Rate Note for each Interest Period relating to such Variable Rate Note shall be determined as follows:
    - (x) not earlier than 9.00 a.m. (Singapore time) on the ninth business day nor later than 3.00 p.m. (Singapore time) on the fifth business day prior to the commencement of each Interest Period, the Issuer and the Relevant Dealer (as defined below) shall endeavor to agree on an Agreed Yield in respect of such Variable Rate Note for such Interest Period; and

- (y) if the Issuer and the Relevant Dealer shall not have agreed an Agreed Yield in respect of such Variable Rate Note for such Interest Period by 3.00 p.m. (Singapore time) on the fifth business day prior to the commencement of such Interest Period, or if there shall be no Relevant Dealer during the period for agreement referred to in Condition 4(n)(iii)(B)(x), the Agreed Yield for such Variable Rate Note for such Interest Period shall be zero.
- (C) The Issuer has undertaken to the Issuing and Paying Agent and the Calculation Agent that it will as soon as possible after the Agreed Yield in respect of any Variable Rate Note is determined but not later than 10.30 a.m. (Singapore time) on the next following business day:
  - notify the Issuing and Paying Agent and the Calculation Agent in writing of the Agreed Yield for such Variable Rate Note for such Interest Period; and
  - (y) cause such Agreed Yield for such Variable Rate Note to be notified by the Issuing and Paying Agent to the relevant Noteholder at its request.
- (D) The Issuer will pay the Agreed Yield applicable to each Variable Rate Note for each Interest Period relating to such Variable Rate Note on the first day of such Interest Period.

# (iv) Determination of Rate of Interest and Calculation of Interest Amounts

The Calculation Agent will, at the Relevant Time on each Interest Determination Date, determine the Rate of Interest and calculate the amount of interest payable (the "Interest Amounts") in respect of each denomination of the relevant Floating Rate Notes for the relevant Interest Period. The Interest Amounts shall be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest to the Calculation Amount, multiplying such product by the actual number of days in the Interest Period concerned, divided by the FRN Day Basis shown on the face of such Note and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest cent. The determination of the Rate of Interest and the Interest Amounts by the Calculation Agent shall (in the absence of manifest error) be final and binding upon all parties.

#### (v) Duration of Rate of Interest and Interest Amounts

The Calculation Agent will cause the Rate of Interest and the Interest Amounts for each Interest Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified to the Issuing and Paying Agent, the Issuer and each of the Paying Agents and to be notified to Noteholders and, if the Notes are listed on a stock exchange and the rules of such exchange or other relevant authority so require, the Issuer shall cause the Rate of Interest and the Interest Amounts for each Interest Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified to such exchange or other relevant authority as soon as possible after their determination but in no event later than (i) the commencement of the relevant Interest Period, if determined prior to such time, in the case of notification to such exchange or other relevant authority, or (ii) in all other cases the fourth Relevant Business Day thereafter. The Interest Amounts and the Interest Payment Date so published may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the Interest Period.

### (vi) Calculation Agent and Reference Banks

The Issuer will procure that, so long as any relevant Floating Rate Note remains outstanding, there shall at all times be three Reference Banks and a Calculation Agent. If any Reference Bank (acting through its relevant office) is unable or unwilling to continue to act as a Reference Bank or the Calculation Agent is unable or unwilling to act as such or if the Calculation Agent fails duly to establish the Rate of Interest for any Interest Period or to calculate the Interest Amounts or the Redemption Amount, the Issuer will appoint the Singapore office of a leading bank or merchant bank engaged in the Singapore inter-bank market to act as such in its place and will notify such change(s) to the Noteholders. The Calculation Agent may not resign its duties without a successor having been appointed as aforesaid.

# (vii) Definitions

As used in this Condition 4(n):

"Calculation Agent" means the calculation agent designated for the relevant Notes:

"Calculation Amount" means the amount specified as such on the face of any Note, or if no such amount is so specified, the Denomination Amount of such Note as shown on the face thereof;

"Interest Commencement Date" means, in the case of the first issue of a Note or Notes of a Series, the Issue Date or such other date as may be specified as the Interest Commencement on the face of such Note and, in the case of a further issue of a Note or Notes of such Series, means the most recent Reference Date or, as the case may be, Interest Payment Date in relation to such first issue next preceding the date on which such further Note or Notes are issued or if there is no such date, the Interest Commencement Date in respect of such first issue;

"Reference Banks" means the principal Singapore office of three major banks in the Singapore Inter-bank market, selected by the Issuer or as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"Relevant Dealer" means, in respect of any Variable Rate Note, the Dealer (if any) party to the Program Agreement referred to in the Agency Agreement with whom the Issuer has concluded an agreement for the issue of such Variable Rate Note pursuant to the Program Agreement; and

"Relevant Time" means 11.00 a.m. (Singapore time).

## (o) Benchmark Discontinuation

## (i) Benchmark Discontinuation (General)

Where the Pricing Supplement specifies this Condition 4(o)(i) as applicable:

# (A) Independent Adviser

If a Benchmark Event occurs in relation to an Original Reference Rate when any Rate of Interest (or any component part thereof) remains to be determined by reference to such Original Reference Rate, the Issuer shall use its reasonable endeavors to appoint an Independent Adviser, as soon as reasonably practicable, to determine a Successor Rate, or failing which, an Alternative Rate (in accordance with Condition 4(o)(i)(B)) and, in either case, an Adjustment Spread and any Benchmark Amendments (in accordance with Condition 4(o)(i)(D)).

In making such determination, the Independent Adviser appointed pursuant to this Condition 4(o)(i) shall act in good faith as an expert and in consultation with the Issuer. In the absence of bad faith or fraud, the Independent Adviser shall have no liability whatsoever to the Issuer, the Trustee, the Paying Agents or the Noteholders for any determination made by it, pursuant to this Condition 4(o)(i).

If:

- (i) the Issuer is unable to appoint an Independent Adviser; or
- (ii) the Independent Adviser fails to determine a Successor Rate or, failing which, an Alternative Rate,

in accordance with this Condition 4(o)(i)(A) prior to the relevant Interest Determination Date, the Rate of Interest applicable to the next succeeding Interest Accrual Period shall be equal to the Rate of Interest last determined in relation to the Notes in respect of the immediately preceding Interest Accrual Period. If there has not been a first Interest Payment Date, the Rate of Interest shall be the initial Rate of Interest. Where a different Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest is to be applied to the relevant Interest Accrual Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Accrual Period, the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to the relevant Interest Accrual Period shall be substituted in place of the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to that last preceding Interest Accrual Period. For the avoidance of doubt, this paragraph shall apply to the relevant next succeeding Interest Accrual Period only and any subsequent Interest Accrual Periods are subject to the subsequent operation of, and to adjustment as provided in, the first paragraph of this Condition 4(o)(i)(A).

(B) Successor Rate or Alternative Rate

If the Independent Adviser determines that:

- (i) there is a Successor Rate, then such Successor Rate and the applicable Adjustment Spread shall subsequently be used in place of the Original Reference Rate to determine the Rate of Interest (or the relevant component part thereof) for all future payments of interest on the Notes (subject to the operation of this Condition 4(o)(i)); or
- (ii) there is no Successor Rate but that there is an Alternative Rate, then such Alternative Rate and the applicable Adjustment Spread shall subsequently be used in place of the Original Reference Rate to determine the Rate of Interest (or the relevant component part thereof) for all future payments of interest on the Notes (subject to the operation of this Condition 4(o)(i)).

## (C) Adjustment Spread

The Adjustment Spread (or the formula or methodology for determining the Adjustment Spread) shall be applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be). If the Independent Adviser (in consultation with the Issuer) is unable to determine the quantum of, or a formula or methodology for determining, such Adjustment Spread, then the Successor Rate or Alternative Reference Rate (as applicable) will apply without an Adjustment Spread.

#### (D) Benchmark Amendments

If any Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and, in either case, the applicable Adjustment Spread is determined in accordance with this Condition 4(o)(i) and the Independent Adviser (in consultation with the Issuer) determines:

- that amendments to these Conditions and/or the Trust Deed are necessary to ensure the proper operation of such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and/or (in either case) the applicable Adjustment Spread (such amendments, the "Benchmark Amendments"); and
- (ii) the terms of the Benchmark Amendments, then the Issuer shall, subject to giving notice thereof in accordance with Condition 4(o)(i)(E), without any requirement for the consent or approval of Noteholders, the Trustee or the Agents, vary these Conditions and/or the Trust Deed to give effect to such Benchmark Amendments with effect from the date specified in such notice.

At the request of the Issuer, but subject to receipt by the Trustee of a certificate signed by two authorized signatories of the Issuer pursuant to Condition 4(o)(i)(E), the Trustee shall (at the expense of the Issuer), without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Noteholders, be obliged to concur with the Issuer in effecting any Benchmark Amendments (including, inter alia, by the execution of a deed supplemental to or amending the Trust Deed), provided that the Trustee shall not be obliged so to concur if in the opinion of the Trustee doing so would impose more onerous obligations upon it or expose it to any additional duties, responsibilities or liabilities or reduce or amend the protective provisions afforded to the Trustee in these Conditions or the Trust Deed (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any supplemental trust deed) in any way.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Trustee and the Issuing and Paying Agent shall, at the direction and expense of the Issuer, effect such consequential amendments to the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and these Conditions as may be required in order to give effect to this Condition 4(o)(i)(D). Noteholders' consent shall not be required in connection with the effecting of the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as applicable) or such other changes, including the execution of any documents or any steps by the Trustee or the Issuing and Paying Agent (if required). Further, none of the Trustee, the Calculation Agent, the Paying Agents, the Registrars or the Transfer Agents shall be responsible or liable for any determinations or certifications made by the Issuer or the Independent Adviser with respect to any Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (as applicable) or any other changes and shall be entitled to rely conclusively on any certifications provided to each of them in this regard.

In connection with any such variation in accordance with this Condition 4(o)(i)(D), the Issuer shall comply with the rules of any stock exchange on which the Notes are for the time being listed or admitted to trading.

#### (E) Notices

Any Successor Rate, Alternative Rate, Adjustment Spread and the specific terms of any Benchmark Amendments, determined under this Condition 4(o)(i) will be notified promptly by the Issuer to the Trustee, the Calculation Agent, the Paying Agents and, in accordance with Condition 16, the Noteholders or the Couponholders. Such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the effective date of the Benchmark Amendments, if any.

No later than notifying the Noteholders of the same, the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee a certificate signed by two authorized signatories of the Issuer:

#### (x) confirming

- (i) that a Benchmark Event has occurred;
- (ii) the Successor Rate or, as the case may be, the Alternative Rate;
- (iii) the applicable, Adjustment Spread; and
- (iv) the specific terms of the Benchmark Amendments (if any),

in each case as determined in accordance with the provisions of this Condition 4(o)(i); and

(y) certifying that the Benchmark Amendments (if any) are necessary to ensure the proper operation of such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and (in either case) the applicable Adjustment Spread.

The Trustee shall be entitled to rely on such certificate (without liability to any person) as sufficient evidence thereof. The Successor Rate, Alternative Rate, the Adjustment Spread or the Benchmark Amendments (if any) specified in such certificate will (in the absence of manifest error or bad faith in the determination of the Successor Rate, Alternative Rate, the Adjustment Spread or the Benchmark Amendments (if any) and without prejudice to the Trustee's ability to rely on such certificate as aforesaid) be binding on the Issuer, the Trustee, the Calculation Agent, the Paying Agents, the Noteholders and Couponholders.

## (F) Survival of Original Reference Rate

Without prejudice to the obligations of the Issuer under Condition 4(o)(i)(A), 4(o)(i)(B), 4(o)(i)(C) and 4(o)(i)(D), the Original Reference Rate and the fallback provisions provided for in Condition 4(b)(iii)(B) or (C), as applicable, will continue to apply unless and until a Benchmark Event has occurred.

## (G) Definitions:

As used in this Condition 4(o)(i):

#### "Adjustment Spread" means either:

- (i) a spread (which may be positive, negative or zero); or
- (ii) a formula or methodology for calculating a spread, in each case to be applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) and is the spread, formula or methodology which:
  - in the case of a Successor Rate, is formally recommended in relation to the replacement of the Original Reference Rate with the Successor Rate by any Relevant Nominating Body; or (if no such recommendation has been made, or in the case of an Alternative Rate);
  - (y) the Independent Adviser determines as being customarily applied to the relevant Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) in international debt capital markets transactions to produce an industry-accepted replacement rate for the Original Reference Rate; or (if the Independent Adviser determines that no such spread is customarily applied);
  - (z) the Independent Adviser (in consultation with the Issuer) determines, and which is recognized or acknowledged as being the industry standard for over-the-counter derivative transactions which reference the Original Reference Rate, where such rate has been replaced by the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be).

"Alternative Rate" means an alternative benchmark or screen rate which the Independent Adviser determines in accordance with Condition 4(o)(i)(B) is customarily applied in international debt capital markets transactions for the purposes of determining rates of interest (or the relevant component part thereof) in the same Specified Currency as the Notes.

"Benchmark Amendments" has the meaning given to it in Condition 4(o)(i)(D).

#### "Benchmark Event" means:

- (i) the Original Reference Rate ceasing to be published for a period of at least five Business Days or ceasing to exist; or
- (ii) a public statement by the administrator of the Original Reference Rate that it has ceased or that it will cease publishing the Original Reference Rate permanently or indefinitely (in circumstances where no successor administrator has been appointed that will continue publication of the Original Reference Rate) and such cessation is reasonably expected by the Issuer to occur prior to the Maturity Date; or
- (iii) a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference Rate, that the Original Reference Rate has been or will be permanently or indefinitely discontinued and such discontinuation is reasonably expected by the Issuer to occur prior to the Maturity Date; or

- (iv) a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference Rate as a consequence of which the Original Reference Rate will be prohibited from being used either generally, or in respect of the Notes and such prohibition is reasonably expected by the Issuer to occur prior to the Maturity Date; or
- a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference Rate that the Original Reference Rate is or will be (or is or will be deemed by such supervisor to be) no longer representative of its relevant underlying market; or
- (vi) it has become unlawful for any Paying Agent, Calculation Agent, the Issuer or other party to calculate any payments due to be made to any Noteholder using the Original Reference Rate,

provided that the Benchmark Event shall be deemed to occur (a) in the case of sub-paragraphs (ii) and (iii) above, on the date of the cessation of publication of the Original Reference Rate or the discontinuation of the Original Reference Rate, as the case may be, (b) in the case of subparagraph (iv) above, on the date of the prohibition of use of the Original Reference Rate and (c) in the case of sub-paragraph (v) above, on the date with effect from which the Original Reference Rate will no longer be (or will be deemed by the relevant supervisor to no longer be) representative of its relevant underlying market and which is specified in the relevant public statement, and, in each case, not the date of the relevant public statement.

The occurrence of a Benchmark Event shall be determined by the Issuer and promptly notified to the Trustee, the Calculation Agent and the Paying Agents. For the avoidance of doubt, neither the Trustee, the Calculation Agent nor the Paying Agents shall have any responsibility for making such determination.

"Independent Adviser" means an independent financial institution of international repute or an independent financial adviser with appropriate expertise appointed by and at the expense of the Issuer under Condition 4(o)(i)(A).

"Original Reference Rate" means the originally-specified benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) used to determine the Rate of Interest (or any component part thereof) on the Notes.

"Relevant Nominating Body" means, in respect of a benchmark or screen rate (as applicable):

- the central bank for the currency to which the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) relates, or any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for supervising the administrator of the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable); or
- (ii) any working group or committee sponsored by, chaired or co-chaired by or constituted at the request of
  - (w) the central bank for the currency to which the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) relates;

- (x) any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for supervising the administrator of the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable);
- (y) a group of the aforementioned central banks or other supervisory authorities; or
- (z) the Financial Stability Board or any part thereof.

"Successor Rate" means a successor to or replacement of the Original Reference Rate which is formally recommended by any Relevant Nominating Body.

Where the Original Reference Rate for a Series of Notes is EURIBOR, the Successor Rate could include the rate (inclusive of any spreads or adjustments) formally recommended by (i) the working group on euro risk free rates established by the European Central Bank, the Financial Services and Markets Authority, the European Securities and Markets Authority and the European Commission, (ii) the European Money Market Institute, as the administrator of EURIBOR, (iii) the competent authority responsible under Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 for supervising the European Money Market Institute, as the administrator of the EURIBOR, or (iv) the national competent authority designated by each Member State under Regulation (EU) 2016/1011, or (v) the European Central Bank.

#### (ii) Benchmark Discontinuation (SOFR)

This Condition 4(o)(ii) shall only apply to U.S. dollar-denominated Notes where so specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

The following provisions shall apply if Benchmark Discontinuation (SOFR) is specified as applicable in the applicable Pricing Supplement:

#### (A) Benchmark Replacement

If the Issuer or its designee determines on or prior to the relevant Reference Time that a Benchmark Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to the-then current Benchmark, the Benchmark Replacement will replace the then-current Benchmark for all purposes relating to the Notes in respect of all determinations on such date and for all determinations on all subsequent dates.

#### (B) Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes

In connection with the implementation of a Benchmark Replacement, the Issuer or its designee will have the right to make Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes from time to time. For the avoidance of doubt, the Trustee and any of the Agents shall, at the direction and expense of the Issuer, but subject to receipt by the Trustee of a certificate signed by two authorized signatories of the Issuer confirming that a Benchmark Event has occurred, without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Noteholders, effect such consequential amendments to the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and these Conditions as may be required to give effect to this Condition 4(o)(ii)(B) and none of the Trustee or the Agents shall be liable to any party for any consequences thereof, provided that the Trustee and the

Agents shall not be obliged to effect any such amendments, if, in the opinion of the Trustee or the Agents, doing so would impose more onerous obligations upon it or expose it to any additional duties, responsibilities or liabilities or reduce or amend the rights and/or protective provisions afforded to it in these Conditions and/or the Trust Deed and/or the Agency Agreement and/or any documents to which it is a party (including for the avoidance of doubt, any supplemental trust deed or supplemental agency agreement) in any way. Noteholders' consent shall not be required in connection with effecting any such changes, including the execution of any documents or any steps to be taken by the Trustee or any of the Agents (if required). Further, none of the Trustee, the Calculation Agent, the Paying Agents, the Registrars or the Transfer Agents shall be responsible or liable for any determinations, decisions or elections made by the Issuer or its designee with respect to any Benchmark Replacement or any other changes and shall be entitled to rely conclusively on any certifications provided to each of them in this regard.

## (C) Decisions and Determinations

Any determination, decision or election that may be made by the Issuer or its designee pursuant to this Condition 4(o)(ii), including any determination with respect to a tenor, rate or adjustment or of the occurrence or non-occurrence of an event, circumstance or date and any decision to take or refrain from taking any action or any selection (i) will be conclusive and binding absent manifest error, (ii) will be made in the sole discretion of the Issuer or its designee, as applicable, and (iii) notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the documentation relating to the Notes, shall become effective without consent from the holders of the Notes or any other party.

## (D) Definitions

The following defined terms shall have the meanings set out below for purpose of this Condition 4(o)(ii):

"Benchmark" means, initially, the relevant SOFR Benchmark specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; provided that if the Issuer or its designee determines on or prior to the Reference Time that a Benchmark Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to the relevant SOFR Benchmark (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof) or the then-current Benchmark, then "Benchmark" means the applicable Benchmark Replacement;

"Benchmark Event" means the occurrence of one or more of the following events with respect to the then-current Benchmark (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof):

(i) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component) announcing that such administrator has ceased or will cease to provide the Benchmark (or such component), permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the Benchmark (or such component); or

- (ii) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component), the central bank for the currency of the Benchmark (or such component), an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the administrator for the Benchmark (or such component), a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator for the Benchmark (or such component) or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator for the Benchmark, which states that the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component) has ceased or will cease to provide the Benchmark (or such component) permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the Benchmark (or such component); or
- (iii) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Benchmark announcing that the Benchmark is no longer representative;

"Benchmark Replacement" means the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Issuer or its designee as of the Benchmark Replacement Date:

- (i) the sum of:
  - (a) the alternate reference rate that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body as the replacement for the then-current Benchmark (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof); and
  - (b) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment;
- (ii) the sum of:
  - (a) the ISDA Fallback Rate; and
  - (b) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment; or
- (iii) the sum of:
  - (c) the alternate reference rate that has been selected by the Issuer or its designee as the replacement for the then-current Benchmark (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof) giving due consideration to any industry-accepted reference rate as a replacement for the then-current Benchmark (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof) for U.S. dollar-denominated Floating Rate Notes at such time; and
  - (d) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment;

"Benchmark Replacement Adjustment" means the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Issuer or its designee as of the Benchmark Replacement Date:

- the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body for the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement;
- (ii) if the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement is equivalent to the ISDA Fallback Rate, the ISDA Fallback Adjustment; or
- (iii) the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected by the Issuer or its designee giving due consideration to any industry-accepted spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of the then-current Benchmark (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof) with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for U.S. dollar-denominated Floating Rate Notes at such time;

"Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes" means, with respect to any Benchmark Replacement, any technical, administrative or operational changes (including changes to the timing and frequency of determining rates and making payments of interest, rounding of amounts or tenors, and other administrative matters) the Issuer or its designee decides may be appropriate to reflect the adoption of such Benchmark Replacement in a manner substantially consistent with market practice (or, if the Issuer or its designee decides that adoption of any portion of such market practice is not administratively feasible or if the Issuer or its designee determine that no market practice for use of the Benchmark Replacement exists, in such other manner as the Issuer or its designee determines is reasonably necessary);

"Benchmark Replacement Date" means the earliest to occur of the following events with respect to the then-current Benchmark (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof):

- (i) in the case of sub-paragraph (i) or (ii) of the definition of "Benchmark Event", the later of:
  - (a) the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein; and
  - (b) the date on which the administrator of the Benchmark permanently or indefinitely ceases to provide the Benchmark (or such component); or
- (ii) in the case of sub-paragraph (iii) of the definition of "Benchmark Event", the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein.

For the avoidance of doubt, if the event giving rise to the Benchmark Replacement Date occurs on the same day as, but earlier than, the Reference Time in respect of any determination, the Benchmark Replacement Date will be deemed to have occurred prior to the Reference Time for such determination;

"designee" means a designee as selected and separately appointed by the Issuer in writing;

"ISDA Fallback Adjustment" means the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that would apply for derivatives transactions referencing the ISDA Definitions to be determined upon the occurrence of an index cessation event with respect to the Benchmark;

"ISDA Fallback Rate" means the rate that would apply for derivatives transactions referencing the ISDA Definitions to be effective upon the occurrence of an index cessation date with respect to the Benchmark (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof) for the applicable tenor excluding the applicable ISDA Fallback Adjustment;

"Reference Time" with respect to any determination of the Benchmark means (1) if the Benchmark is the SOFR Benchmark, the SOFR Determination Time (where Compounded Daily SOFR is specified as applicable in the applicable Pricing Supplement) or SOFR Index Determination Time (where SOFR Index is specified as applicable in the applicable Pricing Supplement), or (2) if the Benchmark is not the SOFR Benchmark, the time determined by the Issuer or its designee after giving effect to the Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes;

"Relevant Governmental Body" means the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York or any successor thereto; and

"Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement" means the Benchmark Replacement excluding the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment.

## (iii) Benchmark Discontinuation (SORA)

This Condition 4(o)(iii) shall only apply to Singapore dollar-denominated Notes where so specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Where the Pricing Supplement specifies that this Condition 4(o)(iii) as applicable:

(A) Independent Adviser: If a SORA Index Cessation Event occurs in relation to an Original Reference Rate when any Rate of Interest (or any component part thereof) remains to be determined by reference to such Original Reference Rate, the Issuer shall use its reasonable endeavors to appoint an Independent Adviser, as soon as reasonably practicable, to determine a Successor Rate, or failing which, an Alternative Rate (in accordance with Condition 4(o)(iii)(C) and, in either case, an Adjustment Spread and any Benchmark Amendments (in accordance with Condition 4(o)(iii)(D)).

In making such determination, the Independent Adviser appointed pursuant to this Condition 4(o)(iii) shall act in good faith as an expert and in consultation with the Issuer. In the absence of bad faith or fraud, the Independent Adviser shall have no liability whatsoever to the Issuer, the Trustee, the Paying Agents or the Noteholders for any determination made by it, pursuant to this Condition 4(o)(iii).

- (i) the Issuer is unable to appoint an Independent Adviser; or
- (ii) the Independent Adviser fails to determine a Successor Rate or, failing which, an Alternative Rate,

in accordance with this Condition 4(o)(iii)(A) prior to the relevant Interest Determination Date, the Rate of Interest applicable to the next succeeding Interest Accrual Period shall be equal to the Rate of Interest last determined in relation to the Notes in respect of the immediately preceding Interest Accrual Period. If there has not been a first Interest Payment Date, the Rate of Interest shall be the initial Rate of Interest which would have been applicable to the Series of Notes for the first Interest Accrual Period had the Notes been in issue for a period equal in duration to the scheduled first Interest Accrual Period but ending on (and excluding) the Interest Commencement Date. Where a different Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest is to be applied to the relevant Interest Accrual Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Accrual Period, the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to the relevant Interest Accrual Period shall be substituted in place of the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to that last preceding Interest Accrual Period. For the avoidance of doubt, this paragraph shall apply to the relevant next succeeding Interest Accrual Period only and any subsequent Interest Accrual Periods are subject to the subsequent operation of, and to adjustment as provided in, the first paragraph of this Condition 4(o)(iii)(A).

- (B) Successor Rate or Alternate Rate: If the Independent Adviser determines that:
  - (i) there is a Successor Rate, then such Successor Rate and the applicable Adjustment Spread shall subsequently be used in place of the Original Reference Rate to determine the Rate of Interest (or the relevant component part thereof) for all future payments of interest on the Notes (subject to the operation of this Condition 4(o)(iii)); or
  - (ii) there is no Successor Rate but that there is an Alternative Rate, then such Alternative Rate and the applicable Adjustment Spread shall subsequently be used in place of the Original Reference Rate to determine the Rate of Interest (or the relevant component part thereof) for all future payments of interest on the Notes (subject to the operation of this Condition 4(o)(iii)).
- (C) Adjustment Spread: The Adjustment Spread (or the formula or methodology for determining the Adjustment Spread) shall be applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be). If the Independent Adviser (in consultation with the Issuer) is unable to determine the quantum of, or a formula or methodology for determining such Adjustment Spread, then the Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (as applicable) will apply without an Adjustment Spread.

- (D) **Benchmark Amendments**: If any Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and, in either case, the applicable Adjustment Spread is determined in accordance with this Condition 4(o)(iii) and the Independent Adviser (in consultation with the Issuer) determines:
  - (i) that amendments to these Conditions and/or the Trust Deed are necessary to ensure the proper operation of such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and/or (in either case) the applicable Adjustment Spread (such amendments, the "Benchmark Amendments"); and
  - (ii) the terms of the Benchmark Amendments, then the Issuer shall, subject to giving notice thereof in accordance with Condition 4(o)(iii)(E), without any requirement for the consent or approval of Noteholders, the Trustee or the Agents, vary these Conditions and/or the Trust Deed to give effect to such Benchmark Amendments with effect from the date specified in such notice.

At the request of the Issuer, but subject to receipt by the Trustee of a certificate signed by two authorized signatories of the Issuer pursuant to Condition 4(o)(iii)(E), the Trustee shall (at the expense of the Issuer), without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Noteholders, be obliged to concur with the Issuer in effecting any Benchmark Amendments (including, inter alia, by the execution of a deed supplemental to or amending the Trust Deed), provided that the Trustee shall not be obliged so to concur if in the opinion of the Trustee doing so would impose more onerous obligations upon it or expose it to any additional duties, responsibilities or liabilities or reduce or amend the protective provisions afforded to the Trustee in these Conditions or the Trust Deed (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any supplemental trust deed) in any way.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Trustee and the Issuing and Paying Agent shall, at the direction and expense of the Issuer, effect such consequential amendments to the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and these Conditions as may be required in order to give effect to this Condition 4(o)(iii)(D). Noteholders' consent shall not be required in connection with effecting of the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as applicable) or such other changes, including the execution of any documents or any steps by the Trustee or the Issuing and Paying Agent (if required). Further, none of the Trustee, Calculation Agent, Paying Agents, Registrars or the Transfer Agents shall be responsible or liable for any determinations or certifications made by the Issuer or Independent Adviser with respect to any Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (as applicable) or any other changes and shall be entitled to rely conclusively on any certifications provided to each of them in this regard.

In connection with any such variation in accordance with this Condition 4(o)(iii)(D), the Issuer shall comply with the rules of any stock exchange on which the Notes are for the time being listed or admitted to trading.

(E) **Notices**: Any Successor Rate, Alternative Rate, Adjustment Spread and the specific terms of any Benchmark Amendments, determined under this Condition 4(o)(iii) will be notified promptly by the Issuer to the Trustee, the Calculation Agent, the Paying Agents and, in accordance with Condition 16, the Noteholders and the Couponholders. Such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the effective date of the Benchmark Amendments, if any.

No later than notifying the Trustee of the same, the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee a certificate signed by two authorized signatories of the Issuer:

- (x) confirming:
  - (I) that a SORA Index Cessation Event has occurred;
  - (II) the Successor Rate or, as the case may be, the Alternative Rate;
  - (III) the applicable Adjustment Spread;
  - (IV) the specific terms of the Benchmark Amendments (if any),

in each case as determined in accordance with the provisions of this Condition 4(o)(iii); and

(y) certifying that the Benchmark Amendments (if any) are necessary to ensure the proper operation of such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and (in either case) the applicable Adjustment Spread.

The Trustee shall be entitled to rely on such certificate (without liability to any person) as sufficient evidence thereof. The Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and the Adjustment Spread and the Benchmark Amendments (if any) specified in such certificate will (in the absence of manifest error or bad faith in the determination of the Successor Rate, Alternative Rate, the Adjustment Spread or the Benchmark Amendments (if any) and without prejudice to the Trustee's ability to rely on such certificate as aforesaid) be binding on the Issuer, the Trustee, the Calculation Agent, the Paying Agents and the Noteholders.

#### (F) Definitions:

As used in this Condition 4(o)(iii):

#### "Adjustment Spread" means either:

- (a) a spread (which may be positive, negative or zero); or
- (b) a formula or methodology for calculating a spread, in each case to be applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) and is the spread, formula or methodology which:
  - (i) in the case of a Successor Rate, is formally recommended in relation to the replacement of the Original Reference Rate with the Successor Rate by any Relevant Nominating Body; or (if no such recommendation has been made, or in the case of an Alternative Rate):
  - (ii) the Independent Adviser determines as being customarily applied to the relevant Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) in debt capital markets transactions to produce an industry-accepted replacement rate for the Original Reference Rate; or (if the Independent Adviser determines that no such spread is customarily applied);

(iii) the Independent Adviser (in consultation with the Issuer) determines, and which is recognized or acknowledged as being the industry standard for over-the-counter derivative transactions which reference the Original Reference Rate, where such rate has been replaced by the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be):

"Alternative Rate" means an alternative benchmark or screen rate which the Independent Adviser, determines in accordance with Condition 4(o)(iii)(B) as being customarily applied in market usage in debt capital markets transactions for the purposes of determining rates of interest (or the relevant component part thereof) in Singapore Dollars;

"Benchmark Amendments" has the meaning given to it in Condition 4(o)(iii)(D);

"Independent Adviser" means an independent financial institution of international repute or an independent financial adviser with appropriate expertise appointed by the Issuer under Condition 4(o)(iii)(A);

"Original Reference Rate" means, initially, SORA (being the originally-specified benchmark rate used to determine SORA Benchmark and the Rate of Interest), provided that if a SORA Index Cessation Event has occurred with respect to SORA or the then-current Original Reference Rate, then "Original Reference Rate" means the applicable Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (as the case may be).

## "Relevant Nominating Body" means:

- (a) the Monetary Authority of Singapore (or any successor administrator of the Original Reference Rate); or
- (b) any working group or committee officially sponsored or endorsed by, chaired or co-chaired by or constituted at the request of the Monetary Authority of Singapore (or any successor administrator of the Original Reference Rate).

"SORA Index Cessation Event" means the occurrence of one or more of the following events:

- (i) the Original Reference Rate ceasing to be published for a period of at least five Singapore Business Days or ceasing to exist; or
- (ii) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the Monetary Authority of Singapore (or a successor administrator of the Original Reference Rate), the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Original Reference Rate, the central bank for the currency of the Original Reference Rate, an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the administrator of the Original Reference Rate, a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator of the Original Reference Rate or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator of the Original Reference Rate, announcing that the administrator of the Original Reference Rate has ceased or will cease to provide the Original Reference Rate permanently or indefinitely, and such cessation is reasonably expected by the Issuer to occur prior to the Maturity Date, provided that, at the time of the statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the Original Reference Rate; or

- (iii) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Original Reference Rate announcing that the Original Reference Rate has been or will be permanently or indefinitely discontinued and such discontinuation is reasonably expected by the Issuer to occur prior to the Maturity Date; or
- (iv) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the Monetary Authority of Singapore (or the supervisor of a successor administrator of the Original Reference Rate) as a consequence of which the Original Reference Rate will be prohibited from being used either generally, or in respect of the Notes, and such prohibition is reasonably expected by the Issuer to occur prior to the Maturity Date; or
- (v) a public statement by or on behalf of the Monetary Authority of Singapore (or the supervisor of a successor administrator of the Original Reference Rate) that the Original Reference Rate is or will be (or is or will be deemed by such supervisor to be) no longer representative of its relevant underlying market,

provided that the SORA Index Cessation Event shall be deemed to occur (a) in the case of sub-paragraphs (ii) and (iii) above, on the date of the cessation of publication of the Original Reference Rate or the discontinuation of the Original Reference Rate, as the case may be, (b) in the case of sub-paragraph (iv) above, on the date of the prohibition of use of the Original Reference Rate and (c) in the case of sub-paragraph (v) above, on the date with effect from which the Original Reference Rate will no longer be (or will be deemed by the relevant supervisor to no longer be) representative of its relevant underlying market and which is specified in the relevant public statement, and, in each case, not the date of the relevant public statement.

The occurrence of a SORA Index Cessation Event shall be determined by the Issuer and promptly notified to the Trustee, the Calculation Agent and the Paying Agents. For the avoidance of doubt, neither the Trustee, the Calculation Agent nor the Paying Agents shall have any responsibility for making such determination; and

"Successor Rate" means a successor to or replacement of the Original Reference Rate which is formally recommended by any Relevant Nominating Body as the replacement of the Original Reference Rate (which rate may be produced by the Monetary Authority of Singapore or such other administrator).

#### (iv) Qualification as Tier 2 Capital Securities

Notwithstanding any other provision of Conditions 4(o)(i)(D), 4(o)(ii)(B) or 4(o)(ii)(C) or 4(o)(iii)(D) (as applicable), no Successor Rate, Alternative Rate or Benchmark Replacement (as the case may be) will be adopted, nor will the applicable Adjustment Spread or Benchmark Replacement Adjustment (as the case may be) be applied, nor will any Benchmark Amendments or Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes (as the case may be) be made, if and to the extent that, in the determination of the Issuer, the same could reasonably be expected to prejudice the qualification of the Notes as Tier 2 Capital Securities and/or the Notes as eligible liabilities or loss absorbing capacity instruments for the purposes of any applicable loss absorption regulations.

## 5 Redemption, Purchase and Options

## (a) Redemption by Installments and Final Redemption:

- i) Unless previously redeemed, purchased and canceled as provided in this Condition 5, each Note that provides for Installment Dates and Installment Amounts shall be partially redeemed on each Installment Date at the related Installment Amount specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. The outstanding nominal amount of each such Note shall be reduced by the Installment Amount (or, if such Installment Amount is calculated by reference to a proportion of the nominal amount of such Note, such proportion) for all purposes with effect from the related Installment Date, unless payment of the Installment Amount is improperly withheld or refused, in which case, such amount shall remain outstanding until the Relevant Date relating to such Installment Amount.
- (ii) Unless otherwise provided in the applicable Pricing Supplement and unless previously redeemed, purchased and canceled as provided below, each Note shall be finally redeemed on the Maturity Date specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement at its Final Redemption Amount (which, unless otherwise provided in the applicable Pricing Supplement, is its nominal amount) or, in the case of a Note falling within Condition 5(a)(i), its final Installment Amount.

#### (b) Early Redemption:

#### (i) Zero Coupon Notes:

- (A) The Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Zero Coupon Note, the Early Redemption Amount of which is not linked to an index and/or a formula, upon redemption of such Note pursuant to Condition 5(c) or upon it becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 10 shall be the "Amortized Face Amount" (calculated as provided below) of such Note unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.
- (B) Subject to the provisions of Condition 5(b)(i)(C), the Amortized Face Amount of any such Note shall be the scheduled Final Redemption Amount of such Note on the Maturity Date discounted at a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Amortization Yield (which, if none is shown in the applicable Pricing Supplement, shall be such rate as would produce an Amortized Face Amount equal to the issue price of the Notes if they were discounted back to their issue price on the Issue Date) compounded annually.
- (C) If the Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any such Note upon its redemption pursuant to Condition 5(c) or upon it becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 10 is not paid when due, the Early Redemption Amount due and payable in respect of such Note shall be the Amortized Face Amount of such Note as defined in Condition 5(b)(i)(B), except that such Condition shall have effect as though the date on which the Note becomes due and payable were the Relevant Date. The calculation of the Amortized Face Amount in accordance with this Condition 5(b)(i)(C) shall continue to be made (both before and after judgment) until the Relevant Date, unless the Relevant Date falls on or after the Maturity Date, in which case the amount due and payable shall be the scheduled Final Redemption Amount of such Note on the Maturity Date together with any interest that may accrue in accordance with Condition 4(c).

Where such calculation is to be made for a period of less than one year, it shall be made on the basis of the Day Count Fraction shown in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

(ii) Other Notes: The Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Note (other than Notes described in (i) above), upon redemption of such Note pursuant to Condition 5(c) or upon it becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 10, shall be the Final Redemption Amount unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

#### (c) Redemption for Taxation Reasons:

(i) Senior Notes: The Senior Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part, (the "Senior Notes Optional Tax Redemption") on any Interest Payment Date (if this Senior Note is either a Floating Rate Note or an Index Linked Note) or at any time (if this Senior Note is neither a Floating Rate Note nor an Index Linked Note), on giving not less than 15 days' notice to the Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable) at their Early Redemption Amount (as described in Condition 5(b)) together with interest accrued but unpaid (if any) to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption or, if the Early Redemption Amount is not specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, at their nominal amount, together with interest accrued but unpaid (if any) to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption, if (aa) the Issuer has paid or will or would on the next payment date be required to pay any Additional Amounts (as defined in Condition 8) as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of a Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction (as defined in Condition 8) or any political subdivision or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax (or any taxing authority of any taxing jurisdiction in which the Issuer is a tax resident) or any generally published application or interpretation of such laws or regulations by any such relevant tax authority or any generally published pronouncement by any such tax authority, including a decision of any court or tribunal in any such jurisdiction, or the Notes do not qualify as "qualifying debt securities" for the purposes of the Income Tax Act 1947 of Singapore (the "Income Tax Act") which change or amendment becomes effective on or after the date on which agreement is reached to issue the first Tranche of the Senior Notes, and (bb) such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking measures reasonably available to it, provided that, where the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay Additional Amounts, no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such Additional Amounts were a payment in respect of the Senior Notes then due.

Before the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition 5(c)(i), the Issuer shall deliver to (i) if the subject of the Senior Notes Optional Tax Redemption is Senior Notes other than AMTNs, the Trustee or (ii) if the subject of the Senior Notes Optional Tax Redemption is AMTNs, the Australian Agent, a certificate signed by two authorized signatories of OCBC (and in the case of any other Issuer, one authorized signatory of such Issuer) stating that the payment of Additional Amounts cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it and the Trustee or the Australian Agent, as the case may be, shall be entitled to accept such certificate without any further inquiry as sufficient evidence of the satisfaction of Conditions 5(c)(i)(aa) and (bb) without liability to any person in which event it shall be conclusive and binding on the relevant Noteholders, Receiptholders and Couponholders. The Australian Agent will make such certificate available to the holders of the relevant AMTNs for inspection. Upon expiry of such notice, the Issuer shall redeem such Senior Notes in accordance with this Condition 5(c)(i).

- (ii) Subordinated Notes: Subject to Condition 5(m), the Subordinated Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part, on any Interest Payment Date (if this Subordinated Note is a Floating Rate Note) or at any time (if this Subordinated Note is not a Floating Rate Note), on giving not less than 15 days' notice to the Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable) at their Early Redemption Amount (as described in Condition 5(b)) together with interest accrued but unpaid (if any) to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption or, if the Early Redemption Amount is not specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, at their nominal amount, together with interest accrued but unpaid (if any) to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption, if:
  - (A) the Issuer has paid or will or would on the next payment date be required to pay Additional Amounts (as defined in Condition 8); or
  - (B) payments of interest on the Subordinated Notes will or would be treated as "distributions" or dividends within the meaning of the Income Tax Act or any other act in respect of or relating to Singapore taxation or would otherwise be considered as payments of a type that are non-deductible for Singapore income tax purposes; or
  - (C) the Subordinated Notes do not qualify as "qualifying debt securities" for the purposes of the Income Tax Act,

in each case as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of a Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction or any political subdivision or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax (or any taxing authority of any taxing jurisdiction in which the Issuer is a tax resident) or any generally published application or interpretation of such laws or regulations by any such relevant tax authority or any generally published pronouncement by any such tax authority, including a decision of any court or tribunal in any such jurisdiction, which change or amendment becomes effective on or after the date on which agreement is reached to issue the Subordinated Notes, and such obligations cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking measures reasonably available to it, provided that, where the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay Additional Amounts, no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such Additional Amounts were a payment in respect of the Subordinated Notes then due.

Before the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition 5(c)(ii), the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee a certificate signed by two authorized signatories of OCBC (and in the case of any other Issuer, one authorized signatory of such Issuer) stating that the payment of Additional Amounts, or that the non-deductibility of the payments of interest for Singapore income tax purposes, as the case may be, cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it and the Trustee shall be entitled to accept such certificate without any further inquiry as sufficient evidence of the satisfaction of this Condition 5(c)(ii) without liability to any person in which event it shall be conclusive and binding on Noteholders. Upon expiry of such notice, the Issuer shall redeem the Subordinated Notes in accordance with this Condition 5(c)(ii).

Any redemption of the Subordinated Notes by the Issuer pursuant to this Condition 5(c)(ii) is subject to the Issuer obtaining the prior approval of MAS.

## (d) Redemption at the option of the Issuer:

Senior Notes: If Call Option is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as applicable, the Issuer may, on giving not less than 15 but not more than 30 days' irrevocable notice to the Noteholders (or such other notice period as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) redeem all or, if so provided, some of the Senior Notes on the date(s) specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement (the "Senior Notes Optional Redemption Date"). Any such redemption of Senior Notes shall be at the Optional Redemption Amount specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement together with interest accrued but unpaid (if any) to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption or, if no Optional Redemption Amount is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, at their nominal amount together with interest accrued but unpaid (if any) to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption, in accordance with these Conditions. Any such redemption or exercise must relate to Senior Notes of a nominal amount at least equal to the Minimum Redemption Amount to be redeemed specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and no greater than the Maximum Redemption Amount to be redeemed specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

All Senior Notes in respect of which any such notice is given shall be redeemed on the date specified in such notice in accordance with this Condition 5(d)(i).

In the case of a partial redemption of Senior Notes other than AMTNs, the notice to Noteholders shall also contain the certificate numbers of the Bearer Notes, or in the case of Registered Notes shall specify the nominal amount of Registered Notes drawn and the holder(s) of such Registered Notes, to be redeemed, which shall have been drawn in such place as the Trustee may approve and in such manner as it deems appropriate, subject to compliance with any applicable laws and stock exchange or other relevant authority requirements.

In the case of a partial redemption of AMTNs, the AMTNs to be redeemed must be specified in the notice and selected (i) in a fair and reasonable manner; and (ii) in compliance with any applicable law, directive or requirement of any stock exchange or other relevant authority on which the AMTNs are listed.

(ii) Subordinated Notes: Subject to Condition 5(m), and unless otherwise specified in the Pricing Supplement, if Call Option is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as applicable, the Issuer may, on giving not less than 15 days' irrevocable notice to the Noteholders, elect to redeem all, but not some only, of the Subordinated Notes on (i) the relevant First Call Date specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement (which shall not be less than 5 years from the Issue Date); and (ii) any Interest Payment Date following such First Call Date at their Optional Redemption Amount specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement or, if no Optional Redemption Amount is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, at their nominal amount together with interest accrued but unpaid (if any) to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption in accordance with these Conditions.

All Subordinated Notes in respect of which any such notice is given shall be redeemed on the date specified in such notice in accordance with this Condition 5(d)(ii).

The Maturity Date of the Subordinated Notes will not be less than five years from the Issue Date. Any redemption of the Subordinated Notes by the Issuer pursuant to this Condition 5(d)(ii) is subject to the Issuer obtaining the prior approval of MAS.

(e) Redemption at the option of holders of Senior Notes: If Put Option is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the Issuer shall, at the option of the holder of any such Senior Note, upon the holder of such Senior Note giving not less than 15 but not more than 30 days' notice to the Issuer (or such other notice period as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) redeem such Senior Note on the Optional Redemption Date(s) at the Optional Redemption Amount stated in the applicable Pricing Supplement together with interest accrued but unpaid (if any) to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption.

To exercise such option the holder must deposit (in the case of Bearer Notes) such Senior Note (together with all unmatured Receipts and Coupons and unexchanged Talons) with any Paying Agent or (in the case of Registered Notes other than AMTNs) the Certificate representing such Senior Note(s) with the Registrar or any Transfer Agent at its specified office, together with a duly completed option exercise notice ("Exercise Notice") in the form obtainable from any Paying Agent, the Registrar or any Transfer Agent (as applicable) within the notice period. No such Senior Note so deposited and option exercised may be withdrawn (except as provided in the Agency Agreement) without the prior consent of the Issuer.

Unless otherwise provided in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the Subordinated Notes are not redeemable prior to the Maturity Date at the option of the Noteholders.

Purchase at the option of Noteholders of Senior Notes: If VRN Purchase Option is (f) specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, each Noteholder shall have the option to have all or any of its Variable Rate Notes purchased by the Issuer at their nominal amount on any Interest Payment Date (as defined in Condition 4(n)) and the Issuer will purchase such Variable Rate Notes accordingly. To exercise such option, a Noteholder shall deposit any Variable Rate Notes to be purchased, together with all Coupons relating to such Variable Rate Notes which mature after the date fixed for purchase, together with a duly completed option exercise notice in the form obtainable from the Paying Agent, not later than 5.00 p.m. (Singapore time) on the last day of the VRN Purchase Option Period shown on the face hereof. Any Variable Rate Notes so deposited may not be withdrawn. Such Variable Rate Notes may be held, resold or surrendered to the Paying Agent for cancelation. The Variable Rate Notes so purchased, while held by or on behalf of the Issuer, shall not entitle the holder to vote at any meetings of the Noteholders and shall not be deemed to be outstanding for the purposes of calculating quorums at meetings of the Noteholders or for the purposes of Condition 11(a).

If Purchase Option is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, each Noteholder shall have the option to have all or any of its Notes purchased by the Issuer at their nominal amount on any date on which interest is due to be paid on such Notes and the Issuer will purchase such Notes accordingly. To exercise such option, a Noteholder shall deposit any such Notes to be purchased, together with all Coupons relating to such Notes which mature after the date fixed for purchase, together with a duly completed option exercise notice in the form obtainable from the Paying Agent, not later than 5.00 p.m. (Singapore time) on the last day of the Purchase Option shown on the face hereof. Any such Notes so deposited may not be withdrawn. Such Notes may be held, resold or surrendered to the Paying Agent for cancelation. The Notes so purchased, while held by or on behalf of the Issuer, shall not entitle the holder to vote at any meetings of the Noteholders and shall not be deemed to be outstanding for the purposes of calculating quorums at meetings of the Noteholders or for the purposes of Condition 11(a).

- (g) Redemption for Change of Qualification Event in respect of Subordinated Notes: Subject to Condition 5(m), if as a result of a change or amendment to the relevant requirements issued by MAS, or any change in, or amendment to, the application of official or generally accepted and published interpretation of such relevant requirements issued by MAS or any relevant supervisory authority having jurisdiction over the Issuer, including a ruling or notice issued by MAS or any such relevant supervisory authority, or any interpretation or pronouncement by MAS or any such relevant supervisory authority that provides for a position with respect to such requirements issued by MAS that differs from the previously published official or such generally accepted and published interpretation in relation to similar transactions or which differs from any specific written statements made by MAS or any relevant supervisory authority having jurisdiction over the Issuer in relation to:
  - (i) the qualification of the Subordinated Notes as Tier 2 Capital Securities; or
  - (ii) the inclusion of any Subordinated Notes in the calculation of the capital adequacy ratio,

in each case, of the Issuer (either on a consolidated or unconsolidated basis) ("**Eligible Capital**"), which change or amendment:

- (x) becomes, or would become, effective on or after the Issue Date; or
- (y) in the case of a change or amendment to the relevant requirements issued by MAS

or any relevant authority, if such change or amendment is expected to be issued by MAS or any relevant supervisory authority on or after the Issue Date,

the relevant Subordinated Notes (in whole or in part) would not qualify as Eligible Capital of the Issuer (excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, non-qualification solely by virtue of the Issuer already having, or coming to have, an issue of securities with an aggregate principal amount up to or in excess of the limit of Tier 2 Capital Securities permitted pursuant to the relevant legislation and statutory guidelines in force as at the Issue Date) (a "Change of Qualification Event"), then the Issuer may, having given not less than 15 days' prior written notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 16 (which notice shall be irrevocable), redeem in accordance with these Conditions on any Interest Payment Date (if this Subordinated Note is at the relevant time a Floating Rate Note) or at any time (if this Subordinated Note is at the relevant time not a Floating Rate Note) all, but not some only, of the relevant Subordinated Notes, at their Early Redemption Amount or, if no Early Redemption Amount is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, at their nominal amount together with interest accrued but unpaid (if any) to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption in accordance with these Conditions.

Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition 5(g), the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee a certificate signed by two authorized signatories of OCBC (and in the case of any other Issuer, one authorized signatory of such Issuer) stating that a Change of Qualification Event has occurred and the Trustee shall be entitled to accept such certificate without any further inquiry as sufficient evidence of the satisfaction of the conditions set out above without liability to any person in which event it shall be conclusive and binding on the Noteholders. Upon expiry of such notice, the Issuer shall redeem the Subordinated Notes in accordance with this Condition 5(g).

Any redemption of the Subordinated Notes by the Issuer pursuant to this Condition 5(g) is subject to the Issuer obtaining the prior approval of MAS.

#### (h) Variation of Subordinated Notes:

Subject to Condition 5(m), where this Condition 5(h) is specified as being applicable in the applicable Pricing Supplement for the relevant Subordinated Notes, the Issuer may at any time, without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Noteholders and having given not less than 15 days' notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 16 (which notice shall be irrevocable), vary the terms of those Subordinated Notes, where such variation does not result in terms that are materially less favorable to the Noteholders and so that they remain or, as appropriate, become Qualifying Securities and provided further that:

- (i) such variation does not itself give rise to any right of the Issuer to redeem the varied securities that is inconsistent with the redemption provisions of those Subordinated Notes:
- (ii) neither a Tax Event nor a Capital Event arises as a result of such variation; and
- (iii) the Issuer is in compliance with the rules of any stock exchange on which the Subordinated Notes are for the time being listed or admitted to trading.

In order to give effect to a variation pursuant to this Condition 5(h), the Issuer and the Trustee shall take all such steps, including executing any supplemental deed, as may be necessary or desirable to give effect to such variation. For the avoidance of doubt, the Trustee shall not be responsible or liable for verifying or certifying whether any of the provisions of this Condition 5(h) have been complied with nor incur any liability whatsoever for any failure to do so.

Any variation (to the extent that any variation would affect the eligibility of the Subordinated Notes as Tier 2 Capital Securities) of the Subordinated Notes by the Issuer pursuant to this Condition 5(h) is subject to the Issuer obtaining the prior approval of MAS.

In this Condition 5(h):

- "Additional Amounts" means such additional amounts the Issuer shall pay as will result (after withholding or deduction) in receipt by the Noteholders of the sums which would have been receivable (in the absence of such withholding or deduction) from it in respect of their Subordinated Notes;
- a "Capital Event" will be deemed to have occurred if any Subordinated Notes are not, or cease to be, eligible in their entirety to be treated as Tier 2 Capital Securities of the relevant Issuer;
- "Qualifying Securities" means securities, whether debt, equity, interests in limited partnerships or otherwise, issued directly or indirectly by the Issuer that:
- (i) qualify (in whole or in part) as Tier 2 Capital Securities; or
- (j) may be included (in whole or in part) in the calculation of the capital adequacy ratio,
  - in each case of (x) the Issuer, on an unconsolidated basis, or (y) the Issuer and its subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis;

- (iv) shall:
  - (A) include a ranking at least equal to that of the Subordinated Notes;
  - (B) have at least the same interest rate and the same Interest Payment Dates as those from time to time applying to the Subordinated Notes;
  - (C) have the same redemption rights as the Subordinated Notes;
  - (D) preserve any existing rights under the Subordinated Notes to any accrued interest which has not been paid in respect of the period from (and including) the Interest Payment Date last preceding the date of variation; and
  - if applicable, are assigned (or maintain) the same or higher credit ratings as were assigned to the Subordinated Notes immediately prior to such variation; and
- (v) are listed on the SGX-ST (or such other stock exchange approved by the Trustee) if the Subordinated Notes were listed immediately prior to such variation; and

a "Tax Event" is deemed to have occurred if, in making any payments on any Subordinated Notes, the Issuer has paid or will or would on the next payment date be required to pay any Additional Amounts or payments of interest on the Subordinated Notes will or would be treated as "distributions" or dividends within the meaning of the Income Tax Act or any other act in respect of or relating to Singapore taxation or would otherwise be considered as payments of a type that are non-deductible for Singapore income tax purposes, in each case under the laws or regulations of a Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction (as defined in Condition 8) or any political subdivision or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax (or any taxing authority of any taxing jurisdiction in which the Issuer is a tax resident) or any generally published application or interpretation of such laws or regulations by any relevant tax authority or any generally published pronouncement by any such tax authority, including a decision of any court or tribunal in any such jurisdiction, and the Issuer cannot avoid the foregoing by taking measures reasonably available to it.

If a variation has occurred pursuant to, or otherwise in accordance with, this Condition 5(h), such event will not constitute a Default under these Conditions.

- (k) Partly Paid Notes: If the Notes are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being Partly Paid Notes, such Notes will be redeemed, whether at maturity, early redemption or otherwise, in accordance with the provisions of this Condition 5 and the provisions specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.
- (I) **Purchases**: The Issuer and any of its subsidiaries (with the prior approval of MAS, for so long as the Issuer is required to obtain such approval, in the case of Subordinated Notes) may at any time purchase Notes (provided that all unmatured Receipts and Coupons and unexchanged Talons relating thereto are attached thereto or surrendered therewith) in the open market or otherwise at any price in accordance with all relevant laws and regulations and, for so long as the Notes are listed, the requirements of the relevant stock exchange. The Issuer or any such subsidiary may, at its option, retain such purchased Notes for its own account and/or resell or cancel or otherwise deal with them at its discretion.

(m) Cancelation: All Notes purchased by or on behalf of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries may be surrendered for cancelation, in the case of Bearer Notes, by surrendering each such Note together with all unmatured Receipts and Coupons and all unexchanged Talons to the Issuing and Paying Agent and, in the case of Registered Notes (other than AMTNs), by surrendering the Certificate representing such Notes to the Registrar and, in each case, if so surrendered, shall, together with all Notes redeemed by the Issuer, be canceled forthwith (together with all unmatured Receipts and Coupons and unexchanged Talons attached thereto or surrendered therewith). Any Notes so surrendered for cancelation may not be reissued or resold and the obligations of the Issuer in respect of any such Notes shall be discharged. Any Subordinated Note that is Written-off in full in accordance with Condition 6 or converted in full if and as described in the applicable Pricing Supplement shall be automatically canceled.

If any AMTN represented by an AMTN Certificate is redeemed or purchased and canceled in accordance with this Condition 5 then (i) the applicable AMTN Certificate will be deemed to be surrendered and canceled without any further formality, and (ii) where some, but not all, of the AMTNs represented by that AMTN Certificate are so redeemed, the Issuer will, promptly and without charge, issue and deliver, and procure the authentication by the Australian Agent of, a new AMTN Certificate in respect of those AMTNs that had been represented by the original AMTN Certificate and which remain outstanding following such redemption.

- (n) No Obligation to Monitor: In the case of Notes other than AMTNs, the Trustee shall not be under any duty to monitor whether any event or circumstance has happened or exists within this Condition 5 and will not be responsible to the Noteholders, Receiptholders or Couponholders for any loss arising from any failure by it to do so. Unless and until the Trustee has notice in writing of the occurrence of any event or circumstance within this Condition 5, it shall be entitled to assume that no such event or circumstance exists.
- (o) Redemption or Variation of Subordinated Notes: Without prejudice to any provision in this Condition 5, any redemption pursuant to Condition 5(c)(ii), Condition 5(d)(ii) or Condition 5(g) or variation pursuant to Condition 5(h) (to the extent that any variation would affect the eligibility of the Subordinated Notes as Tier 2 Capital Securities) of Subordinated Notes by the Issuer is subject to the Issuer obtaining the prior approval of MAS.

These Conditions may be amended, modified or varied in relation to any Series of Notes by the terms of the applicable Pricing Supplement in relation to such Series.

# 6 Loss Absorption upon a Trigger Event and Bail-in Power in respect of Subordinated Notes

(a) The applicable Pricing Supplement will specify whether "Write-off" or "Conversion" applies as the relevant Loss Absorption Option upon the occurrence of a Trigger Event in relation to the Subordinated Notes to which it relates. If "Write-off" is specified, the provisions of Conditions 6(b) and (c) shall apply. If "Conversion" is specified, the terms applicable thereto will be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

## (b) Write-off on a Trigger Event:

(i) If "Write-off" is specified as the Loss Absorption Option in the applicable Pricing Supplement for any Subordinated Notes and if a Trigger Event occurs, the Issuer shall, upon the issue of a Trigger Event Notice, irrevocably and without the need for the consent of the Trustee or the holders of any Subordinated Notes, procure

that the Registrar shall reduce the principal amount and cancel any accrued but unpaid interest of each Subordinated Note (in whole or in part) by an amount equal to the Trigger Event Write-off Amount per Subordinated Note (a "Write-off", and "Written-off" shall be construed accordingly). Once any principal or interest under a Subordinated Note has been Written-off, it will be extinguished and will not be restored in any circumstances, including where the relevant Trigger Event ceases to continue. No Noteholder may exercise, claim or plead any right to any Trigger Event Write-off Amount, and each Noteholder shall be deemed to have waived all such rights to such Trigger Event Write-off Amount. For the avoidance of doubt, any Write-off in accordance with this Condition 6 shall not constitute a Default (as defined below).

- (ii) If a Trigger Event Notice has been given in respect of any Subordinated Notes in accordance with this Condition 6(b), transfers of any such Subordinated Notes that are the subject of such notice shall not be permitted during the Suspension Period. From the date on which a Trigger Event Notice in respect of any Subordinated Notes in accordance with this Condition 6(b) is issued by the Issuer to the end of the Suspension Period, the Trustee and the Registrar shall not register any attempted transfer of any Subordinated Notes and such an attempted transfer will not be effective.
- (iii) Any reference in these Conditions to principal in respect of the Subordinated Notes shall refer to the principal amount of the Subordinated Note(s), reduced by any applicable Write-off(s).

Any Write-off of Subordinated Notes or any cancelation, modification, conversion or change in form as a result of the exercise of the MAS's powers under Division 4A of Part IVB of the MAS Act is subject to the availability of procedures to effect the Write-off in the relevant clearing systems. For the avoidance of doubt, however, any Write-off of any Subordinated Notes, or the giving of effect of a Bail-in Certificate with respect to the Issuer, under this Condition 6 will be effective upon the date that the Issuer specifies in the Trigger Event Notice or in the notice of issue of a Bail-in Certificate (or as may otherwise be notified in writing to Subordinated Noteholders, the Trustee and Agents by the Issuer) notwithstanding any inability to operationally effect any such Write-off or cancelation, modification, conversion or change in form as a result of the exercise of the MAS's powers under Division 4A of Part IVB of the MAS Act in the relevant clearing system(s).

#### (c) Multiple Trigger Events and Write-offs in part:

- (i) Where only part of the principal and/or interest of Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities or Tier 2 Capital Securities of the Issuer is to be Written-off, the Issuer shall use reasonable endeavors to conduct any Write-off such that:
  - (A) holders of any Series of Subordinated Notes are treated ratably and equally;
  - (B) the Write-off of any Subordinated Notes is conducted only to the extent that the Trigger Event Write-off Amount (as applicable) exceeds the aggregate nominal amount of all Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities of the Issuer that are capable of being written-off or converted under any applicable laws and/or their terms of issue analogous to these conditions, so as to Write-off Tier 2 Capital Securities of the Issuer (including the Subordinated Notes) in an aggregate nominal amount equal to the amount of that excess; and

(C) the Write-off of any Subordinated Notes is conducted on a pro rata and proportionate basis with all other Tier 2 Capital Securities of the Issuer, to the extent that such Tier 2 Capital Securities are capable of being written-off or converted under any applicable laws and/or their terms of issue analogous to these Conditions.

Any loss absorption action to be taken in respect of any Common Equity Tier 1 Capital shall not be required before a Write-off or conversion (if applicable) of any Subordinated Notes can be effected in accordance with these Conditions.

(ii) Any Series of Subordinated Notes may be subject to one or more Write-offs in part (as the case may be), except where such Series of Subordinated Notes has been Written-off in its entirety.

#### (d) Bail-in Power in respect of Subordinated Notes

Notwithstanding any other term of the Subordinated Notes, including without limitation Condition 6(b), or any other agreement or arrangement, the Subordinated Notes may be subject to cancelation, modification, conversion, change in form, or have the effect as if a right of modification, conversion, or change of form had been exercised by the MAS in the exercise of the MAS's powers under Division 4A of Part IVB of the MAS Act without prior notice. The Trustee (on behalf of the holders of Subordinated Notes) and each holder of a Subordinated Note shall be subject, and shall be deemed to agree, to be bound by and acknowledge that they are each subject to, having the Subordinated Notes being the subject of the exercise of the MAS's powers under Division 4A of Part IVB of the MAS Act. Further, the Trustee (on behalf of the holders of Subordinated Notes) and each holder of a Subordinated Note shall be deemed to agree to be bound by a Bail-in Certificate.

The rights of the holders of Subordinated Notes and the Trustee (on behalf of the holders of Subordinated Notes) under the Subordinated Notes and these Conditions are subject to, and will be amended and varied (if necessary), solely to give effect to, the exercise of the MAS's powers under Division 4A of Part IVB of the MAS Act.

No repayment of any outstanding principal amount of any Subordinated Notes or payment of any interest on any Subordinated Notes shall become due and payable or be paid after the exercise of the MAS's powers under Division 4A of Part IVB of the MAS Act unless, at the time that such repayment or payment, respectively, is scheduled to become due, such repayment or payment would be permitted to be made by the Issuer under the laws and regulations applicable to the Issuer.

Upon the issue of a Bail-in Certificate with respect to the Subordinated Notes, the Issuer shall provide written notice of such Bail-in Certificate to the holders of Subordinated Notes and the Trustee in accordance with Condition 16 not more than two Business Days after the issue of such Bail-in Certificate.

Neither the cancelation, modification, conversion or change in form of the Subordinated Notes as a result of the exercise of the MAS's powers under Division 4A of Part IVB of the MAS Act with respect to the Issuer or the Subordinated Notes shall constitute a Default under Condition 10(b).

#### (e) **Definitions**:

In this Condition 6:

"Bail-in Certificate" means a bail-in certificate issued pursuant to Section 75 of the MAS Act;

#### "Common Equity Tier 1 Capital" means:

- (i) any security issued by the Issuer; or
- (ii) any other similar instrument issued by any subsidiary of the Issuer,

that, in each case, constitutes Common Equity Tier 1 Capital of the Issuer, on an unconsolidated basis, pursuant to the relevant requirements set out in MAS Notice 637;

"Loss Absorption Option" means such loss absorption option as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement in respect of any Subordinated Notes;

"MAS Act" means the Monetary Authority of Singapore Act 1970 of Singapore, as amended;

"Trigger Event" means the earlier of:

- (i) MAS notifying the Issuer in writing that it is of the opinion that a Write-off or conversion is necessary, without which the Issuer would become non-viable; and
- (ii) a decision by MAS to make a public sector injection of capital, or equivalent support, without which the Issuer would have become non-viable, as determined by MAS;

"Trigger Event Notice" means the notice specifying that a Trigger Event has occurred, which shall be issued by the Issuer not more than two Business Days after the occurrence of a Trigger Event to the holders of the Subordinated Notes, the Trustee and the Issuing and Paying Agent in accordance with Condition 16 and which shall state with reasonable detail the nature of the relevant Trigger Event and, if applicable, specify, as applicable (A) the Trigger Event Write-off Amount per Subordinated Note to be Written-off or (B) details of any conversion consistent with any mechanics specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. For the purposes of this definition, a Trigger Event Notice shall be deemed to be delivered on a Business Day if it is received by the Trustee at its principal place of business and by the Issuing and Paying Agent and the Registrar at their respective specified offices during normal business hours; and

"Trigger Event Write-off Amount" means the amount of interest and/or principal to be Written-off, as the MAS may direct, or as the Issuer (in accordance with the MAS) determines is required to be Written-off for the Trigger Event to cease to continue. For the avoidance of doubt, the Write-off will be effected in full even in the event that the amount Written-off is not sufficient for the Trigger Event to cease to continue.

#### (f) Role of the Issuer, the Trustee and the Agents:

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary that may be set out in these Conditions, the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, the applicable Pricing Supplement or any other document relating to the Subordinated Notes:

- (i) neither the Trustee nor any Agent shall be under any duty to determine, monitor or report whether a Trigger Event has occurred or circumstances exist which may lead to the occurrence of a Trigger Event and will not be responsible or liable to the Noteholders or any other person for any loss arising from any failure by it to do so, except where such failure is due to the fraud, negligence or willful misconduct of the Trustee or such Agent. Unless and until the Trustee and the Issuing and Paying Agent receive a Trigger Event Notice in accordance with this Condition 6 and the other Agents are expressly notified in writing, each of them shall be entitled to assume that no such event or circumstance has occurred or exists;
- (ii) each of the Trustee and each Agent shall be entitled without further enquiry and without liability to any Noteholder or any other person to rely on any Trigger Event Notice and such Trigger Event Notice shall be conclusive evidence of the occurrence of the Trigger Event and conclusive and binding on Noteholders;
- (iii) neither the Trustee nor any Agent shall be under any duty to determine or calculate, or verify any determination or calculation of or relating to, any Trigger Event Write-off Amount and will not be responsible or liable to the Noteholders or any other person for any loss arising from any failure by it to do so, except where such failure is due to the fraud, negligence or willful misconduct of the Trustee or such Agent;
- (iv) each of the Trustee, the Agents, Euroclear, Clearstream, CDP, DTC and any other relevant clearing system shall be entitled without further enquiry and without liability to any Noteholder or any other person to rely on any Trigger Event Notice and the Trigger Event Write-off Amount specified therein shall, as to the amount of interest and/or principal to be Written-off, be conclusive and binding on Noteholders;
- (v) as long as such Subordinated Notes are held in global form, neither the Trustee nor any Agent shall, in any circumstances, be responsible or liable to the Issuer, the Noteholders or any other person for any act, omission or default by Euroclear, Clearstream, CDP, DTC or any other relevant clearing system, or its respective participants, members, any broker-dealer or any other relevant third party with respect to the notification and/or implementation of any Write-off by any of them in respect of such Subordinated Notes;
- (vi) once the Issuer has delivered a Trigger Event Notice to the Trustee pursuant to this Condition 6:
  - (A) the Trustee shall not be obliged to take any action pursuant to any direction, instruction or request provided to it pursuant to an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Trust Deed) or a resolution passed at a meeting of Noteholders; and
  - (B) any direction, instruction or request given to the Trustee pursuant to an Extraordinary Resolution or a resolution passed at a meeting of Noteholders prior to the date of the Trigger Event Notice shall cease automatically and shall be null and void and of no further effect.

provided that any action taken by the Trustee in respect of any such Subordinated Notes shall only be taken after the relevant Suspension Period;

- (vii) the Issuer, the Trustee and each Agent shall, without the need for the consent or approval of the holders of any Subordinated Notes (or any further action or direction on the part of Noteholders), take any and all such steps in accordance with the Agency Agreement as may be necessary or desirable to give effect to any Trigger Event and any Write-off following the occurrence of the Trigger Event and to reflect the same in the records of Euroclear, Clearstream, CDP, DTC or any other relevant clearing system; and
- (viii) the Trust Deed and Agency Agreement contain certain other protections and disclaimers as applicable to the Trustee and Agents in relation to Condition 6 and each Noteholder shall be deemed to have authorized, directed and requested the Trustee, the Registrar and the other Agents, as the case may be, to take any and all such steps as may be necessary or desirable to give effect to any Trigger Event and any Write-off following the occurrence of the Trigger Event.

## 7 Payments and Talons

- (a) **Bearer Notes not held in CMU**: Payments of principal and interest in respect of Bearer Notes not held in CMU shall, subject as mentioned below, be made against presentation and surrender of the relevant Receipts (in the case of payments of Installment Amounts other than on the due date for redemption and provided that the Receipt is presented for payment together with its relevant Note), Notes (in the case of all other payments of principal and, in the case of interest, as specified in Condition 7(h)(vi)) or Coupons (in the case of interest, save as specified in Condition 7(h)(ii)), as the case may be:
  - (i) in the case of a currency other than Renminbi, at the specified office of any Paying Agent outside the United States by a cheque payable in the relevant currency drawn on, or, at the option of the holder, by transfer to an account denominated in such currency with, a Bank; and
  - (ii) in the case of Renminbi where the Notes are cleared through CDP, by transfer to a Renminbi account maintained by or on behalf of a Noteholder with a bank in Singapore or Hong Kong.

If a holder does not maintain such an account in respect of a payment to be made under the Notes, the Issuer reserves the right, in its sole discretion and upon such terms as it may determine, to make arrangements to pay such amount to that holder by another means, provided that the Issuer shall not have any obligation to make any such arrangements.

In this Condition 7(a), "**Bank**" means a bank in the principal financial center for such currency or, in the case of Euro, in a city in which banks have access to the TARGET System.

(b) Bearer Notes held in CMU: Payments of principal and interest in respect of Bearer Notes held in CMU will be made to the person(s) for whose account(s) interests in the relevant Bearer Note are credited as being held with CMU in accordance with CMU Rules (as defined in the Agency Agreement) at the relevant time as notified to the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent by CMU in a relevant CMU Instrument Position Report (as defined in the Agency Agreement) or any other relevant notification by CMU, which notification shall be conclusive evidence of the records of CMU (save in the case of manifest error) and payment made in accordance thereof shall discharge the obligations of the Issuer in respect of that payment.

- (c) Registered Notes (other than AMTNs) not held in CMU: This Condition 7(c) does not apply to AMTNs.
  - (i) Payments of principal (which for the purposes of this Condition 7(c) shall include final Installment Amounts but not other Installment Amounts) in respect of Registered Notes shall be made against presentation and surrender of the relevant Certificates at the specified office of any of the Transfer Agents or of the Registrar and in the manner provided in Condition 7(a)(ii).
  - (ii) Interest (which for the purpose of this Condition 7(c) shall include all Installment Amounts other than final Installment Amounts) on Registered Notes shall be paid to the person shown on the Register at the close of business (i) on the fifteenth day before the due date for payment thereof or (ii) in the case of Renminbi, on the fifth day before the due date for payment thereof (the "Record Date"). Payments of interest on each Registered Note shall be made:
    - (x) in the case of a currency other than Renminbi, in the relevant currency by cheque drawn on a Bank and mailed to the holder (or to the first named of joint holders) of such Registered Note at its address appearing in the Register. Upon application by the holder to the specified office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent before the Record Date, such payment of interest may be made by transfer to an account in the relevant currency maintained by the payee with a Bank; and
    - (y) in the case of Renminbi where the Notes are cleared through CDP, by transfer to the registered account of the Noteholder. If a holder does not maintain such a registered account in respect of a payment to be made under such Registered Note, the Issuer reserves the right, in its sole discretion and upon such terms as it may determine, to make arrangements to pay such amount to that holder by another means, provided that the Issuer shall not have any obligation to make any such arrangements.

In this Condition 7(c)(ii), "**registered account**" means the Renminbi account maintained by or on behalf of the Noteholder with a bank in Singapore or Hong Kong, details of which appear on the Register at the close of business on the fifth business day before the due date for payment.

- (iii) Noteholders will not be entitled to any interest or other payment for any delay after the due date in receiving the amount due on a Note if the due date is not a relevant business day, if the Noteholder is late in surrendering or cannot surrender its Certificate (if required to do so) or if a cheque mailed in accordance with Condition 7(c)(ii) arrives after the due date for payment.
- (d) Registered Notes (other than AMTNs) held in CMU: This Condition 7(d) does not apply to AMTNs.

Payments of principal and interest in respect of Registered Notes held in CMU will be made to the person(s) for whose account(s) interests in the relevant Registered Note are credited as being held with CMU in accordance with CMU Rules (as defined in the Agency Agreement) at the relevant time as notified to the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent by CMU in a relevant CMU Instrument Position Report (as defined in the Agency Agreement) or any other relevant notification by CMU, which notification shall be conclusive evidence of the records of CMU (save in the case of manifest error) and payment made in accordance thereof shall discharge the obligations of the Issuer in respect of that payment.

For so long as any of the Notes that are cleared through CMU are represented by a Global Note or a Global Certificate, payments of interest or principal will be made to the persons for whose account a relevant interest in that Global Note or, as the case may be, that Global Certificate is credited as being held by the operator of CMU at the relevant time, as notified to the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent by the operator of CMU in a relevant CMU Instrument Position Report (as defined in the rules of CMU) or in any other relevant notification by the operator of CMU. Such payment will discharge the Issuer's obligations in respect of that payment. Any payments by CMU participants to indirect participants will be governed by arrangements agreed between CMU participants and the indirect participants and will continue to depend on the inter-bank clearing system and traditional payment methods. Such payments will be the sole responsibility of such CMU participants.

- (e) Payments in the United States: Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any Bearer Notes are denominated in U.S. dollars, payments in respect thereof may be made at the specified office of any Paying Agent in New York City in the same manner as aforesaid if (i) the Issuer shall have appointed Paying Agents with specified offices outside the United States with the reasonable expectation that such Paying Agents would be able to make payment of the amounts on the Notes in the manner provided above when due, (ii) payment in full of such amounts at all such offices is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other similar restrictions on payment or receipt of such amounts and (iii) such payment is then permitted by United States law, without involving, in the opinion of the Issuer, any adverse tax consequence to the Issuer.
- (f) Payments subject to fiscal laws: All payments are subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or other laws, regulations and directives in the place of payment or other laws to which the Issuer agrees to be subject and the Issuer will not be liable for any taxes or duties of whatever nature imposed or levied by such laws, regulations, directives or agreements, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 8. No commission or expenses shall be charged to the Noteholders, Receiptholders or Couponholders in respect of such payments.
- (g) Appointment of Agents: The Issuing and Paying Agent, the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent, the CDP Paying Agent, the U.S. Paying Agent, the Paying Agents, the Registrar, the Australian Agent, the Exchange Agent, the Transfer Agents and the Calculation Agent initially appointed by the Issuer and their respective specified offices are listed below. The Issuing and Paying Agent, the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent, the CDP Paying Agent, the U.S. Paying Agent, the Paying Agents, the Registrar, the Australian Agent, the Exchange Agent, the Transfer Agents and the Calculation Agent act solely as agents of the Issuer and do not assume any obligation or relationship of agency or trust for or with any Noteholder, Receiptholders or Couponholder. The Issuer reserves the right at any time with the approval of the Trustee to vary or terminate the appointment of the Issuing and Paying Agent, the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent, the CDP Paying Agent, the U.S. Paying Agent, any other Paying Agent, the Registrar, the Australian Agent, the Exchange Agent, any Transfer Agent or the Calculation Agent(s) and to appoint additional or other Paying Agents or Transfer Agents, provided that the Issuer shall at all times maintain (i) an Issuing and Paying Agent, (ii) a Registrar or Australian Agent (as applicable) in relation to Registered Notes, (iii) a Transfer Agent in relation to Registered Notes, (iv) a CMU Lodging and Paying Agent in relation to Notes cleared through CMU, (v) a CDP Paying Agent in relation to Notes cleared through CDP, (vi) a U.S. Paying Agent in relation to Notes cleared through DTC, (vii) one or more Calculation Agent(s) where these Conditions so require and (viii) such other agents as may be required by any other stock exchange on which the Notes may be listed in each case, as approved by the Trustee.

In addition, the Issuer shall forthwith appoint a Paying Agent in New York City in respect of any Bearer Notes denominated in U.S. dollars in the circumstances described in Condition 7(e).

Notice of any such change or any change of any specified office shall promptly be given to the Noteholders.

So long as any Global Certificate payable in a specified currency other than U.S. dollars is held through DTC or its nominee, there will at all times be an Exchange Agent with a specified office in New York City.

#### (h) Unmatured Coupons and Receipts and unexchanged Talons:

- (i) Upon the due date for redemption of Bearer Notes which comprise Fixed Rate Notes such Notes should be surrendered for payment together with all unmatured Coupons (if any) relating thereto, failing which an amount equal to the face value of each missing unmatured Coupon (or, in the case of payment not being made in full, that proportion of the amount of such missing unmatured Coupon that the sum of principal so paid bears to the total principal due) shall be deducted from the Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount or Optional Redemption Amount, as the case may be, due for payment. Any amount so deducted shall be paid in the manner mentioned above against surrender of such missing Coupon within a period of 10 years from the Relevant Date for the payment of such principal (whether or not such claim in relation to such Coupon has become void pursuant to Condition 9).
- (ii) Upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note which does not comprise a Fixed Rate Note, unmatured Coupons relating to such Note (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment shall be made in respect of them.
- (iii) Upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note, any unexchanged Talon relating to such Note (whether or not attached) shall become void and no Coupon shall be delivered in respect of such Talon.
- (iv) Upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note that is redeemable in installments, all Receipts relating to such Note having an Installment Date falling on or after such due date (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment shall be made in respect of them.
- (v) Where any Bearer Note that provides that the relevant unmatured Coupons are to become void upon the due date for redemption of those Notes is presented for redemption without all unmatured Coupons, and where any Bearer Note is presented for redemption without any unexchanged Talon relating to it, redemption shall be made only against the provision of such indemnity as the Issuer may require.
- (vi) If the due date for redemption of any Note is not a due date for payment of interest, interest accrued from the preceding due date for payment of interest or the Interest Commencement Date, as the case may be, shall only be payable against presentation (and surrender if appropriate) of the relevant Bearer Note or Certificate representing it, as the case may be. Interest accrued on a Note that only bears interest after its Maturity Date shall be payable on redemption of such Note against presentation of the relevant Note or Certificate representing it, as the case may be.

- (i) **Talons**: On or after the Interest Payment Date for the final Coupon forming part of a Coupon sheet issued in respect of any Bearer Note, the Talon forming part of such Coupon sheet may be surrendered at the specified office of the Issuing and Paying Agent in exchange for a further Coupon sheet (and if necessary another Talon for a further Coupon sheet) (but excluding any claims in relation to Coupons that may have become void pursuant to Condition 9).
- (j) **Non-Business Days**: If any date for payment in respect of any Note, Receipt or Coupon is not a business day, the holder shall not be entitled to payment until the next following business day nor to any interest or other sum in respect of such postponed payment. In this Condition 7(j), "**business day**" means a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in the relevant place of presentation, in such other jurisdictions as shall be specified as "Financial Centers" in the applicable Pricing Supplement and:
  - (i) (in the case of a payment in a currency other than Euro and Renminbi) where payment is to be made by transfer to an account maintained with a bank in the relevant currency, on which foreign exchange transactions may be carried on in the relevant currency in the principal financial center of the country of such currency; or
  - (ii) (in the case of a payment in Euro) which is a TARGET Business Day; or
  - (iii) (in the case of Renminbi where the Notes are cleared through CMU) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business and settlement of Renminbi payments in Hong Kong; or
  - (iv) (in the case of Renminbi where the Notes are cleared through CDP or in definitive form) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business and settlement of Renminbi payments in Singapore and Hong Kong; or
  - (v) (in the case of Renminbi where the Notes are cleared through Euroclear or Clearstream) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business and settlement of Renminbi payments in London.
- (k) Renminbi Disruption Fallback: Notwithstanding the foregoing, if (i) Renminbi is, in the reasonable opinion of the Issuer, not expected to be available to the Issuer when payment of the Notes is due as a result of circumstances beyond the control of the Issuer or (ii) by reason of Inconvertibility, Non-transferability or Illiquidity, the Issuer is not able to satisfy payments of principal or interest in respect of the Notes when due in Renminbi (in the case of Notes cleared through CMU, Euroclear or Clearstream) in Hong Kong or (in the case of Notes cleared through CDP) in Singapore, the Issuer shall, on giving not less than five nor more than 30 days' irrevocable notice to the Noteholders prior to the due date for payment, settle any such payment (in the case of Notes cleared through CMU, Euroclear or Clearstream) in U.S. dollars on the due date at the U.S. Dollar Equivalent, or (in the case of Notes cleared through CDP) in Singapore dollars on the due date at the Singapore Dollar Equivalent, of any such Renminbi denominated amount. The due date for payment shall be the originally scheduled due date or such postponed due date as shall be specified in the notice referred to above, which postponed due date may not fall more than 20 days after the originally scheduled due date. Interest on the Notes will continue to accrue up to but excluding any such date for payment of principal.

In such event, payments of the U.S. Dollar Equivalent or the Singapore Dollar Equivalent (as applicable) of the relevant principal or interest in respect of the Notes shall be made by:

- (i) in the case of Notes cleared through CMU, Euroclear or Clearstream, transfer to a U.S. dollar denominated account maintained by the payee with, or by a U.S. dollar denominated cheque drawn on, or, at the option of the holder, by transfer to a U.S. dollar account maintained by the holder with, a bank in New York City and the definition of "business day" for the purpose of Condition 7(j) shall mean any day on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for general business in the relevant place of presentation, and New York City; or
- (ii) in the case of Notes cleared through CDP, transfer to a Singapore dollar denominated account maintained by the payee with, or by a Singapore dollar denominated cheque drawn on, a bank in Singapore.

For the purposes of this Condition 7:

"Determination Business Day" means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealings in foreign exchange):

- (i) in the case of Notes cleared through CMU, Euroclear or Clearstream, in Hong Kong and New York City; or
- (ii) in the case of Notes cleared through CDP, in Singapore.

## "Determination Date" means the day which:

- (i) in the case of Notes cleared through CMU, Euroclear or Clearstream, is two Determination Business Days before the due date for payment of the relevant amount under these Conditions; or
- (ii) in the case of Notes cleared through CDP, is seven Determination Business Days before the due date of the relevant amount under these Conditions.

#### "Governmental Authority" means:

- (i) in the case of Notes cleared through CMU, Euroclear or Clearstream, any de facto or de jure government (or any agency or instrumentality thereof), court, tribunal, administrative or other governmental authority or any other entity (private or public) charged with the regulation of the financial markets (including the central bank) of Hong Kong; or
- (ii) in the case of Notes cleared through CDP, MAS or any other governmental authority or any other entity (private or public) charged with the regulation of the financial markets of Singapore.

#### "Illiquidity" means:

(i) in the case of Notes cleared through CMU, Euroclear or Clearstream, the general Renminbi exchange market in Hong Kong becomes illiquid as a result of which the Issuer cannot obtain sufficient Renminbi in order to satisfy its obligation to pay interest or principal in respect of the Notes as determined by the Issuer in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner following consultation with two Renminbi Dealers selected by the Issuer; or

(ii) in the case of Notes cleared through CDP, the general Renminbi exchange market in Singapore becomes illiquid as a result of which the Issuer cannot obtain sufficient Renminbi in order to satisfy its obligation to pay interest or principal in respect of the Notes as determined by the Issuer in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner following consultation with two Renminbi Dealers selected by the Issuer.

"Inconvertibility" means the occurrence of any event that makes it impossible (where it had been previously possible) for the Issuer to convert any amount due in respect of the Notes in the general Renminbi exchange market in (in the case of Notes cleared through CMU, Euroclear or Clearstream) Hong Kong or (in the case of Notes cleared through CDP) Singapore, other than where such impossibility is due solely to the failure of the Issuer to comply with any law, rule or regulation enacted by any Governmental Authority (unless such law, rule or regulation is enacted after the Issue Date and it is impossible for the Issuer, due to an event beyond its control, to comply with such law, rule or regulation).

"Non-transferability" means the occurrence of any event that makes it impossible for the Issuer to deliver Renminbi between accounts:

- (i) in the case of Notes cleared through CMU, Euroclear or Clearstream, inside Hong Kong or from an account inside Hong Kong to an account outside Hong Kong and outside the PRC or from an account outside Hong Kong and outside the PRC to an account inside Hong Kong, other than where such impossibility is due solely to the failure of the Issuer to comply with any law, rule or regulation enacted by any Governmental Authority (unless such law, rule or regulation is enacted after the Issue Date and it is impossible for the Issuer, due to an event beyond its control, to comply with such law, rule or regulation); or
- (ii) in the case of Notes cleared through CDP, inside Singapore or from an account inside Singapore to an account outside Singapore and outside the PRC or from an account outside Singapore and outside the PRC to an account inside Singapore, other than where such impossibility is due solely to the failure of the Issuer to comply with any law, rule or regulation enacted by any Governmental Authority (unless such law, rule or regulation is enacted after the Issue Date and it is impossible for the Issuer, due to an event beyond its control, to comply with such law, rule or regulation).

"PRC" means the People's Republic of China (excluding the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, the Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan).

"Renminbi Dealer" means an independent foreign exchange dealer of international repute active in the Renminbi exchange market in (in the case of Notes cleared through CMU, Euroclear or Clearstream) Hong Kong or (in the case of Notes cleared through CDP) Singapore.

"Singapore Dollar Equivalent" means the Renminbi amount converted into Singapore dollars using the relevant Spot Rate for the relevant Determination Date, as promptly notified to the Issuer and the Paying Agents.

#### "Spot Rate" means:

(i) in the case of Notes cleared through CMU, Euroclear or Clearstream, the spot CNY/U.S. dollar exchange rate for the purchase of U.S. dollars with Renminbi in the over-the-counter Renminbi exchange market in Hong Kong for settlement in

two Determination Business Days, as determined by the Calculation Agent at or around 11.00 a.m. (Hong Kong time) on the Determination Date, on a deliverable basis by reference to Reuters Screen Page TRADCNY3, or if no such rate is available, on a non-deliverable basis by reference to Reuters Screen Page TRADNDF.

If such rate is not available, the Calculation Agent will determine the Spot Rate at or around 11.00 a.m. (Hong Kong time) on the Determination Date as the most recently available CNY/U.S. dollar official fixing rate for settlement in two Determination Business Days reported by The State Administration of Foreign Exchange of the PRC, which is reported on the Reuters Screen Page CNY=SAEC. Reference to a page on the Reuters Screen means the display page so designated on the Reuter Monitor Money Rates Service (or any successor service) or such other page as may replace that page for the purpose of displaying a comparable currency exchange rate; or

(ii) in the case of Notes cleared through CDP, the spot CNY/Singapore dollar exchange rate as determined by the Issuer at or around 11.00 a.m. (Singapore time) on the Determination Date in good faith and in a reasonable commercial manner, and if a spot rate is not readily available, the Issuer may determine the rate taking into consideration all available information which the Issuer deems relevant, including pricing information obtained from the Renminbi non-deliverable exchange market in Singapore or elsewhere and the PRC domestic foreign exchange market in Singapore (and, for the avoidance of doubt, the Calculation Agent shall have no obligation to determine the Spot Rate in the case of Notes cleared through CDP).

All notifications, opinions, determinations, certificates, calculations, quotations and decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of the provisions of this Condition 7(k) by the Calculation Agent, will (in the absence of willful default, bad faith or manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, the Agents and all Noteholders.

**"U.S. Dollar Equivalent"** means the Renminbi amount converted into U.S. dollars using the Spot Rate for the relevant Determination Date as promptly notified to the Issuer and the Paying Agents.

#### (I) AMTNs:

- (i) The Australian Agent will act (through its office in Sydney) as paying agent for AMTNs pursuant to the Australian Agency Agreement and:
  - (A) if the AMTN is in the clearing system (the "Austraclear System") operated by Austraclear, by crediting on the relevant Interest Payment Date or Maturity Date (as the case may be) the amount then due to the account (held with a bank in Australia) of Austraclear in accordance with the rules and regulations known as the "Austraclear System Regulations" established by Austraclear (as amended or replaced from time to time) to govern the use of the Austraclear System;
  - (B) if the AMTN is not in the Austraclear System, by crediting on the Interest Payment Date or Maturity Date (as the case may be), the amount then due to an account (held with a bank in Australia) previously notified in writing by the holder of the AMTN to the Issuer and the Australian Agent.

If a payment in respect of the AMTN is prohibited by law from being made in Australia, such payment will be made in an international financial center for the account of the relevant payee, and on the basis that the relevant amounts are paid in immediately available funds, freely transferrable at the order of the payee.

For the purposes of this Condition 7(I), in relation to AMTNs, "**Business Day**" has the meaning given in the Australian Agency Agreement.

- (ii) Payments of principal and interest will be made in Sydney in Australian dollars to the persons registered at the close of business in Sydney on the relevant Record Date (as defined below) as the holders of such AMTNs, subject in all cases to normal banking practice and all applicable laws and regulations. Payment will be made by cheques drawn on the Sydney branch of an Australian bank dispatched by post on the relevant payment date at the risk of the Noteholder or, at the option of the Noteholder, by the Australian Agent giving in Sydney irrevocable instructions for the effecting of a transfer of the relevant funds to an Australian dollar account in Australia specified by the Noteholder to the Australian Agent (or in any other manner in Sydney which the Australian Agent and the Noteholder agree).
- (iii) In the case of payments made by electronic transfer, payments will for all purposes be taken to be made when the Australian Agent gives irrevocable instructions in Sydney for the making of the relevant payment by electronic transfer, being instructions which would be reasonably expected to result, in the ordinary course of banking business, in the funds transferred reaching the account of the Noteholder on the same day as the day on which the instructions are given.
- (iv) If a cheque posted or an electronic transfer for which irrevocable instructions have been given by the Australian Agent is shown, to the satisfaction of the Australian Agent, not to have reached the Noteholder and the Australian Agent is able to recover the relevant funds, the Australian Agent may make such other arrangements as it thinks fit for the effecting of the payment in Sydney.
- (v) Interest will be calculated in the manner specified in Condition 4 and will be payable to the persons who are registered as Noteholders at the close of business in Sydney on the relevant Record Date and cheques will be made payable to the Noteholder (or, in the case of joint Noteholders, to the first-named) and sent to their registered address, unless instructions to the contrary are given by the Noteholder (or, in the case of joint Noteholders, by all the Noteholders) in such form as may be prescribed by the Australian Agent. Payments of principal will be made to, or to the order of, the persons who are registered as Noteholders at the close of business in Sydney on the relevant Record Date, subject, if so directed by the Australian Agent, to receipt from them of such instructions as the Australian Agent may require.
- (vi) If any day for payment in respect of any AMTN is not a Business Day, such payment shall not be made until the next day which is a Business Day, and no further interest shall be paid in respect of the delay in such payment.
- (vii) Payments will be subject in all cases to any fiscal or other laws and regulations applicable thereto. Neither the Issuer nor the Australian Agent shall be liable to any Noteholder or other person for any commissions, costs, losses or expenses in relation to or resulting from such payments.

In this Condition 7(I) in relation to AMTNs, "**Record Date**" means, in the case of payments of principal or interest, the close of business in Sydney on the date which is the fifteenth calendar day before the due date of the relevant payment of principal or interest.

#### 8 Taxation

All payments of principal and interest by or on behalf of the Issuer in respect of the Notes, the Receipts and the Coupons shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, any taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by a Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax, unless such withholding or deduction is required by law. In that event, the Issuer shall pay such additional amounts (the "Additional Amounts") as shall result in receipt by the Noteholders, Receiptholders and Couponholders of such amounts as would have been received by them had no such withholding or deduction been required, except that no such Additional Amounts shall be payable with respect to any Note, Receipt or Coupon:

- (a) Other connection: to, or to a third party on behalf of, a holder who is (i) treated as a resident of the Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction or as having a permanent establishment in the Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction for tax purposes or (ii) liable to such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges in respect of such Note, Receipt, Talon or Coupon by reason of his having some connection with the Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction other than the mere holding or ownership of the Note, Receipt, Talon or Coupon or receiving income therefrom, or the enforcement thereof; or
- (b) Lawful avoidance of withholding: to, or to a third party on behalf of, a holder who could lawfully avoid (but has not so avoided) such deduction or withholding by complying or procuring that any third party complies with any statutory requirements or by making or procuring that any third party makes a declaration of non-residence or other similar claim for exemption to any tax authority in the place where the relevant Note (or the Certificate representing it), Receipt or Coupon is presented for payment; or
- (c) Presentation more than 30 days after the Relevant Date: presented (or in respect of which the Certificate representing it is presented) for payment more than 30 days after the Relevant Date except to the extent that the holder of it would have been entitled to such Additional Amounts on presenting it for payment on the thirtieth such day; or
- (d) Payment to an associate: to, or to a third party on behalf of, a holder of a Note issued by the Issuer through its Australian branch or by a Specified Issuer that is a resident of Australia (and who is not acting through a branch outside of Australia) who is an "associate" (as that term is defined in section 128F(9) of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 of Australia) of the Issuer or Specified Issuer, as relevant, and such holder is not acting in the capacity of a clearing house, paying agent, custodian, funds manager or responsible entity of a registered scheme within the meaning of the Australian Corporations Act;
- (e) Australian tax file number/Australian Business Number withholding tax: to, or to a third party on behalf of, a holder of a Registered Note, if that person has not supplied an appropriate Australian tax file number, Australian Business Number or details of an applicable exemption from these requirements; or
- (f) Garnishee directions by the Australian Commissioner of Taxation: to, or to a third party on behalf of, a holder of a Note where such withholding or deduction is required to be made pursuant to a notice or direction issued by the Commissioner of Taxation under section 255 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 of Australia or section 260-5 of Schedule 1 to the Taxation Administration Act 1953 of Australia or any similar law.

For the avoidance of doubt, neither the Issuer nor any other person shall be required to pay any Additional Amounts or otherwise indemnify a holder for any withholding or deduction required pursuant to an agreement described in Section 1471(b) of the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1 986, as amended (the "Code") as amended or otherwise imposed pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code (or any regulations thereunder or official interpretations thereof) or an intergovernmental agreement between the United States and another jurisdiction facilitating the implementation thereof (or any law implementing such an intergovernmental agreement).

As used in these Conditions,

- "Relevant Date" in respect of any Note, Receipt, Talon or Coupon means the date on (i) which payment in respect of it first becomes due or (if any amount of the money payable is improperly withheld or refused) the date on which payment in full of the amount outstanding is made or (if earlier) the date seven days after that on which notice is duly given to the Noteholders that, upon further presentation of the Note (or relevant Certificate), Receipt, Talon or Coupon being made in accordance with these Conditions, such payment will be made, provided that payment is in fact made upon such presentation. References in these Conditions to (i) "principal" shall be deemed to include any premium payable in respect of the Notes, all Installment Amounts, Final Redemption Amounts, Early Redemption Amounts, Optional Redemption Amounts, Amortized Face Amounts and all other amounts in the nature of principal payable pursuant to Condition 5 or any amendment or supplement to it, (ii) "interest" shall be deemed to include all Interest Amounts and all other amounts payable pursuant to Condition 4 or any amendment or supplement to it and (iii) "principal" and/or "interest" shall be deemed to include any additional amounts that may be payable under this Condition 8 or any undertaking given in addition to or in substitution for it under the Trust Deed.
- (ii) "Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction" means, in respect of Senior Notes, Singapore or any country in which the branch of the Issuer through which the Issuer is issuing the Senior Notes is located or the country of the Specified Issuer and (ii) in respect of Subordinated Notes, Singapore.

Where interest, discount income, prepayment fee, redemption premium or break cost is derived from any of the Notes or Coupons (if applicable) by any person who is not resident in Singapore and who carries on any operations in Singapore through a permanent establishment in Singapore, the tax exemption available for qualifying debt securities (subject to certain conditions) under the Income Tax Act, shall not apply if such person acquires such Notes or Coupons (if applicable) using the funds and profits of such person's operations through a permanent establishment in Singapore. Any person whose interest, discount income, prepayment fee, redemption premium or break cost derived from the Notes is not exempt from tax (including for the reasons described above) shall include such income in a return of income made under the Income Tax Act.

# 9 Prescription

Claims against the Issuer for payment in respect of the Notes, Receipts and Coupons (which, for this purpose, shall not include Talons) shall be prescribed and become void unless made within 10 years (in the case of principal) or five years (in the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date in respect of them.

#### 10 Events of Default

### (a) Senior Notes:

If any of the following events ("Events of Default") occurs and is continuing, (i) in the case of Senior Notes (other than AMTNs), the Trustee at its absolute discretion may, and if so requested by holders of at least one-quarter in nominal amount of the Senior Notes then outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution shall (subject in each case to its being indemnified and/or secured to its satisfaction) give notice to the Issuer that the Senior Notes are, and they shall immediately become, due and payable at their Early Redemption Amount together (if applicable) with accrued interest or (ii) in the case of AMTNs, the holder of an AMTN may, give written notice to the Australian Agent and the Issuer that such AMTN is immediately repayable, whereupon the Early Redemption Amount of such AMTN together (if applicable) with accrued interest to the date of payment shall become immediately due and payable, unless such event of default shall have been remedied prior to the receipt of such notice by the Australian Agent or the Issuer:

- (i) Non-Payment: default is made for more than 14 days in the payment on the due date of interest or principal in respect of any of the Senior Notes; or
- (ii) Breach of Other Obligations: the Issuer does not perform or comply with any one or more of its other obligations under the Senior Notes, the Trust Deed or the Note (AMTN) Deed Poll, which default has not been remedied within 60 days after notice of such default shall have been given to the Issuer by the Trustee or a holder of the relevant AMTNs; or
- (iii) Insolvency: the Issuer is (or is deemed by law or a court of competent jurisdiction to be) insolvent or bankrupt or unable to pay its debts as they fall due, stops, suspends or threatens to stop or suspend payment of all or a material part of its debts, or makes a general assignment or an arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of all its creditors in respect of any such debts or a moratorium is agreed or declared in respect of all or a material part of the debts of the Issuer; or
- (iv) Winding-up: an order is made or an effective resolution passed for the winding-up or dissolution or administration of the Issuer, or the Issuer shall apply or petition for a winding-up or administration order in respect of itself or ceases or through an official action of its board of directors threatens to cease to carry on all or a substantial part of its business or operations, in each case except for the purpose of and followed by a reconstruction, amalgamation, reorganization, merger or consolidation.

#### (b) **Subordinated Notes**: In the case of the Subordinated Notes:

(i) Default: "Default", wherever used in these Conditions, means (except as expressly provided below, whatever the reason for such Default and whether or not it shall be voluntary or involuntary or be effected by the operation of law or pursuant to any judgment, decree or order of any court or any order, rule or regulation of any administrative or governmental body) failure to pay principal of or interest on any Subordinated Note (which default in the case of principal continues for seven Business Days and in the case of interest continues for 14 Business Days) after the due date for such payment.

If a Write-off or conversion has occurred pursuant to, or otherwise in accordance with, Condition 6 or (with respect to a conversion) any applicable Pricing Supplement, such event will not constitute a Default under these Conditions.

(ii) Enforcement: If a Default occurs and is continuing, the Trustee may in its absolute discretion institute proceedings in Singapore (but not elsewhere) for the winding-up of the Issuer. The Trustee shall have no right to enforce payment under or accelerate payment of any Subordinated Note in the case of such Default in payment on such Subordinated Note or a default in the performance of any other covenant of the Issuer in such Subordinated Note or in the Trust Deed except as provided for in this Condition 10 and Clause 7 of the Trust Deed.

Subject to the subordination provisions as set out in Condition 3, in Clause 5 and Clause 7.2 of the Trust Deed, if a court order is made or an effective resolution is passed for the winding-up of the Issuer, there shall be payable on the Subordinated Notes after the payment in full of all claims of all Senior Creditors, but in priority to holders of share capital of the Issuer and Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities and/or as otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement or in a supplement to the Offering Memorandum, such amount remaining after the payment in full of all claims of all Senior Creditors up to, but not exceeding, the nominal amount of the Subordinated Notes together with interest accrued to the date of repayment.

(iii) Rights and Remedies upon Default: If a Default in respect of the payment of principal of or interest on the Subordinated Notes occurs and is continuing, the sole remedy available to the Trustee shall be the right to institute proceedings in Singapore (but not elsewhere) for the winding-up of the Issuer. If the Issuer shall default in the performance of any obligation contained in the Trust Deed, other than a Default specified in Condition 10(b)(i), the Trustee and the Noteholders shall be entitled to every right and remedy given hereunder or thereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or otherwise, provided, however, that the Trustee shall have no right to enforce payment under or accelerate payment of any Subordinated Note except as provided in this Condition 10(b)(iii) and Clause 7.2 of the Trust Deed.

If any court awards money damages or other restitution for any default with respect to the performance by the Issuer of its obligations contained in the Trust Deed, the payment of such money damages or other restitution shall be subject to the subordination provisions set out herein and in Clause 5 and Clause 7.2 of the Trust Deed.

- (iv) Entitlement of the Trustee: The Trustee shall not be bound to take any of the actions referred to in Condition 1 0(b)(ii) or Condition 10(b)(iii) or Clause 7.2 of the Trust Deed or any other action under the Trust Deed unless (i) it shall have been so requested by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Noteholders or in writing by the holders of at least one-quarter in nominal amount of the Subordinated Notes then outstanding and (ii) it shall have been indemnified and/or secured to its satisfaction.
- (v) Rights of Holders: No Noteholder shall be entitled to proceed directly against the Issuer or to institute proceedings for the winding-up of the Issuer in Singapore or to prove in any winding-up of the Issuer unless the Trustee, having become so bound to proceed (in accordance with the terms of the Trust Deed) or being able to prove in such winding-up, fails to do so within a reasonable period and such failure shall be continuing, in which case the Noteholder shall have only such rights against the Issuer as those which the Trustee is entitled to exercise.

No remedy against the Issuer, other than as referred to in this Condition 10 and Clause 7 of the Trust Deed, shall be available to the Trustee or any Noteholder whether for the recovery of amounts owing in relation to or arising from the Subordinated Notes and/or the Trust Deed or in respect of any breach by the Issuer of any of its other obligations relating to or arising from the Subordinated Notes and/or the Trust Deed.

# 11 Meetings of Noteholders, Modification and Waiver

Condition 11(a), Condition 11(b) and Condition 11(c) do not apply to AMTNs.

Meetings of Noteholders: The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening meetings of Noteholders to consider any matter affecting their interests, including the sanctioning by Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Trust Deed) of a modification of any of these Conditions or any provision of the Trust Deed. Such a meeting may be convened by Noteholders holding not less than 10% in nominal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding. The quorum for any meeting convened to consider an Extraordinary Resolution shall be two or more persons holding or representing a clear majority in nominal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned meeting two or more persons being or representing Noteholders whatever the nominal amount of the Notes held or represented, unless the business of such meeting includes consideration of proposals, inter alia, (i) to amend the dates of maturity or redemption of the Notes, any Installment Date or any date for payment of interest or Interest Amounts on the Notes, (ii) to reduce or cancel the nominal amount of, or any Installment Amount of, or any premium payable on redemption of, the Notes, (iii) to reduce the rate or rates of interest in respect of the Notes or to vary the method or basis of calculating the rate or rates or amount of interest or the basis for calculating any Interest Amount in respect of the Notes (except as a result of any modification contemplated in Condition 4(o)), (iv) if a Minimum and/or a Maximum Rate of Interest, Installment Amount or Redemption Amount is shown in the applicable Pricing Supplement, to reduce any such Minimum and/or Maximum, (v) to vary any method of, or basis for, calculating the Final Redemption Amount, the Early Redemption Amount or the Optional Redemption Amount, including, in the case of Zero Coupon Notes, the method of calculating the Amortized Face Amount, (vi) to vary the currency or currencies of payment or the Specified Denomination of the Notes, (vii) to take any steps that as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement may only be taken following approval by an Extraordinary Resolution to which the special quorum provisions apply, (viii) to modify the provisions concerning the quorum required at any meeting of Noteholders or the majority required to pass the Extraordinary Resolution, (ix) to modify Condition 3 in respect of the Subordinated Notes, (x) to modify Condition 5(i) where Condition 5(i) is specified as being applicable in the Pricing Supplement for the relevant Subordinated

Notes or (xi) to sanction the exchange or substitution for the Notes of, or the conversion of the Notes into, shares, bonds or other obligations or securities of the Issuer or any other entity in circumstances other than where "Conversion" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and as contemplated by such provisions, in which case the necessary quorum shall be two or more persons holding or representing not less than 75%, or at any adjourned meeting not less than 25%, in nominal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding. Any Extraordinary Resolution duly passed shall be binding on Noteholders (whether or not they were present at the meeting at which such resolution was passed) and on all Couponholders and Receiptholders.

The Trust Deed provides that a resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of the holders of not less than 90% in nominal amount of the Notes outstanding shall for all purposes be as valid and effective as an Extraordinary Resolution passed at a meeting of Noteholders duly convened and held. Such a resolution in writing may be contained in one document or several documents in the same form, each signed by or on behalf of one or more Noteholders.

The consent or approval of the Noteholders shall not be required in the case of amendments to these Conditions pursuant to Condition 4(o) to vary the method or basis of calculating the rate or rates or amount of interest or the basis for calculating any Interest Amount in respect of the Notes or for any other variation of these Conditions and/or the Agency Agreement required to be made in the circumstances described in Condition 4(o), where the requirements of Condition 4(o) have been satisfied (including the provision of a certificate to the Trustee, where applicable).

These Conditions may be amended, modified or varied in relation to any Series of Notes by the terms of the applicable Pricing Supplement in relation to such Series.

- (b) Modification of the Trust Deed and waiver: The Trustee may agree, without the consent of the Noteholders, Receiptholders or Couponholders, to (i) any modification of any of the provisions of the Trust Deed which is, in its opinion, of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to correct a manifest error or to comply with any mandatory provision of law, and (ii) any other modification (except as mentioned in the Trust Deed), and waive or authorize, on such terms as seem expedient to it, any breach or proposed breach, of any of the provisions of the Trust Deed that is in the opinion of the Trustee not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders. Notwithstanding any other provision of these Conditions or the Trust Deed, for Notes specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being Subordinated Notes, no modification to any Condition or any provision of the Trust Deed may be made without the prior approval of MAS where such modifications could impact the eligibility of the Subordinated Notes as Tier 2 Capital Securities. Any such modification, authorization or waiver shall be binding on the Noteholders, Receiptholders and the Couponholders and, if the Trustee so requires, such waiver or authorization shall be notified by the Issuer to the Noteholders as soon as practicable.
- (c) Entitlement of the Trustee: In connection with the exercise of its functions (including but not limited to those referred to in this Condition 11(c)) the Trustee shall have regard to the interests of the Noteholders, Receiptholders or Couponholders as a class and shall not have regard to the consequences of such exercise for individual Noteholders, Receiptholders or Couponholders and the Trustee shall not be entitled to require, nor shall any Noteholder, Receiptholders or Couponholder be entitled to claim, from the Issuer any indemnification or payment in respect of any tax consequence of any such exercise upon individual Noteholders, Receiptholders or Couponholders.
- (d) Meetings of AMTN holders: The Note (AMTN) Deed Poll contains provisions for convening meetings of holders of AMTNs to consider any matter affecting their interests.

#### 12 Enforcement in respect of Senior Notes

In the case of Senior Notes (that are not AMTNs), at any time after the Senior Notes become due and payable, the Trustee may, in its absolute discretion and without further notice, institute such proceedings against the Issuer as it may think fit to enforce the terms of the Trust Deed, the Senior Notes, the Receipts and the Coupons, but it need not take any such proceedings unless (a) it shall have been so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution or so requested in writing by Noteholders holding at least one-quarter in nominal amount of the Senior Notes outstanding, and (b) it shall have been indemnified and/or secured to its satisfaction. No Noteholder, Receiptholder or Couponholder in respect of Senior Notes (that are not AMTNs) may proceed directly against the Issuer unless the Trustee, having become bound so to proceed, fails to do so within a reasonable time and such failure is continuing, in which case such Noteholder, Receiptholder or Couponholder shall have only such rights against the Issuer as those which the Trustee is entitled to exercise. In the case of any

AMTN, at any time after such AMTN becomes due and payable, the holder of such AMTN may at its discretion and without further notice, institute such proceedings against the Issuer as it may think fit to enforce the terms of the Note (AMTN) Deed Poll and such AMTN.

#### 13 Indemnification of the Trustee

The Trust Deed contains provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee and for its relief from responsibility. The Trustee is entitled to enter into business transactions with the Issuer and any entity related to the Issuer without accounting for any profit.

Each Noteholder, Receiptholder and Couponholder shall be solely responsible for making and continuing to make its own independent appraisal and investigation into the financial position, creditworthiness, condition, affairs, status and nature of the Issuer and the Trustee shall not at any time have any responsibility for the same and each Noteholder, Receiptholder or Couponholder shall not rely on the Trustee in respect thereof.

The Trustee may accept and rely without liability to Noteholders, Receiptholders or Couponholders on a report, confirmation or certificate or any advice of any accountants, financial advisors, financial institution or any other expert, whether or not addressed to it and whether their liability in relation thereto is limited (by its terms or by any engagement letter relating thereto entered into by the Trustee or in any other manner) by reference to a monetary cap, methodology or otherwise. Such report, confirmation or certificate or advice shall be binding on the Issuer, the Trustee, the Noteholders, Receiptholders and the Couponholders.

### 14 Replacement of Notes, Certificates, AMTN Certificates, Receipts, Coupons and Talons

If a Note, Certificate, Receipt, Coupon or Talon is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced, subject to applicable laws, regulations and stock exchange or other relevant authority regulations, at the specified office of the Issuing and Paying Agent (in the case of Bearer Notes, Receipts, Coupons or Talons) and of the Registrar (in the case of Certificates) or such other Paying Agent or Transfer Agent, as the case may be, as may from time to time be designated by the Issuer for the purpose and notice of whose designation is given to Noteholders, in each case on payment by the claimant of the fees and costs incurred in connection therewith and on such terms as to evidence, security and indemnity (which may provide, *inter alia*, that if the allegedly lost, stolen or destroyed Note, Certificate, Receipt, Coupon or Talon is subsequently presented for payment or, as the case may be, for exchange for further Coupons, there shall be paid to the Issuer on demand the amount payable by the Issuer in respect of such Notes, Certificates, Receipts, Coupons or Talons) and otherwise as the Issuer or such agent may require. Mutilated or defaced Notes, Certificates, Receipts, Coupons or Talons must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

Should any AMTN Certificate be lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, upon written notice of such having been received by the Issuer and the Australian Agent:

- (a) that AMTN Certificate will be deemed to be canceled without any further formality; and
- (b) the Issuer will, promptly and without charge, issue and deliver, and procure the authentication by the Australian Agent of, a new AMTN Certificate to represent the holding of the AMTNs that had been represented by the original AMTN Certificate.

#### 15 Further Issues

The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders, Receiptholders or Couponholders create and issue further securities either having the same terms and conditions as the Notes in all respects (or in all respects except for the first payment of interest on them) and so that such further issue shall be consolidated and form a single Series with the outstanding securities of any Series (including the Notes) or upon such terms as the Issuer may determine at the time of their issue. References in these Conditions to the Notes include (unless the context requires otherwise) any other securities issued pursuant to this Condition 15 and forming a single Series with the Notes. Any further securities forming a single series with the outstanding securities of any Series (including the Notes) constituted by the Trust Deed or any deed supplemental to it shall, and any other securities may (with the consent of the Trustee), be constituted by the Trust Deed. The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening a single meeting of the Noteholders and the holders of securities of other Series where the Trustee so decides.

#### 16 Notices

Notices to Noteholders will be valid if published in a daily newspaper of general circulation in Singapore (which is expected to be *The Business Times* but may be another leading daily English language newspaper with general circulation in Singapore) or for so long as the Notes are listed on the SGX-ST and the rules of the SGX-ST so require, on the website of the SGX-ST (www.sgx.com). Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of publication.

So long as the Notes are represented by the Global Certificate and the Global Certificate is held on behalf of (i) DTC, Euroclear or Clearstream, the Alternative Clearing System (as defined in the form of the Global Certificate) or CDP, notices to Noteholders shall be given by delivery of the relevant notice to DTC, Euroclear or Clearstream, the Alternative Clearing System or (subject to the agreement of CDP) CDP for communication by it to entitled accountholders in substitution for notification as required by these Conditions or (ii) CMU, notices to the holders of Notes of that Series may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to the persons shown in a CMU Instrument Position Report issued by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority on the business day preceding the date of dispatch of such notice, in each case except that if the Notes are listed on the SGX-ST, and the rules of the SGX-ST so require, notice will in any event be published as provided above.

A Trigger Event Notice or notice of the issue of a Bail-in Certificate to the holders of any Subordinated Notes shall be deemed to have been validly given on the date on which such notice is published in a daily newspaper of general circulation in Singapore (which is expected to be The Business Times but may be another leading daily English language newspaper with general circulation in Singapore) or so long as the Subordinated Notes are listed on the SGX-ST and the rules of the SGX-ST so require, published on the website of the SGX-ST (www.sgx.com). Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of such publication or, if published more than once or on different dates, on the first date on which publication is made, as provided above.

# 17 Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act

No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Notes under (i) if the Notes are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being governed by English law, the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 or (ii) if the Notes are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being governed by Singapore law, Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 2001 of Singapore.

# 18 Governing Law and Jurisdiction

Condition 18(a), Condition 18(b) and Condition 18(c) do not apply to AMTNs.

(a) Governing Law: The Trust Deed and, if the Notes are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being governed by Singapore law, as supplemented by the Singapore Supplemental Trust Deed, the Notes, the Receipts, the Coupons and the Talons and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with them are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, English or Singapore law, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, save that Condition 3(b), Condition 3(c), Condition 3(d), Condition 10(b)(ii) and Condition 1 0(b)(iii) for Notes specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as Subordinated Notes are in all cases governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, Singapore law.

## (b) Jurisdiction:

- If the Notes are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being governed by English law, the courts of England are to have jurisdiction to settle any disputes that may arise out of or in connection with any Notes, Receipts, Coupons or Talons, save that the courts of Singapore shall have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes that may arise out of Conditions 3(b), 3(c), 3(d), 10(b)(ii) and/or 10(b)(iii), and accordingly any legal action or proceedings arising out of or in connection with any Notes, Receipts, Coupons or Talons ("Proceedings") may be brought in such courts. For Notes for which English law is specified as the governing law in the applicable Pricing Supplement, insofar as the Proceedings do not arise out of or are in connection with Conditions 3(b), 3(c), 3(d), 10(b)(ii) and/or 10(b)(iii), the Issuer irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of the courts of England and waives any objection to Proceedings in such courts on the ground of venue or on the ground that the Proceedings have been brought in an inconvenient forum. This submission is made for the benefit of each of the holders of the Notes, Receipts, Coupons and Talons and shall not affect the right of any of them to take Proceedings in any other court of competent jurisdiction nor shall the taking of Proceedings in one or more jurisdictions preclude the taking of Proceedings in any other jurisdiction (whether concurrently or not). Insofar as the Proceedings arise out of or are in connection with Conditions 3(b), 3(c), 3(d), 10(b)(ii) and/or 10(b)(iii), all parties irrevocably submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of Singapore and waive any objection to Proceedings in such courts on the ground of venue or on the ground that the Proceedings have been brought in an inconvenient forum.
- (ii) If the Subordinated Notes are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being governed by Singapore law, the courts of Singapore are to have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes that may arise out of or in connection with any Subordinated Notes and accordingly any Proceedings shall be brought in such courts. For Subordinated Notes for which Singapore law is specified as the governing law in the applicable Pricing Supplement, all parties irrevocably submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of Singapore and waive any objection to Proceedings in such courts on the ground of venue or on the ground that the Proceedings have been brought in an inconvenient forum.
- (c) Service of Process: For Notes for which English law is specified as the governing law in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the Issuer has in the Trust Deed agreed that its branch in England shall accept service of process on its behalf in respect of any Proceedings in England. If such branch ceases to be able to accept service of process in England, the Issuer shall immediately appoint a new agent to accept such service of process in England.

## (d) **AMTNs**:

This Condition 18(d) shall only apply to AMTNs.

- (i) The AMTNs, the Australian Agency Agreement and the Note (AMTN) Deed Poll shall be governed by the laws in force in New South Wales, Australia.
- (ii) The courts of New South Wales, Australia and the courts of appeal from them are to have non-exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes which may arise out of or in connection with them and any suit, action or proceedings arising out of or in connection with the AMTNs, the Australian Agency Agreement and the Note (AMTN) Deed Poll (together referred to as "Australian Proceedings") may be brought in such courts.
- (iii) For so long as any AMTNs are outstanding, the Issuer agrees that its Sydney branch in Australia shall accept service of process on its behalf in New South Wales, Australia in respect of any Australian Proceedings. In the event there is no such branch, the Issuer shall immediately appoint another agent to accept such service of process in Sydney.

## TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE PERPETUAL CAPITAL SECURITIES

The following is the text of the terms and conditions that, save for the words in italics and, subject to completion and amendment and as supplemented or varied in accordance with the provisions of the applicable Pricing Supplement, shall be applicable to the Perpetual Capital Securities (as defined in the Trust Deed referred to below) in definitive form (if any) issued in exchange for the Global Certificate(s) representing each Series. These terms and conditions, together with the relevant provisions of the applicable Pricing Supplement, as so completed, amended, supplemented or varied (and subject to simplification by the deletion of non-applicable provisions), shall be endorsed on the Certificates relating to such Perpetual Capital Securities. All capitalized terms that are not defined in these Conditions will have the meanings given to them in the applicable Pricing Supplement or the Trust Deed, as the case may be. Those definitions will be endorsed on the Certificates. References in these Conditions to "Perpetual Capital Securities" are to the Perpetual Capital Securities of one Series only, not to all Perpetual Capital Securities that may be issued under the Program.

The Perpetual Capital Securities are constituted by an amended and restated trust deed (as amended or supplemented as at the date of issue of the Perpetual Capital Securities (the "Issue Date")) dated April 6, 2022 (the "Trust Deed") between Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited ("OCBC" or the "Issuer") and The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch (the "Trustee", which expression shall include all persons for the time being the trustee or trustees under the Trust Deed) as trustee for the Securityholders (as defined below) and, if the Perpetual Capital Securities are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being governed by Singapore law, as supplemented by the Singapore supplemental trust deed (as amended or supplemented as at the Issue Date) dated April 6, 2022 between OCBC and the Trustee (the "Singapore Supplemental Trust Deed"), and where applicable, the Perpetual Capital Securities which are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement to be held in and cleared through The Central Depository (Pte) Limited ("CDP") are issued with the benefit of a deed of covenant dated August 31, 2012, as supplemented on March 9, 2018, relating to the Perpetual Capital Securities executed by OCBC (and as further amended, varied or supplemented from time to time, the "CDP Deed of Covenant").

These terms and conditions (the "Conditions") include summaries of, and are subject to, the detailed provisions of the Trust Deed, which includes the form of the Certificates referred to below. OCBC, the Trustee, The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch, as initial issuing and paying agent in relation to each Series of Perpetual Capital Securities or any Series of Perpetual Capital Securities to be held through CDP, in the Central Moneymarkets Unit Service operated by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority (the "CMU") or through The Depository Trust Company ("DTC"), The Bank of New York Mellon, Hong Kong Branch as initial CMU lodging and paying agent in relation to each Series of Perpetual Capital Securities to be held in CMU, The Bank of New York Mellon, Singapore Branch as initial CDP paying agent in relation to each Series of Perpetual Capital Securities to be held in CDP, The Bank of New York Mellon, as issuing and paying agent, exchange agent and transfer agent and registrar in respect of each Series of Perpetual Capital Securities to be cleared through DTC and the other agents named therein have entered into an amended and restated agency agreement (as amended or supplemented as at the Issue Date, the "Agency Agreement") dated April 6, 2022 in relation to the Perpetual Capital Securities and, if the Perpetual Capital Securities are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being governed by Singapore law, as supplemented by the Singapore supplemental agency agreement (as amended and supplemented as at the Issue Date) dated April 6, 2022 between the Issuer, the CDP paying agent and the other agents named therein (the "Singapore Supplemental Agency Agreement"). The issuing and paying agent, the CMU lodging and paying agent, the CDP paying agent, the U.S. paying agent, the exchange agent, the other paying agents, the registrar, the transfer agents and the calculation agent(s) for the time being (if any) are referred to below respectively as the "Issuing and Paying Agent", the "CMU Lodging and Paying Agent", the "CDP Paying Agent", the "U.S. Paying Agent", the "Exchange Agent", the "Paying Agents"

(which expression shall include the Issuing and Paying Agent, the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent, the CDP Paying Agent and the U.S. Paying Agent), the "Registrar", the "Transfer Agents" (which expression shall include the Registrar) and the "Calculation Agent(s)". For the purposes of these Conditions, all references (other than in relation to the determination of Distribution (as defined herein) and other amounts payable in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities) to the Issuing and Paying Agent shall (i) with respect to a Series of Perpetual Capital Securities to be held in CMU, be deemed to be a reference to the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent, (ii) with respect to a Series of Perpetual Capital Securities to be held in CDP, be deemed to be a reference to the CDP Paying Agent and (iii) with respect to a Series of Perpetual Capital Securities to be held in DTC, be deemed to be a reference to the U.S. Paying Agent and all such references shall be construed accordingly. Copies of the Trust Deed, the Singapore Supplemental Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, the Singapore Supplemental Agency Agreement and the CDP Deed of Covenant referred to above are available for inspection free of charge during usual business hours at the principal office of the Trustee (presently at One Canada Square, London, E14 5AL, United Kingdom) and at the specified offices of the Paying Agents and the Transfer Agents.

The Securityholders are entitled to the benefit of, are bound by, and are deemed to have notice of, these Conditions, all the provisions of the Trust Deed and the applicable Pricing Supplement, and, in the case of Perpetual Capital Securities specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being governed by Singapore law, the Singapore Supplemental Trust Deed, and are deemed to have notice of those provisions applicable to them of the Agency Agreement or the Singapore Supplemental Agency Agreement, as the case may be. The Pricing Supplement for any Perpetual Capital Securities (or the relevant provisions thereof) shall be attached to or endorsed on such Perpetual Capital Securities. References to "applicable Pricing Supplement" are to the Pricing Supplement (or relevant provisions thereof) attached to or endorsed on the relevant Perpetual Capital Securities.

As used in these Conditions, "**Tranche**" means Perpetual Capital Securities which are identical in all respects, "**Series**" means a series of Perpetual Capital Securities comprising one or more Tranches, whether or not issued on the same date, that (except in respect of the first payment of Distribution and their issue price) have identical terms on issue and are expressed to have the same Series Number specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and "**subsidiary**" has the meaning given to this term under the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore.

#### 1 Form, Denomination and Title

The Perpetual Capital Securities are issued in registered form only, in each case in the Specified Currency and Specified Denomination(s) shown in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

All Perpetual Capital Securities shall have the same Specified Denomination. Perpetual Capital Securities sold in reliance on Rule 144A will be in minimum denominations of U.S.\$200,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies) and integral multiples of U.S.\$1,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies) in excess thereof, subject to compliance with all legal and/or regulatory requirements applicable to the relevant currency. Perpetual Capital Securities which are listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the "SGX-ST") will be traded on the SGX-ST in a minimum board lot size of S\$200,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies) or such other amount as may be allowed or required from time to time. In the case of any Perpetual Capital Securities which are to be admitted to trading on a regulated market within the European Economic Area or in the United Kingdom or offered to the public in a Member State of the European Economic Area or in the United Kingdom in circumstances which require the publication of a prospectus under Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (as amended or superseded), the minimum Specified Denomination shall be €100,000 or £100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency as at the date of issue of the relevant Perpetual Capital Securities).

Each Perpetual Capital Security may be a Fixed Rate Perpetual Capital Security or a Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Security, a combination of any of the foregoing or any other kind of Perpetual Capital Security, depending upon the Distribution and Redemption/Payment Basis specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Perpetual Capital Securities are represented by registered certificates ("Certificates") and, save as provided in Condition 2(c), each Certificate shall represent the entire holding of Perpetual Capital Securities by the same holder.

Title to the Perpetual Capital Securities shall pass by registration in the register that the Issuer shall procure to be kept by the Registrar in accordance with the provisions of the Agency Agreement (the "Register"). Except as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or as required by law, the holder (as defined below) of any Perpetual Capital Security shall be deemed to be and may be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes whether or not it is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or an interest in it, any writing on it (or on the Certificate representing it) or its theft or loss (or that of the related Certificate) and no person shall be liable for so treating the holder.

In these Conditions, "Securityholder" means the person in whose name a Perpetual Capital Security is registered (as the case may be), "holder" (in relation to a Perpetual Capital Security) means the person in whose name a Perpetual Capital Security is registered (as the case may be) and capitalized terms have the meanings given to them in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the absence of any such meaning indicating that such term is not applicable to the Perpetual Capital Securities.

For so long as any of the Perpetual Capital Securities is represented by a Global Certificate held on behalf of Euroclear Bank SA/NV ("Euroclear") and/or Clearstream Banking S.A. ("Clearstream"), each person (other than Euroclear or Clearstream) who is for the time being shown in the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream as the holder of a particular nominal amount of such Perpetual Capital Securities (in which regard any certificate or other document issued by Euroclear and/or Clearstream as to the nominal amount of such Perpetual Capital Securities standing to the account of any person shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes save in the case of manifest error) shall be treated by the Issuer, the Trustee and the Agents as the holder of such nominal amount of such Perpetual Capital Securities for all purposes other than with respect to the payment of principal or Distribution on such nominal amount of such Perpetual Capital Securities, for which purpose the registered holder of the relevant Global Certificate shall be treated by the Issuer, the Trustee and any Agent as the holder of such nominal amount of such Perpetual Capital Securities in accordance with and subject to the terms of the relevant Global Certificate and the expressions "Securityholder" and "holder of Securities" and related expressions shall be construed accordingly.

For so long as DTC or its nominee is the registered owner or holder of a Global Certificate, DTC or such nominee, as the case may be, will be considered the sole owner or holder of the Perpetual Capital Securities represented by such Global Certificate for all purposes under the Trust Deed and the Agency Agreement and those Perpetual Capital Securities except to the extent that in accordance with DTC's published rules and procedures any ownership rights may be exercised by its participants or beneficial owners through participants.

# 2 Transfers of Perpetual Capital Securities

(a) Transfer of Perpetual Capital Securities: Subject to Condition 2(e), one or more Perpetual Capital Securities may be transferred upon the surrender (at the specified office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent) of the Certificate representing such Perpetual Capital Securities to be transferred, together with the form of transfer endorsed on such Certificate, (or another form of transfer substantially in the same form and containing the same representations and certifications (if any), unless otherwise agreed by the Issuer), duly completed and executed and any other evidence as the Registrar or Transfer Agent may require without service charge and subject to payment of any taxes, duties and other governmental charges in respect of such transfer. In the case of a transfer of part only of a holding of Perpetual Capital Securities represented by one Certificate, a new Certificate shall be issued to the transferee in respect of the part transferred and a further new Certificate in respect of the balance of the holding not transferred shall be issued to the transferor. All transfers of Perpetual Capital Securities and entries on the Register will be made subject to the detailed regulations concerning transfers of Perpetual Capital Securities scheduled to the Agency Agreement. The regulations may be changed by the Issuer, with the prior written approval of the Registrar and the Trustee. A copy of the current regulations will be made available by the Registrar to any Securityholder upon request.

Any transfer of interests in the Perpetual Capital Securities evidenced by a Global Certificate will be effected in accordance with the rules of the relevant clearing systems. Transfers of a Global Certificate registered in the name of a nominee for DTC shall be limited to transfers of such Global Certificate, in whole but not in part, to another nominee of DTC or to a successor of DTC or such successor's nominee.

Any transfer of interests in any Perpetual Capital Securities that are the subject of a Trigger Event Notice issued in accordance with Condition 7 or notice of issue of a Bail-in Certificate shall not be permitted during any Suspension Period (as defined below).

- (b) Exercise of Options or Partial Redemption, Write-off or Conversion in Respect of Perpetual Capital Securities: In the case of an exercise of the Issuer's option in respect of, or a partial redemption or (as the case may be) a partial Write-off (as defined in Condition 7(b)) or conversion (if specified and as described in the applicable Pricing Supplement) of, a holding of Perpetual Capital Securities represented by a single Certificate, a new Certificate shall be issued to the holder to reflect the exercise of such option or in respect of the balance of the holding not redeemed, Written-off (as defined below) or converted. In the case of a partial exercise of an option resulting in Perpetual Capital Securities of the same holding having different terms, separate Certificates shall be issued in respect of those Perpetual Capital Securities of that holding that have the same terms. New Certificates shall only be issued against surrender of the existing Certificates to the Registrar or any other Transfer Agent. In the case of a transfer of Perpetual Capital Securities to a person who is already a holder of Perpetual Capital Securities, a new Certificate representing the enlarged holding shall only be issued against surrender of the Certificate representing the existing holding.
- (c) **Delivery of New Certificates**: Each new Certificate to be issued pursuant to Condition 2(a) or Condition 2(b) shall be available for delivery within five business days of receipt of the request for transfer, exercise, redemption or exchange, form of transfer and surrender of the Certificate for transfer, exercise or redemption, except for any Write-off pursuant to Condition 7(b) or conversion (if specified and as described in the applicable Pricing Supplement) in which case any new Certificate to be issued shall be available for delivery as soon as reasonably practicable. Delivery of the new Certificate(s) shall be made at the specified office of the Transfer Agent or of the Registrar (as the case may be) to whom delivery or surrender of such request for

transfer, exercise, redemption or exchange, form of transfer and/or Certificate shall have been made or, at the option of the holder making such delivery or surrender as aforesaid and as specified in the relevant form of transfer or otherwise in writing, be mailed by uninsured post at the risk of the holder entitled to the new Certificate to such address as may be so specified, unless such holder requests otherwise and pays in advance to the relevant Transfer Agent the costs of such other method of delivery and/or such insurance as it may specify. In this Condition 2(c), "business day" means a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, on which banks are open for business in the place of the specified office of the relevant Transfer Agent or the Registrar (as the case may be).

- (d) Transfers Free of Charge: Transfers of Perpetual Capital Securities and Certificates on registration, transfer, exercise of an option or partial redemption, Write-off or conversion (if and as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) shall be effected without charge by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Registrar or the Transfer Agents, but upon payment by the relevant Securityholder of any tax or other governmental charges that may be imposed in relation to it (or the giving of such indemnity as the Registrar or the relevant Transfer Agent may require).
- (e) Closed Periods: No Securityholder may require the transfer of a Perpetual Capital Security to be registered (i) during the period of 15 days ending on the due date for redemption of that Perpetual Capital Security, (ii) during the period of 15 days before to any date on which Perpetual Capital Securities may be called for redemption by the Issuer at its option pursuant to Condition 6(d), (iii) after any such Perpetual Capital Security has been called for redemption, (iv) during the period of seven days ending on (and including) any Record Date, or (v) during a Suspension Period.

In these Conditions, "Suspension Period" means the period commencing on the business day in Singapore immediately following the date of a Trigger Event Notice (as defined in Condition 7(e)) or notice of issue of a Bail-in Certificate, as the case may be, and ending on the earlier of the close of business in Singapore on:

- (i) the date on which the Registrar or any other Agent has (A) reflected the relevant Write-off or conversion (if and as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) in the Register or (B) issued a new Certificate (as the case may be) to such Securityholder in respect of the related Write-off or conversion (if and as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement); and
- (ii) on the tenth business day in Singapore immediately following the date of any such notice, or

in the event that a Bail-in Certificate has been issued, when the Bail-in Certificate has been effected.

In relation to any Suspension Period, "business day" means a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, on which banks are open for business in the place of the specified office of the relevant Transfer Agent or the Registrar (as the case may be).

#### 3 Status

- (a) **Status of Perpetual Capital Securities**: The Perpetual Capital Securities constitute direct, unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer and rank *pari passu* and without any preference among themselves. The rights and claims of the Securityholders are subordinated as described below.
- (b) Subordination: Upon the occurrence of any winding-up proceeding (other than pursuant to a Permitted Reorganization (as defined below)), the rights of the Securityholders to the payment of the principal of and Distributions on the Perpetual Capital Securities and any other obligations in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities are expressly subordinated and subject in right of payment to the prior payment in full of all claims of Senior Creditors, and will rank senior to Junior Obligations. The Perpetual Capital Securities will rank pari passu with Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities and/or as otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement or in a supplement to the Offering Memorandum and any instrument or security issued, entered into or guaranteed by the Issuer that ranks or is expressed to rank, by its terms or operation of law, pari passu with a Perpetual Capital Security. In the event that (i) the Securityholders do not receive payment in full of the principal amount due and payable in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities plus Distributions thereon accrued to the date of repayment in any winding-up of the Issuer and (ii) the winding-up order or resolution passed for the winding-up of the Issuer or the dissolution of the Issuer is subsequently stayed, discharged, rescinded, avoided, annulled or otherwise rendered inoperative, then to the extent that such Securityholders did not receive payment in full of such principal of and Distributions on such Perpetual Capital Securities, such unpaid amounts shall remain payable in full; provided that payment of such unpaid amounts shall be subject to the provisions under this Condition 3 and Condition 11 and Clause 6 and Clause 8.3 of the Trust Deed.

The Issuer has agreed, pursuant to the terms of the Trust Deed, to indemnify the Securityholders against any loss incurred as a result of any judgment or order being given or made for any amount due under the Perpetual Capital Securities and such judgment or order being expressed and paid in a currency other than the Specified Currency. Any amounts due under such indemnification will be similarly subordinated in right of payment with other amounts due on the Perpetual Capital Securities and payment thereof shall be subject to the provisions under this Condition 3 and Condition 11(b) and Clause 8.3 of the Trust Deed.

On a winding-up of the Issuer, there may be no surplus assets available to meet the claims of the Securityholders after the claims of the parties ranking senior to the Securityholders (as provided in this Condition 3 and Clause 6 of the Trust Deed) have been satisfied.

The subordination provisions set out in this Condition 3(b) are effective only upon the occurrence of any winding-up proceedings of the Issuer. In the event that a Trigger Event occurs, the rights of holders of Perpetual Capital Securities shall be subject to Condition 7. This may not result in the same outcome for Securityholders as would otherwise occur under this Condition 3(b) upon the occurrence of any winding-up proceedings.

In these Conditions:

"Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities" means (i) any security issued by the Issuer or (ii) any other similar instrument issued by any subsidiary of the Issuer that is guaranteed by the Issuer, that, in each case, constitutes Additional Tier 1 capital of the Issuer on an unconsolidated basis, pursuant to the relevant requirements set out in MAS Notice 637.

"Issuer Shares" means the ordinary shares of the Issuer.

"Junior Obligations" means (i) any Issuer Share and (ii) any class of the Issuer' share capital and any instrument or security (including without limitation any preference shares) issued, entered into or guaranteed by the Issuer which ranks or is expressed to rank, by its terms or by operation of law, junior to a Perpetual Capital Security.

"MAS" means the Monetary Authority of Singapore or such other governmental authority having primary bank supervisory authority with respect to the Issuer.

**"MAS Notice 637"** means the MAS Notice 637 – "Notice on Risk Based Capital Adequacy Requirements for Banks Incorporated in Singapore" issued by MAS, as amended, replaced or supplemented from time to time.

"Offering Memorandum" means the offering memorandum dated April 6, 2022 relating to, *inter alia*, the Perpetual Capital Securities (which term shall include those documents incorporated in it by reference from time to time as provided in it) as from time to time amended, supplemented or replaced (but not including any information or documents replaced or superseded by any information so subsequently included or incorporated).

"Permitted Reorganization" means a solvent reconstruction, amalgamation, reorganization, merger or consolidation whereby all or substantially all the business, undertaking and assets of the Issuer are transferred to a successor entity which assumes all the obligations of the Issuer under the Perpetual Capital Securities.

"Senior Creditors" means creditors of the Issuer (including the Issuer's depositors and the holders of Tier 2 Capital Securities) other than those whose claims rank or are expressed to rank *pari passu* with or junior to the claims of the holders of the Perpetual Capital Securities.

"Tier 2 Capital Securities" means (i) any security issued by the Issuer or (ii) any other similar instrument issued by any subsidiary of the Issuer that is guaranteed by the Issuer that, in each case, constitutes a Tier 2 capital instrument of the Issuer on an unconsolidated basis, pursuant to the relevant requirements set out in MAS Notice 637.

(c) Set-off and Payment Void: No Securityholder may exercise, claim or plead any right of set-off, counterclaim or retention in respect of any amount owed to it by the Issuer arising under or in connection with the Perpetual Capital Securities. Each Securityholder shall, by acceptance of any Perpetual Capital Security, be deemed to have waived all such rights of set-off, counterclaim or retention to the fullest extent permitted by law. If at any time any Securityholder receives payment or benefit of any sum in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities (including any benefit received pursuant to any such set-off, counter-claim or retention) other than in accordance with the provisions in the second paragraph of Condition 11(b) and Clause 8.3.2 of the Trust Deed, the payment of such sum or receipt of such benefit shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be deemed void for all purposes and such Securityholder, by acceptance of such Perpetual Capital Security, shall agree as a separate and independent obligation that any such sum or benefit so received shall forthwith be paid or returned in full by such Securityholder to the Issuer upon demand by the Issuer or. in the event of the winding-up of the Issuer, the liquidator of the Issuer, whether or not such payment or receipt shall have been deemed void under the Trust Deed. Any sum so paid or returned shall then be treated for the purposes of the Issuer's obligations as if it had not been paid by the Issuer, and its original payment shall be deemed not to have discharged any of the obligations of the Issuer under the Perpetual Capital Securities.

#### 4 Distributions and other Calculations

(a) **Distribution on Fixed Rate Perpetual Capital Securities**: Subject to Condition 5, each Fixed Rate Perpetual Capital Security confers a right to receive distribution (each, a "**Distribution**") on its outstanding nominal amount from and including the Distribution Commencement Date at the rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Rate of Distribution, such Distribution being payable in arrear on each Distribution Payment Date.

The Rate of Distribution in respect of a Fixed Rate Security shall be:

- (i) (if no Reset Date is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) the Initial Distribution Rate; or
- (ii) (if a Reset Date is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement):
  - (A) for the period from, and including, the Distribution Commencement Date to the First Reset Date specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the Initial Distribution Rate; and
  - (B) for the period from, and including, the First Reset Date and each Reset Date (as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) falling thereafter to, but excluding, the immediately following Reset Date, the Reset Distribution Rate.

The amount of Distribution payable shall be determined in accordance with Condition 4(e).

For the purposes of this Condition 4(a), "Reset Distribution Rate" means the Relevant Rate with respect to the relevant Reset Date plus the Initial Spread.

- (b) Distribution on Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities (for non-Singapore Dollar Perpetual Capital Securities):
  - (i) Distribution Payment Dates: Subject to Condition 5, each Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Security confers a right to receive distribution (each, a "Distribution") on its outstanding nominal amount from and including the Distribution Commencement Date at the rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Rate of Distribution, such Distribution being payable in arrear on each Distribution Payment Date. The amount of Distribution payable shall be determined in accordance with Condition 4(e). Such Distribution Payment Date(s) is/are either shown in the applicable Pricing Supplement as Specified Distribution Payment Dates or, if no Specified Distribution Payment Date(s) is/are shown in the applicable Pricing Supplement, Distribution Payment Date shall mean each date which falls the number of months or other period shown in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the Distribution Period after the preceding Distribution Payment Date or, in the case of the first Distribution Payment Date, after the Distribution Commencement Date.

In this Condition 4(b), Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Security shall refer to a Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Security which is denominated in a currency other than Singapore dollars.

- (ii) Business Day Convention: If any date referred to in these Conditions that is specified to be subject to adjustment in accordance with a Business Day Convention would otherwise fall on a day that is not a Business Day (as defined in Condition 4(i)), then, if the Business Day Convention specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement is (A) the Floating Rate Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event (x) such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day and (y) each subsequent such date shall be the last Business Day of the month in which such date would have fallen had it not been subject to adjustment, (B) the Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day, (C) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day or (D) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day.
- (iii) Rate of Distribution for Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities: The Rate of Distribution in respect of Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities for each Distribution Accrual Period shall be determined in the manner specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and the provisions below relating to either ISDA Determination or Screen Rate Determination shall apply, depending upon which is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.
  - (A) ISDA Determination for Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities

Where ISDA Determination is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Distribution is to be determined, the Rate of Distribution for each Distribution Accrual Period shall be determined by the Calculation Agent as a rate equal to the relevant ISDA Rate. For the purposes of this Condition 4(b)(iii)(A), "ISDA Rate" for a Distribution Accrual Period means a rate equal to the Floating Rate that would be determined by the Calculation Agent under a Swap Transaction under the terms of an agreement incorporating the ISDA Definitions and under which:

- (w) the Floating Rate Option is as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;
- (x) the Designated Maturity is a period specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;
- (y) the relevant Reset Date is the first day of that Distribution Accrual Period unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; and
- (z) if the Floating Rate Option is an Overnight Floating Rate Option:
  - (1) Compounding with Lookback is applicable if specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;
  - (2) Compounding with Observation Period Shift is applicable if specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and, if so, Set-in-Advance is applicable if specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement;
  - (3) Compounding with Lockout is applicable if specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; or

- (4) OIS Compounding is applicable if specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; and
- (5) in connection with the Overnight Rate Compounding Method, references in the ISDA Definitions to numbers, financial centers or other items specified in the Confirmation shall be deemed to be references to the numbers, financial centers or other items specified for such purpose in the applicable Pricing Supplement and references in the ISDA Definitions to "Calculation Period", "Floating Rate Day Count Fraction", "Period End Date", "Termination Date" and "Effective Date" shall be deemed to be references to the relevant Distribution Accrual Period, the Day Count Fraction, the relevant Distribution Period Date, the final Distribution Period Date and the Distribution Commencement Date respectively.

For the purposes of this Condition 4(b)(iii)(A), "Floating Rate", "Calculation Agent", "Floating Rate Option", "Designated Maturity", "Reset Date", "Swap Transaction", "Compounding with Lookback", "Compounding with Observation Period Shift", "Compounding with Lockout", "OIS Compounding", "Overnight Rate Compounding Method" and "Confirmation", have the meanings given to those terms in the ISDA Definitions.

- (B) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities where the Reference Rate is not specified as being SONIA Benchmark, SOFR Benchmark or SORA Benchmark
  - (x) Where Screen Rate Determination is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Distribution is to be determined, the Rate of Distribution for each Distribution Accrual Period will, subject as provided below, be either:
    - (1) the offered quotation; or
    - (2) the arithmetic mean of the offered quotations,

(expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate which appears or appear, as the case may be, on the Relevant Screen Page as at either 11.00 a.m. Brussels time in the case of the Euro Interbank Offered Rate ("EURIBOR") or Hong Kong time in the case of the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate ("HIBOR")) on the Distribution Determination Date in question as determined by the Calculation Agent. If five or more of such offered quotations are available on the Relevant Screen Page, the highest (or, if there is more than one such highest quotation, one only of such quotations) and the lowest (or, if there is more than one such lowest quotation, one only of such quotations) shall be disregarded by the Calculation Agent for the purpose of determining the arithmetic mean of such offered quotations.

If the Reference Rate from time to time in respect of Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being other than EURIBOR or HIBOR, the Rate of Distribution in respect of such Perpetual Capital Securities will be determined as provided in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

- (y) If the Relevant Screen Page is not available or if, Condition 4(b)(iii)(B)(x)(1) applies and no such offered quotation appears on the Relevant Screen Page or if Condition 4(b)(iii)(B)(x)(2) applies and fewer than three such offered quotations appear on the Relevant Screen Page in each case as at the time specified above, subject as provided below, the Issuer shall request, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the principal Euro-zone office of each of the Reference Banks or, if the Reference Rate is HIBOR, the principal Hong Kong office of each of the Reference Banks, to provide the Calculation Agent with its offered quotation (expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time) or, if the Reference Rate is HIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Hong Kong time) on the Distribution Determination Date in question and such rate shall be notified to the Calculation Agent. If two or more of the Reference Banks provide the Issuer with such offered quotations, the Rate of Distribution for such Distribution Accrual Period shall be the arithmetic mean of such offered quotations as determined by the Calculation Agent; and
- (z) If Condition 4(b)(iii)(B)(y) applies and the Issuer determines that fewer than two Reference Banks are providing offered quotations, subject as provided below, the Rate of Distribution shall be the arithmetic mean of the rates per annum (expressed as a percentage) as communicated to (and at the request of) the Issuer by the Reference Banks or any two or more of them, at which such banks were offered, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time) or, if the Reference Rate is HIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Hong Kong time) on the relevant Distribution Determination Date, deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate by leading banks in, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the Euro-zone inter-bank market or, if the Reference Rate is HIBOR, the Hong Kong inter-bank market, as the case may be, or, if fewer than two of the Reference Banks provide the Issuer with such offered rates, the offered rate for deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate, or the arithmetic mean of the offered rates for deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate, at which, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time) or, if the Reference Rate is HIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Hong Kong time), on the relevant Distribution Determination Date, any one or more banks (which bank or banks is or are in the opinion of the Issuer suitable for such purpose) informs the Calculation Agent it is quoting to leading banks in, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the Euro-zone inter-bank market or, if the Reference Rate is HIBOR, the Hong Kong inter-bank market, as the case may be, provided that, if the Rate of Distribution cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this Condition 4(b)(iii)(B)(z), the Rate of Distribution shall be determined as at the last preceding Distribution Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Distribution is to be applied to the relevant Distribution Accrual Period from that which applied to the last preceding Distribution Accrual Period, the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Distribution relating to the relevant Distribution Accrual Period, in place of the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Distribution relating to that last preceding Distribution Accrual Period).

(C) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities where the Reference Rate is specified as being SONIA Benchmark

For each Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Security where the Reference Rate is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being SONIA Benchmark, the Rate of Distribution for each Distribution Accrual Period will, subject as provided below, be equal to the relevant SONIA Benchmark plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement) the Margin.

The "SONIA Benchmark" will be determined based on Compounded Daily SONIA or SONIA Index, as follows (subject in each case to Condition 4(I)):

(x) If Compounded Daily SONIA is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, Compounded Daily SONIA shall be calculated by the Calculation Agent on the relevant Distribution Determination Date in accordance with the formula referenced below.

"Compounded Daily SONIA" means, with respect to a Distribution Accrual Period, the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment during the SONIA Observation Period corresponding to such Distribution Accrual Period (with the daily Sterling Overnight Index Average ("SONIA") rate as reference rate for the calculation of interest) and will be calculated by the Calculation Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Distribution, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) on the Distribution Determination Date, as follows, and the resulting percentage will be rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards:

$$\left[ \prod_{i=1}^{d_o} \left( 1 + \frac{SONIA_{i-xLBD} \times n_i}{365} \right) - 1 \right] \times \frac{365}{d}$$

where:

"d" means the number of calendar days in:

- (1) where "SONIA Observation Lag" is specified as the SONIA Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Distribution Accrual Period; or
- (2) where "SONIA Observation Shift" is specified as the SONIA Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant SONIA Observation Period;

"do" means:

(1) where "SONIA Observation Lag" is specified as the SONIA Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the number of London Business Days in the relevant Distribution Accrual Period; or (2) where "SONIA Observation Shift" is specified as the SONIA Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the number of London Business Days in the relevant SONIA Observation Period;

"i" means, for the relevant Distribution Accrual Period, a series of whole numbers from one to do, each representing the relevant London Business Day in chronological order from (and including):

- (1) where "SONIA Observation Lag" is specified as the SONIA Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the first London Business Day in the relevant Distribution Accrual Period to (and including) the last London Business Day in such Distribution Accrual Period; or
- (2) where "SONIA Observation Shift" is specified as the SONIA Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the first London Business Day in the relevant SONIA Observation Period to (and including) the last London Business Day in such SONIA Observation Period;

"London Business Day" or "LBD" means any day on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in London;

"n<sub>i</sub>", for any London Business Day "i", means the number of calendar days from and including such London Business Day "i" up to but excluding the following London Business Day;

# "SONIA<sub>i-xLBD</sub>" means:

- (1) where "SONIA Observation Lag" is specified as the SONIA Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, in respect of any London Business Day "i", the SONIA Reference Rate for the London Business Day falling "x" London Business Days prior to such London Business Day "i"; or
- (2) where "SONIA Observation Shift" is specified as the SONIA Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, in respect of any London Business Day "i", the SONIA Reference Rate for that day;

"SONIA Observation Period" means, for the relevant Distribution Accrual Period, the period from (and including) the date falling "x" London Business Days prior to the first day of such Distribution Accrual Period (and the first Distribution Accrual Period shall begin on and include the Distribution Commencement Date) and ending on (but excluding) the date falling "x" London Business Days prior to the Distribution Payment Date at the end of such Distribution Accrual Period (or the date falling "x" London Business Days prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Perpetual Capital Securities become due and payable);

"SONIA Reference Rate" means, in respect of any London Business Day, a reference rate equal to the daily SONIA rate for such London Business Day as provided by the administrator of SONIA to authorized distributors and as

then published on the Relevant Screen Page or, if the Relevant Screen Page is unavailable, as otherwise published by such authorized distributors (on the London Business Day immediately following such London Business Day); and

"x" means five London Business Days (or such other number of London Business Days in the SONIA Observation Lookback Days as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement).

If, subject to Condition 4(I)(i), in respect of any London Business Day in the relevant SONIA Observation Period, the Calculation Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Distribution, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) determines that the SONIA Reference Rate is not available on the Relevant Screen Page or has not otherwise been published by the relevant authorized distributors, such SONIA reference rate shall be:

- (I) the Bank of England's Bank Rate (the "Bank Rate") prevailing at 5.00 p.m. (or, if earlier, close of business) on the relevant London Business Day; plus
- (II) the mean of the spread of the SONIA Reference Rate to the Bank Rate over the previous five days on which a SONIA Reference Rate has been published, excluding the highest spread (or, if there is more than one highest spread, one only of those highest spreads) and lowest spread (or, if there is more than one lowest spread, one only of those lowest spreads) to the Bank Rate.

Notwithstanding the paragraph above, and without prejudice to Condition 4(I)(i), in the event the Bank of England publishes guidance as to:

- (A) how the SONIA Reference Rate is to be determined; or
- (B) any rate that is to replace the SONIA Reference Rate,

the Calculation Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Distribution as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, and in consultation with the Issuer) shall, to the extent that it is reasonably practicable, follow such guidance in order to determine the SONIA rate for the purpose of the relevant Series of Perpetual Capital Securities for so long as the SONIA Reference Rate is not available or has not been published by the authorized distributors.

In the event that the Rate of Distribution cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions by the Calculation Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Distribution, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement), subject to Condition 4(I)(i), the Rate of Distribution shall be:

(I) that determined as at the last preceding Distribution Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin or Maximum Rate of Distribution or Minimum Rate of Distribution is to be applied to the relevant Distribution Accrual Period from that which applied to the last preceding Distribution Accrual Period, the Margin or Maximum Rate of Distribution or Minimum Rate of Distribution (as specified in the

applicable Pricing Supplement) relating to the relevant Distribution Accrual Period in place of the Margin or Maximum Rate of Distribution or Minimum Rate of Distribution relating to that last preceding Distribution Accrual Period); or

- (II) if there is no such preceding Distribution Determination Date, the initial Rate of Distribution which would have been applicable to such Series of Perpetual Capital Securities for the first Distribution Accrual Period had the Perpetual Capital Securities been in issue for a period equal in duration to the scheduled first Distribution Accrual Period but ending on (and excluding) the Distribution Commencement Date (but applying the Margin and any Maximum Rate of Distribution or Minimum Rate of Distribution applicable to the first Distribution Accrual Period).
- (y) If SONIA Index ("SONIA Index") is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the relevant SONIA Benchmark, the SONIA Benchmark for each Distribution Accrual Period shall be equal to the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment during the SONIA Observation Period corresponding to such Distribution Accrual Period (with the daily SONIA rate as reference rate for the calculation of interest) and will be calculated by the Calculation Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Distribution, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) on the Distribution Determination Date, as follows, and the resulting percentage will be rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards:

$$\left(\frac{SONIA\ Compounded\ Index_{END}}{SONIA\ Compounded\ Index_{START}}\ -1\right) \times \left(\frac{365}{d}\right)$$

provided, however, that, subject to Condition 4(I)(i), if the SONIA Compounded Index Value is not available in relation to any Distribution Accrual Period on the Relevant Screen Page for the determination of either SONIA Compounded Index $_{\rm START}$  or SONIA Compounded Index $_{\rm END}$ , the Rate of Distribution shall be calculated for such Distribution Accrual Period on the basis of Compounded Daily SONIA and using the "SONIA Observation Shift" method (as set out in Condition 4(b)(iii)(C)(x)).

In the formula above:

"d" means the number of calendar days in the relevant SONIA Observation Period;

"London Business Day", means any day on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in London;

"p" means, for any Distribution Accrual Period, five London Business Days (or such other number of London Business Days as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement);

"SONIA Observation Period" means, in respect of a Distribution Accrual Period, the period from and including the date falling "p" London Business Days prior to the first day of such Distribution Accrual Period (and the first Distribution Accrual Period shall begin on and include the Distribution Commencement Date) and ending on (but excluding) the date which is "p" London Business Days prior to the Distribution Payment Date for such Distribution Accrual Period (or the date falling "p" London Business Days prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Perpetual Capital Securities become due and payable);

"SONIA Compounded Index" means, in respect of a Distribution Accrual Period, the index known as the SONIA Compounded Index administered by the Bank of England (or any successor administrator thereof);

"SONIA Compounded Index<sub>START</sub>" means the SONIA Compounded Index Value on the date which is "p" London Business Days preceding the first day of such Distribution Accrual Period (or in the first Distribution Accrual Period, the Distribution Commencement Date);

"SONIA Compounded Index<sub>END</sub>" means, in respect of a Distribution Accrual Period, the SONIA Compounded Index Value on the date which is "p" London Business Days preceding (i) the Distribution Payment Date of such Distribution Accrual Period, or (ii) the date on which the relevant Series of Perpetual Capital Securities becomes due and payable; and

"SONIA Compounded Index Value" means, in relation to any London Business Day, the value of the SONIA Compounded Index as published by authorized distributors on the Relevant Screen Page on such London Business Day or, if the value of the SONIA Compounded Index cannot be obtained from such authorized distributors, as published on the Bank of England's Website at www.bankofengland.co.uk/boeapps/database/ (or such other page or website as may replace such page for the purposes of publishing the SONIA Compounded Index) on the next following London Business Day.

- (z) If the relevant Series of Perpetual Capital Securities become due and payable in accordance with Condition 11, the final Distribution Determination Date shall, notwithstanding any Distribution Determination Date specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, be deemed to be the date on which such Perpetual Capital Securities became due and payable (with corresponding adjustments being deemed to be made to the Compounded Daily SONIA formula) and the Rate of Distribution on such Perpetual Capital Securities shall, for so long as any such Perpetual Capital Security remains outstanding, be that determined on such date.
- (D) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities where the Reference Rate is specified as being SOFR Benchmark

Where Screen Rate Determination is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Distribution is to be determined where the Reference Rate is SOFR Benchmark, the Rate of Distribution for each Distribution Accrual Period will, subject as provided

below, be equal to the relevant SOFR Benchmark plus or minus the Margin (if any) in accordance with Condition 4(d), all as determined by the Calculation Agent on the relevant Distribution Determination Date.

The "SOFR Benchmark" will be determined based on Compounded Daily SOFR or SOFR Index, as follows (subject in each case to Condition 4(I)):

(x) If Compounded Daily SOFR ("Compounded Daily SOFR") is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the SOFR Benchmark will be determined, the SOFR Benchmark for each Distribution Accrual Period shall be equal to the compounded average of daily SOFR reference rates for each day during the relevant Distribution Accrual Period (where "SOFR Observation Lag" or "SOFR Payment Delay" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement to determine Compounded Daily SOFR) or the SOFR Observation Period (where "SOFR Observation Shift" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement to determine Compounded Daily SOFR).

Compounded Daily SOFR shall be calculated by the Calculation Agent in accordance with one of the formulas referenced below depending upon which is specified as applicable in the applicable Pricing Supplement:

(i) SOFR Observation Lag:

$$\left(\prod_{i=1}^{d_o} \left(1 + \frac{SOFR_{i-xUSBD} \times n_i}{360}\right) - 1\right) \times \frac{360}{d}$$

with the resulting percentage being rounded, if necessary, to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 per cent. being rounded upwards (e.g., 9.876541 per cent. (or 0.09876541) being rounded down to 9.87654 per cent. (or 0.0987654) and 9.876545 per cent. (or 0.09876545) being rounded up to 9.87655 per cent. (or 0.0987655)) and where:

**"SOFR<sub>i-xUSBD</sub>**" for any U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i" in the relevant Distribution Accrual Period, is equal to the SOFR reference rate for the U.S. Government Securities Business Day falling the number of Lookback Days prior to that U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i";

"Lookback Days" means five U.S. Government Securities Business Days (or such other number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement);

"d" means the number of calendar days in the relevant Distribution Accrual Period;

"d<sub>o</sub>" for any Distribution Accrual Period, means the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days in the relevant Distribution Accrual Period;

"i" means a series of whole numbers ascending from one to do, representing each relevant U.S. Government Securities Business Day from (and including) the first U.S. Government Securities Business Day in the relevant Distribution Accrual Period; and

"n<sub>i</sub>" for any U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i" in the relevant Distribution Accrual Period, means the number of calendar days from (and including) such U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i" up to (but excluding) the following U.S. Government Securities Business Day for which SOFR<sub>i-xUSBD</sub> applies.

# (ii) SOFR Observation Shift:

$$\left(\prod_{i=1}^{d_o} \left(1 + \frac{SOFR_i \times n_i}{360}\right) - 1\right) \times \frac{360}{d}$$

with the resulting percentage being rounded, if necessary, to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 per cent. being rounded upwards (e.g., 9.876541 per cent. (or 0.09876541) being rounded down to 9.87654 per cent. (or 0.0987654) and 9.876545 per cent. (or 0.09876545) being rounded up to 9.87655 per cent. (or 0.0987655)) and where:

"SOFR<sub>i</sub>" for any U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i" in the relevant SOFR Observation Period, is equal to the SOFR reference rate for that U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i";

"SOFR Observation Period" means, in respect of each Distribution Accrual Period, the period from (and including) the date falling the number of SOFR Observation Shift Days prior to the first day of the relevant Distribution Accrual Period to (but excluding) the date falling the number of SOFR Observation Shift Days prior to the Distribution Period Date for such Distribution Accrual Period;

"SOFR Observation Shift Days" means five U.S. Government Securities Business Days (or such other number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement);

"d" means the number of calendar days in the relevant SOFR Observation Period;

"do" for any SOFR Observation Period, means the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days in the relevant SOFR Observation Period;

 $^{"i}$ " means a series of whole numbers ascending from one to  $d_o$ , representing each U.S. Government Securities Business Day from (and including) the first U.S. Government Securities Business Day in the relevant SOFR Observation Period; and

"n<sub>i</sub>" for any U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i" in the relevant SOFR Observation Period, means the number of calendar days from (and including) such U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i" up to (but excluding) the following U.S. Government Securities Business Day for which SOFR<sub>i</sub> applies.

(iii) SOFR Payment Delay:

$$\left(\prod_{i=1}^{d_o} \left(1 + \frac{SOFR_i \times n_i}{360}\right) - 1\right) \times \frac{360}{d}$$

with the resulting percentage being rounded, if necessary, to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 per cent. being rounded upwards (e.g., 9.876541 per cent. (or 0.09876541) being rounded down to 9.87654 per cent. (or 0.0987654) and 9.876545 per cent. (or 0.09876545) being rounded up to 9.87655 per cent. (or 0.0987655)) and where:

"SOFR<sub>i</sub>" for any U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i" in the relevant Distribution Accrual Period, is equal to the SOFR reference rate for that U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i";

"Distribution Payment Date" shall be the number of Distribution Payment Delay Days following each Distribution Period Date; provided that if the Issuer elects to redeem the Perpetual Capital Securities, the Distribution Payment Date will be the relevant Optional Redemption Date;

"Distribution Payment Delay Days" means the number of Business Days as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"d" means the number of calendar days in the relevant Distribution Accrual Period;

"do" for any Distribution Accrual Period, means the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days in the relevant Distribution Accrual Period;

 $^{"}_{i}$ " means a series of whole numbers ascending from one to d $_{o}$ , representing each relevant U.S. Government Securities Business Day from (and including) the first U.S. Government Securities Business Day in the relevant Distribution Accrual Period; and

"n<sub>i</sub>" for any U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i" in the relevant Distribution Accrual Period, means the number of calendar days from (and including) such U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i" up to (but excluding) the following U.S. Government Securities Business Day for which SOFR<sub>i</sub> applies.

For the purposes of calculating Compounded Daily SOFR with respect to the final Distribution Accrual Period (if the Issuer elects to redeem the Perpetual Capital Securities), where SOFR Payment Delay is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the SOFR reference rate for each U.S. Government Securities Business Day in the period from (and including) the SOFR Rate Cut-Off Date to (but excluding) the relevant Optional Redemption Date shall be the SOFR reference rate in respect of such SOFR Rate Cut-Off Date.

The following defined terms shall have the meanings set out below for purpose of this Condition 4(b)(iii)(D)(x):

"Bloomberg Screen SOFRRATE Page" means the Bloomberg screen designated "SOFRRATE" or any successor page or service;

"Reuters Page USDSOFR=" means the Reuters page designated "USDSOFR=" or any successor page or service;

"SOFR" means, with respect to any U.S. Government Securities Business Day, the reference rate determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following provision:

- (i) the Secured Overnight Financing Rate published at the SOFR Determination Time as such reference rate is reported on the Bloomberg Screen SOFRRATE Page; the Secured Overnight Financing Rate published at the SOFR Determination Time as such reference rate is reported on the Reuters Page USDSOFR=; or the Secured Overnight Financing Rate published at the SOFR Determination Time on the SOFR Administrator's Website; or
- (ii) if the reference rate specified in (i) above does not appear and a SOFR Benchmark Transition Event and its related SOFR Benchmark Replacement Date have not occurred, the SOFR reference rate shall be the reference rate published on the SOFR Administrator's Website for the first preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day for which SOFR was published on the SOFR Administrator's Website; or
- (iii) in the event that the Rate of Distribution cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions by the Calculation Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Distribution, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement), subject to Condition 4(I), the Rate of Distribution shall be:
  - (1) that determined as at the last preceding Distribution Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin or Maximum Rate of Distribution or Minimum Rate of Distribution is to be applied to the relevant Distribution Accrual Period from that which applied to the last preceding Distribution Accrual Period, the Margin or Maximum Rate of Distribution or Minimum Rate of Distribution (as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) relating to the relevant Distribution Accrual Period in place of the Margin or Maximum Rate of Distribution or Minimum Rate of Distribution relating to that last preceding Distribution Accrual Period); or

- (2) if there is no such preceding Distribution Determination Date, the initial Rate of Distribution which would have been applicable to such Series of Perpetual Capital Securities for the first Distribution Accrual Period had the Perpetual Capital Securities been in issue for a period equal in duration to the scheduled first Distribution Accrual Period but ending on (and excluding) the Distribution Commencement Date (but applying the Margin and any Maximum Rate of Distribution or Minimum Rate of Distribution applicable to the first Distribution Accrual Period); or
- (iii) if the reference rate specified in (i) above does not appear and a SOFR Benchmark Transition Event and its related SOFR Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred, the provisions set forth in Condition 4(I) shall apply;

"SOFR Rate Cut-Off Date" means the date that is a number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to the end of each Distribution Accrual Period or the relevant Optional Redemption Date, as applicable, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; and

"SOFR Determination Time" means approximately 3:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the immediately following U.S. Government Securities Business Day.

(y) If SOFR Index ("SOFR Index") is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the SOFR Benchmark for each Distribution Accrual Period shall be equal to the compounded average of daily SOFR reference rates for each day during the relevant SOFR Observation Period as calculated by the Calculation Agent as follows:

$$\left(\frac{SOFR\ Index_{End}}{SOFR\ Index_{Start}} - 1\right) \times \left(\frac{360}{d_c}\right)$$

with the resulting percentage being rounded, if necessary, to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 per cent. being rounded upwards (e.g., 9.876541 per cent. (or 0.09876541) being rounded down to 9.87654 per cent. (or 0.0987654) and 9.876545 per cent. (or 0.09876545) being rounded up to 9.87655 per cent. (or 0.0987655)) and where:

"SOFR Index" means, in respect of a U.S. Government Securities Business Day, the SOFR Index value as published on the SOFR Administrator's Website at the SOFR Index Determination Time on such U.S. Government Securities Business Day, *provided that*:

(i) if the value specified above does not appear and a SOFR Benchmark Transition Event and its related SOFR Benchmark Replacement Date have not occurred, the "SOFR Index" shall be calculated on any Distribution Determination Date with respect to a Distribution Accrual Period, in accordance with the Compounded Daily SOFR formula described above in Condition 4(b)(iii)(D)(x)(ii) "SOFR Observation Shift"; or

- (ii) if the value specified above does not appear and a SOFR Benchmark Transition Event and its related SOFR Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred, the provisions set forth in Condition 4(I) shall apply;
- "SOFR Index<sub>End</sub>" means, in respect of a Distribution Accrual Period, the SOFR Index value on the date that is five U.S. Government Securities Business Days (or such other number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) prior to the Distribution Period Date for such Distribution Accrual Period:
- "SOFR Index<sub>Start</sub>" means, in respect of a Distribution Accrual Period, the SOFR Index value on the date that is five U.S. Government Securities Business Days (or such other number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) prior to the first day of such Distribution Accrual Period;
- "SOFR Index Determination Time" means, in relation to any U.S. Government Securities Business Day, approximately 3:00 p.m. (New York City time) on such U.S. Government Securities Business Day;
- "SOFR Observation Period" means, in respect of a Distribution Accrual Period, the period from (and including) the date falling the number of SOFR Observation Shift Days prior to the first day of such Distribution Accrual Period to (but excluding) the date falling the number of SOFR Observation Shift Days prior to the Distribution Period Date for such Distribution Accrual Period;
- "SOFR Observation Shift Days" means five U.S. Government Securities Business Days (or such other number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement); and
- "d<sub>c</sub>" means the number of calendar days in the applicable SOFR Observation Period.

The following defined terms shall have the meanings set out below for purpose of this Condition 4(b)(iii)(D):

- "SOFR Administrator's Website" means the website of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or any successor source;
- "SOFR Benchmark Replacement Date" means the date of occurrence of a Benchmark Event with respect to the then-current SOFR Benchmark;
- "SOFR Benchmark Transition Event" means the occurrence of a Benchmark Event with respect to the then-current SOFR Benchmark; and
- "U.S. Government Securities Business Day" means any day except for a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association recommends that the fixed income departments of its members be closed for the entire day for purposes of trading in U.S. government securities.

If the relevant Series of Perpetual Capital Securities become due and payable in accordance with Condition 11, the final Distribution Determination Date shall, notwithstanding any Distribution Determination Date specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, be deemed to be the date on which such Perpetual Capital Securities became due and payable and the Rate of Distribution on such Perpetual Capital Securities shall, for so long as any such Perpetual Capital Securities remains outstanding, be that determined on such date.

(c) Accrual of Distribution: Subject to Condition 5, Distribution shall cease to accrue on each Perpetual Capital Security on the due date for redemption unless, upon due presentation, payment is improperly withheld or refused, in which event Distribution shall continue to accrue (both before and after judgment) at the Rate of Distribution in the manner provided in this Condition 4 to the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 9).

# (d) Margin, Maximum/Minimum Rates of Distribution and Redemption Amounts and Rounding:

- (i) If any Margin is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement (either (x) generally, or (y) in relation to one or more Distribution Accrual Periods), an adjustment shall be made to all Rates of Distribution, in the case of (x), or the Rates of Distribution for the specified Distribution Accrual Periods, in the case of (y), calculated in accordance with Condition 4(b) by adding (if a positive number) or subtracting (if a negative number) the absolute value of such Margin, subject always to Condition 4(d)(ii).
- (ii) If any Maximum or Minimum Rate of Distribution or Redemption Amount is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, then any Rate of Distribution or Redemption Amount shall be subject to such maximum or minimum, as the case may be.
- (iii) For the purposes of any calculations required pursuant to these Conditions (unless otherwise specified), (x) all percentages resulting from such calculations shall be rounded, if necessary, to the fifth decimal place (with halves being rounded up), (y) all figures shall be rounded to seven significant figures (with halves being rounded up) and (z) all currency amounts that fall due and payable shall be rounded to the nearest unit of such currency (with halves being rounded up), save in the case of yen, which shall be rounded down to the nearest yen. For these purposes "unit" means the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country or countries of such currency.
- (e) Calculations: The amount of Distribution payable per calculation amount specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement (or, if no such amount is so specified, the Specified Denomination) (the "Calculation Amount") in respect of any Perpetual Capital Security for any Distribution Accrual Period shall be equal to the product of the Rate of Distribution, the Calculation Amount specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, and the Day Count Fraction specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement for such Distribution Accrual Period, unless a Distribution Amount (or a formula for its calculation) is applicable to such Distribution Accrual Period, in which case the amount of Distribution payable per Calculation Amount in respect of such Perpetual Capital Security for such Distribution Accrual Period shall equal such Distribution Amount (or be calculated in accordance with such formula). Where any Distribution Period comprises two or more Distribution Accrual Periods, the amount of Distribution payable per Calculation Amount in respect of such Distribution Period shall be the sum of the Distribution Amounts payable in respect of each of those Distribution Accrual Periods. In respect of any other period for which Distribution is required to be calculated, the provisions above shall apply save that the Day Count Fraction shall be for the period for which Distribution is required to be calculated.

The amount payable in respect of the aggregate nominal amount of Perpetual Capital Securities represented by a Global Certificate shall be made in accordance with the methods of calculation provided for in these Conditions, **save that** the calculation is made in respect of the total aggregate amount of the Perpetual Capital Securities represented by a Global Certificate, together with such other sums and additional amounts (if any) as may be payable under these Conditions.

- (f) Determination and Publication of Reset Distribution Rate: The Calculation Agent shall, on the second Business Day prior to each Reset Date, calculate the applicable Reset Distribution Rate and cause the Reset Distribution Rate to be notified to the Trustee, the Issuer, each of the Paying Agents, the Securityholders, any other Calculation Agent appointed in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities that is to make a further calculation upon receipt of such information and, if the Perpetual Capital Securities are listed on a stock exchange and the rules of such exchange or other relevant authority so require, to such exchange or other relevant authority as soon as possible after their determination but in no event later than:
  - the commencement of the relevant Distribution Period, if determined prior to such time, in the case of notification to such exchange of a Rate of Distribution and Distribution Amount; or
  - (ii) in all other cases, the fourth Business Day after such determination.

The determination of any rate, the obtaining of each quotation and the making of each determination or calculation by the Calculation Agent(s) shall (in the absence of manifest error) be final and binding upon all parties.

(g) Determination and Publication of Rates of Distribution, Distribution Amounts, Final Redemption Amounts, Early Redemption Amounts and Optional Redemption Amounts: The Calculation Agent shall, as soon as practicable on each Distribution Determination Date, or such other time on such date as the Calculation Agent may be required to calculate any rate or amount, obtain any quotation or make any determination or calculation, determine such rate and calculate the Distribution Amounts for the relevant Distribution Accrual Period, calculate the Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount or Optional Redemption Amount specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, obtain such quotation or make such determination or calculation, as the case may be, and cause the Rate of Distribution and the Distribution Amounts for the relevant Distribution Accrual Period and, if required to be calculated, the Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount or any Optional Redemption Amount to be notified to the Trustee, the Issuer, each of the Paying Agents, the Securityholders, any other Calculation Agent appointed in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities that is to make a further calculation upon receipt of such information and, if the Perpetual Capital Securities are listed on a stock exchange and the rules of such exchange or other relevant authority so require, the Issuer shall cause the calculations to be notified to such exchange or other relevant authority as soon as possible after their determination but in no event later than (i) the commencement of the relevant Distribution Period, if determined prior to such time, in the case of notification to such exchange of a Rate of Distribution and Distribution Amount, or (ii) in all other cases, the fourth Business Day after such determination. Where any Distribution Payment Date or Distribution Period Date is subject to adjustment pursuant to Condition 4(b)(ii), the Distribution Amounts and the Distribution Payment Date so published may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the Distribution Period. If the Perpetual Capital Securities become due and payable under Condition 11, the accrued Distribution and the Rate of Distribution payable in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities shall nevertheless continue to be calculated as previously in accordance with this Condition 4(h) but no publication of the Rate of Distribution or the Distribution Amount so calculated need be made. The determination of any rate or amount, the obtaining of each quotation and the making of each determination or calculation by the Calculation Agent(s) shall (in the absence of manifest error) be final and binding upon all parties.

- (h) Determination or Calculation by an agent of the Issuer: If the Calculation Agent does not at any time for any reason determine or calculate the Rate of Distribution for a Distribution Accrual Period or any Distribution Amount, Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount or Optional Redemption Amount, the Issuer shall appoint an agent on its behalf to do so and such determination or calculation shall be deemed to have been made by the Calculation Agent. In doing so, such agent shall apply the foregoing provisions of this Condition 4, with any necessary consequential amendments, to the extent that, in its opinion, it can do so, and, in all other respects it shall do so in such manner as, in its absolute discretion, it shall deem fair and reasonable in all the circumstances. The determination of any rate or amount, the obtaining of each quotation and the making of each determination or calculation by such agent pursuant to this Condition 4(h) shall (in the absence of manifest error) be final and binding upon all parties.
- (i) **Definitions**: In these Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined terms shall have the meanings set out below:

## "Business Day" means:

- (i) if the Specified Currency is not Singapore dollars, Euro or Renminbi, a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in the principal financial center for such currency; and/or
- (ii) if the Specified Currency is Euro, a day on which the TARGET System is operating (a "TARGET Business Day"); and/or
- (iii) if the Specified Currency is Renminbi:
  - (A) and the Perpetual Capital Securities are cleared through CMU, a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday) on which commercial banks in Hong Kong are generally open for business and settlement of Renminbi payments in Hong Kong;
  - (B) and the Perpetual Capital Securities are cleared through CDP, a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or gazetted public holiday) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business and settlement of Renminbi payments in Singapore and Hong Kong; and
  - (C) the Perpetual Capital Securities are cleared through Euroclear and Clearstream, a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in London;
- (iv) if the Specified Currency is Singapore dollars:
  - (A) and the Perpetual Capital Securities are cleared through CDP, a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or gazetted public holiday) on which commercial banks settle payments in Singapore; and

- (B) the Perpetual Capital Securities are cleared through Euroclear and Clearstream, a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in London; and/or
- (v) in the case of a Specified Currency and/or one or more Business Centers specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in such Specified Currency in the Business Center(s) or, if no Specified Currency is indicated, generally in each of the Business Centers.

"Day Count Fraction" means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of Distribution on any Perpetual Capital Security for any period of time (from and including the first day of such period to but excluding the last) (whether or not constituting a Distribution Period or a Distribution Accrual Period, the "Calculation Period"):

- (i) if "Actual/Actual" or "Actual/Actual ISDA" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of that Calculation Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (A) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (B) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365);
- (ii) if "Actual/365 (Fixed)" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365;
- (iii) if "Actual/360" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360;
- (iv) if "30/360", "360/360" or "Bond Basis" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction = 
$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1)] = [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

where

"Y<sub>1</sub>" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls:

"Y<sub>2</sub>" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" $\mathbf{M_1}$ " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

"M<sub>2</sub>" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

"D<sub>1</sub>" is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

"D<sub>2</sub>" is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31 and D1 is greater than 29, in which case D2 will be 30;

(v) if "30E/360" or "Eurobond Basis" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction = 
$$\frac{[360 \text{ x } (Y_2 - Y_1)] = [30 \text{ x } (M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

where

- "Y<sub>1</sub>" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls:
- "Y<sub>2</sub>" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;
- "M<sub>1</sub>" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;
- "M<sub>2</sub>" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;
- "D<sub>1</sub>" is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and
- "D<sub>2</sub>" is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D2 will be 30;
- (vi) if "30E/360 (ISDA)" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction = 
$$\frac{[360 \text{ x } (Y_2 - Y_1)] = [30 \text{ x } (M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

where

- "Y<sub>1</sub>" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;
- "Y<sub>2</sub>" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;
- "M<sub>1</sub>" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;
- "M<sub>2</sub>" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;
- "D<sub>1</sub>" is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and
- " $\mathbf{D_2}$ " is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D2 will be 30;

- (vii) if "Actual/Actual-ICMA" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement:
  - (A) if the Calculation Period is equal to or shorter than the Determination Period during which it falls, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year; and
  - (B) if the Calculation Period is longer than one Determination Period, the sum of:
    - (x) the number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the Determination Period in which it begins divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such Determination Period and (2) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year; and
    - (y) the number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the next Determination Period divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such Determination Period and (2) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year

#### where:

"Determination Date" means the date(s) specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement or, if none is so specified, the Distribution Payment Date(s); and "Determination Period" means the period from and including a Determination Date in any year to but excluding the next Determination Date.

"Distribution Accrual Period" means the period beginning on (and including) the Distribution Commencement Date and ending on (but excluding) the first Distribution Period Date and each successive period beginning on (and including) a Distribution Period Date and ending on (but excluding) the next succeeding Distribution Period Date.

#### "Distribution Amount" means:

- (i) in respect of a Distribution Accrual Period, the amount of Distribution payable per Calculation Amount for that Distribution Accrual Period and which, in the case of Fixed Rate Perpetual Capital Securities, and unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, shall mean the Fixed Distribution Amount or Broken Amount specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being payable on the Distribution Payment Date ending the Distribution Period of which such Distribution Accrual Period forms part; and
- (ii) in respect of any other period, the amount of Distribution payable per Calculation Amount for that period.

"Distribution Commencement Date" means the Issue Date or such other date as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

"Distribution Determination Date" means, in respect of a Rate of Distribution and Distribution Accrual Period, the date specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement or, if none is so specified:

(i) the first day of such Distribution Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is Sterling (and in such case only if the relevant Reference Rate is not SONIA Benchmark), Hong Kong dollars or Renminbi;

- (ii) the day falling two Business Days in the relevant Financial Center for the Specified Currency prior to the first day of such Distribution Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is neither Sterling nor Euro nor Hong Kong dollars nor Renminbi and if the relevant Reference Rate is not SONIA Benchmark, SOFR Benchmark or SORA Benchmark;
- (iii) the day falling two TARGET Business Days prior to the first day of such Distribution Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is Euro;
- (iv) (where SONIA Benchmark is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the Reference Rate) the fifth London Business Day (or as otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) prior to the last day of each Distribution Accrual Period:
- (v) (where SOFR Benchmark is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the Reference Rate and where SOFR Observation Lag or SOFR Observation Shift is specified as applicable in the applicable Pricing Supplement to determine Compounded Daily SOFR or where SOFR Index is specified as applicable in the applicable Pricing Supplement) the fifth U.S. Government Securities Business Day (or as otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) prior to the last day of each Distribution Accrual Period;
- (vi) (where SOFR Benchmark is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the Reference Rate and where SOFR Payment Delay is specified as applicable in the applicable Pricing Supplement to determine Compounded Daily SOFR) the Distribution Period Date at the end of each Distribution Accrual Period, provided that the Distribution Determination Date with respect to the final Distribution Accrual Period will be the U.S. Government Securities Business Day immediately following the relevant SOFR Rate Cut-Off Date; and
- (vii) (where SORA Benchmark is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the Reference Rate) the meaning given to it in Conditions 4(k)(ii)(A)(z)(1), 4(k)(ii)(A)(z)(2) or 4(k)(ii)(A)(z)(3), as applicable.

"Distribution Period" means the period beginning on (and including) the Distribution Commencement Date and ending on (but excluding) the first Distribution Payment Date and each successive period beginning on (and including) a Distribution Payment Date and ending on (but excluding) the next succeeding Distribution Payment Date.

"Distribution Period Date" means each Distribution Payment Date unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

**"Euro"** means the currency of the member states of the European Union that adopt the single currency in accordance with the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended from time to time.

"Euro-zone" means the region comprising member states of the European Union that adopt the single currency in accordance with the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended from time to time.

"Hong Kong dollars" means the lawful currency of Hong Kong.

"ISDA Definitions" means the latest version of the 2021 ISDA Distribution Rate Derivatives Definitions, as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. and in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities as at the Issue Date for the first Tranche of the Perpetual Capital Securities, unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

"Rate of Distribution" means the rate of Distribution payable from time to time in respect of this Perpetual Capital Security and that is either specified or calculated in accordance with the provisions in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

"Reference Banks" means (i) in the case of a determination of EURIBOR, the principal Euro-zone office of four major banks in the Euro-zone inter-bank market and (ii) in the case of a determination of HIBOR, the principal Hong Kong office of four major banks in the Hong Kong inter-bank market, in each case selected by the Issuer or as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

"Reference Rate" means the rate specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

"Relevant Screen Page" means such page, section, caption, column or other part of a particular information service as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement or such other page, section, caption, column or other part as may replace it on that information service or such other information service, in each case, as may be nominated by the person providing or sponsoring the information appearing there for the purpose of displaying rates or prices comparable to the Reference Rate.

"Relevant Time" means, with respect to any Distribution Determination Date, the local time in the relevant Financial Center specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement or, if none is specified, the local time in the relevant financial center at which it is customary to determine bid and offered rates in respect of deposits in the relevant currency in the inter-bank market in the relevant financial center or, if no such customary local time exists, 11:00 a.m. in the relevant financial center and, for the purpose of this definition "local time" means, with respect to the Euro-zone as a relevant financial center, Central European Time.

"Renminbi" and "CNY" means the lawful currency of the PRC (as defined herein).

"Specified Currency" means the currency specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement or, if none is specified, the currency in which the Perpetual Capital Securities are denominated.

"Sterling" means pound sterling, the lawful currency of the United Kingdom.

"TARGET System" means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer (known as TARGET2) System which was launched on November 19, 2007 or any successor thereto.

"Yen" means the lawful currency of Japan.

(j) Calculation Agent: The Issuer shall procure that there shall at all times be one or more Calculation Agents if provision is made for them in the applicable Pricing Supplement and for so long as any Perpetual Capital Security is outstanding (as defined in the Trust Deed). Where more than one Calculation Agent is appointed in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities, references in these Conditions to the Calculation Agent shall be construed as each Calculation Agent performing its respective duties under these Conditions. If the Calculation Agent is unable or unwilling to act as such or if the Calculation Agent fails duly to establish the Rate of Distribution for a Distribution Accrual Period or to calculate any Distribution Amount, Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount or Optional Redemption Amount, as the case may be, or to comply with any other requirement, the Issuer shall appoint a leading bank or financial institution engaged in the inter-bank market (or, if appropriate, money, swap or

over-the-counter index options market) that is most closely connected with the calculation or determination to be made by the Calculation Agent (acting through its principal London office or any other office actively involved in such market) to act as such in its place. The Calculation Agent may not resign its duties without a successor having been appointed as aforesaid.

- (k) Distribution on Floating Perpetual Capital Securities (for Singapore Dollar Perpetual Capital Securities): Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the following provisions will apply to Singapore Dollar Perpetual Capital Securities which are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities. Terms used in this Condition 4(k) are defined in Condition 4(k)(vi).
  - (i) Distribution Payment Dates: Subject to Condition 5, each Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Security confers a right to receive Distribution on its Calculation Amount from and including the Distribution Commencement Date in respect thereof and as shown on the face of such Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Security, and such Distribution will be payable in arrear on each date ("Distribution Payment Date") which (save as mentioned in this Condition 4(k)) falls the number of months specified as the Distribution Period on the face of the Perpetual Capital Security (the "Specified Number of Months") after the preceding Distribution Payment Date or, in the case of the first Distribution Payment Date, after the Distribution Commencement Date (and which corresponds numerically with such preceding Distribution Payment Date or Distribution Commencement Date, as the case may be). If any Distribution Payment Date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a business day (as defined below), it shall be postponed to the next day which is a business day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month. In any such case as aforesaid or if there is no date in the relevant month which corresponds numerically with the preceding Distribution Payment Date or, as the case may be, the Distribution Commencement Date (a) the Distribution Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding business day and (b) each subsequent Distribution Payment Date shall be the last business day of the month which is the last of the Specified Number of Months after the month in which the preceding Distribution Payment Date or, as the case may be, the Distribution Commencement Date shall have fallen.

The period beginning on (and including) the Distribution Commencement Date and ending on (but excluding) the first Distribution Payment Date and each successive period beginning on (and including) a Distribution Payment Date and ending on (but *excluding*) the next succeeding Distribution Payment Date is herein called an "Distribution Period" and "business day" in this Condition 4(k) means a day (other than Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks are open for business in Singapore.

Distribution will cease to accrue on each Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Security from the due date for redemption thereof unless, upon due presentation thereof, payment of principal (or the Redemption Amount, as the case may be) is improperly withheld or refused, in which event Distribution will continue to accrue (as well after as before judgment) at the rate and in the manner provided in this Condition 4(k) and the Agency Agreement to the Relevant Date.

- (ii) Rate of Distribution for Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities:
  - (A) Each Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Security bears Distribution at a floating rate determined by reference to a benchmark as stated on the face of such Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Security and the applicable Pricing Supplement, being the Singapore Overnight Rate Average ("SORA") Benchmark (in which case such Perpetual Capital Security will be a SORA Perpetual Capital Security) or in any case such other benchmark as is set out on the face of such Perpetual Capital Security.

Such floating rate may be adjusted by adding or subtracting the Margin (if any) stated on the face of such Perpetual Capital Security. The "Margin" is the percentage rate per annum specified on the face of such Perpetual Capital Security as being applicable to the rate of Distribution for such Perpetual Capital Security. The rate of Distribution so calculated shall be subject to Condition 4(k)(vi).

(z) in the case of Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities which are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being SORA Perpetual Capital Securities, the Rate of Distribution for each Distribution Accrual Period will, subject as provided below, be equal to the relevant SORA Benchmark (as defined below) plus or minus the Margin

The "SORA Benchmark" will be determined based on Compounded Daily SORA or SORA Index Average, as follows (subject in each case to Condition 4(I)(iii):

If Compounded Daily SORA ("Compounded Daily SORA") is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the SORA Benchmark for each Distribution Accrual Period shall be equal to the value of the SORA rates for each day during the relevant Distribution Accrual Period (where Lookback is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement to determine Compounded Daily SORA) or Observation Period (where Backward Shifted Observation Period is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement to determine Compounded Daily SORA).

Compounded Daily SORA shall be calculated by the Calculation Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Distribution, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) on the relevant Distribution Determination Date in accordance with one of the formulas referenced below depending upon which is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement:

(1) where Lookback is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement:

$$\left[ \prod_{i=1}^{d_o} \left( 1 + \frac{SORA_{i-xSBD} \times n_i}{365} \right) - 1 \right] \times \frac{365}{d}$$

"Compounded Daily SORA" means, with respect to a Distribution Accrual Period, the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment during the Observation Period corresponding to such Distribution Accrual Period (with the reference rate for the calculation of distributions being the daily Singapore Overnight Rate Average) calculated in accordance with the formula set forth below by the Calculation Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Distribution, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) on the Distribution Determination Date, with the resulting percentage being rounded, if necessary, to the fourth decimal place (0.0001 %), with 0.00005% being rounded upwards.

#### where:

- "d" is the number of calendar days in the relevant Distribution Accrual Period;
- "do", for any Distribution Accrual Period, is the number of Singapore Business Days in the relevant Distribution Accrual Period;
- "i", for the relevant Distribution Accrual Period, is a series of whole numbers from one to do, each representing the relevant Singapore Business Days in chronological order from, and including, the first Singapore Business Day in such Distribution Accrual Period to the last Singapore Business Day in such Distribution Accrual Period;
- "Distribution Determination Date" means, with respect to a Rate of Distribution and Distribution Accrual Period, the date falling one Singapore Business Day after the end of each Observation Period;
- " $\mathbf{n_i}$ ", for any day "i", is the number of calendar days from and including such day "i" up to but excluding the following Singapore Business Day;
- "Singapore Business Days" or "SBD" means a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or gazetted public holiday) on which commercial banks settle payments in Singapore;
- "Observation Period" means, for the relevant Distribution Accrual Period, the period from, and including, the date falling five Singapore Business Days (or, if higher, such other number of Singapore Business Days specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) prior to the first day of such Distribution Accrual Period (and the first Distribution Accrual Period shall begin on and include the Distribution Commencement Date) and to, but excluding, the date falling five Singapore Business Days (or, if higher, such other number of Singapore Business Days specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) prior to the Distribution Payment Date at the end of such Distribution Accrual Period (or the date falling five Singapore Business Days (or, if higher, such other number of Singapore Business Days specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Perpetual Capital Securities become due and payable);

"SORA" means, in respect of any Singapore Business Day "i", a reference rate equal to the daily Singapore Overnight Rate Average provided by the Monetary Authority of Singapore (or a successor administrator), as the administrator of the benchmark, on the Monetary Authority of Singapore's website currently at http://www.mas.gov.sg, or any successor website officially designated by the Monetary Authority of Singapore (or as published by its authorized distributors) (the "Relevant Screen Page") on the Singapore Business Day immediately following such day "i"; and

"SORA<sub>i - x sbd</sub>", in respect of any Singapore Business Day falling in the relevant Observation Period, the reference rate equal to SORA in respect of the Singapore Business Day falling five Singapore Business Days (or such other number of Singapore Business Days specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) prior to the relevant Singapore Business Day "i".

(2) where Backward Shifted Observation Period is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement:

"Compounded Daily SORA" means, with respect to a Distribution Accrual Period, the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment during the Observation Period corresponding to such Distribution Accrual Period (with the reference rate for the calculation of distributions being the daily Singapore Overnight Rate Average) calculated in accordance with the formula set forth below by the Calculation Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Distribution, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) on the Distribution Determination Date, with the resulting percentage being rounded, if necessary, to the fourth decimal place (0.0001 %), with 0.00005% being rounded upwards.

$$\left[ \prod_{i=1}^{d_o} \left( 1 + \frac{SORA_i \times n_i}{365} \right) - 1 \right] \times \frac{365}{d}$$

where:

"d" is the number of calendar days in the relevant Observation Period;

"do", for any Distribution Accrual Period, is the number of Singapore Business Days in the relevant Observation Period;

"i", for the relevant Distribution Accrual Period, is a series of whole numbers from one to do, each representing the relevant Singapore Business Days in chronological order from, and including, the first Singapore Business Day in such Observation Period to the last Singapore Business Day in such Observation Period;

"Distribution Determination Date" means, with respect to a Rate of Distribution and Distribution Accrual Period, the date falling one Singapore Business Day after the end of each Observation Period;

"n<sub>i</sub>", for any day "i", is the number of calendar days from and including such day "i" up to but excluding the following Singapore Business Day;

"Singapore Business Days" or "SBD" means a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or gazetted public holiday) on which commercial banks settle payments in Singapore;

"Observation Period" means, for the relevant Distribution Accrual Period, the period from, and including, the date falling five Singapore Business Days (or such other number of Singapore Business Days specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) prior to the first day of such Distribution Accrual Period (and the first Distribution Accrual Period shall begin on and include the Distribution Commencement Date) and to, but excluding, the date falling five Singapore Business Days (or such other number of Singapore Business Days specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) prior to the Distribution Payment Date at the end of such Distribution Accrual Period (or the date falling five Singapore Business Days specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Perpetual Capital Securities become due and payable);

"SORA" means, in respect of any Singapore Business Day "i", a reference rate equal to the daily Singapore Overnight Rate Average provided by the Monetary Authority of Singapore (or a successor administrator), as the administrator of the benchmark, on the Monetary Authority of Singapore's website currently at http://www.mas.gov.sg, or any successor website officially designated by the Monetary Authority of Singapore (or as published by its authorized distributors) (the "Relevant Screen Page") on the Singapore Business Day immediately following such day "i"; and

"SORA<sub>i</sub>" means, in respect of any Singapore Business Day falling in the relevant Observation Period, the reference rate equal to SORA in respect of that Singapore Business Day.

For the avoidance of doubt, the formula for the calculation of Compounded Daily SORA only compounds SORA in respect of any Singapore Business Day. SORA applied to a day that is not a Singapore Business Day will be taken by applying SORA for the previous Singapore Business Day but without compounding.

(3) For each Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Security where the Reference Rate is specified as being SORA Index Average ("SORA Index Average"), the SORA Benchmark for each Distribution Accrual Period shall be equal to the value of the SORA rates for each day during the relevant Distribution Accrual Period as calculated by the Calculation Agent (or such other party

responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Distribution, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) on the relevant Distribution Determination Date as follows:

$$\left(\frac{SOFR\ Index_{End}}{SOFR\ Index_{Start}} - 1\right) \times \left(\frac{360}{d_c}\right)$$

and the resulting percentage being rounded if necessary to the fourth decimal place (0.0001%), with 0.00005% being rounded upwards, where:

" $d_c$ " means the number of calendar days from (and including) the SORA Index<sub>Start</sub> to (but excluding) the SORA Index<sub>End</sub>;

"Singapore Business Days" or "SBD" means a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or gazetted public holiday) on which commercial banks settle payments in Singapore;

"SORA Index" means, in relation to any Singapore Business Day, the SORA Index as published by the Monetary Authority of Singapore (or a successor administrator), as the administrator of the benchmark, on the Monetary Authority of Singapore's website currently at http://www.mas.gov.sg, or any successor website officially designated by the Monetary Authority of Singapore (or as published by its authorized distributors) at the SORA Index Determination Time, provided that if the SORA Index does not so appear at the SORA Index Determination Time, then:

- (i) if a SORA Index Cessation Event has not occurred, the "SORA Index Average" shall be calculated on any Distribution Determination Date with respect to a Distribution Accrual Period, in accordance with the Compounded Daily SORA formula described above in Condition 4(k)(ii)(A)(z)(2), and the Observation Period shall be calculated with reference to the number of Singapore Business Days preceding the first date of the relevant Distribution Accrual Period that is used in the definition of SORA Index<sub>Start</sub> as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; or
- (ii) if a SORA Index Cessation Event has occurred, the provisions set forth in Condition 4(I)(iii) shall apply;

"SORA Index<sub>End</sub>" means the SORA Index value on the date falling five Singapore Business Days (or such other number of Singapore Business Days as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) preceding the last date of the relevant Distribution Accrual Period;

"SORA Index<sub>Start</sub>" means the SORA Index value on the date falling five Singapore Business Days (or such other number of Singapore Business Days as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) preceding the first date of the relevant Distribution Accrual Period; and

- "SORA Index Determination Time" means, in relation to any Singapore Business Day, approximately 3:00 p.m. (Singapore time) on such Singapore Business Day.
- (4) If, subject to Condition 4(I), by 5:00 p.m., Singapore time, on the Singapore Business Day immediately following such day "i", SORA in respect of such day "i" has not been published and a SORA Index Cessation Event has not occurred, then SORA for that day "i" will be SORA as published in respect of the first preceding Singapore Business Day for which SORA was published.
- (5) In the event that the Rate of Distribution cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions by the Calculation Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Distribution, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement), subject to Condition 4(I), the Rate of Distribution shall be:
  - (A) that determined as at the last preceding Distribution Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin or Maximum Rate of Distribution or Minimum Rate of Distribution is to be applied to the relevant Distribution Accrual Period from that which applied to the last preceding Distribution Accrual Period, the Margin or Maximum Rate of Distribution or Minimum Rate of Distribution (as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) relating to the relevant Distribution Accrual Period in place of the Margin or Maximum Rate of Distribution or Minimum Rate of Distribution relating to that last preceding Distribution Accrual Period); or
  - (B) if there is no such preceding Distribution Determination Date, the initial Rate of Distribution which would have been applicable to such Series of Perpetual Capital Securities for the first Distribution Accrual Period had the Perpetual Capital Securities been in issue for a period equal in duration to the scheduled first Distribution Accrual Period but ending on (and excluding) the Distribution Commencement Date (but applying the Margin and any Maximum Rate of Distribution or Minimum Rate of Distribution applicable to the first Distribution Accrual Period).

If the relevant Series of Perpetual Capital Securities become due and payable in accordance with Condition 11, the final Distribution Determination Date shall, notwithstanding any Distribution Determination Date specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, be deemed to be the date on which such Perpetual Capital Securities became due and payable (with corresponding adjustments being deemed to be made to the applicable SORA Benchmark formula) and the Rate of Distribution on such Perpetual Capital Security remains outstanding, be that determined on such date.

(C) On the last day of each Distribution Period, the Issuer will pay Distribution on each Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Security to which such Distribution Period relates at the Rate of Distribution for such Distribution Period.

# (iii) Determination of Rate of Distribution and Calculation of Distribution Amounts

The Calculation Agent will, at the Relevant Time on each Distribution Determination Date, determine the Rate of Distribution and calculate the amount of Distribution payable (the "Distribution Amounts") in respect of each denomination of the relevant Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities for the relevant Distribution Period. The Distribution Amounts shall be calculated by applying the Rate of Distribution to the Calculation Amount, multiplying such product by the actual number of days in the Distribution Period concerned, divided by the FRN Day Basis shown on the face of such Perpetual Capital Security and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest cent. The determination of the Rate of Distribution and the Distribution Amounts by the Calculation Agent shall (in the absence of manifest error) be final and binding upon all parties.

### (iv) Duration of Rate of Distribution and Distribution Amounts

The Calculation Agent will cause the Rate of Distribution and the Distribution Amounts for each Distribution Period and the relevant Distribution Payment Date to be notified to the Issuing and Paying Agent, the Issuer and each of the Paying Agents and to be notified to Securityholders and, if the Perpetual Capital Securities are listed on a stock exchange and the rules of such exchange or other relevant authority so require, the Issuer shall cause the Rate of Distribution and the Distribution Amounts for each Distribution Period and the relevant Distribution Payment Date to be notified to such exchange or other relevant authority as soon as possible after their determination but in no event later than (i) the commencement of the relevant Distribution Period, if determined prior to such time, in the case of notification to such exchange or other relevant authority, or (ii) in all other cases the fourth Relevant Business Day thereafter. The Distribution Amounts and the Distribution Payment Date so published may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the Distribution Period.

# (v) Calculation Agent and Reference Banks

The Issuer will procure that, so long as any relevant Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities remains outstanding, there shall at all times be three Reference Banks and a Calculation Agent. If any Reference Bank (acting through its relevant office) is unable or unwilling to continue to act as a Reference Bank or the Calculation Agent is unable or unwilling to act as such or if the Calculation Agent fails duly to establish the Rate of Distribution for any Distribution Period or to calculate the Distribution Amounts or the Redemption Amount, the Issuer will appoint the Singapore office of a leading bank or merchant bank engaged in the Singapore inter-bank market to act as such in its place and will notify such change(s) to the Securityholders. The Calculation Agent may not resign its duties without a successor having been appointed as aforesaid.

# (vi) Definitions

As used in this Condition 4(k):

"Calculation Agent" means the calculation agent designated for the relevant Perpetual Capital Securities;

"Calculation Amount" means the amount specified as such on the face of any Perpetual Capital Security, or if no such amount is so specified, the Denomination Amount of such Perpetual Capital Security as shown on the face thereof; "Distribution Commencement Date" means, in the case of the first issue of a Perpetual Capital Security or Perpetual Capital Securities of a Series, the Issue Date or such other date as may be specified as the Distribution Commencement on the face of such Perpetual Capital Security and, in the case of a further issue of a Perpetual Capital Security or Perpetual Capital Securities of such Series, means the most recent Reference Date or, as the case may be, Distribution Payment Date in relation to such first issue next preceding the date on which such further Perpetual Capital Security or Perpetual Capital Securities are issued or if there is no such date, the Distribution Commencement Date in respect of such first issue:

"Reference Banks" means the principal Singapore office of three major banks in the Singapore Inter-bank market, selected by the Issuer or as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"Relevant Time" means 11.00 a.m. (Singapore time).

### (I) Benchmark Discontinuation

# (i) Benchmark Discontinuation (General)

Where the Pricing Supplement specifies this Condition 4(I)(i) as applicable:

# (A) Independent Adviser

If a Benchmark Event occurs in relation to an Original Reference Rate when any Rate of Distribution (or any component part thereof) remains to be determined by reference to such Original Reference Rate, the Issuer shall use its reasonable endeavors to appoint an Independent Adviser, as soon as reasonably practicable, to determine a Successor Rate, or failing which, an Alternative Rate (in accordance with Condition 4(I)(i)(B)) and, in either case, an Adjustment Spread and any Benchmark Amendments (in accordance with Condition 4(I)(i)(D)).

In making such determination, the Independent Adviser appointed pursuant to this Condition 4(l)(i) shall act in good faith as an expert and in consultation with the Issuer. In the absence of bad faith or fraud, the Independent Adviser shall have no liability whatsoever to the Issuer, the Trustee, the Paying Agents, or the Securityholders for any determination made by it, pursuant to this Condition 4(l)(i).

If:

- (i) the Issuer is unable to appoint an Independent Adviser; or
- (ii) the Independent Adviser fails to determine a Successor Rate or, failing which, an Alternative Rate,

in accordance with this Condition 4(I)(i)(A) prior to the relevant Distribution Determination Date, the Rate of Distribution applicable to the next succeeding Distribution Accrual Period shall be equal to the Rate of Distribution last determined in relation to the Perpetual Capital Securities in respect of the immediately preceding Distribution Accrual Period. If there has not been a first Distribution Payment Date, the Rate of Distribution shall be the initial Rate of Distribution. Where a different Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Distribution is to be applied to the relevant Distribution

Accrual Period from that which applied to the last preceding Distribution Accrual Period, the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Distribution relating to the relevant Distribution Accrual Period shall be substituted in place of the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Distribution relating to that last preceding Distribution Accrual Period. For the avoidance of doubt, this paragraph shall apply to the relevant next succeeding Distribution Accrual Period only and any subsequent Distribution Accrual Periods are subject to the subsequent operation of, and to adjustment as provided in, the first paragraph of this Condition 4(I)(i)(A).

### (B) Successor Rate or Alternative Rate

If the Independent Adviser determines that:

- (i) there is a Successor Rate, then such Successor Rate and the applicable Adjustment Spread shall subsequently be used in place of the Original Reference Rate to determine the Rate of Distribution (or the relevant component part thereof) for all future payments of distribution on the Perpetual Capital Securities (subject to the operation of this Condition 4(I)(i)); or
- (ii) there is no Successor Rate but that there is an Alternative Rate, then such Alternative Rate and the applicable Adjustment Spread shall subsequently be used in place of the Original Reference Rate to determine the Rate of Distribution (or the relevant component part thereof) for all future payments of distribution on the Perpetual Capital Securities (subject to the operation of this Condition 4(I)(i)).

### (C) Adjustment Spread

The Adjustment Spread (or the formula or methodology for determining the Adjustment Spread) shall be applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be). If the Independent Adviser (in consultation with the Issuer) is unable to determine the quantum of, or a formula or methodology for determining, such Adjustment Spread, then the Successor Rate or Alternative Reference Rate (as applicable) will apply without an Adjustment Spread.

# (D) Benchmark Amendments

If any Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and, in either case, the applicable Adjustment Spread is determined in accordance with this Condition 4(I)(i) and the Independent Adviser (in consultation with the Issuer) determines

- (i) that amendments to these Conditions and/or the Trust Deed are necessary to ensure the proper operation of such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and/or (in either case) the applicable Adjustment Spread (such amendments, the "Benchmark Amendments"); and
- (ii) the terms of the Benchmark Amendments, then the Issuer shall, subject to giving notice thereof in accordance with Condition 4(I)(i)(E), without any requirement for the consent or approval of Securityholders, the Trustee or the Agents, vary these Conditions and/or the Trust Deed to give effect to such Benchmark Amendments with effect from the date specified in such notice.

At the request of the Issuer, but subject to receipt by the Trustee of a certificate signed by two authorized signatories of the Issuer pursuant to Condition 4(I)(i)(E), the Trustee shall (at the expense of the Issuer), without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Securityholders, be obliged to concur with the Issuer in effecting any Benchmark Amendments (including, *inter alia*, by the execution of a deed supplemental to or amending the Trust Deed), provided that the Trustee shall not be obliged so to concur if in the opinion of the Trustee doing so would impose more onerous obligations upon it or expose it to any additional duties, responsibilities or liabilities or reduce or amend the protective provisions afforded to the Trustee in these Conditions or the Trust Deed (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any supplemental trust deed) in any way.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Trustee and the Issuing and Paying Agent shall, at the direction and expense of the Issuer, effect such consequential amendments to the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and these Conditions as may be required in order to give effect to this Condition 4(I)(i)(D). Securityholders' consent shall not be required in connection with the effecting of the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as applicable) or such other changes, including the execution of any documents or any steps by the Trustee or the Issuing and Paying Agent (if required). Further, none of the Trustee, the Calculation Agent, the Paying Agents, the Registrars or the Transfer Agents shall be responsible or liable for any determinations or certifications made by the Issuer or the Independent Adviser with respect to any Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (as applicable) or any other changes and shall be entitled to rely conclusively on any certifications provided to each of them in this regard.

In connection with any such variation in accordance with this Condition 4(I)(i)(D), the Issuer shall comply with the rules of any stock exchange on which the Perpetual Capital Securities are for the time being listed or admitted to trading.

# (E) Notices

Any Successor Rate, Alternative Rate, Adjustment Spread and the specific terms of any Benchmark Amendments, determined under this Condition 4(I)(i) will be notified promptly by the Issuer to the Trustee, the Calculation Agent, the Paying Agents and, in accordance with Condition 16, the Securityholders or the Couponholders. Such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the effective date of the Benchmark Amendments, if any.

No later than notifying the Securityholders of the same, the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee a certificate signed by two authorized signatories of the Issuer:

# (x) confirming

- (1) that a Benchmark Event has occurred,
- (2) the Successor Rate or, as the case may be, the Alternative Rate,
- (3) the applicable Adjustment Spread, and
- (4) the specific terms of the Benchmark Amendments (if any),

in each case as determined in accordance with the provisions of this Condition 4(I)(i); and

(y) certifying that the Benchmark Amendments (if any) are necessary to ensure the proper operation of such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and (in either case) the applicable Adjustment Spread.

The Trustee shall be entitled to rely on such certificate (without liability to any person) as sufficient evidence thereof. The Successor Rate, Alternative Rate, the Adjustment Spread or the Benchmark Amendments (if any) specified in such certificate will (in the absence of manifest error or bad faith in the determination of the Successor Rate, Alternative Rate, the Adjustment Spread or the Benchmark Amendments (if any) and without prejudice to the Trustee's ability to rely on such certificate as aforesaid) be binding on the Issuer, the Trustee, the Calculation Agent, the Paying Agents, the Securityholders and Couponholders.

# (F) Survival of Original Reference Rate

Without prejudice to the obligations of the Issuer under Condition 4(I)(i)(A), 4(I)(i)(B), 4(I)(i)(C) and 4(I)(i)(D), the Original Reference Rate and the fallback provisions provided for in Condition 4(b)(iii)(B) or (C), as applicable, will continue to apply unless and until a Benchmark Event has occurred.

# (G) Definitions:

As used in this Condition 4(I)(i):

# "Adjustment Spread" means either

- (i) a spread (which may be positive, negative or zero) or
- (ii) a formula or methodology for calculating a spread, in each case to be applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) and is the spread, formula or methodology which:
  - (x) in the case of a Successor Rate, is formally recommended in relation to the replacement of the Original Reference Rate with the Successor Rate by any Relevant Nominating Body; or (if no such recommendation has been made, or in the case of an Alternative Rate);
  - (y) the Independent Adviser determines, as being customarily applied to the relevant Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) in international debt capital markets transactions to produce an industry-accepted replacement rate for the Original Reference Rate; or (if the Independent Adviser determines that no such spread is customarily applied);
  - (z) the Independent Adviser (in consultation with the Issuer) determines, and which is recognized or acknowledged as being the industry standard for over-the-counter derivative transactions which reference the Original Reference Rate, where such rate has been replaced by the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be).

"Alternative Rate" means an alternative benchmark or screen rate which the Independent Adviser determines in accordance with Condition 4(I)(i)(B) is customarily applied in international debt capital markets transactions for the purposes of determining rates of interest (or the relevant component part thereof) in the same Specified Currency as the Perpetual Capital Securities.

"Benchmark Amendments" has the meaning given to it in Condition 4(I)(i)(D).

#### "Benchmark Event" means:

- (i) the Original Reference Rate ceasing be published for a period of at least five Business Days or ceasing to exist; or
- (ii) a public statement by the administrator of the Original Reference Rate that it has ceased or that it will, cease publishing the Original Reference Rate permanently or indefinitely (in circumstances where no successor administrator has been appointed that will continue publication of the Original Reference Rate); or
- (iii) a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference Rate, that the Original Reference Rate has been or will, be permanently or indefinitely discontinued; or
- (iv) a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference Rate as a consequence of which the Original Reference Rate will be prohibited from being used either generally, or in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities, in each case within the following six months; or
- (v) a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference Rate that the Original Reference Rate is or will be (or is or will be deemed by such supervisor to be) no longer representative of its relevant underlying market; or
- (vi) it has become unlawful for any Paying Agent, Calculation Agent, the Issuer or other party to calculate any payments due to be made to any Securityholder using the Original Reference Rate,

provided that the Benchmark Event shall be deemed to occur (a) in the case of sub-paragraphs (ii) and (iii) above, on the date of the cessation of publication of the Original Reference Rate or the discontinuation of the Original Reference Rate, as the case may be, (b) in the case of sub-paragraph (iv) above, on the date of the prohibition of use of the Original Reference Rate and (c) in the case of sub-paragraph (v) above, on the date with effect from which the Original Reference Rate will no longer be (or will be deemed by the relevant supervisor to no longer be) representative of its relevant underlying market and which is specified in the relevant public statement, and, in each case, not the date of the relevant public statement.

The occurrence of a Benchmark Event shall be determined by the Issuer and promptly notified to the Trustee, the Calculation Agent and the Paying Agents. For the avoidance of doubt, neither the Trustee, the Calculation Agent nor the Paying Agents shall have any responsibility for making such determination.

"Independent Adviser" means an independent financial institution of international repute or an independent financial adviser with appropriate expertise appointed by and at the expense of the Issuer under Condition 4(I)(i)(A).

"Original Reference Rate" means the originally-specified benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) used to determine the Rate of Distribution (or any component part thereof) on the Perpetual Capital Securities.

"Relevant Nominating Body" means, in respect of a benchmark or screen rate (as applicable):

- the central bank for the currency to which the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) relates, or any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for supervising the administrator of the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable); or
- (ii) any working group or committee sponsored by, chaired or co-chaired by or constituted at the request of:
  - (w) the central bank for the currency to which the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) relates;
  - (x) any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for supervising the administrator of the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable);
  - (y) a group of the aforementioned central banks or other supervisory authorities; or
  - (z) the Financial Stability Board or any part thereof.

"Successor Rate" means a successor to or replacement of the Original Reference Rate which is formally recommended by any Relevant Nominating Body.

Where the Original Reference Rate for a Series of Perpetual Capital Securities is EURIBOR, the Successor Rate could include the rate (inclusive of any spreads or adjustments) formally recommended by (i) the working group on euro risk free rates established by the European Central Bank, the Financial Services and Markets Authority, the European Securities and Markets Authority and the European Commission, (ii) the European Money Market Institute, as the administrator of EURIBOR, (iii) the competent authority responsible under Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 for supervising the European Money Market Institute, as the administrator of the EURIBOR, or (iv) the national competent authority designated by each Member State under Regulation (EU) 2016/1011, or (v) the European Central Bank.

# (ii) Benchmark Discontinuation (SOFR)

This Condition 4(I)(ii) shall only apply to U.S. dollar-denominated Perpetual Capital Securities where so specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

The following provisions shall apply if Benchmark Discontinuation (SOFR) is specified as applicable in the applicable Pricing Supplement:

# (A) Benchmark Replacement

If the Issuer or its designee determines on or prior to the relevant Reference Time that a Benchmark Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to the-then current Benchmark, the Benchmark Replacement will replace the then-current Benchmark for all purposes relating to the Perpetual Capital Securities in respect of all determinations on such date and for all determinations on all subsequent dates.

# (B) Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes

In connection with the implementation of a Benchmark Replacement, the Issuer or its designee will have the right to make Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes from time to time. For the avoidance of doubt, the Trustee and any of the Agents shall, at the direction and expense of the Issuer, but subject to receipt by the Trustee of a certificate signed by two authorized signatories of the Issuer confirming that a Benchmark Event has occurred, without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Securityholders, effect such consequential amendments to the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and these Conditions as may be required to give effect to this Condition 4(I)(ii)(B) and none of the Trustee or the Agents shall be liable to any party for any consequences thereof, provided that the Trustee and the Agents shall not be obliged to effect any such amendments, if, in the opinion of the Trustee or the Agents, doing so would impose more onerous obligations upon it or expose it to any additional duties, responsibilities or liabilities or reduce or amend the rights and/or protective provisions afforded to it in these Conditions and/or the Trust Deed and/or the Agency Agreement and/or any documents to which it is a party (including for the avoidance of doubt, any supplemental trust deed or supplemental agency agreement) in any way. Securityholders' consent shall not be required in connection with effecting any such changes, including the execution of any documents or any steps to be taken by the Trustee or any of the Agents (if required). Further, none of the Trustee, the Calculation Agent, the Paying Agents, the Registrars or the Transfer Agents shall be responsible or liable for any determinations, decisions or elections made by the Issuer or its designee with respect to any Benchmark Replacement or any other changes and shall be entitled to rely conclusively on any certifications provided to each of them in this regard.

### (C) Decisions and Determinations

Any determination, decision or election that may be made by the Issuer or its designee pursuant to this Condition 4(I)(ii), including any determination with respect to a tenor, rate or adjustment or of the occurrence or non-occurrence of an event, circumstance or date and any decision to take or refrain from taking any action or any selection (i) will be conclusive and binding absent manifest error, (ii) will be made in the sole discretion of the Issuer or its designee, as applicable, and (iii) notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the documentation relating to the Perpetual Capital Securities, shall become effective without consent from the holders of the Perpetual Capital Securities or any other party.

# (D) Definitions

The following defined terms shall have the meanings set out below for purpose of this Condition 4(I)(ii):

"Benchmark" means, initially, the relevant SOFR Benchmark specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; provided that if the Issuer or its designee determines on or prior to the Reference Time that a Benchmark Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to the relevant SOFR Benchmark (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof) or the then-current Benchmark, then "Benchmark" means the applicable Benchmark Replacement;

"Benchmark Event" means the occurrence of one or more of the following events with respect to the then-current Benchmark (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof):

- (i) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component) announcing that such administrator has ceased or will cease to provide the Benchmark (or such component), permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the Benchmark (or such component); or
- (ii) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component), the central bank for the currency of the Benchmark (or such component), an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the administrator for the Benchmark (or such component), a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator for the Benchmark (or such component) or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator for the Benchmark, which states that the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component) has ceased or will cease to provide the Benchmark (or such component) permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the Benchmark (or such component); or
- (iii) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Benchmark announcing that the Benchmark is no longer representative;

"Benchmark Replacement" means the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Issuer or its designee as of the Benchmark Replacement Date:

- (i) the sum of:
  - (a) the alternate reference rate that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body as the replacement for the then-current Benchmark (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof); and
  - (b) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment;

- (ii) the sum of:
  - (a) the ISDA Fallback Rate; and
  - (b) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment;
- (iii) the sum of:
  - (a) the alternate reference rate that has been selected by the Issuer or its designee as the replacement for the then-current Benchmark (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof) giving due consideration to any industry-accepted reference rate as a replacement for the then-current Benchmark (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof) for U.S. dollar-denominated Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities at such time; and
  - (b) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment;

"Benchmark Replacement Adjustment" means the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Issuer or its designee as of the Benchmark Replacement Date:

- the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body for the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement;
- (ii) if the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement is equivalent to the ISDA Fallback Rate, the ISDA Fallback Adjustment; or
- (iii) the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected by the Issuer or its designee giving due consideration to any industry-accepted spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of the then-current Benchmark (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof) with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for U.S. dollar-denominated Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities at such time;

"Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes" means, with respect to any Benchmark Replacement, any technical, administrative or operational changes (including changes to the timing and frequency of determining rates and making payments of interest, rounding of amounts or tenors, and other administrative matters) the Issuer or its designee decides may be appropriate to reflect the adoption of such Benchmark Replacement in a manner substantially consistent with market practice (or, if the Issuer or its designee decides that adoption of any portion of such market practice is not administratively feasible or if the Issuer or its designee determine that no market practice for use of the Benchmark Replacement exists, in such other manner as the Issuer or its designee determines is reasonably necessary);

"Benchmark Replacement Date" means the earliest to occur of the following events with respect to the then-current Benchmark (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof):

- (i) in the case of sub-paragraph (i) or (ii) of the definition of "Benchmark Event", the later of:
  - (a) the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein; and
  - (b) the date on which the administrator of the Benchmark permanently or indefinitely ceases to provide the Benchmark (or such component); or
- (ii) in the case of sub-paragraph (iii) of the definition of "Benchmark Event", the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein.

For the avoidance of doubt, if the event giving rise to the Benchmark Replacement Date occurs on the same day as, but earlier than, the Reference Time in respect of any determination, the Benchmark Replacement Date will be deemed to have occurred prior to the Reference Time for such determination;

"designee" means a designee as selected and separately appointed by the Issuer in writing;

"ISDA Fallback Adjustment" means the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that would apply for derivatives transactions referencing the ISDA Definitions to be determined upon the occurrence of an index cessation event with respect to the Benchmark;

"ISDA Fallback Rate" means the rate that would apply for derivatives transactions referencing the ISDA Definitions to be effective upon the occurrence of an index cessation date with respect to the Benchmark (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof) for the applicable tenor excluding the applicable ISDA Fallback Adjustment;

"Reference Time" with respect to any determination of the Benchmark means (1) if the Benchmark is the SOFR Benchmark, the SOFR Determination Time (where Compounded Daily SOFR is specified as applicable in the applicable Pricing Supplement) or SOFR Index Determination Time (where SOFR Index is specified as applicable in the applicable Pricing Supplement), or (2) if the Benchmark is not the SOFR Benchmark, the time determined by the Issuer or its designee after giving effect to the Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes;

"Relevant Governmental Body" means the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York or any successor thereto; and

**"Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement"** means the Benchmark Replacement excluding the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment.

# (iii) Benchmark Discontinuation (SORA)

This Condition 4(I)(iii) shall only apply to Singapore dollar-denominated Perpetual Capital Securities where so specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Where the Pricing Supplement specifies this Condition 4(I)(iii) as applicable:

(A) Independent Adviser: If a SORA Index Cessation Event occurs in relation to an Original Reference Rate when any Rate of Distribution (or any component part thereof) remains to be determined by reference to such Original Reference Rate, the Issuer shall use its reasonable endeavors to appoint an Independent Adviser, as soon as reasonably practicable, to determine a Successor Rate, or failing which, an Alternative Rate (in accordance with Condition 4(I)(iii)(C) and, in either case, an Adjustment Spread and any Benchmark Amendments (in accordance with Condition 4(I)(iii)(D)).

In making such determination, the Independent Adviser appointed pursuant to this Condition 4(I)(iii) shall act in good faith as an expert and in consultation with the Issuer. In the absence of bad faith or fraud, the Independent Adviser shall have no liability whatsoever to the Issuer, the Trustee, the Paying Agents or the Securityholders for any determination made by it, pursuant to this Condition 4(I)(iii).

If:

- (i) the Issuer is unable to appoint an Independent Adviser; or
- (ii) the Independent Adviser fails to determine a Successor Rate or, failing which, an Alternative Rate,

in accordance with this Condition 4(I)(iii)(A) prior to the relevant Distribution Determination Date, the Rate of Distribution applicable to the next succeeding Distribution Accrual Period shall be equal to the Rate of Distribution last determined in relation to the Perpetual Capital Securities in respect of the immediately preceding Distribution Accrual Period. If there has not been a first Distribution Payment Date, the Rate of Distribution shall be the initial Rate of Distribution which would have been applicable to the Series of Perpetual Capital Securities for the first Distribution Accrual Period had the Perpetual Capital Securities been in issue for a period equal in duration to the scheduled first Distribution Accrual Period but ending on (and excluding) the Distribution Commencement Date. Where a different Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Distribution is to be applied to the relevant Distribution Accrual Period from that which applied to the last preceding Distribution Accrual Period, the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Distribution relating to the relevant Distribution Accrual Period shall be substituted in place of the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Distribution relating to that last preceding Distribution Accrual Period. For the avoidance of doubt, this paragraph shall apply to the relevant next succeeding Distribution Accrual Period only and any subsequent Distribution Accrual Periods are subject to the subsequent operation of, and to adjustment as provided in, the first paragraph of this Condition 4(I)(iii)(A).

- (B) Successor Rate or Alternate Rate: If the Independent Adviser determines that:
  - (i) there is a Successor Rate, then such Successor Rate and the applicable Adjustment Spread shall subsequently be used in place of the Original Reference Rate to determine the Rate of Distribution (or the relevant component part thereof) for all future payments of distribution on the Perpetual Capital Securities (subject to the operation of this Condition 4(I)(iii)); or
  - (ii) there is no Successor Rate but that there is an Alternative Rate, then such Alternative Rate and the applicable Adjustment Spread shall subsequently be used in place of the Original Reference Rate to determine the Rate of Distribution (or the relevant component part thereof) for all future payments of distribution on the Perpetual Capital Securities (subject to the operation of this Condition 4(I)(iii)).
- (C) Adjustment Spread: The Adjustment Spread (or the formula or methodology for determining the Adjustment Spread) shall be applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be). If the Independent Adviser (in consultation with the Issuer) is unable to determine the quantum of, or a formula or methodology for determining such Adjustment Spread, then the Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (as applicable) will apply without an Adjustment Spread.
- (D) **Benchmark Amendments**: If any Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and, in either case, the applicable Adjustment Spread is determined in accordance with this Condition 4(I)(iii) and the Independent Adviser (in consultation with the Issuer) determines:
  - (i) that amendments to these Conditions and/or the Trust Deed are necessary to ensure the proper operation of such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and/or (in either case) the applicable Adjustment Spread (such amendments, the "Benchmark Amendments"); and
  - (ii) the terms of the Benchmark Amendments, then the Issuer shall, subject to giving notice thereof in accordance with Condition 4(I)(iii)(E), without any requirement for the consent or approval of Securityholders, the Trustee or the Agents, vary these Conditions and/or the Trust Deed to give effect to such Benchmark Amendments with effect from the date specified in such notice.

At the request of the Issuer, but subject to receipt by the Trustee of a certificate signed by two authorized signatories of the Issuer pursuant to Condition 4(I)(iii)(E), the Trustee shall (at the expense of the Issuer), without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Securityholders, be obliged to concur with the Issuer in effecting any Benchmark Amendments (including, inter alia, by the execution of a deed supplemental to or amending the Trust Deed), provided that the Trustee shall not be obliged so to concur if in the opinion of the Trustee doing so would impose more onerous obligations upon it or expose it to any additional duties, responsibilities or liabilities or reduce or amend the protective provisions afforded to the Trustee in these Conditions or the Trust Deed (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any supplemental trust deed) in any way.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Trustee and the Issuing and Paying Agent shall, at the direction and expense of the Issuer, effect such consequential amendments to the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and these Conditions as may be required in order to give effect to this Condition 4(I)(iii)(D). Securityholders' consent shall not be required in connection with effecting of the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as applicable) or such other changes, including the execution of any documents or any steps by the Trustee or the Issuing and Paying Agent (if required). Further, none of the Trustee, Calculation Agent, Paying Agents, Registrars or the Transfer Agents shall be responsible or liable for any determinations or certifications made by the Issuer or Independent Adviser with respect to any Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (as applicable) or any other changes and shall be entitled to rely conclusively on any certifications provided to each of them in this regard.

In connection with any such variation in accordance with this Condition 4(I)(iii)(D), the Issuer shall comply with the rules of any stock exchange on which the Perpetual Capital Securities are for the time being listed or admitted to trading.

(E) **Notices**: Any Successor Rate, Alternative Rate, Adjustment Spread and the specific terms of any Benchmark Amendments, determined under this Condition 4(I)(iii) will be notified promptly by the Issuer to the Trustee, the Calculation Agent, the Paying Agents and, in accordance with Condition 16, the Securityholders and the Couponholders. Such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the effective date of the Benchmark Amendments, if any.

No later than notifying the Trustee of the same, the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee a certificate signed by two authorized signatories of the Issuer:

- (x) confirming:
  - (I) that a SORA Index Cessation Event has occurred;
  - (II) the Successor Rate or, as the case may be, the Alternative Rate:
  - (III) the applicable Adjustment Spread;
  - (IV) the specific terms of the Benchmark Amendments (if any),

in each case as determined in accordance with the provisions of this Condition 4(I)(iii); and

(y) certifying that the Benchmark Amendments (if any) are necessary to ensure the proper operation of such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and (in either case) the applicable Adjustment Spread.

The Trustee shall be entitled to rely on such certificate (without liability to any person) as sufficient evidence thereof. The Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and the Adjustment Spread and the Benchmark Amendments (if any) specified in such certificate will (in the absence of manifest error or bad faith in the determination of the Successor Rate, Alternative Rate, the Adjustment Spread or the Benchmark Amendments (if any) and without prejudice to the Trustee's ability to rely on such certificate as aforesaid) be binding on the Issuer, the Trustee, the Calculation Agent, the Paying Agents and the Securityholders.

# (F) Definitions:

As used in this Condition 4(I)(iii):

### "Adjustment Spread" means either:

- (a) a spread (which may be positive, negative or zero); or
- (b) a formula or methodology for calculating a spread, in each case to be applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) and is the spread, formula or methodology which:
  - in the case of a Successor Rate, is formally recommended in relation to the replacement of the Original Reference Rate with the Successor Rate by any Relevant Nominating Body; or (if no such recommendation has been made, or in the case of an Alternative Rate);
  - (II) the Independent Adviser determines as being customarily applied to the relevant Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) in debt capital markets transactions to produce an industry-accepted replacement rate for the Original Reference Rate; or (if the Independent Adviser determines that no such spread is customarily applied);
  - (III) the Independent Adviser (in consultation with the Issuer) determines, and which is recognized or acknowledged as being the industry standard for over-the-counter derivative transactions which reference the Original Reference Rate, where such rate has been replaced by the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be);

"Alternative Rate" means an alternative benchmark or screen rate which the Independent Adviser, determines in accordance with Condition 4(I)(iii)(B) as being customarily applied in market usage in debt capital markets transactions for the purposes of determining rates of interest (or the relevant component part thereof) in Singapore Dollars;

"Benchmark Amendments" has the meaning given to it in Condition 4(I)(iii)(D);

"Independent Adviser" means an independent financial institution of international repute or an independent financial adviser with appropriate expertise appointed by the Issuer under Condition 4(I)(iii)(A);

"Original Reference Rate" means, initially, SORA (being the originally-specified benchmark rate used to determine SORA Benchmark and the Rate of Distribution), provided that if a SORA Index Cessation Event has occurred with respect to SORA or the then-current Original Reference Rate, then "Original Reference Rate" means the applicable Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (as the case may be).

# "Relevant Nominating Body" means:

- (a) the Monetary Authority of Singapore (or any successor administrator of the Original Reference Rate); or
- (b) any working group or committee officially sponsored or endorsed by, chaired or co-chaired by or constituted at the request of the Monetary Authority of Singapore (or any successor administrator of the Original Reference Rate).

"SORA Index Cessation Event" means the occurrence of one or more of the following events:

- (I) the Original Reference Rate ceasing to be published for a period of at least five Singapore Business Days or ceasing to exist; or
- (II) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the Monetary Authority of Singapore (or a successor administrator of the Original Reference Rate), the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Original Reference Rate, the central bank for the currency of the Original Reference Rate, an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the administrator of the Original Reference Rate, a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator of the Original Reference Rate or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator of the Original Reference Rate, announcing that the administrator of the Original Reference Rate has ceased or will cease to provide the Original Reference Rate permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of the statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the Original Reference Rate; or
- (III) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Original Reference Rate announcing that the Original Reference Rate has been or will be permanently or indefinitely discontinued; or
- (IV) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the Monetary Authority of Singapore (or the supervisor of a successor administrator of the Original Reference Rate) as a consequence of which the Original Reference Rate will be prohibited from being used either generally, or in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities; or
- (V) a public statement by or on behalf of the Monetary Authority of Singapore (or the supervisor of a successor administrator of the Original Reference Rate) that the Original Reference Rate is or will be (or is or will be deemed by such supervisor to be) no longer representative of its relevant underlying market, provided that the SORA Index Cessation Event shall be deemed to occur (a) in the case of sub-paragraphs (ii) and (iii) above, on the date of the cessation of publication of the Original Reference Rate or the discontinuation of the Original Reference Rate, as the case may be, (b) in the case of sub-paragraph (iv) above, on the date of the prohibition of use of the Original Reference Rate and (c) in the case of sub-paragraph (v) above, on the date with effect from which the Original Reference Rate will no longer be (or will be deemed by the relevant supervisor to no longer be) representative of its relevant underlying market and which is specified in the relevant public statement, and, in each case, not the date of the relevant public statement.

The occurrence of a SORA Index Cessation Event shall be determined by the Issuer and promptly notified to the Trustee, the Calculation Agent and the Paying Agents. For the avoidance of doubt, neither the Trustee, the Calculation Agent nor the Paying Agents shall have any responsibility for making such determination; and

"Successor Rate" means a successor to or replacement of the Original Reference Rate which is formally recommended by any Relevant Nominating Body as the replacement of the Original Reference Rate (which rate may be produced by the Monetary Authority of Singapore or such other administrator).

# (iv) Qualification as Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities

Notwithstanding any other provision of Conditions 4(I)(i)(D), 4(I)(ii)(B) or 4(I)(ii)(C) or 4(I)(iii)(D) (as applicable), no Successor Rate, Alternative Rate or Benchmark Replacement (as the case may be) will be adopted, nor will the applicable Adjustment Spread or Benchmark Replacement Adjustment (as the case may be) be applied, nor will any Benchmark Amendments or Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes (as the case may be) be made, if and to the extent that, in the determination of the Issuer, the same could reasonably be expected to prejudice the qualification of the Perpetual Capital Securities as Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities and/or the Perpetual Capital Securities as eligible liabilities or loss absorbing capacity instruments for the purposes of any applicable loss absorption regulations.

#### 5 Distribution Restrictions

- (a) **Distribution Cancelation**: The Issuer may, at its sole discretion, elect to cancel any Distribution which is otherwise scheduled to be paid on a Distribution Payment Date by giving notice (such notice which shall be conclusive and binding on the Securityholders, a "**Distribution Cancelation Notice**") of such election to the Securityholders in accordance with Condition 16, the Trustee and the Agents at least 10 Business Days prior to the relevant Distribution Payment Date. The Issuer shall have no obligation to pay any Distribution on any Distribution Payment Date if it validly elects not to do so in accordance with this Condition 5(a) and any failure to pay such Distribution shall not constitute a Default (as described in Condition 11).
- (b) **Non-cumulative Distribution**: If a Distribution is not paid in accordance with Condition 5(a), the Issuer is not under any obligation to pay that or any other Distributions that have not been paid. Such unpaid Distributions are non-cumulative and do not accrue interest. There is no limit on the number of times or the extent of the amount with respect to which the Issuer can elect not to pay Distributions pursuant to this Condition 5.
- (c) No obligation to pay: Notwithstanding that a Distribution Cancelation Notice has not been given, the Issuer will not be obliged to pay, and will not pay, any Distribution on the relevant Distribution Payment Date (and such Distribution will not be considered to be due or payable) if:
  - (i) the Issuer is prevented by applicable Singapore banking regulations or other requirements of the MAS from making payment in full of dividends or other distributions when due on its Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities;
  - the Issuer is unable to make such payment of dividends or other distributions on its Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities without causing a breach of the MAS's consolidated or unconsolidated capital adequacy requirements set out in MAS Notice 637; or

(iii) the aggregate of the amount of the Distribution (if paid in full), together with the sum of any other dividends and other distributions originally scheduled to be paid (whether or not paid in whole or in part) during the Issuer's then-current fiscal year on the Perpetual Capital Securities or its Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities, would exceed the Distributable Reserves as of the Distributable Reserves Determination Date.

The Issuer shall have no obligation to pay any Distribution on any Distribution Payment Date if such non-payment is in accordance with this Condition 5(c) and any failure to pay such Distribution shall not constitute a Default.

For the purpose of these Conditions:

"Distributable Reserves" means, at any time, the amounts for the time being available to the Issuer for distribution as a dividend in compliance with Section 403 of the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore, as amended or modified from time to time ("Available Amounts") as of the date of the Issuer's latest audited balance sheet; provided that if the Issuer reasonably believes that the Available Amounts as of any Distributable Reserves Determination Date are lower than the Available Amounts as of the date of the Issuer's latest audited balance sheet and are insufficient to pay the Distributions and for payments on its Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities on the relevant Distribution Payment Date, then an authorized signatory of the Issuer will be required to provide a certificate, on or prior to such Distributable Reserves Determination Date, to the Securityholders accompanied by a certificate of the Issuer's auditors for the time being of the Available Amounts as of such Distributable Reserves Determination Date (which certificate of the authorized signatory will be binding absent manifest error) and "Distributable Reserves" as of such Distributable Reserves Determination Date for the purposes of such Distribution will mean the Available Amounts as set forth in such certificate; and

"Distributable Reserves Determination Date" means, with respect to any Distribution Payment Date, the day falling two business days prior to that Distribution Payment Date.

- (d) **Distributable Reserves**: Any Distribution may only be paid out of Distributable Reserves.
- (e) **Distribution Stopper**: If Distribution Stopper is specified as being applicable in the applicable Pricing Supplement and on any Distribution Payment Date, payment of Distributions scheduled to be made on such date is not made by reason of this Condition 5, the Issuer shall not:
  - (i) declare or pay any dividends or other distributions in respect of its Junior Obligations (or contribute any moneys to a sinking fund for the payment of any dividends or other distributions in respect of any such Junior Obligations);
  - (ii) declare or pay, or permit any subsidiary of the Issuer to declare or pay, any dividends or other distributions in respect of its Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities the terms of which provide that making payments of dividends or other distributions in respect thereof are fully at the discretion of the Issuer or subsidiary of the Issuer, as the case may be, (or contribute any moneys to a sinking fund for the payment of any dividends or other distributions in respect of any such Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities); and
  - (iii) redeem, reduce, cancel, buy-back or acquire any of its Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities or its Junior Obligations or permit any subsidiary of the Issuer to redeem, reduce, cancel, buy-back or acquire any of its Additional Tier 1 Capital

Securities or its Junior Obligations (or contribute any moneys to a sinking fund for the redemption, capital reduction, buy-back or acquisition of any such Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities or Junior Obligations),

in each case, until (w) a redemption of all the outstanding Perpetual Capital Securities has occurred; (x) the outstanding Perpetual Capital Securities has been Written-off in its entirety; (y) the next scheduled Distribution has been paid in full (or an amount equivalent to the next scheduled Distribution has been paid, or irrevocably set aside in a separately designated trust account for payment to the Securityholders); or (z) the Issuer is permitted to do so by an Extraordinary Resolution.

(f) No default: Notwithstanding any other provision in these Conditions, the cancelation or non-payment of any Distribution in accordance with this Condition 5 shall not constitute a default for any purpose (including, without limitation, pursuant to Condition 11) on the part of the Issuer.

# 6 Redemption, Purchase and Options

- (a) **No Fixed Redemption Date**: The Perpetual Capital Securities are perpetual securities in respect of which there is no fixed redemption date. The Perpetual Capital Securities may not be redeemed at the option of the Issuer other than in accordance with this Condition 6.
- (b) Early Redemption: The Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Perpetual Capital Security, upon redemption of such Perpetual Capital Security pursuant to Condition 6(c) or upon it becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 11, shall be the Final Redemption Amount unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.
- (c) Redemption for Taxation Reasons: Subject to Condition 6(j), the Perpetual Capital Securities may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part, on any Distribution Payment Date (if this Perpetual Capital Security is a Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Security) or at any time (if this Perpetual Capital Security is not a Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Security), on giving not less than 15 days' notice to the Securityholders (which notice shall be irrevocable) at their Early Redemption Amount (as described in Condition 6(b)) together with Distributions accrued but unpaid (if any) to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption or, if the Early Redemption Amount is not specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, at their nominal amount, together with Distribution accrued but unpaid (if any) to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption, if:
  - (A) the Issuer has paid or will or would on the next payment date be required to pay Additional Amounts (as defined in Condition 9); or
  - (B) payments of Distribution on the Perpetual Capital Securities will or would be treated as "distributions" or dividends within the meaning of the Income Tax Act 1947 of Singapore (the "Income Tax Act") or any other act in respect of or relating to Singapore taxation or would otherwise be considered as payments of a type that are non-deductible for Singapore income tax purposes; or
  - (C) the Perpetual Capital Securities do not qualify as "qualifying debt securities" for the purposes of the Income Tax Act,

in each case as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of Singapore or any political subdivision or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax (or any taxing authority of any taxing jurisdiction in which the Issuer is a tax resident) or any generally published application or interpretation of such laws or regulations by any such relevant tax authority or any generally published pronouncement by any such tax authority, including a decision of any court or tribunal in any such jurisdiction, which change or amendment becomes effective on or after the date on which agreement is reached to issue the Perpetual Capital Securities, and such obligations cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking measures reasonably available to it, provided that, where the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay Additional Amounts, no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such Additional Amounts were a payment in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities then due.

Before the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition 6(c), the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee a certificate signed by two authorized signatories of the Issuer stating that the payment of Additional Amounts, or that the non-deductibility of the payments of Distribution for Singapore income tax purposes, as the case may be, cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it and the Trustee shall be entitled to accept such certificate without any further inquiry as sufficient evidence of the satisfaction of this Condition 6(c) without liability to any person in which event it shall be conclusive and binding on Securityholders. Upon expiry of such notice, the Issuer shall redeem the Perpetual Capital Securities in accordance with this Condition 6(c).

Any redemption of the Perpetual Capital Securities by the Issuer pursuant to this Condition 6(c) is subject to the Issuer obtaining the prior approval of MAS.

(d) Redemption at the option of the Issuer: Subject to Condition 6(j), and unless otherwise specified in the Pricing Supplement, if Call Option is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as applicable, the Issuer may, on giving not less than 15 days' irrevocable notice to the Securityholders, elect to redeem all, but not some only, of the Perpetual Capital Securities on (i) the relevant First Call Date specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement (which shall not be less than 5 years from the Issue Date); and (ii) any Distribution Payment Date following such First Call Date at their Optional Redemption Amount specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement or, if no Optional Redemption Amount is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, at their nominal amount together with Distributions accrued but unpaid (if any) to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption in accordance with these Conditions.

All Perpetual Capital Securities in respect of which any such notice is given shall be redeemed on the date specified in such notice in accordance with this Condition 6(d).

Any redemption of the Perpetual Capital Securities by the Issuer pursuant to this Condition 6(d) is subject to the Issuer obtaining the prior approval of MAS.

# (e) Redemption for Change of Qualification Event:

Subject to Condition 6(j), if as a result of a change or amendment to the relevant requirements issued by MAS, or any change in, or amendment to, the application of official or generally accepted and published interpretation of such relevant requirements issued by MAS or any relevant supervisory authority having jurisdiction over the Issuer, including a ruling or notice issued by MAS or any such relevant supervisory authority, or any interpretation or pronouncement by MAS or any such relevant supervisory authority that provides for a position with respect to such

requirements issued by MAS that differs from the previously published official or such generally accepted and published interpretation in relation to similar transactions or which differs from any specific written statements made by MAS or any relevant supervisory authority having jurisdiction over the Issuer in relation to:

- (i) the qualification of the Perpetual Capital Securities as Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities; or
- (ii) the inclusion of the Perpetual Capital Securities in the calculation of the capital adequacy ratio,

in each case, of the Issuer (either on a consolidated or unconsolidated basis) ("Eligible Capital"), which change or amendment:

- (x) becomes, or would become, effective on or after the Issue Date; or
- (y) in the case of a change or amendment to the relevant requirements issued by MAS or any relevant authority, if such change or amendment is expected to be issued by MAS or any relevant supervisory authority on or after the Issue Date,

the relevant Perpetual Capital Securities (in whole or in part) would not qualify as Eligible Capital of the Issuer (a "Change of Qualification Event"), then the Issuer may, having given not less than 15 days' prior written notice to the Securityholders in accordance with Condition 16 (which notice shall be irrevocable), redeem in accordance with these Conditions on any Distribution Payment Date (if this Perpetual Capital Security is at the relevant time a Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Security) or at any time (if this Perpetual Capital Security is at the relevant time not a Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Security) all, but not some only, of the relevant Perpetual Capital

Securities, at their Early Redemption Amount or, if no Early Redemption Amount is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, at their nominal amount together with Distribution accrued but unpaid (if any) to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption in accordance with these Conditions.

Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition 6(e), the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee a certificate signed by two authorized signatories of the Issuer stating that a Change of Qualification Event has occurred and the Trustee shall be entitled to accept such certificate without any further inquiry as sufficient evidence of the satisfaction of the conditions set out above without liability to any person in which event it shall be conclusive and binding on the Securityholders. Upon expiry of such notice, the Issuer shall redeem the Perpetual Capital Securities in accordance with this Condition 6(e).

Any redemption of the Perpetual Capital Securities by the Issuer pursuant to this Condition 6(e) is subject to the Issuer obtaining the prior approval of MAS.

# (f) Variation:

Subject to Condition 6(j), where this Condition 6(f) is specified as being applicable in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the Issuer may at any time, without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Securityholders and having given not less than 15 days' notice to the Securityholders in accordance with Condition 16 (which notice shall be irrevocable), vary the terms of those Perpetual Capital Securities, where such variation

does not result in terms that are materially less favorable to the Securityholders and so that they remain or, as appropriate, become Qualifying Securities and provided further that:

- such variation does not itself give rise to any right of the Issuer to redeem the varied securities that is inconsistent with the redemption provisions of those Perpetual Capital Securities;
- (ii) neither a Tax Event nor a Capital Event arises as a result of such variation; and
- (iii) the Issuer is in compliance with the rules of any stock exchange on which the Perpetual Capital Securities are for the time being listed or admitted to trading.

In order to give effect to a variation pursuant to this Condition 6(f), the Issuer and the Trustee shall take all such steps, including executing any supplemental deed, as may be necessary or desirable to give effect to such variation. For the avoidance of doubt, the Trustee shall not be responsible or liable for verifying or certifying whether any of the provisions of this Condition 6(f) have been complied with nor incur any liability whatsoever for any failure to do so.

Any variation of the Perpetual Capital Securities by the Issuer pursuant to this Condition 6(f) is subject to the Issuer obtaining the prior approval of MAS.

In this Condition 6(f):

"Additional Amounts" means such additional amounts the Issuer shall pay as will result (after withholding or deduction) in receipt by the Securityholders of the sums which would have been receivable (in the absence of such withholding or deduction) from it in respect of their Perpetual Capital Securities;

a "Capital Event" will be deemed to have occurred if any Perpetual Capital Securities are not, or cease to be, eligible in their entirety to be treated as Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities of the Issuer;

"Qualifying Securities" means securities, whether debt, equity, interests in limited partnerships or otherwise, issued directly or indirectly by the Issuer that:

- (i) (A) qualify (in whole or in part) as Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities; or
  - (B) may be included (in whole or in part) in the calculation of the capital adequacy ratio, in each case of (x) the Issuer, on an unconsolidated basis, or (y) the Issuer and its subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis;
- (ii) shall:
  - (A) include a ranking at least equal to that of the Perpetual Capital Securities;
  - (B) have at least the same Distribution rate and the same Distribution Payment Dates as those from time to time applying to the Perpetual Capital Securities;
  - (C) have the same redemption rights as the Perpetual Capital Securities;

- (D) preserve any existing rights under the Perpetual Capital Securities to any accrued Distributions which have not been paid in respect of the period from (and including) the Distribution Payment Date last preceding the date of variation; and
- (E) if applicable, are assigned (or maintain) the same or higher credit ratings as were assigned to the Perpetual Capital Securities immediately prior to such variation; and
- (iii) are listed on the SGX-ST (or such other stock exchange approved by the Trustee) if the Perpetual Capital Securities were listed immediately prior to such variation; and

a "Tax Event" is deemed to have occurred if, in making any payments on the Perpetual Capital Securities, the Issuer has paid or will or would on the next payment date be required to pay any Additional Amounts or Distribution on the Perpetual Capital Securities will or would be treated as "distributions" or dividends within the meaning of the Income Tax Act or any other act in respect of or relating to Singapore taxation or would otherwise be considered as payments of a type that are non-deductible for Singapore income tax purposes, in each case under the laws or regulations of a Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction (as defined in Condition 9) or any political subdivision or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax (or any taxing authority of any taxing jurisdiction in which the Issuer is a tax resident) or any generally published application or interpretation of such laws or regulations by any relevant tax authority or any generally published pronouncement by any such tax authority, including a decision of any court or tribunal in any such jurisdiction, and the Issuer cannot avoid the foregoing by taking measures reasonably available to it.

If a variation has occurred pursuant to, or otherwise in accordance with, this Condition 6(f), such event will not constitute a Default under these Conditions.

- (g) **Purchases**: The Issuer and any of its subsidiaries (with the prior approval of MAS, for so long as the Issuer is required to obtain such approval) may at any time purchase Perpetual Capital Securities in the open market or otherwise at any price in accordance with all relevant laws and **regulations** and, for so long as the Perpetual Capital Securities are listed, the requirements of the relevant stock exchange. The Issuer or any such subsidiary may, at its option, retain such purchased Perpetual Capital Securities for its own account and/or resell or cancel or otherwise deal with them at its discretion.
- (h) Cancelation: All Perpetual Capital Securities purchased by or on behalf of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries may be surrendered for cancelation by surrendering the Certificate representing such Perpetual Capital Securities to the Registrar and, in each case, if so surrendered, shall, together with all Perpetual Capital Securities redeemed by the Issuer, be canceled forthwith. Any Perpetual Capital Securities so surrendered for cancelation may not be reissued or resold and the obligations of the Issuer in respect of any such Perpetual Capital Securities shall be discharged. Any Perpetual Capital Security that is Written-off in full in accordance with Condition 7 or converted in full if and as described in the applicable Pricing Supplement shall be automatically canceled.
- (i) No Obligation to Monitor: The Trustee shall not be under any duty to monitor whether any event or circumstance has happened or exists within this Condition 6 and will not be responsible to the Securityholders for any loss arising from any failure by it to do so. Unless and until the Trustee has notice in writing of the occurrence of any event or circumstance within this Condition 6, it shall be entitled to assume that no such event or circumstance exists.

(j) Redemption or Variation of Perpetual Capital Securities: Without prejudice to any provision in this Condition 6, any redemption pursuant to Condition 6(c), 6(d) or 6(e) or variation pursuant to Condition 6(f) (to the extent that any variation would affect the eligibility of the Perpetual Capital Securities as Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities) of the Perpetual Capital Securities by the Issuer is subject to the Issuer obtaining the prior approval of MAS.

These Conditions may be amended, modified or varied in relation to any Series of Perpetual Capital Securities by the terms of the applicable Pricing Supplement in relation to such Series.

# 7 Loss Absorption upon a Trigger Event and Bail-in Power

(a) The applicable Pricing Supplement will specify whether "Write-off" or "Conversion" applies as the relevant Loss Absorption Option upon the occurrence of a Trigger Event in relation to the Perpetual Capital Securities to which it relates. If "Write-off" is specified, the provisions of Conditions 7(b) and (c) shall apply. If "Conversion" is specified, the terms applicable thereto will be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

### (b) Write-off on a Trigger Event:

- If "Write-off" is specified as the Loss Absorption Option in the applicable Pricing (i) Supplement for any Perpetual Capital Securities and if a Trigger Event occurs, the Issuer shall, upon the issue of a Trigger Event Notice, irrevocably and without the need for the consent of the Trustee or the holders of any Perpetual Capital Securities, procure that the Registrar shall reduce the principal amount and cancel any accrued but unpaid Distribution of each Perpetual Capital Security (in whole or in part) by an amount equal to the Trigger Event Write-off Amount per Perpetual Capital Security (a "Write-off", and "Written-off" shall be construed accordingly). Once any principal or Distribution under a Perpetual Capital Security has been Written-off, it will be extinguished and will not be restored in any circumstances, including where the relevant Trigger Event ceases to continue. No Securityholder may exercise, claim or plead any right to any Trigger Event Write-off Amount, and each Securityholder shall be deemed to have waived all such rights to such Trigger Event Write-off Amount. For the avoidance of doubt, any Write-off in accordance with this Condition 7 shall not constitute a Default (as defined below).
- (ii) If a Trigger Event Notice has been given in respect of any Perpetual Capital Securities in accordance with this Condition 7(b), transfers of any such Perpetual Capital Securities that are the subject of such notice shall not be permitted during the Suspension Period. From the date on which a Trigger Event Notice in respect of any Perpetual Capital Securities in accordance with this Condition 7(b) is issued by the Issuer to the end of the Suspension Period, the Trustee and the Registrar shall not register any attempted transfer of any Perpetual Capital Securities and such an attempted transfer will not be effective.
- (iii) Any reference in these Conditions to principal in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities shall refer to the principal amount of the Perpetual Capital Security(ies), reduced by any applicable Write-off(s).

Any Write-off of Perpetual Capital Securities or any cancelation, modification, conversion or change in form as a result of the exercise of the MAS's powers under Division 4A of Part IVB of the MAS Act is subject to the availability of procedures to effect the Write-off in the relevant clearing systems. For the avoidance of doubt, however, any Write-off of any Perpetual Capital Securities, or the giving of effect of a Bail-in Certificate with respect to the Issuer, under this Condition 7 will be effective upon the date that the Issuer specifies in the Trigger Event Notice or in the notice of issue of a Bail-in Certificate (or as may otherwise be notified in writing to the Securityholders, the Trustee and Agents by the Issuer) notwithstanding any inability to operationally effect any such Write-off or cancelation, modification, conversion or change in form as a result of the exercise of the MAS's powers under Division 4A of Part IVB of the MAS Act in the relevant clearing system(s).

# (c) Multiple Trigger Events and Write-offs in part:

- (i) Where only part of the principal and/or Distribution of Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities is to be Written-off, the Issuer shall use reasonable endeavors to conduct any Write-off such that:
  - (A) holders of any Series of Perpetual Capital Securities are treated ratably and equally; and
  - (B) the Write-off of any Perpetual Capital Securities is conducted on a pro rata and proportionate basis with all other Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities of the Issuer, to the extent that such Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities are capable of being written-off or converted under any applicable laws and/or their terms of issue analogous to these Conditions.

Any loss absorption action to be taken in respect of any Common Equity Tier 1 Capital shall not be required before a Write-off or conversion (if applicable) of any Perpetual Capital Securities can be effected in accordance with these Conditions.

(ii) Any Series of Perpetual Capital Securities may be subject to one or more Write-offs in part (as the case may be), except where such Series of Perpetual Capital Securities has been Written-off in its entirety.

## (d) Bail-in Power

Notwithstanding any other term of the Perpetual Capital Securities, including without limitation Condition 7(b), or any other agreement or arrangement, the Perpetual Capital Securities may be subject to cancelation, modification, conversion, change in form, or have the effect as if a right of modification, conversion, or change of form had been exercised by the MAS in the exercise of the MAS's powers under Division 4A of Part IVB of the MAS Act without prior notice. The Trustee (on behalf of the holders of the Perpetual Capital Securities) and each holder of a Perpetual Capital Security shall be subject, and shall be deemed to agree, to be bound by and acknowledge that they are each subject to having the Perpetual Capital Security being the subject of the exercise of the MAS's powers under Divisions 4A of Part IVB of the MAS Act. Further, the Trustee (on behalf of the holders of the Perpetual Capital Securities) and each holder of a Perpetual Capital Security shall be deemed to agree to be bound by a Bail-in Certificate.

The rights of the holders of Perpetual Capital Securities and the Trustee (on behalf of the holders of the Perpetual Capital Securities) under the Perpetual Capital Securities and these Conditions are subject to, and will be amended and varied (if necessary), solely to give effect to, the exercise of the MAS's powers under Division 4A of Part IVB of the MAS Act.

No repayment of any principal amount of any Perpetual Capital Securities or payment of Distributions shall become due and payable or be paid after the exercise of the MAS's powers under Division 4A of Part IVB of the MAS Act unless, at the time that such repayment or payment, respectively, is scheduled to become due, such repayment or payment would be permitted to be made by the Issuer under the laws and regulations applicable to the Issuer.

Upon the issue of a Bail-in Certificate with respect to the Perpetual Capital Securities, the Issuer shall provide written notice of such Bail-in Certificate to the holders of Perpetual Capital Securities and the Trustee in accordance with Condition 16 not more than two Business Days after the issue of such Bail-in Certificate.

Neither the cancelation, modification, conversion or change in form of the Perpetual Capital Securities as a result of the exercise of the MAS's powers under Division 4A of Part IVB of the MAS Act with respect to the Issuer or the Perpetual Capital Securities shall constitute a Default under Condition 11.

## (e) **Definitions**:

In this Condition 7:

"Bail-in Certificate" means a bail-in certificate issued pursuant to Section 75 of the MAS Act:

## "Common Equity Tier 1 Capital" means:

- (i) any security issued by the Issuer; or
- (ii) any other similar instrument issued by any subsidiary of the Issuer,

that, in each case, constitutes Common Equity Tier 1 Capital of the Issuer, on an unconsolidated basis, pursuant to the relevant requirements set out in MAS Notice 637;

"Loss Absorption Option" means such loss absorption option as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"MAS Act" means the Monetary Authority of Singapore Act 1970 of Singapore, as amended;

## "Trigger Event" means the earlier of:

- (i) MAS notifying the Issuer in writing that it is of the opinion that a Write-off or conversion is necessary, without which the Issuer would become non-viable; and
- (ii) a decision by MAS to make a public sector injection of capital, or equivalent support, without which the Issuer would have become non-viable, as determined by MAS;

"Trigger Event Notice" means the notice specifying that a Trigger Event has occurred, which shall be issued by the Issuer not more than two Business Days after the occurrence of a Trigger Event to the holders of the Perpetual Capital Securities, the Trustee and the Issuing and Paying Agent in accordance with Condition 16 and which shall state with reasonable detail the nature of the relevant Trigger Event and, if applicable, specify, as applicable (A) the Trigger Event Write-off Amount per Perpetual Capital Security to be Written-off or (B) details of any conversion consistent with any mechanics specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. For the purposes of this definition, a Trigger Event Notice shall be deemed to be delivered on a Business Day if it is received by the Trustee at its principal place of business and by the Issuing and Paying Agent and the Registrar at their respective specified offices during normal business hours; and

"Trigger Event Write-off Amount" means the amount of Distribution and/or principal to be Written-off, as the MAS may direct, or as the Issuer (in accordance with the MAS) determines is required to be Written-off for the Trigger Event to cease to continue. For the avoidance of doubt, the Write-off will be effected in full even in the event that the amount Written-off is not sufficient for the Trigger Event to cease to continue.

# (f) Role of the Issuer, the Trustee and the Agents:

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary that may be set out in these Conditions, the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, the applicable Pricing Supplement or any other document relating to the Perpetual Capital Securities:

- (i) neither the Trustee nor any Agent shall be under any duty to determine, monitor or report whether a Trigger Event has occurred or circumstances exist which may lead to the occurrence of a Trigger Event and will not be responsible or liable to the Securityholders or any other person for any loss arising from any failure by it to do so, except where such failure is due to the fraud, negligence or willful misconduct of the Trustee or such Agent. Unless and until the Trustee and the Issuing and Paying Agent receive a Trigger Event Notice in accordance with this Condition 7 and the other Agents are expressly notified in writing, each of them shall be entitled to assume that no such event or circumstance has occurred or exists;
- (ii) each of the Trustee and each Agent shall be entitled without further enquiry and without liability to any Securityholder or any other person to rely on any Trigger Event Notice and such Trigger Event Notice shall be conclusive evidence of the occurrence of the Trigger Event and conclusive and binding on Securityholders;
- (iii) neither the Trustee nor any Agent shall be under any duty to determine or calculate, or verify any determination or calculation of or relating to, any Trigger Event Write-off Amount and will not be responsible or liable to the Securityholders or any other person for any loss arising from any failure by it to do so, except where such failure is due to the fraud, negligence or willful misconduct of the Trustee or such Agent;
- (iv) each of the Trustee, the Agents, Euroclear, Clearstream, CDP, DTC and any other relevant clearing system shall be entitled without further enquiry and without liability to any Securityholder or any other person to rely on any Trigger Event Notice and the Trigger Event Write-off Amount specified therein shall, as to the amount of Distribution and/or principal to be Written-off, be conclusive and binding on Securityholders;
- (v) as long as such Perpetual Capital Securities are held in global form, neither the Trustee nor any Agent shall, in any circumstances, be responsible or liable to the Issuer, the Securityholders or any other person for any act, omission or default by Euroclear, Clearstream, CDP, DTC or any other relevant clearing system, or its respective participants, members, any broker-dealer or any other relevant third party with respect to the notification and/or implementation of any Write-off by any of them in respect of such Perpetual Capital Securities;
- (vi) once the Issuer has delivered a Trigger Event Notice to the Trustee pursuant to this Condition 7:
  - (A) the Trustee shall not be obliged to take any action pursuant to any direction, instruction or request provided to it pursuant to an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Trust Deed) or a resolution passed at a meeting of Securityholders; and

(B) any direction, instruction or request given to the Trustee pursuant to an Extraordinary Resolution or a resolution passed at a meeting of Securityholders prior to the date of the Trigger Event Notice shall cease automatically and shall be null and void and of no further effect,

provided that any action taken by the Trustee in respect of any such Perpetual Capital Securities shall only be taken after the relevant Suspension Period;

- (vii) the Issuer, the Trustee and each Agent shall, without the need for the consent or approval of the holders of any Perpetual Capital Securities (or any further action or direction on the part of Securityholders), take any and all such steps in accordance with the Agency Agreement as may be necessary or desirable to give effect to any Trigger Event and any Write-off following the occurrence of the Trigger Event and to reflect the same in the records of Euroclear, Clearstream, CDP, DTC or any other relevant clearing system; and
- (viii) the Trust Deed and Agency Agreement contain certain other protections and disclaimers as applicable to the Trustee and Agents in relation to Condition 7 and each Securityholder shall be deemed to have authorized, directed and requested the Trustee, the Registrar and the other Agents, as the case may be, to take any and all such steps as may be necessary or desirable to give effect to any Trigger Event and any Write-off following the occurrence of the Trigger Event.

## 8 Payments

# (a) Perpetual Capital Securities not held in CMU:

- (i) Payments of principal in respect of Perpetual Capital Securities shall be made against presentation and surrender of the relevant Certificates at the specified office of any of the Transfer Agents or of the Registrar and in the manner provided in Condition 8(a)(ii).
- (ii) Distributions on Perpetual Capital Securities shall be paid to the person shown on the Register at the close of business (i) on the fifteenth day before the due date for payment thereof or (ii) in the case of Renminbi, on the fifth day before the due date for payment thereof (the "Record Date"). Payments of Distribution on each Perpetual Capital Security shall be made:
  - (x) in the case of a currency other than Renminbi, in the relevant currency by cheque drawn on a Bank and mailed to the holder (or to the first named of joint holders) of such Perpetual Capital Security at its address appearing in the Register. Upon application by the holder to the specified office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent before the Record Date, such payment of Distribution may be made by transfer to an account in the relevant currency maintained by the payee with a Bank; and
  - (y) in the case of Renminbi where the Perpetual Capital Securities are cleared through CDP, by transfer to the registered account of the Securityholder. If a holder does not maintain such a registered account in respect of a payment to be made under such Perpetual Capital Security, the Issuer reserves the right, in its sole discretion and upon such terms as it may determine, to make arrangements to pay such amount to that holder by another means, provided that the Issuer shall not have any obligation to make any such arrangements.

In this Condition 8(a)(ii), "**registered account**" means the Renminbi account maintained by or on behalf of the Securityholder with a bank in Singapore or Hong Kong, details of which appear on the Register at the close of business on the fifth business day before the due date for payment.

- (iii) Securityholders will not be entitled to any Distribution or other payment for any delay after the due date in receiving the amount due on a Perpetual Capital Security if the due date is not a relevant business day, if the Securityholder is late in surrendering or cannot surrender its Certificate (if required to do so) or if a cheque mailed in accordance with Condition 8(a)(ii) arrives after the due date for payment.
- (b) Perpetual Capital Securities held in CMU: Payments of principal and Distributions in respect of Perpetual Capital Securities held in CMU will be made to the person(s) for whose account(s) interests in the relevant Perpetual Capital Security are credited as being held with CMU in accordance with CMU Rules (as defined in the Agency Agreement) at the relevant time as notified to the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent by CMU in a relevant CMU Instrument Position Report (as defined in the Agency Agreement) or any other relevant notification by CMU, which notification shall be conclusive evidence of the records of CMU (save in the case of manifest error) and payment made in accordance thereof shall discharge the obligations of the Issuer in respect of that payment.

For so long as any of the Perpetual Capital Securities that are cleared through CMU are represented by a Global Certificate, payments of Distribution or principal will be made to the persons for whose account a relevant interest in that Global Certificate is credited as being held by the opera tor of CMU at the relevant time, as notified to the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent by the operator of CMU in a relevant CMU Instrument Position Report (as defined in the rules of CMU) or in any other relevant notification by the operator of CMU. Such payment will discharge the Issuer's obligations in respect of that payment. Any payments by CMU participants to indirect participants will be governed by arrangements agreed between CMU participants and the indirect participants and will continue to depend on the inter-bank clearing system and traditional payment methods. Such payments will be the sole responsibility of such CMU participants.

- (c) Payments subject to fiscal laws: All payments are subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or other laws, regulations and directives in the place of payment or other laws to which the Issuer agrees to be subject and the Issuer will not be liable for any taxes or duties of whatever nature imposed or levied by such laws, regulations, directives or agreements, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 9. No commission or expenses shall be charged to the Securityholders in respect of such payments.
- (d) Payment Initiation: Where payment is to be made by transfer to an account in the relevant currency, payment instructions (for value the due date, or if that is not a business day, for value the first following day which is a business day) will be initiated, and, where payment is to be made by cheque, the cheque will be mailed on the last day on which the relevant Paying Agent is open for business preceding the due date for payment or, in the case of payments of principal where the relevant Certificate has not been surrendered at the specified office of any of the Transfer Agents or of the Registrar, on a day on which the relevant Paying Agent is open for business and on which the relevant Certificate is surrendered.

(e) Appointment of Agents: The Issuing and Paying Agent, the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent, the CDP Paying Agent, the U.S. Paying Agent, the Paying Agents, the Registrar, the Exchange Agent, the Transfer Agents and the Calculation Agent initially appointed by the Issuer and their respective specified offices are listed below. The Issuing and Paying Agent, the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent, the CDP Paying Agent, the U.S. Paying Agent, the Paying Agents, the Registrar, the Exchange Agent, the Transfer Agents and the Calculation Agent act solely as agents of the Issuer and do not assume any obligation or relationship of agency or trust for or with any Securityholder. The Issuer reserves the right at any time with the approval of the Trustee to vary or terminate the appointment of the Issuing and Paying Agent, the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent, the CDP Paying Agent, the U.S. Paying Agent, any other Paying Agent, the Registrar, the Exchange Agent, any Transfer Agent or the Calculation Agent(s) and to appoint additional or other Paying Agents or Transfer Agents, provided that the Issuer shall at all times maintain (i) an Issuing and Paying Agent, (ii) a Registrar, (iii) a Transfer Agent, (iv) a CMU Lodging and Paying Agent in relation to Perpetual Capital Securities cleared through CMU, (v) a CDP Paying Agent in relation to Perpetual Capital Securities cleared through CDP, (vi) a U.S. Paying Agent in relation to Perpetual Capital Securities cleared through DTC, (vii) one or more Calculation Agent(s) where these Conditions so require and (viii) such other agents as may be required by any other stock exchange on which the Perpetual Capital Securities may be listed in each case, as approved by the Trustee.

Notice of any such change or any change of any specified office shall promptly be given to the Securityholders.

So long as any Global Certificate payable in a specified currency other than U.S. dollars is held through DTC or its nominee, there will at all times be an Exchange Agent with a specified office in New York City.

- (f) **Non-Business Days**: If any date for payment in respect of any Perpetual Capital Security is not a business day, the holder shall not be entitled to payment until the next following business day nor to any Distribution or other sum in respect of such postponed payment. In this Condition 8(f), "**business day**" means a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in the relevant place of presentation, in such other jurisdictions as shall be specified as "**Financial Centers**" in the applicable Pricing Supplement and:
  - (i) (in the case of a payment in a currency other than Euro and Renminbi) where payment is to be made by transfer to an account maintained with a bank in the relevant currency, on which foreign exchange transactions may be carried on in the relevant currency in the principal financial center of the country of such currency; or
  - (ii) (in the case of a payment in Euro) which is a TARGET Business Day; or
  - (iii) (in the case of Renminbi where the Perpetual Capital Securities are cleared through CMU) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business and settlement of Renminbi payments in Hong Kong; or
  - (iv) (in the case of Renminbi where the Perpetual Capital Securities are cleared through CDP or in definitive form) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business and settlement of Renminbi payments in Singapore and Hong Kong; or
  - (v) (in the case of Renminbi where the Perpetual Capital Securities are cleared through Euroclear or Clearstream) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business and settlement of Renminbi payments in London.

(g) Renminbi Disruption Fallback: Notwithstanding the foregoing, if (i) Renminbi is, in the reasonable opinion of the Issuer, not expected to be available to the Issuer when payment of the Perpetual Capital Securities is due as a result of circumstances beyond the control of the Issuer or (ii) by reason of Inconvertibility, Non-transferability or Illiquidity, the Issuer is not able to satisfy payments of principal or Distribution in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities when due in Renminbi (in the case of Perpetual Capital Securities cleared through CMU, Euroclear or Clearstream) in Hong Kong or (in the case of Perpetual Capital Securities cleared through CDP) in Singapore, the Issuer shall, on giving not less than five nor more than 30 days' irrevocable notice to the Securityholders prior to the due date for payment, settle any such payment (in the case of Perpetual Capital Securities cleared through CMU, Euroclear or Clearstream) in U.S. dollars on the due date at the U.S. Dollar Equivalent, or (in the case of Perpetual Capital Securities cleared through CDP) in Singapore dollars on the due date at the Singapore Dollar Equivalent, of any such Renminbi denominated amount. The due date for payment shall be the originally scheduled due date or such postponed due date as shall be specified in the notice referred to above, which postponed due date may not fall more than 20 days after the originally scheduled due date. Distributions on the Perpetual Capital Securities will continue to accrue up to but excluding any such date for payment of principal.

In such event, payments of the U.S. Dollar Equivalent or the Singapore Dollar Equivalent (as applicable) of the relevant principal or Distribution in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities shall be made by:

- (i) in the case of Perpetual Capital Securities cleared through CMU, Euroclear or Clearstream, transfer to a U.S. dollar denominated account maintained by the payee with, or by a U.S. dollar denominated cheque drawn on, or, at the option of the holder, by transfer to a U.S. dollar account maintained by the holder with, a bank in New York City and the definition of "business day" for the purpose of Condition 8(f) shall mean any day on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for general business in the relevant place of presentation, and New York City; or
- (ii) in the case of Perpetual Capital Securities cleared through CDP, transfer to a Singapore dollar denominated account maintained by the payee with, or by a Singapore dollar denominated cheque drawn on, a bank in Singapore.

For the purposes of this Condition 8:

"Determination Business Day" means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealings in foreign exchange):

- (i) in the case of Perpetual Capital Securities cleared through CMU, Euroclear or Clearstream, in Hong Kong and New York City; or
- (ii) in the case of Perpetual Capital Securities cleared through CDP, in Singapore.

# "Determination Date" means the day which:

- in the case of Perpetual Capital Securities cleared through CMU, Euroclear or Clearstream, is two Determination Business Days before the due date for payment of the relevant amount under these Conditions; or
- (ii) in the case of Perpetual Capital Securities cleared through CDP, is seven Determination Business Days before the due date of the relevant amount under these Conditions.

# "Governmental Authority" means:

- (i) in the case of Perpetual Capital Securities cleared through CMU, Euroclear or Clearstream, any *de facto* or *de jure* government (or any agency or instrumentality thereof), court, tribunal, administrative or other governmental authority or any other entity (private or public) charged with the regulation of the financial markets (including the central bank) of Hong Kong; or
- (ii) in the case of Perpetual Capital Securities cleared through CDP, MAS or any other governmental authority or any other entity (private or public) charged with the regulation of the financial markets of Singapore.

# "Illiquidity" means:

- (i) in the case of Perpetual Capital Securities cleared through CMU, Euroclear or Clearstream, the general Renminbi exchange market in Hong Kong becomes illiquid as a result of which the Issuer cannot obtain sufficient Renminbi in order to satisfy its obligation to pay Distribution or principal in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities as determined by the Issuer in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner following consultation with two Renminbi Dealers selected by the Issuer; or
- (ii) in the case of Perpetual Capital Securities cleared through CDP, the general Renminbi exchange market in Singapore becomes illiquid as a result of which the Issuer cannot obtain sufficient Renminbi in order to satisfy its obligation to pay Distribution or principal in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities as determined by the Issuer in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner following consultation with two Renminbi Dealers selected by the Issuer.

"Inconvertibility" means the occurrence of any event that makes it impossible (where it had been previously possible) for the Issuer to convert any amount due in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities in the general Renminbi exchange market in (in the case of Perpetual Capital Securities cleared through CMU, Euroclear or Clearstream) Hong Kong or (in the case of Perpetual Capital Securities cleared through CDP) Singapore, other than where such impossibility is due solely to the failure of the Issuer to comply with any law, rule or regulation enacted by any Governmental Authority (unless such law, rule or regulation is enacted after the Issue Date and it is impossible for the Issuer, due to an event beyond its control, to comply with such law, rule or regulation).

"Non-transferability" means the occurrence of any event that makes it impossible for the Issuer to deliver Renminbi between accounts:

(i) in the case of Perpetual Capital Securities cleared through CMU, Euroclear or Clearstream, inside Hong Kong or from an account inside Hong Kong to an account outside Hong Kong and outside the PRC or from an account outside Hong Kong and outside the PRC to an account inside Hong Kong, other than where such impossibility is due solely to the failure of the Issuer to comply with any law, rule or regulation enacted by any Governmental Authority (unless such law, rule or regulation is enacted after the Issue Date and it is impossible for the Issuer, due to an event beyond its control, to comply with such law, rule or regulation); or (ii) in the case of Perpetual Capital Securities cleared through CDP, inside Singapore or from an account inside Singapore to an account outside Singapore and outside the PRC or from an account outside Singapore and outside the PRC to an account inside Singapore, other than where such impossibility is due solely to the failure of the Issuer to comply with any law, rule or regulation enacted by any Governmental Authority (unless such law, rule or regulation is enacted after the Issue Date and it is impossible for the Issuer, due to an event beyond its control, to comply with such law, rule or regulation).

"PRC" means the People's Republic of China (excluding the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, the Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan).

"Renminbi Dealer" means an independent foreign exchange dealer of international repute active in the Renminbi exchange market in (in the case of Perpetual Capital Securities cleared through CMU, Euroclear or Clearstream) Hong Kong or (in the case of Perpetual Capital Securities cleared through CDP) Singapore.

"Singapore Dollar Equivalent" means the Renminbi amount converted into Singapore dollars using the relevant Spot Rate for the relevant Determination Date, as promptly notified to the Issuer and the Paying Agents.

# "Spot Rate" means:

(i) in the case of Perpetual Capital Securities cleared through CMU, Euroclear or Clearstream, the spot CNY/U.S. dollar exchange rate for the purchase of U.S. dollars with Renminbi in the over-the-counter Renminbi exchange market in Hong Kong for settlement in two Determination Business Days, as determined by the Calculation Agent at or around 11.00 a.m. (Hong Kong time) on the Determination Date, on a deliverable basis by reference to Reuters Screen Page TRADCNY3, or if no such rate is available, on a non-deliverable basis by reference to Reuters Screen Page TRADNDF.

If such rate is not available, the Calculation Agent will determine the Spot Rate at or around 11.00 a.m. (Hong Kong time) on the Determination Date as the most recently available CNY/U.S. dollar official fixing rate for settlement in two Determination Business Days reported by The State Administration of Foreign Exchange of the PRC, which is reported on the Reuters Screen Page CNY=SAEC. Reference to a page on the Reuters Screen means the display page so designated on the Reuter Monitor Money Rates Service (or any successor service) or such other page as may replace that page for the purpose of displaying a comparable currency exchange rate; or

(ii) in the case of Perpetual Capital Securities cleared through CDP, the spot CNY/Singapore dollar exchange rate as determined by the Issuer at or around 11.00 a.m. (Singapore time) on the Determination Date in good faith and in a reasonable commercial manner, and if a spot rate is not readily available, the Issuer may determine the rate taking into consideration all available information which the Issuer deems relevant, including pricing information obtained from the Renminbi non-deliverable exchange market in Singapore or elsewhere and the PRC domestic foreign exchange market in Singapore (and, for the avoidance of doubt, the Calculation Agent shall have no obligation to determine the Spot Rate in the case of Perpetual Capital Securities cleared through CDP).

All notifications, opinions, determinations, certificates, calculations, quotations and decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of the provisions of this Condition 8(g) by the Calculation Agent, will (in the absence of willful default, bad faith or manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, the Agents and all Securityholders.

**"U.S. Dollar Equivalent"** means the Renminbi amount converted into U.S. dollars using the Spot Rate for the relevant Determination Date as promptly notified to the Issuer and the Paying Agents.

## 9 Taxation

All payments of principal and Distributions by or on behalf of the Issuer in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, any taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by a Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax, unless such withholding or deduction is required by law. In that event, the Issuer shall pay such additional amounts (the "Additional Amounts") as shall result in receipt by the Securityholders of such amounts as would have been received by them had no such withholding or deduction been required, except that no such Additional Amounts shall be payable with respect to any Perpetual Capital Security:

- (a) Other connection: to, or to a third party on behalf of, a holder who is (i) treated as a resident of the Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction or as having a permanent establishment in the Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction for tax purposes or (ii) liable to such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges in respect of such Perpetual Capital Security by reason of his having some connection with the Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction other than the mere holding or ownership of the Perpetual Capital Security or receiving income therefrom, or the enforcement thereof; or
- (b) Lawful avoidance of withholding: to, or to a third party on behalf of, a holder who could lawfully avoid (but has not so avoided) such deduction or withholding by complying or procuring that any third party complies with any statutory requirements or by making or procuring that any third party makes a declaration of non-residence or other similar claim for exemption to any tax authority in the place where the relevant Certificate representing the Perpetual Capital Security is presented for payment; or
- (c) Presentation more than 30 days after the Relevant Date: presented (or in respect of which the Certificate representing it is presented) for payment more than 30 days after the Relevant Date except to the extent that the holder of it would have been entitled to such Additional Amounts on presenting it for payment on the thirtieth such day.

For the avoidance of doubt, neither the Issuer nor any other person shall be required to pay any Additional Amounts or otherwise indemnify a holder for any withholding or deduction required pursuant to an agreement described in Section 1471(b) of the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1 986, as amended (the "Code") as amended or otherwise imposed pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code (or any regulations thereunder or official interpretations thereof) or an intergovernmental agreement between the United States and another jurisdiction facilitating the implementation thereof (or any law implementing such an intergovernmental agreement).

As used in these Conditions,

- (i) "Relevant Date" in respect of any Perpetual Capital Security means the date on which payment in respect of it first becomes due or (if any amount of the money payable is improperly withheld or refused) the date on which payment in full of the amount outstanding is made or (if earlier) the date seven days after that on which notice is duly given to the Securityholders that, upon further presentation of the Certificate representing the Perpetual Capital Security being made in accordance with these Conditions, such payment will be made, provided that payment is in fact made upon such presentation. References in these Conditions to (i) "principal" shall be deemed to include any premium payable in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities, Final Redemption Amounts, Early Redemption Amounts, Optional Redemption Amounts and all other amounts in the nature of principal payable pursuant to Condition 6 or any amendment or supplement to it, (ii) "Distribution" shall be deemed to include all Distribution Amounts and all other amounts payable pursuant to Condition 4 or any amendment or supplement to it and (iii) "principal" and/or "Distribution" shall be deemed to include any additional amounts that may be payable under this Condition 9 or any undertaking given in addition to or in substitution for it under the Trust Deed.
- (ii) "Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction" means Singapore or, if different, the jurisdiction of tax residency of the Issuer.

Where interest, discount income, prepayment fee, redemption premium or break cost is derived from any of the Perpetual Capital Securities by any person who is not resident in Singapore and who carries on any operations in Singapore through a permanent establishment in Singapore, the tax exemption available for qualifying debt securities (subject to certain conditions) under the Income Tax Act, shall not apply if such person acquires such Perpetual Capital Securities using the funds and profits of such person's operations through a permanent establishment in Singapore. Any person whose interest, discount income, prepayment fee, redemption premium or break cost derived from the Perpetual Capital Securities is not exempt from tax (including for the reasons described above) shall include such income in a return of income made under the Income Tax Act.

## 10 Prescription

Claims against the Issuer for payment in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities shall be prescribed and become void unless made within 10 years (in the case of principal) or five years (in the case of Distribution) from the appropriate Relevant Date in respect of them.

## 11 Default

(a) Default: "Default", wherever used in these Conditions, means (except as expressly provided below, whatever the reason for such Default and whether or not it shall be voluntary or involuntary or be effected by the operation of law or pursuant to any judgment, decree or order of any court or any order, rule or regulation of any administrative or governmental body) failure to pay principal of or Distribution on any Perpetual Capital Security (which default in the case of principal continues for seven Business Days and in the case of Distribution continues for 14 Business Days) after the due date for such payment.

If a Write-off or conversion has occurred pursuant to, or otherwise in accordance with, Condition 7 or (with respect to a conversion) any applicable Pricing Supplement, such event will not constitute a Default under these Conditions.

(b) Enforcement: If a Default occurs and is continuing, the Trustee may in its absolute discretion institute proceedings in Singapore (but not elsewhere) for the winding-up of the Issuer. The Trustee shall have no right to enforce payment under or accelerate payment of any Perpetual Capital Security in the case of such Default in payment on such Perpetual Capital Security or a default in the performance of any other covenant of the Issuer in such Perpetual Capital Security or in the Trust Deed except as provided for in this Condition 11 and Clause 8 of the Trust Deed.

Subject to the subordination provisions as set out in Condition 3, in Clause 6 and Clause 8.3 of the Trust Deed, if a court order is made or an effective resolution is passed for the winding-up of the Issuer, there shall be payable on the relevant Perpetual Capital Securities, after the payment in full of all claims of all Senior Creditors, but in priority to holders of Junior Obligations of the Issuer and/or as otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement or in a supplement to the Offering Memorandum, such amount remaining after the payment in full of all claims of all Senior Creditors up to, but not exceeding, the nominal amount of the Perpetual Capital Securities together with Distribution accrued to the date of repayment.

- (c) Rights and Remedies upon Default: If a Default in respect of the payment of principal of or Distribution on the Perpetual Capital Securities occurs and is continuing, the sole remedy available to the Trustee shall be the right to institute proceedings in Singapore (but not elsewhere) for the winding-up of the Issuer. If the Issuer shall default in the performance of any obligation contained in the Trust Deed, other than a Default specified in Condition 11(a), the Trustee and the Securityholders shall be entitled to every right and remedy given hereunder or thereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or otherwise, provided, however, that the Trustee shall have no right to enforce payment under or accelerate payment of any Perpetual Capital Security except as provided in this Condition 11(c) and Clause 8.3 of the Trust Deed. If any court awards money damages or other restitution for any default with respect to the performance by the Issuer of its obligations contained in the Trust Deed, the payment of such money damages or other restitution shall be subject to the subordination provisions set out herein and in Clause 6 and Clause 8.3 of the Trust Deed.
- (d) Entitlement of the Trustee: The Trustee shall not be bound to take any of the actions referred to in Condition 11(b) or Condition 11(c) or Clause 8.3 of the Trust Deed or any other action under the Trust Deed unless (i) it shall have been so requested by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Securityholders or in writing by the holders of at least one-quarter in nominal amount of the Perpetual Capital Securities then outstanding and (ii) it shall have been indemnified and/or secured to its satisfaction.
- (e) Rights of Holders: No Securityholder shall be entitled to proceed directly against the Issuer or to institute proceedings for the winding-up of the Issuer in Singapore or to prove in any winding-up of the Issuer unless the Trustee, having become so bound to proceed (in accordance with the terms of the Trust Deed) or being able to prove in such winding-up, fails to do so within a reasonable period and such failure shall be continuing, in which case the Securityholder shall have only such rights against the Issuer as those which the Trustee is entitled to exercise.

No remedy against the Issuer, other than as referred to in this Condition 11 and Clause 8 of the Trust Deed, shall be available to the Trustee or any Securityholder whether for the recovery of amounts owing in relation to or arising from the Perpetual Capital Securities and/or the Trust Deed or in respect of any breach by the Issuer of any of its other obligations relating to or arising from the Perpetual Capital Securities and/or the Trust Deed.

# 12 Meetings of Securityholders, Modification and Waiver

Meetings of Securityholders: The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening meetings of Securityholders to consider any matter affecting their interests, including the sanctioning by Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Trust Deed) of a modification of any of these Conditions or any provision of the Trust Deed. Such a meeting may be convened by Securityholders holding not less than 10% in nominal amount of the Perpetual Capital Securities for the time being outstanding. The quorum for any meeting convened to consider an Extraordinary Resolution shall be two or more persons holding or representing a clear majority in nominal amount of the Perpetual Capital Securities for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned meeting two or more persons being or representing Securityholders whatever the nominal amount of the Perpetual Capital Securities held or represented, unless the business of such meeting includes consideration of proposals, inter alia, (i) to amend the dates of redemption of the Perpetual Capital Securities or any date for payment of Distribution or Distribution Amounts on the Perpetual Capital Securities, (ii) to reduce or cancel the nominal amount of, or any premium payable on redemption of, the Perpetual Capital Securities, (iii) to reduce the rate or rates of Distribution in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities or to vary the method or basis of calculating the rate or rates or amount of Distribution or the basis for calculating any Distribution Amount in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities except as a result of any modification contemplated in Condition 4(I)), (iv) if a Minimum and/or a Maximum Rate of Distribution or Redemption Amount is shown in the applicable Pricing Supplement, to reduce any such Minimum and/or Maximum, (v) to vary any method of, or basis for, calculating the Final Redemption Amount, the Early Redemption Amount or the Optional Redemption Amount, (vi) to vary the currency or currencies of payment or the Specified Denomination of the Perpetual Capital Securities, (vii) to take any steps that as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement may only be taken following approval by an Extraordinary Resolution to which the special quorum provisions apply, (viii) to modify the provisions concerning the quorum required at any meeting of Securityholders or the majority required to pass the Extraordinary Resolution, (ix) to modify Condition 3 in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities or (x) to sanction the exchange or substitution for the Perpetual Capital Securities of, or the conversion of the Perpetual Capital Securities into, shares, bonds or other obligations or securities of the Issuer or any other entity in circumstances other than where "Conversion" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and as contemplated by such provisions in which case the necessary quorum shall be two or more persons holding or representing not less than 75%, or at any adjourned meeting not less than 25%, in nominal amount of the Perpetual Capital Securities for the time being outstanding. Any Extraordinary Resolution duly passed shall be binding on all Securityholders (whether or not they were present at the meeting at which such resolution was passed).

The Trust Deed provides that a resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of the holders of not less than 90% in nominal amount of the Perpetual Capital Securities outstanding shall for all purposes be as valid and effective as an Extraordinary Resolution passed at a meeting of Securityholders duly convened and held. Such a resolution in writing may be contained in one document or several documents in the same form, each signed by or on behalf of one or more Securityholders.

The consent or approval of the Securityholders shall not be required in the case of amendments to these Conditions pursuant to Condition 4(I) to vary the method or basis of calculating the rate or rates or amount of distribution or the basis for calculating any Distribution Amount in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities or for any other variation of these Conditions and/or the Agency Agreement required to be made in the circumstances described in Condition 4(I), where the requirements of Condition 4(I) have been satisfied (including the provision of a certificate to the Trustee, where applicable).

These Conditions may be amended, modified or varied in relation to any Series of Perpetual Capital Securities by the terms of the applicable Pricing Supplement in relation to such Series.

- (b) Modification of the Trust Deed and waiver: The Trustee may agree, without the consent of the Securityholders, to (i) any modification of any of the provisions of the Trust Deed which is, in its opinion, of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to correct a manifest error or to comply with any mandatory provision of law, and (ii) any other modification (except as mentioned in the Trust Deed), and waive or authorize, on such terms as seem expedient to it, any breach or proposed breach, of any of the provisions of the Trust Deed that is in the opinion of the Trustee not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Securityholders. Notwithstanding any other provision of these Conditions or the Trust Deed, no modification to any Condition or any provision of the Trust Deed may be made without the prior approval of MAS where such modifications could impact the eligibility of the Perpetual Capital Securities as Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities. Any such modification, authorization or waiver shall be binding on the Securityholders and, if the Trustee so requires, such waiver or authorization shall be notified by the Issuer to the Securityholders as soon as practicable.
- (c) Entitlement of the Trustee: In connection with the exercise of its functions (including but not limited to those referred to in this Condition 12(c)) the Trustee shall have regard to the interests of the Securityholders as a class and shall not have regard to the consequences of such exercise for individual Securityholders and the Trustee shall not be entitled to require, nor shall any Securityholder be entitled to claim, from the Issuer any indemnification or payment in respect of any tax consequence of any such exercise upon individual Securityholders.

### 13 Indemnification of the Trustee

The Trust Deed contains provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee and for its relief from responsibility. The Trustee is entitled to enter into business transactions with the Issuer and any entity related to the Issuer without accounting for any profit.

Each Securityholder shall be solely responsible for making and continuing to make its own independent appraisal and investigation into the financial position, creditworthiness, condition, affairs, status and nature of the Issuer and the Trustee shall not at any time have any responsibility for the same and each Securityholder shall not rely on the Trustee in respect thereof.

The Trustee may accept and rely without liability to Securityholders on a report, confirmation or certificate or any advice of any accountants, financial advisors, financial institution or any other expert, whether or not addressed to it and whether their liability in relation thereto is limited (by its terms or by any engagement letter relating thereto entered into by the Trustee or in any other manner) by reference to a monetary cap, methodology or otherwise. Such report, confirmation or certificate or advice shall be binding on the Issuer, the Trustee and the Securityholders.

## 14 Replacement of Certificates

If a Certificate is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced, subject to applicable laws, regulations and stock exchange or other relevant authority regulations, at the specified office of the Registrar or such other Paying Agent or Transfer Agent, as the case may be, as may from time to time be designated by the Issuer for the purpose and notice of whose designation is given to Securityholders, in each case on payment by the claimant of the fees and costs incurred in connection therewith and on such terms as to evidence, security and indemnity (which may provide, *inter alia*, that if the allegedly lost, stolen or destroyed Certificate is subsequently presented for payment, there shall be paid to the Issuer on demand the amount payable by the Issuer in respect of such Certificates) and otherwise as the Issuer or such agent may require. Mutilated or defaced Certificates must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

## 15 Further Issues

The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Securityholders create and issue further securities either having the same terms and conditions as the Perpetual Capital Securities in all respects (or in all respects except for the first payment of Distribution on them) and so that such further issue shall be consolidated and form a single Series with the outstanding securities of any Series (including the Perpetual Capital Securities) or upon such terms as the Issuer may determine at the time of their issue. References in these Conditions to the Perpetual Capital Securities include (unless the context requires otherwise) any other securities issued pursuant to this Condition 15 and forming a single Series with the Perpetual Capital Securities. Any further securities forming a single series with the outstanding securities of any Series (including the Perpetual Capital Securities) constituted by the Trust Deed or any deed supplemental to it shall, and any other securities may (with the consent of the Trustee), be constituted by the Trust Deed. The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening a single meeting of the Securityholders and the holders of securities of other Series where the Trustee so decides.

### 16 Notices

Notices to Securityholders will be valid if published in a daily newspaper of general circulation in Singapore (which is expected to be *The Business Times* but may be another leading daily English language newspaper with general circulation in Singapore) or for so long as the Perpetual Capital Securities are listed on the SGX-ST and the rules of the SGX-ST so require, on the website of the SGX-ST (www.sgx.com). Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of publication.

So long as the Perpetual Capital Securities are represented by the Global Certificate and the Global Certificate is held on behalf of (i) DTC, Euroclear or Clearstream, the Alternative Clearing System (as defined in the form of the Global Certificate) or CDP, notices to Securityholders shall be given by delivery of the relevant notice to DTC, Euroclear or Clearstream, the Alternative Clearing System or (subject to the agreement of CDP) CDP for communication by it to entitled accountholders in substitution for notification as required by these Conditions or (ii) CMU, notices to the holders of Perpetual Capital Securities of that Series may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to the persons shown in a CMU Instrument Position Report issued by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority on the business day preceding the date of dispatch of such notice, in each case except that if the Perpetual Capital Securities are listed on the SGX-ST, and the rules of the SGX-ST so require, notice will in any event be published as provided above.

A Trigger Event Notice or notice of the issue of a Bail-in Certificate to the holders of any Perpetual Capital Securities shall be deemed to have been validly given on the date on which such notice is published in a daily newspaper of general circulation in Singapore (which is expected to be *The Business Times* but may be another leading daily English language newspaper with general circulation in Singapore) or so long as the Perpetual Capital Securities are listed on the SGX-ST and the rules of the SGX-ST so require, published on the website of the SGX-ST (www.sgx.com). Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of such publication or, if published more than once or on different dates, on the first date on which publication is made, as provided above.

# 17 Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act

No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Perpetual Capital Securities under (i) if the Perpetual Capital Securities are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being governed by English law, the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 or (ii) if the Perpetual Capital Securities are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being governed by Singapore law, Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 2001 of Singapore.

# 18 Governing Law and Jurisdiction

(a) **Governing Law**: The Trust Deed and, if the Perpetual Capital Securities are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being governed by Singapore law, as supplemented by the Singapore Supplemental Trust Deed, the Perpetual Capital Securities and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with them are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, English or Singapore law, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, save that Condition 3(a), Condition 3(b), Condition 3(c), Condition 11(b) and Condition 11(c) are in all cases governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, Singapore law.

# (b) Jurisdiction:

- If the Perpetual Capital Securities are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being governed by English law, the courts of England are to have jurisdiction to settle any disputes that may arise out of or in connection with any Perpetual Capital Securities, save that the courts of Singapore shall have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes that may arise out of Conditions 3(a), 3(b), 3(c), 11(b) and/or 11(c), and accordingly any legal action or proceedings arising out of or in connection with any Perpetual Capital Securities ("Proceedings") may be brought in such courts. For Perpetual Capital Securities for which English law is specified as the governing law in the applicable Pricing Supplement, insofar as the Proceedings do not arise out of or are in connection with Conditions 3(a), 3(b), 3(c), 11(b) and/or 11(c), the Issuer irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of the courts of England and waives any objection to Proceedings in such courts on the ground of venue or on the ground that the Proceedings have been brought in an inconvenient forum. This submission is made for the benefit of each of the holders of the Perpetual Capital Securities and shall not affect the right of any of them to take Proceedings in any other court of competent jurisdiction nor shall the taking of Proceedings in one or more jurisdictions preclude the taking of Proceedings in any other jurisdiction (whether concurrently or not). Insofar as the Proceedings arise out of or are in connection with Conditions 3(a), 3(b), 3(c), 11(b) and/or 11(c), all parties irrevocably submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of Singapore and waive any objection to Proceedings in such courts on the ground of venue or on the ground that the Proceedings have been brought in an inconvenient forum.
- (ii) If the Perpetual Capital Securities are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being governed by Singapore law, the courts of Singapore are to have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes that may arise out of or in connection with any Perpetual Capital Securities and accordingly any Proceedings shall be brought in such courts. For Perpetual Capital Securities for which Singapore law is specified as the governing law in the applicable Pricing Supplement, all parties irrevocably submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of Singapore and waive any objection to Proceedings in such courts on the ground of venue or on the ground that the Proceedings have been brought in an inconvenient forum.
- (c) Service of Process: For Perpetual Capital Securities for which English law is specified as the governing law in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the Issuer has in the Trust Deed agreed that its branch in England shall accept service of process on its behalf in respect of any Proceedings in England. If such branch ceases to be able to accept service of process in England, the Issuer shall immediately appoint a new agent to accept such service of process in England.

# SUMMARY OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE NOTES WHILE IN GLOBAL FORM

The following section does not apply to AMTNs and references in the following section to the "Issuing and Paying Agent", the "CMU Lodging and Paying Agent", the "CDP Paying Agent", the "U.S. Paying Agent" and the "Registrar" shall be to the Issuing and Paying Agent, the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent, the CDP Paying Agent, the U.S. Paying Agent and the Registrar in respect of Notes other than AMTNs.

## **Initial Issue of Notes**

The Notes will be issued in series (each a "Series") having one or more issue dates and on terms otherwise identical (or identical other than in respect of the first payment of interest (in respect of the Notes other than Perpetual Capital Securities) or Distributions (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable and their issue price), the Notes of each Series being intended to be interchangeable with all other Notes of that Series. Each Series may be issued in tranches (each a "Tranche") on the same or different issue dates. The specific terms of each Tranche (which will be supplemented, where necessary, with supplemental terms and conditions and, save in respect of the issue date, issue price, first payment of interest (in respect of the Notes other than Perpetual Capital Securities) or Distributions (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable and nominal amount of the Tranche, will be identical to the terms of other Tranches of the same Series) will be set out in a Pricing Supplement to this Offering Memorandum.

Global Notes and Global Certificates may be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to a common depositary or CDP or CMU or (in respect of Global Certificates) a custodian for DTC.

Upon the initial deposit of a Global Note with (i) CDP, (ii) a sub-custodian for the CMU, (iii) a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream (a "Common Depositary") or (iv) any other permitted clearing system (an "Alternative Clearing System") or registration of Registered Notes in the name of CDP or the HKMA as operator of the CMU or any nominee for Euroclear and Clearstream and delivery of the relevant Global Certificate to CDP, the CMU or Common Depositary for Euroclear or Clearstream (as the case may be) will credit each subscriber with a nominal amount of Notes equal to the nominal amount thereof for which it has subscribed and paid. Upon the initial deposit of a Global Certificate in respect of, and registration of, Registered Notes in the name of a nominee for DTC and delivery of the relevant Global Certificate to the Custodian for DTC, DTC will credit each participant with a nominal amount of Notes equal to the nominal amount thereof for which it has subscribed and paid.

Notes that are initially deposited with the Common Depositary may also be credited to the accounts of subscribers with (if indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement) other clearing systems through direct or indirect accounts with CDP and/or the CMU and/or Euroclear and Clearstream held by such other clearing systems. Conversely, Notes that are initially deposited with any other clearing system may similarly be credited to the accounts of subscribers with CDP, the CMU, Euroclear, Clearstream or other clearing systems.

While any Note is represented by a Temporary Global Note, payments of principal, interest (if any) and any other amount payable in respect of the Notes due prior to the Exchange Date will be made against presentation of the Temporary Global Note only to the extent that certification (in a form to be provided) to the effect that the beneficial owners of interests in such Note are not U.S. persons or persons who have purchased for resale to any U.S. person, as required by U.S. Treasury regulations, has been received by the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent and/or CDP and/or Euroclear and/or Clearstream and (in the case of a Temporary Global Note delivered to a Common Depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream) Euroclear and/or Clearstream, as applicable,

has given a like certification (based on the certifications it has received) to the Issuing and Paying Agent (in the case of Notes cleared through CMU), CMU has given a like certificate (based on the certification it has received) to the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent or (in the case of Notes cleared through CDP) CDP has given a like certificate (based on the certification it has received) to the CDP Paying Agent.

# Relationship of Accountholders with Clearing Systems

Each of the persons shown in the records of CDP, Euroclear, Clearstream, DTC or an Alternative Clearing System as the holder of a Note represented by a Global Note or a Global Certificate must look solely to CDP, Euroclear, Clearstream, DTC or any such Alternative Clearing System (as the case may be) for his share of each payment made by the Issuer to the bearer of such Global Note or the holder of the underlying Registered Notes, as the case may be, and in relation to all other rights arising under the Global Notes or Global Certificates, subject to and in accordance with the respective rules and procedures of CDP, Euroclear, Clearstream, DTC or such Alternative Clearing System (as the case may be). Such persons shall have no claim directly against us in respect of payments due on the Notes for so long as the Notes are represented by such Global Note or Global Certificate and our obligations will be discharged by payment to the bearer of such Global Note or the holder of the underlying Registered Notes, as the case may be, in respect of each amount so paid.

If a Global Note or Global Certificate is lodged with a sub-custodian for or registered with the CMU, the person(s) for whose account(s) interests in such Global Note or Global Certificate are credited as being held in the CMU in accordance with the CMU Rules as notified by the CMU to the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent in a relevant CMU Instrument Position Report (as defined in the rules of the CMU) or any other relevant notification by the CMU (which notification, in either case, shall be conclusive evidence of the records of the CMU save in the case of manifest error) shall be the only person(s) entitled or in the case of Registered Notes, directed or deemed by the CMU as entitled to receive payments in respect of Notes represented by such Global Note or Global Certificate and we will be discharged by payment to, or to the order of, such person(s) for whose account(s) interests in such Global Note or Global Certificate are credited as being held in the CMU in respect of each amount so paid. Each of the persons shown in the records of the CMU as the beneficial holder of a particular nominal amount of Notes represented by such Global Note or Global Certificate must look solely to the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent for his share of each payment so made by us in respect of such Global Note or Global Certificate.

## **Trustee's Powers**

In considering the interests of Noteholders or Securityholders, as the case may be, while any Global Note is held on behalf of, or any Global Certificate is registered in the name of any nominee for, a clearing system, the Trustee may have regard to any information provided to it by such clearing system or its operator as to the identity (either individually or by category) of its accountholders with entitlements to such Global Note or Global Certificate and may consider such interests as if such accountholders were the holders of the Notes represented by such Global Note or Global Certificate.

# **Exchange**

## Temporary Global Notes

Each Temporary Global Note will be exchangeable, free of charge to the holder, on or after its Exchange Date:

- (i) if the applicable Pricing Supplement indicates that such Global Note is issued in compliance with TEFRA C or in a transaction to which TEFRA is not applicable (as to which, see "Summary of the Program Selling Restrictions"), in whole, but not in part, for the Definitive Notes defined and described below; and
- (ii) otherwise, in whole or in part (provided that the relevant clearing system's rules so permit) upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership in the form set out in the Agency Agreement dated for interests in a Permanent Global Note or, if so provided in the applicable Pricing Supplement, for Definitive Notes.

The CMU may require that any such exchange for a Permanent Global Note is made in whole and not in part and in such event, no such exchange will be effected until all relevant account holders (as set out in a CMU Instrument Position Report or any other relevant notification supplied to the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent by the CMU) have so certified.

## Permanent Global Notes

Each Permanent Global Note will be exchangeable, free of charge to the holder, on or after its Exchange Date in whole but not, except as provided under "- Partial Exchange of Permanent Global Notes", in part for Definitive Notes:

- (i) if the Permanent Global Note is held on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream or the CMU or an Alternative Clearing System and any such clearing system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holidays, statutory or otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or in fact does so; or
- (ii) if the Permanent Global Note is held on behalf of CDP, (a) an Event of Default or a Default, enforcement event or analogous event entitling an accountholder or the Trustee to declare the Notes due and payable as provided in the relevant Conditions, has occurred and is continuing, (b) CDP is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holidays, statutory or otherwise), (c) CDP announces an intention permanently to cease business and no Alternative Clearing System is available or (d) CDP has notified us that it is unable or unwilling to act as depository for the Notes and to continue performing its duties as set out in the terms and conditions for the provision of depository services and no Alternative Clearing System is available.

In the event that a Global Note is exchanged for Definitive Notes, such Definitive Notes shall be issued in Specified Denomination(s) only. A Noteholder who holds a nominal amount of less than the minimum Specified Denomination will not receive a Definitive Note in respect of such holding and would need to purchase a nominal amount of Notes such that it holds an amount equal to one or more Specified Denominations.

Notes which are represented by a Global Note will only be transferable in accordance with the rules and procedures for the time being of CDP, the CMU, Euroclear or Clearstream or an Alternative Clearing System, as the case may be.

For so long as a Permanent Global Note is held on behalf of a clearing system and the rules of that clearing system permit, such Permanent Global Note will be exchangeable in part on one or more occasions for Definitive Notes if so provided in, and in accordance with, the Conditions (which will be set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement) relating to Partly Paid Notes.

### **Global Certificate**

### Unrestricted Global Certificates

If the Pricing Supplement states that the Notes are to be represented by an Unrestricted Global Certificate on issue, the following will apply in respect of transfers of Notes held in CDP, the CMU, Euroclear or Clearstream, DTC or an Alternative Clearing System. These provisions will not prevent the trading of interests in the Notes within a clearing system while they are held on behalf of such clearing system, but will limit the circumstances in which the Notes may be withdrawn from the relevant clearing system. Transfers of the holding of Notes represented by any Unrestricted Global Certificate pursuant to Note Condition 2(b) (in respect of the Notes other than Perpetual Capital Securities) and Perpetual Capital Securities Condition 2(a) (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only) may be made:

- (i) in whole or in part, if the Unrestricted Global Certificate is held on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream, the CMU or an Alternative Clearing System and any such clearing system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holidays, statutory or otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or does in fact do so; or
- (ii) in whole or in part, if the Global Certificate is held on behalf of CDP, (a) an Event of Default or a Default, enforcement event or analogous event entitling an accountholder or the Trustee to redeem the Notes due and payable as provided in the Conditions, has occurred and is continuing, (b) CDP is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holidays, statutory or otherwise), (c) CDP announces an intention permanently to cease business and no Alternative Clearing System is available or (d) CDP has notified us that it is unable or unwilling to act as depository for the Notes and to continue performing its duties as set out in the terms and conditions for the provision of depository services and no Alternative Clearing System is available; or
- (iii) in whole but not in part, if such Notes are held on behalf of a Custodian for DTC and if DTC notifies us that it is no longer willing or able to discharge properly its responsibilities as depository with respect to that Unrestricted Global Certificate or DTC ceases to be a "clearing agency" registered under the Exchange Act or is at any time no longer eligible to act as such, and we are unable to locate a qualified successor within 90 days of receiving notice of such ineligibility on the part of DTC; or
- (iv) in whole or in part, with our consent,

provided that, in the case of the first transfer of part of a holding pursuant to paragraphs (i), (ii) and (iii) above, the Registered Holder has given the Registrar not less than 30 days' notice at its specified office of the Registered Holder's intention to effect such transfer.

## Restricted Global Certificates

If the Pricing Supplement states that the Restricted Notes are to be represented by a Restricted Global Certificate on issue, the following will apply in respect of transfers of Notes held in DTC. These provisions will not prevent the trading of interests in the Notes within a clearing system while they are held on behalf of DTC, but will limit the circumstances in which the Notes may be withdrawn from DTC. Transfers of the holding of Notes represented by that Restricted Global.

Certificate pursuant to Note Condition 2(b) (in respect of the Notes other than Perpetual Capital Securities) and Perpetual Capital Securities Condition 2(a) (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only) may only be made:

- (i) in whole but not in part, if such Notes are held on behalf of a Custodian for DTC and if DTC notifies us that it is no longer willing or able to discharge properly its responsibilities as depository with respect to that Restricted Global Certificate or DTC ceases to be a "clearing agency" registered under the Exchange Act or is at any time no longer eligible to act as such, and we are unable to locate a qualified successor within 90 days of receiving notice of such ineligibility on the part of DTC; or
- (ii) in whole or in part, with our consent,

provided that, in the case of any transfer pursuant to paragraph (i) above, the relevant Registered Holder has given the relevant Registrar not less than 30 days' notice at its specified office of the Registered Holder's intention to effect such transfer. Individual Certificates issued in exchange for a beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Certificate shall bear the legend applicable to such Notes as set out in "Transfer Restrictions".

# **Partial Exchange of Permanent Global Notes**

For so long as a Permanent Global Note is held on behalf of a clearing system and the rules of that clearing system permit, such Permanent Global Note will be exchangeable in part on one or more occasions for Definitive Notes if so provided in, and in accordance with, the Note Conditions (which will be set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement) relating to Partly Paid Notes.

# **Delivery of Notes**

On or after any due date for exchange, the holder of a Global Note may surrender such Global Note or, in the case of a partial exchange, present it for endorsement to or to the order of the relevant Paying Agent. In exchange for any Global Note, or the part thereof to be exchanged, we will (i) in the case of a Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a Permanent Global Note, deliver, or procure the delivery of, a Permanent Global Note in an aggregate nominal amount equal to that of the whole or that part of a Temporary Global Note that is being exchanged or, in the case of a subsequent exchange, endorse, or procure the endorsement of, a Permanent Global Note to reflect such exchange or (ii) in the case of a Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes, deliver, or procure the delivery of, an equal aggregate nominal amount of duly executed and authenticated Definitive Notes. Global Notes and Definitive Notes will be delivered outside the United States and its possessions. In this Offering Memorandum, "Definitive Notes" means, in relation to any Global Note, the definitive Bearer Notes for which such Global Note may be exchanged (if appropriate, having attached to them all Coupons and Receipts in respect of interest (in respect of the Notes other than Perpetual Capital Securities) or Installment Amounts that have not already been paid on the Global Note and, if applicable, a Talon). Definitive Notes will be security printed in accordance with any applicable legal and stock exchange requirements in or substantially in the form set out in the Schedules to the Trust Deed. On exchange in full of each Permanent Global Note, we will, if the holder so requests, procure that it is canceled and returned to the holder together with the relevant Definitive Notes.

# **Exchange Date**

**"Exchange Date"** means, in relation to a Temporary Global Note, the day falling after the expiry of 40 days after its issue date and, in relation to a Permanent Global Note, a day falling not less than 60 days after that on which the notice requiring exchange is given and on which banks are open for business in the city in which the specified office of the relevant Paying Agent is located and in the city in which the relevant clearing system is located.

### **Amendment to Conditions**

The Temporary Global Notes, Permanent Global Notes and Global Certificates contain provisions that apply to the Notes that they represent, some of which modify the effect of the Conditions set out in this Offering Memorandum. The following is a summary of certain of those provisions:

# **Payments**

Except in the case of Definitive Notes where an applicable Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, interest shall be calculated in respect of any period by applying the rate of interest or Distribution to:

- (A) in the case of Fixed Rate Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities which are represented by a Global Note, the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of the Fixed Rate Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities represented by such Global Note (or, if they are Partly Paid Notes, the aggregate amount paid up); or
- (B) in the case of Fixed Rate Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities in definitive form, the Calculation Amount;

and, in each case, multiplying such sum by the applicable Day Count Fraction.

No payment falling due after the Exchange Date will be made on any Global Note unless exchange for an interest in a Permanent Global Note or for Definitive Notes is improperly withheld or refused. Payments on any Temporary Global Note issued in compliance with TEFRA D before the Exchange Date will only be made against presentation of certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership in the form set out in the Agency Agreement. All payments in respect of Notes represented by a Global Note will be made against presentation for endorsement and, if no further payment falls to be made in respect of the Notes, surrender of that Global Note to or to the order of the Issuing and Paying Agent or such other Paying Agent as shall have been notified to the Noteholders or the Securityholders, as the case may be, for such purpose. A record of each payment so made will be endorsed on each Global Note, which endorsement will be prima facie evidence that such payment has been made in respect of the Notes. For the purpose of any payments made in respect of a Global Note, the relevant place of presentation shall be disregarded in the definition of "business day" set out in Note Condition 7(j) (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities).

All payments made in respect of Notes represented by a Global Certificate held on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream will be made to, or to the order of, the person whose name is entered on the Register at the close of business on the Clearing System Business Day immediately prior to the date for payment, where "Clearing System Business Day" means Monday to Friday inclusive except December 25 and January 1.

In respect of a Global Note or a Global Certificate representing Notes held through the CMU, any payments of principal, interest (if any) or any other amounts shall be made to the person(s) for whose account(s) interests in the relevant Global Note or Global Certificate are credited (as set out in a CMU Instrument Position Report or any other relevant notification supplied to the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent by the CMU) at the close of business on the Clearing System Business Day immediately prior to the date for payment and, save in the case of final payment, no presentation of the relevant bearer Global Note or Global Certificate shall be required for such purpose.

So long as the Notes are represented by a Global Note or Global Certificate and the Global Note or, as the case may be, the Global Certificate is held on behalf of a clearing system, the Issuer has promised, *inter alia*, to pay interest or, as the case may be, Distributions in respect of such Notes from the Interest Commencement Date, or as the case may be, the Distribution Commencement Date in arrear at the rates, on the dates for payment, and in accordance with the method of calculation provided for in the Conditions, save that the calculation is made in respect of the total aggregate amount of the Notes represented by the Global Note, or as the case may be, the Global Certificate.

All amounts payable to DTC or its nominee as registered holder of a Global Certificate in respect of Notes denominated in a specified currency other than U.S. dollars shall be paid by transfer by the U.S. Paying Agent to an account in the relevant specified currency of the Exchange Agent on behalf of DTC or its nominee for conversion into and payment in U.S. dollars unless the participant in DTC with an interest in the Notes has elected to receive any part of such payment in that Specified Currency, in the manner specified in the Agency Agreement and in accordance with the rules and procedures for the time being of DTC. In the case of any payment in respect of a Global Certificate denominated in a specified currency other than U.S. dollars and registered in the name of DTC or its nominee and in respect of which an accountholder of DTC (with an interest in such Global Certificate) has not elected to receive any part of such payment in a specified currency other than U.S. dollars, the definition of "business day" set out in Note Condition 7(j) and Perpetual Capital Securities Condition 8(e) shall also include a day on which commercial banks are not authorized or required by law or regulation to be closed in New York City.

All payments made in respect of Notes represented by a Global Certificate held by CDP will be made to, or to the order of, the person whose name is entered on the Register at the close of business on the fifth business day prior to the date of payment.

# Suspension of Transfers on Trigger Event

Subject to the procedures of CDP, the CMU, DTC, Euroclear or Clearstream, as applicable (in the case of Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities held and cleared through CDP, the CMU, DTC, Euroclear or Clearstream, as the case may be), transfers of Subordinated Notes represented by the Global Notes or the Global Certificates and transfers of Perpetual Capital Securities represented by Global Certificates shall be suspended during any Suspension Period. As a result, holders will not be able to settle the transfer of any such Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities from the commencement of the Suspension Period, and any sale or other transfer of such Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities that a holder may have initiated prior to the commencement of the Suspension Period that is scheduled to settle during the Suspension Period will be rejected by CDP, the CMU, DTC, Euroclear or Clearstream, as applicable and will not be settled within CDP, the CMU, DTC, Euroclear or Clearstream, as the case may be.

# Prescription

Claims against us in respect of Notes that are represented by a Permanent Global Note will become void unless it is presented for payment within a period of 10 years (in the case of principal) and five years (in the case of interest (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities)) from the appropriate Relevant Date (as defined in Note Condition 8).

# Meetings

The holder of a Permanent Global Note or of the Notes represented by a Global Certificate shall (unless such Permanent Global Note or Global Certificate represents only one Note) be treated as being two persons for the purposes of any quorum requirements of a meeting of Noteholders or Securityholders, as the case may be, and, at any such meeting, the holder of a Permanent

Global Note shall be treated as having one vote in respect of each minimum Specified Denomination of Notes for which such Global Note may be exchanged. All holders of Registered Notes are entitled to one vote in respect of each Note comprising such Noteholder's or Securityholder's, as the case may be, holding, whether or not represented by a Global Certificate.

### Cancelation

Cancelation of any Note represented by a Permanent Global Note that is required by the Note Conditions to be canceled (other than upon its redemption) will be effected by reduction in the principal amount of the relevant Permanent Global Note.

### **Purchase**

Notes represented by a Permanent Global Note may only be purchased by us or any of our subsidiaries if they are purchased together with the rights to receive all future payments of interest (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) and Installment Amounts (if any) thereon.

# **Issuer's Option**

Any of our options provided for in the Conditions of any Notes while such Notes are represented by a Permanent Global Note shall be exercised by us giving notice to the Noteholders within the time limits set out in and containing the information required by the Note Conditions, in accordance with the rules and procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream and any Alternative Clearing System, as applicable, except that the notice shall not be required to contain the serial numbers of Bearer Notes drawn, in the case of a partial exercise of an option and accordingly no drawing of Notes shall be required. In the event that any of our options are exercised in respect of some but not all of the Notes of any Series, the rights of accountholders with a clearing system in respect of the Notes will be governed by the standard procedures of Euroclear and/or Clearstream (to be reflected in the records of Euroclear and Clearstream as either a pool factor or a reduction in nominal amount, at their discretion), CDP, the CMU, DTC or any other clearing system (as the case may be).

## Noteholders'/Securityholders' Options

Any option of the Noteholders or the Securityholders, as the case may be, provided for in the relevant Conditions of any Notes while such Notes are represented by a Permanent Global Note or Global Certificate may be exercised by the holder of the Permanent Global Note or Global Certificate giving notice to the Issuing and Paying Agent (or, in the case of Notes lodged with the CMU, the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent and, in the case of Notes cleared through CDP, the CDP Paying Agent and, in case of Notes cleared through DTC, the U.S. Paying Agent) within the time limits relating to the deposit of Notes with a Paying Agent set out in the Conditions substantially in the form of the notice available from any Paying Agent, except that the notice shall not be required to contain the serial numbers of the Bearer Notes, or in the case of Registered Notes shall not be required to specify the nominal amount of Registered Notes and the holder(s) of such Registered Notes, in respect of which the option has been exercised, and stating the nominal amount of Notes in respect of which the option is exercised and at the same time presenting the Permanent Global Note or Global Certificate to the Issuing and Paying Agent, or, in the case of Notes lodged with the CMU, the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent or, in the case of Notes cleared through CDP, the CDP Paying Agent (or, in case of Notes cleared through DTC, the U.S. Paying Agent), or to a Paying Agent acting on behalf of the Issuing and Paying Agent, the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent, the CDP Paying Agent or, as the case may be, the U.S. Paying Agent, for notation.

# Direct Rights in respect of Notes cleared through CDP

If any Event of Default or Default has occurred and is continuing, the Trustee may state in a notice given to the CDP Paying Agent and us (the "default notice") the nominal amount of Notes (which may be less than the outstanding nominal amount of the relevant Global Note or Unrestricted Global Certificate) which is being declared due and payable. Following the giving of the default notice, the holder of the Notes represented by the relevant Global Note or Unrestricted Global Certificate, as the case may be, cleared through CDP may (subject as provided below) elect that direct rights ("Direct Rights") under the provisions of the deed of covenant executed as a deed by us on August 31, 2012 as supplemented on March 9, 2018 (the "CDP Deed of Covenant") shall come into effect in respect of a nominal amount of Notes up to the aggregate nominal amount in respect of which such default notice has been given. Such election shall be made by notice to the CDP Paying Agent and the Registrar in the case of the Global Certificate and presentation of the relevant Global Note or Unrestricted Global Certificate, as the case may be, to or to the order of the Issuing and Paying Agent for reduction of the nominal amount of Notes represented by the relevant Global Note or Unrestricted Global Certificate, as the case may be, by such amount as may be stated in such notice and by endorsement of the appropriate Schedule hereto of the nominal amount of Notes in respect of which Direct Rights have arisen under the CDP Deed of Covenant. Upon each such notice being given, the Global Note or Global Certificate, as the case may be, shall become void to the extent of the nominal amount stated in such notice, save to the extent that the appropriate Direct Rights shall fail to take effect. No such election may however be made on or before the Exchange Date or the date of transfer in respect of an Unrestricted Global Certificate unless the holder elects in such notice that the exchange for such Notes shall no longer take place.

### **Notices**

So long as any Notes are represented by a Global Note or Global Certificate and such Global Note or Global Certificate is held on behalf of a (i) clearing system (other than CMU), notices to the Noteholders or the Securityholders, as the case may be, of that Series may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to that clearing system (subject, in the case of the Global Note or Global Certificate held by CDP, to the agreement of CDP) for communication by it to entitled accountholders in substitution for publication as required by the relevant Conditions or by delivery of the relevant notice to the holder of the Global Note or Global Certificate or (ii) the CMU, notices to the holders of Senior Notes of that Series may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to the CMU, and any such notice shall be deemed to have been given to the holders of Notes of that Series on the day on which such notice is delivered to the CMU, in each case except that if the Notes are listed on the SGX-ST, and the rules of the SGX-ST so require, notice will in any event be published in accordance with the relevant Conditions.

# **Partly Paid Notes**

The provisions relating to Partly Paid Notes are not set out in this Offering Memorandum, but will be contained in the applicable Pricing Supplement and thereby in the Global Notes or the Global Certificates. While any installments of the subscription moneys due from the holder of Partly Paid Notes are overdue, no interest in a Global Note or a Global Certificate representing such Notes may be exchanged for an interest in a Permanent Global Note, for Definitive Notes or for Certificates (as the case may be). If any Noteholder fails to pay any installment due on any Partly Paid Notes within the time specified, we may forfeit such Notes and shall have no further obligation to their holder in respect of them.

# **USE OF PROCEEDS**

The proceeds of Notes issued under the Program will be used for general corporate purposes.

# **BUSINESS**

### Overview

We are the longest established Singapore bank, formed in 1932 through the merger of three local banks, the oldest of which was founded in 1912. We are now the second largest financial services group in Southeast Asia by assets and one of the world's most highly-rated banks, with Aa1 rating by Moody's and AA- by both Fitch and S&P. Recognized for our financial strength and stability, we are consistently ranked among the World's Top 50 Safest Banks by Global Finance and have been named Best Managed Bank in Singapore by The Asian Banker. We are listed on the SGX-ST and are one of the largest listed companies in Singapore by market capitalization. Our market capitalization was approximately S\$51.2 billion as of December 31, 2021, based on the closing price of our ordinary shares.

Our key markets are Singapore, Malaysia, Indonesia and Greater China. As of December 31, 2021, we have more than 430 branches and representative offices in 19 countries and regions. These include over 210 branches and offices in Indonesia under subsidiary Bank OCBC NISP, and over 60 branches and offices in Mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau under OCBC Wing Hang, and nearly 40 branches in Malaysia under OCBC Bank (Malaysia) Berhad ("OCBC Malaysia").

We offer a broad array of commercial banking, specialist financial and wealth management services, ranging from consumer, corporate, investment, private and transaction banking to treasury, insurance, asset management and stockbroking services. We employ more than 30,000 staff globally.

Insurance, private banking, asset management and stockbroking are conducted mainly through our subsidiaries. Our 87.9%-owned insurance subsidiary, Great Eastern Holdings, which is listed on the SGX-ST, is the oldest and most established life insurance group in Singapore and Malaysia and is a significant contributor to our earnings. Our subsidiary Great Eastern General Insurance Limited ("GEG") also has a 95% stake in PT QBE General Insurance Indonesia, which is part of its broader business strategy to further build its general insurance operations into a major business pillar and to deepen its footprint in Indonesia. Our private banking services are provided by our wholly-owned subsidiary Bank of Singapore, which operates on a unique open-architecture product platform to source for the best-in-class products to meet its clients' goals. Bank of Singapore had US\$124 billion in assets under management as of December 31, 2021. Our asset management subsidiary, Lion Global Investors Limited ("Lion Global"), is one of the largest private sector asset management companies in Southeast Asia, with assets under management of S\$70.7 billion as of December 31, 2021.

As of December 31, 2021, we had \$\$542,187 million in assets, including \$\$286,281 million in net loans to customers, \$\$342,395 million in non-bank customer deposits and \$\$52,663 million in shareholders' equity (excluding non-controlling interests).

For the financial year ended December 31, 2021, we reported profit attributable to equity holders of OCBC Bank of S\$4,858 million. Our Singapore operations accounted for 53% of profit before income tax and 59% of total assets in the financial year ended December 31, 2021, our Greater China operations accounted for 22% of profit before income tax and 16% of total assets in the financial year ended December 31, 2021, our Malaysia operations accounted for 15% of profit before income tax and 12% of total assets in the financial year ended December 31, 2021, and our Indonesian operations accounted for 6% of profit before income tax and 4% of total assets in the financial year ended December 31, 2021.

We have received numerous awards, including: "Among the World's Top 50 Safest Banks" (Global Finance 2017), "Among the World's Top 10 Commercial Banks" (Global Finance 2017), "Strongest Bank in Singapore" (The Asian Banker 500 Strongest Banks in Asia Pacific 2017), "Best in Sector (Finance) and Fastest Growing Company in Finance Sector" (The Edge Singapore Billion Dollar Club '17), "Best Bank in Asia-Pacific" and "World's Best Consumer Bank" (Global Finance 2019), Best Managed Bank during COVID-19" (The Asian Banker Leadership Achievement Awards), "ASEAN Best SME Bank (Asian Banking & Finance) and "Best SME Bank in Southeast Asia" (Alpha Southeast Asia) and "Best SME Bank in Singapore" (Alpha Southeast Asia 2020), "Best SME Bank in Indonesia" (Alpha Southeast Asia), "Best Trade Finance Bank in Singapore" (Alpha Southeast Asia), "Best Private Bank – Fund Advisory" (Asian Private Banker), "Singapore Corporate Governance Award – Runner Up" (Securities Investors Association, Singapore), "Best for Investment Research in Singapore" (Asiamoney Private Banking Awards), "Best Private Bank for Digital Customer Service in Asia" (PWM Wealth Tech Awards), "Best Branch Digitalization Implementation" (The Asian Banker Financial Technology Innovation Awards).

## **Strengths**

# Established regional franchise, with a strong focus on further building our wealth management business

We are the second largest financial services group in Southeast Asia by total assets as of December 31, 2021, with established franchises in our key markets of Singapore, Malaysia, Indonesia and Greater China. We have a strong global network of branches and representative offices in 19 countries and regions, with Singapore and Hong Kong serving as key hubs connecting customers in our global footprint. As a leading Asian financial services group with a broad geographical footprint in North and Southeast Asia, we continue to build a resilient and diversified business that generates sustainable long-term value for shareholders, customers and the community. We are strategically positioned to capture the rising Asian wealth and ASEAN-Greater China trade and investment with our global footprint and well-established business franchise.

Our key banking subsidiaries include OCBC Malaysia, which is among the leading foreign banks by assets, loans, deposits and branch network size. Bank OCBC NISP which is among the top ten national banks by assets in Indonesia and OCBC Wing Hang Bank which has a strong presence in Greater China, give us a sizeable platform to tap into the increasing trade links between Greater China, in particular the Greater Bay Area, and ASEAN, to secure onshore and offshore business opportunities associated with the growing internationalization of the Renminbi and partner more Chinese companies that are investing offshore. Our stronger deposit franchise in the region and enhanced access to the U.S. dollar and Renminbi enables us to better support our customers' cross-border requirements. We also expect to see significant opportunities for cross-selling wealth management and bancassurance products across the Group's customer base. Our strong presence in Greater China coupled with our long and penetrating establishment in Southeast Asia will allow us to capture the increasing opportunities from growing connectivity, such as capital, wealth and trade flows.

Our wholly-owned subsidiary Bank of Singapore is our private banking arm providing advisory services and products to our high net worth customers. Our wealth management franchise has grown significantly over the last decade into a leading regional franchise. We acquired both Barclays and National Australia Bank's Private Wealth businesses in Singapore and Hong Kong. We also grew our wealth management footprint in Indonesia with the launch of onshore private banking services. Bank of Singapore opened a branch in the Dubai International Financial Centre to serve customers in the Middle East and had also established its wealth management subsidiary, BOS Wealth Management Europe, in Luxembourg (and branch office in London) that further positions us to capture opportunities in Europe. Our private banking services operates on a unique open-architecture product platform to source for the best-in-class products to meet its clients' goals. Our Group Wealth Platform ("GWP") extends across all customer segments from Bank of Singapore's private banking to OCBC's Premier customers, and taps on wealth management

expertise and synergies across the Group. Bank of Singapore won many awards over the years which is a testament to our wealth management franchise strength. We also continue to work closely with Bank of Ningbo, our 20% associated company, leveraging mutual strengths in product and business development, in areas such as offshore financing, trade finance, private banking, treasury and fund management. We also invested heavily to position OCBC as a digitally-empowered bank, and established collaboration and partnerships with regional banks and strategic partners such as fintechs and e-commerce platforms to provide holistic and innovative financial solutions. Our presence in North and Southeast Asia is attractive to customers who seek to capture opportunities both within and beyond their home markets.

Our insurance business is carried out by our 87.9%-owned subsidiary, Great Eastern Holdings, which is a well-established market leader and trusted brand in Singapore and Malaysia. With over S\$100 billion in assets as of December 31, 2021 and more than 10 million policyholders, including 7.5 million from government schemes, it provides insurance solutions to customers through three successful distribution channels – a tied agency force, bancassurance and a financial advisory firm, Great Eastern Financial Advisers. The Group also operates in Indonesia and Brunei and has a presence in China as well as a representative office in Myanmar. Two of Great Eastern Holdings' key operating subsidiaries, Great Eastern Life Assurance Company Limited ("Great Eastern Life") and GEG, have been assigned the financial strength and counterparty credit ratings of "AA-" by Standard and Poor's since 2010, one of the highest among Asian life insurance companies. Lion Global, a wholly-owned subsidiary, is one of the largest private sector asset management companies in Southeast Asia.

Our wealth management income comprises the consolidated income from insurance, premier and private banking, asset management and stockbroking. Wealth management has been a key component of our strategy, contributing 37% of our income for the financial year ended December 31, 2021, and we continue to focus on building this business. We are a major distributor of unit trusts and bancassurance products to the mass market segment, and have strong insurance, asset management, private banking, stock brokerage and treasury capabilities that collectively contribute to our wealth management business.

# Resilient business franchise performance

In the financial year ended December 31, 2021 we reported profit attributable to equity holders of S\$4,858 million, 35% higher than S\$3,586 million for the financial year ended December 31, 2020, underpinned by strong growth in non-interest income and lower allowances, which offset a decline in net interest income amid a low interest rate environment. We reported profit attributable to equity holders of S\$3,586 million in the financial year ended December 31, 2020, 26% lower as compared to S\$4,869 million in the financial year ended December 31, 2019, largely due to decline in net interest margin ("NIM") as a result of the sharp drop in market interest rates and higher expected credit loss allowances to buffer against the deterioration in macroeconomic conditions.

We maintain disciplined cost management practices; the following set out the cost-to-income ratios for each of the three-month periods beginning October 1, 2020:

- (a) For the three-month period ended December 31, 2020, our cost-to-income ratio was 45.3%;
- (b) For the three-month period ended March 31, 2021, our cost-to-income ratio was 39.4%;
- (c) For the three-month period ended June 30, 2021, our cost-to-income ratio was 44.3%;
- (d) For the three-month period ended September 30, 2021, our cost-to-income ratio was 46.4%; and
- (e) For the three-month period ended December 31, 2021, our cost-to-income ratio was 50.5%.

# Diversified loan book with strong growth drivers

We have a diversified loan book, by both geography and industry, and our policy is to maintain a diversified customer loan portfolio without significant concentrations in any single customer or group of customers. As of December 31, 2021, Singapore accounted for 39.9% of our loans to customers, while international markets, including mainly Malaysia, Indonesia and Greater China, accounted for 60.1% of our loans to customers. By industry classification, loans to the building and construction industry form the largest segment of our loan portfolio, yet only represented 28.1% of our loans to customers as of December 31, 2021.

We have seen healthy loan growth in most of our key markets over the last three years. From the financial year ended December 31, 2019 to the financial year ended December 31, 2021, our Singapore loans grew at a compound growth rate of 3.0%. Our international loans (including Malaysia, Indonesia and Greater China) grew at a compound growth rate of 5.7% over the same period. Our total loans grew at a compound growth rate of 4.6% over the same period.

Due to COVID-19, we saw a fall in consumer and trade-related credit demand as economic activity slowed in 2020. In 2021, gradual progress has been made in rolling out the vaccination programs together with the restoration of economic and social activities. There is cautious optimism that with successful containment of COVID-19, economic recovery will resume as the year progresses. There are emerging signs of segmental recovery as reduced anxiety around COVID-19 has improved consumer sentiments and business confidence. GDP growth is also expected to be higher from the low base of 2020. However, uncertainties remain with risks of setback arising from the emergence of new and more contagious virus variants, plus delays in the progress of vaccinations. In the meantime, the large fiscal spending and massive monetary stimulus enacted by major advanced economies are expected to provide support for activities to recover. Excessive liquidity and low interest rate environment have, however, led to rising debt levels, fueled financial market exuberance, elevated financial asset prices and exacerbated the income disparity. Going into 2022, Asia is expected to be the fastest growing region with the GDP of our key markets expected to grow between 2.0% and 5.5%. Rising vaccination rates will allow economies to reopen as COVID-19 evolves into a livable endemic and liberalization of international travel and easing of movement restrictions should boost consumption. Furthermore, the potential U.S. Fed interest rate hikes would provide net interest income uplift. We expect loan momentum to remain healthy as the global economy recovers and consumer sentiments and business confidence improve. Nonetheless, we remain watchful of potential headwinds such as tapering of stimulus measures and tightening of U.S. monetary and fiscal policies, inflationary pressure from supply chain disruptions, rising energy prices and higher wages, emergence of new COVID-19 variants that could prolong the pandemic and an uncertain geopolitical environment. We will remain watchful of near-term impact on earnings growth and continue our vigilance over vulnerable sectors. We will also continue to focus on asset composition and cost control that are in line with revenue expectations.

## Comprehensive risk management framework and healthy asset quality

We have a comprehensive enterprise-wide risk management framework that encompasses good governance, sound policies, robust lines of defense, right expertise and continuous investment in human resources, technology and digital capabilities, underpinned by a strong corporate culture that demands accountability, ownership and high ethical standards. Our credit risk management framework includes a disciplined process for identifying target markets and setting risk acceptance criteria, regular portfolio reviews and stress testing, a strong emphasis on early problem loan recognition and effective remedial actions, an independent credit risk review function, and adequate staffing and training. Our credit risk management framework captures the complete credit risk management cycle. It is operationalized through policies and procedures covering the identification, assessment, measurement, monitoring and control of credit risk at the enterprise level. We also have a Responsible Financing framework and supporting policies that

integrate Environmental, Social and Governance ("**ESG**") considerations into our credit risk evaluation and approval process. Through the framework, sustainability is integrated across our corporate lending activities from strategic and portfolio to transaction level. Please refer to our Sustainability Report for more information on responsible financing.

Consistent application of these risk management policies and processes has contributed to a steady state in our asset quality over the past ten years. Our NPL ratio, defined as the ratio of non-performing loans to gross non-bank loans, was 1.5% as of December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.

# Sound liquidity and funding structure

We actively manage our liquidity and funding positions to diversify our funding sources and achieve greater cost efficiency. Our funding mix is diversified: as of December 31, 2021, non-bank deposits formed 76.8% of our total funding requirements (total equity and total liabilities excluding life insurance fund liabilities), with low cost current account and savings deposits comprising 63.3% of total non-bank deposits.

Our sources of liquidity are stable: 14.7% of our total assets (excluding the life insurance fund investment securities and other assets) are in cash and placement with central banks, treasury bills and government securities as of December 31, 2021. We also have a U.S.\$10.0 billion Euro Commercial Paper Program, a U.S.\$25.0 billion U.S. Commercial Paper Program, and a U.S.\$10.0 billion Global Covered Bond Program, each of which can be tapped to diversify our funding sources. In addition, we have a net loans to non-bank customers to non-bank customer deposits ratio of 83.6% as of December 31, 2021.

# Strong capital and liquidity ratios

We maintain a strong capital position to support business growth and strategic investments and to sustain investor, customer and market confidence. As of December 31, 2021, our CET1 CAR, Tier 1 CAR and Total CAR were 15.5%, 16.0% and 17.6%, respectively. These ratios were well above the regulatory minima of 6.5%, 8.0% and 10.0%, respectively.

As of December 31, 2021, our leverage ratio of 7.7% was also above the 3.0% minimum regulatory requirement.

We continue to have strong liquidity buffers. During the last quarter of 2021, the average Singapore dollar and all currency liquidity coverage ratios for the Group were 324% and 159%, respectively. As of December 31, 2021, our net stable funding ratio was 121%, above the 100% minimum regulatory requirement.

## Strategy

Our strategy of deepening our presence in Singapore and key overseas markets of Malaysia, Indonesia and Greater China provides us with excellent growth opportunities in our three business pillars of banking, wealth management, and insurance. Anchored by a stable operating platform, we are well-placed to capitalize on the wealth, trade, insurance and capital flows within Asia, and between Asia and the world. We seek to deliver sustainable growth through franchise expansion with a robust capital base and prudent risk management. Our long-term strategy of maintaining a well-diversified customer base and earnings diversification with strong capital funding and liquidity positions remain unchanged.

At the same time, our strategy takes into account key global megatrends that would shape our future growth and positioning. The first would be rising Asian wealth that has already happened over the past few years and is likely to continue into the future as changing demographics in our key overseas markets, including social progression and the expansion of the middle class, is driving rapid wealth creation. Shifts in global supply chains continue to drive new opportunities in supply chain transformation and logistics, on-shore and near-shore manufacturing. The progressive reduction in trade barriers following the roll-out of the Regional Comprehensive Economic Partnership – the world's largest free trade agreement which was signed at the end of 2020 – among ASEAN, China, Japan, South Korea, Australia and New Zealand, can be expected to act as an additional catalyst to boost cross-border real investments, intra-regional trade, as well as capital and wealth flows across Asia. Our network strength and twin-hub capabilities of Singapore and Hong Kong position us well to capture the increasing ASEAN-Greater China flows to grow strategic value along the regional corridor.

We are also well-placed to support customer activities in consolidations, privatizations, overseas diversification and restructuring from the rebalancing of economies and reinventing business models. Policies, products and services will have to be geared to recognize these developing megatrends. Digitalization will also continue. The operating environment is rapidly advancing towards a knowledge-driven and highly-connected society led by digital innovations and applications. Post COVID-19, we expect that there will be reinvention of business operations, ecosystems and engagement models towards digital platforms driven by real-time transactions and powered by big data, analytics and artificial intelligence. We will deepen our banking relationship with high-growth and emerging sectors by partnering new digital players and investing and developing digital assets and tokenization capabilities and customer propositions. At the same time, the liberalization of the banking sector and the emergence of a broad spectrum of new financial service providers, encompassing digital banks, fintech, Big Tech, e-commerce and social platforms, and the advent of open banking and digital currencies will dramatically reshape the whole financial system. In response, we have been steadily transforming through accelerating investments in digitalization and data analytics, embedding the "Agile" concept into the way we operate, upskilling our employees, intensifying our digital offerings and elevating customer experience excellence to create greater value through customer journeys.

However, it is important to also be highly cognizant of the risks associated with digitalization and ensure that cyber security risks are very carefully managed. Other threats include rising protectionism and populism, which will need particular attention when expanding operations to ensure policy risks are well managed. On sustainability, we strive to become a regional leader in sustainable and responsible banking for a low-carbon economy. We are focused on building a sustainable future by embedding responsible and sustainable business practices in everything we do and will align our policies and practices along a sustainability objective and drive transition to a sustainable low-carbon world. We are developing a comprehensive suite of sustainable financing and investment propositions to capture green opportunities as our customers and communities transition to a low-carbon world. We are creating a decarbonization pathway for operational and financed emissions and aim to achieve carbon neutrality for OCBC's banking operational emissions in 2022. We are the first bank in Southeast Asia to adopt the Poseidon Principles, were awarded an AA rating for the MSCI ESG Ratings Assessment and have published our first Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures report in 2021.

Our strong track record of delivering sustainable earnings over economic cycles will help us to retain our customer franchise and employee franchise.

Critical to our business are our people. We plan to continue to attract, retain and develop the best talent to be future-ready. We seek to enable our employees to realize their full potential through a culture of learning, that also prioritizes their safety and well-being.

### Customers at the forefront

We value the trust and confidence that our customers place in us and are fully committed to helping them achieve their aspirations, by providing comprehensive and innovative financial services that meet their needs. Our distinct competitive strength comes from our comprehensive banking, wealth management and insurance franchise that offers an integrated service platform in meeting our customers' financial needs.

The connectivity of our regional network will be enhanced to support our customers' growing cross-border activities. We will intensify our efforts to innovate and digitize, and extract further value from our investments.

Our leading regional wealth management franchise is further poised to tap on the rising affluence in our key markets. We will focus on extending Bank of Singapore's position as "Asia's Global Private Bank" through best-in-class product architecture platform and proprietary research. We will expand our regional Premier Banking proposition, and further extend our presence in the growing emerging affluent market segment, including in the Middle East.

At the same time, we remain focused on delivering a superior and differentiated customer experience with collaborative business models across geographies, entities and products in order to gain a sustainable competitive advantage. The key elements in improving service delivery include leveraging customer insights to develop and implement superior customer value propositions, focusing on quality and investing in customer experience delivery capabilities across our Group.

The COVID-19 pandemic has caused significant uncertainties and has impacted individuals and businesses globally. We have extended targeted relief measures to support impacted customers, including principal moratorium, bridging loans and additional working capital lines. At the same time, we have been reaching out to customers so that customers understand that help is available and can be provided quickly. We also work closely with government agencies to help bring our affected customers back to their normal state after the pandemic subsidies.

# Deepening our presence in Singapore, Malaysia, Indonesia and Greater China

In addition to maintaining our strong market position in our home market, we continue to deepen our presence in Malaysia, Indonesia and Greater China through improving the customer experience, expanding our distribution network and broadening our capabilities.

In Malaysia, we are among the largest foreign banks by assets, loans, deposits and branch network size. OCBC Al-Amin Bank Berhad ("OCBC Al-Amin"), our Islamic banking subsidiary, was the first Singapore-based Islamic Bank established in Malaysia in 2008, and Great Eastern Life Insurance (Malaysia) Berhad is one of the largest insurance companies by asset size and agency force in Malaysia. In Indonesia, we are among the top ten national banks by assets as of December 31, 2021 and we continuously drive collaboration between Bank OCBC NISP and the Group to capture synergies across the Group. We acquired a 95.1% stake in PT OCBC Sekuritas Indonesia ("OCBC Sekuritas") which provided us with an added platform for our expanding wealth management franchise in Indonesia. We also grew our wealth management footprint in Indonesia with the launch of onshore private banking services. GEG also acquired 95% of the share capital of PT QBE General Insurance Indonesia, aiming to build its general insurance operations into a major business pillar and to deepen its footprint in Indonesia. In Greater China, our larger combined presence with OCBC Wing Hang, gives us a sizeable platform to tap into the increasing trade links between Greater China, in particular the Greater Bay Area, and ASEAN, to secure onshore and offshore business opportunities associated with the growing internationalization of the Renminbi and partner more Chinese companies that are investing offshore. Our stronger deposit franchise in the region and enhanced access to the U.S. dollar and Renminbi enables us to better support our customers' cross-border requirements. To capture increased trade and investment flows towards ASEAN and Greater China to grow our strategic value along the regional corridor, we are harnessing our twin-hub capabilities of Singapore and Hong Kong and bolstering our transaction banking and investment banking propositions. We also expect to see significant opportunities for cross-selling wealth management and bancassurance products across the Group's customer base. OCBC Wing Hang Bank partnered with China's Ping An Bank on China's Wealth Management Connect scheme to provide two-way wealth management services in the Greater Bay Area. In order to deepen wealth management capacities to enhance our competitive position, we are focusing on enhancing our GWP to deliver best-in-class wealth management offerings, strengthening hub capabilities across Singapore, Hong Kong, Dubai, and London to capture growth and building up regional wealth teams in key markets. In addition, we continue to work closely with Bank of Ningbo, our 20% associated company, leveraging mutual strengths in product and business development, in areas such as offshore financing, trade finance, private banking, treasury and fund management.

Outside of our core overseas markets, we remain alert to emerging opportunities within Southeast Asia and focused overseas markets, while supporting our network customers in Australia, the United States, Europe, Japan and South Korea through our branches. We have a branch in Myanmar offering banking services to foreign companies and joint ventures as well as domestic banks in Myanmar. Bank of Singapore has a branch in the Dubai International Financial Centre to serve customers in the Middle East and a wealth management subsidiary, BOS Wealth Management Europe, in Luxembourg (and branch office in London) that further positions us to capture opportunities in Europe.

# Leveraging group synergies

Our core businesses of banking, wealth management and insurance are closely interlinked, and we continue to direct our efforts to maximize the synergies within the Group. We plan to differentiate ourselves by further capturing synergies and unique strengths of our diversified business franchise, which includes OCBC Malaysia, OCBC Al-Amin, Bank OCBC NISP, OCBC Wing Hang, Great Eastern Holdings, Lion Global, Bank of Singapore and OCBC Securities. We seek to scale up product capabilities and distribution across our three business pillars, broaden relationships with our various sets of customers, increase cross-selling and customer referrals across our Group, enhance operational effectiveness by coordinating the development and more effective deployment of common corporate resources, and balance organic growth with selective acquisitions that fit our overall franchise.

## **Our Operations**

Our main services include deposit-taking, corporate, enterprise and personal lending, international trade financing, investment banking, private banking, treasury, stockbroking, insurance, credit cards, cash management, asset management and other financial and related services. Banking operations are conducted through our domestic and overseas branches, representative offices and subsidiaries. Other financial services, such as insurance, private banking, asset management and stockbroking are conducted mainly through our subsidiaries.

For the purpose of financial reporting of business segment results, our businesses are presented under five main segments representing the key customer and product groups: Global Consumer/Private Banking, Global Wholesale Banking, Global Treasury and Markets, Insurance and Others.

The Global Consumer/Private Banking segment covers consumer banking, private banking and retail brokerage services. The Global Wholesale Banking segment provides a full range of financing solutions to institutional customers ranging from large corporates and the public sector to small and medium enterprises. The Global Treasury and Markets segment is responsible for the management of the Group's asset and liability interest rate positions, engages in foreign exchange activities, money market operations, fixed income and derivatives trading, and offers

structured treasury products and financial solutions to meet customers' investment and hedging needs. Income from treasury products and services offered to customers of other business segments is reflected in the respective business segments. The Insurance segment covers the Group's insurance business, including our fund management activities, is undertaken by our 87.9%-owned subsidiary Great Eastern Holdings and its subsidiaries, which provide both life and general insurance products to its customers mainly in Singapore and Malaysia. For the financial years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021, the "Others" segment comprised mainly property holding, investment holding and items not attributable to the other four business segments. Where there are material changes in the organizational structure and management reporting methodologies, segment information for prior periods is restated to allow comparability where possible.

The following table sets forth the contributions of the key business segments to our operating profit after allowances and amortization<sup>(1)</sup> for the periods indicated.

	Year ended December 31,		
	2019	2020	2021
	S\$	S\$	S\$
		(in millions)	
Global Consumer/Private Banking	1,540	1,205	1,121
Global Wholesale Banking	1,796	642	1,706
Global Treasury and Markets	684	904	873
Insurance	1,068	919	1,224
Others	146	(117)	(68)
Total	5,234	3,553	4,856

# Note:

# Global Consumer/Private Banking

Global Consumer/Private Banking provides a full range of products and services to individual customers. At Global Consumer Banking, the products and services offered include deposit products (checking accounts, savings and fixed deposits), consumer loans (housing loans and other personal loans), credit cards, wealth management products (unit trusts, bancassurance products and structured deposits) and brokerage services. Private Banking caters to the specialized banking needs of high net worth individuals, offering wealth management expertise, including investment advice and portfolio management services, estate and trust planning, and wealth structuring.

In Singapore, we are among the top three banks in consumer banking. As of December 31, 2021, we have a network of close to 40 branches (of which 19 are Sunday Banking Branches), including 9 Premier Banking centres and one Premier Private Client center. In Malaysia, we are one of the longest established banks and serve our customers through a network of nearly 40 branches. In Indonesia, we have more than 210 branches and offices in Indonesia under Bank OCBC NISP. In Greater China, we have more than 60 branches and Premier Banking centres under OCBC Wing Hang in Mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau. We intend to further leverage our regional network to serve the fast-growing affluent and mass affluent customer segments.

<sup>(1)</sup> With effect from January 1, 2021, the basis for determining the breakdown of operating profit after allowances and amortization by business segments was updated to reflect how the business segments' profitability are being analyzed. Accordingly, the comparative figures for operating profit after allowances and amortization for the immediate preceding period (i.e. the year ended December 31, 2020) were restated to facilitate comparison with the year ended December 31, 2021.

We invest in our service and delivery channels to provide our customers with a superior and differentiated banking experience. Examples of service and delivery improvements include the revamping of our branches to integrate design principles and innovations based on extensive research of branch layouts and customer needs, refining the deployment of our ATM fleet across Singapore with new units at high traffic locations to enhance customer accessibility for our customers. Our next generation ATMs were first rolled out to over 20 branches in 2019. These ATMs allow us to migrate high volume counter services to a self-service channel, thus helping customers save time. Digital service kiosks, located in our branches and supported by our digital ambassadors, also help to speed up the delivery of high-demand services such as activating overseas card usage and updating personal and account details. We also conduct extensive customer research and testing to ensure that our product and service innovations are tuned into evolving customer behavior trends and preferences.

Examples include the introduction of OCBC Pay Anyone App, OCBC Bank's first standalone mobile payments app which provides seamless and frictionless payment through the use of fingerprint authentication. It is integrated with PayNow's infrastructure to provide convenience for customers. Through OCBC Life Goals, we provided holistic planning by helping customers to plan their retirement, children's education and wealth transfer. Also, a suite of digital wealth solutions are available through OCBC Digital: Daily content, unit trust, precious metals, FX, equities, Robolnvest and insurance. In the digital space, the OCBC OneAdvisor Home portal is an important enabler for us to better serve our customers and our real estate ecosystem partners. This digital portal, launched in 2018, now hosts one of the largest residential property listings in Singapore with more than 150,000 properties. Through this portal, consumers can assess their affordability for their home purchase and select their dream home. At the same time, our agents benefit with tools which we have built and customized for seamless connectivity to us.

Today, consumers engage a wide range of services largely through their mobile phones. Hence everything we create is 'mobile first' – making our mobile banking services simple, easy and convenient to use. We revamped our mobile banking app to include a new user interface and experience, making it simple, intuitive and at the same time, a delight to use. Customers are able to have a consolidated view of their account transactions and cards spending to help them manage their finances. Another first is the ability to scan a QR code using the OCBC Pay Anyone and OCBC Digital app to withdraw cash at our ATMs in Singapore, enabling customers the convenience of going cardless.

Digital ambassadors have been deployed in our branches to guide customers to use digital channels. Relief applications are now entirely processed and approved digitally in Singapore and in Malaysia.

We have launched a wide spectrum of innovative and seamless solutions to improve the everyday banking digital experience of our customers, with many notable market-firsts in 2021. We were the only bank in South-East Asia to enable instant purchase of gold and silver digitally on our OCBC Digital app. We were also the first bank in Southeast Asia to enable facial verification for ATM banking transactions. Riding on Singapore's National Digital Identity infrastructure – Singpass Face Verification, customers can check account balances at selected ATMs without the need for ATM cards. We were the first bank in Singapore to allow Central Provident Fund ("CPF") members to collect government pay-outs at OCBC ATMs via Singpass Face Verification, and also the first to integrate with IRAS's payment API to enable customers to view and pay their taxes via a seamless one-stop access using our OCBC Digital platforms. Additionally, we rolled out instant digital eco-care loans, a pre-approved car loan digital proposition and instant origination of multi-currency accounts as well as debit cards. We were the first to partner and integrate with Google Pay in Singapore to enable peer-to-peer payments. Last but not least, we were the first Singapore bank to bring together a health & wellness ecosystem to consumers.

## Savings and Deposits

We offer a comprehensive range of deposit products including savings accounts, checking accounts, term deposits and regular savings plans. We have also developed tailored products to better serve customer needs and preferences at each life-stage. Examples of these tailored products include our Mighty Savers program, targeted at parents of young children, to help inculcate in children a habit of saving, our "FRANK by OCBC" banking program comprising savings and cards accounts designed for youths and young working adults. In Singapore, we are one of only a few selected banks appointed by the Singapore government to manage Child Development Accounts, savings accounts for children in which deposits by parents are eligible for matching contributions by the Singapore government.

#### Consumer Loans

Our primary consumer lending products are housing loans and mortgages. We offer our customers a range of fixed rate mortgages, variable rate mortgages as well as mortgages pegged to market benchmark rates. Fixed rate mortgages have fixed rates only for the first two or three years of the loan, after which interest accrues at a higher variable rate. Variable rate mortgages are priced at a margin above or below a reference rate such as a long-tenure term deposit rate. Mortgages pegged to market benchmark rates are similar to variable rate mortgages except that the benchmark is determined by a market benchmark, such as SORA. In July 2020, we launched Singapore's first SORA-based home loan, another step to contribute to Singapore's development of new SORA markets. The typical tenor of a mortgage in Singapore is 30 years, and the interest rate during the first two to three years of the loan is typically lower, as a form of 'teaser' rate.

On June 29, 2013, the MAS implemented a Total Debt Servicing Ratio ("**TDSR**") framework for property loans that aims to promote financial prudence and prevent over-leveraging by property purchasers. We also offer other lending products to our customers, including car loans, unsecured credit lines and term loans. Car loans are monthly amortizing loans which are typically five-year loans priced at a fixed rate. Term loans are secured by other forms of collateral such as equities, cash or insurance policies. Unsecured credit facilities are offered and extended to individuals subject to income conditions, credit scoring and credit bureau checks.

See "Customer Loan Portfolio" and "Customer Loan Concentration" below for further discussion on our consumer loans.

## Credit and Debit Cards

We offer a range of credit and debit cards, including Visa, MasterCard and various affinity cards. We were among the first financial institutions to introduce credit cards in Singapore. We grant credit cards on a prudent basis to only a limited segment of our customers. Credit card issuance in Singapore is subject to stringent criteria, including a regulated minimum income requirement and a limit on total credit lines granted to each cardholder. In addition, all new credit card applications are credit scored and subject to credit bureau checks before approval and card issuance. These measures help to ensure that the industry loss rate on credit cards in Singapore remains relatively low.

#### Bancassurance

We conduct our bancassurance business through a strategic collaboration with our subsidiary Great Eastern Holdings. We distribute a full range of bancassurance products, including life insurance consisting of endowment, term investment-linked and mortgage insurance. We also have single premium insurance which are offered with capital guarantee features as well as lifetime income plans suited for retirement planning. Other lifestyle insurance offered are travel, accident and home contents insurance. Our priority is to provide customers with a one-stop solution for their insurance to address an array of financial planning needs. We are one of the market leaders in bancassurance in Singapore. See "Insurance" below for more information.

#### Unit Trusts

We offer an extensive range of third-party unit trust funds that will be able to meet a variety of investment objectives, providing exposure to equities, fixed income, and asset allocation as well as specialized alternative investments. Our funds selection process includes vetting such funds based on performance, risk profile and suitability for our customers.

#### Bank of Singapore

Bank of Singapore was formed after the acquisition of ING Asia Private Bank ("IAPB") by OCBC Bank on January 29, 2010. The combined private banking services of IAPB and OCBC were subsequently named Bank of Singapore.

Bank of Singapore serves high net worth individuals and wealthy families in its key markets of Southeast Asia, Greater China, the Middle East and Europe.

Headquartered in Singapore, the Bank of Singapore has branches in Hong Kong and Dubai, with a representative office in Manila. In Europe, the bank serves clients through BOS Wealth Management Europe Société Anonyme (S.A.) which is headquartered in Luxembourg and has a London office. In Malaysia, it serves its clients through BOS Wealth Management Malaysia. Bank of Singapore is rated Aa1 by Moody's.

In April 2016, Bank of Singapore acquired the wealth and investment management business of Barclays in Singapore and Hong Kong. The transaction was completed in November 2016, with US\$13 billion of assets transferred to Bank of Singapore.

In November 2016, Bank of Singapore received regulatory approval to operate a branch in Dubai International Financial Centre. The set-up of the branch allows Bank of Singapore to offer a range of private banking solutions including investments, credit and wealth planning advisory services to its ultra-high and high net worth clients. The bank's presence in the Middle East goes back over 20 years. It opened its representative office in Dubai in 1996, before the Dubai International Financial Centre was set up in 2004.

In July 2018, Bank of Singapore was granted an investment company license to operate a wealth management subsidiary in Luxembourg – a first for a Singapore private bank. Bank of Singapore, through this new subsidiary, BOS Wealth Management Europe S.A., can offer a range of private banking solutions and investment advisory services to its ultra-high and high net worth clients in the European Economic Area ("**EEA**") and the United Kingdom. BOS Wealth Management Europe S.A. was officially launched in April 2019 in Luxembourg and London.

Bank of Singapore is one of the fastest growing private banks in Asia, offering clients a comprehensive range of products and services on a fully open architecture platform, supported by strong proprietary research and independent advice. As a wholly-owned subsidiary of OCBC Bank, Bank of Singapore clients enjoy access to OCBC Bank's full suite of consumer and commercial banking solutions such as financing, insurance and brokerage services.

## **Product Distribution**

We deliver our products and services through an array of channels, principally branches, ATMs, internet banking, phone and mobile banking. Our branches offer traditional teller services and are also staffed by personal financial consultants who are trained and certified to sell bancassurance, unit trusts and investment products. We also offer the widest network of full-service Sunday banking branches in Singapore. Mortgage customers are serviced through mobile mortgage specialists.

Recent digital and innovative solutions are keeping OCBC at the forefront of digital banking convenience and functionality. Leveraging artificial intelligence, our customers can have 'digital conversations' with the app to pay bills, check account transactions, track and manage expenses. In addition, we are the first to create the ability to scan a QR code using the OCBC Pay Anyone app to withdraw cash at our ATMs in Singapore, enabling customers the convenience of going cardless.

As of December 31, 2021, our network of more than 500 ATMs in Singapore, which include ATMs at all of our branches and self-service hubs, formed part of the shared network of more than 1,000 ATMs with United Overseas Bank Limited in Singapore, providing our customers with Singapore island-wide coverage, particularly at prime locations, transport hubs and high traffic areas.

### Stock Brokerage

We conduct our stock brokerage activities in Singapore through our wholly-owned subsidiary, OCBC Securities, which is a member of the Singapore Exchange for both Securities Trading and Derivatives Trading. We offer a full range of brokerage services for globally listed securities, futures and leveraged foreign exchange, trading and provide research as well. In addition, we offer initial public offering placement, share margin financing and share borrowing.

We service institutional investors and brokers/dealers, private banks, fund managers, insurance companies, banks and other corporations.

We service retail and high net worth individuals through our retail business. Retail clients receive personalized brokerage services, as well as access to global securities exchanges via our iOCBC online trading platform which is available through the personal computers and applications for mobile devices.

Other than our presence in Singapore, OCBC Sekuritas also services Indonesian clients in relation to their trading on the Indonesian Stock Exchange. We offer clients internet trading through regular trading accounts. We also provide leveraged trading via margin accounts and Repo accounts.

### Global Wholesale Banking

Global Wholesale Banking provides comprehensive financial services to large corporates, financial institutions and SMEs. We offer a full range of financing solutions products and services such as cash management, custodian services, capital market solutions, corporate finance and treasury advisory. We also extend a comprehensive suite of corporate advisory and investment banking solutions, including corporate finance services for initial public offerings, secondary fund raising, takeovers and mergers, as well as customized and structured equity linked financing, to meet our customers' needs.

We have also launched a wide spectrum of innovative first-to-market solutions to businesses. For example, we were the first to offer SMEs a view of historical cash flows and expense categories. We were the first to enable SMEs to send sales invoices electronically and collecting digitally through QR & UEN. We have also enabled the use of SingPass for SMEs to securely access digital banking services. We were the first foreign bank in China to offer customers the ability to connect to single window to initiate cross border payments of imported goods across all ports in China. We were the first to deliver seamless electronic application and delivery of banker's guarantee to Customs. As a leading player in this space and in support of Singapore's Smart Nation initiatives, we will continue to develop innovative first-to-market solutions for our customers that leverage cutting edge technology to deliver new solutions amidst emergence of digital platforms and enablers.

#### Loans

We provide a comprehensive range of loans to finance our customers' daily operational needs and support their global investment and expansion plans. These include working capital financing, project financing, commercial property financing, asset-based financing, and short to medium term credit facilities like overdrafts, bridging loans and trade financing. We also provide sustainable finance solutions such as green loans and sustainability-linked loans.

We continue to build relationships with a diversified base of large corporate and institutional clients including publicly listed companies, conglomerates, multinational corporations, government-linked agencies, statutory boards, sovereign wealth and private equity funds, financial institutions and non-bank financial institutions. We provide customized solutions leveraging our industry expertise, extensive regional coverage and international network.

SME is a key segment and continues to be a focus area. We aim to be the main bank of choice to our customers, providing them with financial products and services to support their growth as they mature through the business life cycle. We demonstrate our commitment to early-stage growth and smaller emerging companies by supporting them since their inception.

As a financial institution, we are in a position to positively influence our customers. Therefore, we design our business practices to achieve positive outcomes for society and the environment. We have rolled out numerous initiatives to ensure sound ESG practices are in place. We were the first bank in Southeast Asia to announce that we would stop financing new coal-fired power plants, and redirect our focus on financing the development of renewable energy projects. Our target of S\$25 billion by 2025 was surpassed in 2021 and we have set a new target of S\$50 billion by 2025 for our sustainable finance portfolio. Sustainable finance's strong growth momentum is expected to continue over the next few years despite COVID-19. In 2020, we also formally adopted the Equator Principles, and will incorporate its framework into how we determine, assess and manage environmental and social risks in all our project financing. We are the first bank in Southeast Asia to adopt the Poseidon Principles in 2021. Our efforts in pioneering innovative solutions to support our customers' sustainability journeys have seen OCBC top the sustainable finance league tables in our key markets.

### Cash Management

We provide a suite of cash management solutions, from simple Singapore dollar accounts to more complex accounts receivable, payables and liquidity management solutions. The solutions are tailored to meet our customers' needs, providing them with control over their business finances and allowing them to optimize their working capital, streamline their processes and improve operational efficiency.

#### Trade Finance

We provide a comprehensive range of global trade finance solutions to international banks and corporates. From standard trade solutions such as letters of credit and simple trade credit lines to complex structured trade solutions, we customize the solutions to help our customers manage risk, improve liquidity and efficiency, and lower their costs.

## Global Investment Banking

Global Investment Banking provides capital markets, corporate finance and mezzanine capital financing to our customers, encompassing both conventional and Islamic structures. Global Investment Banking works closely with Global Corporate Banking and Global Commercial Banking to develop and tailor products and services for our corporate customers.

Our Capital Markets Group offers loan, bond financing solutions and structured product origination. We structure, arrange, underwrite and manage both syndicated loan financings and debt securities issuances for government-linked companies, statutory boards, financial institutions, large corporations and SMEs in our key markets in the region such as Malaysia, Indonesia and Greater China. In Singapore, we are one of the leading domestic loan and bond houses.

Our Corporate Finance Group provides equity capital markets and advisory services to our corporate customers. Equity capital market services include initial public offerings and secondary equity issuances such as rights and placement issues. We also offer a range of advisory services, including mergers, acquisitions, divestitures, management buy-outs, privatizations and recapitalizations.

Our Mezzanine Capital Group provides private equity investment and special opportunities financing to private and listed companies. Examples of financing structures include convertible debts, loans with equity kickers, preference shares and ordinary shares with put options.

## Global Treasury and Markets

Global Treasury and Markets is responsible for the management of the Group's asset and liability interest rate positions, engages in foreign exchange activities, money market operations, fixed income and derivatives trading, and offers structured treasury products and financial solutions to meet customers' investment and hedging needs. Income from treasury products and services offered to customers from other business segments such as Global Consumer/Private Banking, Global Wholesale Banking is reflected in the respective business segments.

We are among the leading providers of wealth management solutions and hedging solutions for our retail, premier and corporate customers. For retail and premier customers, we offer investment and wealth management solutions (short and long tenors) including structured deposits, foreign exchange-linked, equity-linked, commodity-linked and credit-linked structured deposits, investment products or notes. For our corporate customers, we provide hedging expertise and market knowledge to help customers manage their risks in foreign exchange, interest rates, equities, credit and commodities and other structured solutions. For institutional customers, our team of experienced specialists extend a full range of investment and hedging capabilities in foreign exchange and interest rate derivatives, money market, fixed income and customized structured solutions.

#### Insurance

Our insurance business is carried out by our 87.9%-owned subsidiary, Great Eastern Holdings, which is a well-established market leader and trusted brand in Singapore and Malaysia. With over S\$100 billion in assets and more than 10 million policyholders, including 7.5 million from government schemes, it provides insurance solutions to customers through three successful distribution channels – a tied agency force, bancassurance and a financial advisory firm, Great Eastern Financial Advisers. Great Eastern Holdings also operates in Indonesia and Brunei and has a presence in China as well as a representative office in Myanmar.

## Life Insurance

Great Eastern Holdings' life insurance business provides a range of products, including term assurance, protection and savings products, critical illness cover, medical indemnity and cash cover, personal accident cover, disability cover and annuities across various products classes including participating, non-participating, investment-linked and universal life products.

In Singapore and Malaysia, Great Eastern Holdings operates its life insurance business through its subsidiaries, Great Eastern Life and Great Eastern Life Assurance (Malaysia) Berhad ("GELM"), respectively. Great Eastern Life and GELM are leading insurers in Singapore and Malaysia in terms of new business sales. Great Eastern Life is also a key insurer participating in various government insurance schemes covering a major proportion of the population in Singapore.

Great Eastern Life has been assigned a "AA-" financial strength and counterparty credit rating from S&P since 2010, making Great Eastern Life one of the most highly rated life insurance companies in Asia.

On September 1, 2010, Bank Negara Malaysia awarded Great Eastern Holdings a Family Takaful license to operate Islamic life insurance through a joint venture set up with Koperasi Angkatan Tentera Malaysia Berhad (Malaysian Armed Forces Co-operative Limited). The joint venture company, Great Eastern Takaful Berhad, was officially launched on December 10, 2010.

#### General Insurance

Great Eastern Holdings' general insurance business is underwritten and managed by GEG in Singapore, Great Eastern General Insurance (Malaysia) Berhad in Malaysia and PT Great Eastern General Insurance Indonesia in Indonesia. Great Eastern Holdings' general insurance business offers a wide range of commercial and personal general insurance products through brokers, agents, bancassurance and direct channels across many lines of businesses, for example fire, motor, workmen compensation, marine cargo and miscellaneous accident.

In May 2019, GEG acquired a 95% stake in PT QBE General Insurance Indonesia, as part of its broader business strategy to further build its general insurance operations into a major business pillar and to deepen its footprint in Indonesia.

GEG's financial strength and counterparty credit rating was upgraded to "AA-", following S&P's insurance criteria change in May 2013.

#### Distribution Channels

Great Eastern Holdings distributes insurance products primarily through three distribution channels – a tied agency force, bancassurance and a financial advisory firm, Great Eastern Financial Advisers.

A tied agent is an insurance agent who can only promote, advise and sell the products of the company he or she represents. Tied agency is a key distribution channel for Great Eastern Holdings with its combined agency force of approximately 30,000 agents.

In 2011, Great Eastern Holdings launched Great Eastern Financial Advisers offering a wide suite of professional financial advisory services on life insurance, general insurance and collective investment schemes. It is the first financial advisory firm in Singapore to adopt a unique business model which combines the strengths of a major insurance company and a financial advisory firm.

Great Eastern Holdings' relationship as a subsidiary of OCBC Bank makes the bancassurance partnership unique from other partnerships in the industry because it allows for closer collaboration and more coordinated initiatives in sales management and product development.

## Asset Management

Our asset management business is managed by our wholly-owned subsidiary, Lion Global, which is one of the largest private sector asset management companies in Southeast Asia, with assets under management of S\$70.7 billion as of December 31, 2021. Lion Global offers a comprehensive suite of investment products covering various asset classes to statutory boards, educational institutions, public and private companies, charities, non-profit organizations and retail investors.

#### Others

The "Others" segment comprises mainly property holding, investment holding and items not attributable to the other four business segments.

#### **Our Overseas Bank Subsidiaries and Partner Banks**

## OCBC Malaysia

We have been operating in Malaysia for several decades and are one of the largest foreign banks by assets, loans, deposits and branch network size. We offer a range of financial services that includes consumer, corporate, investment, premier and transaction banking, as well as global treasury services to meet the needs of our customers.

OCBC Malaysia's wholly-owned Islamic Banking subsidiary, OCBC Al-Amin, was launched on December 1, 2008. OCBC Al-Amin offers products and services which are developed based on the applicable Shariah contract and with the endorsement of the Shariah Advisory Committee to meet the requirements of Muslims and non-Muslims alike. Features such as fixed financing rates and profit sharing have attracted a growing group of loyal customers who wish to draw from the Islamic principles of fairness, caring and accuracy.

#### Bank OCBC NISP

Bank OCBC NISP is among the top 10 private sector national banks in Indonesia by assets, with a distribution network of more than 210 branches and offices across Indonesia.

In November 2012, we acquired an 80% shareholding in stockbroking firm OCBC Sekuritas (formerly PT TransAsia Securities) and increased our shareholding to 95.1% in December 2014. A member of Indonesia Stock Exchange, OCBC Sekuritas is equipped with both a stockbroking license and an underwriter license, enabling it to provide securities trading services, as well as onshore debt and equity financing solutions in Indonesia. With its multiple trading channels ranging from dealer-assisted to mobile and internet trading platforms, customers are able to trade in listed securities on the Indonesia Stock Exchange with ease and convenience.

Through Bank OCBC NISP and OCBC Sekuritas, we offer a comprehensive suite of products and services to both individual and corporate clients in Indonesia – from consumer and SME banking, to securities services and debt and equity financing.

### OCBC Wing Hang

OCBC Wing Hang (formerly Wing Hang Bank) became a wholly-owned subsidiary of OCBC Bank in October 2014. Headquartered in Hong Kong, OCBC Wing Hang together with its subsidiaries and affiliated companies, offers a comprehensive range of commercial banking, share brokerage and insurance products and services. It has a network of over 60 branches and offices in Mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau.

Its subsidiary, OCBC Wing Hang Bank (China) Limited was established in July 2016 with the merger of OCBC Bank (China) Limited and Wing Hang Bank (China) Limited, as approved by China Banking Regulatory Commission. Headquartered in Shanghai, OCBC Wing Hang Bank (China) has RMB retail banking licenses for branches and sub-branches in Shanghai, Chengdu and the Pearl-River Delta region. It offers a full suite of personal financial products and services including RMB and foreign currency savings accounts and fixed deposits, foreign exchange service, investment products such as structured products, QDII (Qualified Domestic Institutional Investor), medical and accident protection, local unit trust, Internet banking service, debit card, ATM service and personal loan products.

OCBC Wing Hang (China) leverages the OCBC group's international business network to offer a comprehensive suite of business banking products and services including loans, deposits, trade finance, cash management, international settlements, investment, cross-broader RMB settlements, supply chain financing, and Internet banking services. It supports foreign and local corporate customers including financial institutions, offshore customers and OCBC Bank's network customers. OCBC Wing Hang China also supports the needs of smaller businesses by offering innovative products including the pure credit financing product, SSME Unsecured Loan.

In October 2021, OCBC Wing Hang announced a partnership with Ping An Bank on China's Wealth Management Connect. The tie-up between OCBC Wing Hang and Ping An Bank will see both banks provide quality and diversified financial services to their customers across China's Greater Bay area.

In December 2021, OCBC Wing Hang merged with OCBC Hong Kong branch to form a unified integrated platform that will strengthen OCBC's presence in Hong Kong.

## Collaboration with Bank of Ningbo

We have established a strategic partnership with Bank of Ningbo in 2006. Bank of Ningbo is an associated company of OCBC and has a nationwide network comprising more than 380 branches, sub-branches and offices, covering the cities of Ningbo, Shanghai, Hangzhou, Nanjing, Shenzhen, Suzhou, Wenzhou, Beijing, Wuxi, Jinhua, Shaoxing, Taizhou, Jiaxing and Lishui.

### **Funding**

As of December 31, 2021, 76.8% of our funding requirements (total equity and total liabilities excluding life insurance fund liabilities) were attributable to non-bank customer deposits, 1.8% attributable to deposits and balances of banks, 4.5% attributable to debt issued, 11.8% from capital and reserves and 5.1% attributable to other sources.

Our deposits of non-bank customers were S\$342,395 million as of December 31, 2021. The ratio of net loans to customers to non-bank customer deposits was 83.6% as of December 31, 2021, reflecting that non-bank customer deposits were in excess of loan requirements.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our funding sources as of the dates indicated.

	As of December 31,			
	2019	2020	2021	
	S\$	S\$	S\$	
		(in millions)		
Total equity (excluding non-controlling interests).	47,162	49,622	52,663	
Non-controlling interests	1,441	1,554	1,675	
Deposits of non-bank customers	302,851	314,907	342,395	
Deposits and balances of banks	8,250	9,586	8,239	
Debt issued	29,388	24,355	20,115	
Other borrowings and other liabilities <sup>(1)</sup>	18,153	26,917	20,794	
Total	407,245	426,941	445,881	

## Note:

The following table sets forth the average balances of our interest bearing liabilities and average interest rates for each of the periods specified below.

interest rates for each of	of the pe	eriods sp	pecified I	below.					
	Year ended December 31,								
		2019			2020			2021	
	Average Balance	Interest	Average Rate	Average Balance	Interest	Average Rate	Average Balance	Interest	Average Rate
	S\$	\$\$	%	s\$	\$\$	%	_s\$	_s\$	%
			(in	millions,	except for	percentag	es)		
Interest bearing liabilities									
Deposits of non-bank customers	296,279	4,807	1.62	309,581	2,699	0.87	323,120	1,300	0.40
Deposits and balances of banks	10,687	192	1.79	11,682	92	0.79	10,171	68	0.67
Other borrowings	26,748	768	2.87	25,128	386	1.53	21,941	202	0.92
Total	333,714	5,767	1.73	346,391	3,177	0.92	355,232	1,570	0.44

<sup>(1)</sup> Other liabilities do not include life insurance fund liabilities.

## Deposits

We offer a wide variety of deposit accounts, including non-interest bearing demand deposits and interest bearing savings and term deposits.

The following table sets forth the composition of our deposits.

	As of December 31,			
	2019	2020	2021	
	S\$	S\$	S\$	
		(in millions)		
Deposits of non-bank customers				
Current accounts	89,024	118,751	138,077	
Savings deposits	57,465	71,097	78,566	
Term deposits	123,333	90,786	86,046	
Structured deposits	5,656	4,505	5,292	
Certificate of deposits issued	20,402	22,229	25,566	
Other deposits	6,971	7,539	8,848	
	302,851	314,907	342,395	
Deposits and balances of banks	8,250	9,586	8,239	
Total	311,101	324,493	350,634	

The following table sets forth a breakdown of deposits of our non-bank customers by currency exposure.

	As of December 31,						
	20	19	2020		2021		
	S\$	% of total	S\$	% of total	<b>S</b> \$	% of total	
		(in mil	llions, excep	t for perce	ntages)		
Singapore dollar	107,278	35.4	123,217	39.1	133,157	38.9	
U.S. dollar	102,800	33.9	95,226	30.2	109,842	32.1	
Malaysian Ringgit	22,827	7.5	23,096	7.3	22,603	6.6	
Indonesian Rupiah	10,221	3.4	11,637	3.7	12,197	3.6	
Hong Kong dollar	25,906	8.6	23,463	7.5	23,381	6.8	
Chinese Renminbi	6,679	2.2	7,984	2.5	10,311	3.0	
Others	27,140	9.0	30,284	9.7	30,904	9.0	
Total	302,851	100.0	314,907	100.0	342,395	100.0	

The following table sets forth a breakdown of deposits of our bank customers by currency exposure.

As of December 31,

	2019		20	20	2021	
	S\$	% of total	S\$	% of total	<b>S</b> \$	% of total
		(in mill	ions, excep	ot for percer	ntages)	
Singapore dollar	801	9.7	675	7.0	733	8.9
U.S. dollar	4,287	52.0	4,268	44.5	4,358	52.9
Malaysian Ringgit	184	2.2	234	2.4	252	3.1
Indonesian Rupiah	273	3.3	154	1.6	46	0.6
Hong Kong dollar	282	3.4	1,065	11.1	389	4.7
Chinese Renminbi	1,105	13.4	1,986	20.7	1,592	19.3
Others	1,318	16.0	1,204	12.7	869	10.5
Total	8,250	100.0	9,586	100.0	8,239	100.0

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our total deposits (including deposits and balances of banks) by the remaining period to contractual maturity as of the dates indicated.

As of	Decem	her 31

2019	2020	2021	
S\$	S\$	S\$	
	(in millions)		
170,961	209,487	234,912	
42,195	34,629	32,297	
51,561	40,538	42,948	
42,805	37,300	37,546	
1,792	1,748	1,907	
1,787	791	1,024	
311,101	324,493	350,634	
	\$\$ 170,961 42,195 51,561 42,805 1,792 1,787	S\$     S\$       (in millions)       170,961     209,487       42,195     34,629       51,561     40,538       42,805     37,300       1,792     1,748       1,787     791	

## Other Sources of Funding

## Interbank Funding

We are a leading participant in domestic and foreign interbank markets and maintain money market lines with a large number of domestic and foreign banks. As of December 31, 2021, we had total deposits and balances of banks of S\$8,239 million (representing 1.8% of total equity funds and total liabilities, excluding life insurance fund liabilities).

## Debt Issued

The following table sets forth an analysis of our debt issued by remaining time to maturity.

_	As of December 31,			
	2019	2020	2021	
	S\$	S\$	S\$	
		(in millions)		
Within 1 week	737	331	782	
1 week to 1 month	1,845	1,028	1,511	
1 to 3 months	6,492	5,777	4,488	
3 to 12 months	10,738	8,151	5,805	
1 to 3 years	5,503	4,994	4,759	
Over 3 years	4,073	4,074	2,770	
Total	29,388	24,355	20,115	

## Wholesale Funding Programs

To diversify our funding sources, we also have a U.S.\$10.0 billion Euro Commercial Paper Program, a U.S.\$25.0 billion U.S. Commercial Paper Program and a U.S.\$10.0 billion Global Covered Bond Program.

## **Assets**

The following table sets forth our average balances of interest earning assets and average interest rates for each of the periods specified below.

	Year ended December 31,								
		2019			2020		2021		
	Average Balance	Interest	Average Rate	Average Balance	Interest	Average Rate	Average Balance	Interest	Average Rate
	S\$	S\$	%	S\$	S\$	%	S\$	S\$	%
			(in	millions, e	except for	percentag	es)		
Interest earning assets									
Loans to customers	256,418	9,086	3.54	264,153	6,992	2.65	272,302	5,786	2.12
Placements with and loans to banks	47,543	1,503	3.16	47,395	839	1.77	44,428	448	1.01
Other interest earning assets	53,398	1,509	2.82	57,940	1,312	2.26	62,959	1,191	1.89
Total	357,359	12,098	3.39	369,488	9,143	2.47	379,689	7,425	1.96

The following table shows our return on our assets and equity for the periods indicated.

Δs	of	Dec	cem	her	31.

2019	2020	2021
S\$	S\$	S\$
(in millions	s, except for pe	rcentages)
4,869	3,586	4,858
477,395	510,298	527,613
394,703	419,924	428,311
44,378	47,909	51,210
42,878	46,534	50,010
1.26	0.85	1.13
11.4	7.6	9.6
	\$\$ (in millions) 4,869 477,395 394,703 44,378 42,878 1.26	S\$         S\$           (in millions, except for permanents)         4,869         3,586           477,395         510,298           394,703         419,924           44,378         47,909           42,878         46,534           1.26         0.85

#### Notes:

#### Customer Loan Portfolio

As of December 31, 2021, loans to customers (net of allowances) were S\$286,281 million, representing 64.8% of total assets excluding life insurance fund investment securities and other assets. Gross loans to customers as of December 31, 2021 were S\$289,716 million and 35.3% was denominated in Singapore dollars. As of December 31, 2021, gross loans to customers with credit exposure in Singapore, Greater China, Malaysia and Indonesia accounted for 39.9%, 25.6%, 9.5% and 6.5% of our loans to customers, respectively.

<sup>(1)</sup> Defined as average total assets excluding life insurance fund investment securities and other assets (2019: S\$82,692 million, 2020: S\$90,374 million, 2021: S\$99,302 million).

<sup>(2)</sup> Defined as average shareholders' equity excluding preference shares (2019: Nil, 2020: Nil, 2021: Nil) and other equity instruments (2019: S\$1,500 million, 2020: S\$1,375 million, 2021: S\$1,200 million).

<sup>(3)</sup> Calculated by dividing profit attributable to equity holders of OCBC Bank by adjusted average total assets.

<sup>(4)</sup> Calculated by dividing profit attributable to equity holders of OCBC Bank net of distributions on other equity instruments (2019: S\$59 million, 2020: S\$53 million, 2021: S\$46 million) by adjusted average ordinary shareholders' equity.

<sup>(5)</sup> Presented as a non-GAAP measure.

#### **Customer Loan Concentration**

The following table sets forth our gross customer loan portfolio by industry classification as of the dates indicated.

Δς	٥f	Dec	em	her	31	
_	OI.		CIII	vei	J I	

	2019		202	2020		21
	S\$	% of total	S\$	% of total	S\$	% of total
		(in mil	lions, excep	t for perce	ntages)	
Agriculture, mining and quarrying	8,963	3.4	8,483	3.2	8,094	2.8
Manufacturing	17,074	6.4	15,814	5.9	15,642	5.4
Building and construction	64,686	24.4	71,994	26.9	81,375	28.1
Housing loans	62,069	23.4	59,842	22.4	61,733	21.3
General commerce	31,823	12.0	28,834	10.8	30,159	10.4
Transport, storage and communication	13,311	5.0	14,340	5.4	13,423	4.6
Financial institutions, investment and holding companies	24,542	9.3	22,821	8.5	25,365	8.8
Professionals and individuals	30,322	11.5	30,659	11.5	36,854	12.7
Others	11,983	4.6	14,453	5.4	17,071	5.9
Total	264,773	100.0	267,240	100.0	289,716	100.0

## Building and Construction

Gross loans to the building and construction industry was the largest sector in our total loan portfolio, accounting for 28.1% of gross loans to customers as of December 31, 2021. We provide funding, mainly on a secured basis, for a variety of projects, such as office buildings and complexes, residential developments, industrial and retail developments. Within the building and construction sector, we also set and monitor limits on the overall mix of projects in order to avoid excess concentration in any one sub-sector.

## Consumer Loans

Housing loans form the second largest sector in our total loan portfolio. Housing loans accounted for 21.3% of gross total loans to customers as of December 31, 2021. Housing loans are made to individuals for the purchase of residential properties either for owner occupation or for investment.

We also provide loans to professionals and individuals for the purchase of non-residential properties, including commercial and industrial properties. Other consumer lending includes car loans, share financing facilities, credit card receivables, revolving lines of credit and renovation loans.

## Financial Institutions, Investment and Holding Companies

Gross loans to financial institutions, investment and holding companies accounted for 8.8% of gross total loans to customers as of December 31, 2021. Major customers include a variety of non-bank financial institutions, such as insurance companies, securities companies and unit trusts, leasing and credit companies and investment companies. Certain holding companies are engaged in property-related activities.

#### Other Sectors

As of December 31, 2021, other significant sectors included general commerce (10.4% of gross total loans to customers), professionals and individuals (12.7%), the manufacturing sector (5.4%), the transport, storage and communication sector (4.6%) and the agriculture, mining and quarrying sector (2.8%).

Loans in the "Others" category accounted for 5.9% of gross total loans to customers as of December 31, 2021. Such loans cover a wide variety of businesses and include mainly lending to statutory boards, hotels and other SMEs engaged in businesses such as restaurants, entertainment, recreation and business and household services.

Loans to customers repayable on demand and loans to customers maturing in less than one year constituted 40.3% of gross loans to customers as of December 31, 2021. The category of gross loans to customers with maturities of less than one year, however, includes revolving credit and overdraft facilities, which are typically renewed upon roll-over and, due to actual repayment patterns, may be of a longer-term nature.

The following table sets forth an analysis of our gross loans to customers by remaining time to contractual maturity.

	As of December 31,						
	2019		2020		202	21	
	S\$	% of total	S\$	% of total	S\$	% of total	
	(in millions, except for percentages)						
One year or less	105,909	40.0	102,709	38.4	116,823	40.3	
One to three years	42,735	16.1	53,112	19.9	57,751	19.9	
Over three years	116,129	43.9	111,419	41.7	115,142	39.8	
Total	264,773	100.0	267,240	100.0	289,716	100.0	

## Placements with and Loans to Banks

Our placements with and loans to banks amounted to S\$25,462 million (representing 5.8% of total assets excluding life insurance fund investment securities and other assets) as of December 31, 2021.

## Foreign Loans

The following table sets forth our gross loans to customers by geography based on the location where the credit risks reside, regardless of where the transactions are booked.

Δs	of	Decemb	er 31	

	2019		20	)20	20	)21
	S\$	% of total assets <sup>(1)</sup>	S\$	% of total assets <sup>(1)</sup>	S\$	% of total assets <sup>(1)</sup>
	(in millions, except for percentages)					
Singapore	108,981	27.0	109,826	25.9	115,620	26.2
Malaysia	28,585	7.1	27,819	6.6	27,611	6.2
Indonesia	19,680	4.9	18,833	4.4	18,918	4.3
Greater China	65,358	16.2	65,216	15.4	74,120	16.8
Other Asia Pacific	15,674	3.9	18,886	4.5	19,293	4.4
Rest of World	26,495	6.6	26,660	6.3	34,154	7.7
Total	264,773	65.7	267,240	63.1	289,716	65.6

#### Note:

The Group's country risk framework covers the assessment and rating of countries, as well as the maximum cross-border transfer risk limit granted to any one country based on its risk rating. The risk covers all cross-border transactions, including onshore non-local currency transaction. Limits are allocated into maturity time bands and vary according to the risk rating of the country and the political and economic outlook. The Group's main cross-border transfer risk exposures during the financial years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021 were in Hong Kong, China and Malaysia.

## Credit Facilities and Exposure Limits

Section 29 of the Banking Act 1970 of Singapore (the "Banking Act") and MAS Notice 656 on Exposures to Single Counterparty Groups ("MAS Notice 656"), issued pursuant to Section 29 of the Banking Act, set out the limits on the exposure of a reporting Bank to a single counterparty group, the types of exposures to be included in or excluded from those limits, the basis for computation of exposures, the eligible credit risk migration techniques and the approach for aggregating exposures.

MAS Notice 656 provides that, among other things, a bank incorporated in Singapore must not permit: (a) at the Solo level, the aggregate of its exposures to any single counterparty group to exceed 25% of its Tier 1 capital; and (b) at the Group level, the aggregate of the exposures of the banking group to any counterparty, any director group, any substantial shareholder group or any connected counterparty group to exceed 25% of the Tier 1 capital of the banking group.

<sup>(1)</sup> Total assets exclude life insurance fund investment securities and other assets.

## **NPL Management**

NPLs are managed by the Group Risk Management Division.

#### Non-Performing Assets

Total non-performing assets were S\$4,338 million as of December 31, 2021 as compared to S\$4,005 million as of December 31, 2020. Singapore non-performing assets amounted to S\$606 million while Malaysia non-performing assets were S\$1,516 million as of December 31, 2021, accounting for 14.0% and 34.9% of total non-performing assets, respectively. Of the total non-performing assets as of December 31, 2021, 55.3% were in the Substandard category while 58.4% were secured by collateral. Our NPL ratio remained stable at 1.5% as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020.

## Classification of Non-Performing Loans

Our loans are categorized into "Pass", "Special Mention" or NPL. NPL are further categorized into "Substandard", "Doubtful" or "Loss" in accordance with MAS Notice 612 on Credit Files, Grading and Provisioning (MAS Notice 612). The categorization of credit exposures is based on our assessment of borrowers' ability to meet their financial obligations from normal sources of income and their creditworthiness in the long term. We categorize retail borrowers into the respective MAS loan grades at facility level in line with MAS Notice 612. NPL may be upgraded to performing status when there is an established trend of credit improvement, supported by an assessment of the borrowers' repayment capability, cash flows and financial position.

On March 15, 2021, the MAS issued MAS Notice 612A, which sets out the credit grading treatment for credit facilities granted support measures by banks in Singapore in response to the on-going COVID-19 outbreak for the period beginning on January 1, 2021 and ending on December 31, 2021 (both dates inclusive). MAS Notice 612A, which takes effect on March 16, 2021, clarifies that for the aforesaid period, a bank is not required to classify a credit facility of a borrower just because the borrower is granted extended credit support measures. Banks should instead holistically assess a borrower's ability to fully repay its credit facilities, taking into consideration the impact of the support provided by the bank to the borrower in response to COVID-19. Pursuant to MAS Notice 612A and amendments made to MAS Notice 612 on the same day, the requirement to classify credit facilities under MAS Notice 612 does not apply to specified "relevant loans" that fall under the purview of MAS Notice 612A during that period.

## Loan Loss Provisioning

We maintain sufficient impairment allowances to absorb credit losses inherent in our loan portfolios. Allowance for Expected Credit Losses ("ECL") is recognized for credit-impaired and non-credit-impaired exposures in accordance with SFRS(I) 9 and MAS Notice 612 through a forward-looking ECL model. ECL allowances are assessed based on the stages of credit risk.

Allowances for impaired assets as a percentage of total non-performing assets were 36.0%, 45.3% and 35.4% as of December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021, respectively.

The following table sets forth information with respect to our non-performing assets by grading and geography. Geography is determined based on where the credit risk resides.

	Total non- performing assets <sup>(1)</sup>	Substandard	Doubtful	Loss	NPL Ratio <sup>(2)</sup>
	S\$	S\$	S\$	S\$	%
		(in millions	except for pe	rcentages)	
Singapore					
As of December 31, 2019	1,717	1,309	237	171	1.5
As of December 31, 2020	1,725	1,106	485	134	1.5
As of December 31, 2021	606	300	206	100	0.5
Malaysia					
As of December 31, 2019	738	372	321	45	2.5
As of December 31, 2020	782	454	283	45	2.7
As of December 31, 2021	1,516	1,126	166	224	5.3
Indonesia					
As of December 31, 2019	678	289	222	167	3.4
As of December 31, 2020	651	321	227	103	3.5
As of December 31, 2021	1,216	772	255	189	6.4
Greater China					
As of December 31, 2019	230	54	133	43	0.4
As of December 31, 2020	358	82	235	41	0.5
As of December 31, 2021	586	117	447	22	0.8
Other Asia Pacific					
As of December 31, 2019	101	77	23	1	0.6
As of December 31, 2020	118	60	58	#	0.6
As of December 31, 2021	186	62	124	#	1.0
Rest of the World					
As of December 31, 2019	419	229	183	7	1.6
As of December 31, 2020	371	148	223	#	1.4
As of December 31, 2021	228	21	207	#	0.6
Group					
As of December 31, 2019	3,883	2,330	1,119	434	1.5
As of December 31, 2020	4,005	2,171	1,511	323	1.5
As of December 31, 2021	4,338	2,398	1,405	535	1.5

## Notes:

<sup>(1)</sup> Non-performing assets comprise loans to customers, debt securities and contingent liabilities.

<sup>(2)</sup> NPLs exclude debt securities and contingent liabilities.

<sup>#</sup> represents amounts less than S\$0.5 million.

## Non-Performing Asset Strategy

The following table sets forth information with respect to the credit quality of our loan portfolio as of the dates indicated.

	As of December 31,				
-	2019	2020	2021		
-	S\$	S\$	S\$		
	(in millions, except for percentages,				
Substandard	2,310	2,152	2,351		
Doubtful	1,094	1,442	1,331		
Loss	434	323	533		
Total non-performing loans	3,838	3,917	4,215		
Total non-performing loans as a percentage of gross loans	1.5%	1.5%	1.5%		

## Industry Classification of NPLs

Our NPLs are spread across various industrial sectors, such as manufacturing, building and construction, housing loans and general commerce. Overall, our asset quality remains stable. The following table shows the industry classification of our NPLs as of the dates indicated.

	As of December 31,					
	20	019	20	)20	2021	
	S\$	% of total loans <sup>(1)</sup>	S\$	% of total loans <sup>(1)</sup>	S\$	% of total loans <sup>(1)</sup>
		(in milli	ons, excep	ot for percer	ntages)	
Agriculture, mining and quarrying	468	5.2	345	4.1	96	1.2
Manufacturing	468	2.7	564	3.6	840	5.4
Building and construction	155	0.2	190	0.3	330	0.4
Housing loans	435	0.7	420	0.7	1,002	1.6
General commerce	555	1.7	572	2.0	594	2.0
Transport, storage and communication	1,563	11.7	1,621	11.3	491	3.7
Financial institutions, investment and holding companies	25	0.1	30	0.1	89	0.4
Professionals and individuals	123	0.4	133	0.4	179	0.5
Others	46	0.4	42	0.3	594	3.5
Total	3,838	1.5	3,917	1.5	4,215	1.5

## Note:

The following table shows the industry classification of our allowances for impaired loans as of the dates indicated.

_	As of December 31,			
	2019	2020	2021	
	S\$	S\$	S\$	
		(in millions)		
Agriculture, mining and quarrying	159	72	67	
Manufacturing	132	177	283	
Building and construction	36	65	136	
Housing loans	47	47	155	
General commerce	174	249	226	
Transport, storage and communication	726	1,110	283	
Financial institutions, investment and holding				
companies	46	12	31	
Professionals and individuals	63	70	70	
Others	12	10	284	
Total	1,395	1,812	1,535	

The following table shows the industry classification of our net allowances for impaired loans charged/(written back) of loans to our income statement for the periods indicated.

	Year ended December 31,			
	2019	2020	2021	
	S\$	S\$	<b>S</b> \$	
		(in millions)		
Agriculture, mining and quarrying	20	52	(7)	
Manufacturing	107	103	138	
Building and construction	19	50	116	
Housing loans	69	24	110	
General commerce	90	465	198	
Transport, storage and communication	366	392	(4)	
Financial institutions, investment and holding				
companies	134	7	1	
Professionals and individuals	37	51	40	
Others	14	5	260	
Total	856	1,149	852	

<sup>(1)</sup> Computed as a percentage of gross loans within each industry classification.

## Changes in Credit

The following table shows changes in the Group's expected credit loss for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021.

Year	ended	December	31	2019

Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Total	
	(in S\$ n	nillions)		
491	523	1,221	2,235	
474	(446)	(28)	-	
(104)	149	(45)	_	
(4)	(186)	190	_	
(563)	514	714	665	
545	239	_	784	
(374)	(216)	_	(590)	
4	_	_	4	
_	_	(642)	(642)	
1	1	(13)	(11)	
470	578	1,397	2,445	
	491 474 (104) (4) (563) 545 (374) 4 -	(in S\$ n  491 523 474 (446) (104) 149 (4) (186) (563) 514  545 239  (374) (216) 4 1 1	(in S\$ millions)       491     523     1,221       474     (446)     (28)       (104)     149     (45)       (4)     (186)     190       (563)     514     714       545     239     -       (374)     (216)     -       -     -     (642)       1     1     (13)	

# Year ended December 31, 2020

1001 011000 2000111201 01, 2020				
Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Total	
	(in S\$ r	millions)		
470	578	1,397	2,445	
497	(475)	(22)	_	
(181)	200	(19)	_	
(4)	(97)	101	_	
1	783	1,065	1,849	
609	257	_	866	
(429)	(312)	_	(741)	
7	7	_	14	
_	_	(663)	(663)	
(3)	(1)	(44)	(48)	
967	940	1,815	3,722	
	470 497 (181) (4) 1 609 (429) 7 -	(in S\$ r  470 578  497 (475)  (181) 200  (4) (97)  1 783  609 257  (429) (312)  7 7  -  (3) (1)	(in S\$ millions)       470     578     1,397       497     (475)     (22)       (181)     200     (19)       (4)     (97)     101       1     783     1,065       609     257     -       (429)     (312)     -       7     7     -       -     (663)       (3)     (1)     (44)	

Year ended December 31, 2021

	Stage 1 Stage 2		Stone 2	Total	
	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Total	
	(in S\$ millions)				
Allowances for financial assets					
Balance at January 1	967	940	1,815	3,722	
Transfer to Stage 1	563	(546)	(17)	_	
Transfer to Stage 2	(219)	267	(48)	_	
Transfer to Stage 3	(3)	(206)	209	_	
Remeasurement <sup>(1)</sup>	(554)	592	687	725	
New financial assets originated or purchased	535	398	_	933	
Financial assets that have been derecognized	(387)	(436)	_	(823)	
Changes in models <sup>(2)</sup>	(10)	18	_	8	
Write-offs	_	_	(1,153)	(1,153)	
Foreign exchange and other movements	2	2	44	48	
Balance as of December 31	894	1,029	1,537	3,460	

## Notes:

## Non-Performing Assets Analyzed by Period Overdue

The following table sets forth our non-performing assets analyzed by period overdue as of the dates indicated.

As of December 31,

	2019		2020		2021		
	S\$	%	S\$	%	S\$	%	
		(in millions, except for percentages)					
Over 180 days	1,770	45.6	1,857	46.4	927	21.4	
Over 90 to 180 days	173	4.5	286	7.1	145	3.3	
30 to 90 days	530	13.6	170	4.2	179	4.1	
Less than 30 days	474	12.2	473	11.8	1,018	23.5	
Not overdue	936	24.1	1,219	30.5	2,069	47.7	
Total	3,883	100.0	4,005	100.0	4,338	100.0	

<sup>(1)</sup> Remeasurement includes the changes in model inputs or assumptions such as changes in the forward-looking macroeconomic variables, partial repayments, additional drawdowns on existing facilities, changes in the measurement after a transfer between stages 1, 2 and 3, and the unwinding impact of time value of money.

<sup>(2)</sup> Changes in models include significant changes to the quantitative models used to estimate the impacts of the expected credit losses.

## Analysis of Non-Performing Assets by Collateral Type

The following table sets forth information with respect to our non-performing assets by collateral type as of the dates indicated.

	As of December 31,			
	2019	2020	2021	
	S\$	S\$	S\$	
		(in millions)		
Property	863	900	2,031	
Fixed deposit	6	9	16	
Stocks and shares	128	147	50	
Motor vehicles	4	5	17	
Secured – Others	1,554	1,365	421	
Unsecured – Corporate and other guarantees	491	708	497	
Unsecured – Clean	837	871	1,306	
Total	3,883	4,005	4,338	

#### **Securities-Related Activities**

#### Securities Portfolio

Our total securities portfolio (consisting of government securities, fair value through profit and loss ("FVTPL") and fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI") debt and equity securities and debt securities measured at amortized cost at their carrying values accounted for 16.1% of total assets (excluding life insurance fund investment securities and other assets) as of December 31, 2021. Singapore government securities and treasury bills accounted for 2.5% of total assets (excluding life insurance fund investment securities and other assets) as of December 31, 2021.

Singapore government and other government securities may be used to satisfy a portion of our reserve requirements.

Our FVOCI debt and equity securities accounted for 5.7% of total assets (excluding life insurance fund investment securities and other assets) as of December 31, 2021, and consisted mainly of corporate debt securities.

The following tables set forth carrying values (including assets pledged) relating to our securities portfolio as of the dates indicated.

	As of December 31,			
	2019	2020	2021	
	S\$	S\$	S\$	
		(in millions)		
Singapore government treasury bills and				
securities	11,042	10,628	11,112	
Other government treasury bills and securities	17,712	22,663	26,159	
Debt securities	25,023	27,933	28,045	
Equity securities	2,419	2,756	2,568	
Investment funds	1,811	2,454	3,402	
Total	58,007	66,434	71,286	

The following tables set forth the total composition and maturity of our securities portfolio as of December 31, 2021.

	As of December 31, 2021				
	One year or less	One to Over three years years		No specific maturity	Total
	S\$	S\$	<b>S</b> \$	S\$	S\$
			(in millions)		
Government securities	14,034	12,952	10,285	_	37,271
Debt securities	6,996	10,041	11,008	_	28,045
Equity securities	_	_	_	2,568	2,568
Investment funds				3,402	3,402
Total	21,030	22,993	21,293	5,970	71,286

## **Risk Management**

We believe that sound risk management is critical to the success of our risk-taking activities. Our philosophy is to ensure that risks and returns remain consistent with our risk appetite. To achieve this, we identify any emerging portfolio threats and credit concentrations at an early stage in order to develop timely risk-response strategies.

The key elements of our enterprise-wide risk management strategy are:

- Risk appetite The Board of Directors of OCBC Bank (the "Board of Directors" or "Board") approves our risk appetite, and that all risks are managed in alignment with the risk appetite. Risk-taking decisions must be consistent with strategic business goals and returns should be commensurate with the risks taken.
- Risk frameworks Our risk management frameworks for all risk types are effective, comprehensive and consistent.

- Holistic risk management Risks are managed holistically, with a view to understanding the potential interactions among risk types.
- Qualitative and quantitative evaluations Risks are evaluated both qualitatively and with appropriate quantitative analyses and robust stress testing. Risk models are regularly reviewed and independently validated to ensure they are appropriate and effective.

We believe that cultivating a strong risk culture and a robust internal control environment throughout the Group is necessary for sound risk management. Risk ownership is a shared responsibility between the business and risk functions and is jointly owned among customer-facing and product business units, dedicated and independent functional risk management units, as well as other support units such as Operations and Technology. Group Audit also provides independent assurance that our risk management system, control and governance processes comply with regulatory requirements, internal rules and standards and are effective. Rigorous stress testing and scenario analyses are used to identify possible events or market conditions that could adversely affect us. These results are taken into account in our formulation of our business strategy, capital adequacy assessment and risk limit setting.

This risk management section discusses the risk management practices, policies and frameworks of OCBC Group, excluding Great Eastern Holdings and Bank OCBC NISP. Our banking subsidiaries are generally required to implement risk management policies that conform to Group standards or adopt stricter local regulations where applicable. Approving authority and limit structures of our subsidiaries are consistent with the Group to ensure proper ownership and accountability.

Great Eastern Holdings and Bank OCBC NISP are listed companies which publish their own annual reports that contain information on their risk management frameworks and practices. Our management collaborates with Great Eastern Holdings and Bank OCBC NISP on aligning their risk management practices to our risk standards.

## Risk Governance and Organization

The Board of Directors establishes our risk appetite and risk principles. The Board Risk Management Committee ("BRMC") is the designated board committee to ensure that the OCBC Group's overall risk management philosophy and principles are aligned with the corporate strategy and within the approved risk appetite. It also ensures that the overall risk management organization is implemented and effective. Based on the approved risk appetite, the BRMC approves various quantitative guidance and qualitative expectations and these are cascaded to major business units and risk functions to guide risk-taking. Risk drivers, risk profiles across major lines of business and risk types, as well as major risk policies and compliance matters are regularly reviewed by the senior management, Group Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") and BRMC. These matters are reviewed and discussed in greater detail at the dedicated risk committees for major risk types.

The BRMC is supported by the Group Risk Management Division ("GRM"), headed by the Group Chief Risk Officer who reports to the BRMC and CEO. GRM is an independent risk and control oversight function that principally executes the risk management framework and principles. It provides risk committees, the BRMC and the Board of Directors regular risk reports and updates on material information with regard to risks. Functions in GRM are primarily organized by major risk types. Risk management staff work closely with the business and other support units to ensure that risks are well managed. GRM also oversees the OCBC Group's data management via a framework that comprises data policies, standards and controls. The objective is to ensure the quality of critical risk data and the ability of the OCBC Group to effectively aggregate such data for accurate and timely risk reporting. In addition, it oversees the New Product Approval Process to ensure that all inherent risks associated with new products and services are comprehensively identified, managed and mitigated.

Senior management actively manage risks through various risk management committees, such as the Credit Risk Management Committee, the Market Risk Management Committee, the Asset Liability Management Committee and the Operational Risk Management Committee. Both risk-taking and risk control units are represented in these committees, emphasizing shared risk management responsibilities.

Credit officers' approval authority limits are set based on their relevant experience and qualifications. GRM officers also provide expertise during the design and approval of new products to ensure existing systems and processes are able to adequately manage any new product risks.

## **Basel Requirements**

We have implemented MAS Notice 637 on Risk Based Capital Adequacy Requirements for banks incorporated in Singapore.

For credit risk, we have adopted the Foundation Internal Ratings-Based ("F-IRB") approach and supervisory slotting criteria to calculate credit risk-weighted assets for major non-retail portfolios, and the Advanced Internal Ratings-Based ("A-IRB") approach for major retail and small business lending portfolios.

For market risk, we have adopted the standardized approach. Risk weights for market risk assets are specified according to the instrument category, maturity period, credit quality grade and other factors and applied to the corresponding notional as prescribed under MAS Notice 637. For operational risk, we have adopted the standardized approach except for Bank OCBC NISP and OCBC Wing Hang, which have adopted the basic indicator approach. Operational risk-weighted assets are derived by applying specified factors or percentages to the annual gross income for the prescribed business lines in accordance with regulatory guidelines.

We undergo an internal capital adequacy assessment process ("ICAAP") annually to evaluate if we are able to maintain sound capital levels after considering business plans and material risks under both base case and severe stress scenarios. Remedial actions are proposed where necessary to ensure that we remain prudently managed.

Implementing the Basel framework is an integral part of our efforts to refine and strengthen our management of risks. Our management closely follows on-going industry and regulatory developments, including higher liquidity and capital requirements.

#### Credit Risk Management

Credit risk arises from the risk of loss of principal or income on the failure of an obligor or counterparty to meet its contractual obligations. As our primary business is commercial banking, we are exposed to credit risks from our lending activities. Trading and investment banking activities, such as the trading of foreign exchange, derivatives, debt securities, commodities, securities underwriting and the settlement of transactions, also expose the OCBC Group to counterparty and issuer credit risks.

Credit Risk Management Oversight and Organization

The Credit Risk Management Committee ("CRMC") is the senior management group that supports the Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") and the BRMC in proactively managing credit risk, including reshaping the credit portfolios. It oversees the execution of our credit risk management, framework and policies, and reviews the credit profile of material portfolios to ensure that credit risk taking is aligned with business strategy and risk appetite. In addition, the CRMC recommends credit approval authority limits and highlights any concentration concerns to higher management.

Credit Risk Management ("CRM") departments manage credit risk within pre-determined risk appetite, customer targets, limits and established risk standards. Dedicated risk functions are responsible for risk portfolio monitoring, risk measurement methodology, risk reporting and remedial loan management.

Regular risk reports are provided to the Board of Directors, the BRMC and the CRMC in a timely, objective and transparent manner. These reports include detailed profiles on portfolio quality, credit migration, expected losses, and concentration of risk exposures by business portfolio and geography. Such reporting alerts the Board of Directors, BRMC and senior management to adverse credit trends early, so that timely corrective actions can be taken.

## Credit Risk Management Approach

Our credit risk management framework captures the complete credit risk management cycle. It is operationalized through policies and procedures covering the identification, assessment, measurement, monitoring and control of credit risk at the enterprise level. We also have a Responsible Financing framework and supporting policies that integrate ESG considerations into our credit risk evaluation and approval process. Through the framework, sustainability is integrated across our corporate lending activities from strategic and portfolio to transaction level.

Our credit risk management approach varies according to the characteristics and nature of the portfolios or customer segments.

Lending to Consumers and Small Businesses. Credit risks for the consumer and small business sectors are managed on a portfolio basis with credit programs for mortgages, credit cards, unsecured loans, auto loans, commercial property loans and business term loans. Loans that are underwritten under these programs conform to clearly defined target markets, terms of lending and maximum loan advances. Systems and processes such as credit origination source analysis and independent verification of documentation are in place to detect fraud. The portfolios are closely monitored monthly using MIS analytics. Scoring models are also used in the credit decision process for most products to enable objective, consistent decisions and efficient processing. Behavioral scores are used to identify potentially problematic loans early.

Lending to Corporate and Institutional Customers. Loans to corporate and institutional customers are individually assessed and approved by experienced credit officers. Credit decisions are made after comprehensive qualitative and quantitative risk assessment. Credit officers identify and assess the credit risks of corporate or institutional customers, including any customer group's interdependencies and take into consideration management quality, financial and business competitive profiles against industry and economic threats. Collaterals or other credit support are also used to mitigate potential losses. Credit extensions are guided by pre-defined target market and risk acceptance criteria. To ensure objectivity in credit extensions, co-grantor approvals and shared risk ownership are required from both the business unit as well as credit risk functions.

Lending to Private Banking Customers. Credit extensions to our wealth management clients in the Bank of Singapore are subject to comprehensive credit assessment, the availability of acceptable collateral and compliance to loan ratios and margin requirements. Joint approvals from the business and risk units also ensure objectivity. Loan advance rates are dependent on the liquidity, volatility and diversification of the collateral portfolio under stressed conditions. Marketable securities taken as collateral are subject to daily valuation and independent price verification controls. Timely and disciplined execution of margin calls, top-up provisions, stop-loss and force-selling are strictly managed in accordance with approved procedures.

Credit Risk from Investment and Trading Activities. Counterparty credit risks arising from our trading, derivative, and debt securities activities are actively managed to protect against potential losses in replacing a contract if a counterparty defaults. Counterparty credit limits are established for each counterparty following an assessment of the counterparty's creditworthiness in accordance with internal policies, as well as the suitability and appropriateness of the product offering. Credit exposures are also controlled through independent monitoring and prompt reporting of excesses and breaches against approved limits and risk mitigation thresholds.

## Internal Credit Rating Models

Internal credit rating models are an integral part of our credit risk management, loan decision-making process, and capital assessment. These internal rating models and the parameters – probability of default ("PD"), loss given default ("LGD"), and exposure at default ("EAD") – are factors used in limit setting and limit utilization and monitoring, credit approval, reporting, remedial management, stress testing and internal assessment of the adequacy of capital and provisions.

Model risk is managed under an internal Model Risk Management framework, including an internal ratings framework, to govern the development and validation of rating models and the application of these models. Approval for material models and annual validation results rests with the BRMC. All models are subject to independent validation before implementation to ensure that all aspects of the model development process have met internal standards. The models are developed with active participation by credit experts from risk taking and risk control units. In addition, the models are also subject to annual review (or more frequently, where necessary) and independent validation to ensure that the models are performing as expected, and that the assumptions used in model development remain appropriate. All rating models are assessed against internal and regulatory requirements, which are also subject to independent review by Group Audit and approval by regulators, to ensure compliance.

Our internal risk grades are not explicitly mapped to external credit agency ratings. Nevertheless, our internal risk grades may correlate to external ratings in terms of the probability of default ranges as factors used to rate obligors would be similar; an obligor rated poorly by an external rating agency is likely to have a weaker internal risk rating.

A-IRB for Major Retail Portfolios. We have adopted the A-IRB approach for major retail portfolios, including residential mortgages, credit cards, auto loans, as well as small business lending. Internal rating models, developed from internal data, are used to estimate PD, LGD, and EAD parameters for each of these portfolios. Application and behavior scorecards are used as key inputs for several retail PD models. Product, collateral, and geographical characteristics are major factors used in the LGD and EAD models.

F-IRB for Major Non-Retail Portfolios. Our major non-retail portfolios, including income-producing real estate specialized lending, are on the F-IRB approach. Under this approach, internal models are used to estimate the PD for each obligor, while LGD and EAD parameters are prescribed by the MAS. These PD models are statistical based or expert judgment models that use both quantitative and qualitative factors to assess an obligor's repayment capacity and are calibrated to expected long-term average one-year default rate over an economic cycle. Expert judgment models are typically used for portfolios with low defaults following inputs from relevant internal credit experts. The models also comply with the regulatory criteria for parameterization. For other specialized lending portfolios, namely project finance, object finance and commodities finance, risk grades derived from internal models are mapped to the five supervisory slotting categories as prescribed in MAS Notice 637. The risk weights prescribed for these slotting categories are used to determine the regulatory capital requirements for such exposures.

#### Credit Risk Control

Credit Risk Mitigation. Transactions are entered into primarily on the strength of a borrower's creditworthiness and ability to repay. To manage credit risk, we accept collateral and credit protection as credit risk mitigants, subject to our policies on their eligibility. Collateral includes both physical and financial assets and forms a major portion of our credit risk mitigants. The value of collateral is prudently assessed on a regular basis and valuations are performed by independent qualified appraisers. The key considerations for eligible credit risk mitigants include legal certainty and enforceability, correlation, liquidity, marketability, counterparty risk of the protection provider and collateral-specific minimum operational requirements. Eligible physical and financial collateral types include cash, real estate, marketable securities, standby letters of credit and credit insurances. Appropriate discounts are applied to the market value of collateral, reflecting the underlying quality, liquidity, volatility and collateral type. The loan-to-value ratio is a main factor in the secured lending decision. We also accept guarantees from individuals, corporates and institutions as a form of support.

To manage counterparty credit risk, eligible financial collaterals may be taken to partially or fully cover mark-to-market exposures on outstanding positions, with an appropriate discount applied to cover potential adverse market volatility. Collateral arrangements, typically covered under market standard documentation such as International Swaps and Derivatives Agreement ("ISDA") include a minimum threshold amount where additional collateral is to be posted by either party if the mark-to-market exposures exceed the agreed threshold. The credit risk associated with contractual obligations is reduced by the netting agreements to the extent that if an event of default occurs, all amounts with the counterparty are settled on a net basis. Agreements may also contain rating triggers where additional collateral posting is required in the event of a rating downgrade. However, given our investment grade rating, there is minimal increase in collateral posting under a one-notch rating downgrade occurrence. We also use CCP to reduce counterparty risk for over-the-counter derivatives.

## Managing Credit Risk Concentrations

Credit risk concentrations may arise from lending to single customer groups, borrowers who are in similar activities, or diverse groups of borrowers being affected by similar economic or market conditions. To manage such concentrations, limits are established for single borrowing groups, products, portfolios and countries. These limits are aligned with our business strategy, capacity and expertise. Impact on earnings and capital is also considered during the setting of limits.

We continue to diversify our country exposure as we expand our presence and activities in Greater China and Indonesia. As a key player at home, we have significant exposure to the real estate market in Singapore. Dedicated specialist real estate teams manage this risk with focus on client selection, collateral quality, project viability, and real estate cycle trends. Regular stress tests and portfolio reviews are also conducted to identify potential vulnerabilities on the real estate portfolio.

## Remedial Management

We safeguard our position through proactive and regular monitoring of our credit portfolios. We have a robust process to detect vulnerable borrowers with signs of potential credit deterioration at an early stage via the Early Warning Review Forum.

We constantly assess our portfolio to detect potential problem credits at an early stage. to minimize credit loss. Loans are categorized as "Pass" or "Special Mention", while NPLs are categorized as "Substandard", "Doubtful" or "Loss" in accordance with MAS Notice 612.

Restructured assets are classified when we have granted concessions or restructured repayment terms to borrowers who are facing difficulties in meeting the original repayment schedules. Such restructured assets are classified in the appropriate non-performing grades based on our assessment of the borrower's financial condition and ability to repay under the restructured terms. Such credit exposure must comply with the restructured terms for a reasonable period before it can be restored to performing status in accordance with MAS Notice 612.

We have dedicated remedial management units manage the restructuring, work-out and recovery of NPA for wholesale portfolios. The objective is to rehabilitate NPA where possible or maximize recoveries for NPA that are on an exit strategy. For retail portfolios, we develop appropriate risk-based and time-based collections strategies to maximize recoveries. We use data such as delinquency buckets and adverse status tags for delinquent consumer loans to constantly analyze, fine-tune and prioritize our collection efforts.

#### Impairment Allowances for Loans

Allowance for ECL is recognized for credit-impaired and non-credit-impaired loans in accordance with SFRS(I) 9 and MAS Notice 612 through a forward-looking ECL model. ECL allowances are assessed based on the stages of asset quality.

Under SFRS(I) 9, credit loss allowances are measured on each reporting date according to a three-stage expected credit loss impairment model:

- Stage 1 On initial recognition and at a subsequent reporting date, where this is no significant increase in credit risk, the expected credit loss will be that resulting from default events that are possible over the next 12 months.
- Stage 2 Where this is a significant increase in credit risk of the loan since the initial recognition, the credit loss allowance will be that resulting from default events that are possible over the expected life of the loan.
- Stage 3 When a loan exhibits objective evidence of impairment and is considered to be credit-impaired, the credit loss allowance will be the full lifetime expected credit loss.

#### Market Risk Management

Market risk is the risk of loss of income or market value due to fluctuations in factors such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, credit spreads, equity and commodity prices or changes in volatility or correlations of such factors. We are exposed to market risks from our trading, client servicing and balance sheet management activities.

Our market risk management strategy and market risk limits are established within our risk appetite and business strategies, taking into account macroeconomic and market conditions. Market risk limits are subject to regular review.

## Market Risk Management Oversight and Organization

The Market Risk Management Committee ("MRMC") is the senior management group that supports the BRMC and the CEO in managing market risk. The MRMC establishes the market risk management objectives, framework, and policies governing prudent market risk taking, which are backed by risk methodologies, measurement systems, and internal controls.

The MRMC is supported by the Market Risk Management ("MRM") department within GRM. MRM is the independent risk control unit responsible for operationalizing the market risk management framework to support business growth while ensuring adequate risk control and oversight.

## Market Risk Management Approach

Market risk management is a shared responsibility. Our market risk management framework covers the identification, assessment, measurement, monitoring and control of risks. Group-level market risk policies and procedures are established to provide common guidelines and standards for managing market risks. Our market risk management strategy and limits are regularly reviewed and established within the OCBC Group's risk appetite and business strategies, taking into account prevailing macroeconomic and market conditions.

#### Market Risk Identification

Risk identification is addressed via our new product approval process at product inception. Market risks are also identified by our risk managers from their ongoing interactions with the business units.

#### Market Risk Measurements

Value-At-Risk. Value-at-risk ("VaR"), as a key market risk measure for our trading activities, is a component of aggregate market risk appetite. VaR is measured and monitored by its individual market risk components, namely interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, equity risk and credit spread risk, as well as at the consolidated level. VaR is based on a historical simulation approach and is applied against a one-day holding period at a 99% confidence level. As VaR is a statistical measure based on historical market fluctuations, it is not expected to accurately predict forward-looking market conditions all the time. Under the defined confidence threshold, losses on a single trading day may exceed VaR, on average, once every 100 days.

Other Risk Measures. As our main market risk is interest rate fluctuations. Present Value of a Basis Point ("PV01"), which measures the change in value of interest rate sensitive exposures resulting from a one basis point increase across the entire yield curve, is an additional measure monitored on a daily basis. Other than VaR and PV01, we also utilize notional amounts, One Basis Point Move in Credit Spreads ("CS01") and derivative greeks for specific exposure types, where appropriate, to supplement our risk measurements.

Stress Testing and Scenario Analyses. We also perform stress testing and scenario analyses to better quantify and assess potential losses arising from low probability but plausible extreme market conditions. The stress scenarios are regularly reviewed and fine-tuned to ensure that they remain relevant to our trading activities, risk profile, and prevailing and forecasted economic conditions. These analyses determine if potential losses from such extreme market conditions are within our risk tolerance. Besides the regular stress scenarios, ad hoc event-specific stress scenarios are also used to assess the potential impact of specific market conditions to the OCBC Bank's market risk exposures.

#### Risk Monitoring and Control

Limits. Only authorized trading activities for approved products may be undertaken by the various trading units. All trading risk positions are monitored on a daily basis against approved and allocated limits by independent support units. Trading activities are conducted within approved mandates and dynamically hedged to remain within limits. Hedge effectiveness is enforced through independent limit monitoring to ensure compliance with market risk limits. Limits are approved to reflect available and anticipated trading opportunities, with clearly defined exception escalation procedures. Exceptions, including any temporary breaches, are promptly reported and escalated to senior management for resolution. Multiple risk limits (VaR and risk sensitivities), profit/loss, and other measures allow for more holistic analysis and management of market risk exposures.

Model Validation. Model validation is also an integral part of our risk control process. Risk models are used to price financial instruments and calculate VaR. We ensure that the models used are fit for their intended purpose through internal verification and periodic reviews. Market rates used for risk measurements and valuation are sourced independently, thereby adding further to the integrity of the trading profits and losses ("P&L"), risk and limit control measurements.

*Back-testing*. To ensure the continued integrity of the VaR model, we conduct back-testing to confirm the consistency of actual daily trading P&L as well as theoretical P&L against the model's statistical assumptions.

## Asset Liability Management

Asset liability management is the strategic management of our balance sheet structure and liquidity requirements, covering liquidity sourcing and diversification, as well as interest rate and structural foreign exchange management.

Asset Liability Management Oversight and Organization

The Asset Liability Management Committee ("ALCO") is the senior management group that is responsible for the management of our balance sheet and liquidity risks. The ALCO is chaired by the CEO and includes senior management from the business, risk and support units. The ALCO is supported by Corporate Treasury within the Group Finance Division. The Asset Liability Management department within GRM monitors our banking book interest rate, structural foreign exchange and liquidity risk profiles under both baseline and stressed scenarios.

### Asset Liability Management Approach

The asset liability management framework focuses on managing the exposures arising from the balance sheet. We monitor our liquidity risk, interest rate risk in the banking book and structural foreign exchange risk profiles against approved risk limits under both business-as-usual and stressed scenarios. These are based on the standards established in our framework, policies and procedures which are subject to regular reviews to ensure that they remain relevant in the context of the prevailing market conditions and practices. The framework comprises liquidity risk management, interest rate risk mismatch management and structural foreign exchange risk management.

Liquidity Risk. The objective of liquidity risk management is to ensure that there are sufficient funds to meet contractual and regulatory financial obligations and to undertake new transactions.

Our liquidity management process involves establishing liquidity management policies and limits, regular monitoring against liquidity risk limits, regular stress testing and refining contingency funding plans. These processes are subject to regular reviews to ensure that they remain relevant in the context of prevailing market conditions.

Liquidity monitoring is performed daily within a framework for projecting cash flows on a contractual and behavioral basis. Simulations of liquidity exposures under stressed market scenarios are performed, and the results are taken into account in the risk management strategies, policies and positions, as well as to develop contingency funding plans. Indicators such as liquidity and deposit concentration ratios are used to establish the level of optimal funding mix and asset composition. Funding strategies are established to provide effective diversification and stability in funding sources across tenors, products and geographies. In addition, we maintain liquid assets in excess of regulatory requirements to strengthen our ability to meet liquidity needs during a crisis. These liquid assets comprise statutory reserve eligible securities as well as marketable shares and debt securities.

*Interest Rate Risk*. The primary goal of interest rate risk management is to ensure that interest rate risk exposures are maintained within defined risk tolerances and are consistent with the risk appetite parameters.

Interest rate risk is the risk to earnings and capital arising from exposure to adverse movements in interest rates. The material sources of interest rate risk are re-pricing risk, yield curve risk, basis risk and optionality risk. A range of techniques are employed to measure these risks from an earnings and economic value perspective. One method involves the simulation of the impact of a variety of interest rate scenarios on the net interest income and the economic value of our equity. Other measures include interest rate sensitivity measures such as PV01 as well as re-pricing gap profile analysis. Behavioral models are used to assess interest rate risks in relation to loan prepayment, time deposit early redemption and the profile of non-maturity deposits.

Limits and policies to manage interest rate exposures are established in line with our strategy and risk appetite. Thresholds and policies are appropriately approved and reviewed regularly to ensure they remain relevant against the external environment. Control systems are in place to monitor the risk profile against the approved risk thresholds.

Structural Foreign Exchange Risk. Structural foreign exchange exposure arises primarily from net investment in overseas branches, subsidiaries, strategic investments as well as property assets. The objective is to protect capital through identifying, measuring and managing the potential adverse impact of structural foreign exchange risk on capital deployed. We actively manage this risk through hedges and matched funding for foreign currency investments.

Other Risks. Non-structural foreign exchange exposures in the banking book are largely transferred to trading book for foreign exchange risk management. High quality liquid assets ("HQLA") held in the banking book to comply with LCR expose us to credit spread risk. While HQLA are of low default risk, their value could be sensitive to changes in credit spread. This risk is monitored against approved CS01 limits on a daily basis and subject to historical and anticipatory stress tests. The other risk residing in the banking book is non-strategic equity price risk arising from our investment in equity securities. These non-strategic equity forms an insignificant portion of our overall securities portfolio, excluding Great Eastern Holdings.

### Operational Risk Management

Operational risk is inherent in all banking products, activities, processes and systems. Effective management of operational risk is a fundamental element of our risk management program that enhances our corporate culture. It is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes and systems, poor management, human error or external events. This is a broad risk category that encompasses: reputational risk, fiduciary risk, fraud risk, unauthorized trading risk, conduct risk, physical and people security risk, business continuity risk, third-party risk, legal and regulatory risk, anti-money laundering, terrorism financing and sanctions risk, as well as technology and information risk.

Operational Risk Management Oversight and Organization

The Operational Risk Management Committee ("ORC") is the senior management group that oversees the management of operational risk. ORC ensures that various risk management programs that are in place are appropriate, effective, and support our business strategy.

The Operational Risk Management ("ORM") department within GRM establishes the ORM framework, including supporting policies and techniques. The ORM department also independently oversees operational risk monitoring and control that reside within business, products and process owners. The ORM programs are actively implemented through the respective Operational Risk Partners or managers in the business units and subsidiaries. Operational Risk Partners or managers are certified by an industry recognized accreditation program to raise competency levels in managing operational risk.

## Operational Risk Management Approach

We adopt a framework that ensures operational risks are properly identified, managed, monitored, mitigated and reported in a structured and consistent manner. It enables us to fulfill our fiduciary duties, comply with legal and regulatory requirements, mitigate other risk factors and manage any reputational risk impact. We aim to manage both expected and unexpected losses, including those caused by catastrophic events. These twin objectives act as parameters to manage our risk as we pursue new business opportunities. Each business unit undertakes risk control self-assessment on a regular basis by evaluating the robustness of its own risk and control environment including compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. Key operational risk indicators are also used to detect early warning signals and to drive appropriate management actions before the risks result in material losses. Operational risk data is also analyzed and reported regularly to senior management.

Senior management attests annually to the Group CEO, BRMC and Audit Committee, on the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal controls and risk management systems and highlights accompanying remedial plans to address any outstanding key control deficiencies.

We have an insurance strategy to reduce earnings volatility arising from unpredictable material adverse operational risk events by transferring the risk to insurers. Our insurance programs protect us and our employees against adverse events relating to crime, cyber risks, professional indemnity, directors' and officers' liability, property damage and public liability.

Anti-Money Laundering ("AML")/Countering the Financing of Terrorism ("CFT") and Sanctions Risks. We recognize the risks associated with money laundering and terrorism. Through a robust groupwide AML/CFT and sanctions framework and program that are aligned with MAS AML/CFT and sanctions regulations, as well as with international organizations, such as the Financial Action Task Force ("FATF"), Basel Committee and Wolfsberg Group. There is a dedicated AML/CFT committee which comprises of senior management to oversee the AML/CFT related matters. There are also risk assessment methodologies leveraging our existing monitoring and screening platform, data analytics to assess customer, product and geographical risks, as well as risk surveillance platform to monitor emerging financial crime trends and typologies.

Physical and People Security Risk Management. We have a program to address the physical and security risks to people and assets. This program comprises:

- Established policies, standards and procedures with detailed requirements on the management of physical security risk.
- Active monitoring of external events that may pose a threat to OCBC locations, people and assets.
- Provision of advisories and response procedures to better prepare the Bank and our employees to handle risk events, including risks posed to staff on business travel.
- Regular physical security risk assessments conducted on the Bank's critical infrastructure.

Business Continuity Risk Management. We have a program to minimize the disruption to essential business activities and services during a crisis. The program comprises:

- Robust recovery strategies and business recovery plans which are reviewed and tested annually.
- Regular exercises to enhance awareness and the robustness of the program.
- Annual attestation by senior management to the BRMC on business continuity readiness and extent of alignment with MAS guidelines, with a declaration of acceptable residual risk.

We also enhanced our response plans to cater for incidents that could last for prolonged period e.g. COVID-19. In addition, the plans also address remote working risk on major disruptions to internet services or remote access system.

Fraud Risk Management. We have fraud risk management and whistleblowing programs to prevent and detect fraud or misconduct. These programs comprise:

- Internal and external whistleblowing channels for employees and the public.
- Independent investigations into fraud incidents with regular reporting (including root cause analysis, extent of damage, remedial actions and recovery steps for major incidents) to the Operational Risk Management Committee and BRMC.
- Training for frontline staff to build awareness and share indicators of potential scams.
- Publication of alerts and notices to customers to build and heighten awareness of fraud risks.

Through robust anti-fraud measures utilizing transactional monitoring to detect and alert customers of suspicious account activities and financial malware detection capabilities to block known fraudster devices from interacting with our online banking platforms. Through groupwide reporting and review of significant fraud events to ensure robust and consistent fraud risk program management. By having Group Audit independently review all fraud and whistleblowing cases. The outcomes are reported to the Audit Committee.

Reputational Risk Management. We have a reputational risk management program which focuses on understanding and managing our responsibilities towards our stakeholders and protecting our reputation. This program comprises:

- Policies and procedures to prevent or minimize and manage risk events which could lead to an adverse reputational impact to the Group.
- Identification, assessment, monitoring and mitigation of reputational risk exposures, as well as effective and regular information sharing and engagement with our stakeholders.

Fiduciary Risk Management. We have a fiduciary risk management program to manage risks associated with fiduciary relationships from managing funds or providing other agency services. The program provides guidelines on regular identification, assessment, monitoring of and response to fiduciary risk exposures, to ensure our compliance with applicable fiduciary standards.

Regulatory and Legal Risks. Each business unit is responsible for the adequacy and effectiveness of controls in managing both regulatory and legal risks. This is done through a legal and regulatory compliance risk management framework which defines the required environment and organizational components to ensure compliance with relevant laws, regulations, rules and standards. The framework is complemented by stringent and robust compliance policies, procedures and guidelines based on international best practices which are adapted to our requirements, and regular training to staff. Senior management provides the state of regulatory compliance via an annual Regulatory Compliance Certification to the CEO and BRMC.

Information and Technology Risk. We have an extensive groupwide approach towards governing and managing information and technology risk which comprises:

- A robust governance and oversight framework, supported by a comprehensive suite of policies, standards and risk mitigation initiatives that are integrated across the three lines of defense.
- Multi-layered controls to ensure confidentiality, integrity and availability of our information assets, including preventive and detective control mechanisms to guard against data loss.
- A mandatory risk awareness training program, thematic reviews to bolster our data protection posture, as well as guidance to enhance the management of data loss incidents.
- Appropriate response measures to minimize disruptions to essential banking services during incidents.

Conduct Risk. We have a groupwide culture and conduct framework to encourage right employee behaviors. This framework comprises:

- A robust corporate governance structure with dedicated Board and senior management committees to manage and oversee culture and conduct matters.
- Various policies, programs and initiatives that promote good culture and conduct, effective
  risk governance and employee accountability. These include a dashboard for the monitoring
  and reporting of culture and conduct-related matters such as customer compliant trends,
  staff attrition rates, regulatory breaches, and whistleblowing investigations to management.
- An Employee Conduct Triggers ("ECT") Program covering all our staff that provides clear and measurable conduct indicators. Violation of these indicators will incur ECT points; the accumulation of such points is subject to management review and could lead to disciplinary action.

*Unauthorized Trading Risk.* We have a treasury trade surveillance program to detect and deter roque trading activities, which comprises:

- Robust governance and clearly-defined roles and responsibilities across the three lines of defense.
- Continuous monitoring and verification of key controls and key risk indicators. These can
  provide early warning of potential control issues that might create opportunities for
  unauthorized trading activities and drive risk management actions to rectify any control gaps.
- Independent surveillance and investigation by an independent Control Assurance Function within GRM and strong oversight by various risk committees.

Third-Party Risk. We have a groupwide third-party risk management program to manage risks arising from the use of outsourcing and third-party service providers in a comprehensive and consistent manner. This program comprises:

 A robust governance structure with oversight from a multi-disciplinary Third-Party Risk Management Committee and clearly-defined roles and responsibilities across the three lines of defense.

- A policy and procedure that set out the control expectations to manage risk throughout the life cycle of third-party engagements such as due diligence, ongoing monitoring, renewal and termination.
- By actively engaging the Association of Banks in Singapore ("ABS") Outsourcing Advisory Committee and keeping abreast of industry developments.

# Cyber Risk Management

Cyber risk is a business risk relating to acts perpetrated by malicious threat actors using information and communication technologies that could affect the confidentiality, integrity and availability of our information assets, technology systems and supporting infrastructure and essential banking services. Effective management of cyber risks is essential to minimizing any negative impact to customers as well as any financial, operational, reputational, legal and/or regulatory impact to the Group.

# Cyber Risk Management Approach

We adopt a whole-of-organizational approach to manage cyber risk and resilience for the Group, which comprises (a) framework and policies, (b) cyber defense program (c) cyber risk awareness, training and testing program, (d) cybersecurity incident response and crisis management, and (e) cyber and network security insurance.

Our framework and policies are aligned with international industry guidance on cyber risk and resilience as well as applicable regulatory requirements. Roles and responsibilities across the three independent lines of defense are clearly defined. Every employee has a role to play; we foster close collaboration amongst business and technology units across the Group to enhance cyber resilience.

Our cyber defense program covers preventive, detective and response capabilities to sustain and enhance existing defenses. This includes monitoring our networks and systems for cyber threats through a 24 by 7 cybersecurity operations center and a technology command center. Existing measures are reviewed as well as tested regularly (e.g. vulnerability assessment and penetration testing) while new capabilities are continuously added to address evolving threats.

Our cyber risk awareness, training and testing program seeks to transform people to be the strongest defense. The program improves the overall cyber fabric of the Group by educating all staff on sound cyber hygiene practices and testing them through a variety of phishing emails to enhance cyber vigilance. We also have a Cybersecurity Certification Pathway and a Cyber Smart Program for staff to improve their knowledge, skills and demonstrable behavior. Customers are also educated through online channels while cyber risk awareness sessions are conducted for our outsourced services providers.

We have a cybersecurity incident response and crisis management process to ensure minimal disruption of essential banking services during times of crisis, including cyber-attacks. Cyber incident simulation exercises are conducted regularly to improve the responses of the cybersecurity incident response team to cybersecurity events. Crisis management exercises on cyber-attack scenarios are also conducted regularly to enhance the preparedness of senior management.

Finally, we have relevant cyber and network security insurance to cover damages arising from specific cyber-attack situations, such as cyber extortion, ransomware event and cyber terrorism.

Separately, as part of industry collaboration, we continue to actively engage and share cyber threat information with regulatory agencies like MAS and Cyber Security Agency, as well as with the ABS Standing Committee on Cyber Security and the Financial Services Information Sharing and Analysis Centre.

# Competition

We compete principally with the local commercial banks and foreign banks in each of our key markets. We also face competition from a number of additional institutions, including foreign qualifying full banks, wholesale banks and offshore banks, as well as various other types of financial service institutions. As a result of the Singapore government's liberalization of the Singapore banking industry, the number of foreign institutions with foreign full banking licenses and wholesale banking licenses in Singapore has increased over the past ten years.

### **Employees**

As of December 31, 2021, the OCBC Group had more than 30,000 employees.

We believe that people are our main assets and that their talents and abilities – individually and collectively – can be leveraged to give us a competitive advantage. Our employees share ownership schemes continue to receive high participation levels. We aim to provide every person with equal opportunities to develop careers within the Group through continuous learning and training in both core competencies and technical skills.

We are party to the two collective agreements for our unionized colleagues, the OCBC Bank Group Officers' Agreement and the OCBC Bank Group Employees' Agreement. These agreements are generally reviewed once every three years and established through industry-wide negotiations with the unions. We believe we have good relations with our employees.

# **Employees' Remuneration**

The objective of our remuneration policy is to attract, motivate, reward and retain quality staff. Our Board of Directors ensures that the remuneration policies are in line with our strategic objectives and corporate values and do not give rise to conflicts between our objectives and the interests of individual Directors and key executives.

The total compensation package for employees comprises basic salary, fixed bonus, variable performance bonus, allowances, deferred share awards and share options for eligible executives, as well as benefits. Compensation is tied to the achievement of business and performance objectives. Where relevant, financial measurements, adjusted for the various types of risk, include, if appropriate:

- (a) Operating efficiency measures which include income, direct and allocated costs and operating profits, net profits as well as efficiency indicators such as unit cost.
- (b) Economic efficiency measures such as cost of capital. Capital is attributed to each business based on the amount of risk-weighted assets and return on capital.
- (c) Liquidity risk which is factored into the performance measurement of each business through the application of liquidity premiums charged or credited according to the behavioral maturity of each type of asset and liability booked.

Each business unit (including risk and compliance functions) has its own performance measures that match their functions and objectives. In the determination of remuneration of senior executives, we take into account risk and control indicators.

In determining the composition of the compensation package, we take into account the time horizon of risk and include in the total compensation for executives a significant portion of deferred payment in the form of deferred shares.

To ensure that our remuneration package is competitive, we regularly review our base salary ranges and benefits package based on market data provided by recognized surveys of comparative groups in the financial sector. For executives, we adopt a performance-driven approach to compensation. The compensation package is linked to personal performance, the performance of the job function as a whole and our overall performance. Executives' compensation is reviewed each year based on information from market surveys and advice from reputable management consultants. The compensation for senior executives is reviewed by the Remuneration Committee. As a consequence of the financial crisis, financial institutions globally have been reviewing compensation practices to reduce incentives that encourage excessive risk taking. In 2009, the Financial Stability Forum ("FSF") developed principles and implementation standards for Sound Compensation Practices for significant financial institutions. Our compensation practices largely meet the FSF principles and implementation standards, and are reviewed regularly to ensure that they continue to meet the FSF principles and implementation standards, if and when there are changes.

The remuneration practices for staff in bargainable positions are established through negotiation with our unions.

### **Properties**

We conduct our property management activities through our wholly-owned subsidiary, OCBC Property Services Private Limited ("**OPS**"). OPS' core business includes managing our property portfolio to optimize rental income, yields and capital values, supporting our operations through cost-effective spatial planning and professional property management of own-occupied premises, and managing our divestment program for identified properties.

# **Legal and Regulatory Proceedings**

From time to time, we may be involved in legal and regulatory proceedings concerning matters that arise in our day-to-day business operations. However, we are not involved in, and are not aware of, any legal or regulatory proceedings the outcome of which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects.

# **DESCRIPTION OF OCBC BANK'S SYDNEY BRANCH**

OCBC Bank was granted the authority to carry on a banking business in Australia on January 29, 1996 under the Australian Banking Act by APRA. OCBC Bank, Sydney Branch was registered in Australia as a foreign company (overseas) on May 22, 1996 (with Australian Registered Body Number 073598035) under the Australian Corporations Act, with its registered office in Australia at Level 2, 75 Castlereagh Street, Sydney, New South Wales, 2000, Australia. It obtained an Australian financial services license under the Australian Corporations Act on January 16, 2004 (License number 237585). This license authorizes it to carry on a financial services business in Australia to provide financial product advice for certain classes of financial products and to deal in financial products in certain circumstances to retail and wholesale clients.

# **CAPITALIZATION**

The following table sets out our capitalization and indebtedness as of December 31, 2021. The information has been extracted from our audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021. The financial effects of transactions subsequent to December 31, 2021 are not taken into account.

Other than as described below in "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations", there has been no material change in the OCBC Group's capitalization and indebtedness since December 31, 2021.

	As of December 31, 2021
	S\$ (in millions)
Short-term liabilities <sup>(1)(2)</sup>	
Deposits of non-bank customers	342,395
Deposits and balances of banks	8,239
Trading portfolio liabilities	393
Debt issued	12,586
Other liabilities	20,401
Total short-term liabilities	384,014
Long-term liabilities <sup>(2)</sup>	
Subordinated term notes	2,730
Covered bonds	1,990
Other notes <sup>(3)</sup> (unsecured)	2,809
Total long-term liabilities	7,529
Equity	
Share capital	18,040
Other equity instruments	1,198
Total reserves	33,425
Attributable to OCBC's equity holders	52,663
Non-controlling interests	1,675
Total equity	54,338
Total capitalization <sup>(4)</sup>	445,881

#### Notes

- (1) Short-term indebtedness includes all deposits of bank and non-bank customers and other liabilities.
- (2) Short-term and long-term indebtedness exclude life insurance fund liabilities. Long-term indebtedness includes debt issued with remaining term to contractual maturity exceeding one year.
- (3) Includes structured notes and fixed and floating rate notes.
- (4) Total capitalization comprises short-term liabilities, long-term liabilities and total equity.

# MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis is based upon information contained in: (i) our audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2020 which are incorporated by reference into this Offering Memorandum; and (ii) our audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021 and the related notes thereto which are set forth beginning on page F-2 of this Offering Memorandum. You should read the following discussion and analysis in conjunction with our financial statements, including the notes thereto. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that reflect our current views with respect to future events and financial performance. Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of factors such as those set forth under "Risk Factors" and elsewhere in this Offering Memorandum. Our financial statements have been prepared in accordance with SFRS(I) which differs in certain material respects from U.S. GAAP. Investors should consult their own professional advisors for an understanding of the differences between SFRS(I) and U.S. GAAP, IFRS and the generally accepted accounting principles of other jurisdictions and how those differences might affect the financial information contained in this Offering Memorandum.

#### Overview

We are the longest established Singapore bank, formed in 1932 from the merger of three local banks, the oldest of which was founded in 1912. As of December 31, 2021, we were the second largest financial services group in Southeast Asia, and are now one of the world's most highly-rated banks, with an Aa1 rating from Moody's and AA- by both Fitch and S&P. Recognized for our financial strength and stability, we have been consistently ranked among the World's Top 50 Safest Banks by Global Finance and have been named Best Managed Bank in Singapore by the Asian Banker. We are listed on the SGX-ST, and are one of the largest listed companies in Singapore by market capitalization.

We offer a broad array of commercial banking, specialist financial and wealth management services, ranging from consumer, corporate, investment, private and transaction banking to treasury, insurance, asset management and stockbroking services.

Our key markets are Singapore, Malaysia, Indonesia and Greater China. As of December 31, 2021, we had more than 430 branches and representative offices in 19 countries and regions. These include over 210 branches and offices in Indonesia under subsidiary Bank OCBC NISP, over 60 branches and offices in Mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau under OCBC Wing Hang, and nearly 40 branches in Malaysia under OCBC Bank (Malaysia) Berhad.

Our other financial services businesses, such as insurance, private banking, asset management and stockbroking, are conducted mainly through our subsidiaries. Our 87.9%-owned insurance subsidiary, Great Eastern Holdings, which is listed on the SGX-ST, is the oldest and most established life insurance group in Singapore and Malaysia and is a significant contributor to our profit. Our private banking services are provided by our wholly-owned subsidiary Bank of Singapore, which operates on a unique open-architecture product platform to source for the best-in-class products to meet its clients' goals. Bank of Singapore had US\$124 billion in assets under management as of December 31, 2021. Our asset management subsidiary, Lion Global Investors, is one of the largest asset managers in Southeast Asia. As of December 31, 2021, Lion Global had assets under management of S\$70.7 billion.

As of December 31, 2021, we had S\$542,187 million in total assets, including S\$286,281 million in net loans to customers, S\$25,462 million in placements with and loans to banks, S\$71,286 million in government, debt and equity securities, S\$27,919 million in cash balances and placements with central banks, and S\$100,096 million in life insurance fund investment securities and other assets. As of December 31, 2021, we had S\$342,395 million in non-bank customer deposits, S\$8,239 million in deposits and balances of banks, S\$54,338 million in total shareholders' equity (including non-controlling interests), S\$20,115 million in debt issued, and S\$96,306 million in life insurance fund liabilities, respectively.

For the financial year ended December 31, 2021, we reported profit attributable to equity holders of S\$4,858 million. By geography and as a percentage of our profit before income tax, for the financial year ended December 31, 2021, Singapore operations accounted for 53.5%, Malaysia operations accounted for 15.1%, Indonesia operations accounted for 5.7%, and Greater China operations accounted for 21.9%. By business segment and as a percentage of our operating profit after allowances and amortization, for the financial year ended December 31, 2021, Global Wholesale Banking contributed 35.1%, Global Consumer/Private Banking contributed 23.1%, Global Treasury and Markets contributed 18.0%, Insurance contributed 25.2%, with -1.4% from Others which comprise mainly property holding, investment holding and items not attributable to the other four business segments. As a percentage of our total income in the financial year ended December 31, 2021, net interest income accounted for 55.3% and non-interest income 44.7%.

### Factors Affecting Our Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Our financial condition and results of operations are affected by numerous factors. The following factors are of particular importance.

# Operating Environment

Our performance is dependent to a large extent on the general economic developments in our key markets of Singapore, Malaysia, Indonesia and Greater China, which affect our ability to grow our loans, fee-based businesses and other non-interest income activities. The overall operating environment also affects the quality of our loan and investment portfolios, and hence the amount of allowances we set aside. In addition, our expenses are dependent on our growth and expansion plans in the region and impacted by cost and wage pressures in the markets in which we operate.

In 2019, the global economic growth slowed as it continued to be weighed down by the escalating trade conflict between the United States and China, disputes between the United States and its trading partners in Europe, the uncertain outcome of Britain's exit from the European Union, as well as the social unrest in Hong Kong and instability in the Middle East. According to the Singapore Department of Statistics, Singapore's real GDP growth was 1.1% in 2019 compared with 3.7% in 2018, as Singapore's export-oriented economy was impacted by the trade war between the United States and China as well as the cyclical downturn in the electronics sector. Our profit attributable to equity holders increased to \$\$4,869 million in 2019 from \$\$4,492 million in 2018.

In 2020, the global economy was impacted by the widespread COVID-19 pandemic. There was severe contraction in the global economy, significant financial market volatility and aggressive policy support measures, including sizeable cuts in global interest rates and sharp increases in fiscal spending to drive growth and demand. 2020 saw severe disruptions in the global supply chain and a sharp fall-off in demand across many industries, leading to sharp deterioration in the growth outlook of major economies. According to the Singapore Department of Statistics, Singapore's real GDP growth was -4.1% in 2020 compared with 1.1% in 2019. Our profit attributable to equity holders declined to \$\$3,586 million in 2020 from \$\$4,869 million in 2019.

In 2021, the global economy continued to be impacted by the widespread COVID-19 pandemic as new variants rose even with the development and deployment of COVID-19 vaccines. High energy prices and supply chain pressures have spurred record-high inflation. According to the Singapore Department of Statistics, Singapore's real GDP growth was 7.6 % in 2021 compared with -4.1% in 2020. Our profit attributable to equity holders increased to S\$4,858 million in 2021 from S\$3,586 million in 2020.

### Interest, Deposit and Lending Rate Changes

Our operating results are driven significantly by our net interest income, which accounted for 55.3% of our total income in 2021, 58.8% of our total income in 2020 and 58.2% of our total income in 2019. Net interest income is principally affected by yields on our interest earning assets, costs of interest bearing liabilities and volumes of our interest earning assets and interest bearing liabilities. Our yields and costs are functions of our lending and deposit rates, interbank rates, yields on government and other debt securities, and costs of term debts and other borrowings, which are generally linked to the interest rate environment. In addition, lending and deposit rates are significantly influenced by competition in the markets in which we operate.

Our loans are generally priced either on a fixed rate or floating rate basis. Loans priced at a floating rate refer to those priced at reference lending rates plus or minus a spread, depending on the type of loans and the profile and preference of the borrower. Reference lending rates may be benchmarked with external reference rates, e.g., SORA, or our own established reference rate, e.g., cost of funds, board rate and prime rate.

# Allowances and Asset Quality

Our financial condition and results of operations have been and will continue to be affected by our allowances for loans, debt securities and contingent liabilities. Allowances comprise allowances for non-impaired loans, allowances for impaired loans, and allowances and impairment charges for other assets.

Non-performing assets comprise non-performing classified loans, debt securities and contingent liabilities. Our total non-performing assets were S\$4,338 million as of December 31, 2021, S\$4,005 million as of December 31, 2020 and S\$3,883 million as of December 31, 2019.

Our NPL ratio, defined as the ratio of non-performing loans to gross non-bank loans, was 1.5% as of December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.

### Liquidity

Adverse market and economic conditions in the regional and global economy may limit or adversely affect our access to funding required to operate our business. Adverse conditions may also limit or negatively affect our ability to replace maturing liabilities in a timely manner, and access additional capital necessary to grow our business.

Non-bank customer deposits contributed 76.8%, 73.8% and 74.4% of our funding requirements (total equity and total liabilities excluding life insurance fund liabilities) as of December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Substantially most of these deposits are denominated in Singapore dollars, U.S. dollars, Malaysian Ringgit and Hong Kong dollars.

Our sources of funding from banks include domestic and foreign interbank markets, and our money market lines with domestic and foreign banks. Deposits and balances of banks contributed 1.8%, 2.2% and 2.0% of our funding requirements (total equity and total liabilities excluding life insurance fund liabilities) as of December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

As of December 31, 2021, we had total customer deposits and balances of banks of \$\$350,634 million, representing 78.6% of our funding requirements (total equity and total liabilities excluding life insurance fund liabilities). Our other sources of funding include debt issued, which comprise subordinated debt, fixed and floating notes, covered bonds, commercial paper and structured notes. Debt issued accounted for 4.5%, 5.7% and 7.2% of our funding requirements (total equity and total liabilities excluding life insurance fund liabilities) as of December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

We depend on our ability to continue to attract deposits and to refinance our debt at commercially acceptable rates, and we continue to finance a portion of our operations with short-term funds. We believe our deposits provide a stable base of funding and we maintained a loans-to-deposits (net loans to non-bank customers to non-bank customer deposits) ratio of 83.6%, 83.7% and 86.5%, as of December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

A significant portion of our loan assets are denominated in foreign currencies, in particular U.S. dollars, which creates a potential for funding mismatches. We have entered into, and intend to continue to enter into, cross currency swaps, and issue debt securities in foreign currencies to minimize the risk of funding mismatches.

# Regulatory Environment

We expect that our financial condition and operating results will be principally affected by regulatory trends in the banking industry.

Following its review of international financial regulations, on December 16, 2010, the Basel Committee published the Basel III rules text, which presents the details of global regulatory standards on bank capital adequacy and liquidity, aimed at strengthening the resilience of the banking sector.

On January 13, 2011, the Basel Committee also published requirements for all non-common equity Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital instruments issued on or after January 1, 2013 to be loss absorbing at the point of non-viability.

The MAS has imposed capital adequacy requirements on banks incorporated in Singapore that are higher than the Basel Committee's requirements on the basis that each of the banks incorporated in Singapore is systemically important and has a substantial retail presence in Singapore. D-SIBs incorporated in Singapore have been required to meet at all times a minimum CET1 CAR, Tier 1 CAR, and Total CAR of 6.5%, 8.0% and 10.0%, respectively. In addition to complying with the minimum CAR requirements, in line with the Basel Committee's requirements, we are required to have a capital conservation buffer of 2.5% at CET1 level, and a countercyclical buffer comprising CET1 capital of up to 2.5%.

For a more detailed description of regulations to which we are subject, see "Supervision and Regulation".

# Insurance Operations

Our insurance business is carried out by our 87.9%-owned subsidiary Great Eastern Holdings, which is listed on the SGX-ST. Great Eastern Holdings contributes a significant portion to our profits. It accounted for 21.5%, 22.1% and 18.4% of our profit before income tax in the financial years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. It accounted for 20.5%, 20.6% and 19.8% of our total assets as of December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

OCBC Bank is represented on the board of Great Eastern Holdings, including each of the board committees except the audit committee. While the business strategy and operations of Great Eastern Holdings are managed separately by its own management team, we work closely with Great Eastern Holdings on some aspects of our businesses to deliver synergies, such as the distribution of Great Eastern Holdings' insurance products through our banking channels in Singapore, Malaysia and Indonesia, and cross-referrals of our banking products by Great Eastern Holdings' tied agents to their customers in Malaysia.

Life insurance activities contribute the majority of Great Eastern Holdings' profit from insurance operations, with the remainder from general insurance. In addition, Great Eastern Holdings earns investment income from the investment of its shareholders' funds, and fee income mainly from the fund management activities of its asset management subsidiary, Lion Global.

The main drivers of Great Eastern Holdings' insurance business are new business sales, investment returns on its life funds, and the long-term profitability of its insurance policies as measured by new business embedded value ("NBEV") and in-force business embedded value. New business sales are principally affected by consumer demand, new product launches, the effectiveness of Great Eastern Holdings' distribution channels and competition. Investment returns are principally affected by asset allocation of the life funds, risk profile of the investments, economic environment and market conditions. NBEV is a commonly used technique to estimate the long-term economic value of new business and policies written by a life insurance company. It is defined as the value of projected shareholder distributable profits from new business sold in the year. Typical of the insurance industry, Great Eastern Holdings' accounting profit can be volatile from year to year and from guarter to guarter due to the mark-to-market valuation of its assets and liabilities, and this may also result in some volatility in our profit. The profit volatility arises mainly because policyholders' premiums are invested largely in fixed-income securities and equities, and the valuations of these investments are affected by financial market conditions, including movements in interest rates, credit spreads, equity prices and bond prices. Valuations of policyholder insurance liabilities, i.e., the estimation of the ultimate liabilities arising from claims and guaranteed benefits made under insurance contracts, are also affected by market interest rates used to discount future projected cashflows. For a better understanding of the performance of its underlying insurance business, excluding the impact of mark-to-market valuation of its assets and liabilities, Great Eastern Holdings provides additional disclosure of its operating profit from insurance business. Operating profit is defined as premiums less claims, maturities, surrenders, commissions, expenses and changes in reserves, plus net investment income (dividends, coupons, etc.).

Lion Global's fee income is primarily linked to the size of its assets under management and the performance of the funds it manages.

### **Principal Income Statement Components**

### Income (Loss)

Our principal sources of operating income are net interest income, fees and commissions (net), profit from life insurance and premium income from general insurance, dividends, net trading income and other income.

### Net Interest Income

Net interest income, or the difference between interest income and interest expenses, is determined by:

- (a) the amount of interest earning assets and interest bearing liabilities;
- (b) the interest spread; and
- (c) the general level of interest rates.

Our principal interest earning assets consist of loans to customers, placements with and loans to banks, debt securities, placements with central banks and Singapore Government treasury bills and securities. Our principal interest bearing liabilities consist of deposits of non-bank customers, deposits and balances of banks and debts issued. We control our exposure to interest rate fluctuations through asset-liability management operations.

### Fees and Commissions (Net)

Our fees and commissions (net) is the difference between our fee and commission income and our fee and commission expense, which we derive or incur from the following sources: brokerage, credit card, fund management, investment banking, distribution of wealth management products and services, loan-related activities, service charges, trade-related activities and remittances, guarantees and others.

#### Profit from Life Insurance

Great Eastern Holdings' profit from life insurance forms part of our non-interest income in our consolidated income statement. It is presented as the difference between life insurance income and life insurance expense, and is determined by:

- (a) the amount of regular and single premiums received;
- (b) the net investment income generated during the period by the respective life funds;
- (c) the amounts paid out for claims, surrenders and annuities;
- (d) the change in life insurance fund contract liabilities; and
- (e) expenses, including commissions and agency expenses, acquisition costs, reinsurance costs and management expenses.

Profits to shareholders from the Participating Fund are allocated from the surplus or surplus capital of the fund, determined from the results of annual actuarial valuation parameters which are set out in the insurance regulations of the respective jurisdictions in which the insurance subsidiaries operate. The results of the annual actuarial valuation also determine the liabilities relating to all the policyholders' benefits of the Participating Fund. The provisions in the articles of association of the insurance subsidiaries are applied in conjunction with the prescriptions in the respective insurance regulations, such that the distribution for any year to policyholders of the Participating Fund and shareholders approximate 90% and 10%, respectively, of total distribution from the Participating Fund. Any surplus that is not allocated is recognized as unallocated surplus. The unallocated surplus forms part of the life insurance contract liabilities. The annual declaration of the quantum of policyholder bonus and correspondingly the profits to shareholders to be distributed out of the Participating Fund is approved by the Board of Directors of each insurance subsidiary under the advice of the Appointed Actuary of the respective insurance subsidiary, in accordance with the insurance regulations and the Articles of Association of the respective subsidiaries.

For the Singapore life insurance business, the profits from the Non-Participating Fund and Investment Linked Fund are presented net of tax as the tax liability is borne by these respective funds. The profits from the Participating Fund in Singapore, and from all the Malaysia life insurance business, are before tax.

Apart from profit from life insurance, Great Eastern Holdings also contributes to other items in our total income, including net interest income and other non-interest income items.

#### Premium Income from General Insurance

Premium income from general insurance is the insurance premiums received from Great Eastern Holdings' general insurance business.

#### Dividends

We derive dividends from our portfolio of FVOCI and fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL") equity securities.

# Net trading income

Our net trading income comprises principally foreign exchange income (which includes gains and losses from spot and forward contracts and translation of foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities), net income from hedging activities (which arise from the use of derivatives to hedge exposures to interest rate and foreign exchange risks, which are inherent in the underlying hedged items), net income from interest rate derivative instruments and other derivatives (which include gains and losses from interest rate, equity options and other derivative instruments) and net income from FVTPL securities.

#### Other Income

The principal components of our other income are disposal of properties, disposal of investment securities and rental income from investment properties that we lease to tenants.

### Operating Expenses

Our operating expenses comprise staff costs and other operating expenses.

### Staff Costs

Staff costs comprise salaries and other costs, share-based expenses, contribution to defined contribution plans and directors' emoluments.

# Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses comprise: (a) depreciation costs, maintenance and hire costs, rental and other expenses relating to our property, plant and equipment, including direct operating expenses on leased investment property; (b) auditors' remuneration and other fees; (c) general insurance claims; and (d) others, which includes printing, stationery, communication, advertisement and promotion expenses and legal and professional fees.

### Allowances for Loans and Other Assets

Allowances for loans and other assets include allowances for impaired and non-impaired loans and for other assets (including property, plant and equipment and government and debt securities).

# Critical Accounting Policies

We have prepared our financial statements contained elsewhere in this Offering Memorandum in accordance with SFRS(I). Note 2 to our audited consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended December 31, 2021 includes a summary of the significant accounting policies and methods we used in preparing these financial statements. The preparation of these statements requires that we make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. We base these estimates on historical experience and on assumptions that we consider reasonable under the circumstances; however, reported results could differ from those based on the current estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

The following accounting policies are those that we believe are or will be the most critical to a full understanding and evaluation of our reported and future financial results because they involve estimates of matters that are inherently uncertain.

# Impairment of Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

We perform an annual review of the carrying value of our goodwill and other intangible assets, against the recoverable amounts of Cash Generating Units ("CGU") to which the goodwill and other intangible assets have been allocated. Recoverable amounts of banking CGUs are determined based on the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the respective CGU's continuing operations. The recoverable amount of insurance CGU is determined using the appraisal value method. Management exercises its judgment in estimating the future cash flows, growth rates and discount rates used in computing the recoverable amounts of the CGUs.

#### Fair Value Estimation

Fair value is derived from quoted market prices or valuation techniques which maximizes the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) are determined by using valuation techniques. Where unobservable data inputs have a significant impact on the value obtained from the valuation model, such a financial instrument is initially recognized at the transaction price, which is the best indicator of fair value. The difference between the transaction price and the model value, commonly referred to as "day one profit or loss" is not recognized immediately in the income statement.

The timing of recognition of deferred day one profit or loss is determined individually. It is amortized over the life of the transaction, released when the instrument's fair value can be determined using market observable inputs, or when the transaction is derecognized.

#### Income Taxes

We are subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining the capital allowances and deductibility of certain expenses in estimating the income tax liabilities. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. We recognize liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax balances in the period in which the determination is made.

# Impairment of Financial Assets

In determining whether the credit risk of the Group's financial exposures has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group considers quantitative and qualitative information such as the Group's historical credit assessment experience and available forward-looking information. Expected Credit Losses ("ECL") estimates are based on probability-weighted forward-looking economic scenarios. The parameters used in ECL measurement (probability of default, loss given default and exposure at default) incorporates forward-looking information. The determination of the forward-looking economic scenarios and incorporation of forward-looking information into ECL measurement requires management to exercise judgment based on its assessment of current macroeconomic conditions.

### Liabilities of Insurance Business

The estimation of the ultimate liabilities arising from claims made under life and non-life insurance contracts is one of the most critical accounting estimates for Great Eastern Holdings. There are several sources of uncertainty that need to be considered in the estimation of the liabilities that will ultimately be required to pay as claims.

For life insurance contracts, estimates are made for future deaths, disabilities, morbidity, lapses, voluntary terminations, investment returns, administration expenses and discount rates. Great Eastern Holdings relies on standard industry and national mortality and morbidity tables which represent historical experience, and makes appropriate adjustments for its respective risk exposures and portfolio experience in deriving the mortality and morbidity estimates. These estimates provide the basis for the valuation of the future benefits to be paid to policyholders, and to ensure adequate provisions which are monitored against current and future premiums. For those contracts that insure risk on longevity and disability, estimates are made based on recent past experience and emerging trends. Epidemics and changing patterns of lifestyle could result in significant changes to the expected future exposures.

Each year, these estimates are assessed for adequacy and changes will be reflected as adjustments to the insurance contract liabilities.

For non-life insurance contracts, estimates have to be made for both the expected ultimate cost of claims reported at the balance sheet date and for the expected ultimate cost of claims incurred but not yet reported at the balance sheet date.

For further information on the significant accounting policies with respect to Great Eastern Holdings, see Note 2 of the notes to our audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial year ended December 31, 2021.

#### Insurance Contract Classification

Contracts are classified as insurance contracts where significant insurance risk is transferred from the policyholder to Great Eastern Holdings. Great Eastern Holdings exercises judgment about the level of insurance risk transferred. The level of insurance risk is assessed by considering whether upon the occurrence of the insured event, Great Eastern Holdings is required to pay significant additional benefits. These additional benefits include claims liability and assessment costs, but exclude the loss of the ability to charge the policyholder for future services. The assessment covers the whole of the expected term of the contract where such additional benefits could be payable. Some contracts contain options for the policyholder to purchase insurance risk protection at a later date; these insurance risks are deemed not significant.

# **Recent Accounting Pronouncements**

For the year ended December 31, 2021, we adopted various new or revised financial reporting standards (including their consequential amendments) and interpretations that became effective from January 1, 2021. The initial application of these standards and interpretations does not have any material impact on our consolidated financial statements, except for the amendments to SFRS(I) 9, SFRS (I) 1-39, SFRS(I) 7, SFRS(I) 4 and SFRS(I) 16 (Amendments) Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2. See Note 2.1 of the notes to our audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial year ended December 31, 2021 for a summary of the standards and interpretations that became effective from January 1, 2021.

# **Results of Operations**

The following table provides a breakdown of our income statement for the periods indicated. You should read this table together with our financial statements, including the notes thereto, appearing elsewhere in this Offering Memorandum.

	Year ended December 31,		
	2019	2020	2021
	S\$	S\$	S\$
		(in millions)	
Total interest income	12,098	9,143	7,425
Total interest expense	(5,767)	(3,177)	(1,570)
Net interest income	6,331	5,966	5,855
Non-interest income	4,540	4,173	4,741
Total income	10,871	10,139	10,596
Staff costs	(2,840)	(2,748)	(3,028)
Other operating expenses	(1,804)	(1,691)	(1,736)
Total operating expenses	(4,644)	(4,439)	(4,764)
Operating profit before allowances and			
amortization	6,227	5,700	5,832
Amortization of intangible assets	(103)	(104)	(103)
Allowances for loans and other assets	(890)	(2,043)	(873)
Operating profit after allowances and			
amortization	5,234	3,553	4,856
Share of results of associates, net of tax	566	612	824
Profit before income tax	5,800	4,165	5,680
Income tax expense	(778)	(437)	(648)
Profit for the period	5,022	3,728	5,032
Profit attributable to:			
Equity holders of OCBC Bank	4,869	3,586	4,858
Non-controlling interests	153	142	174
	5,022	3,728	5,032
-			

# Segment Information

# Business Segments

For the purpose of financial reporting of business segment results, our businesses are presented under five main segments representing the key customer and product groups: Global Consumer/ Private Banking, Global Wholesale Banking, Global Treasury and Markets, Insurance and Others.

Global Consumer/Private Banking provides a full range of products and services to individual customers. At Global Consumer Banking, the products and services offered include deposit products (checking accounts, savings and fixed deposits), consumer loans (housing loans and other personal loans), credit cards, wealth management products (unit trusts, bancassurance products and structured deposits) and brokerage services. Private Banking caters to the specialized banking needs of high net worth individuals, offering wealth management expertise, including investment advice and portfolio management services, estate and trust planning, and wealth structuring.

Global Wholesale Banking serves institutional customers ranging from large corporates and the public sector to small and medium enterprises. The business provides a full range of financing solutions including long-term project financing, short-term credit, working capital and trade financing, as well as customized and structured equity-linked financing. It also provides customers with a broad range of products and services such as cash management and custodian services, capital market solutions, corporate finance services and advisory banking, and treasury products.

Global Treasury and Markets is responsible for the management of the Group's asset and liability interest rate positions, engages in foreign exchange activities, money market operations, fixed income and derivatives trading, and offers structured treasury products and financial solutions to meet customers' investment and hedging needs. Income from treasury products and services offered to customers of other business segments, such as Global Consumer/Private Banking and Global Wholesale Banking, is reflected in the respective business segments.

The Group's insurance business, including its fund management activities, is undertaken by 87.9%-owned subsidiary GEH and its subsidiaries, which provide both life and general insurance products to its customers mainly in Singapore and Malaysia.

Others comprise mainly property holding, investment holding and items not attributable to the business segments described above.

Where there are material changes in the organizational structure and management reporting methodologies, segment information for prior periods is restated to allow comparability where possible.

The following tables show the breakdown of total income and operating profit after allowances and amortization<sup>(1)</sup> by business segment.

	Year ended December 31,			
	2019	2020	2021	
	S\$	S\$	S\$	
	(in million	s, except for pe	rcentages)	
Total Income				
Global Consumer/Private Banking	3,994	3,749	3,685	
Global Wholesale Banking	3,959	3,502	3,684	
Global Treasury and Markets	980	1,215	1,210	
Insurance	1,470	1,275	1,594	
Others	468	398	423	
Total	10,871	10,139	10,596	
	Year ended December 31,			
	2019	2020	2021	
	S\$	S\$	S\$	
	(in million	s, except for pe	rcentages)	
Operating Profit after Allowances and Amortization				
Global Consumer/Private Banking	1,540	1,205	1,121	
Global Wholesale Banking	1,796	642	1,706	
Global Treasury and Markets	684	904	873	
Insurance	1,068	919	1,224	
Others	146	(117)	(68)	
Total	5,234	3,553	(4,856)	

### Note:

For further details of our business segments, see Note 38.1 of the notes to our audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2019 and Note 37.1 of the notes to our audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2021 respectively.

<sup>(1)</sup> With effect from January 1, 2021, the basis for determining the breakdown of total income and operating profit after allowances and amortization by business segments was updated to reflect how the business segments' profitability are being analyzed. Accordingly, the comparative figures for total income and operating profit after allowances and amortization for the immediate preceding period (i.e. the year ended December 31, 2020) were restated to facilitate comparison with the year ended December 31, 2021.

In addition to the above classifications, we also regard our wealth management related businesses as an important part of our business. Our wealth management income, comprising consolidated income from our insurance, premier and private banking, asset management, and stockbroking, decreased from S\$3.76 billion in 2019 to S\$3.54 billion in 2020 and increased to S\$3.92 billion in 2021. In the table on total income by business segments, the wealth management income is spread across the different segments.

### Geographic Segments

We also classify our business activities by geographical segments. The following tables show the breakdown of total income and profit before income tax by geographic segment.

	Year ended December 31,		
	2019	2020	2021
	S\$	S\$	S\$
	(in million	s, except for pe	rcentages)
Total Income			
Singapore	6,552	5,459	5,955
Malaysia	1,469	1,616	1,619
Indonesia	849	913	940
Greater China	1,494	1,603	1,453
Other Asia Pacific	224	242	262
Rest of the World	283	306	367
Total	10,871	10,139	10,596
	Year	ended Decemb	er 31,
	2019	2020	2021
	S\$	S\$	S\$
	(in million	s, except for pe	rcentages)
Profit Before Income Tax			
Singapore	3,221	1,505	3,039
Malaysia	830	850	860
Indonesia	274	225	325
Greater China	1,154	1,285	1,243
OII A : D :			
Other Asia Pacific	156	123	102
Rest of the World	156 165	123 177	102 111

See Note 38.2 of the notes to our audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019, and Note 37.2 of the notes to our audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2021 for further details of our geographical segments.

# Net Interest Income and Net Interest Margin

The following table sets forth the principal components, analyzed by major source, of interest income and interest expense for the periods indicated. For the purposes of the following table, period averages are calculated based on the average of month-end values.

	Year ended December 31,		
	2019	2020	2021
	S\$	S\$	S\$
	(in millions	s, except for per	centages)
Interest Income:			
Loans to customers	9,086	6,992	5,786
Placements with and loans to banks	1,503	839	448
Other interest earning assets	1,509	1,312	1,191
Total interest income	12,098	9,143	7,425
Interest expense:			
Deposits of non-bank customers	(4,807)	(2,699)	(1,300)
Deposits and balances of banks	(192)	(92)	(68)
Other borrowings	(768)	(386)	(202)
Total interest expenses	(5,767)	(3,177)	(1,570)
Net interest income	6,331	5,966	5,855
Average interest yield <sup>(1)</sup>	3.39%	2.47%	1.96%
Average interest cost <sup>(2)</sup>	1.73%	0.92%	0.44%
Net interest margin <sup>(3)</sup>	1.77%	1.61%	1.54%
Net interest spread <sup>(4)</sup>	1.66%	1.55%	1.52%
Average interest earning assets	357,359	369,488	379,689
Average interest bearing liabilities	333,714	346,391	355,232

# Notes:

For the purposes of this sub-section entitled "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Net Interest Income and Net Interest Margin", period averages are calculated based on the average of month-end values.

Net Interest Income and Net Interest Margin

2021 compared to 2020. Our net interest income decreased 1.9% to \$\$5,855 million in 2021 from \$\$5,966 million in 2020, mainly driven by a fall in NIM, despite an increase in average asset balances. NIM contracted 7 basis points to 1.54% from 1.61% in 2020. Average interest earning assets increased 2.8% to \$\$379,689 million in 2021 from \$\$369,488 million in 2020.

<sup>(1)</sup> Total interest income divided by average interest earning assets.

<sup>(2)</sup> Total interest expense divided by average interest bearing liabilities.

<sup>(3)</sup> Net interest income as a percentage of average interest earning assets.

<sup>(4)</sup> Difference between average interest yield on interest earning assets and average interest cost on interest bearing liabilities.

2020 compared to 2019. Our net interest income decreased 5.8% to \$\$5,966 million in 2020 from \$\$6,331 million in 2019, as average assets growth was offset by a 16 basis points decline in NIM to 1.61% from 1.77% in 2019. The contraction in NIM was mainly attributable to a significantly lower interest rate environment and a decline in loans-to-deposits ratio from strong deposits growth. Average interest earning assets increased 3.4% to \$\$369,488 million in 2020 from \$\$357,359 million in 2019.

# Volume and Rate Analysis

The following table allocates changes in interest income and interest expense between changes in volume and changes in rate for the periods shown. Changes in volume are calculated based on the change in the average balance (in both periods) multiplied by the average rate of the first period. Changes in rate are calculated based on the change in the rate yield (in both periods) multiplied by the average balance of the first period. Volume/rate variance is prorated according to changes in volume and rate.

	Year ended December 31,					
	20	2020 over 2019			21 over 20	20
		ase/(decre to change	•	Increase/(decrease) due to changes in		
	Volume	Rate	Net change	Volume	Rate	Net change
			S\$ (in i	millions)		
Interest income:						
Loans to customers	275	(2,393)	(2,118)	215	(1,402)	(1,187)
Placements with and loans to banks	(5)	(664)	(669)	(52)	(337)	(389)
Other interest earnings assets	129	(329)	(200)	113	(230)	(117)
Total	399	(3,386)	(2,987)	276	(1,969)	(1,693)
Interest expense:						
Deposits of non-bank customers	217	(2,337)	(2,120)	118	(1,509)	(1,391)
Deposits and balances of banks	18	(118)	(100)	(12)	(12)	(24)
Other borrowings	(47)	(338)	(385)	(49)	(134)	(183)
Total	188	(2,793)	(2,605)	57	(1,655)	(1,598)
Impact on net interest income	211	(593)	(382)	219	(314)	(95)
Due to change in number of days			17			(16)
Net interest income			(365)			(111)

# Non-Interest Income

The following table sets forth the principal components of non-interest income for the periods indicated.

	Year ended December 31,		
	2019	2020	2021
	S\$	S\$	S\$
	(in millions	s, except for pe	rcentages)
Non-Interest Income:			
Fees and commissions (net)	2,123	2,003	2,245
Profit from life insurance	779	698	1,137
Premium income from general insurance	197	201	197
Dividends	92	78	113
Net trading income <sup>(1)</sup>	977	863	763
Other income <sup>(1)</sup>	372	330	286
Total non-interest income	4,540	4,173	4,741
Non-interest income/Total income	41.8%	41.2%	44.7%

#### Note:

2021 compared to 2020. Our total non-interest income increased 13.6% to S\$4,741 million in 2021 from S\$4,173 million in 2020 driven by increases in net fee income and profit from life insurance.

2020 compared to 2019. Our total non-interest income decreased 8.1% to S\$4,173 million in 2020 from S\$4,540 million in 2019, mainly due to lower net fee income, net trading income and profit from life insurance.

<sup>(1) &</sup>quot;Rental income" was disclosed as a separate line item and "Net trading income" was subsumed and disclosed as part of "Other income" in the financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2019.

# Fees and Commissions (Net)

The following table sets forth our fees and commissions net of expenses, broken down by major sources, for the periods indicated.

	Year ended December 31,		
	2019	2020	2021
	S\$	S\$	S\$
	(in millions	s, except for pe	rcentages)
Brokerage	82	140	141
Credit card	348	274	287
Fund management	115	122	133
Guarantees	16	14	14
Investment banking	106	87	106
Loan-related	307	165	179
Service charges	99	84	79
Trade-related and remittances	254	252	286
Wealth management	1,036	1,130	1,310
Others	44	45	46
	2,407	2,313	2,581
Fee and commission expense	(284)	(310)	(336)
Total fees commissions (net)	2,123	2,003	2,245
Fees and commissions/Total income	19.5%	19.8%	21.2%

2021 compared to 2020. Our total net fees and commissions increased 12.1% to \$\$2,245 million in 2021 from \$\$2,003 million in 2020, mainly driven by an increase in wealth management fee income. Wealth management fee income increased 15.9% to \$\$1,310 million in 2021 from \$\$1,130 million in 2020.

2020 compared to 2019. Our total net fees and commissions decreased 5.6% to \$\$2,003 million in 2020 from \$\$2,123 million in 2019, as an increase in wealth management fees from strong customer investment activities was offset by lower loan-related and credit card fee income. Wealth management fee income increased 9.1% to \$\$1,130 million in 2020 from \$\$1,036 million in 2019.

# Profit from Life and General Insurance

The following table sets forth our income, expenses and profit from life and general insurance for the periods indicated. Profit is stated on a net of tax basis for the Singapore Non-Participating Fund and Investment Linked Fund.

	Year ended December 31,		
	2019	2020	2021
	S\$	S\$	S\$
		(in million)	
Income:			
Annual	7,372	7,780	8,209
Single	4,041	7,371	10,380
Gross premiums	11,413	15,151	18,589
Reinsurances	(448)	(559)	(602)
Premium income (net)	10,965	14,592	17,987
Investment income (net)	6,911	6,298	1,519
Total income	17,876	20,890	19,506
Expenses:			
Gross claims, surrenders and annuities	(6,636)	(10,170)	(11,215)
Claims, surrenders and annuities recovered from	000	500	440
reinsurers	232	596	443
Net claims, surrenders and annuities	(6,404)	(9,574)	(10,772)
Net change in life insurance contract liabilities	(8,557)	(9,009)	(4,196)
Commission and agency expenses	(1,062)	(1,209)	(1,401)
Depreciation – property, plant and equipment	(65)	(70)	(71)
Other expenses	(934)	(341)	(1,845)
Total expenses	(17,022)	(20,203)	(18,285)
Surplus from operations	854	687	1,221
Share of results of associates	(#)	#	_
Income tax (expense)/credit	(75)	11	(84)
Profit from life insurance	779	698	1,137
Premium income from general insurance	197	201	197
Profit from life and general insurance	976	899	1,334
		<del></del>	

### Note:

<sup>#</sup> represents amounts less than \$0.5 million.

2021 compared to 2020. Our profit from life and general insurance increased 48.4% to S\$1,334 million in 2021 from S\$899 million in 2020, principally as a result of growth in gross premiums and smaller increase in insurance contract liabilities from Great Eastern Holdings' insurance business.

2020 compared to 2019. Our profit from life and general insurance decreased 7.9% to \$\$899 million in 2020 from \$\$976 million in 2019, mainly as a result of higher insurance contract liabilities resulting from a lower discount rate used to value these liabilities, in line with the fall in market interest rates.

#### Dividends

2021 compared to 2020. Our dividends increased by 44.3% to S\$113 million in 2021 from S\$78 million in 2020.

2020 compared to 2019. Our dividends decreased by 15.1% to S\$78 million in 2020 from S\$92 million in 2019.

# Net Trading Income

The following table sets forth our net trading income for the periods indicated.

	Year ended December 31,		
	2019	2020	2021
	S\$	S\$	S\$
		(in millions)	
Foreign exchange <sup>(1)</sup>	463	585	389
Hedging activities <sup>(2)</sup>			
Hedging instruments	(92)	133	(145)
Hedged items	95	(133)	145
Net gain/(loss) from fair value hedge ineffectiveness	3	#	(#)
Net (loss)/gain from interest rate and other derivative financial instruments <sup>(3)</sup>	(83)	(41)	341
Net gain from non-derivative financial instruments <sup>(4)</sup>	592	318	45
Others	2	1	(12)
Net trading income	977	863	763

### Notes:

- (1) "Foreign exchange" include gains and losses from spot and forward contracts and translation of foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities.
- (2) "Hedging activities" arise from the use of derivatives to hedge exposures to interest rate and foreign exchange risks, which are inherent in the underlying "Hedged items".
- (3) "Interest rate and other derivatives" include gains and losses from interest rate derivative instruments, equity options and other derivative instruments.
- (4) "Non-derivative financial instruments" include trading gains and losses from fair value financial instruments which are either designated at initial recognition or mandatorily measured at FVTPL.
- # represents amounts less than \$0.5 million.

2021 compared to 2020. Our net trading income decreased by 11.6% to S\$763 million in 2021 from S\$863 million in 2020 mainly attributable to a decline in non-customer flow income.

2020 compared to 2019. Our net trading income decreased by 11.7% to S\$863 million in 2020 from S\$977 million in 2019, as higher customer flow income was more than offset by lower mark-to market gains in GEH's investment portfolio.

### Other Income

The following table sets forth our other income for the periods indicated.

	Year ended December 31,		
	2019	9 2020	2021
	S\$	S\$	S\$
		(in millions)	
Disposal of investment securities	171	208	92
Disposal of subsidiaries	1	9	_
Disposal of plant and equipment	(1)	(1)	(1)
Disposal of properties	83	45	108
Rental and property-related income	91	63	66
Others	27	6	21
Total	372	330	286

2021 compared to 2020. Our total other income decreased 13.4% to S\$286 million in 2021 from S\$330 million in 2020, principally as a result of lower net gains from the sale of investment securities of S\$92 million in 2021, down from S\$208 million in 2020. These were partly offset by higher net gains from the sale of properties of S\$108 million, up from S\$45 million in 2020.

2020 compared to 2019. Our total other income decreased 11.4% to S\$330 million in 2020 from S\$372 million in 2019, mainly as a result of lower rental and property-related income and lower gains from disposal of properties. These were partly offset by higher net gains from the sale of investment securities of S\$208 million, up from S\$171 million in 2019.

# Operating Expenses

The following table shows a breakdown of our operating expenses for the periods indicated.

	Year ended December 31,		
	2019	2019 2020	
	S\$	S\$	S\$
		(in millions)	
Staff costs:			
Salaries and other costs	2,553	2,457	2,723
Share-based expenses	69	75	72
Contribution to defined contribution plans	202	199	223
Directors' emoluments	16	17	10
Total staff costs	2,840	2,748	3,028
Other operating expenses:			
Property and equipment	858	862	868
Auditors' remuneration	9	9	10
Other fees	2	3	3
General insurance claims	107	101	98
Others	828	716	757
Total other operating expenses	1,804	1,691	1,736
Total operating expenses	4,644	4,439	4,764

2021 compared to 2020. Our total operating expenses increased 7.3% to S\$4,764 million in 2021 from S\$4,439 million in 2020. Staff costs rose 10.2% to S\$3,028 million in 2021 from S\$2,748 million in 2020, principally attributable to headcount growth from continued investment in the areas of digitalization and wealth management to support strategic priorities and lesser government job support grants in 2021 compared to 2020. The average number of staff increased from 30,529 in 2020 to 30,610 in 2021.

2020 compared to 2019. Our total operating expenses decreased 4.4% to S\$4,439 million in 2020 from S\$4,644 million in 2019, mainly as a result of lower staff costs and a decrease in discretionary expenses including business promotion costs and travelling expenditure. Staff costs decreased 3.2% to S\$2,748 million in 2020 from S\$2,840 million in 2019. The average number of staff increased from 30,274 in 2019 to 30,529 in 2020.

#### Allowances for Loans and Other Assets

The following table shows a breakdown of our allowances for loans and other assets for the periods indicated.

	Year ended December 31,		
	2019	2020	2021
	S\$	S\$	S\$
		(in millions)	
Allowances for impaired loans	856	1,149	852
Allowances for impaired other assets	2	30	3
Allowances for non-impaired loans	39	860	15
(Write-back)/allowances for non-impaired other assets	(7)	4	3
Net allowances for loans and other assets	890	2,043	873

2021 compared to 2020. Our net allowances for loans and other assets decreased 57.3% to S\$873 million in 2021 from S\$2,043 million in 2020. The year-on-year decrease was largely attributable to lower allowances for both impaired and non-impaired loans, where the Group set aside additional allowances for non-impaired assets to cushion against the uncertain operating outlook in 2020.

2020 compared to 2019. Our net allowances for loans and other assets increased 129.5% to S\$2,043 million in 2020 from S\$890 million in 2019, principally as a result of allowances made for loans to a Singapore oil trader and the write-down of the remaining OSV non-performing loans. The year-on-year increase in allowances for non-impaired assets was mainly due to management overlay above the model requirements on a forward-looking basis and macro-economic variable adjustments.

### Profit Before Income Tax

2021 compared to 2020. Our profit before income tax increased by 36.4% to S\$5,680 million in 2021 from S\$4,165 million in 2020.

2020 compared to 2019. Our profit before income tax decreased by 28.2% to S\$4,165 million in 2020 from S\$5,800 million in 2019.

### Income Tax Expense

2021 compared to 2020. Our income tax expense increased by 48.3% to S\$648 million in 2021 from S\$437 million in 2020.

2020 compared to 2019. Our income tax expense decreased by 43.8% to S\$437 million in 2020 from S\$778 million in 2019. This was largely driven by a one-off positive tax impact recognized by Great Eastern Holdings following finalization of prior years' tax assessment.

#### Profit for the Year

2021 compared to 2020. Our profit for the year increased by 35.0% to S\$5,032 million in 2021 from S\$3,728 million in 2020, driven by strong growth in non-interest income and lower allowances, which offset a decline in net interest income amid a low interest rate environment.

2020 compared to 2019. Our profit for the year decreased by 25.8% to \$\$3,728 million in 2020 from \$\$5,022 million in 2019, primarily due to the decline in net interest margin as a result of the sharp drop in market interest rates and higher expected credit loss allowances to buffer against the deterioration in macroeconomic conditions.

### **Financial Condition**

#### Total Assets

December 31, 2021 compared to December 31, 2020. Our total assets increased by 4.0% to \$\$542,187 million as of December 31, 2021 as compared to \$\$521,395 million as of December 31, 2020, primarily due to increase in other government treasury bills and securities and loans to customers, partly offset by decline in placements with and loans to banks.

December 31, 2020 compared to December 31, 2019. Our total assets increased by 6.0% to \$\$521,395 million as of December 31, 2020 as compared to \$\$491,691 million as of December 31, 2019, primarily due to increase in cash and placements with central banks, debt and equity securities, other government treasury bills and securities, derivative receivables and life insurance fund investment securities and other assets.

#### Loans to customers

December 31, 2021 compared to December 31, 2020. Our net loans to customers increased by 8.6% to \$\$286,281 million as of December 31, 2021 as compared to \$\$263,538 million as of December 31, 2020. The increase in year-on-year loans was primarily due to higher loans to the building and construction, financial institutions, investment and holding companies, and professional and individuals sectors.

December 31, 2020 compared to December 31, 2019. Our net loans to customers increased by 0.5% to \$\$263,538 million as of December 31, 2020 as compared to \$\$262,348 million as of December 31, 2019. The year-on-year loan growth was led by higher loans to the building and construction, and transport, storage and communication sectors.

### Placements with and Loans to Banks

As of December 31, 2021, we had placements with and loans to banks of S\$25,462 million, 22.4% lower as compared to S\$32,816 million as of December 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2020, we had placements with and loans to banks of S\$32,816 million, an 8.5% decrease from S\$35,864 million as of December 31, 2019. Movements in our interbank balances largely reflect the net result of our asset-liability management strategy, the deployment of excess funds as well as our interbank money market activities to capitalize on the interest rate yield curve.

# Other Income Earning Assets

Other income earning assets include principally debt and equity securities, cash and placements with central banks, Singapore Government treasury bills and securities and other government treasury bills and securities.

As of December 31, 2021, we had debt and equity securities of S\$34,015 million, a 2.6% increase from S\$33,143 million as of December 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2020, we had debt and equity securities of S\$33,143 million, a 13.3% increase from S\$29,253 million as of December 31, 2019. See Note 29 of our notes to our audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial year ended December 31, 2021 for further information on our debt and equity securities.

As of December 31, 2021, we had cash and placements with central banks of S\$27,919 million, a 5.3% increase from S\$26,525 million as of December 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2020, we had cash and placements with central banks of S\$26,525 million, a 14.3% increase from S\$23,201 million as of December 31, 2019.

As of December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, we had holdings in Singapore Government treasury bills and securities of S\$11,112 million, S\$10,628 million and S\$11,042 million, respectively.

### **Total Liabilities**

December 31, 2021 compared to December 31, 2020. Our total liabilities increased by 3.7% to S\$487,849 million as of December 31, 2021 as compared to S\$470,219 million as of December 31, 2020, primarily due to increase in deposits of non-bank customers, partly offset by a decline in derivative payables and debt issued.

December 31, 2020 compared to December 31, 2019. Our total liabilities increased by 6.1% to S\$470,219 million as of December 31, 2020 as compared to S\$443,088 million as of December 31, 2019, primarily due to increase in deposits of non-bank customers, deposits and balances of banks, derivative payables, and life insurance fund liabilities, partly offset by lower debt issued.

# Deposits of Non-Bank Customers

December 31, 2021 compared to December 31, 2020. Our deposits of non-bank customers increased by 8.7% to S\$342,395 million as of December 31, 2021 as compared to S\$314,907 million as of December 31, 2020, primarily due to a 14.1% increase in current account and savings deposit ("CASA"), and the ratio of CASA to total non-bank deposits was higher at 63.3% compared to 60.3% as of December 31, 2020.

December 31, 2020 compared to December 31, 2019. Our deposits of non-bank customers increased by 4.0% to S\$314,907 million as of December 31, 2020 as compared to S\$302,851 million as of December 31, 2019, primarily due to a 29.6% increase in CASA, and the ratio of CASA total non-bank deposits was higher at 60.3% as compared to 48.4% as of December 31, 2019.

### Deposits and Balances of Banks

As of December 31, 2021, we had deposits and balances of banks of S\$8,239 million, a 14.1% decrease from S\$9,586 million as of December 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2020, we had deposits and balances of banks of S\$9,586 million, a 16.2% increase from S\$8,250 million as of December 31, 2019. Movements in our interbank balances largely reflect the net result of our asset-liability management strategy, as well as our interbank money market activities to capitalize on the interest rate yield curve.

### Debt Issued

We actively manage our liquidity and funding positions to diversify our funding sources, including debt issuances. Debt issued included various series of subordinated notes, fixed and floating rate notes, covered bonds, commercial paper and structured notes. See Note 21 of the notes to our audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial year ended December 31, 2021 for further details of the debts that we have issued.

December 31, 2021 compared to December 31, 2020. Our debt issued decreased by 17.4% to S\$20,115 million as of December 31, 2021 as compared to S\$24,355 million as of December 31, 2020, primarily due to a decrease in commercial papers issued.

December 31, 2020 compared to December 31, 2019. Our debt issued decreased by 17.1% to S\$24,355 million as of December 31, 2020 as compared to S\$29,388 million as of December 31, 2019, primarily due to a decrease in commercial papers issued.

In August 2004, we established a Euro Commercial Paper Program, which was upsized from U.S.\$5.0 billion to U.S.\$10.0 billion in August 2012. In April 2016, we established a U.S.\$15.0 billion U.S. Commercial Paper Program, which was upsized to U.S.\$25.0 billion in September 2020. In November 2016, we established a U.S.\$10.0 billion Global Covered Bond Program. As of December 31, 2021, we had an aggregate of S\$8,668 million and S\$3,521 million of commercial papers and covered bonds outstanding, respectively.

#### Off-Balance Sheet Items

### Contingent Liabilities

Our contingent liabilities consist of acceptances, guarantees, documentary credits and other similar transactions. Acceptances are undertakings by us to pay on receipt of bills of exchange drawn. We issue guarantees on the performance of customers to third parties. Documentary credits commit us to make payments to third parties on presentation of stipulated documents. As we will only be required to meet these obligations in the event of customer's default, the cash requirements of these instruments are expected to be considerably below their nominal contractual amounts. See Note 43 of the notes to our audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial year ended December 31, 2021 for further details of our contingent liabilities.

December 31, 2021 compared to December 31, 2020. Our contingent liabilities increased by 25.3% to S\$16,651 million as of December 31, 2021 as compared to S\$13,292 million as of December 31, 2020.

December 31, 2020 compared to December 31, 2019. Our contingent liabilities decreased by 4.7% to S\$13,292 million as of December 31, 2020 as compared to S\$13,944 million as of December 31, 2019.

#### Commitments

Commitments comprise mainly agreements to provide credit facilities to customers. Such commitments can either be made for a fixed period or have no specific maturity but are cancellable by us subject to notice requirements. See Note 44 of the notes to our audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial year ended December 31, 2021 for further details of our commitments.

December 31, 2021 compared to December 31, 2020. Our commitments increased by 4.6% to S\$171,641 million as of December 31, 2021 as compared to S\$164,031 million as of December 31, 2020.

December 31, 2020 compared to December 31, 2019. Our commitments increased by 5.0% to S\$164,031 million as of December 31, 2020 as compared to S\$156,293 million as of December 31, 2019.

#### Derivative Financial Instruments

We hold derivative financial instruments for both trading and hedging purposes. The contractual or underlying principal amounts of our derivative financial instruments and their corresponding gross positive (derivative receivables) and negative (derivative payables) fair values are provided in Note 18 to our audited consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended December 31, 2021.

December 31, 2021 compared to December 31, 2020. Our derivative financial instruments with contractual or underlying principal amounts increased by 4.8% to S\$1,044,314 million as of December 31, 2021 as compared to S\$996,152 million as of December 31, 2020.

December 31, 2020 compared to December 31, 2019. Our derivative financial instruments with contractual or underlying principal amounts increased by 1.2% to S\$996,152 million as of December 31, 2020 as compared to S\$984,036 million as of December 31, 2019.

### **Capital Management**

### Capital Policy

The key objective of our capital management policy is to maintain a strong capital position to support business growth and strategic investments, and to sustain investor, depositor, customer and market confidence. In line with this, we target a minimum credit rating of "A" and ensure that our capital adequacy ratios are comfortably above the regulatory minima, while balancing shareholders' desire for sustainable returns and high standards of prudence. We actively manage our capital composition with an optimal mix of capital instruments in order to keep our overall cost of capital low.

#### **Dividends**

Our dividend policy aims to provide shareholders with a sustainable and progressive dividend that is consistent with our long-term growth. The dividends are payable on a half-yearly basis. Given uncertain outlook surrounding the duration and severity of the COVID-19 outbreak, MAS has issued a guidance on July 29, 2020 for local banks to cap their dividend per share ("**DPS**") for financial year 2020 at 60% of financial year 2019's DPS and apply the scrip dividend scheme for dividends to be paid for financial year 2020. This is to bolster all local banks' resilience and capacity to support lending to businesses and individuals, as well as absorb economic shocks should a more adverse scenario materialize. On July 28, 2021, MAS lifted its dividend guidance.

### Share Buyback

Shares purchased under the share buyback program are held as treasury shares. These are recorded as a deduction against share capital, and may be subsequently canceled, sold or used to meet delivery obligations under employee share schemes. Following MAS' guidance on April 13, 2020, we suspended the share buyback. Following MAS lifting its restrictions on March 17, 2021, we have resumed share buyback.

# Capital Adequacy

We are required by the MAS to maintain minimum CET1 CAR, Tier 1 CAR and Total CAR of 6.5%, 8.0% and 10.0%, respectively, a capital conservation buffer of 2.5% at CET1 level, and a countercyclical buffer comprising CET1 capital of up to 2.5%. The table below shows the composition of our regulatory capital and capital adequacy ratios at the consolidated Group level. The capital adequacy ratios were determined in accordance with the requirements of MAS Notice 637, which is based on the Basel III framework. For further information on the Basel III Capital Standards, see "Supervision and Regulation – Singapore Banking Industry – The Regulatory Environment" and "Risk Factors – Risks Relating to Our Business – We may face pressure on our capital and liquidity positions due to Basel III or other relevant regulatory requirements, which could constrain our operations".

The capital adequacy ratio as of December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021 are computed based on the MAS' fully-phased in Basel III rules.

	Year ended December 31,		
	2019	2020	2021
	S\$	S\$	S\$
	(in millions	s, except for per	rcentages)
Tier 1 Capital:			
Ordinary shares	17,261	17,833	18,040
Disclosed reserves/others	21,452	23,021	25,782
Regulatory adjustments	(6,913)	(7,648)	(8,977)
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital	31,800	33,206	34,845
Additional Tier 1 capital	1,531	1,230	1,231
Regulatory adjustments			
Tier 1 Capital	33,331	34,436	36,076
Tier 2 Capital	2,661	4,530	3,497
Regulatory adjustments			
Total Eligible Capital	35,992	38,966	39,573
Risk Weighted Assets:			
Credit	183,439	191,525	197,164
Market	14,751	10,955	11,681
Operational	15,166	15,665	16,021
Total risk weighted assets	213,356	218,145	224,866
CET1 CAR <sup>(1)</sup>	14.9%	15.2%	15.5%
Tier 1 CAR	15.6%	15.8%	16.0%
Total CAR	16.8%	17.9%	17.6%

Note

<sup>(1)</sup> CET1 CAR is the ratio of Common Equity Tier 1 Capital to total risk weighted assets.

Great Eastern Holdings and its insurance subsidiaries are not consolidated for the computation of the above capital adequacy ratios, in accordance with the MAS Notice 637 definition of insurance subsidiary. Capital investments in these insurance subsidiaries are deducted from our capital, and their assets are excluded from the computation of our risk-weighted assets.

Great Eastern Holdings' insurance subsidiaries are subject to the capital adequacy requirements of the respective jurisdictions in which they operate. Great Eastern Holdings disclosed that the capital adequacy ratios for its insurance subsidiaries in Singapore, Malaysia and Indonesia remained well above the regulatory minimum ratio under the risk based capital frameworks established by the MAS, Bank Negara, Malaysia and Otoritas Jasa Keuangan, Indonesia respectively.

#### **Performance Measures**

The following table sets forth the return on our equity and other performance measures for the periods indicated.

	Year ended December 31,		
	2019	9 2020	2021
	S\$	S\$	S\$
	(in millions, except for percentages)		
Profit attributable to equity holders of OCBC Bank	4,869	3,586	4,858
Adjusted return on ordinary shareholders' equity <sup>(1)(3)</sup>	11.2%	7.6%	9.6%
Adjusted return on assets <sup>(2)(3)</sup>	1.23%	0.85%	1.13%
Earnings per share for the period basic $(S\$)^{(4)}$	1.12	0.80	1.07
Earnings per share for the period diluted $(S\$)^{(4)}$	1.12	0.80	1.07
Aggregate declared dividends on ordinary shares <sup>(5)</sup>	2,312	1,412	2,385
Declared dividends per ordinary share (Singapore cents) <sup>(5)</sup>	53.0	31.8	53.0
Net interest margin	1.77%	1.61%	1.54%

# Notes:

<sup>(1)</sup> Calculated by dividing profit attributable to equity holders of OCBC Bank net of distributions on other equity instruments (2019: S\$59 million, 2020: S\$53 million, 2021: S\$46 million) over adjusted average ordinary shareholders' equity.

<sup>(2)</sup> Calculated by dividing profit attributable to equity holders of OCBC Bank over adjusted average total assets.

<sup>(3)</sup> Presented as a non-GAAP measure.

<sup>(4)</sup> Calculated by dividing profit attributable to equity holders of OCBC Bank net of distributions on other equity instruments (2019: S\$59 million, 2020: S\$53 million, 2021: S\$46 million) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for the financial year.

<sup>(5)</sup> Dividends as declared by OCBC Bank. Dividends are aggregate amounts in respect of each financial year, which include interim dividends and final dividends for such year.

### **MANAGEMENT**

OCBC Bank is governed and supervised by its Board of Directors which, as of March 28, 2022, consists of 12 members. The full Board meets at least four times a year, but may meet more often depending on the circumstances. In addition, there are six Board Committees – the Executive, Nominating, Audit, Remuneration, Risk Management and Ethics and Conduct Committees. Our Constitution provides for the retirement of Directors by rotation and all appointments and re-appointments of Directors are required to be approved by the MAS.

#### **Board of Directors**

The following table sets forth the members of the Board of Directors of OCBC Bank as of the date of this Offering Memorandum:

Name	Position
Mr. Ooi Sang Kuang	Director
Ms. Chong Chuan Neo	Director
Mr. Chua Kim Chiu	Director
Dr. Andrew Khoo Cheng Hoe	Director
Mr. Koh Beng Seng	Director
Mr. Andrew Lee Kok Keng	Director
Dr. Lee Tih Shih	Director
Ms. Christina Ong	Director
Mr. Pramukti Surjaudaja	Director
Mr. Tan Ngiap Joo	Director
Ms. Tan Yen Yen	Director
Mr. Wee Joo Yeow	Director

Mr. Ooi Sang Kuang was first appointed to the Board on February 21, 2012 and last re-elected as a Director on May 18, 2020. He assumed the role of Board Chairman on September 1, 2014. He was Special Advisor in Bank Negara Malaysia until he retired on December 31, 2011. Prior to this, he was Deputy Governor and Member of the Board of Directors of Bank Negara Malaysia, from 2002 to 2010. Mr. Ooi is the Board Director of OCBC Wing Hang Bank Ltd, OCBC Management Services Pte Ltd and Target Value Fund, and a Member of Wawasan Education Foundation. Mr. Ooi holds a Bachelor of Economics with Honours from the University of Malaya and a Master of Arts (Development Finance) from Boston University, USA, is a Fellow Member of the Asian Institute of Chartered Bankers and Fellow of the Singapore Institute of Directors.

Ms. Chong Chuan Neo was appointed to the Board on February 18, 2022. She spent almost 30 years at Accenture where she held senior and practice leadership roles covering various industries and countries in Asia and was responsible for Accenture's Greater China business from 2015 to 2018. She was Chairman and Country Managing Director of Accenture Greater China and a Global Leadership Council member of Accenture when she retired in December 2018 to pursue her interests in technology start-ups and private equity. Ms. Chong is a Board Director of Aimazing Pte Ltd, Boost Holdings Sdn Bhd, Graduate Investment Pte Ltd, iShine Cloud Ltd, Lion Global Investors Ltd, MODA Solutions (BCR Shanghai), Raffles Medical Group Ltd and vKirirom Pte Ltd. She is also an Adviser of Digital Task Force of the National Volunteer and Philanthropy Center, a Member of the Executive Council of NUS Innovation & Enterprise, Operating Director of Partners Group and a Director of NUS GRIP. Ms. Chong holds a Bachelor of Science (Computer Science and Mathematics) from National University of Singapore and has participated in the Management and Executive Programs in Business and Leadership at IMD Lausanne, Switzerland.

Mr. Chua Kim Chiu was first appointed to the Board on September 20, 2017 and last re-elected as a Director on April 29, 2021. He is currently a Professor (Practice) in Accounting, National University of Singapore Business School. He had a long and distinguished career at PricewaterhouseCoopers ("PwC") Singapore where he served as a partner from 1990, headed the banking and capital markets group as well as the China desk, and was appointed a member of the firm's leadership team in 2005. He retired in 2012, but was retained as senior advisor for PwC Hong Kong until June 2016 when he left to join the National University of Singapore. He is a member of the Audit and Risk Committee of National University Health System Pte Ltd, ACRA Financial Reporting Technical Advisory Panel and the Singapore Intellectual Property Strategy 2030 Task Force of Institute of Valuers and Appraisers, Singapore. He also serves as a Board Director of Greenland (Singapore) Trust Management Pte Ltd and Mapletree North Asia Commercial Trust Management Ltd. Mr. Chua holds a Bachelor of Commerce and Administration with Honours from Victoria University of Wellington, New Zealand, and a Bachelor of Commerce from Nanyang Technological University (formerly Nanyang University), Singapore. He is also a Fellow Chartered Accountant of Singapore, Fellow of Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand, and Fellow Chartered Certified Accountant, United Kingdom.

**Dr. Andrew Khoo Cheng Hoe** was appointed to the Board on March 8, 2021 and elected as a Director on April 29, 2021. He is currently a Board and Audit Committee member of the National Environment Agency of Singapore, a Director of Stroke Support Station and also serves on the board of OCBC Wing Hang Bank Ltd. Prior to this, he had spent 22 years in Monetary Authority of Singapore (MAS) holding several key positions, including oversight responsibilities for prudential policy, capital markets supervision, investment of official foreign reserves, domestic money market management, corporate functions, MAS Academy, as well as a 3-year stint in the Bank for International Settlements. He was Deputy Managing Director (Corporate Development) when he retired from MAS in 2019. He had also served as a board and council member of civic establishments in industry. Dr. Khoo graduated with Bachelor of Economics (Honours) from Monash University. He also holds a Doctor of Philosophy from University of Melbourne, and is a Member of CPA Australia.

Mr. Koh Beng Seng was appointed to the Board on October 1, 2019 and elected as a Director on May 18, 2020. He has extensive experience in the financial services sector and is presently the Chief Executive Officer of Octagon Advisors Pte Ltd and serves as Board Chairman of Great Eastern Holdings Ltd and its principal insurance subsidiaries Great Eastern General Insurance Ltd and The Great Eastern Life Assurance Company Ltd. He served 24 years with the Monetary Authority of Singapore (MAS) where his last appointment was Deputy Managing Director, Banking and Financial Institution Group. After leaving MAS in 1998, he held key positions in many notable organizations. He is also a Board Director of Bank of China (Hong Kong) Ltd and BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Ltd, and a Member of the Expert Committee of China Banking Association in China, Lien Ying Chow Legacy Fellowship Council and International Advisory Board of Lingnan (University) College, Sun Yat-sen University in China. Mr. Koh holds a Bachelor of Commerce with First Class Honours from Nanyang Technological University (formerly Nanyang University), Singapore and a Master of Business Administration from Columbia University, USA.

Mr. Andrew Lee Kok Keng was appointed to the Board on February 18, 2022. He had more than 30 years of banking experience in Standard Chartered Bank and OCBC Bank where he held several senior level executive positions largely in consumer banking with responsibilities for strategy, execution and performance. He joined OCBC Bank in 1999, served in various senior capacities, and was Senior Executive Vice President and Head Global Consumer Financial Services when he stepped down from OCBC Bank in 2010. He continued to serve the OCBC Group, first as Chairman of BCS Information System and then with Great Eastern Life Assurance as Group Chief Marketing & Distribution Officer, before retiring in 2017. He is currently a Board Director of OCBC Al-Amin Bank Berhad and Nordic Group Ltd. Mr. Lee holds a Bachelor of Arts and Bachelor of Social Science (Honours in Economic) from the University of Singapore.

**Dr. Lee Tih Shih** was first appointed to the Board on April 4, 2003 and last re-elected as a Director on May 18, 2020. He is presently an Associate Professor at the Duke-NUS Medical School in Singapore. He has previously served in senior positions at both OCBC Bank from 1993 to 1998 and the Monetary Authority of Singapore from 1998 to 2000. He is a Board Director of Lee Foundation, Selat (Pte) Ltd and Singapore Investments (Pte) Ltd. Dr. Lee graduated with M.D. and Ph.D. degrees from Yale University, New Haven. He also holds a Master of Business Administration with Distinction from Imperial College, London. Dr. Lee is a Fellow at the Royal College of Physicians of Edinburgh.

Ms. Christina Ong was first appointed to the Board on February 15, 2016 and last re-elected as a Director on April 29, 2019. She is presently the Senior Partner and Chairman of Allen & Gledhill LLP as well as the Co-Head of its Financial Services Department. Ms. Ong is a lawyer and has been in Allen & Gledhill since 1987. She provides corporate and corporate regulatory and compliance advice, particularly to listed companies. Her areas of practice include banking, securities offerings, securities regulations, investment funds, capital markets, and corporate finance. She serves as a Board Director of several companies, including Allen & Gledhill Regulatory & Compliance Pte Ltd, Eastern Development Pte Ltd, Eastern Development Holdings Pte Ltd, Epimetheus Ltd, Hongkong Land Holdings Ltd, SIA Engineering Company Ltd and Singapore Telecommunications Ltd. She is also a member of the Supervisory Committee of ABF Singapore Bond Index Fund, SGX Catalist Advisory Panel, Civil Aviation Authority of Singapore, MAS Corporate Governance Advisory Committee, and a trustee of The Stephen A Schwarzman Scholars Trust. Ms. Ong holds a Bachelor of Laws (Second Upper Class Honours) from the University of Singapore, and is a Member of the Law Society of Singapore and International Bar Association.

Mr. Pramukti Surjaudaja was first appointed to the Board on June 1, 2005 and last re-elected as a Director on April 29, 2021. He has been with PT Bank OCBC NISP Tbk for 34 years, holding key positions, including President Director, and is presently Board President Commissioner of the bank. He also serves as the Deputy Chairman of the Board of Supervisors of the IOA Association, a Board Commissioner of PT Biolaborindo Makmur Sejahtera, and a Member of the Parahyangan Catholic University's Board of Advisors, Karya Salemba Empat Foundation's Board of Trustees and San Francisco State University, Lam Family College of Business, Dean's Development Council. Mr. Pramukti holds a Bachelor of Science (Finance and Banking) from San Francisco State University, a Master of Business Administration (Banking) from Golden Gate University, San Francisco, and has participated in Special Programs in International Relations at the International University of Japan.

Mr. Tan Ngiap Joo was first appointed to the Board on September 2, 2013 and last re-elected as a Director on April 29, 2021. He had a long career of 37 years as a banker. He spent 20 years in Citibank N.A. serving in various capacities, including Senior Risk Manager of Citibank Australia and postings overseas prior to joining the OCBC Group in August 1990, where he held senior positions over the years, including Chief Executive of OCBC's Australian operations, and Head, Group Business Banking and was appointed Deputy President in December 2001. He retired in December 2007. He is presently Chairman of the Investment Committee of MASCOT Private Trust, Board Chairman of OCBC Bank (Malaysia) Berhad and OCBC Al-Amin Bank Berhad. He also serves on the board of OCBC Management Services Pte Ltd and Gemstone Asset Holdings Pte Ltd. Mr. Tan holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from the University of Western Australia.

Ms. Tan Yen Yen was appointed to the Board on January 1, 2020 and elected as a Director on May 18, 2020. Her past experiences included IT and IT-related positions in SAS Institute Inc, Oracle Corporation and Hewlett-Packard Singapore, and she has played an active role in Singapore's infocomm industry. She was the President (Asia Pacific) of Vodafone Enterprise Singapore Pte Ltd until she left in April 2020. Ms. Tan is presently a Board Director of ams OSRAM AG, Barry Callebaut AG, Galboss Asia Pte Ltd, In.Corp Global Pte Ltd, Jardine Cycle & Carriage Ltd, Singapore Press Holdings Ltd, The Y Journey Pte Ltd and XY Maxwell Pte Ltd. She also serves as Chairman of the Singapore Science Centre, and SpexBusiness Network Advisory Board Committee of Ministry of Culture, Community and Youth (High Performance Sports), is a Member of National University of Singapore (School of Computing)'s Board of Advisors. Ms. Tan holds a Bachelor of Science (Computer Science) from the National University of Singapore and an Executive MBA from Helsinki School of Economics Executive Education.

Mr. Wee Joo Yeow was first appointed to the Board on January 2, 2014 and last re-elected as a Director on May 18, 2020. He has more than 39 years of corporate banking experience. He was Managing Director & Head of Corporate Banking Singapore with United Overseas Bank Ltd until his retirement in June 2013. Prior to that, he was Executive Vice President & Head of Corporate Banking with Overseas Union Bank Ltd, and Head Credit & Marketing with First National Bank of Chicago (Singapore). He is presently a Board Director of Frasers Property Ltd, Great Eastern Holdings Ltd, Thai Beverage Public Company Ltd, WJY Holdings Pte Ltd and WTT Investments Pte Ltd. Mr. Wee holds a Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) from the University of Singapore and a Master of Business Administration from New York University, USA.

#### **Board Committees**

The composition of our Board Committees satisfies the independence requirements of the Banking (Corporate Governance) Regulations 2005, Banking (Corporate Governance) (Amendment) Regulations 2010, corporate governance guidelines issued by the MAS and the Code of Corporate Governance 2018 (the "2018 Code") adopted by the SGX-ST.

# **Executive Committee**

The Executive Committee comprises Mr. Ooi Sang Kuang (Chairman), Mr. Koh Beng Seng, Dr. Lee Tih Shih, Mr. Tan Ngiap Joo and Mr. Wee Joo Yeow. The Executive Committee has written terms of reference that describe the responsibilities of its members.

The Executive Committee oversees – within the parameters delegated by the Board – the management of the business and affairs of OCBC Bank and the OCBC Group. It reviews our policies, principles, strategies, values, objectives and performance targets. These include investment and divestment policies. It also endorses such other matters and initiates such special reviews and actions as are appropriate for the prudent management of OCBC Bank.

## Nominating Committee

The Nominating Committee comprises Mr. Wee Joo Yeow (Chairman), Mr. Ooi Sang Kuang, Ms. Christina Ong, Mr. Pramukti Surjaudaja and Mr. Tan Ngiap Joo. The Nominating Committee has written terms of reference that describe the responsibilities of its members.

The Nominating Committee plays a vital role in reinforcing the principles of transparency, accountability and meritocracy at OCBC Bank. It plans for board succession and ensures that only the most competent individuals capable of contributing to the success of the organization are appointed. This includes reviewing all nominations for the appointment or reappointment, election or re-election as well as resignation or retirement of our Directors and members of the Executive Committee, Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee, Risk Management Committee and Ethics and Conduct Committee. The Nominating Committee is also responsible for approving the appointments of directors to boards of key subsidiaries to ensure governance standards are aligned with OCBC Bank's. On an annual basis, the Nominating Committee is charged with determining whether or not a Director is independent, capable of carrying out the relevant duties and qualified to remain in office. In addition, it reviews nominations for the appointment as well as dismissal, resignation or retirement of senior management, including the Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Chief Financial Officer, Chief Risk Officer and Chief Operating Officer. It makes recommendations to the Board on relevant appointments, including the compensation package for offer of employment, promotion and cessation of employment. The Nominating Committee reviews obligations arising in the event of the termination of the contracts of service of executive Directors and senior management, to ensure such contracts contain fair and reasonable termination clauses.

The Nominating Committee establishes annually the profile required of Board members, having regard to the competencies and skills required, and makes recommendations to the Board on the appointment of new Directors, when necessary. When the need for a new Director is identified, the Nominating Committee will prepare a shortlist of candidates with the appropriate profile and qualities for nomination. The Nominating Committee may engage external search consultants to search for the Director. The Board reviews the recommendation of the Nominating Committee and appoints the new Director, subject to the approval of MAS. In accordance with our Constitution, the new Director will hold office until the next AGM and if eligible, may then stand for re-election.

#### **Audit Committee**

The Audit Committee comprises Mr. Chua Kim Chiu (Chairman), Mr. Ooi Sang Kuang, Ms. Chong Chuan Neo, Dr. Andrew Khoo, Mr. Tan Ngiap Joo and Ms. Tan Yen Yen. The majority of members, including the Chairman, have recent and relevant accounting or related financial management expertise or experience.

The Audit Committee performs the functions specified in the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore, (the "Companies Act"), the 2018 Code, the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST and MAS' corporate governance regulations and guidelines.

The Audit Committee has written terms of reference that describe the responsibilities of its members. The Board approves the terms of reference of the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee may meet at any time and no fewer than four times a year. It has full access to and co-operation from management, and has the discretion to invite any Director and executive officer to attend its meetings. It has explicit authority to investigate any matter within its terms of reference.

In addition to the review of the Group Financial Statements, which includes reviewing the assurances provided by the CEO and Chief Financial Officer on the financial records and statements, the Audit Committee reviews and evaluates, with the external and internal auditors, the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal controls including financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls, and risk management policies and systems. It reviews the scope and results of the audits, the cost-effectiveness of the audits and the independence and objectivity of the external and internal auditors. When the external auditor provides non-audit services to us, the Audit Committee keeps the nature, extent and costs of such services under review. This is to balance the objectivity of the external auditor against its ability to provide value-for-money services. The Audit Committee members keep abreast of changes to accounting standards and development of related significant accounting policies which have a direct impact on financial statements and Group accounting policies through briefings provided by internal or external subject matter experts. The Audit Committee also reviews significant financial reporting issues and judgments to ensure the integrity of the financial statements. The Audit Committee reviews announcements relating to financial performance.

The Audit Committee is also responsible for the review of our whistleblowing policy as well as any concerns, including anonymous complaints, which staff may in confidence raise about possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters. The whistleblowing policy and procedures for raising such concerns are disclosed and clearly communicated to employees. The Audit Committee will ensure such concerns are independently investigated and followed up on. If the case escalated is found to be substantiated, appropriate action will be taken and the Audit Committee updated regularly on its status. The whistleblower's identity is kept confidential and his/her interests will be safeguarded at all times, including a right to appeal to the Audit Committee if reprisals are taken against him/her.

The Audit Committee meets at least once a year with the external auditor and internal auditor in separate sessions and without the presence of management, to consider any matters which may be raised privately. In addition, the Chairman of the Audit Committee meets the head of internal audit on a regular basis to discuss the work undertaken, key findings and any other significant matters arising from the OCBC Group's operations. Formal reports are sent to the Audit Committee on a regular basis. The Audit Committee has received the requisite disclosures from the current external auditor evidencing its independence. It is satisfied that the financial, professional and business relationships between the OCBC Group and the external auditor will not prejudice the independence and objectivity of the external auditor. The aggregate amount of fees paid to the external auditor for financial year 2021, and the breakdown of total fees paid for audit and non-audit services, are shown in the Notes to the Financial Statements.

The Audit Committee adopts, where appropriate, relevant best practices set out in the Guidebook for Audit Committees in Singapore.

The Audit Committee approves the Internal Audit Charter of internal audit (Group Audit) and reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal audit function, at least annually. In line with leading practice, Group Audit's mission statement and charter requires it to provide independent and reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the Group's governance, risk management and internal control processes – as designed and implemented by senior management – are adequate and effective. Group Audit reports on the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal controls to the Audit Committee and management, but does not form any part of the system of internal controls. Group Audit meets or exceeds the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing of The Institute of Internal Auditors.

Group Audit adopts a risk-based approach where audit work is prioritized and scoped according to an assessment of current and emerging risks, including financial, operational, technology, cyber, compliance, sustainability and strategic risks. The work undertaken by Group Audit involves the assessment of the adequacy and effectiveness of the OCBC Group's governance, risk management and internal control processes in meeting its strategic objectives and operating within the risk appetite established. In addition, Group Audit provides an independent assessment of the OCBC Group's credit portfolio quality and credit risk management process. Without assuming management responsibility, Group Audit may provide consultative services to line management on certain business initiatives as well as system developments and enhancements where the objective is to add value and improve governance, risk management and controls.

The Audit Committee is responsible for the adequacy and independence of the internal audit function, its resources, and its standing and effectiveness. The Audit Committee ensures that processes are in place for recommendations raised in internal audit reports to be dealt with in a timely manner and for outstanding exceptions or recommendations to be closely monitored. Group Audit is staffed with individuals with the relevant qualifications and experience. It reports functionally to the Audit Committee and administratively to the CEO, has unfettered access to the Audit Committee, Board and senior management, and has the right to seek information and explanations. The division is organized into departments that are aligned with the structure of the OCBC Group. The Audit Committee approves the appointment, resignation, dismissal, succession and remuneration of the Head of Group Audit and reviews the reasons for the resignation or dismissal of Head of Group Audit.

#### Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises Mr. Tan Ngiap Joo (Chairman), Mr. Ooi Sang Kuang, Mr. Koh Beng Seng, Ms. Christina Ong, Ms. Tan Yen Yen and Mr. Wee Joo Yeow. All members are well-versed in executive compensation matters, given their extensive experience in senior corporate positions and major appointments. The Remuneration Committee has written terms of reference that describe the responsibilities of its members.

The Remuneration Committee recommends to the Board a framework for determining the remuneration of executive officers, and reviews the remuneration practices to ensure that they are aligned with the approved framework. It is empowered to review the human resource management policies and the policies governing the compensation of executive officers of OCBC Bank and our subsidiaries, as well as the remuneration of senior executives and Directors. In addition, the Remuneration Committee administers the various employee share ownership schemes. In its deliberations, the Remuneration Committee takes into account remuneration principles, practices and standards that may be specified by MAS from time to time.

## Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee, which supports the Board in performing its risk oversight responsibilities, comprises Mr. Koh Beng Seng (Chairman), Mr. Ooi Sang Kuang, Mr. Chua Kim Chiu, Mr. Andrew Lee and Mr. Wee Joo Yeow. Members of the Risk Management Committee have the relevant technical financial expertise in risk disciplines or businesses to discharge their responsibilities. The Risk Management Committee has written terms of reference that describe the responsibilities of its members.

The Risk Management Committee reviews the overall risk management philosophy in line with the overall corporate strategy as set and approved by the Board. It oversees the establishment and operation of an independent risk management system for identifying, measuring, monitoring, controlling and reporting risk on an enterprise-wide basis. This includes ensuring the adequacy of risk management practices for material risks such as credit, market, liquidity, operational, technology, cybersecurity, conduct, money laundering and terrorism financing, legal, regulatory, reputational, strategic and environmental, social and governance (ESG) risks. The Committee reviews the scope, effectiveness and objectivity of the Group Risk Management Division. It ensures that the risk management function has appropriate independent reporting lines and is adequately resourced with experienced and qualified employees to monitor risk by the various risk categories. It approves the risk management frameworks, internal control systems and major policies, as well as reviews the risk appetite statement, risk disclosure policy and risk management principles for the approval of the Board. It also reviews the risk profile, risk tolerance level and risk strategy of the Bank for effective risk management, as well as the risk reports to monitor and control risk exposures. The Chief Risk Officer has direct reporting lines to the Risk Management Committee and CEO.

#### Ethics and Conduct Committee

The Ethics and Conduct Committee supports the Board in overseeing efforts to build and maintain a strong and responsible organizational culture firmly founded on OCBC Bank's LIFRR core values and the spirit of long-term thinking. The Ethics and Conduct Committee comprises Ms. Christina Ong (Chairman), Mr. Ooi Sang Kuang, Dr. Andrew Khoo, Dr. Lee Tih Shih and Mr. Pramukti Surjaudaja. The Ethics and Conduct Committee has written terms of reference that describe the responsibilities of its members.

The Ethics and Conduct Committee reviews and assesses the state, adequacy, effectiveness and relevancy of OCBC Bank's culture and conduct programs and initiatives. Such review and assessment take into account regulatory policies, guidelines and expectations and desired outcomes. The Ethics and Conduct Committee also reviews communications to stakeholders on core values, desired behaviors, ethics, culture and conduct.

# **Remuneration Policy**

#### Directors' Remuneration

The Remuneration Committee recommends the remuneration for our executive Directors and non-executive Directors. The remuneration for non-executive Directors is subject to shareholders' approval at the AGM.

## Compensation for Non-Executive Directors

The remuneration for non-executive Directors is intended to attract capable individuals to our Board, as well as retain and motivate them in their roles as non-executive Directors. It aligns their interests with those of shareholders, is competitive in the region and recognizes individual contributions.

The Remuneration Committee has considered market practices for non-executive director compensation. On its recommendation, the Board has decided to adopt the following fee structure to fix the fee for each non-executive Director of OCBC Bank:

- (a) Board chairman's fee of S\$1,400,000;
- (b) Retainer fee of S\$45,000;
- (c) Committee chairperson's fee of S\$70,000 for Audit, Risk Management and Executive Committees, and S\$40,000 for Nominating, Remuneration, and Ethics and Conduct Committees;
- (d) Committee member's fee of S\$40,000 for Audit, Risk Management and Executive Committees, and S\$20,000 for Nominating, Remuneration, and Ethics and Conduct Committees (Committee chairpersons are not awarded these fees);
- (e) Lead independent director's fee of S\$70,000; and
- (f) Attendance fee of S\$3,000 per meeting.

At the annual general meeting held on April 29, 2021, shareholders had approved the grant of 6,000 remuneration shares to each non-executive Director. The remuneration shares align the interests of non-executive Directors with the interests of shareholders. At the recommendation of the Remuneration Committee, the Board has decided to continue with the granting of 6,000 new ordinary shares to each non-executive Director. Any non-executive Director who has served on the Board for less than a full financial year will be awarded shares on a pro-rated basis, depending on the length of service.

# Compensation for Executive Directors

The compensation for executive Director is formulated and reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee to ensure that it is market-competitive and that the rewards are commensurate with the contributions made. The compensation package comprises basic salary, benefits-in-kind, performance bonus, share awards and compensation in the event of early termination where service contracts are applicable. Performance bonus relate directly to the financial performance of the Group and the contributions of the executive Director. The guidelines on the granting of share awards to the executive Director are similar to those for the executives of the Bank.

# Remuneration of Directors' and CEO's Immediate Family

Mr. Pramukti Surjaudaja, a Director of the Bank, has a sister, Ms. Parwati Surjaudaja, who is chief executive of the Bank's subsidiary, PT Bank OCBC NISP Tbk. Her personal remuneration in 2021 exceeds S\$100,000. Apart from Ms. Parwati Surjaudaja, none of the Group's employees was an immediate family member of a Director or the CEO in 2021.

## Remuneration of Directors and Chief Executive Officer in 2021

The below table shows our Directors' and CEO's remuneration in 2021:

Director		Fees	Shares <sup>(1)</sup>	Other Benefits <sup>(2)</sup>	Total
				 S\$	
Ooi Sang Kuang		1,611,698	70,200	45,901	1,727,799
Chua Kim Chiu		206,000	70,200	4,237	280,437
Andrew Khoo		113,014	57,506	_	170,520
Koh Beng Seng		243,110	70,200	_	313,310
Lee Tih Shih		141,000	70,200	4,237	215,437
Christina Ong		165,302	70,200	4,237	239,739
Pramukti Surjaudaja		115,000	70,200	_	185,200
Tan Ngiap Joo		245,000	70,200	4,237	319,437
Tan Yen Yen		147,000	70,200	4,317	221,517
Wee Joo Yeow		248,000	70,200	4,237	322,437
		3,235,124	689,306	71,403	3,995,833
Group CEO	Salary	Bonus	Deferred Shares	Other Benefits <sup>(2)</sup>	Total
	_	_	S\$	_	
Samuel N. Tsien <sup>(3)</sup>	285,000	1,282,800	855,200	218,609	2,641,609
Helen Wong <sup>(4)</sup>	1,128,751	2,937,000	1,958,000	1,607,584 <sup>(5)</sup>	7,631,335

#### Notes:

<sup>(1)</sup> Value of remuneration shares was estimated based on closing price of ordinary shares on March 15, 2022, i.e. S\$11.70 per share.

<sup>(2)</sup> Non-cash component such as club and car benefits for Mr. Ooi Sang Kuang, Mr. Samuel N. Tsien and Ms. Helen Wong, and carparks for Directors.

<sup>(3)</sup> Comprises compensation under his employment contract as Group CEO for the period January 1, 2021 to April 14, 2021.

<sup>(4)</sup> Comprises compensation under her employment contract as Group CEO commencing April 15, 2021, as well as compensation under her employment contract as Deputy President from January 1, 2021 to April 14, 2021.

<sup>(5)</sup> Includes the value of shares and cash awarded for loss of compensation from previous employment.

# **Senior Management**

The following table sets forth the senior management of OCBC Bank as of the date of this Offering Memorandum:

Name	Position			
Ms. Helen Wong	Group Chief Executive Officer			
Mr. Darren Tan Siew Peng	Chief Financial Officer			
Mr. Vincent Choo Nyen Fui	Chief Risk Officer and Head, Group Risk Management			
Mr. Lim Khiang Tong	Group Chief Operating Officer			
Mr. Kenneth Lai	Head, Global Treasury			
Mr. Tan Teck Long	Head, Global Wholesale Banking			
Mr. Sunny Quek	Head, Global Consumer Financial Services			
Mr. Tan Wing Ming	Head, Greater China			
Mr. Ong Eng Bin	CEO, OCBC Malaysia			
Ms. Parwati Surjaudaja	President Director and CEO, Bank OCBC NISP			
Ms. Ivy Au-Yeung	CEO, OCBC Wing Hang Bank			
Mr. Wang Ke	CEO, OCBC Wing Hang Bank (China) Limited			
Mr. Linus Goh Ti Liang	Head, Global Commercial Banking			
Ms. Elaine Lam	Head, Global Corporate Banking			
Mr. Bahren Shaari	CEO, Bank of Singapore			
Mr. Gan Kok Kim	Head, Global Investment Banking			
Mr. Tan Chor Sen	Head, Global Enterprise Banking – International			
Mr. Melvyn Low	Head, Global Transaction Banking			
Mr. Jason Ho Poh Wah <sup>(1)</sup>	Head, Group Human Resources			
Ms. Goh Chin Yee	Head, Group Audit			
Ms. Loretta Yuen	Head, Group Legal and Regulatory Compliance			
Ms. Koh Ching Ching	Head, Group Brand and Communications			
Mr. Praveen Raina	Head, Group Operations and Technology			
Ms. Sylvia Ng	Head, Strategic Planning			

## Note:

Ms. Helen Wong was appointed Group Chief Executive Officer of OCBC Bank on April 15, 2021. She is also Chairman of OCBC Wing Hang Bank (China) Limited, a Board Commissioner of PT Bank OCBC NISP Tbk and a Director of Bank of Singapore, Great Eastern Holdings Limited, OCBC Bank (Malaysia) Berhad, OCBC Wing Hang Bank Limited and the Dr. Goh Keng Swee Scholarship Fund. Ms. Wong is currently a council member of the ABS and the Institute of Banking & Finance ("IBF") Singapore. She also serves as a member of the MAS Financial Centre Advisory Panel, MAS Payments Council and MAS Financial Sector Tripartite Committee. Ms. Wong joined

<sup>(1)</sup> On March 8, 2022, OCBC bank announced that Mr. Jason Ho would be retiring on June 25, 2022.

OCBC Bank in February 2020 as Deputy President and Head of Global Wholesale Banking. She has more than 37 years of banking experience, having started out as a Management Trainee in OCBC Bank and was its first China Desk Manager, based at the Hong Kong Branch. She has vast experience in Greater China, covering a wide range of roles in capital markets, syndicated finance and corporate banking. Before returning to OCBC Bank, Ms. Wong spent 27 years at HSBC, where her last role was as its Chief Executive for Greater China, which she was appointed to in 2015. She became the President and CEO of HSBC China based in Shanghai in 2010, and was promoted to be Group General Manager in 2011 to recognize her responsibility for the business operations and strategic expansion in China. She also held non-executive directorships at Baoshan Iron & Steel from 2012 to 2015, and at Bank of Communications from 2016 to 2019. Ms. Wong holds a Bachelor of Social Sciences from the University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Darren Tan Siew Peng was appointed Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer ("CFO") in December 2011. As CFO, he oversees financial, regulatory and management accounting and advisory, treasury financial control and advisory, corporate treasury, funding and capital management, corporate planning and development and investor relations. He joined OCBC Bank in March 2007 as Head of Asset Liability Management in Global Treasury and assumed the role of Deputy CFO in May 2011. Prior to joining OCBC, Mr. Tan worked for 13 years in the Government of Singapore Investment Corporation ("GIC") with his last position in GIC as Head of Money Markets. He serves as a board member of the Inland Revenue Authority of Singapore. He is also a council member of the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants. Mr. Tan graduated with First Class Honours in Accountancy from Nanyang Technological University and is a Chartered Financial Analyst and a Fellow Chartered Accountant of Singapore.

Mr. Vincent Choo Nyen Fui was appointed Head of Group Risk Management on August 1, 2014. As Chief Risk Officer, he covers the full spectrum of risk, including Credit, Technology and Information Security, Liquidity, Market and Operational Risk Management. He reports jointly to both Group CEO and the Board Risk Management Committee of OCBC Bank. Mr. Choo joined OCBC Bank from Deutsche Bank AG where his last appointment was Managing Director and Chief Risk Officer for Asia Pacific. He is a Director of Bank of Ningbo Ltd and a member of Management Board of NUS Risk Management Institute. Mr. holds a Master of Arts in Economics from University of Akron, United States.

Mr. Lim Khiang Tong was appointed Group Chief Operating Officer ("GCOO") in June 2021. As GCOO, he drives transformation efforts and alignment of operational capabilities as well as data and design competencies across the Group. He has oversight over operations and technology, operational excellence, customer experience, data and analytics and property management functions. Mr. Lim joined the Bank's IT Management team in 2000. He was appointed Head of IT management in January 2002. He was promoted to Executive Vice President and Head of Group Information Technology in December 2007. In May 2010, he assumed the role of Head of Group Operations and Technology. Mr. Lim has over 30 years of management experience in strategic technology development, information technology, process-reengineering, project management and banking operations. In 2020, Mr. Lim was also named Digital Transformation Leader in Singapore by the International Data Corporation, a global market intelligence firm in information technology, in recognition of his role in accelerating the Bank's digital transformation efforts. He holds a Bachelor of Science in Computer Science and Economics from the National University of Singapore and is a IBF Distinguished Fellow (Technology).

Mr. Kenneth Lai was appointed Head of Global Treasury in October 2020. He has global responsibility for OCBC Bank's financial market businesses and asset liability management in Singapore, Malaysia, Indonesia, Hong Kong, China and seven other overseas centers. Mr. Lai joined OCBC Bank in February 2012 as Head of Global Treasury International. Since 2015, he has also been responsible for the Bank's Asset and Liability Management globally. He was appointed Executive Vice President in May 2019. Mr. Lai has over 31 years of experience in different functions across trading, sales and asset liability management and across different countries in

Asia. Currently, he serves on the boards of Bank of Singapore, OCBC Securities, and Clearing and Payment Services Pte Ltd. Mr. Lai also serves on Great Eastern Group's Asset/Liability Committee and Investment Committee. He is a member of the Singapore Foreign Exchange Market Committee, and member of the IBF's Financial Markets Regulatory Practices Examination Board, Standards Committee and Chairman of the Capital and Financial Markets Workgroup. Mr. Lai also serves as a member on the ABS Standing Committee on Financial Market and Benchmark Co Oversight Committee. Before joining OCBC Bank, he was the Head of Financial Markets at Ta Chong Bank in Taiwan and has held several key appointments with ABN AMRO bank. He started his career at Bankers Trust Company. Mr. Lai holds a Bachelor of Science in Finance from Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University and is an IBF Fellow.

Mr. Tan Teck Long was appointed Executive Vice President and Head of Global Wholesale Banking on March 15, 2022. As the Head of Global Wholesale Banking, he has global responsibility for all banking relationships with small- and medium-sized enterprises, large corporates and financial institutions; two product groups – cash management and trade under the transaction banking business; as well as the investment banking business. Mr. Tan has more than 28 years of banking experience overseeing Corporate Banking, Investment Banking and Risk Management. He joined OCBC Bank from DBS Bank, where his last appointment was Chief Risk Officer. During his tenure at DBS Bank, he had also served in a number of senior roles including Group Head of DBS' corporate banking business, Head of Institutional Banking Group (China), Group Head of Special Assets Management and Group Head of Corporate Real Estate Strategy and Administration. Mr. Tan is a Chartered Financial Analyst charter holder and a Fellow Chartered Accountant of Singapore. He holds a Master of Business Administration from University of Manchester and a Bachelor of Accountancy from the National University of Singapore.

Mr. Sunny Quek was appointed acting Head of Global Consumer Financial Services on October 1, 2021 and has been the Head of Consumer Financial Services Singapore from November 2019. He joined OCBC Bank in December 2012 as Head of Branch and Premier Banking. In the six years, Mr. Quek was responsible for formulating and executing the sales and distribution strategy for the consumer banking branch network in Singapore, and supporting the OCBC Premier Banking network in the region. He made significant contributions to the transformation and growth of the retail banking business and led the OCBC Premier Banking business to become a leader in the affluent segment space. In 2018, he spearheaded the transformation of the OCBC Premier Private Client segment to launch an Accredited Investor platform that offers bespoke wealth solutions to high net worth individuals in Singapore and the region. Mr. Quek started his banking career at Tokai Bank in 1997 before joining Citibank Singapore in 2000. He has more than 23 years of experience spanning branch management, treasury sales and trading. Mr. Quek currently serves as a board member of OCBC Securities Private Limited and Network for Electronic Transfers (Singapore). He graduated with a Bachelor of Science in Economics from the National University of Singapore.

Mr. Tan Wing Ming was appointed acting Head of Greater China on October 1, 2021, overseeing OCBC Group's Greater China business, including the formulation and implementation of the Group's Greater China strategy. Mr. Tan was previously Regional General Manager of North East Asia and the Chief Executive of OCBC Bank Hong Kong branch since September 2009. In this role, he assumed oversight of the bank's branches in Hong Kong, Japan, Korea and Taiwan. In November 2016, he was promoted to Executive Vice President. Mr. Tan joined OCBC Bank in January 2005 as Senior Vice President and Country Head of OCBC Bank's operations in China. Following the local incorporation of OCBC Bank in China in July 2007, he was appointed Director and President of OCBC Bank (China) Limited until his current role. Mr. Tan had worked for major American and European investment and commercial banks in Singapore for 10 years. He then started and managed his own private business in China for 11 years before joining OCBC Bank. Mr. Tan holds a Bachelor of Arts (Economics) with Honours from Georgetown University and a Master of Business Administration (Finance) from the University of Chicago.

**Mr. Ong Eng Bin** was appointed Chief Executive Officer of OCBC Malaysia in August 2014 and currently oversees the OCBC Group's Malaysian franchise. Prior to this appointment, he was its Head of Business Banking, a role he assumed in 2012 with responsibilities covering corporate and commercial, emerging business and transaction banking. He joined the bank as a management trainee in 1988 and was appointed Head of Corporate Banking and Large Corporates in 2000. Mr. Ong holds a Bachelor of Accounting and Finance from the University of Manchester.

Ms. Parwati Surjaudaja was appointed President Director and CEO of Bank OCBC NISP in December 2008 and was last re-elected as President Director in 2020. Prior to this appointment, she joined Bank OCBC NISP as a Director in 1990 and served as a Deputy President Director from 1997. Ms. Surjaudaja, who has more than 30 years of experience in the banking industry, has led the Bank to be among the 10 biggest banks in Indonesia with the highest credit rating. She has also pioneered ESG initiatives in the region through the deployment of green and gender financing. She is a G20 Empower Advocate for gender equality, and was named Forbes Asia's Top 50 Asia's Power Businesswomen in 2016 and Fortune Indonesia's Businessperson of the Year in 2021. Ms. Surjaudaja had previous corporate experience with SGV Utomo-Arthur Andersen and holds a Master of Business Administration (Accounting) and a Bachelor of Science Cum Laude (Accounting and Finance) from San Francisco State University.

Ms. Ivy Au-Yeung was appointed Chief Executive Officer of OCBC Wing Hang Bank on May 20, 2021. She joined OCBC Wing Hang Bank as Deputy Chief Executive in December 2019, overseeing the Retail Banking Group of the Bank in Hong Kong, Banco OCBC Weng Hang, S.A in Macau and OCBC Wing Hang Credit Limited. My Au-Yeung has had more than 30 years of various positions in global banks in corporate and commercial banking covering relationship management, product management as well as credit and sales. Prior to joining OCBC Wing Hang, she was the Chief Executive Officer of the Hong Kong Branch of an Australian bank. Ms. Au-Yeung holds a Master of Business Administration degree from University of Sydney, Australia, a Bachelor of Social Science degree from University of Hong Kong, and is a Fellow of CFA Australia.

Mr. Wang Ke was appointed CEO of OCBC Wing Hang Bank (China) on December 9, 2019. He joined OCBC Wing Hang Bank (China) Limited previously the OCBC Bank (China) Limited as Chief Information Officer and Head of IT Department in 2012, and assumed the expanded role as Head of Operations and Technology afterwards. Prior to his current role, Mr. Wang was the Regional General Manager of the Pearl River Delta region and was appointed as the Deputy President of OCBC Wing Hang China in March 2015. Mr. Wang is conversant with foreign companies' business models in China and has intimate knowledge of the local market and regulations. As an indispensable member of bank's top management, he participated in the strategy formulating, led the implementation of many strategic projects and achieved fruitful results. He has over 20 years of international banking working experience spanning a wide spectrum of fields in China, United States and Singapore. Before joining OCBC Wing Hang Bank (China) Limited, Mr. Wang held several senior positions in JPMorgan Chase & Co., McKinsey & Company and United Overseas Bank (China) Limited, where he oversaw the operations, technology and Risk Management and accumulated rich and comprehensive experience in the international financial business management and people engagement. Mr. Wang holds a Master of Business Administration degree from Kellogg School of Management at Northwestern University and a bachelor's degree in Computer Science from Peking University.

Mr. Linus Goh Ti Liang was appointed Head of Global Commercial Banking in April 2012. In this capacity, he has global responsibility for OCBC Bank's commercial, institutional and transaction banking businesses. He joined OCBC Bank in April 2004 as Executive Vice President and Head of International, and in August 2008, assumed responsibility for Global Enterprise Banking and Financial Institutions. Mr. Goh has over 30 years of banking experience, including 17 years at Citibank, N.A. Singapore, where he held several senior management positions overseeing corporate banking, financial institutions, e-business and transaction banking. Mr. Goh serves as a board member of the investment arm of Enterprise Singapore, Seeds Capital Private Limited.

He also sits on the Pro-Enterprise Panel under the Ministry of Trade and Industry and the SME Committee under the Singapore Business Federation where he chairs the sub-committee on Business Environment and Cost Competitiveness. Mr. Goh holds a Bachelor of Arts (Philosophy) with Honours from the National University of Singapore and is an IBF Distinguished Fellow.

Ms. Elaine Lam was appointed Head of Global Corporate Banking in April 2016. She has global responsibility for OCBC Bank's corporate banking business which spans Global Real Estate, Wholesale Corporate Marketing, Global Commodities Finance, China Business Office as well as the Bank's corporate banking business in the overseas branches and subsidiaries. Ms. Lam is also responsible for driving the Structured Finance, Sustainable Finance and Partnership & Innovation groups within Global Corporate Banking. With more than 25 years of experience in corporate banking, she is currently a steering committee member of the Monetary Authority of Singapore's Finance Centre Advisory Panel Green Finance Workgroup, and a member of the IBF Sustainable Finance Workgroup. She also served in the IBF Corporate Banking Workgroup and the Financial Industry Competency Standards' Corporate Banking Working Group. Ms. Lam holds a Bachelor of Accountancy (Honours) from the Nanyang Technological University and is an IBF Fellow (Corporate Banking).

Mr. Bahren Shaari was appointed Chief Executive Officer of Bank of Singapore in February 2015. Prior to this appointment, he was the Senior Managing Director and Global Market Head of South East Asia. He has more than 30 years of banking experience. Mr. Bahren was appointed to the National University of Singapore's Board of Trustees from June 1, 2021 and has been a non-executive and independent director of Singapore Press Holdings since April 2012. Mr. Bahren is a member of the Council of Presidential Advisers. He was conferred the Public Service Star Medal in 2018 and the Public Service Medal in 2008. Mr. Bahren is an IBF Distinguished Fellow and holds a Bachelor of Accountancy degree from the National University of Singapore.

Mr. Gan Kok Kim was appointed Executive Vice President and Head of Global Investment Banking in February 2012. As the Head of Global Investment Banking, he oversees OCBC Bank's loans syndication, debt capital markets, corporate finance, merger and acquisition and mezzanine/private equity investment businesses. Mr. Gan joined OCBC Bank in 2004 as the Head of Treasury at OCBC Bank (Malaysia). In February 2011, he was also appointed Head of International Treasury. In August 2011, he was given the additional role of Head of Asset Liability Management in Singapore and gave up his Malaysian role. Mr. Gan has more than 32 years of trading, investment banking, and management experience and has held various positions in Citibank N.A. He holds a Bachelor of Science in Economics from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology.

Mr. Tan Chor Sen was appointed the Head of Global Enterprise Banking-International in 2012. In addition to overseeing the growth of the emerging business segment in OCBC Bank's core markets, he is also in charge of developing cross-border capabilities and business within the region, leveraging the OCBC network and partner banks in key markets. Mr. Tan joined OCBC Bank in 2005 as Head of Emerging Business. He is a council member of the Singapore-Tianjin Economic and Trade Council under Enterprise Singapore. Mr. Tan has over 35 years of banking experience where he began his career in commercial banking, with postings in consumer banking. He later held several positions in corporate and offshore banking. Mr. Tan holds a Bachelor of Business Administration from the National University of Singapore and is an IBF Fellow (Corporate Banking).

**Mr. Melvyn Low** is an industry veteran with more than 28 years of experience and has held senior positions in sales and product management, cash management, trade, and securities services in regional and global banks. Mr. Low also served as Director of the Singapore Clearing House Association from 2010 to 2013, where he was a key contributor to the launch of Fast and Secure Transfers, or FAST, platform. As the Chair of the PayNow Steering Committee of the Association of Banks in Singapore from 2019 to 2021, he co-led the Singapore banks in the launch of

PromptPay-PayNow, the world's first cross-border faster payment system. Mr. Low is currently the Payment Co-Chair of the Digital Standing Committee for ABS and the Corporate Banking Workgroup Chair for IBF. He also serves as a board member of Network for Electronic Transfers (Singapore) and the Singapore Trade Data Exchange (SgTradex). Mr. Low is an IBF Distinguished Fellow and holds a Master of Business Administration from the University of British Columbia, Canada.

**Mr. Jason Ho Poh Wah** joined OCBC Bank in January 2013 as Head of Asset Liability Management. He assumed the role of Head of Group Human Resources in July 2015, following his appointment as Deputy Head, effective January 2015. He has more than 30 years of banking experience and has held senior level positions at KBC Bank, Standard Chartered Bank and Volvo Group Treasury Asia Limited. Mr. Ho holds a Bachelor of Business Administration from the National University of Singapore and a Masters in Applied Finance from Macquarie University. He also serves as a Director of the Institute for Human Resource Professionals and is a member of the HR Industry Transformation Advisory Panel. <sup>1</sup>

Ms. Goh Chin Yee was appointed Head of Group Audit in March 2013 and Executive Vice President in April 2014. She oversees the full spectrum of internal audit activities for OCBC Bank and its subsidiaries. She reports directly to the Audit Committee and administratively to the Group CEO. Prior to this appointment, Ms. Goh has worked in diverse functions in the OCBC Group, covering strategic management, investment research, fund management, finance, risk management and treasury business management. She graduated with First Class Honours in Bachelor of Engineering from the National University of Singapore and holds the professional qualifications of Chartered Financial Analyst and Certification in Risk Management Assurance. Ms. Goh also serves as a Governor and Vice President of The Institute of Internal Auditors Singapore.

Ms. Loretta Yuen was appointed General Counsel and Head of Group Legal and Compliance in September 2010 and Executive Vice President in June 2015. She oversees the full spectrum of legal and regulatory risks, including anti-money laundering, across OCBC Bank and its subsidiaries, and provides advice on regulatory risks and legal issues involved in decisions to management, so that management can make informed strategic choices within an acceptable legal and regulatory risk profile. Ms. Yuen has over 20 years of legal and regulatory experience in banking and finance. She graduated with Second Class Honours in Law from the National University of Singapore and is an IBF Distinguished Fellow. In 2017, Ms. Yuen was conferred the Outstanding Singapore Chief Legal Officer Award by the Singapore Corporate Counsel Association.

Ms. Koh Ching Ching oversees OCBC Bank's branding and communications initiatives with the media, employees, customers, shareholders and the general public across its core markets as the Head of Group Brand and Communications. She has been heading the division since November 2004 and was appointed Executive Vice President in March 2012. Prior to her current role, she led OCBC Bank's franchise expansion efforts in trade finance in Malaysia. Ms. Koh had 16 years of corporate and retail banking experience, having held various senior customer and product positions in local and foreign financial institutions. She graduated with First Class Honours in Business Administration from the National University of Singapore.

\_

On March 8, 2022, OCBC bank announced that Mr. Jason Ho would be retiring on June 25, 2022.

Mr. Praveen Raina was appointed Head of Group Operations and Technology in June 2021. He has more than 20 years of experience and was instrumental in leading the Bank's innovation and transformation efforts in the technology sphere. Mr. Raina joined OCBC Bank in August 2008 and has held various senior management positions in Group Operations and Technology. He was appointed Executive Vice President in May 2019 and assumed the role of Global Head of Operations and Technology at OCBC Bank's private banking subsidiary, Bank of Singapore in December the same year. Mr. Raina has a Master of Business Administration from the University of Windsor and a Bachelor of Applied Science in Computer Science from the Memorial University of Newfoundland.

Ms. Sylvia Ng joined OCBC Bank in June 2021 as Head of Strategic Planning. In this role, she supports the Group CEO in the formulation and planning of the Group's strategy and monitoring of strategic and thematic business opportunities. Ms Ng began her banking career with HSBC in 2002 as a graduate talent in investment banking, and has held various corporate planning and business development roles in HSBC's Hong Kong, China and United Kingdom offices. She has an established track record in leading strategic development and implementation, with her last held position at HSBC Hong Kong being its Head of Business Development for Greater China. Prior to joining OCBC Bank, she was the General Manager of Corporate Strategy for MTR Corporation in Hong Kong. Ms Ng graduated with first class honours in Investment and Financial Risk Management from City University Business School, London, United Kingdom. She also holds an MBA from the Kellogg-HKUST Executive MBA Program.

# **PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS**

# **Ordinary Shares**

# Twenty Largest Holders of Ordinary Shares

The total shareholdings of the 20 largest shareholders (members) of OCBC Bank comprised 71.65% of the issued share capital of OCBC Bank, and their names and the number of ordinary shares held by each of them as of March 3, 2022 are detailed below:

Shareholders	Number of shares held	%*
Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd	690,152,669	15.36
Selat Pte Limited	467,604,264	10.41
Raffles Nominees (Pte) Limited	314,609,079	7.00
HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd	298,853,691	6.65
DBSN Services Pte Ltd	291,673,698	6.49
Lee Foundation	200,851,953	4.47
Herald Investment Pte Ltd	181,721,294	4.04
DBS Nominees Pte Ltd	181,315,323	4.04
Singapore Investments Pte Ltd	157,007,526	3.49
Lee Rubber Company Pte Ltd	141,656,364	3.15
United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd	48,774,954	1.09
Kallang Development (Pte) Limited	44,007,742	0.98
BPSS Nominees Singapore (Pte.) Ltd	35,083,784	0.78
DB Nominees (Singapore) Pte Ltd	32,305,848	0.72
Lee Pineapple Company Pte Ltd	30,595,980	0.68
Kew Estate Limited	28,400,489	0.63
Phillip Securities Pte Ltd	22,959,848	0.51
OCBC Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd	20,137,995	0.45
OCBC Securities Private Ltd	18,018,289	0.40
UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd	13,820,382	0.31
Total	3,219,551,172	71.65

# Note:

<sup>\*</sup> Percentage is calculated based on the total number of issued ordinary shares, excluding treasury shares.

## Substantial Holders of Ordinary Shares

The following table shows the shareholders of OCBC Bank as shown in the Register of Substantial Shareholders:

Substantial ordinary shareholders	Direct Interest Number of Shares	Deemed Interest Number of Shares	Total Number of Shares	% of issued ordinary shares*
Lee Foundation	189,310,098 <sup>(1)</sup>	31,835,411 <sup>(2)</sup>	221,145,509	5.13
Selat (Pte) Limited	467,604,264	181,721,294 <sup>(3)</sup>	649,325,558	14.44

#### Notes:

- \* Percentage is calculated based on the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) as at the date of the latest notification given by the relevant substantial shareholder under the Securities and Futures Act 2001 ("SFA").
- (1) Does not include shares acquired pursuant to OCBC's Scrip Dividend Scheme in October 2019, October 2020 and June 2021. As the acquisitions did not result in any overall percentage level changes in Lee Foundation's total interest in OCBC, no notification of the changes was required to be given under the SFA.
- (2) Represents Lee Foundation's deemed interest in (a) the 29,222,140 shares held by Lee Pineapple Company (Pte) Limited, and (b) the 2,613,271 shares held by Peninsula Plantations Sendirian Berhad ("Peninsula Plantations"). Lee Foundation has, however, informed the Bank in writing that it has ceased to have a deemed interest in the shares held by Peninsula Plantations following a corporate restructuring exercise but that, as the cessation did not result in an overall percentage level change in Lee Foundation's total interest in OCBC, no notification of the change was required to be given under the SFA.
- (3) Represents Selat (Pte) Limited's deemed interest in the 181,721,294 shares held by Herald Investment Pte Ltd.

As of March 3, 2022, approximately 72.2% of the issued ordinary shares (excluding ordinary shares held in treasury) were held in public hands.

#### Distribution of Ordinary Shareholders

The number of ordinary shareholders (members) of OCBC Bank as of March 3, 2022 is 125,619.

There is one class of ordinary shares with equal voting rights.

Size of Holdings	Number of Ordinary Shareholders	%	Number of Shares held	%
1 – 99	11,764	9.37	426,010	0.01
100 – 1,000	33,514	26.68	18,606,043	0.41
1,001 - 10,000	62,475	49.73	218,371,388	4.84
10,001 - 1,000,000	17,743	14.12	786,011,136	17.41
1,000,001 and above	123	0.10	3,491,348,422	77.33
Total	125,619	100.00	4,514,762,999	100.00

As of March 3, 2022, the number of issued ordinary shares (including treasury shares) was 4,514,762,999. As of March 3, 2022, the number of ordinary shares held in treasury was 22,220,525 which represented 0.49% of the total number of ordinary shares.

# SUBSIDIARIES, AFFILIATES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

As of December 31, 2021, we had 106 consolidated subsidiaries and 7 associates, which are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting. The following table sets forth information with respect to our principal companies, all of which are consolidated as of December 31, 2021.

Subsidiaries, affiliates and associated companies	Effective % <sup>(4)</sup> Interest held	Main business
Banco OCBC Weng Hang, S.A. <sup>(1)</sup>	100	Banking
Bank of Singapore Limited <sup>(1)</sup>	100	Banking
OCBC Al-Amin Bank Berhad <sup>(1)</sup>	100	Banking
OCBC Bank (Malaysia) Berhad <sup>(1)</sup>	100	Banking
OCBC Wing Hang Bank (China) Limited <sup>(1)</sup>	100	Banking
OCBC Wing Hang Bank Limited <sup>(1)</sup>	100	Banking
PT Bank OCBC NISP Tbk <sup>(2)</sup>	85	Banking
Great Eastern General Insurance Limited <sup>(3)</sup>	88	Insurance
Great Eastern General Insurance (Malaysia) Berhad <sup>(3)</sup>	88	Insurance
Great Eastern Life Assurance (Malaysia) Berhad <sup>(3)</sup>	88	Insurance
The Great Eastern Life Assurance Company Limited $^{(3)}\dots$	88	Insurance
Lion Global Investors Limited <sup>(3)</sup>	92	Asset management
Great Eastern Holdings Limited <sup>(3)</sup>	88	Investment holding
OCBC Securities Private Limited <sup>(1)</sup>	100	Stockbroking

#### Notes:

<sup>(1)</sup> Audited by KPMG LLP for the financial year ended 2019. Audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for the financial years ended 2020 and 2021.

<sup>(2)</sup> Audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

<sup>(3)</sup> Audited by Ernst and Young for the financial year ended 2019. Audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for the financial years ended 2020 and 2021.

<sup>(4)</sup> Rounded to the nearest percentage.

# SUPERVISION AND REGULATION

## **Singapore Banking Industry**

#### Introduction

Singapore licensed banks come within the ambit of the Banking Act and the MAS, as the administrator of the Banking Act, supervises and regulates the banks and their operations. In addition to provisions in the Banking Act and the subsidiary legislation issued thereunder, banks have to comply with notices, circulars, guidelines, practice notes and codes issued by the MAS from time to time, which may be issued to the banking industry generally or to a Singapore licensed bank specifically.

A licensed bank's operations may include the provision of capital markets services and financial advisory services. A bank licensed under the Banking Act is exempt from holding a capital markets services license under the SFA and from holding a financial adviser's license under the Financial Advisers Act 2001 of Singapore (the "FAA"). However, a licensed bank will nonetheless have to comply with the SFA and the FAA and the subsidiary legislation issued thereunder, as well as notices, circulars, guidelines, practice notes and codes issued by the MAS from time to time, as may be applicable to it in respect of these regulated activities, and its conduct of any other activities that fall within the ambit of the SFA and FAA.

#### The Monetary Authority of Singapore

The MAS is banker and financial agent to the Singapore Government and is the central bank of Singapore. Following its merger with the Board of Commissioners of Currency, Singapore on October 1, 2002, the MAS has also assumed the functions of currency issuance. The MAS' functions include: (a) to act as the central bank of Singapore, including the conduct of monetary policy, the issuance of currency, the oversight of payment systems and serving as banker to and financial agent of the Singapore Government; (b) to conduct integrated supervision of financial services and financial stability surveillance; (c) to manage the official foreign reserves of Singapore; and (d) to develop Singapore as an international financial center.

## **COVID-19 Temporary Measures**

On April 7, 2020, the MAS announced that it will adjust selected regulatory requirements and supervisory programs to enable financial institutions to focus on dealing with issues related to the COVID-19 pandemic and supporting their customers during this difficult period. The MAS will take the following regulatory and supervisory measures: (a) adjust banks' capital and liquidity requirements, to help sustain their lending activities; (b) allow financial institutions to take into account the government's fiscal assistance and bank's relief measures in setting more realistic accounting loan loss allowances; (c) defer institutions' implementation of the final set of Basel III reforms, margin requirements for non-centrally cleared derivatives, and other new regulations and policies, to ease a financial institution's operational burden; (d) provide financial institutions with more latitude on submission timelines for regulatory reports and defer non-urgent industry projects; and (e) suspend regular onsite inspections and supervisory visits till further notice.

The summary of the laws, subsidiary legislation, notices, directives, circulars and guidelines relating to the regulation and supervision of banks stated below and elsewhere in this Offering Memorandum should be read subject to such adjustments and measures, and any further adjustments and measures, as may be announced by the MAS from time to time.

For example, MAS Notice 637 has been amended to allow the full recognition of balances maintained in the regulatory loss allowance reserve accounts as Tier 2 Capital between March 31, 2020 and September 30, 2021 (both dates inclusive) and MAS Notice 652 has been amended to:

- (a) lower the required stable funding factors for all loans from a D-SIB or internationally active bank to non-financial corporates, retail customers and small business customers, that have a residual maturity of less than six months, from 50 per cent. to 25 per cent. for the period between April 8, 2020 and September 30, 2021 (both dates inclusive); and
- (b) gradually phase back the required stable funding factors referred to above from 25 per cent. to 50 per cent. by April 1, 2022.

The COVID-19 (Temporary Measures) Act 2020 passed on April 7, 2020 also allows, *inter alia*, for the provision of temporary relief from legal action over certain loan facilities granted by a bank to small and medium enterprises (specifically businesses in Singapore with turnover of not more than S\$100 million in the latest financial year, where not less than 30% of its shares or other ownership interest is held by citizens of Singapore or permanent residents of Singapore or both) where such loans are fully or partially secured against commercial or industrial immovable property, plant, machinery or other equipment used for business purposes in Singapore. The bank would be prohibited from instituting, *inter alia*, court and insolvency proceedings and enforcement of security over such immovable property or movable property that is used for the purposes of business or trade for the period stipulated in the COVID-19 (Temporary Measures) Act 2020. These measures are in place for six months from April 20, 2020 at first instance, and may be subsequently extended for up to a year from such date. The prescribed period for loans by banks and finance companies to Singapore SMEs was extended from October 19, 2020 to November 19, 2020 or later.

The measures, laws, and regulations highlighted in this "COVID-19 Temporary Measures" section are non-exhaustive, and should be read in tandem with further updates to such measures and the summary of laws, subsidiary legislation, notices, directives, circulars and guidelines elsewhere in this Offering Memorandum.

# Special Financial Relief Program

On March 31, 2020, the MAS, the ABS, the Life Insurance Association ("LIA"), the General Insurance Association ("GIA") and the Finance Houses Association of Singapore ("FHAS") issued an announcement introducing a Special Financial Relief Program for individuals and small and medium enterprises. Amongst other measures, this allows individuals with residential property loans to apply to their bank to defer either:

- (a) principal payment; or
- (b) both principal and interest payments,

up to December 31, 2020, with interest accruing only on the deferred principal amount. In order to be eligible for such relief, the individual must not have been in arrears for more than 90 days as at April 6, 2020. Further measures were provided for on April 30, 2020 and allow individuals with commercial and industrial property loans to apply to their bank to defer principal payments up to December 31, 2020, and individuals with mortgage equity withdrawal loans that are granted on or after April 6, 2020 to apply to their bank to defer either principal payment or both principal and interest payments up to December 31, 2020.

On June 24, 2021, the MAS, ABS and FHAS announced an extension of support measures for individuals and SMEs, in certain sectors that continue to face financial difficulties due to the COVID-19 pandemic. This is expected to be the final extension of the industry-wide support measures.

Individuals with residential, commercial and industrial property loans who are unable to resume making full loan repayments from January 1, 2021 may apply to their respective bank or finance company to make reduced installment payments pegged at 60% of their monthly installment, for a period of up to 9 months but not exceeding December 31, 2021. Also, individuals with renovation and student loans may apply to their respective bank to extend their loan tenures by up to 3 years. The application window for these support measures was extended to September 30, 2021.

SMEs can seek relief under the Extended Support Scheme – Standardized ("ESS-S"), under which SMEs in certain sectors may opt to defer 80% of principal payments on their secured loans granted by banks or finance companies, as well as well as loans granted under Enterprise Singapore's Enhanced Working Capital Loan Scheme and Temporary Bridging Loan Program until September 30, 2021. In addition, the Extended Support Scheme – Customized ("ESS-C"), an industry program to help SMEs with more than one lender restructure their credit facilities across multiple banks and finance companies, was launched on November 1, 2020. The application window for the ESS-C was extended to December 31, 2021.

In connection with these measures, MAS has released updates to certain MAS notices, such as MAS Notice 632, MAS Notice 632B and MAS Notice 645A, to take into account such loans that have been deferred at the option of the borrower. Amendments were also made to certain regulations, such as the Banking (Credit Card and Charge Card) Regulations 2013, MAS Notice 635 and MAS Notice 642 on relief measures in respect of renovation loans and motor vehicle loans.

The special financial relief programs which have expired over the course of 2021 are not expected to be extended.

#### Moderation of FY2020 Dividends

The MAS announced on July 29, 2020 that it has called on locally-incorporated banks headquartered in Singapore to cap their total dividends per share ("**DPS**") for FY2020 at 60% of FY2019's DPS, and offer shareholders the option of receiving the dividends to be paid for FY2020 in scrip in lieu of cash.

The dividend restriction is a pre-emptive measure to bolster the banks' ability to continue to support the credit needs of businesses and consumers in the current business environment.

On July 28, 2021, the MAS announced that the dividend restrictions on locally-incorporated banks and finance companies headquartered in Singapore will not be extended.

## Enhancing access to SGD and USD funding

On September 3, 2020, the MAS announced measures to enhance the banking system's access to SGD and USD funding, which are intended to strengthen banking sector resilience, promote more stable SGD and USD funding conditions, and support credit intermediation amid continued economic headwinds from the COVID-19 pandemic.

A new MAS SGD Term Facility was launched in the week of September 28, 2020, to provide banks and finance companies an additional channel to borrow SGD funds at longer tenors and with more forms of collateral. The MAS SGD Term Facility will offer SGD funds in the 1-month and 3-month tenors, complementing the existing overnight MAS Standing Facility. In line with the MAS SGD

Term Facility's objective to serve as a liquidity backstop, pricing will be set above prevailing market rates. A wider range of collateral comprising cash and marketable securities in SGD and major currencies will be accepted. In particular, D-SIBs that are incorporated in Singapore will be able to pledge eligible residential property loans as collateral at the MAS SGD Term Facility.

Likewise, the range of collateral that banks in Singapore can use to access USD liquidity from the MAS USD Facility will also be expanded. Presently, banks in Singapore can borrow USD by pledging eligible SGD-denominated collateral. From September 28, 2020, banks are able to obtain USD liquidity by pledging a wider pool of cash and marketable securities, in line with what is accepted at the MAS SGD Term Facility.

The MAS also indicated that it will raise the asset encumbrance limit imposed on locally-incorporated banks under the Banking Act. The asset encumbrance limit will be increased to 10% of a locally-incorporated bank's total assets, up from the current limit of 4%. This increase will give the locally-incorporated banks greater leeway to pledge residential property loans as collateral to access funding, so that they can support the financial needs of individuals and businesses that are affected by the COVID-19 pandemic.

The MAS announced on July 5, 2021 that it will extend the MAS SGD Facility for ESG Loans from October 1, 2021 to March 31, 2022. This Facility provides low-cost funding for banks and finance companies to grant loans under Enterprise Singapore's Enterprise Financing Scheme – SME Working Capital Loan and Temporary Bridging Loan Program. It was announced on June 17, 2021 that the MAS USD Facility will also be extended to December 31, 2021. The MAS USD Facility expired on December 31, 2021.

### The Regulatory Environment

In December 2010, the Basel Committee published Basel III which presents the details of global regulatory standards on bank capital adequacy and liquidity, aimed at strengthening global capital standards and promoting a more resilient banking sector.

Basel III sets out higher capital standards for banks, and introduced two global liquidity standards: the "Liquidity Coverage Ratio", intended to promote resilience to potential liquidity disruptions over a 30-day horizon and the "Net Stable Funding Ratio", which requires a minimum amount of stable sources of funding at banks relative to the liquidity profiles of their assets and potential for contingent liquidity needs arising from off-balance sheet commitments over a one-year horizon. In January 2011, the Basel Committee has also published requirements for all classes of capital instruments issued on or after January 1, 2013 to be loss absorbing at the point of non-viability. In July 2012, the Basel Committee further published the interim framework for capitalization of bank exposures to central counterparties.

MAS Notice 637 implements Basel III capital standards for Singapore-incorporated banks and sets out the current requirements relating to the minimum capital adequacy ratios for Singapore-incorporated banks and the methodology such banks shall use for calculating these ratios. MAS Notice 637 also sets out the expectations of the MAS in respect of the internal capital adequacy assessment process of Singapore-incorporated banks under the supervisory review process and specifies the minimum disclosure requirements for Singapore-incorporated banks in relation to its capital adequacy.

Pursuant to MAS Notice 637, the MAS has imposed capital adequacy ratio requirements on a Singapore-incorporated bank at two levels:

(a) the bank standalone ("Solo") level capital adequacy ratio requirements, which measure the capital adequacy of a Singapore-incorporated bank based on its standalone capital strength and risk profile; and

(b) the consolidated ("Group") level capital adequacy ratio requirements, which measure the capital adequacy of a Singapore-incorporated bank based on its capital strength and risk profile after consolidating the assets and liabilities of its subsidiaries and any other entities which are treated as part of the bank's group of entities according to SFRS (collectively called "banking group entities") taking into account any exclusions of certain bank group entities or any adjustments pursuant to securitization required under MAS Notice 637.

Where a Singapore-incorporated bank issues covered bonds (as defined in MAS Notice 648 on Issuance of Covered Bonds by Banks Incorporated in Singapore ("MAS Notice 648")), the Singapore-incorporated bank must continue to hold capital against its exposures in respect of the assets included in a cover pool (as defined in MAS Notice 648) in accordance with MAS Notice 637. In the case where the Singapore-incorporated bank uses a special purpose entity to issue covered bonds or where the cover pool is held by a special purpose entity, the bank is required to apply a "look through" approach for the purpose of computing its capital requirements under MAS Notice 637. Under the "look through" approach, the Singapore-incorporated bank and the special purpose entity will be treated as a single entity for the purposes of MAS Notice 637.

In addition to complying with the above capital adequacy ratio requirements in MAS Notice 637, a Singapore-incorporated bank should consider as part of its internal capital adequacy assessment process whether it has adequate capital at both the Solo and Group levels to cover its exposure to all risks.

Under MAS Notice 637, D-SIBs will be required to meet capital adequacy requirements that are higher than the Basel Committee's requirements. MAS Notice 637 sets out a minimum CET1 CAR of 6.5%, Tier 1 CAR of 8.0% and a Total CAR of 10.0% for D-SIBs incorporated in Singapore. The minimum capital requirements under MAS Notice 637 are two percentage points higher than the Basel III minima specified by the Basel Committee, and are aimed to reduce the probability of failure of D-SIBs by increasing their going-concern loss absorbency.

Under the requirements of the Basel Committee, banks are required to maintain minimum CET1 CAR, Tier 1 CAR and Total CAR of 4.5%, 6.0% and 8.0%, respectively, from January 1, 2015. In addition, banks are required to hold a CCB of 2.5% above the minimum capital adequacy requirements to weather periods of high stress. This CCB is to be met with CET1 capital and began at 0.625% on January 1, 2016, increasing by an additional 0.625 percentage points in each subsequent year, and reached 2.5% on January 1, 2019.

Furthermore, banks may be subject to a countercyclical buffer ranging from 0% to 2.5% which will be implemented by each country when there has been a build-up of system-wide risk associated with excessive aggregate credit growth in their systems, with discretion on the implementation according to their national circumstances. The countercyclical buffer was phased in from January 1, 2016 to January 1, 2019. It is not an ongoing requirement but only applied as and when specified by the relevant national banking supervisors. The countercyclical buffer is to be maintained in the form of CET1 capital.

In line with the Basel Committee's requirements, the MAS has introduced in MAS Notice 637 a CCB of 2.5% above the minimum capital adequacy requirements. The CCB will be met with CET1 capital and begins at 0.625% on January 1, 2016, increasing by an additional 0.625% in each subsequent year, to reach its final level of 2.5% on January 1, 2019. The MAS has also introduced in MAS Notice 637 a countercyclical buffer requirement in the range of 0% to 2.5% to be met with CET1 capital. The actual magnitude of the countercyclical buffer applicable to a Singapore-incorporated bank is the weighted average of the country-specific countercyclical buffer requirements that are being applied by the regulators in the countries to which the bank has private sector credit exposures.

The table below summarizes the capital requirements under MAS Notice 637 for D-SIBs.

From January 1,	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019
Minimum CARs%					
CET1 (a)	6.5	6.5	6.5	6.5	6.5
CCB (b)	_	0.625	1.25	1.875	2.5
CET1 including CCB (a) + (b)	6.5	7.125	7.75	8.375	9.0
Tier 1 including CCB	8.0	8.625	9.25	9.875	10.5
Total including CCB	10.0	10.625	11.25	11.875	12.5
Maximum Countercyclical Buffer	_	0.625	1.25	1.875	2.5

In addition to changes in minimum capital requirements, Basel III also mandates various adjustments in the calculation of capital resources. These adjustments include items such as goodwill, intangible assets, deferred tax assets and investments in unconsolidated financial institutions in which the bank holds a major stake and are fully-phased in as at January 1, 2018.

MAS Notice 637 was amended on October 17, 2016 to implement requirements for Singapore-incorporated banks that are consistent with the final standards issued by the Basel Committee in relation to (a) capital requirements for banks' equity investments in funds, (b) the Basel Committee's standardized approach for measuring counterparty credit risk exposures, (c) capital requirements for bank exposures to central counterparties, and (d) revised Pillar 3 disclosure requirements. The amendments will enhance the risk capture of banks' equity exposures and counterparty credit risk exposures, while the revised Pillar 3 disclosure requirements will improve comparability and consistency of disclosures and enable market participants to better assess a bank's capital adequacy. Revisions have also been made to align the regulatory capital treatment for investments in unconsolidated major stake entities that are not financial institutions, and for private equity and venture capital investments, with the treatment of significant investments in commercial entities under the Basel capital framework. The amendments took effect from January 1, 2017. For amendments relating to the standardized approach for measuring counterparty credit risk exposures and capital requirements for bank exposures to central counterparties, transitional arrangements are provided to allow more time for implementation. For Pillar 3 disclosure requirements, the disclosures required under the revised framework will be for the reporting periods ending on or immediately after January 1, 2017 for the majority of disclosure templates and January 1, 2018 for the remaining templates.

On September 22, 2017, a revised MAS Notice 637 was issued. Among other things, the transitional arrangements for the adoption of the Internal Ratings Based Approach were amended to reflect certain changes in the calculation of the amount of capital floors, including removing "Tier 1 Capital Resources Requirement" from the basis in calculating the amount of capital floors. Revisions were also made to the reporting schedules in MAS Notice 637.

Separately, the MAS released a consultation paper on proposed amendments to MAS Notice 637 on January 9, 2017 to implement requirements that are consistent with the final standards issued by the Basel Committee in relation to revisions to the securitization framework and standards for interest rate risk in the banking book ("IRRBB"). The proposed framework for IRRBB sets out Pillar 2 requirements for the identification, measurement, monitoring and control of IRRBB, and disclosure requirements under prescribed interest rate shock scenarios. On November 29, 2017, the MAS released its response to this consultation paper and issued a revised MAS Notice 637 to implement amendments to the securitization framework. These strengthen capital standards for securitization exposures, while providing a preferential capital treatment for simple, transparent and comparable securitizations. The framework for IRRBB, which was finalized and incorporated

into a revised MAS Notice 637 on November 13, 2018 and took effect from December 31, 2018, sets out requirements for the identification, measurement, monitoring and control of IRRBB that are consistent with the standard issued by the Basel Committee.

On July 25, 2017, the MAS issued the Consultation Paper on the Proposed Amendments to Capital Requirements for Singapore-Incorporated Banks in MAS Notice 637 which proposes amendments to introduce the minimum leverage ratio requirement of 3.0%. Technical enhancements were also proposed on the capital treatment of equity investments and the definition of default under the Internal Ratings Based Approach for credit risk. On December 28, 2017, MAS Notice 637 was revised to introduce a minimum leverage ratio requirement of 3.0% at the Solo and Group levels with effect from January 1, 2018.

On December 20, 2017, the MAS issued a Consultation Paper on Proposed Amendments to Widen the Scope of Eligible Collateral Relating to Commodities and Equity Securities in MAS Notice 637, to propose amendments to MAS Notice 637 to widen the scope of eligible collateral relating to commodities and equity that may be recognized for credit risk mitigation purposes. The MAS issued its response to this consultation on November 13, 2018, and implemented its proposed revisions to the list of eligible collateral in MAS Notice 637 with effect from November 16, 2018.

On November 13, 2018, MAS Notice 637 was also amended to implement the Basel Committee's total loss-absorbing capacity ("TLAC") holdings standard (the "TLAC Amendments"). The TLAC Amendments sought to limit contagion within the financial system if a global systemically important bank ("G-SIB") were to enter resolution. They introduced, among other things, the requirement of an additional 5% threshold for non-regulatory capital TLAC holdings, and confine the usage of the additional 5% threshold to non-regulatory capital TLAC holdings that meet certain prescribed conditions, including the conditions that such TLAC holdings must be: (a) in the bank's trading book; and (b) sold within 30 business days of the date of its acquisition. The TLAC Amendments took effect from January 1, 2019.

On May 7, 2019, the MAS released a consultation paper on "Proposed Implementation of the Final Basel III Reforms in Singapore", seeking feedback on proposed revisions to the risk-based capital requirements and leverage ratio requirements for Singapore-incorporated banks to align with the Basel III reforms, and to implement these revisions from January 1, 2022. These proposals, if implemented, can affect the way banks in Singapore calculate their exposures, which may in turn affect their capital or liquidity requirements. On April 7, 2020, in line with the announcement by Basel Committee, MAS announced that the implementation date of the Basel III reforms has been deferred by one year to January 1, 2023 to enable banks to prioritize their resources to respond to the impact of COVID-19.

On December 17, 2020, the MAS released its "Response to Feedback Received on the Proposed Implementation of the Final Basel III Reforms in Singapore – Operational Risk Capital and Leverage Ratio Requirements". On March 25, 2021, the MAS released its "Response to Feedback Received on the Proposed Implementation of the Final Basel III Reforms in Singapore – Credit Risk Capital and Output Floor Requirements". On the same day, the MAS also released a consultation paper on "Draft Standards for Credit Risk Capital and Output Floor Requirements for Singapore-incorporated Banks", seeking feedback on proposed amendments to MAS Notice 637 in respect of credit risk capital and output floor requirements which take into account this Response. The revised standards are expected to take effect from January 1, 2023, with transitional arrangements provided for implementation of the output floor till January 1, 2028.

On September 13, 2021, the MAS published its "Response to Feedback Received on the Proposed Implementation of the Final Basel III Reforms in Singapore – Market Risk Capital Requirements". On the same day, the MAS also released a consultation paper on "Draft Standards for Market Risk Capital and Capital Reporting Requirements for Singapore-Incorporated Banks"

seeking feedback on draft standards relating to market risk capital and capital reporting requirements for Singapore-incorporated banks. Under this consultation paper, amendments have been proposed to MAS Notice 637 to take into account standards relating to market risk capital requirements in the consolidated Basel Framework published by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision. The MAS intends to implement the revised standards for market risk capital for supervisory reporting purposes from January 1, 2023, and for the purposes of compliance with capital adequacy and disclosure requirements from January 1, 2023 or later.

With effect from June 30, 2019, further amendments were made to MAS Notice 637 to allow the recognition of on-balance sheet netting agreements for loans and deposits for credit risk mitigation purposes, introduce proportionality for disclosure requirements, revise certain disclosure templates, and implement other technical revisions.

On March 31, 2020, in light of the COVID-19 pandemic, MAS Notice 637 was amended to allow the full recognition of balances maintained in regulatory loss allowance reserve accounts as Tier 2 Capital between March 31, 2020 and September 30, 2021 (both dates inclusive). Further technical revisions to MAS Notice 637 were implemented with effect from October 1, 2020, including the capital treatment of public sector entities.

With effect from July 1, 2021, MAS Notice 637 was amended to specify the transitional arrangements for the adoption of the standardized approach for counterparty credit risk ("SA-CCR") and to indicate that the revised capital requirements for bank exposures to central counterparties will cease on December 31, 2021. It also reflects amendments setting out an alternative treatment for the measurement of derivative exposures for leverage ratio calculation, using a modified version of SA-CCR as well as other amendments to implement technical revisions to the credit risk framework. Further amendments to MAS Notice 637 were made with effect from August 18, 2021 to implement the framework for the treatment of major stake investments in financial institutions at the Solo level.

With effect from December 31, 2021, MAS Notice 637 was amended to incorporate edits in relation to the insertion of a new charge to be held by the Housing and Development Board under the Prime Location Public Housing model. Further amendments effective from January 1, 2022 were also made to MAS Notice 637 to: (a) incorporate clarifications to the SA-CCR framework and the revised capital requirements for bank exposures to central counterparties, (b) implement revisions to the internal ratings-based approach application process and (c) implement technical revisions to the disclosure framework.

## Other Key Prudential Provisions

Liquidity Coverage Ratio and Net Stable Funding Ratio

On November 28, 2014, the MAS issued MAS Notice 649. MAS Notice 649, which took effect on January 1, 2015, introduces a new liquidity requirement framework to implement the Basel III LCR rules and applies to banks in Singapore. Under MAS Notice 649 (as last revised on September 27, 2021), a D-SIB which is incorporated in Singapore and whose head office or parent bank is incorporated in Singapore shall maintain at all times, a Singapore Dollar LCR requirement of at least 100% and an all currency LCR requirement of at least 60% by January 1, 2015, with the all-currency LCR requirement increasing by 10% each year to 100% by 2019.

On December 14, 2015, the MAS issued MAS Notice 651 on Liquidity Coverage Ratio Disclosure ("MAS Notice 651"), which took effect on January 1, 2016. MAS Notice 651 was last revised on August 7, 2019.

On July 10, 2017, the MAS issued a new MAS Notice 652 on Net Stable Funding Ratio ("MAS Notice 652") to implement the proposals set out in the consultation paper on Local Implementation of Basel III Liquidity Rules – Net Stable Funding Ratio ("NSFR") and NSFR Disclosure Requirements which was released in November 2016. MAS Notice 652 applies to D-SIBs and internationally active banks and took effect from January 1, 2018 (save for the Required Stable Funding add-on for derivative liabilities, which took effect from October 1, 2019). Under MAS Notice 652, a D-SIB incorporated and whose head office or parent bank is incorporated in Singapore must maintain an all-currency NSFR of at least 100% on a consolidated level (excluding certain banking group entities such as an insurance subsidiary).

The MAS consulted on the implementation of NSFR disclosure requirements as part of the public consultation on Proposed Amendments to Disclosure Requirements under MAS Notice 637, 651 and 653 which was separately issued on July 10, 2017. The proposed amendments to the disclosure frequencies under MAS Notice 651 on Liquidity Coverage Ratio Disclosure and MAS Notice 653 on Net Stable Funding Ratio Disclosure have been included in accordance with the Basel Committee's revised standards. On December 28, 2017, the MAS issued the revised MAS Notices 637 and 651 and a new MAS Notice 653 on Net Stable Funding Ratio Disclosure ("MAS Notice 653") to implement disclosure requirements for Singapore-incorporated banks that are consistent with the Basel Committee's revised standards on Pillar 3 disclosures under the Basel III framework. The amendments to MAS Notice 637 took effect on January 1, 2018 (except where indicated otherwise). The revised MAS Notice 651 took effect from December 31, 2017 and MAS Notice 653 took effect from January 1, 2018. Subsequently, MAS Notice 651 and MAS Notice 653 were revised again with effect from October 1, 2019, to, among other things, clarify the scope of their application.

MAS Notice 651 and MAS Notice 653 set out requirements applicable to banks incorporated in Singapore that are D-SIBs or internationally active banks for the disclosure of quantitative and qualitative information about LCR and NSFR respectively. Under the revised MAS Notice 651, a D-SIB that is incorporated in Singapore and whose head office or parent bank is incorporated in Singapore, or an internationally active bank, is required to disclose quantitative and qualitative information about its LCR on a consolidated level (excluding certain banking group entities such as an insurance subsidiary) on a quarterly basis. MAS Notice 651 also sets out additional disclosure requirements on quantitative and qualitative information, such as the annual disclosure of information relating to its internal liquidity risk measurement and management framework.

Under MAS Notice 653, a D-SIB that is incorporated in Singapore and whose head office or parent bank is incorporated Singapore, or an internationally active bank, is required to disclose quantitative and qualitative information about its NSFR on a consolidated level (excluding certain banking group entities such as an insurance subsidiary) on a semi-annual basis.

# Minimum Cash Balance

Under Section 39 of the Banking Act and MAS Notice 758 on Minimum Cash Balance ("MAS Notice 758"), a bank is also required to maintain, during a maintenance period, in its current account and custody cash account an aggregate minimum cash balance with MAS of at least an average of 3.0% of its average Qualifying Liabilities (as defined in MAS Notice 613 on Minimum Liquid Assets ("MAS Notice 613")) computed during the relevant two-week period beginning on a Thursday and ending on a Wednesday. The MAS has stated that MAS Notice 758 will be amended to include the definition of Qualifying Liabilities under MAS Notice 649 instead of referencing MAS Notice 613, which will be canceled with effect from January 1, 2016. However, to date, the MAS has neither amended the definition of Qualifying Liabilities under MAS Notice 758 nor canceled MAS Notice 613 (as last revised on September 27, 2021).

# Exposures and Credit Facilities

Under Section 29 of the Banking Act, the MAS may, by notice in writing to any bank in Singapore, or any class of banks in Singapore, impose such requirements as may be necessary or expedient for the purposes of:

- identifying any person or class of persons, where exposure of the bank, or a bank within the class of banks, to the person or class of persons may result in concentration risk to the bank; or
- (b) limiting the exposure of the bank, or a bank within the class of banks, to any person or class of persons, where the exposure may result in concentration risk to the bank.

For the purposes of this paragraph, "exposure" means the maximum loss that a bank may incur as a result of the failure of a counterparty to meet any of its obligations.

On January 3, 2018, the MAS released a Consultation Paper on Proposed Revisions to the Regulatory Framework for Large Exposures of Singapore-incorporated Banks. The proposed revisions take into account relevant aspects of the "Supervisory framework for measuring and controlling large exposures" published by the Basel Committee in April 2014, and will apply only to Singapore-incorporated banks. The MAS released the Response to Feedback Received – Proposed Revisions to the Large Exposures Framework for Singapore-Incorporated Banks on August 31, 2018 and will, among other things, tighten the large exposures limit from 25% of eligible total capital to 25% of Tier 1 capital.

On August 14, 2019, the MAS issued MAS Notice 656 on Exposures to Single Counterparty Groups for Banks Incorporated in Singapore ("MAS Notice 656") implementing the revised requirements. MAS Notice 656 provides that, among other things, a bank incorporated in Singapore must not permit: (a) at the Solo level, the aggregate of its exposures to any single counterparty group to exceed 25% of its Tier 1 capital; and (b) at the Group level, the aggregate of the exposures of the banking group to any counterparty, any director group, any substantial shareholder group or any connected counterparty group to exceed 25% of the Tier 1 capital of the banking group. On July 1, 2021, MAS Notice 656 was amended to, amongst others, reflect that the transitional arrangements for the adoption of the standardized approach for credit risk under MAS Notice 637 will cease on December 31, 2021 and to clarify the treatment for an exempt exposure that is secured by eligible financial collateral or eligible credit protection.

On July 1, 2021 a new Section 29A to the Banking Act intended to enhance the monitoring and control of the risk of conflict between the interests of a bank in Singapore and the interests of certain persons, branches or head offices that are related to the bank took effect. The new Section 29A provides that the MAS may, by written notice, impose requirements that are reasonably necessary for the purposes of identifying credit facilities from, exposures of and transactions of, the bank, to or with certain persons, branches, entities or head offices that may give rise to any conflict of interest, and for monitoring, limiting and restricting such credit facilities, exposures and transactions. Among other things, the notice may prohibit the bank from granting any credit facility, creating any exposure or entering into any transaction to or with such a person, branch, entity or head office.

#### Credit Loss Allowance

On December 29, 2017, the MAS issued the revised MAS Notice 612 on Credit Files, Grading and Provisioning (which took effect on January 1, 2018) in relation to the changes in the recognition and measurement of allowance for credit losses introduced in SFRS(I) 9. The regulatory requirement on minimum impairment provisions for credit-impaired exposures has been removed, and banks are to measure and recognize loss allowances for expected credit losses in accordance

with the requirements of SFRS(I) 9. In addition, locally-incorporated banks which are designated by the MAS as D-SIBs are to maintain Minimum Regulatory Loss Allowances. Where the Accounting Loss Allowance falls below the Minimum Regulatory Loss Allowance, a locally-incorporated D-SIB is required to recognize the additional loss allowance by establishing a non-distributable RLAR through appropriation of retained earnings. Every bank in Singapore is required to make adequate provisions for bad and doubtful debts and before any profit or loss is declared, ensure that the provision is adequate.

## Related Party Transactions

The MAS issued MAS Notice 643 on Transactions with Related Parties ("MAS Notice 643") pursuant to the new Section 29A(1) of the Banking Act. MAS Notice 643, which took effect on July 1, 2021, sets out requirements relating to transactions of banks in Singapore with related parties and the responsibilities of banks in relation to transactions of branches or entities in the bank's group with related parties, which seek to minimize the risk of abuse arising from conflicts of interest in such transactions.

Under MAS Notice 643, a bank in Singapore is also required to obtain the approval of a special majority of three-fourths of its board and ensure that every branch or entity in its bank group obtains the approval of a special majority of three-fourths of the entity's board before entering into related party transactions that pose material risks to the bank (unless otherwise exempt), or write off any of its exposure to any of the bank's related parties, in order to provide more effective oversight over banks' related party transactions. MAS Notice 643 took effect on July 1, 2021.

#### Permitted businesses and holdings

A bank in Singapore is prohibited from carrying on or entering into any partnership, joint venture or other arrangement with any person to carry on any business except:

- (a) banking business;
- (b) business which is regulated or authorized by the MAS or if carried on in Singapore, would be regulated or authorized by the MAS under any written law;
- (c) business which is incidental to (a) or (b);
- (d) business or a class of business prescribed by the MAS; or
- (e) any other business approved by the MAS (Section 30 of the Banking Act).

On September 29, 2017, the MAS released a Consultation Paper on the Review of Anti-Commingling Framework for Banks which proposes to refine the anti-commingling framework for banks in two key aspects, including streamlining the conditions and requirements under regulation 23G of the Banking Regulations so as to make it easier for banks to conduct or invest in permissible non-financial businesses that are related or complementary to their core financial businesses, and allowing banks to engage in the operation of digital platforms that match buyers and sellers of consumer goods or services, as well as the online sale of such goods or services. In this connection, the MAS has also proposed amendments to regulations 23F and 23G of the Banking Regulations in the Consultation Paper on Proposed Amendments to Regulations, Notices and Guidelines Arising from the Banking (Amendment) Act 2020 and Other Changes published on December 2, 2020. Among other things, the MAS has prescribed a list of permissible non-financial businesses which banks may carry on if the business is related or complementary to any of the core financial business which is carried on by the bank, subject to conditions such as the requirement for the bank to put in place risk management and governance policies and procedures that are commensurate with the risks posed by such business, and obtain the approval

of the board of directors (or an authorized person, in the case of a bank incorporated outside Singapore and its head office has carried on the business before) for such policies and procedures.

The revised anti-commingling policy measures and the amendments to regulations 23F and 23G of the Banking Regulations have been effected by way of the Banking (Amendment) Regulations 2021 which took effect on July 1, 2021.

A bank in Singapore, either directly or through any subsidiary of the bank or any other company in the bank group, can hold any beneficial interest in the share capital of a company (and such other investment, interest or right as may be prescribed by the MAS) ("equity investment"), whether involved in financial business or not, so long as such equity investment does not exceed in the aggregate 2% of the capital funds of the bank or such other percentage as the MAS may prescribe. Such a restriction on a bank's equity investment does not apply to any interest held by way of security for the purposes of a transaction entered in the ordinary course of the bank's business in Singapore or to any shareholding or interest acquired or held by a bank in the course of satisfaction of debts due to the bank, where such interest is disposed of at the earliest suitable opportunity. This restriction on a bank's equity investment will also not apply in respect of any equity investment in a single company acquired or held by a bank in Singapore for the purposes of carrying on businesses that have been prescribed as a related or complementary business under regulation 23G(1) of the Banking Regulations. In addition, any major stake approved by the MAS under Section 32 of the Banking Act and any equity investment in a single company acquired or held by a bank when acting as a stabilizing bank in relation to an offer of securities issued by the company will not be subject to the restrictions on equity investment described above.

Under section 32 of the Banking Act, a bank in Singapore cannot hold or acquire, directly or indirectly, a major stake in any entity without obtaining the prior approval of MAS. A "major stake" means: (i) any beneficial interest exceeding 10% of the total number of issued shares or such other measure corresponding to shares in a company as may be prescribed; (ii) control over more than 10% of the voting power or such other measure corresponding to voting power in a company as may be prescribed; or (iii) any interest in the entity, by reason of which the management of the entity is accustomed or under an obligation, whether formal or informal, to act in accordance with the bank's directions, instructions or wishes, or where the bank is in a position to determine the policy of the entity. For the purposes of this section 32 of the Banking Act, "entity" means any body corporate or unincorporated, whether incorporated, formed or established in or outside Singapore.

No bank incorporated in Singapore shall hold or acquire, directly or through a subsidiary of the bank or any other company in the bank group, interests in or rights over immovable property, wherever situated, the value of which exceeds in the aggregate 20% of the capital funds of the bank or such other percentage as the MAS may prescribe (Section 33 of the Banking Act). The Banking Regulations further provide that the property sector exposure of a bank in Singapore shall not exceed 35% of the total eligible assets of that bank. Under the Banking Act and the Banking Regulations, a bank can invest in properties subject to an aggregate of 20% of its capital funds, but it is not allowed to engage in property development or management. However, a bank incorporated in Singapore such as OCBC is permitted to carry on property management and property enhancement services in relation to investment properties that are owned by any entity in its bank group, foreclosed properties that have been acquired or are held by any entity in its bank group and buildings (the whole or any part which is) occupied and used by any entity in its bank group for the carrying on of that entity's business. For this purpose, "bank group", in relation to a bank incorporated in Singapore, refers to the group of entities comprising (a) the bank; (b) every subsidiary of the bank; (c) every branch of the bank; and (d) every other entity that is treated as part of the bank's group of entities for accounting purposes according to the Accounting Standards (as defined in the Banking Regulations).

#### Issuance of Covered Bonds

With effect from December 31, 2013, Singapore-incorporated banks are permitted to issue covered bonds subject to conditions under MAS Notice 648 (last amended on September 27, 2021). The aggregate value of assets in the cover pools for all covered bonds issued by the bank and special purpose vehicles on behalf of the bank, and residential mortgage loans and assets eligible for inclusion in cover pools (but which have not been included) and which are transferred to the special purpose vehicles, must not exceed 10% of the value of the total assets of the bank at all times.

## Corporate Governance Regulations and Guidelines

The Guidelines on Corporate Governance for Financial Holding Companies, Banks, Direct Insurers, Reinsurers and Captive Insurers which are Incorporated in Singapore (dated April 3, 2013) (the "2013 Guidelines") comprises the Code of Corporate Governance 2012 (the "Corporate Governance Code") for companies listed on the SGX-ST and supplementary principles and guidelines from the MAS. The Guidelines and the Banking (Corporate Governance) Regulations 2005 define what is meant by an independent director and set out the requirements for the composition of the board of directors and board committees, such as the Nominating Committee, Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee and Risk Management Committee. The Guidelines also set out, inter alia, the principle that there should be a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the board of directors of a bank and the executive responsibilities of a bank, as well as the principle that there should be a strong and independent element on the board of directors of a bank, which is able to exercise objective judgment on corporate affairs independently, in particular, from the management of the bank and 10% shareholders of the bank (as defined in the Guidelines). The Guidelines also encourage the separation of the roles of Chairman and CEO and outline how this is to be applied. The Guidelines further set out the principle that the board of directors of a bank should ensure that the bank's related party transactions are undertaken on an arm's length basis.

The Corporate Governance Code was revised on August 6, 2018. The revised Corporate Governance Code sets out, amongst other things, the principles that there should be (i) a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the board of directors and the executive responsibilities of a company's business, and no one individual has unfettered powers of decision-making and (ii) an appropriate level of independence and diversity of thought and background in the composition of the board of directors of the company, to enable it to make decisions in the best interests of the company. The revised Corporate Governance Code also requires the separation of the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.

On November 9, 2021, the MAS published the Guidelines on Corporate Governance for Designated Financial Holding Companies, Banks, Direct Insurers, Reinsurers and Captive Insurers which are incorporated in Singapore (the "2021 Guidelines"), which supersedes and replaces the 2013 Guidelines. The revisions take into account international standards and industry good practices. The MAS has incorporated the Code of Corporate Governance 2018 into the 2021 Guidelines and shifted certain provisions in the 2013 Guidelines which it considers to be baseline expectations on corporate governance into the Banking (CG) Regulations 2005 for mandatory compliance. The 2021 Guidelines also include additional guidelines added by the MAS to take into account the unique characteristics of the business of banking in light of the diverse and complex risks undertaken by financial institutions conducting banking business and the responsibilities to depositors. The guidelines that relate to disclosures are effective from January 1, 2022 and will apply to the annual reports covering financial years commencing from that date, with the bulk of the other guidelines becoming effective from April 1, 2022.

To further enhance the corporate governance of banks, the Banking Act:

- (a) requires a Singapore-incorporated bank to seek the MAS' approval before it appoints certain key appointment holders (including directors and chief executive officers), and in doing so, the MAS has the power to prescribe the duties of the appointment holders and to specify the maximum term of each appointment;
- (b) empowers the MAS to remove key appointment holders of banks if they are found to be not fit and proper. The grounds for removal of such key appointment holders will be aligned with the criteria for approving their appointment. A Singapore-incorporated bank must also immediately inform the MAS if a key appointment holder is (in accordance with the Guidelines on Fit and Proper Criteria (last revised on October 8, 2018)) no longer a fit and proper person to hold the appointment;
- (c) provides a provision to protect banks' external auditors who disclose, in good faith, information to the MAS in the course of their duties from any liability that may arise from such disclosure;
- (d) empowers the MAS to direct banks to remove their external auditors if they have not discharged their statutory duties satisfactorily and protect banks' external auditors who disclose, in good faith, information to the MAS in the course of their duties from any liability that may arise from such disclosure; and
- (e) empowers the MAS to prohibit, restrict or direct a bank to terminate any transaction that the bank enters into with its related parties if it is deemed to be detrimental to depositors' interests.

## Other Requirements

The MAS issues licenses under the Banking Act to banks to transact banking business in Singapore. Such licenses may be revoked if the MAS is satisfied, among other things, that the bank holding that license: (a) has ceased to transact banking business in Singapore; (b) has furnished information or documents to the MAS in connection with its application for a bank license which is or are false or misleading in a material particular; (c) if it is a bank incorporated outside Singapore, has had its bank license or authority to operate withdrawn by the supervisory authority which is responsible, under the laws of the country or territory where the bank is incorporated, formed or established, for supervising the bank; (d) proposes to make, or has made, any composition or arrangement with its creditors or has gone into liquidation or has been wound up or otherwise dissolved; (e) is carrying on its business in a manner likely to be detrimental to the interests of the depositors of the bank or has insufficient assets to cover its liabilities to its depositors or the public; (f) is contravening or has contravened any provision of the Banking Act; (g) has been convicted of any offense under the Banking Act or any of its directors or officers holding a managerial or executive position has been convicted of any offense under the Banking Act; (h) is contravening or has contravened any provision of the Deposit Insurance and Policy Owners' Protection Schemes Act 2011 of Singapore (the "Deposit Insurance and Policy Owners' Protection Schemes Act") or any Rules issued by the deposit insurance and policy owners' protection fund agency under the Deposit Insurance and Policy Owners' Protection Schemes Act; or (i) is contravening or has contravened any provision of the MAS Act, or any direction issued by the MAS under the MAS Act.

The MAS may also revoke an existing license if, upon the MAS exercising any power under Section 49(2) of the Banking Act or the Minister exercising any power under Division 2, 3, 4 or 4A of Part 4B of the MAS Act in relation to the bank, the MAS considers that it is in the public interest to revoke the license.

In the event of the winding up of a bank, the following liabilities in Singapore of the bank shall, amongst themselves, rank in the following order of priority: (i) firstly, any premium contributions due and payable by the bank under the Deposit Insurance and Policy Owners' Protection Schemes Act; (ii) secondly, liabilities incurred by the bank in respect of insured deposits, up to the amount of compensation paid or payable out of the Deposit Insurance Fund by the Singapore Deposit Insurance Corporation Limited under the Deposit Insurance and Policy Owners' Protection Schemes Act in respect of such insured deposits; (iii) thirdly, deposit liabilities incurred by the bank with non-bank customers, other than those specified in paragraph (ii) above which are incurred (a) in Singapore dollars; or (b) on terms under which the deposit liabilities may be discharged by the bank in Singapore dollars; (iv) fourthly, deposit liabilities incurred by the bank with non-bank customers other than liabilities referred to in paragraphs (ii) and (iii); and (v) fifthly, any sum claimed by the trustee of a resolution fund (within the meaning of section 98 of the MAS Act) from the bank under section 103, 104, 105 or 106 of the MAS Act. As between liabilities of the same class referred to in each of paragraphs (i) to (v) above, such liabilities shall rank equally between themselves. The liabilities specified above shall have priority over all unsecured liabilities of the bank other than the preferential debts specified in Section 203(1) of the Insolvency, Restructuring and Dissolution Act 2018 of Singapore.

On August 4, 2017, the MAS issued the Consultation Paper on Proposed Enhancements to the Deposit Insurance Scheme and Legislative Amendments to the Deposit Insurance and Policy Owners' Protection Schemes Act and Regulations which sets out recommendations to enhance various features of the DI Scheme. Among other things, the MAS proposes to amend the Deposit Insurance and Policy Owners' Protection Schemes Act to effect changes previously proposed in earlier consultations, issued on April 18, 2017 and September 11, 2014, such as the definition of "personal" insurance policy and the introduction of caps on compensation payout for certain property damage claims. The Deposit Insurance and Policy Owners' Protection Schemes Act was amended pursuant to the Deposit Insurance and Policy Owners' Protection Schemes (Amendment) Act 2018 with effect from April 1, 2019. Following the amendments, the deposit insurance coverage limit was raised from \$\$50,000 to \$\$75,000.

Section 48AA of the Banking Act (as amended by the Banking (Amendment) Act 2016 (the "Banking Amendment Act 2016") with effect from November 30, 2018) requires banks to inform the MAS of any development that materially affects the bank adversely, and in the case of Singapore-incorporated banks, any development that materially affects the bank or its related entities adversely.

Banks in Singapore previously had to maintain separate accounting units for their domestic banking unit ("**DBU**") and their Asian currency unit ("**ACU**"). On November 4, 2019, the Banking (Amendment) Bill (B35/2019) was introduced in Parliament to (among other things) remove the DBU-ACU divide, and make consequential amendments to regulatory requirements following the removal of the DBU-ACU divide.

The MAS has previously noted that the removal of the DBU-ACU divide would require significant amendments to changes in banks' regulatory reporting systems. In this regard, the MAS issued an updated MAS Notice 610 on Submission of Statistics and Returns ("MAS Notice 610") on May 17, 2018 that was intended to take effect from October 1, 2020 providing a 30-month implementation timeline. However, the MAS Notice 610 dated May 17, 2018 was canceled and superseded by a new MAS Notice 610 issued on July 16, 2019 (last revised on August 18, 2020), which took effect from July 1, 2021.

#### Resolution Powers

Under the MAS Act and the Banking Act, the MAS has resolution powers in respect of Singapore licensed banks. Broadly speaking, the MAS has powers to (amongst other things) assume control of a bank, impose moratoriums, temporarily stay termination rights of counterparties, order compulsory transfers of business or shares and impose requirements relating to recovery and resolution planning.

The MAS has published a series of consultation papers on proposed enhancements to the resolution regime for financial institutions in Singapore. These consultation papers contain proposals to enhance the MAS' resolution powers in areas such as recovery and resolution planning, temporary stays on termination rights, statutory bail-in powers, cross-border recognition of resolution actions, creditor compensation framework and resolution funding arrangements. The MAS Amendment Act was gazetted on August 1, 2017 and incorporates the proposed legislative amendments to enhance the resolution regime.

The MAS Amendment Act has largely come into operation, and most of the relevant amendments relating to the resolution framework have come into force from October 29, 2018. To support the implementation of the changes, the Monetary Authority of Singapore (Resolution of Financial Institutions) Regulations 2018 (the "**RFI Regulations**") have been issued and also took effect from October 29, 2018. The MAS' resolution powers include among other things, statutory powers allowing the MAS to temporarily stay early termination rights (including set-off and netting rights) of counterparties to financial contracts entered into with a financial institution over which the MAS may exercise its resolution powers (which would include Singapore licensed banks), a statutory bail-in regime, cross-border recognition of resolution action, creditor safeguards and resolution funding.

Pursuant to the MAS Amendment Act, the MAS is empowered under Division 4A of Part 4B of the MAS Act to write down or convert a financial institution's debt into equity. The entities subject to the statutory bail-in powers of the MAS are presently limited to Singapore-incorporated banks and Singapore-incorporated bank holding companies (each a "Division 4A financial institution"). The classes of instruments subject to the bail-in powers of the MAS are provided under regulation 23 of the RFI Regulations and include:

- (a) any equity instrument or other instrument that confers or represents a legal or beneficial ownership in the Division 4A financial institution except an ordinary share;
- (b) any unsecured liability or other unsecured debt instrument that is subordinated to unsecured creditors' claims of the Division 4A financial institution that are not so subordinated; and
- (c) any instrument that provides for a right for the instrument to be written down, canceled, modified, changed in form or converted into shares or another instrument of ownership, when a specified event occurs,

but do not include any instrument issued before November 29, 2018, or a derivatives contract as defined in regulation 9(2) of the RFI Regulations.

In the event of bail-in, all shareholders' voting rights on matters which require shareholders' approval will be suspended until the Minister has published a notice in the Gazette that the moratorium ceases to apply. In respect of any person who becomes a significant shareholder (i.e. if they have reached the relevant shareholding thresholds) as a result of the bail-in, the Minister may serve a written notice on that person if:

#### (a) the MAS is not satisfied that:

- (i) the person is, in accordance with the Guidelines on Fit and Proper Criteria, a fit and proper person to be a significant shareholder; and
- (ii) having regard to the likely influence of the person on it, the Division 4A financial institution or an entity established or incorporated to do one or both of the following: (A) temporarily hold and manage the assets and liabilities of the Division 4A financial institution; and/or (B) do any act for the orderly resolution of the Division 4A financial institution ("resulting financial institution") will or will continue to conduct its business prudently and comply with the provisions of the MAS Act and the relevant Act applicable to it; or

#### (b) the Minister is not satisfied that:

- (i) in a case where the Division 4A financial institution or resulting financial institution is a bank incorporated in Singapore, it is in the national interest for the person to remain a significant shareholder of the Division 4A financial institution or resulting financial institution, as the case may be; or
- (ii) in any other case, it is in the public interest for the person to remain a significant shareholder of the Division 4A financial institution or resulting financial institution, as the case may be.

Where the Minister has served such a notice, then, until the person has disposed of or transferred the shares specified in the notice and in accordance with the notice:

- no voting rights are exercisable in respect of the specified shares except with the permission of the Minister, whether or not a notice under section 77(2) is published that the provision has ceased to apply;
- (ii) no shares of the Division 4A financial institution or resulting financial institution (as the case may be) may be issued or offered (whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise) in respect of the specified shares except with the permission of the Minister; and
- (iii) except in a liquidation of the Division 4A financial institution or resulting financial institution (as the case may be), the Division 4A financial institution or resulting financial institution may not make any payment (whether by way of dividends or otherwise) in respect of the specified shares except with the permission of the Minister.

This will ensure that only fit and proper persons can exercise voting rights attached to significant stakes in the financial institution. When exercising its bail-in powers, the MAS must have regard to the desirability of giving each pre-resolution creditor or pre-resolution shareholder of the Division 4A financial institution the priority and treatment the pre-resolution creditor or pre-resolution shareholder would have enjoyed had the Division 4A financial institution been wound up.

In addition, a Division 4A financial institution is also required to insert contractual bail-in clauses into instruments which fall within the scope of the MAS' statutory bail-in powers but which are governed by foreign laws, to the effect that the parties to the contract agree that the instrument may be the subject of the MAS' bail-in powers.

The amendments effected under the MAS Amendment Act empower the MAS to subject a bank to recovery and resolution planning requirements by issuing a direction under section 43(1) of the MAS Act to the bank (a "**notified bank**"). A notified bank must comply with the recovery and resolution planning requirements under MAS Notice 654 on Recovery and Resolution Planning which was issued on January 30, 2019, including the requirement to prepare, review and keep up-to-date a recovery plan that sets out a framework of recovery triggers (i.e. points at which appropriate recovery options may be taken) and an escalation process upon the occurrence of a trigger event, among other things.

On November 1, 2021, a new regulation 27A of the RFI Regulations took effect. Under regulation 27A of the RFI Regulations, a "qualifying pertinent financial institution" ("QPFI") and its subsidiaries will be required to include enforceable provisions in financial contracts governed by foreign law which contain termination rights to ensure that the exercise of the termination rights for such contracts will be subject to MAS' temporary stay powers under sections 83 and 84 of the MAS Act. A QPFI is defined as a bank that is incorporated in Singapore and to which a direction has been issued under section 43(1) of the MAS Act. A three-year transitional period has been provided from November 1, 2021 for QPFIs to implement the contractual recognition requirement.

Existing safeguards in connection with compulsory transfer of business during resolution, have also be extended to reverse and onward transfers of business with effect from November 1, 2021.

# Examinations and Reporting Arrangements for Banks

The MAS conducts on-site examinations of banks. Banks are also subject to annual audit by an external auditor approved by the MAS, who, aside from the annual balance sheet and profit and loss account must report to the MAS immediately if in the course of the performance of his duties as an auditor of the bank, he is satisfied that: (a) there has been a serious breach or non-observance of the provisions of the Banking Act or that otherwise a criminal offense involving fraud or dishonesty has been committed; (b) in the case of a bank incorporated in Singapore, losses have been incurred which reduce the capital funds of the bank by 50%; (c) serious irregularities have occurred, including irregularities that jeopardize the security of the creditors; (d) he is unable to confirm that the claims of creditors are still covered by the assets; or (e) any development has occurred or is likely to occur which has materially and adversely affected, or is likely to materially and adversely affect, the financial soundness of the bank.

In the February 7, 2019 Banking Act Consultation Paper, as a consequence of the impending removal of the DBU-ACU divide, the MAS has proposed to introduce a new reporting benchmark wherein the auditor must report to the MAS immediately if he becomes aware of any development that has occurred or is likely to occur which he has reasonable grounds to believe has materially affected adversely, or is likely to materially affect adversely, the financial soundness of the bank. With the new reporting benchmark, limb (b) above would no longer apply to all banks, but only to banks incorporated in Singapore.

The MAS has discontinued the mandatory audit firm rotation policy for local banks. On July 17, 2018, the MAS canceled MAS Notice 615 on Appointment of Auditors ("MAS Notice 615") dated March 27, 2002 and issued a new MAS Notice 615 (which took effect on the July 18, 2018) pursuant to which banks incorporated and headquartered in Singapore will have to conduct a public tender for the reappointment of an auditor who has been appointed for a period of ten or more consecutive financial years following the last conduct of a public tender. The implementation timeline will be the financial year ending December 31, 2020 for banks with incumbent auditors for

more than ten consecutive years; and the financial year ending December 31, 2022 or ten years after the commencement of the audit engagement, whichever is later, for banks with incumbent auditors for up to ten consecutive years as of December 31, 2017.

Under section 58 of the Banking Act (as amended by the Banking Amendment Act 2016 with effect from November 30, 2018) the MAS is empowered to direct banks to remove their external auditors if the MAS is not satisfied with the performance of any duty by the auditors of those banks.

All banks in Singapore are required to submit periodic statistical returns, financial reports and auditors' reports to the MAS, including returns covering minimum cash balances and liquidity returns, statements of assets and liabilities and total foreign exchange business transacted.

The MAS may also require ad hoc reports to be submitted.

## Inspection and Investigative Powers

The MAS' inspection and investigative powers are set out under section 43 to section 44A of the Banking Act which allow the MAS to, under conditions of secrecy: (a) inspect the books of each bank in Singapore and of any branch, agency or office outside Singapore opened by a bank incorporated in Singapore; (b) inspect the books of each subsidiary incorporated in Singapore of a bank incorporated in Singapore, where the subsidiary is not regulated or licensed by the MAS under any other Act; and (c) investigate the books of any bank in Singapore if the MAS has reason to believe that the bank is carrying on its business in a manner likely to be detrimental to the interests of its depositors and other creditors, has insufficient assets to cover its liabilities to the public or is contravening the provisions of the Banking Act.

On July 2, 2021, the MAS published the Consultation Paper on Proposed Amendments to MAS' Investigative and Other Powers under the Various Acts proposing amendments under the Financial Institutions (Miscellaneous Amendments) Bill to various pieces of legislation including the Banking Act. The proposals aim to enhance the MAS' evidence-gathering powers and to facilitate greater inter-agency coordination. Amongst the proposed amendments to the Banking Act include according the MAS the power to require any person to provide information for the purposes of investigation, requiring any person to appear for examination, allowing the MAS to enter premises without warrant and be able to transfer evidence between the MAS and other agencies.

#### Directors and Executive Officers of Banks

A bank incorporated in Singapore must not permit a person who is subject to certain circumstances set out in Section 54(1) of the Banking Act (for example where the person is an undischarged bankrupt, whether in Singapore or elsewhere) to act as its executive officer or director without the prior written consent of the MAS. The MAS may also direct the removal of a director of a bank in Singapore which is incorporated in Singapore or executive officer of a bank in Singapore if the MAS is satisfied that the director or executive officer (as the case may be) is not a fit and proper person under Section 54(2) of the Banking Act – this has been aligned with the criteria for approving their appointment. Banks are required under Section 53A of the Banking Act to notify the MAS of any development that could affect the fitness and propriety of their key appointment holders. Similar provisions apply to financial holding companies by virtue of the MAS Act where the MAS may direct the removal of a director of a financial holding company which is established or incorporated in Singapore or executive officer a financial holding company on the basis of three grounds set out in section 40(2) of the MAS Act, (one of which is where the MAS is satisfied that the executive officer or director wilfully contravened or wilfully caused the bank to contravene any provision of the MAS Act) where the MAS thinks that such removal is necessary in the public interest or for the protection of persons that the MAS has prescribed for the purposes of section 40(2) of the MAS Act.

#### Financial Benchmarks

The SFA Amendment Act was gazetted on February 16, 2017, and came into force on October 8, 2018. Among other things, the SFA Amendment Act introduced a legislative framework for the regulation of financial benchmarks through a new Part 6AA in the SFA. The SFA Amendment Act (a) introduces specific criminal and civil sanctions under the SFA for manipulation of any financial benchmark (including SIBOR, SOR and Foreign Exchange spot benchmarks), and (b) subjects the setting of key financial benchmarks (which are designated as "designated benchmarks" by the MAS) to regulatory oversight. Benchmark administrators and benchmark submitters of designated benchmarks are subject to regulatory requirements under the SFA.

The Securities and Futures (Financial Benchmark) Regulations 2018 were issued on October 8, 2018, and set out the admission, ongoing conduct and other requirements which apply to benchmark administrators and benchmark submitters of designated benchmarks. Pursuant to the Securities and Futures (Designated Benchmarks) Order 2018, the MAS designated the SIBOR and SOR as designated benchmarks with effect from October 8, 2018.

On August 30, 2019, the MAS announced the establishment of SC-STS to oversee an industry-wide benchmark transition from SOR to SORA. In addition, the ABS and the SFEMC released a consultation report "Roadmap for Transition of Interest Rate Benchmarks: From SOR to SORA" identifying SORA as the alternative interest rate benchmark to SOR, envisaging a phased transition over two years. On March 19, 2020, the SC-STS released its response to feedback received on the consultation report in which the SC-STS noted that overall, there was broad support for the proposed transition roadmap and approach set out in the consultation report. In its response, the SC-STS also outlined its key priorities and updated transition roadmap to achieve a smooth transition from SOR to SORA as the new interest rate benchmark for the SGD cash and derivatives markets.

# Framework for Systemically Important Banks in Singapore

OCBC was designated as a D-SIB in Singapore on April 30, 2015. The framework for D-SIBs is set out in the MAS' information paper on the MAS' Framework for Impact and Risk Assessment of Financial Institutions (revised in September 2015), which builds on the proposals set out in the MAS Consultation Paper on the Proposed Framework for Systemically Important Banks in Singapore dated June 25, 2014. Broadly, D-SIBs will be subject to more intensive supervision by the MAS than banks which are not so designated. In particular, there is no assurance that the MAS will not impose increased capital adequacy or liquidity requirements on D-SIBs, which may have an adverse effect on OCBC's return on capital and profitability.

#### Supervision by Other Agencies

Our overseas operations are also supervised by the regulatory agencies in their respective jurisdictions.

Apart from being supervised by the MAS, our stockbroking and futures trading arms are also supervised by the Singapore Exchange Limited.

# Singapore Insurance Industry

The MAS regulates and supervises licensed insurers in Singapore. The insurance regulatory framework in Singapore consists mainly of the Insurance Act 1966 of Singapore (the "Insurance Act") and its related regulations, as well as the relevant notices, guidelines, circulars and practice notes issued by the MAS. With effect from April 18, 2013, the Insurance Act was amended by the Insurance (Amendment) Act 2013 (No. 11 of 2013) to, *inter alia*, enhance the powers of the MAS under the Insurance Act to meet its supervisory objectives, to improve the clarity or consistency of existing policy, to align the Insurance Act with other MAS-administered statutes and to repeal certain provisions which have become obsolete. This section sets out certain key regulations applicable to licensed insurers in the conduct of their insurance business, and does not address the regulatory framework applicable to insurance intermediaries (whether or not agents or employees of licensed insurers) whether in respect of life or non-life policies.

The holding company of a Singapore licensed insurer could also be subject to regulation if required to be approved as a financial holding company under Section 28 of the MAS Act. The requirements pertaining to financial holding companies will be enhanced when the Financial Holding Companies Act 2013 ("FHC Act") becomes effective. The FHC Act was passed by Parliament on April 8, 2013 and published on April 11, 2014. The FHC Act was introduced to establish the regulatory framework for designated Singapore-incorporated financial holding companies with one or more Singapore incorporated bank or insurance subsidiaries. The salient provisions in the FHC Act relate to:

- (a) a requirement to provide the MAS with information requested by the MAS for supervision purposes;
- (b) restrictions on the use of the name, logo and trademark of a designated financial holding company;
- (c) restrictions on the activities of a designated financial holding company;
- (d) restrictions on the shareholding and control of a designated financial holding company;
- (e) limits on exposures and investments;
- (f) minimum asset requirements;
- (g) minimum capital and capital adequacy requirements;
- (h) leverage ratio requirements;
- (i) supervision and reporting requirements; and
- (j) approval requirements for the appointment of directors and chief executives.

Some of these requirements remain to be specified in subsidiary legislation or notices to be issued by the MAS, for instance, minimum liquid assets, capital adequacy and leverage ratio.

The FHC Act provides for transition periods for designated financial holding companies to comply with various provisions in the specific provisions and a general power for the Minister for Finance to prescribe by regulations, for a period of two years from the commencement of operation of any provision, transitional provisions consequent on the enactment of that provision.

Great Eastern Holdings is approved as a Financial Holding Company under Section 28 of the MAS Act and is subject to requirements imposed by the MAS. The FHC Act will be applicable to Great Eastern Holdings when it comes into operation. Great Eastern Holdings' subsidiary, Great Eastern Life is incorporated with limited liability in Singapore and is a direct insurer licensed to carry on life insurance business under the Insurance Act. Great Eastern Holdings' subsidiary GEG is incorporated with limited liability in Singapore and is a licensed direct insurer under the Insurance Act and holds a composite license to carry on both life insurance business and general insurance business. GEG currently only sells general insurance.

Great Eastern Life is included by the Central Provident Fund ("CPF") Board as an insurer under the CPF Investment Scheme, where CPF monies may, subject to certain conditions, be used by CPF members to purchase investment-linked insurance policies issued by Great Eastern Life if such policies are also included under the CPF Investment Scheme.

# Exempt Financial Adviser Status of Great Eastern Life

As a company licensed under the Insurance Act, Great Eastern Life is an exempt financial adviser under the FAA in relation to (a) advising others (other than advising on corporate finance within the meaning of the SFA) either directly or through publications or writings, and whether in electronic, print or other form, concerning life policies, (b) advising others by issuing or promulgating research analyses or research reports, whether in electronic, print or other form, concerning life policies and (c) arranging of any contract of insurance in respect of life policies. As an exempt financial adviser, Great Eastern Life is subject to certain conduct of business and other requirements applicable under the FAA and its related regulations, notices, guidelines, practice notes, circulars and information papers.

# Supervisory Powers of the Monetary Authority of Singapore

Under the Insurance Act, the MAS has, among other things, the power to impose conditions on a licensed insurer and may add to, vary or revoke any existing conditions of the license. In addition, the MAS may issue such directions as it may consider necessary for carrying into effect the objects of the Insurance Act and may at any time vary, rescind or revoke any such directions. The MAS may also issue such directions to an insurer as it may consider necessary or assume control of and manage such of the business of the insurer as it may determine, or appoint one or more persons as statutory manager to do so, where, among other things, it is satisfied that the affairs of the insurer are being conducted in a manner likely to be detrimental to the public interest or the interests of the policy owners or prejudicial to the interests of the insurer. The MAS is also empowered to cancel the license of an insurer on certain grounds.

## Special Financial Relief Program

In response to the COVID-19 outbreak, the MAS, LIA and GIA introduced a Special Financial Relief Program for individuals and small and medium enterprises. Amongst other things, the relief measures allow individuals with life and health insurance policies with a policy renewal or premium due date between April 1 and September 30, 2020 to apply to their insurer to defer premium payments for up to six months while maintaining insurance coverage during this period, and individuals with general insurance policies, such as for property and vehicles, to apply to their general insurance company for installment payment plans while maintaining insurance protection.

In connection with these measures, MAS has released updates to certain MAS notices, such as MAS Notice 115, MAS Notice 115B, MAS Notice 118 and MAS Notice 128A.

The Special Financial Relief Program concluded on December 31, 2021.

# Capital Requirements

A licensed insurer is required at all times to maintain a minimum level of paid-up ordinary share capital. A licensed insurer incorporated in Singapore must obtain the prior written approval of the MAS to reduce its paid-up ordinary share capital or redeem any preference share. Further, a licensed insurer which is incorporated in Singapore is required to notify the MAS of its intention to issue any preference share or certain instruments prior to the date of issue of the preference share or instrument.

The MAS issued the RBC 2 Review on June 22, 2012 followed by a second and third consultation paper on March 26, 2014 and July 15, 2016 respectively. First introduced in 2004, the risk-based capital framework:

- (a) adopts a risk-focused approach to assessing capital adequacy and seeks to reflect the relevant risks that insurers face;
- (b) prescribes minimum capital which serves as a buffer to absorb losses; and
- (c) provides clearer information on the financial strength of insurers and facilitates early and effective intervention by MAS, where necessary.

The MAS has stated that the RBC 2 Review is not intended to result in a significant overhaul to the existing framework. Instead, it seeks to improve the comprehensiveness of the risk coverage and the risk sensitivity of the framework as well as define more specifically the MAS' supervisory approach with respect to the solvency intervention levels. The MAS has also stated that insurers in Singapore are well-capitalized and the objective of RBC 2 is therefore not to raise the industry's overall regulatory capital requirements, but to ensure that the framework for assessing capital adequacy is more aligned to an insurer's business activities and risk profiles. The MAS will work with the industry on the implementation date later after the design is more firmed up. The MAS has noted from previous consultations that the industry has indicated that it would need at least two years after the finalization of the framework to implement RBC 2 and has stated that the industry will be given sufficient time to prepare for the implementation of RBC 2. On February 28, 2020, the MAS concluded the RBC 2 Review by issuing the Insurance (Valuation and Capital) (Amendment) Regulations 2020 (which amend the existing Insurance (Valuation and Capital) Regulations 2004) and the new MAS Notice 133 on Valuation and Capital Framework for Insurers ("MAS Notice 133"). The Insurance (Valuation and Capital) (Amendment) Regulations 2020 and MAS Notice 133, which specify fund solvency requirements and capital adequacy requirements for a licensed insurer, came into effect on March 31, 2020.

According to the Insurance (Valuation and Capital) Regulations 2004 and MAS Notice 133, a licensed insurer must at all times maintain its fund solvency requirement at the adjusted fund level and the capital adequacy requirement at the company level.

An adjusted fund is:

- (a) a participating fund established and maintained by a licensed insurer under the Insurance Act that relates to Singapore policies;
- (b) a participating fund established and maintained by a licensed insurer under the Insurance Act that relates to offshore policies;

- (c) the aggregate of the following insurance funds (if any) established and maintained by a licensed insurer under the Insurance Act that relate to Singapore policies:
  - (i) a non-participating fund;
  - (ii) an investment-linked fund;
  - (iii) a general fund; or
- (d) the aggregate of the following insurance funds (if any) established and maintained by a licensed insurer under the Insurance Act that relate to offshore policies:
  - (i) a non-participating fund;
  - (ii) an investment-linked fund;
  - (iii) a general fund.

Under regulation 4(1) of the Insurance (Valuation and Capital) Regulations 2004 and MAS Notice 133, the fund solvency requirement in respect of an insurance fund established and maintained by a licensed insurer under the Insurance Act is that the total assets of the fund must not at any time be less than the total liabilities of the fund. The fund solvency requirement of an adjusted fund is that the financial resources of the adjusted fund must not at any time be less than:

- (a) the amount of the total risk requirement of the adjusted fund at the higher solvency intervention level; and
- (b) the amount of the total risk requirement of the adjusted fund at the lower solvency intervention level.

A licensed insurer is also required always to satisfy its capital adequacy requirement, which is that its financial resources must not at any time be less than:

- (a) the higher of the following:
  - (i) the amount of the total risk requirement of the licensed insurer at the higher solvency intervention level;
  - (ii) S\$5 million; and
- (b) the higher of the following:
  - (i) the amount of the total risk requirement of the licensed insurer at the lower solvency intervention level;
  - (ii) S\$5 million.

A licensed insurer must also ensure that at all times: (a) where it is an insurer incorporated in Singapore, the Common Equity Tier 1 ("CET1") Capital ratio which is determined as the ratio of the CET1 Capital over the sum of total risk requirements (excluding the risk requirements of participating funds) is not less than 60%; and (b) the Tier 1 Capital ratio which is determined as the ratio of the Tier 1 Capital over the sum of total risk requirements (excluding the risk requirements of participating funds) is not less than 80%.

The fund solvency requirement and capital adequacy requirement must be met at two supervisory solvency intervention levels, namely the higher solvency intervention level and the lower solvency intervention level. Each of the "financial resources" of an insurer and insurance fund, the "higher solvency intervention level", "lower solvency intervention level" and the "total risk requirement" is determined, and assets and liabilities are valued, in accordance with the requirements of the Insurance (Valuation and Capital) Regulations 2004, the MAS Notice 133 on Valuation and Capital Framework for Insurers, the MAS Guidelines on the Preparation of Actuarial Investigation Report and the MAS Guidelines on Use of Internal Models for Liability and Capital Requirements for Life Insurance Products Containing Investment Guarantees with Non-Linear Payouts, where applicable.

A licensed insurer is required to immediately notify the MAS when it becomes aware that the fund solvency requirement or the capital adequacy requirement is not satisfied or is not likely to be satisfied in accordance with section 17(1) of the Insurance Act. The MAS has the authority to direct that the insurer satisfy fund solvency or capital adequacy requirements other than those that the insurer is required to maintain under the Insurance Act if the MAS considers it appropriate. The MAS also has the power to impose directions on the insurer, and direct the insurer to carry on its business in such manner and in accordance with such conditions as imposed by the MAS in the event that it is notified of any failure or likely failure, or is aware of any inability, of the insurer to comply with the fund solvency or capital adequacy requirement described above.

The MAS also has the general power to impose asset maintenance requirements.

## Policy Owners' Protection Scheme

The Singapore Deposit Insurance Corporation Limited ("SDIC") administers the Policy Owners' Protection Scheme (the "PPF Scheme") in accordance with the Deposit Insurance and Policy Owners' Protection Schemes Act 2011 for the purposes of compensating (in part or whole) or otherwise assisting or protecting insured policy owners and beneficiaries in respect of the insured policies issued by PPF Scheme members and for securing the continuity of insurance for insured policy owners as far as reasonably practicable. PPF Scheme members essentially comprise direct insurers licensed to carry on life business under the Insurance Act (other than captive insurers) and direct insurers or specialist insurers), in each case, which are not exempted from the requirement to be a PPF Scheme member.

There are two funds established under the PPF Scheme, namely the Policy Owners' Protection Life Fund (the "PPF Life Fund") to cover insured policies comprised in insurance funds established and maintained under Section 16 of the Insurance Act by direct insurers licensed to carry on life business and the Policy Owners' Protection General Fund (the "PPF General Fund") to cover insured policies comprised in insurance funds established and maintained under Section 16 of the Insurance Act by direct insurers licensed to carry on general business.

As PPF Scheme members, each of Great Eastern Life and GEG is required to pay a levy for any premium year or part thereof in respect of the insured policies issued by it. The levy rates for the purposes of computing the levies payable by PPF Scheme members are assessed and determined by the MAS. Where the MAS is of the opinion that there are insufficient moneys in the PPF Life Fund or the PPF General Fund, as the case may be, to pay any compensation due to insured policy owners or beneficiaries, or to fund any transfer or run-off of the insurance business of any failed PPF Scheme member under the Deposit Insurance and Policy Owners' Protection Schemes Act, the MAS may, with the concurrence of SDIC, require PPF Scheme members to pay additional levies for any premium year or part thereof and determine the levy rate(s) for the purposes of computing the additional levies.

# Asset Management

MAS Notice 125 on Investments of Insurers sets out the basic principles that govern the oversight of investment activities of an insurer and the investments of its insurance funds, and in the case of an insurer that is incorporated or established in Singapore, the investments of both its insurance funds and its shareholders' funds. It contains requirements relating to, among other things, the oversight by the board of directors and senior management, the various reports to be made by the investment committee to the board of directors at the prescribed frequency, duties of the investment committee, asset-liability management and permitted derivatives activities.

MAS Notice 105 on Insurer's Appointment of Custodians, requires a licensed insurer to ensure that every custodian and, where applicable, sub-custodian, which holds any asset of its insurance fund established and maintained under section 16 of the Insurance Act ("insurance fund asset"), is licensed, approved, registered or otherwise regulated for its business or activity of providing custodial services by the relevant authority in the jurisdiction where the respective custody account or sub-custody account is maintained. A licensed insurer must also ensure:

- (a) that insurance fund assets held by a custodian or sub-custodian, as the case may be, are kept separate from the assets of the custodian or the sub-custodian, respectively;
- (b) that the extent of the custodian's liability in the event of any loss caused by fraud, wilfull default or negligence on the part of the custodian, its sub-custodians or its agents is agreed upon in writing with the insurer;
- (c) that any material or systemic breach of the custody agreement between the custodian and the insurer must be brought to the insurer's attention as soon as possible; and
- (d) that, except as agreed in writing with the insurer, a custodian or a sub-custodian, with whom the insurance fund assets are held in a custody account or subaccount, does not:
  - (i) withdraw any of the insurance fund assets; or
  - (ii) take any charge, mortgage, lien or other encumbrance over, or in relation to any of the insurance fund assets.

The MAS has in the Consultation Paper on Proposed Revisions to Enterprise Risk Management, Investment and Public Disclosure Requirements for Insurers published on February 19, 2021 proposed amendments to Appendix A of MAS Notice 125 which sets out the requirement for the board-approved written investment policy of an insurer to include limits for the allocation of assets by geographical area, markets, sectors, counterparties and currency. MAS proposes to require that limits for the allocation of assets by type of asset and credit rating be additionally established in the board-approved written investment policy.

MAS Notice 320 on Management of Participating Life Insurance Business ("MAS Notice 320") requires a direct life insurer which has established or will be establishing a participating fund to put in place an internal governance policy on the management of its participating life insurance business. The insurer must, among other things, ensure that the participating fund is managed in accordance with the rules and guiding principles set out in the internal governance policy.

Under section 34 of the Insurance Act, no licensed insurer that is established or incorporated in Singapore shall acquire or hold, directly or indirectly, a major stake in any corporation without the prior approval of the MAS and any approval granted by the MAS may be subject to such conditions as determined by the MAS, including any condition relating to the operations or activities of the corporation.

# Separate Insurance Funds

Every licensed insurer is required to establish and maintain a separate insurance fund (a) for each class of insurance business carried on by the insurer that (i) relates to Singapore policies and (ii) relates to offshore policies; (b) in the case of a direct insurer licensed to carry on life insurance business, for its investment-linked policies and for its non-investment-linked policies; and (c) if, in the case of a direct insurer licensed to carry on life insurance business, no part of the surplus of assets over liabilities from the insurer's non-participating policies is allocated by the insurer by way of bonus to its participating policies, in respect of its non-investment-linked policies (i) for its participating policies and (ii) for its non-participating policies.

MAS Notice 101 on Maintenance of Insurance Funds and MAS Guidelines on Implementation of Insurance Fund Concept provide further guidance and requirements on, among other things, the establishment and maintenance of insurance funds and the segregation of the assets of licensed insurers in Singapore as required under the Insurance Act. The Insurance Act also prescribes requirements relating to, among other things, withdrawals from the insurance funds, and insurance funds consisting wholly or partly of participating policies.

All receipts of the insurer properly attributable to the business to which an insurance fund relates (including the income of the fund) must be paid into that fund, and the assets in the insurance fund shall apply only to meet such part of the insurer's liabilities and expenses as is properly so attributable.

## Reinsurance

MAS Notice 114 on Reinsurance Management sets forth the mandatory requirement for direct insurers to submit annual returns pertaining to their outward reinsurance arrangements and exposures to their top 10 reinsurance counterparties as well as the guiding principles relating to the oversight of the reinsurance management process of insurers (which includes the principle that the board of directors and senior management of an insurer should develop, implement and maintain a reinsurance management strategy appropriate to the operations of the insurer to ensure that the insurer has sufficient resources to meet obligations as they fall due), the classification of a contract as a reinsurance contract, and the assessment of significant insurance risk transfer. In addition, the MAS has issued MAS Guidelines on Risk Management Practices for Insurance Business — Core Activities, which provide further guidance on risk management practices in general, relating to, among other things, reinsurance management.

# Regulation of Products

A direct insurer licensed to carry on life business may only issue a life policy or a long-term accident and health policy if the premium chargeable under the policy is in accordance with rates fixed with the approval of an appointed actuary or, where no rates have been so fixed, is a premium approved by the actuary.

A direct life insurer is required under MAS Notice 302 on Product Development and Pricing ("MAS Notice 302") to exercise prudent management oversight on the pricing and development of insurance products and investment-linked policy sub-funds, and to, before offering certain new products, either obtain the approval of, or notify, the MAS, as the case may be. Such request for approval or notification shall include information on, among other things, the tables of premium rates. MAS Notice 302 also sets forth prohibited payout features and requirements relating to disclosure to policyholders and persons entitled to payment of the policy moneys under a policy who have exercised a certain settlement option. MAS Notice 302 has been amended to take into account the approval requirements which apply to the Direct Purchase Insurance Products ("DPIs"). In relation to DPIs, the MAS issued MAS Notice 321 on Direct Purchase Insurance Products ("MAS Notice 321") on May 13, 2016 which imposes specific obligations on a direct life

insurer in respect of DPIs and also requires insurers to obtain written approval from the MAS before offering any new or re-priced DPI for sale to the public. On March 19, 2021, amendments were made to MAS Notice 302 and 321 to replace the hardcopy submission requirements for new or revised products, including DPIs with electronic submission (via email) requirements.

In addition, the MAS has issued the MAS Guidelines on Risk Management Practices for Insurance Business – Core Activities, which provide further guidance on risk management practices in general, relating to, among other things, product development and pricing.

There are also mandatory requirements and non-mandatory standards which would apply under MAS Notice 307 on Investment-Linked Policies to investment-linked policies relating to, among other things, disclosure, investment guidelines, borrowing limits and operational practices. Licensed insurers are required to provide for a free-look period for life policies, and accident and health policies with a duration of one year or more. On June 28, 2021, amendments were made to MAS Notice 307 on the Investment-Linked Policy's ("ILP") fees and charges and came into effect on July 1, 2021. For any ILP that is issued on or after October 8, 2021, an insurer shall:

- (a) consolidate the fees and charges, other than charges for insurance coverage, that are imposed upfront, where such fees or charges are deducted from premiums that are paid on the ILP or deducted via a cancelation of units in an ILP sub-fund ("upfront deductions");
- (b) disclose the upfront deductions as a single charge, and term it as a "premium charge" in any such disclosure that the insurer is required by the Authority to make or when referring to it in an advertisement or any other communication made to policyholders; and
- (c) not use the term "premium allocation rate" in any such disclosure that the insurer is required by the MAS to make or when referring to it in any advertisement.

## Market Conduct Standards

MAS Notice 306 on Market Conduct Standards for Life Insurers Providing Financial Advisory Services as Defined under the Financial Advisers Act ("MAS Notice 306") imposes certain requirements on direct life insurers which provide financial advisory services under the FAA relating to, among other things, training and competency requirements, prohibition against subsidized loans to representatives out of life insurance funds, establishing a compliance unit, taking disciplinary action against representatives for misconduct, and allocation/non-allocation of income and expenses to the life insurance funds. On February 19, 2021, an amendment was made to MAS Notice 306 such that an insurer is no longer required to submit information on its provision of financial advisory services annually to the MAS, with effect from February 22, 2021. The MAS Notice 318 on Market Conduct Standards for Direct Life Insurer as a Product Provider ("MAS Notice 318") also imposes certain requirements on direct life insurers as product providers of life policies relating to, among other things, standards of disclosure and restrictions on the sales process and the replacement of life policies.

MAS Notice 211 on Minimum and Best Practice Training and Competency Standards for Direct General Insurers requires direct general insurers to only enter into insurance contracts arranged by agents or staff with requisite registration and minimum qualification requirements (unless exemptions apply), and requires direct general insurers to ensure that staff of certain agents who sell or provide sales advice on the insurers' products are adequately trained and that front-end operatives meet the qualification requirements (unless exemptions apply) before they are allowed to provide sales advice on or sell general insurance products or handle claims. MAS Notice 211 was also revised as of July 6, 2015 to (among other things) clarify that the requirements similarly apply to outsourced claims handlers, with the amendments taking effect on July 20, 2015. MAS Notice 211 was further revised as of October 28, 2021 to (among other things) exempt trade specific agents from minimum academic qualifications requirement and to include additional accepted qualifications in Annex 1 of the Notice.

Non-mandatory best practice standards apply to direct general insurers to implement training and competency plans for front-end operatives. The MAS Guidelines on Market Conduct Standards and Service Standards for Direct General Insurers set out the standards of conduct expected of direct general insurers as product providers of insurance policies.

In respect of health insurance products, direct insurers must ensure, among other things, that any individual employed by them or who acts as their insurance agent or appointed representative pass the examination requirements specified in MAS Notice 117 on Training and Competency Requirement: Health Insurance Module (unless exemptions apply) and are prohibited from accepting business in respect of any health insurance product from any individual whom they employ or who acts as their insurance agent and who has not met such requirements. The MAS Notice 120 on Disclosure and Advisory Process Requirements for Accident and Health Insurance Products sets out both mandatory requirements and best practice standards on the disclosure of information and provision of advice to insureds for accident and health policies and life policies that provide accident and health benefits. In 2015, the MAS reviewed the regulatory framework for accident and health insurance products and amended MAS Notices 117 and 120. The changes largely pertain to Medisave-approved Integrated Shield Plans ("IPs") but extend in part to all accident and health policies. The changes include enhanced disclosure requirements, stronger protection measures for policyholders, and improved quality of conduct of intermediaries selling accident and health insurance. Amendments were made to MAS Notice 120 to grant a temporary exemption of Paragraph 24A thereof (i.e. no closure of sale of any Medisave-approved policy over the telephone) for the period from April 13, 2020 to September 30, 2022.

MAS Notice 320 on Management of Participating Life Insurance Business requires a direct life insurer to comply with certain disclosure requirements for product summaries, and annual bonus updates, in relation to its participating policies. On November 16, 2020, MAS Notice 320 was amended to implement proposals relating to insurers' charging of expenses to the participating fund and to allow insurers to send its policy owner the annual bonus update in electronic form unless the policy owner specifically requests for hardcopy.

The Insurance (Remuneration) Regulations 2015, which came into force on January 1, 2016, set out certain requirements in connection with the payment of remuneration in relation to the provision of any financial advisory service in connection with any life policy, or the sale of any life policy following the provision of any financial advisory service.

The MAS implemented financial advisory industry review ("FAIR") initiatives such as a web aggregator, which allows consumers to compare life insurance products from various companies using a web portal, and direct channel purchase in April 2015. The re-issuance of MAS Notice 322 on Information to be Submitted Relating to the Web-Aggregator has come into effect on January 1, 2016, specifically detailing the information required to be submitted for the purposes of the web-aggregator.

Various industry codes of practice also apply to insurers, including codes/guidelines issued by the LIA and the GIA.

In addition, there are rules in the Insurance Act and the relevant regulations, notices, guidelines and circulars relating to the granting of loans, advances and credit facilities by insurers, which insurers have to comply with if they conduct such activities.

## Corporate Governance

Direct insurers that are incorporated in Singapore are subject to the MAS Guidelines on Corporate Governance for Financial Holding Companies, Banks, Direct Insurers, Reinsurers and Captive Insurers which are Incorporated in Singapore. These guidelines have been updated as of November 9, 2021, and provide guidance on good corporate governance practices that certain financial institutions, including direct insurers that are incorporated in Singapore, should observe in relation to their corporate governance (the "2021 Guidelines"). The MAS has incorporated the Code of Corporate Governance as last revised in 2018 into the 2021 Guidelines and shifted certain provisions in the previous guidelines (that was issued in 2013 and which has been superseded and replaced by the 2021 Guidelines) which it considers to be baseline expectations on corporate governance into the Insurance (Corporate Governance) Regulations 2013 for mandatory compliance. The 2021 Guidelines also include additional guidelines added by the MAS to take into account the unique characteristics of the business of insurance in light of the diverse and complex risks undertaken by financial institutions conducting insurance business and the responsibilities to policyholders. The quidelines that relate to disclosures are effective from January 1, 2022 and will apply to the annual reports covering financial years commencing from that date, with the bulk of the other guidelines becoming effective from April 1, 2022.

The Code of Corporate Governance was revised on August 6, 2018. The revised Code of Corporate Governance sets out, amongst other things, the principles that there should be (i) a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the board of directors and the executive responsibilities of a company's business, and no one individual has unfettered powers of decision-making and (ii) an appropriate level of independence and diversity of thought and background in the composition of the board of directors of the company, to enable it to make decisions in the best interests of the company. The revised Corporate Governance Code also requires the separation of the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.

In addition, all direct insurers which are incorporated in Singapore (other than marine mutual insurers) are subject to the Insurance (Corporate Governance) Regulations 2013. Among other things, these regulations require an insurer which is established or incorporated in Singapore and in the case of a:

- (a) direct life insurer, whose latest annual audited statement of financial position shows that it has total assets of at least S\$5 billion or its equivalent in any foreign currency;
- (b) direct general insurer or a reinsurer, whose latest annual audited statement of profit and loss shows that it has gross premiums of at least S\$500 million or its equivalent in any foreign currency in its insurance funds and Overseas (Branch) Operations (defined as the income and outgoings of the operations of all branches of the insurer located outside Singapore); and
- (c) direct composite insurer, who satisfies the requirements in (a) above in respect of its total assets or in (b) above in respect of gross premiums for its general business,

(each a "Tier 1 insurer") to, subject to certain exceptions, have a board of directors comprising at least a majority of directors who are "independent directors", establish various committees with prescribed responsibilities, and obtain the MAS' prior approval for the appointment of the

members of the nominating committee, chief financial officer and chief risk officer. "Independent directors" are directors who are independent from any management and business relationship with the insurer and from any substantial shareholder of the insurer and who have not served on the board of directors of the insurer for a continuous period of nine years or longer. Great Eastern Life and GEG are both Tier 1 insurers.

The Insurance (Corporate Governance) Regulations 2013 will be updated to include provisions of corporate governance that are mandatory for compliance.

# Asset and Liability Exposures

MAS Notice 122 on Asset & Liability Exposures for Insurers sets forth various asset and liability exposures reporting requirements and prescribes the form in which the relevant reports are to be made.

A licensed insurer is required to file, among other things, the following in their prescribed formats with the MAS (i) for each quarter, the breakdown of equity securities, breakdown of debt securities, breakdown of loans, breakdown of cash and deposits, breakdown of derivatives, turnover volume of derivatives, breakdown of foreign currency exposure for assets and liabilities and top 10 broker groups with the highest outstanding premiums due, and (ii) annually, the breakdown of assets managed by head office/parent/outsourced entity, breakdown of insurance exposure of Singapore Insurance General Fund, breakdown of insurance exposure of Offshore Insurance (Life and General) Fund and breakdown of assets held by custodian.

On November 5, 2021, the MAS issued a Consultation Paper on Proposed Changes to Notice 122 on Assets and Liabilities Exposures for Insurers and its Implementation proposing to remove certain reporting requirements on the Turnover Volume of Derivatives by Notional Principal Amount with a view to collect data on a risk proportionate basis, a restructuring in the manner which custodian information relating to equity, debt, loans, cash and deposits and derivatives are reported and the collection of additional information including those relating to the breakdown of underlying assets of collective investment schemes, investment-linked policies sub-funds, currency reserve and unit reserves of investment-linked business amongst others. The MAS has proposed that the enhanced data collected will be using a new platform called the Data Collection Gateway.

# Risk Management and Fit and Proper Person

Broadly, the MAS has issued risk management guidelines applicable to insurers specifically and to financial institutions generally which would apply to licensed insurers.

MAS Notice 126 on Enterprise Risk Management ("ERM") for Insurers sets out ERM requirements and guidelines on how insurers are to identify and manage interdependencies between key risks, and how they are translated into management actions related to strategic and capital planning matters. On February 19, 2021, the MAS issued a Consultation Paper on Proposed Revisions to Enterprise Risk Management, Investment and Public Disclosure Requirements for Insurers proposing amendments to MAS Notice 126 to include new requirements for an insurer to identify and address concentration risk in its ERM framework, to perform stress testing on material counterparty exposures as part of the insurers' annual Own Risk and Solvency Assessment ("ORSA"), and to perform macroeconomic stress testing as part of their ORSA stress testing process. In addition, the MAS is proposing to introduce a requirement for insurers to conduct liquidity stress testing as part of ORSA and a requirement that insurers establish a liquidity contingency funding plan setting out the strategy for addressing liquidity shortfalls.

MAS Notice 127 on Technology Risk Management sets out requirements relating to technology risk management for licensed insurers. These include requirements for the insurer to have in place a framework and process to identify critical systems, to make all reasonable effort to maintain high availability for critical systems, to establish a recovery time objective of not more than four hours for each critical system, to notify the MAS of a system malfunction or IT security incident, which has a severe and widespread impact on the insurer's operations or materially impacts the insurer's service to its customers, to submit a root cause and impact analysis report to the MAS and to implement IT controls to protect customer information from unauthorized access or disclosure.

MAS Notice 132 on Cyber Hygiene sets out cyber security requirements on securing administrative accounts, applying security patching, establishing baseline security standards, deploying network security devices, implementing anti-malware measures and strengthening user authentication.

MAS Technology Risk Management Guidelines ("TRM Guidelines") set out risk management principles and best practice standards to guide financial institutions (including licensed insurers) in respect of (a) establishing a sound and robust technology risk management framework, and (b) maintaining cyber resilience. The TRM Guidelines were revised in January 2021 to include new guidance on effective cyber surveillance, secure software development, adversarial attack simulation exercise, and management of cyber risks posed by emerging technologies. It also provides additional guidance on the roles and responsibilities of the board of directors and senior management, including the requirement that the board of directors and senior management to have members with the knowledge to understand and manage technology risks, which include risks posed by cyber threats.

Under the MAS Guidelines on Fit and Proper Criteria, the following persons, among others, are required to be "fit and proper" persons: a substantial shareholder of a licensed insurer, a principal officer or director of a licensed insurer, a person having effective control of a licensed insurer, a person having control of a licensed insurer, an appointed actuary, a certifying actuary, and an exempt financial institution and its representatives in relation to activities regulated by the MAS under the FAA. Broadly, the MAS will take into account, among other things, the following criteria in considering whether a person is fit and proper: (i) honesty, integrity and reputation; (ii) competence and capability; and (iii) financial soundness.

# Appointment of Chairman, Directors and Key Executive Persons

A licensed insurer established or incorporated in Singapore must, prior to appointing a person as its chairman, director or key executive person (such persons include the chief executive, deputy chief executive, appointed actuary, certifying actuary, chief financial officer of a Tier 1 insurer, chief risk officer of a Tier 1 insurer and such other person holding an appointment in the licensed insurer as may be prescribed), satisfy the MAS that the person is a fit and proper person to be so appointed and obtain the MAS' approval for the appointment. Without the prior written consent of the MAS, a licensed insurer which is established or incorporated in Singapore must not permit a person to act as its executive officer or director if the person, among other things, has been convicted, whether in Singapore or elsewhere, of an offense involving fraud or dishonesty, is an undischarged bankrupt, or had a prohibition order under the Insurance Act of Singapore, FAA or SFA made against him that remains in force, whether in Singapore or elsewhere.

MAS Notice 106 on Appointment of Director, Chairman and Key Executive Person sets out mandatory requirements and guidelines relating to the appointment of a director, chairman and key executive person of a licensed insurer. In addition, MAS Notice 106 prescribes the application form for the appointment of directors, chairman and key executive persons, and the form for licensed insurers to notify the MAS of changes in the roles and responsibilities or reporting structure of directors and key executive persons. MAS Notice 106 was amended on

September 24, 2021 to remove the requirement for insurers to notify MAS of any proposed arrangement (including an arrangement resulting in a director or key executive person taking on additional executive officer position or directorship) relating to a director or key executive person at least one month before it takes effect, to allow insurers to notify MAS as soon as practicable in the event that it is not possible for the insurer to be aware of the additional appointment at least one month before it takes effect.

If at any time it appears to the MAS that (a) a key executive person, the chairman or a director of a licensed insurer which is established or incorporated in Singapore has failed to perform his functions or is no longer a fit and proper person to be so appointed and (b) it is necessary in the public interest or for the protection of policy owners of a licensed insurer, the MAS may direct the licensed insurer to remove the key executive person, chairman or director, as the case may be, from his office, appointment or employment.

# Financial Reporting Requirements

The MAS Notice 129 on Insurance Returns (Accounts and Statements) ("MAS Notice 129") sets forth various reporting requirements and prescribes the form in which the relevant statements of account and other statements of a licensed insurer are to be made. On March 15, 2021, amendments were made to the Independent Auditor's Report and Independent Auditor's Supplementary Report in MAS Notice 129 to take into account revisions on the Singapore Standards on Auditing.

A licensed insurer is required to file with MAS, all applicable forms (including all applicable annexes to such forms) and documents as specified in the relevant appendix of MAS Notice 129, in the form and manner specified in such appendix.

MAS Notice 318 require direct life insurers to submit information on their businesses and sources of businesses to the MAS annually.

MAS Notice 306 previously required direct life insurers to submit information on their businesses to the MAS annually. This requirement has since been removed with effect from February 22, 2021.

# Appointment of auditors

Under Section 94(4) of the Insurance Act, a licensed insurer (other than a captive insurer and a marine mutual insurer) is required to appoint an auditor annually for the purposes of preparing and lodging with the MAS the requisite statements of accounts and other statements relating to its business. No person shall act as auditor for a licensed insurer unless, among other things, the insurer has obtained the approval of the MAS to appoint that person as an auditor.

## Actuaries

Under Section 95(1) of the Insurance Act, a licensed insurer carrying on life and general business is also required, for each accounting period, to have an investigation made by an actuary approved by the MAS into the financial condition of each class of business that it carries on. Actuaries must be approved by the MAS. A direct insurer licensed to carry on life and general business shall have appointed an actuary and a certifying actuary, in each case, who is responsible for, among other things, reporting to the chief executive of the insurer on various matters including matters which in the actuary's opinion have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of the insurer in respect of its life or general business, or both, as the case may be. If the appointed actuary or certifying actuary, as the case may be, is of the opinion that the insurer has failed to take appropriate steps to rectify any matter reported by the actuary within a reasonable time, the actuary is required to immediately send a copy of his report to the MAS and notify the board of directors of the insurer that he has done so.

## Public Disclosure

Licensed insurers are subject to MAS Notice 124 on Public Disclosure Requirements ("MAS Notice 124") which sets out requirements for an insurer to disclose relevant, comprehensive and adequate information on a timely basis in order to give a clear view of its business activities, performance and financial position. MAS Notice 124 requires an insurer to disclose quantitative and qualitative information on its profile, governance and controls, financial position, technical performance and the risks to which it is subject.

The MAS has in the Consultation Paper on Proposed Revisions to Enterprise Risk Management, Investment and Public Disclosure Requirements for Insurers published on February 19, 2021 proposed amendments to MAS Notice 124 to enhance the public disclosures requirements. These include proposals to require insurers to publicly disclose quantitative and qualitative information on liquidity risk, including quantitative information on sources and uses of liquidity (considering liquidity characteristics of both assets and liabilities), and qualitative information on liquidity risk exposures, management strategies, policies and processes. The MAS has also proposed to require insurers to publicly disclose quantitative and qualitative information on investment risk, including quantitative information on currency risk, market risk, credit risk and concentration risk, and qualitative information on the management of investment risk exposures, use of derivatives for hedging investment risks and internal policies on the use of derivatives.

## Digital Advisory Services

On October 8, 2018, the MAS issued the Guidelines on Provision of Digital Advisory Services, which applies to all financial institutions (including licensed insurers) offering or seeking to offer digital advisory services in Singapore. Digital advisers seeking to offer their platforms to investors in Singapore will have to be licensed for fund management or dealing in capital markets products under the SFA and/or providing financial advisory services on investment products under the FAA. The type of licensing depends on the operating model of the digital adviser. The Guidelines set out the MAS' expectations on the Board and Senior Management to address the risks posed covering governance and supervision of algorithms, and clarifies the applicability of existing requirements to digital advisers, such as those relating to technology risk management, prevention of money laundering and countering the financing of terrorism, suitability of advice, disclosure of information, applicability of the balanced scorecard framework, as well as advertisements and marketing.

## Environment Risk Management

On December 8, 2020, the MAS issued the Guidelines on Environmental Risk Management for Insurers ("ERM Guidelines") which applies on a group basis for locally-incorporated insurers. The ERM Guidelines set out MAS' expectations on environmental risk management for all insurers and covers governance and strategy, risk management, underwriting, investment and disclosure of environmental risk information. The Board and senior management of the insurer is expected to maintain effective oversight of the insurer's environmental risk management and disclosure, including the policies and processes to assess, monitor and report such risk, and oversee the integration of the insurer's environmental risk exposures into the insurer's enterprise risk management framework. The MAS has given insurers up to June 2022 to implement its expectations and demonstrate evidence of its implementation progress.

#### Resolution Powers

Under the MAS Act and the Insurance Act of Singapore, the MAS has resolution powers in respect of Singapore licensed insurers. Broadly speaking, the MAS has powers to (amongst other things) assume control of an insurer, impose moratoriums, temporarily stay termination rights of counterparties, order compulsory transfers of business or shares and impose requirements relating to recovery and resolution planning.

# Individual Accountability and Conduct

With effect from September 10, 2021, financial institutions regulated by the MAS should implement appropriate policies and processes to achieve five accountability and conduct outcomes ("Outcomes") set out in the MAS Guidelines on Individual Accountability and Conduct issued on September 10, 2020. These five Outcomes and the specific guidance underpinning each Outcome aim to reinforce financial institutions' responsibilities in three key areas:

- (a) promote the individual accountability of senior managers;
- (b) strengthen oversight over material risk personnel; and
- (c) reinforce conduct standards among all employees.

# UNITED STATES BENEFIT PLAN INVESTOR CONSIDERATIONS

Section 406 of the U.S. Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("ERISA") and Section 4975 of the Code prohibit certain transactions involving the assets of employee benefit plans, other plans subject to such provisions, including collective investment funds and separate accounts whose underlying assets include the assets of such plans, and entities whose underlying assets are deemed for purposes of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code to include "plan assets" by reason of an employee benefit plan's or plan's investment in the entity (collectively, the "Plans"), and persons (referred to as "parties in interest" within the meaning of Section 3(14) of ERISA or "disqualified persons" within the meaning of Section 4975 of the Code) having certain relationships to such Plans, unless a statutory or administrative exemption applies to the transaction. A party in interest or disqualified person who engages in a non-exempt prohibited transaction may be subject to excise taxes or other penalties and liabilities under ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code.

Certain exemptions from the prohibited transaction provisions of Section 406 of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code may apply depending in part on the type of Plan fiduciary making the decision to acquire a Note and the circumstances under which such decision is made. Included among these exemptions are (but are not limited to) Section 408(b)(17) of ERISA and Section 4975(d)(20) of the Code (relating to transactions with certain service providers) and Prohibited Transaction Class Exemption ("PTCE") 95-60 (relating to investments by insurance company general accounts), PTCE 91-38 (relating to investments by bank collective investment funds), PTCE 84-14 (relating to transactions effected by a "qualified professional asset manager"), PTCE 90-1 (relating to investments by insurance company pooled separate accounts) and PTCE 96-23 (relating to transactions determined by an in-house asset manager). There can be no assurance that any of these exemptions or any other exemption will be available with respect to any particular transaction involving the Notes or that, if an exemption is available, it will cover all aspects of any particular transaction. Accordingly, each original or subsequent purchaser or transferee of a Note that is or may become a Plan is responsible for determining that its purchase, holding and disposition of such Note will not constitute or result in a prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code.

The U.S. Department of Labor (the "**DOL**") has promulgated a regulation at 29 C.F.R. §2510.3-101 describing what constitutes the assets of a Plan for the purposes of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code (as modified by Section 3(42) of ERISA, the "**Plan Asset Regulation**"). Pursuant to a look-through rule under the Plan Asset Regulation, if a Plan invests in an "equity interest" of an entity, then the Plan's assets include both the equity interest and an undivided interest in each of the entity's underlying assets, unless an exception applies. If the underlying assets of the entity are deemed to be "plan assets," the fiduciary responsibility and prohibited transaction provisions of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code may apply to the underlying assets and activities of the entity, and there may be an increase in the exposure to liability under ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code of various providers of fiduciary or other services to the entity, and the activities of the entity may be restricted or limited.

For purposes of the Plan Asset Regulation, an equity interest includes any interest in an entity other than an instrument that is treated as indebtedness under applicable local law and which has no substantial equity features.

Unless otherwise provided in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the Issuer will proceed based on the position that the Notes should not be considered at the time of issuance to be "equity interests" of the Issuer for the purposes of the Plan Asset Regulation (see "Taxation – Certain United States Federal Income Tax Considerations – U.S. Federal Income Tax Characterization of the Notes") and subject to the requirements discussed herein, the Notes may generally be purchased and held by Plans. Each purchaser or transferee of a Note or any interest therein will be deemed to have represented and agreed that (a) it is not an (i) employee benefit plan or other plan subject to Title I

of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code, (ii) any entity whose underlying assets are deemed for the purposes of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code to include "plan assets" by reason of any such plan's investment in the entity, or (iii) a governmental, church, non-U.S. or other employee benefit plan which is subject to any U.S. federal, state or local law, or non-U.S. law, that is substantially similar to Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code, or (b) its purchase, holding and disposition of a Note (or any interest therein) will not constitute or result in a non-exempt prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code (or, in the case of a governmental, church, non-U.S. or other employee benefit plan, a non-exempt violation of any substantially similar law). Any purported transfer of a Note, or any interest therein to a purchaser or transferee that does not comply with the above requirements will be of no force and effect and shall be null and void *ab initio*.

THE PRECEDING DISCUSSION IS ONLY A SUMMARY OF CERTAIN ERISA AND OTHER U.S. IMPLICATIONS OF AN INVESTMENT IN THE SECURITIES AND DOES NOT PURPORT TO BE COMPLETE. PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS SHOULD CONSULT WITH THEIR OWN LEGAL, TAX, FINANCIAL AND OTHER ADVISORS PRIOR TO INVESTING TO REVIEW THESE IMPLICATIONS IN LIGHT OF SUCH INVESTOR'S PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES.

# **TAXATION**

The following summary of certain United States, Singapore and Australia income tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of the Notes is based upon laws, regulations, rulings and decisions now in effect, all of which are subject to change (possibly with retroactive effect). The summary does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all the tax considerations that may be relevant to a decision to purchase, own or dispose of the Notes and does not purport to deal with the consequences applicable to all categories of investors, some of which may be subject to special rules. Persons considering the purchase of the Notes should consult their own tax advisors concerning the application of United States, Singapore and Australia income tax laws on the taxation of savings income to their particular situations as well as any consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of the Notes arising under the laws of any other taxing jurisdiction.

#### **Certain United States Federal Income Tax Considerations**

The following is a summary of certain U.S. federal income tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership and disposition of Notes by a U.S. Holder. This summary does not address the material U.S. federal income tax consequences of every type of Note which may be issued under the Program, and the relevant Pricing Supplement may contain additional or modified disclosure concerning certain U.S. federal income tax consequences relevant to such type of Note as appropriate. This summary deals only with initial purchasers of Notes that are U.S. Holders and that will hold the Notes as capital assets. The discussion does not cover all aspects of U.S. federal income taxation that may be relevant to, or the actual tax effect that any of the matters described herein will have on, the acquisition, ownership or disposition of Notes by particular investors (including consequences under the alternative minimum tax or Medicare tax on net investment income), and does not address state, local, non-U.S. or other tax laws (such as estate or gift tax laws). In particular, this summary does not address tax considerations applicable to holders of the Notes that own (directly, indirectly or by attribution) 5% or more of the interests (by vote or value) of OCBC Bank, nor does this summary discuss all of the tax considerations that may be relevant to certain types of investors subject to special treatment under the U.S. federal income tax laws (such as financial institutions, insurance companies, individual retirement accounts and other tax-deferred accounts, tax-exempt organizations, dealers in securities or currencies, investors that will hold the Notes as part of straddles, hedging transactions or conversion transactions for U.S. federal income tax purposes, persons subject to special rules for the taxable year of inclusion for accrual-basis taxpayers under Section 451(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), persons that have ceased to be U.S. citizens or lawful permanent residents of the United States, investors holding the Notes in connection with a trade or business conducted outside of the United States, U.S. citizens or lawful permanent residents living abroad or investors whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar). Moreover, the summary deals only with certain types of Notes issued by OCBC Bank in Singapore and does not address U.S. federal income tax considerations specific to Index-Linked, Equity-Linked, Credit-Linked or Bond-Linked Notes. The U.S. federal income tax consequences of owning Index-Linked, Equity-Linked, Credit-Linked or Bond-Linked Notes or Notes issued by any branch of OCBC Bank outside of Singapore or any Specified Issuer will be discussed in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

As used herein, the term "U.S. Holder" means a beneficial owner of Notes that is, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, (i) an individual citizen or resident of the United States, (ii) a corporation created or organized under the laws of the United States, any state thereof or the District of Columbia, (iii) an estate the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income tax without regard to its source or (iv) a trust if a court within the United States is able to exercise primary supervision over the administration of the trust and one or more U.S. persons have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust, or the trust has validly elected to be treated as a domestic trust for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

The U.S. federal income tax treatment of a partner in an entity or arrangement treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes that holds Notes will depend on the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. Prospective purchasers that are entities or arrangements treated as partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes should consult their tax advisors concerning the U.S. federal income tax consequences to them and their partners of the acquisition, ownership and disposition of Notes by the partnership.

This summary is based on the tax laws of the United States including the Code, its legislative history, existing and proposed regulations thereunder, published rulings and court decisions, all as of the date hereof and all subject to change at any time, possibly with retroactive effect.

Notes in bearer form are not being offered to U.S. Holders. A U.S. Holder who owns a Bearer Note may be subject to limitations under United States income tax laws, including the limitations provided in Sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the Code.

THE SUMMARY OF U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES SET OUT BELOW IS FOR GENERAL INFORMATION ONLY. ALL PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS SHOULD CONSULT THEIR TAX ADVISORS AS TO THE PARTICULAR TAX CONSEQUENCES TO THEM OF ACQUIRING, OWNING AND DISPOSING OF THE NOTES, INCLUDING THE APPLICABILITY AND EFFECT OF STATE, LOCAL, NON-U.S. AND OTHER TAX LAWS AND POSSIBLE CHANGES IN TAX LAW.

## U.S. Federal Income Tax Characterization of the Notes

The characterization of a Series or Tranche of Notes may be uncertain and will depend on the terms of those Notes. The determination of whether an obligation represents debt, equity, or some other instrument or interest is based on all the relevant facts and circumstances. There may be no statutory, judicial or administrative authority directly addressing the characterization of some of the types of Notes that are anticipated to be issued under the Program or of instruments similar to the Notes. As a consequence, it may be unclear how a Series or Tranche of Notes should be properly characterized for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

Depending on the terms of a particular Series or Tranche of Notes, such Notes may not be characterized as debt for U.S. federal income tax purposes despite the form of the Notes as debt instruments. For example, Notes of a Series or Tranche may be more properly characterized as equity, or as representing an undivided proportionate ownership interest in the assets, and share of the liabilities of OCBC Bank. In particular, certain Series or Tranches of Notes (including, but not limited to, certain Subordinated Notes), because of their level of subordination, term until maturity, lack of a final maturity date, rights in the event of a default by OCBC Bank, the inclusion of any non-viability loss absorption provisions, and potentially their treatment for regulatory and other non-tax purposes, may be treated as equity in OCBC Bank for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Additional alternative characterizations may also be possible. Further possible characterizations, if applicable, may be discussed in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

For U.S. federal income tax purposes, one of the primary characteristics used to distinguish the treatment of an instrument as debt from an instrument treated as equity is whether the instrument, according to its terms, involves an unconditional promise to pay a fixed sum certain on a particular date in the future. OCBC Bank believes that the Perpetual Capital Securities, due to their perpetual term, should be treated as equity for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and the following discussion assumes such treatment. However, no assurance can be given that the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS") will not assert that the Perpetual Capital Securities should be treated as indebtedness of OCBC Bank or in some other manner for U.S. federal income tax purposes. If the Perpetual Capital Securities were treated as indebtedness of OCBC Bank for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the timing, amount and character of income, gain or loss recognized by a U.S. Holder could be different. Each U.S. Holder that owns Perpetual Capital Securities should consult its own tax advisors with respect to the U.S. federal income tax characterization of the Perpetual Capital Securities.

No rulings will be sought from the IRS regarding the characterization of any of the Notes issued hereunder for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Each U.S. Holder should consult its own tax advisor about the proper characterization of the Notes for U.S. federal income tax purposes and consequences to the holder of acquiring, owning or disposing of the Notes.

The following summary assumes that (i) the Notes other than Perpetual Capital Securities are properly treated as debt and (ii) that Perpetual Capital Securities are properly treated as equity, in each case, for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

#### Notes Treated as Debt

For the avoidance of doubt, references to "Notes" in this section "– Notes Treated as Debt" do not include Perpetual Capital Securities (see "– Perpetual Capital Securities" below in this respect). The following summary applies to Notes that are properly treated as debt for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The applicable Pricing Supplement or any supplement to this Offering Memorandum will, if relevant, specify if the discussion below will apply to a particular Series or Tranche of Notes. The U.S. federal income tax consequences of owning Notes that are not treated as debt for U.S. federal income tax purposes will be discussed, as appropriate, in the applicable Pricing Supplement or any supplement to this Offering Memorandum.

## Payments of Interest

## General

Interest on a Note, whether payable in U.S. dollars or a currency, composite currency or basket of currencies other than U.S. dollars (a "foreign currency"), other than interest on a "Discount Note" that is not "qualified stated interest" (each as defined below under "- Original Issue Discount – General"), will be taxable to a U.S. Holder as ordinary income at the time it is received or accrued, depending on such U.S. Holder's method of accounting for U.S. federal income tax purposes, reduced by the allocable amount of any amortizable bond premium, subject to the discussion below. Interest paid by OCBC Bank on the Notes and original issue discount ("OID"), if any, accrued with respect to the Notes (as described below under "- Original Issue Discount") generally will constitute income from sources outside the United States.

# Effect of Singapore Withholding Taxes

As discussed in "Singapore Taxation" below, under current law payments of interest in respect of the Notes may be subject to Singaporean withholding taxes. As discussed under "Terms and Conditions of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities – Taxation" and "Terms and Conditions of the Perpetual Capital Securities – Taxation", OCBC Bank may become liable for the payment of additional amounts to U.S. Holders so that U.S. Holders receive the same amounts they would have received had no Singaporean withholding taxes been imposed. For U.S. federal income tax purposes, U.S. Holders would be treated as having actually received the amount of Singaporean taxes withheld by OCBC Bank with respect to a Note, and as then having actually paid over the withheld taxes to the Singaporean taxing authorities. As a result, the amount of interest income included in gross income for U.S. federal income tax purposes by a U.S. Holder with respect to a payment of interest may be greater than the amount of cash actually received (or receivable) by the U.S. Holder from OCBC Bank with respect to the payment.

Subject to certain limitations, a U.S. Holder will generally be entitled to a credit against its U.S. federal income tax liability, or a deduction in computing its U.S. federal taxable income, for Singaporean income taxes withheld by OCBC Bank. Interest generally will constitute "passive category income" for purposes of the foreign tax credit. The rules governing foreign tax credits are complex. Prospective purchasers should consult their tax advisors concerning the foreign tax credit implications of Singaporean withholding taxes.

#### General

The following is a summary of the principal U.S. federal income tax consequences of the ownership of Notes issued with OID. The following summary does not discuss Notes that are characterized as contingent payment debt instruments for U.S. federal income tax purposes. In the event OCBC Bank issues contingent payment debt instruments, the applicable Pricing Supplement or a supplement to this Offering Memorandum may describe the material U.S. federal income tax consequences thereof.

A Note, other than a Note with a term of one year or less (a "Short-Term Note"), will be treated as issued with OID (a "Discount Note") if the excess of the Note's "stated redemption price at maturity" over its issue price is equal to or more than a de minimis amount (0.25% of the Note's stated redemption price at maturity multiplied by the number of complete years to its maturity). An obligation that provides for the payment of amounts other than qualified stated interest before maturity (an "installment obligation") will be treated as a Discount Note if the excess of the Note's stated redemption price at maturity over its issue price is equal to or greater than 0.25% of the Note's stated redemption price at maturity multiplied by the weighted average maturity of the Note. A Note's weighted average maturity is the sum of the following amounts determined for each payment on a Note (other than a payment of qualified stated interest): (i) the number of complete years from the issue date until the payment is made multiplied by (ii) a fraction, the numerator of which is the amount of the payment and the denominator of which is the Note's stated redemption price at maturity. Generally, the issue price of a Note will be the first price at which a substantial amount of Notes included in the issue of which the Note is a part is sold to persons other than bond houses, brokers, or similar persons or organizations acting in the capacity of underwriters, placement agents, or wholesalers. The stated redemption price at maturity of a Note is the total of all payments provided by the Note that are not payments of "qualified stated interest." A qualified stated interest payment is generally any one of a series of stated interest payments on a Note that are unconditionally payable at least annually at a single fixed rate (with certain exceptions for lower rates paid during some periods), or a variable rate (in the circumstances described below under "Variable Interest Rate Notes"), applied to the outstanding principal amount of the Note. Solely for the purposes of determining whether a Note has OID, OCBC Bank will be deemed to exercise any call option that has the effect of decreasing the yield on the Note, and the U.S. Holder will be deemed to exercise any put option that has the effect of increasing the yield on the Note. U.S. Holders of Discount Notes must include OID in income calculated on a constant-yield method before the receipt of cash attributable to the income, and generally will have to include in income increasingly greater amounts of OID over the life of the Discount Notes. The amount of OID includible in income by a U.S. Holder of a Discount Note is the sum of the daily portions of OID with respect to the Discount Note for each day during the taxable year or portion of the taxable year on which the U.S. Holder holds the Discount Note. The daily portion is determined by allocating to each day in any "accrual period" a pro rata portion of the OID allocable to that accrual period. Accrual periods with respect to a Note may be of any length selected by the U.S. Holder and may vary in length over the term of the Note as long as (i) no accrual period is longer than one year and (ii) each scheduled payment of interest or principal on the Note occurs on either the final or first day of an accrual period. The amount of OID allocable to an accrual period equals the excess of (a) the product of the Discount Note's adjusted issue price at the beginning of the accrual period and the Discount Note's yield to maturity (determined on the basis of compounding at the close of each accrual period and properly adjusted for the length of the accrual period) over (b) the sum of the payments of qualified stated interest on the Note allocable to the accrual period. The "adjusted issue price" of a Discount Note at the beginning of any accrual period is the issue price of the Note increased by (x) the amount of accrued OID for each prior accrual period and decreased by (y) the amount of any payments previously made on the Note that were not qualified stated interest payments.

# Original Issue Discount on Certain Notes with an Issuer Call Option

The rules governing the calculation of OID in the case of Notes where (i) interest is payable at more than one rate of interest during the life of Notes; and (ii) the Issuer has an option to call the Notes, are not entirely clear. The Issuer believes that the following paragraph is a reasonable interpretation of the application of the OID rules to such a Series or Tranche of Notes. However, there is no assurance that the IRS will agree with this treatment. Each U.S. Holder should consult its own tax advisor about the proper application of the OID rules to any such Series or Tranche of Notes.

In the case of Notes that provide for a fixed rate of interest up to the first call date, for the purpose of application of the OID rules, these Notes must be converted into an "equivalent" fixed rate debt instrument (as described under "– Original Issue Discount – Variable Interest Rate Notes"). If, using the rates applicable on the issue date, the initial interest rate on the "equivalent" fixed rate debt instrument is less than the interest rate from the first call date through to the maturity date of the Notes, the Issuer will be presumed to call the Notes at the first call date and the general rules pertaining to OID would apply. If, using the rates applicable on the issue date, the initial interest rate on the "equivalent" fixed rate debt instrument is greater than the interest rate from the first call date through to the maturity date of the Notes, the Issuer will be presumed to extend the Notes at the first call date and the Notes should be treated as "variable rate debt instruments" that do not provide for stated interest at either a single qualified floating rate or a single objective rate (as described under "– Original Issue Discount – Variable Interest Rate Notes").

#### Acquisition Premium

A U.S. Holder that purchases a Discount Note for an amount less than or equal to the sum of all amounts payable on the Note after the purchase date, other than payments of qualified stated interest, but in excess of its adjusted issue price (any such excess being "acquisition premium") and that does not make the election described below under "— Election to Treat All Interest as Original Issue Discount", is permitted to reduce the daily portions of OID by a fraction, the numerator of which is the excess of the U.S. Holder's adjusted basis in the Note immediately after its purchase over the Note's adjusted issue price, and the denominator of which is the excess of the sum of all amounts payable on the Note after the purchase date, other than payments of qualified stated interest, over the Note's adjusted issue price.

#### Short-Term Notes

In general, an individual or other cash basis U.S. Holder of a Short-Term Note is not required to accrue OID (as specially defined below for the purposes of this paragraph) for U.S. federal income tax purposes unless it elects to do so (but may be required to include any stated interest in income as the interest is received). Accrual basis U.S. Holders and certain other U.S. Holders are required to accrue OID on Short-Term Notes on a straight-line basis or, if the U.S. Holder so elects, under the constant-yield method (based on daily compounding). In the case of a U.S. Holder not required and not electing to include OID in income currently, any gain realized on the sale, exchange, retirement, redemption or other taxable disposition of the Short-Term Note will be ordinary income to the extent of the OID accrued on a straight-line basis (unless an election is made to accrue the OID under the constant-yield method) through the date of sale, exchange, retirement, redemption or other taxable disposition. U.S. Holders who are not required and do not elect to accrue OID on Short-Term Notes will be required to defer deductions for interest on borrowings allocable to Short-Term Notes in an amount not exceeding the deferred income until the deferred income is realized.

For purposes of determining the amount of OID subject to these rules, all interest payments on a Short-Term Note are included in the Short-Term Note's stated redemption price at maturity. A U.S. Holder may elect to determine OID on a Short-Term Note as if the Short-Term Note had been originally issued to the U.S. Holder at the U.S. Holder's purchase price for the Short-Term Note. This election will apply to all obligations with a maturity of one year or less acquired by the U.S. Holder on or after the first day of the first taxable year to which the election applies, and may not be revoked without the consent of the IRS.

#### Market Discount

A Note, other than a Short-Term Note, generally will be treated as purchased at a market discount (a "Market Discount Note") if the Note's stated redemption price at maturity or, in the case of a Discount Note, the Note's "revised issue price", exceeds the amount for which the U.S. Holder purchased the Note by at least 0.25% of the Note's stated redemption price at maturity or revised issue price, respectively, multiplied by the number of complete years to the Note's maturity (or, in the case of a Note that is an installment obligation, the Note's weighted average maturity). If this excess is not sufficient to cause the Note to be a Market Discount Note, then the excess constitutes "de minimis market discount". For this purpose, the "revised issue price" of a Note generally equals its issue price, increased by the amount of any OID that has accrued on the Note and decreased by the amount of any payments previously made on the Note that were not qualified stated interest payments.

Any gain recognized on the sale, exchange, retirement, redemption or other taxable disposition of a Market Discount Note (including any payment on a Note that is not qualified stated interest) generally will be treated as ordinary income to the extent that the gain does not exceed the accrued market discount on the Note. Alternatively, a U.S. Holder of a Market Discount Note may avoid such treatment by electing to include market discount in income currently over the life of the Note. This election applies to all debt instruments with market discount acquired by the electing U.S. Holder on or after the first day of the first taxable year for which the election is made. This election may not be revoked without the consent of the IRS.

A U.S. Holder of a Market Discount Note that does not elect to include market discount in income currently may be required to defer deductions for interest on borrowings incurred to purchase or carry a Market Discount Note. Such interest is deductible when paid or incurred to the extent of income from the Note for the year. If the interest expense exceeds such income, such excess is currently deductible only to the extent that such excess exceeds the portion of the market discount allocable to the days during the taxable year on which such Note was held by the U.S. Holder.

Market discount will accrue on a straight-line basis unless the U.S. Holder elects to accrue the market discount on a constant-yield method. This election applies only to the Market Discount Note with respect to which it is made and is irrevocable.

## Variable Interest Rate Notes

Notes that provide for interest at variable rates ("Variable Interest Rate Notes") generally will bear interest at a "qualified floating rate" and thus will be treated as "variable rate debt instruments" under Treasury regulations governing accrual of OID. A Variable Interest Rate Note will qualify as a "variable rate debt instrument" if (a) its issue price does not exceed the total non-contingent principal payments due under the Variable Interest Rate Note by more than a specified de minimis amount, (b) it provides for stated interest, paid or compounded at least annually, at (i) one or more qualified floating rates, (ii) a single fixed rate and one or more qualified floating rates, (iii) a single objective rate, or (iv) a single fixed rate and a single objective rate that is a qualified inverse floating rate, and (c) it does not provide for any principal payments that are contingent (other than as described in (a) above).

A "qualified floating rate" is any variable rate where variations in the value of the rate can reasonably be expected to measure contemporaneous variations in the cost of newly borrowed funds in the currency in which the Variable Interest Rate Note is denominated. A fixed multiple of a qualified floating rate will constitute a qualified floating rate only if the multiple is greater than 0.65 but not more than 1.35. A variable rate equal to the product of a qualified floating rate and a fixed multiple that is greater than 0.65 but not more than 1.35, increased or decreased by a fixed rate, will also constitute a qualified floating rate. In addition, two or more qualified floating rates that can reasonably be expected to have approximately the same values throughout the term of the Variable Interest Rate Note (e.g., two or more qualified floating rates with values within 25 basis points of each other as determined on the Variable Interest Rate Note's issue date) will be treated as a single qualified floating rate. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a variable rate that would otherwise constitute a qualified floating rate but which is subject to one or more restrictions such as a maximum numerical limitation (i.e., a cap) or a minimum numerical limitation (i.e., a floor) may, under certain circumstances, fail to be treated as a qualified floating rate.

An "objective rate" is a rate that is not itself a qualified floating rate but which is determined using a single fixed formula and which is based on objective financial or economic information (e.g., one or more qualified floating rates or the yield of actively traded personal property). A rate will not qualify as an objective rate if it is based on information that is within the control of OCBC Bank (or a related party) or that is unique to the circumstances of OCBC Bank (or a related party), such as dividends, profits or the value of OCBC Bank's stock (although a rate does not fail to be an objective rate merely because it is based on the credit quality of OCBC Bank). Other variable interest rates may be treated as objective rates if so designated by the IRS in the future. Despite the foregoing, a variable rate of interest on a Variable Interest Rate Note will not constitute an objective rate if it is reasonably expected that the average value of the rate during the first half of the Variable Interest Rate Note's term will be either significantly less than or significantly greater than the average value of the rate during the final half of the Variable Interest Rate Note's term. A "qualified inverse floating rate" is any objective rate where the rate is equal to a fixed rate minus a qualified floating rate, as long as variations in the rate can reasonably be expected to inversely reflect contemporaneous variations in the qualified floating rate. If a Variable Interest Rate Note provides for stated interest at a fixed rate for an initial period of one year or less followed by a variable rate that is either a qualified floating rate or an objective rate for a subsequent period and if the variable rate on the Variable Interest Rate Note's issue date is intended to approximate the fixed rate (e.g., the value of the variable rate on the issue date does not differ from the value of the fixed rate by more than 25 basis points), then the fixed rate and the variable rate together will constitute either a single qualified floating rate or objective rate, as the case may be.

A qualified floating rate or objective rate in effect at any time during the term of the instrument must be set at a "current value" of that rate. A "current value" of a rate is the value of the rate on any day that is no earlier than 3 months prior to the first day on which that value is in effect and no later than 1 year following that first day.

If a Variable Interest Rate Note that provides for stated interest at either a single qualified floating rate or a single objective rate throughout the term thereof qualifies as a "variable rate debt instrument", then any stated interest on the Note which is unconditionally payable in cash or property (other than debt instruments of OCBC Bank) at least annually will constitute qualified stated interest and will be taxed accordingly. Thus, a Variable Interest Rate Note that provides for stated interest at either a single qualified floating rate or a single objective rate throughout the term thereof and that qualifies as a "variable rate debt instrument" will generally not be treated as having been issued with OID unless the Variable Interest Rate Note is issued at a "true" discount (i.e., at a price below the Note's stated principal amount) in excess of a specified de minimis amount. OID on a Variable Interest Rate Note arising from "true" discount is allocated to an accrual period using the constant yield method described above by assuming that the variable rate is a fixed rate equal to (i) in the case of a qualified floating rate or qualified inverse floating rate, the value, as of the issue date, of the qualified floating rate or qualified inverse floating rate, or (ii) in the case of an objective rate (other than a qualified inverse floating rate), a fixed rate that reflects the yield that is reasonably expected for the Variable Interest Rate Note.

In general, any other Variable Interest Rate Note that qualifies as a "variable rate debt instrument" will be converted into an "equivalent" fixed rate debt instrument for the purposes of determining the amount and accrual of OID and qualified stated interest on the Variable Interest Rate Note. Such a Variable Interest Rate Note must be converted into an "equivalent" fixed rate debt instrument by substituting any qualified floating rate or qualified inverse floating rate provided for under the terms of the Variable Interest Rate Note with a fixed rate equal to the value of the qualified floating rate or qualified inverse floating rate, as the case may be, as of the Variable Interest Rate Note's issue date. Any objective rate (other than a qualified inverse floating rate) provided for under the terms of the Variable Interest Rate Note is converted into a fixed rate that reflects the yield that is reasonably expected for the Variable Interest Rate Note. In the case of a Variable Interest Rate Note that qualifies as a "variable rate debt instrument" and provides for stated interest at a fixed rate in addition to either one or more qualified floating rates or a qualified inverse floating rate, the fixed rate is initially converted into a qualified floating rate (or a qualified inverse floating rate, if the Variable Interest Rate Note provides for a qualified inverse floating rate). Under these circumstances, the qualified floating rate or qualified inverse floating rate that replaces the fixed rate must be such that the fair market value of the Variable Interest Rate Note as of the Variable Interest Rate Note's issue date is approximately the same as the fair market value of an otherwise identical debt instrument that provides for either the qualified floating rate or qualified inverse floating rate rather than the fixed rate. Subsequent to converting the fixed rate into either a qualified floating rate or a qualified inverse floating rate, the Variable Interest Rate Note is converted into an "equivalent" fixed rate debt instrument in the manner described above.

Once the Variable Interest Rate Note is converted into an "equivalent" fixed rate debt instrument pursuant to the foregoing rules, the amount of OID and qualified stated interest, if any, are determined for the "equivalent" fixed rate debt instrument by applying the general OID rules to the "equivalent" fixed rate debt instrument and a U.S. Holder of the Variable Interest Rate Note will account for the OID and qualified stated interest as if the U.S. Holder held the "equivalent" fixed rate debt instrument. In each accrual period, appropriate adjustments will be made to the amount of qualified stated interest or OID assumed to have been accrued or paid with respect to the "equivalent" fixed rate debt instrument in the event that these amounts differ from the actual amount of interest accrued or paid on the Variable Interest Rate Note during the accrual period.

If a Variable Interest Rate Note, such as a Note the payments on which are determined by reference to an index, does not qualify as a "variable rate debt instrument", then the Variable Interest Rate Note will be treated as a contingent payment debt obligation. The proper U.S. federal income tax treatment of Variable Interest Rate Notes that are treated as contingent payment debt obligations will be more fully described in the applicable Pricing Supplement or supplement to this Offering Memorandum.

## Notes Purchased at a Premium

A U.S. Holder that purchases a Note for an amount in excess of its principal amount, or for a Discount Note, its stated redemption price at maturity, may elect to treat the excess as "amortizable bond premium", in which case the amount required to be included in the U.S. Holder's income each year with respect to interest on the Note will be reduced by the amount of amortizable bond premium allocable (based on the Note's yield to maturity) to that year.

Any election to amortize bond premium will apply to all bonds (other than bonds the interest on which is excludable from gross income for U.S. federal income tax purposes) held by the U.S. Holder at the beginning of the first taxable year to which the election applies or thereafter acquired by the U.S. Holder, and is irrevocable without the consent of the IRS. See also "– Original Issue Discount – Election to Treat All Interest as Original Issue Discount".

A U.S. Holder may elect to include in gross income all interest that accrues on a Note using the constant-yield method described above under "– Original Issue Discount – General," with certain modifications. For the purposes of this election, interest includes stated interest, OID, de minimis OID, market discount, de minimis market discount and unstated interest, as adjusted by any amortizable bond premium (described above under "Notes Purchased at a Premium") or acquisition premium. This election will generally apply only to the Note with respect to which it is made and may not be revoked without the consent of the IRS. If the election to apply the constant-yield method to all interest on a Note is made with respect to a Market Discount Note, the electing U.S. Holder will be treated as having made the election discussed above under "– Original Issue Discount – Market Discount" to include market discount in income currently over the life of all debt instruments having market discount that are acquired on or after the first day of the first taxable year to which the election applies. U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisors concerning the propriety and consequences of this election.

Sale, Exchange, Retirement, Redemption or other Taxable Disposition of Notes

A U.S. Holder will generally recognize gain or loss on the sale, exchange, retirement, redemption or other taxable disposition of a Note equal to the difference between the amount realized on the sale, exchange, retirement, redemption or other taxable disposition and the U.S. Holder's adjusted tax basis of the Note. A U.S. Holder's adjusted tax basis in a Note will generally be its cost, increased by the amount of any OID or market discount included in the U.S. Holder's income with respect to the Note and the amount, if any, of income attributable to de minimis OID and de minimis market discount included in the U.S. Holder's income with respect to the Note, and reduced by (i) the amount of any payments that are not qualified stated interest payments, and (ii) the amount of any amortizable bond premium applied to reduce interest on the Note. The amount realized does not include the amount attributable to accrued but unpaid interest, which will be taxable as interest income to the extent not previously included in income. Except to the extent described above under "- Original Issue Discount - Market Discount" or "- Original Issue Discount - Short Term Notes" or attributable to changes in exchange rates (as discussed below), gain or loss recognized on the sale, exchange, retirement, redemption or other taxable disposition of a Note will be capital gain or loss and will be long-term capital gain or loss if the U.S. Holder's holding period in the Notes exceeds one year. Gain or loss realized by a U.S. Holder on the sale, exchange, retirement, redemption or other taxable disposition of a Note generally will be U.S. source.

# Foreign Currency Notes

#### Interest

If an interest payment is denominated in, or determined by reference to, a foreign currency, the amount of income recognized by a cash basis U.S. Holder will be the U.S. dollar value of the interest payment, based on the exchange rate in effect on the date of receipt, regardless of whether the payment is in fact converted into U.S. dollars.

An accrual basis U.S. Holder may determine the amount of income recognized with respect to an interest payment denominated in, or determined by reference to, a foreign currency in accordance with either of two methods. Under the first method, the amount of income accrued will be based on the average exchange rate in effect during the interest accrual period (or, in the case of an accrual period that spans two taxable years of a U.S. Holder, the part of the period within the taxable year).

Under the second method, the U.S. Holder may elect to determine the amount of income accrued on the basis of the exchange rate in effect on the last day of the accrual period (or, in the case of an accrual period that spans two taxable years, the exchange rate in effect on the last day of the part of the period within the taxable year).

Additionally, if a payment of interest is actually received within five business days of the last day of the accrual period, an electing accrual basis U.S. Holder may instead translate the accrued interest into U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in effect on the day of actual receipt. Any such election will apply to all debt instruments held by the U.S. Holder at the beginning of the first taxable year to which the election applies or thereafter acquired by the U.S. Holder, and will be irrevocable without the consent of the IRS.

Upon receipt of an interest payment (including a payment attributable to accrued but unpaid interest upon the sale, exchange, retirement, redemption or other taxable disposition of a Note) denominated in, or determined by reference to, a foreign currency, the U.S. Holder may recognize U.S. source exchange gain or loss (taxable as ordinary income or loss) equal to the difference between the amount received (translated into U.S. dollars at the spot rate on the date of receipt) and the amount previously accrued, regardless of whether the payment is in fact converted into U.S. dollars.

## OID

OID for each accrual period on a Discount Note that is denominated in, or determined by reference to, a foreign currency, will be determined in the foreign currency and then translated into U.S. dollars in the same manner as stated interest accrued by an accrual basis U.S. Holder, as described above. Upon receipt of an amount attributable to OID (whether in connection with a payment on the Note or a sale, exchange, retirement, redemption or other taxable disposition of the Note), a U.S. Holder may recognize U.S. source exchange gain or loss (taxable as ordinary income or loss) equal to the difference between the amount received (translated into U.S. dollars at the spot rate on the date of receipt) and the amount previously accrued, regardless of whether the payment is in fact converted into U.S. dollars.

## Market Discount

Market discount on a Note that is denominated in, or determined by reference to, a foreign currency, will be accrued in the foreign currency. If the U.S. Holder elects to include market discount in income currently, the accrued market discount will be translated into U.S. dollars at the average exchange rate for the accrual period (or portion thereof within the U.S. Holder's taxable year). Upon the receipt of an amount attributable to accrued market discount, the U.S. Holder may recognize U.S. source exchange gain or loss (which will be taxable as ordinary income or loss) determined in the same manner as for accrued interest or OID. A U.S. Holder that does not elect to include market discount in income currently will recognize, upon the sale, exchange, retirement, redemption or other taxable disposition of the Note, the U.S. dollar value of the amount accrued, calculated at the spot rate on that date, and no part of this accrued market discount will be treated as exchange gain or loss.

## **Bond Premium**

Bond premium (including acquisition premium) on a Note that is denominated in, or determined by reference to, a foreign currency, will be computed in units of the foreign currency, and any such bond premium that is taken into account currently will reduce interest income (or OID) in units of the foreign currency. On the date bond premium offsets interest income (or OID), a U.S. Holder may recognize U.S. source exchange gain or loss (taxable as ordinary income or loss) equal to the amount offset multiplied by the difference between the spot rate in effect on the date of the offset, and the spot rate in effect on the date the Notes were acquired by the U.S. Holder. A U.S. Holder that does not elect to take bond premium (other than acquisition premium) into account currently will recognize a market loss when the Note matures.

As discussed above under "Sale, Exchange, Retirement, Redemption or Other Taxable Disposition of Notes", a U.S. Holder will generally recognize gain or loss on the sale, exchange, retirement, redemption or other taxable disposition of a Note equal to the difference between the amount realized on the sale, exchange, retirement, retirement, redemption or other taxable disposition and its tax basis in the Note, in each case as determined in U.S. dollars. U.S. Holders should consult their own tax advisors about how to account for proceeds received on the sale, exchange, retirement, redemption or other taxable disposition of Notes that are not paid in U.S. dollars.

A U.S. Holder will recognize U.S. source exchange rate gain or loss (taxable as ordinary income or loss) on the sale, exchange, retirement, redemption or other taxable disposition of a Note equal to the difference, if any, between the U.S. dollar values of the U.S. Holder's purchase price for the Note (as adjusted for amortized bond premium, if any) (a) on the date of sale, exchange, retirement, redemption or other taxable disposition and (b) on the date on which the U.S. Holder acquired the Note. Any such exchange rate gain or loss will be realized only to the extent of total gain or loss realized on the sale, exchange, retirement, redemption or other taxable disposition (including any exchange gain or loss with respect to the receipt of accrued but unpaid interest).

## Disposition of Foreign Currency

Foreign currency received as interest on a Note or on the sale, exchange, retirement, redemption or other taxable disposition of a Note will have a tax basis equal to its U.S. dollar value at the time the foreign currency is received. Foreign currency that is purchased will generally have a tax basis equal to the U.S. dollar value of the foreign currency on the date of purchase. Any gain or loss recognized on a sale or other disposition of a foreign currency (including its use to purchase Notes or upon exchange for U.S. dollars) will be U.S. source ordinary income or loss.

# Perpetual Capital Securities

Distributions

## General

Distributions on Perpetual Capital Securities by the Issuer, before reduction for any withholding tax paid by the Issuer with respect thereto (and including any additional amounts paid in respect of such withholding), generally will be taxable to a U.S. Holder as dividend income to the extent of the Issuer's current or accumulated earnings and profits (as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes), and will not be eligible for the dividends received deduction allowed to corporations. Distributions in excess of current and accumulated earnings and profits will be treated as a non-taxable return of capital to the extent of the U.S. Holder's basis in the Perpetual Capital Securities and thereafter as capital gain. However, the Issuer does not maintain calculations of its earnings and profits in accordance with U.S. federal income tax accounting principles. U.S. Holders should therefore assume that any distributions by the Issuer with respect to Perpetual Capital Securities will be reported as ordinary dividend income. U.S. Holders should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the appropriate U.S. federal income tax treatment of any distributions on Perpetual Capital Securities received from the Issuer.

# Foreign Currency Distributions

Distributions paid in a foreign currency will be included in income in a U.S. dollar amount calculated by reference to the exchange rate in effect on the day the distributions are received by the U.S. Holder, regardless of whether the foreign currency is converted into U.S. dollars at that time. If the distributions received in a foreign currency are converted into U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in effect on the day they are received, the U.S. Holder generally will not be required to recognize foreign currency gain or loss in respect of the distribution.

# Effect of Singaporean Withholding Taxes

As discussed above under "— Distributions — General", the amount of any distribution on the Perpetual Capital Securities will include amounts, if any, withheld in respect of Singaporean taxes. For more information on Singaporean withholding taxes, please see the discussion under "Taxation — Singapore Taxation". Distributions that the Issuer pays with respect to the Perpetual Capital Securities will be considered foreign-source income to U.S. Holders. Subject to applicable limitations, some of which vary depending upon the U.S. Holder's circumstances, a U.S. Holder generally will be entitled to a credit against its U.S. federal income tax liability, or a deduction in computing its U.S. federal taxable income, for Singaporean income taxes withheld by OCBC Bank.

Dividend income generally constitutes "passive category income" for purposes of the foreign tax credit. The rules governing foreign tax credits are complex. Prospective purchasers should consult their tax advisors concerning the foreign tax credit implications of the payment of Singaporean (or other non-U.S.) taxes.

Sale, Exchange, Retirement, Redemption or Other Taxable Disposition

For U.S. federal income tax purposes, gain or loss realized on the sale, exchange, retirement, redemption or other taxable disposition of the Perpetual Capital Securities will be capital gain or loss, and will be long-term capital gain or loss if the U.S. Holder held the Perpetual Capital Securities for more than one year. The amount of the gain or loss will equal the difference between the U.S. Holder's adjusted tax basis in the Perpetual Capital Securities disposed of and the amount realized on the disposition, in each case as determined in U.S. dollars. A U.S. Holder's adjusted tax basis in a Perpetual Capital Security generally will be its U.S. dollar cost. Such gain or loss will generally be U.S.-source gain or loss for foreign tax credit purposes. The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitations. U.S. Holders should consult their own tax advisors about how to account for proceeds received on the sale, exchange, retirement, redemption or other taxable disposition of Perpetual Capital Securities that are not paid in U.S. dollars.

A U.S. Holder will have a tax basis in the foreign currency received equal to its U.S. dollar value at the spot rate on the settlement date. Any currency gain or loss realized in the sale, exchange, retirement, redemption or other taxable disposition of the Perpetual Capital Securities or on a subsequent conversion or other disposition of the foreign currency for a different U.S. dollar amount generally will be treated as U.S. source ordinary income or loss.

Passive Foreign Investment Company Considerations ("PFIC")

A non-U.S. corporation will be a PFIC in any taxable year in which, after taking into account the income and assets of the corporation and certain subsidiaries pursuant to applicable "look-through rules," either (i) at least 75% of its gross income is "passive income" or (ii) at least 50% of the average value of its assets is attributable to assets which produce passive income or are held for the production of passive income. Although interest, dividends, and gain from the disposition of assets held as investments are generally treated as passive income for these purposes, special rules exclude (a) income connected to an active banking business earned by certain banks and (b) income connected to an active insurance business earned by certain insurance companies from treatment as passive income for purposes of these tests. OCBC Bank believes that its subsidiaries currently qualify as banks or insurance companies eligible for income connected with their active banking or insurance businesses, as applicable, to be excluded from passive income treatment under these rules. As a result, OCBC Bank does not believe that it should be treated as a PFIC. OCBC Bank's possible status as a PFIC must be determined annually, however, and may be subject to change if OCBC Bank fails to qualify under these special rules for any year in which a U.S. Holder holds Perpetual Capital Securities. If OCBC Bank were to be treated as a PFIC in any year, U.S. Holders of Perpetual Capital Securities would be required to (i) pay a special U.S. addition to tax on certain distributions and gains on sale, (ii) pay tax on any gain from the sale of Perpetual Capital Securities at ordinary income (rather than capital gains) rates in addition to paying the special addition to tax on this gain, and (iii) comply with additional U.S. federal income tax reporting obligations. Prospective purchasers should consult their tax advisors regarding the potential application of the PFIC regime.

# Backup Withholding and Information Reporting

In general, payments by a U.S. paying agent or other U.S. intermediary of interest and accruals of OID on, and the proceeds of a sale, exchange, retirement, redemption or other taxable disposition of, the Notes, as well as distributions and other proceeds with respect to the Perpetual Capital Securities payable to a U.S. Holder will be reported to the IRS and to the U.S. Holder as may be required under applicable regulations. Backup withholding will apply to these payments, including payments of accrued OID, if the U.S. Holder fails to provide an accurate taxpayer identification number or certification of exempt status or otherwise fails to comply with applicable certification requirements. Certain U.S. Holders are not subject to backup withholding. U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisors about these rules and any other reporting obligations that may apply to the ownership or disposition of Notes, including requirements related to the holding of certain "specified foreign financial assets".

## Reportable Transactions

A U.S. taxpayer that participates in a "reportable transaction" will be required to disclose its participation to the IRS. Under the relevant rules, if the Notes are denominated in a foreign currency, a U.S. Holder may be required to treat a foreign currency exchange loss from the Notes as a reportable transaction if this loss exceeds the relevant threshold in the regulations (U.S.\$50,000 in a single taxable year, if the U.S. Holder is an individual or trust, or higher amounts for other non-individual U.S. Holders), and to disclose its investment by filing Form 8886 with the IRS. A penalty in the amount of U.S.\$10,000 in the case of a natural person and U.S.\$50,000 in all other cases is generally imposed on any taxpayer that fails to timely file an information return with the IRS with respect to a transaction resulting in a loss that is treated as a reportable transaction. Prospective purchasers are urged to consult their tax advisors regarding the application of these rules.

## Fungible Issue

OCBC Bank may, without the consent of the Noteholders or the Securityholders, as the case may be, of outstanding Notes, issue additional Notes with identical terms. These additional Notes, even if they are treated for non-tax purposes as part of the same series as the original Notes, in some cases may be treated as a separate series for U.S. federal income tax purposes. In such a case, among other things, the additional Notes may be considered to have been issued with OID even if the original Notes had no OID, or the additional Notes may have a greater amount of OID than the original Notes. These differences may affect the market value of the original Notes if the additional Notes are not otherwise distinguishable from the original Notes.

# **U.S. Foreign Account Tax Compliance Withholding**

Pursuant to certain provisions of U.S. law, commonly known as FATCA, a "foreign financial institution" may be required to withhold on certain payments it makes ("foreign passthru payments") to persons that fail to meet certain certification, reporting, or related requirements. The Issuer believes that it is a foreign financial institution for these purposes. A number of jurisdictions (including Singapore) have entered into, or have agreed in substance to, intergovernmental agreements with the United States to implement FATCA ("IGAs"), which modify the way in which FATCA applies in their jurisdictions. Certain aspects of the application of the FATCA provisions and IGAs to instruments such as the Notes, including whether withholding would ever be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on instruments

such as the Notes, are uncertain and may be subject to change. Even if withholding would be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on instruments such as the Notes. proposed regulations have been issued that provide that such withholding would not apply to foreign passthru payments prior to the date that is two years after the date on which final regulations defining "foreign passthru payments" are published in the U.S. Federal Register. In the preamble to the proposed regulations, the U.S. Treasury Department indicated that taxpayers may rely on these proposed regulations until the issuance of final regulations. Additionally, Notes that are characterized as debt (or which are not otherwise treated as equity and have a fixed term) for U.S. federal income tax purposes that are issued on or prior to the date that is six months after the date on which final regulations defining "foreign passthru payments" are filed with the U.S. Federal Register generally would be "grandfathered" for purposes of FATCA withholding unless materially modified after such date. However, if additional Notes (as described under "Terms and Conditions of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities - Further Issues") that are not distinguishable from grandfathered Notes are issued after the expiration of the grandfathering period and are subject to withholding under FATCA, then withholding agents may treat all the Notes in the series, including grandfathered Notes, as subject to withholding under FATCA. Holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding how these rules may apply to their investment in the Notes. In the event any withholding would be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on the Notes, no person will be required to pay additional amounts as a result of the withholding.

# **Singapore Taxation**

The statements below are general in nature and are based on certain aspects of current tax laws in Singapore and administrative guidelines and circulars issued by the MAS in force as at the date of this Offering Memorandum and are subject to any changes in such laws, administrative guidelines or circulars, or the interpretation of those laws, guidelines or circulars, occurring after such date, which changes could be made on a retroactive basis. Neither these statements nor any other statements in this Offering Memorandum are intended or are to be regarded as advice on the tax position of any holder of the Notes or of any person acquiring, selling or otherwise dealing with the Notes or on any tax implications arising from the acquisition, sale or other dealings in respect of the Notes. The statements made herein do not purport to be a comprehensive description of all the tax considerations that may be relevant to a decision to purchase, own or dispose of the Notes and do not purport to deal with the tax consequences applicable to all categories of investors, some of which (such as dealers in securities or financial institutions in Singapore which have been granted the relevant Financial Sector Incentive(s)) may be subject to special rules or tax rates. Prospective Noteholders or the Securityholders, as the case may be, are advised to consult their own tax advisors as to the Singapore or other tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership of or disposal of the Notes, including the effect of any foreign, state or local tax laws to which they are subject. It is emphasized that neither OCBC Bank nor any other persons involved in the Program accepts responsibility for any tax effects or liabilities resulting from the subscription for, purchase, holding or disposal of the Notes.

In addition, the statements below are on the assumption that the Inland Revenue Authority of Singapore ("IRAS") regards the (a) Subordinated Notes containing non-viability loss absorption provisions as debt securities for the purposes of the Income Tax Act 1947 of Singapore (the "ITA") and eligible for the Qualifying Debt Securities Scheme; and (b) Notes constituting Perpetual Capital Securities as "AT1 instruments" within the meaning of Section 10I(2) of the ITA. If any Tranche of the Subordinated Notes is not regarded as debt securities for the purposes of the ITA or any Tranche of Notes constituting Perpetual Capital Securities is not regarded as "AT1 instruments" within the meaning of Section 10I(2) of the ITA, and/or holders thereof are not eligible for the tax concessions under the Qualifying Debt Securities Scheme, the tax treatment to holders may differ. Investors and holders of any Tranche of such Notes should consult their own accounting and tax advisors regarding the Singapore income tax consequences of their acquisition, holding and disposal of any Tranche of the Notes.

# Interest and Other Payments

Subject to the following paragraphs, under Section 12(6) of the ITA the following payments are deemed to be derived from Singapore:

- (a) any interest, commission, fee or any other payment in connection with any loan or indebtedness or with any arrangement, management, guarantee, or service relating to any loan or indebtedness which is (i) borne, directly or indirectly, by a person resident in Singapore or a permanent establishment in Singapore (except in respect of any business carried on outside Singapore through a permanent establishment outside Singapore or any immovable property situated outside Singapore) or (ii) deductible against any income accruing in or derived from Singapore; or
- (b) any income derived from loans where the funds provided by such loans are brought into or used in Singapore.

Such payments, where made to a person not known to the paying party to be a resident in Singapore for tax purposes, are generally subject to withholding tax in Singapore. The rate at which tax is to be withheld for such payments (other than those subject to the 15% final withholding tax described below) to non-resident persons (other than non-resident individuals) is at the prevailing corporate tax rate, which is currently 17%.

The applicable rate for non-resident individuals is currently 22% and is proposed to be increased to 24% from the year of assessment 2024 pursuant to the Singapore Budget Statement 2022.

However, if the payment is derived by a person not resident in Singapore otherwise than from any trade, business, profession or vocation carried on or exercised by such person in Singapore and is not effectively connected with any permanent establishment in Singapore of that person, the payment is subject to a final withholding tax of 15%. The rate of 15% may be reduced by applicable tax treaties.

Certain Singapore-sourced investment income derived by individuals from financial instruments is exempt from tax, including:

- (a) interest from debt securities derived on or after January 1, 2004;
- (b) discount income (not including discount income arising from secondary trading) from debt securities derived on or after February 17, 2006; and
- (c) prepayment fee, redemption premium and break cost from debt securities derived on or after February 15, 2007,

except where such income is derived through a partnership in Singapore or is derived from the carrying on of a trade, business or profession in Singapore.

## Withholding Tax Exemption on Qualifying Payments by Specified Entities

Pursuant to Section 45I of the ITA, payments of income which are deemed under Section 12(6) of the ITA to be derived from Singapore and which are made by a specified entity shall be exempt from withholding tax if such payments are liable to be made by such specified entity for the purpose of its trade or business under a debt security which is issued within the period from February 17, 2012 to December 31, 2026 (both dates inclusive). Notwithstanding the above, permanent establishments in Singapore of non-resident persons are required to declare such payments in their annual income tax returns and will be assessed to tax on such payments (unless specifically exempt from tax).

A specified entity includes a bank licensed under the Banking Act 1970 of Singapore or a merchant bank approved under the Monetary Authority of Singapore Act 1970 of Singapore.

# Qualifying Debt Securities Scheme

As the Program as a whole is arranged by an Approved Bond Intermediary (as defined in the ITA) prior to January 1, 2004, by Financial Sector Incentive (Bond Market) Company(ies) (as defined in the ITA) prior to January 1, 2014 and by Financial Sector Incentive (Bond Market) Companies, Financial Sector Incentive (Standard Tier) Companies or Financial Sector Incentive (Capital Market) Companies (as defined in the ITA) from January 1, 2014, any Tranche of the Notes ("Relevant Notes") issued or to be issued as debt securities under the Program during the period from the date of this Offering Memorandum to December 31, 2023 would be Qualifying Debt Securities ("QDS") for the purposes of the ITA, to which the following treatment shall apply:

- (a) subject to certain prescribed conditions having been fulfilled (including the submission by OCBC Bank, or such other person as the MAS may direct, to the MAS of a return on debt securities in respect of the Relevant Notes in the prescribed format within such period as the MAS may specify and such other particulars in connection with the Relevant Notes as the MAS may require and the inclusion by OCBC Bank in all offering documents relating to the Relevant Notes of a statement to the effect that where interest, discount income, prepayment fee, redemption premium or break cost from the Relevant Notes is derived by a person who is not resident in Singapore and who carries on any operation in Singapore through a permanent establishment in Singapore, the tax exemption for QDS shall not apply if the non-resident person acquires the Relevant Notes using funds from that person's operations through the Singapore permanent establishment), interest, discount income (not including discount income arising from secondary trading), prepayment fee, redemption premium and break cost (collectively the "Qualifying Income") from the Relevant Notes derived by a holder who is not resident in Singapore and who (aa) does not have any permanent establishment in Singapore or (bb) carries on any operation in Singapore through a permanent establishment in Singapore but the funds used by that person to acquire the Relevant Notes are not obtained from such person's operation through a permanent establishment in Singapore, are exempt from Singapore income tax. "Funds from Singapore operations" means, in relation to a person, the funds and profits of that person's operations through a permanent establishment in Singapore;
- (b) subject to certain conditions having been fulfilled (including the submission by OCBC Bank, or such other person as the MAS may direct, to the MAS of a return on debt securities in respect of the Relevant Notes in the prescribed format within such period as the MAS may specify and such other particulars in connection with the Relevant Notes as the MAS may require), Qualifying Income derived by any company or a body of persons (as defined in the ITA) in Singapore is subject to income tax at a concessionary rate of 10% (except for holders of the relevant Financial Sector Incentive(s) who may be taxed at different rates); and

## (c) subject to:

- (i) OCBC Bank including in all offering documents relating to the Relevant Notes a statement to the effect that any person whose interest, discount income, prepayment fee, redemption premium or break cost derived from the Relevant Notes is not exempt from tax shall include such income in a return of income made under the ITA; and
- (ii) the submission by OCBC Bank, or such other person as the MAS may direct, to the MAS of a return on debt securities in respect of the Relevant Notes in the prescribed format within such period as the MAS may specify and such other particulars in connection with the Relevant Notes as the MAS may require,

payments of Qualifying Income derived from the Relevant Notes are not subject to withholding of tax by OCBC Bank.

Notwithstanding the foregoing:

- (a) if during the primary launch of any Tranche of Relevant Notes, the Relevant Notes of such Tranche are issued to fewer than four persons and 50% or more of the issue of such Relevant Notes is beneficially held or funded, directly or indirectly, by related parties of OCBC Bank, such Relevant Notes would not qualify as QDS; and
- (b) even though a particular Tranche of Relevant Notes are QDS, if, at any time during the tenure of such Tranche of Relevant Notes, 50% or more of such Relevant Notes which are outstanding at any time during the life of their issue is beneficially held or funded, directly or indirectly, by any related party(ies) of OCBC Bank, Qualifying Income derived from such Relevant Notes held by:
  - (i) any related party of OCBC Bank; or
  - (ii) any other person where the funds used by such person to acquire such Relevant Notes are obtained, directly or indirectly, from any related party of OCBC Bank,

shall not be eligible for the tax exemption or concessionary rate of tax described above.

The term "**related party**", in relation to a person (*A*), means any other person who, directly or indirectly, controls *A*, or is controlled, directly or indirectly, by *A*, or where *A* and that other person, directly or indirectly, are under the control of a common person.

The terms "break cost", "prepayment fee" and "redemption premium" are defined in the ITA as follows:

- (a) "break cost", in relation to debt securities and QDS, means any fee payable by the issuer of the securities on the early redemption of the securities, the amount of which is determined by any loss or liability incurred by the holder of the securities in connection with such redemption;
- (b) "prepayment fee", in relation to debt securities and QDS, means any fee payable by the issuer of the securities on the early redemption of the securities, the amount of which is determined by the terms of the issuance of the securities; and
- (c) "redemption premium", in relation to debt securities and QDS, means any premium payable by the issuer of the securities on the redemption of the securities upon their maturity.

References to "break cost", "prepayment fee" and "redemption premium" in this Singapore tax disclosure have the same meaning as defined in the ITA.

Where interest, discount income, prepayment fee, redemption premium and break cost (i.e. the Qualifying Income) is derived from any of the Relevant Notes by any person who is not resident in Singapore and who carries on any operations in Singapore through a permanent establishment in Singapore, the tax exemption available for QDS under the ITA (as mentioned above) shall not apply if such person acquires such Relevant Notes using the funds and profits of such person's operations through a permanent establishment in Singapore. Any person whose interest, discount income, prepayment fee, redemption premium or break cost (i.e. the Qualifying Income) derived from the Relevant Notes is not exempt from tax is required to include such income in a return of income made under the ITA.

# Capital Gains

Any gains considered to be in the nature of capital made from the sale of the Notes will not be taxable in Singapore. However, any gains derived by any person from the sale of the Notes as part of a trade or business carried on by that person in Singapore may be taxable as such gains are considered revenue in nature.

Noteholders or the Securityholders, as the case may be, who apply or are required to apply Singapore Financial Reporting Standard ("FRS") 39, FRS 109 or Singapore Financial Reporting Standard (International) 9 ("SFRS(I) 9") (as the case may be) for Singapore income tax purposes may be required to recognize gains or losses (not being gains or losses in the nature of capital) for tax purposes in accordance with the provisions of FRS 39, FRS 109 or SFRS(I) 9 (as the case may be) (as modified by the applicable provisions of Singapore income tax law) even though no sale or disposal of the Notes is made. See also "Adoption of FRS 39, FRS 109 and SFRS(I) 9 for Singapore Income Tax Purposes" below.

# Adoption of FRS 39, FRS 109 and SFRS(I) 9 for Singapore Income Tax Purposes

Section 34A of the ITA provides for the tax treatment for financial instruments in accordance with FRS 39 (subject to certain exceptions and "opt-out" provisions) to taxpayers who are required to comply with FRS 39 for financial reporting purposes. The IRAS has also issued a circular entitled "Income Tax Implications Arising from the Adoption of FRS 39-Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement".

FRS 109 or SFRS(I) 9 (as the case may be) is mandatorily effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, replacing FRS 39. Section 34AA of the ITA requires taxpayers who comply or who are required to comply with FRS 109 or SFRS(I) 9 for financial reporting purposes to calculate their profit, loss or expense for Singapore income tax purposes in respect of financial instruments in accordance with FRS 109 or SFRS(I) 9 (as the case may be), subject to certain exceptions. The IRAS has also issued a circular entitled "Income Tax: Income Tax Treatment Arising from Adoption of FRS 109-Financial Instruments".

Noteholders or the Securityholders, as the case may be, who may be subject to the tax treatment under Sections 34A or 34AA of the ITA should consult their own accounting and tax advisors regarding the Singapore income tax consequences of their acquisition, holding or disposal of the Notes.

## Estate Duty

Singapore estate duty has been abolished with respect to all deaths occurring on or after February 15, 2008.

# **Australia Taxation**

# Notes issued by OCBC Bank other than through its Sydney branch or by a Specified Issuer which is not an Australian resident

The following is a summary of the Australian withholding tax treatment under the Income Tax Assessment Acts of 1936 and 1997 of Australia (together, "Australian Tax Act"), at the date of this Offering Memorandum, of payments of interest on the Notes to be issued by OCBC Bank (other than through its Sydney branch) or by a Specified Issuer that is not an Australian resident nor otherwise carrying on business at or through a permanent establishment in Australia (each a "non-Australian Issuer") under the Program and certain other tax matters. It is not exhaustive and, in particular, does not deal with the position of certain classes of Noteholders or Securityholders, as the case may be, (including, dealers in securities, custodians or other third parties who hold Notes on behalf of other persons).

The summary is not intended to be, nor should it be construed as, legal or tax advice to any particular Noteholders or Securityholders. It is a general guide only and should be treated with appropriate caution. Prospective Noteholders or the Securityholders, as the case may be, who are in any doubt as to their tax position should consult their professional advisors on the tax implications of an investment in the Notes for their particular circumstances.

## Interest withholding tax

So long as a non-Australian Issuer continues to be a non-resident of Australia and the Notes issued by it are not attributable to a permanent establishment of that non-Australian Issuer in Australia, payments of principal and interest made under Notes issued by it should not be subject to Australian interest withholding tax.

#### Other tax matters

Under Australian laws as presently in effect:

- (a) Death duties. No Notes will be subject to death, estate or succession duties imposed by Australia, or by any political subdivision or authority therein having power to tax, if held at the time of death.
- (b) Stamp duty and other taxes. No ad valorem stamp, issue, registration or similar taxes are payable in Australia on the issue or transfer of any Notes.
- (c) Other withholding taxes on payments in respect of Notes. So long as a non-Australian Issuer continues to be a non-resident of Australia and does not issue Notes in carrying on a business at or through a permanent establishment in Australia, the tax file number requirements of Part VA of the Australian Tax Act and Section 12-140 of Schedule 1 to the Taxation Administration Act 1953 of Australia ("Taxation Administration Act") should not apply to the non-Australian Issuer in connection with Notes issued by that non-Australian Issuer.
- (d) Supply withholding tax. Payments in respect of the Notes can be made free and clear of the "supply withholding tax" imposed under Section 12-190 of Schedule 1 to the Taxation Administration Act.
- (e) Goods and services tax ("GST"). Neither the issue nor receipt of the Notes will give rise to a liability for GST in Australia on the basis that the supply of Notes will comprise either an input taxed financial supply, a GST-free supply or a supply which is outside the scope of the GST law. Furthermore, neither the payment of principal or interest by that non-Australian Issuer nor the disposal of the Notes, would give rise to any GST liability in Australia.

# Notes issued by the Sydney branch of OCBC Bank or an Australian-resident Specified Issuer

The following is a summary of the Australian withholding tax treatment under the Australian Tax Act, at the date of this Offering Memorandum, of payments of interest (as defined in the Australian Tax Act) on Notes (the "Australian Notes") to be issued by either the Sydney branch of OCBC Bank or a Specified Issuer that is a resident of Australia (and which is not issuing the Notes in carrying on business through a branch outside of Australia) (each an "Australian Issuer") under the Program and certain other tax matters. It is not exhaustive and, in particular, does not deal with the position of certain classes of holders of Australian Notes (including, dealers in securities, custodians or other third parties who hold Australian Notes on behalf of other persons).

Prospective holders of Australian Notes should also be aware that particular terms of issue of any Series of Australian Notes may affect the tax treatment of that Series of Australian Notes.

This summary is not intended to be, nor should it be construed as, legal or tax advice to any particular holder of Australian Notes. It is a general guide only and should be treated with appropriate caution. Prospective holders of Australian Notes who are in any doubt as to their tax position should consult their professional advisors on the tax implications of an investment in the Australian Notes for their particular circumstances.

## Interest withholding tax

An exemption from Australian interest withholding tax imposed under Division 11A of Part III of the Australian Tax Act ("**IWT**") is available, in respect of the Australian Notes issued by an Australian Issuer under Section 128F of the Australian Tax Act if the following conditions are met:

- (a) the Australian Issuer is a company as defined in Section 1 28F(9) (which includes certain companies acting as a trustee) and either a resident of Australia or a non-resident carrying on business at or through a permanent establishment in Australia when it issues those Australian Notes and when interest (as defined in Section 128A(1 AB) of the Australian Tax Act) is paid. Interest is defined to include amounts in the nature of, or in substitution for, interest and certain other amounts;
- (b) those Australian Notes are "debentures" for the purposes of Section 128F of the Australian Tax Act and are issued in a manner which satisfies the public offer test. There are five principal methods of satisfying the public offer test, the purpose of which is to ensure that lenders in capital markets are aware that the Australian Issuer is offering those Australian Notes for issue. In summary, the five methods are:
  - (i) offers to 10 or more unrelated persons carrying on a business of providing finance, or investing or dealing in securities, in the course of operating in financial markets;
  - (ii) offers to 100 or more investors;
  - (iii) offers of listed Australian Notes;
  - (iv) offers via publicly available information sources; and
  - (v) offers to a dealer, manager or underwriter who offers to sell those Australian Notes within 30 days by one of the preceding methods.

In addition, the issue of any of those Australian Notes (whether in global form or otherwise) and the offering of interests in any of those Australian Notes by one of these methods should satisfy the public offer test;

- (a) the Australian Issuer does not know, or have reasonable grounds to suspect, at the time of issue, that those Australian Notes or interests in those Australian Notes were being, or would later be, acquired, directly or indirectly, by an "associate" (as defined in Section 128F(9) of the Australian Tax Act) of the Australian Issuer, except as permitted by Section 128F(5) of the Australian Tax Act; and
- (b) at the time of the payment of interest, the Australian Issuer does not know, or have reasonable grounds to suspect, that the payee is an "associate" (as defined in Section 128F(9) of the Australian Tax Act) of the Australian Issuer, except as permitted by Section 128F(6) of the Australian Tax Act.

# Compliance with Section 128F of the Australian Tax Act

Unless otherwise specified in any relevant supplement to this Offering Memorandum, the Australian Issuer intends to issue the Australian Notes in a manner which will satisfy the requirements of Section 128F of the Australian Tax Act.

The Australian Issuer intends to issue Australian Notes which will be characterized as both "debt interests" and "debentures" for the purposes of the Australian Tax Act.

# Exemptions under recent tax treaties

The Australian government has signed double tax conventions ("Specified Treaties") with a number of countries (each a "Specified Country") which contain certain exemptions from IWT.

In broad terms, the Specified Treaties effectively prevent IWT applying to interest derived by:

- (a) the government of the relevant Specified Country and certain governmental authorities and agencies in the Specified Country; or
- (b) a "financial institution" which is a resident of a Specified Country and which is unrelated to and dealing wholly independently with the Australian Issuer. The term "financial institution" refers to either a bank or any other form of enterprise which substantially derives its profits by carrying on a business of raising and providing finance. (However, interest under a back-to-back loan or an economically equivalent arrangement will not qualify for this exemption.)

The Australian Federal Treasury maintains a listing of Australia's double tax conventions which is available to the public at the Federal Treasury Department's website.

## Notes in bearer form - Section 126 of the Australian Tax Act

Section 126 of the Australian Tax Act imposes a type of withholding tax at the rate of 45% on the payment of interest on Australian Notes in bearer form if the Australian Issuer fails to disclose the names and addresses of the holders of those Australian Notes to the Australian Taxation Office.

Section 126 does not, however, apply to the payment of interest on Australian Notes in bearer form held by non-residents who do not carry on business at or through a permanent establishment in Australia where the issue of those Australian Notes has satisfied the requirements of Section 128F of the Australian Tax Act or IWT is payable.

In addition, the Australian Taxation Office has confirmed that for the purpose of Section 126 of the Australian Tax Act, the holder of debentures (such as the Australian Notes in bearer form) means the person in possession of the debentures. Section 126 is therefore limited in its application to persons in possession of Australian Notes in bearer form who are residents of Australia or non-residents who are engaged in carrying on business in Australia at or through a permanent establishment in Australia. Where interests in Australian Notes in bearer form are held through Euroclear, Clearstream, CDP or the CMU, the Australian Issuer intends to treat the operators of those clearing systems as the holders of those Australian Notes for the purposes of Section 126 of the Australian Tax Act.

## Payment of additional amounts

As set out in more detail in the terms and conditions for the Australian Notes that are Senior Notes ("Australian Senior Notes"), and unless expressly provided to the contrary in any relevant supplement to this Offering Memorandum), if the Australian Issuer is at any time compelled or authorized by law to deduct or withhold an amount in respect of any Australian withholding taxes

imposed or levied by the Commonwealth of Australia in respect of the Australian Senior Notes, the Australian Issuer must, subject to certain exceptions, pay such additional amounts as shall result in receipt by the holders of those Australian Senior Notes of such amounts as would have been received by them had no such deduction or withholding been required. If the Australian Issuer is compelled, as a result of any change in, or amendment to, any law to deduct or withhold an amount in respect of any withholding taxes, the Australian Issuer will have the option to redeem the Australian Senior Notes, in whole but not in part, in accordance with the Conditions.

### Other tax matters

Under Australian laws as presently in effect:

- (a) Death duties. No Australian Notes will be subject to death, estate or succession duties imposed by Australia, or by any political subdivision or authority therein having power to tax, if held at the time of death:
- (b) (Stamp duty and other taxes. No ad valorem stamp, issue, registration or similar taxes are payable in Australia on the issue or transfer of any Australian Notes;
- (c) Supply withholding tax. Payments in respect of the Australian Notes can be made free and clear of the "supply withholding tax" imposed under Section 12-190 of Schedule 1 to the Taxation Administration Act:
- (d) TFN/ABN withholding withholding tax is imposed, currently at the rate of 47%, on the payment of interest on certain registered securities unless the relevant payee has quoted an Australian tax file number ("TFN"), (in certain circumstances) an Australian Business Number ("ABN"), or proof of some other exception (as appropriate).

Assuming the requirements of section 128F of the Australian Tax Act are satisfied with respect to the Notes, then such withholding should not apply to payments to a non-Australian resident holder that is not holding the Notes in carrying on business at or through a permanent establishment in Australia;

- (a) GST. Neither the issue nor receipt of the Australian Notes will give rise to a liability for GST in Australia on the basis that the supply of Australian Notes will comprise either an input taxed financial supply or (in the case of an offshore subscriber that is a non-resident of Australia) a GST-free supply. Furthermore, neither the payment of principal or interest by the Australian Issuer, nor the disposal of the Australian Notes, would give rise to any GST liability in Australia;
- (b) Additional withholdings from certain payments to non-residents. The Governor-General may make regulations requiring withholding from certain payments to non-residents of Australia (other than payments of interest and other amounts which are already subject to the current IWT rules or specifically exempt from those rules). Regulations may only be made if the responsible Minister is satisfied the specified payments are of a kind that could reasonably relate to assessable income of foreign residents. The possible application of any future regulations to the proceeds of any sale of the Notes will need to be monitored; and
- (c) Garnishee directions by the Commissioner of Taxation. The Commissioner may give a direction requiring the Australian Issuer to deduct from any payment to a holder of the Australian Notes any amount in respect of Australian tax payable by the holder. If the Australian Issuer is served with such a direction, then the Australian Issuer will comply with that direction and make any deduction required by that direction.

# The proposed financial transactions tax ("FTT")

On February 14, 2013, the European Commission published a proposal (the "Commission's Proposal") for a Directive for a common FTT in Belgium, Germany, Estonia, Greece, Spain, France, Italy, Austria, Portugal, Slovenia and Slovakia (the "participating Member States"). However, Estonia has since stated that it will not participate.

The Commission's Proposal has very broad scope and could, if introduced, apply to certain dealings in the Notes (including secondary market transactions) in certain circumstances.

Under the Commission's Proposal the FTT could apply in certain circumstances to persons both within and outside of the participating Member States. Generally, it would apply to certain dealings in the Notes where at least one party is a financial institution, and at least one party is established in a participating Member State. A financial institution may be, or be deemed to be, "established" in a participating Member State in a broad range of circumstances, including (a) by transacting with a person established in a participating Member State or (b) where the financial instrument which is subject to the dealings is issued in a participating Member State. The issuance and subscription of Notes should, however, be exempt.

A joint statement issued on December 8, 2015 by participating Member States (other than Estonia) indicated a high-level agreement on the scope of the FTT. However, the FTT proposal remains subject to further negotiation between the participating Member States and the scope of any such tax is uncertain. Additional EU Member States may decide to participate.

Prospective holders of the Notes are advised to seek their own professional advice in relation to the FTT.

# **PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION**

Subject to the terms and on the conditions contained in an amended and restated program agreement dated April 6, 2022 (the "Program Agreement") between OCBC Bank, the Arrangers and the Dealers, the Notes will be offered on a continuous basis by the Issuer to the Dealers. The Notes may be reoffered and resold by the relevant Dealer at a price different from their issue price, including (without limitation) at prevailing market prices, or at prices related thereto, at the time of such reoffer and resale, in each case as determined by the relevant Dealer. The Notes may also be sold by the Issuer through Dealers, acting as agents of the Issuer. The Program Agreement also provides for Notes to be issued in syndicated Tranches that are underwritten by two or more Dealers. In the Program Agreement, OCBC Bank and any other Issuer that is not OCBC Bank have severally agreed to reimburse the Dealers for certain of their expenses in connection with the establishment and any future update of the Program. The Issuer may also from time to time agree with the relevant Dealer(s) that it may pay certain third parties commissions (including, without limitation, rebates to private banks). Further, the Issuer has agreed in the Program Agreement to reimburse the Dealers for certain of their expenses in connection with the issue of Notes under the Program and to indemnify the Dealers against certain liabilities incurred by them in connection with the offer and sale of the Notes. Except as otherwise indicated or as the context otherwise requires, references to "Issuer" in this "Plan of Distribution" refer to the issuer of a particular Tranche of Notes, including any Specified Issuer who has executed an accession letter agreeing to be bound by all the terms of the Program Agreement and a deed of accession agreeing to be bound by all the terms of the Agency Agreement and the Trust Deed.

In order to facilitate the offering of any Tranche of the Notes, one or more Dealers named as Stabilization Managers (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilization Manager) in the relevant Pricing Supplement, to the extent permitted by applicable laws and regulations, may engage in transactions that stabilize, maintain or otherwise affect the market price of the relevant Notes during and after the offering of the Tranche. Specifically, such persons may over-allot or create a short position in the Notes for their own account by selling more Notes than have been sold to them by the Issuer. Such persons may also elect to cover any such short position by purchasing Notes in the open market. In addition, such persons may stabilize or maintain the price of the Notes by bidding for or purchasing Notes in the open market and may impose penalty bids, under which selling concessions allowed to syndicate members or other broker-dealers participating in the offering of the Notes are reclaimed if Notes previously distributed in the offering are repurchased in connection with stabilization transactions or otherwise. The effect of these transactions may be to stabilize or maintain the market price of the Notes at a level above that which might otherwise prevail in the open market. The imposition of a penalty bid may also affect the price of the Notes to the extent that it discourages resales thereof. No representation is made as to whether such stabilization activities will take place at all or the magnitude or effect of any such stabilizing or other transactions. Such transactions, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time. Stabilization activities are subject to certain prescribed time limits in certain jurisdictions. Any stabilization action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the relevant Tranche of Notes is made and, if begun, may be ended at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of Notes and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche of Notes. Any such stabilization action may only be conducted outside Australia and on a market operated outside Australia.

Under Rule 15c6-1 under the Exchange Act, trades in the secondary market generally are required to settle in two business days, unless the parties to any such trade expressly agree otherwise. It is expected that delivery of Notes will be made against payment therefor on the relevant Issue Date, which could be more than two business days following the date of pricing. Accordingly, purchasers who wish to trade Notes in the United States more than two business days prior to the relevant Issue Date will be required, by virtue of the fact that the Notes initially may settle beyond two business days after the trade date (T+2), to specify an alternate settlement cycle at the time

of any such trade to prevent a failed settlement. The settlement date of a series of Notes will be set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement. Purchasers who wish to trade the Notes more than two business days prior to the Issue Date should consult their own advisors. See "Clearing and Settlement – Pre-issue Trades Settlement for Registered Notes".

#### **Declaration of Interest**

Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited is an Issuer and is also acting as an Arranger and a Dealer in respect of the Program.

The Dealers are full service financial institutions engaged in various activities, which may include securities trading, commercial and investment banking, financial advisory, investment management, investment research, principal investment, hedging, financing and brokerage activities. Each of the Dealers and their respective affiliates have, from time to time, performed, and may in the future perform, various financial advisory and investment banking services for the Issuer, for which they received or will receive customary fees and expenses.

In the ordinary course of their various business activities, the Dealers and their respective affiliates may make or hold a broad array of investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or related derivative securities) and financial instruments (including bank loans) for their own account and for the accounts of their customers, and such investment and securities activities may involve securities and/or instruments of the Issuer. The Dealers and their respective affiliates may also make investment recommendations and/or publish or express independent research views in respect of such securities or instruments and may at any time hold, or recommend to clients that they acquire, long and/or short positions in such securities and instruments.

In connection with each Tranche of Notes issued under the Program, the Dealers or certain of their affiliates may purchase Notes and be allocated Notes for asset management and/or proprietary purposes but not with a view to distribution. In connection with each Tranche of Notes issued under the Program, the Dealers or their respective affiliates may purchase Notes for their own account and enter into transactions, including credit derivatives, such as asset swaps, repackaging and credit default swaps relating to such Notes and/or other securities of the Issuer or its subsidiaries or associates at the same time as the offer and sale of each Tranche of Notes or in secondary market transactions. Such transactions would be carried out as bilateral trades with selected counterparties and separately from any existing sale or resale of the Tranche of Notes to which a particular Pricing Supplement relates (notwithstanding that such selected counterparties may also be purchasers of such Tranche of Notes).

## **Selling Restrictions**

### **United States**

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and have not been registered or qualified under any state securities or "blue sky" laws of any state of the United States, and the Notes may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, "U.S. persons" (as defined in Rule 902(k) of Regulation S) except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities

The Bearer Notes are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or its possessions or to a United States person, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. tax regulations. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by Code and regulations thereunder.

Each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Program will represent, warrant and agree, that, except as permitted by the Program Agreement, it has offered and sold the Notes of any identifiable Tranche, and will offer and sell the Notes of any identifiable Tranche (i) as part of their distribution at any time or (ii) otherwise until 40 days after the later of the date of issue of the Notes of such Tranche and completion of the distribution of such Tranche as determined, and such completion is certified to each relevant Dealer, by the Issuing and Paying Agent or, in the case of a syndicated issue of Notes, the lead manager, only in accordance with Rule 903 of Regulation S or (only as provided below) Rule 144A.

Accordingly, each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Program will represent, warrant and agree, that neither it, any of its affiliates nor any persons acting on its or their behalf has engaged or will engage in any directed selling efforts with respect to the Notes, and it and they have complied and will comply with the offering restrictions requirement of Regulation S. Each Dealer agrees to notify the Issuing and Paying Agent or, in the case of a syndicated issue of Notes, the lead manager when it has completed the distribution of its portion of the Notes of any Tranche so that the Issuing and Paying Agent or, in the case of a syndicated issue of Notes, the lead manager may determine the completion of the distribution of all Notes of such Tranche and notify the other relevant Dealers of the end of the "distribution compliance period" (as defined in Regulation S). Each Dealer agrees that, at or prior to confirmation of a sale of Notes, it will have sent to each distributor, dealer or person receiving a selling concession, fee or other remuneration that purchases Notes from it during the 40-day distribution compliance period commencing upon completion of the distribution of an identifiable Tranche as determined and certified to the Issuer a confirmation or notice to substantially the following effect:

"The securities covered hereby have not been registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933 (the "Securities Act") and may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined in Rule 902(k) of Regulation S) (i) as part of their distribution at any time or (ii) otherwise until the expiration of 40 days after completion of the distribution of all Notes of the Tranche of which such Notes are a part as determined and certified by the relevant Dealer, in the case of a non-syndicated issue of Notes, or the lead manager, in the case of a syndicated issue of Notes, except in accordance with Regulation S or Rule 144A under the Securities Act."

Until 40 days after the later of the date of issue and the completion of the distribution of any Notes, an offer or sale of such Notes within the United States by any Dealer that is not participating in the offering may violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act.

In addition, unless the Pricing Supplement, pricing term sheet or subscription agreement relating to one or more Tranches specifies that the applicable TEFRA exemption is either "TEFRA C" or "TEFRA not applicable" and except with respect to Notes for which the relevant Dealer and the Issuer agree, provided that such transaction is in accordance and compliance with applicable laws, that the following restrictions shall not apply, each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Program will represent, warrant and agree, in relation to each Tranche of Bearer Notes that (terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the Code and regulations thereunder, including TEFRA D):

(a) except to the extent permitted under U.S. Treas. Reg. §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D) (or any successor rules in substantially the same form that are applicable for purposes of Section 4701 of the Code) ("TEFRA D"), (i) it has not offered or sold, and during the restricted period it will not offer or sell, Notes in bearer form to a person who is within the United States or its possessions or to a United States person; and (ii) it has not delivered and agrees that it will not deliver within the United States or its possessions definitive Notes in bearer form that are sold during the restricted period;

- (b) it has and agrees that throughout the restricted period it will have in effect procedures reasonably designed to ensure that its employees or agents who are directly engaged in selling Notes are aware that such Notes may not be offered or sold during the restricted period to a person who is within the United States or its possessions or to a United States person, except as permitted by TEFRA D;
- (c) if it is a United States person, that it is acquiring the Notes in bearer form from a dealer for the purposes of resale in connection with their original issue and if it retains Notes for its own account, it will only do so in accordance with the requirements of U.S. Treas. Reg. §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D)(6) (or any successor rules in substantially the same form that are applicable for purposes of Section 4701 of the Code);
- (d) with respect to each affiliate that acquires Notes in bearer form for the purpose of offering or selling such Notes during the restricted period, it either (i) repeats and confirms the representations, warranties and agreements contained in sub-paragraphs (a) to (c) above on behalf of such affiliate or (ii) agrees that it will obtain from such affiliate for the benefit of the Issuer the representations, warranties and agreements contained in sub-paragraphs (a) to (c) above; and
- (e) it has not, and agrees that it will not, enter into any written contract (as defined in U.S. Treas. Reg. §1.1 63-5(c)(2)(i)(D)(4) (or any successor rules in substantially the same form that are applicable for purposes of Section 4701 of the Code)) pursuant to which any other party to the contract (other than one of its affiliates or another Dealer) has offered or sold, or during the restricted period will offer or sell, any Notes, except where pursuant to the contract the Dealer has obtained or will obtain from that party, for the benefit of the Issuer and the relevant Dealers, the representations, warranties and agreements contained in, and that party's agreement to comply with, the provisions of sub-paragraphs (a) to (d) above.

Notes in bearer form issued pursuant to TEFRA D (other than temporary Global Notes) and any talons, receipts or coupons appertaining thereto will bear the following legend: "Any United States person who holds this obligation will be subject to limitations under the United States income tax laws, including the limitations provided in Sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the Internal Revenue Code".

In addition, to the extent that the Pricing Supplement, pricing term sheet or the subscription agreement relating to one or more Tranches of Bearer Notes specifies that the applicable TEFRA exemption is "TEFRA C", under U.S. Treas. Reg. §.1. 163-5(c)(2)(i)(C) (or any successor rules in substantially the same form that are applicable for purposes of Section 4701 of the Code) ("TEFRA C"), Notes in bearer form must be issued and delivered outside the United States and its possessions in connection with their original issuance. In relation to each such Tranche, each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Program will represent, warrant and agree, that it has not offered, sold or delivered, and shall not offer, sell or deliver, directly or indirectly, Notes in bearer form within the United States or its possessions in connection with their original issuance. Further, in connection with the original issuance of Notes in bearer form, it has not communicated, and will not communicate, directly or indirectly, with a prospective purchaser if either such purchaser or it is within the United States or its possessions or otherwise involve its U.S. office in the offer or sale of Notes in bearer form. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the Code and regulations thereunder, including TEFRA C.

In connection with an offer or sale of any Notes in the United States or an offering in reliance on or pursuant to Regulation S, each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Program will represent, warrant and agree, that it is (a) a "qualified institutional buyer" within the meaning of Rule 144A under the Securities Act or (b) a non-U.S. person outside of the United States.

Notwithstanding anything above to the contrary, it is understood that Rule 144A Notes may be offered and sold in the United States, and in connection therewith each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Program will represent, warrant and agree, that:

- (a) offers, sales, resales and other transfers of Notes made in the United States that are made or approved by a Dealer (including offers, resales or other transfers made or approved by a Dealer in connection with secondary trading) shall be made with respect to Registered Notes only and shall be effected pursuant to an exemption from, or a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act;
- (b) offers, sales, resales and other transfers of Notes made in the United States will be made only to institutional investors that are reasonably believed to qualify as "qualified institutional buyers" within the meaning of Rule 144A;
- (c) no (i) offers or sales of any security, or solicitations of offers to buy, or other negotiations in respect of, any security, under circumstances that would require the registration of the Notes under the Securities Act will be made; or (ii) general solicitation or general advertising within the meaning of Rule 502(c) under the Securities Act will be used in connection with the offering of the Notes in the United States;
- (d) such Dealer will deliver an Offering Memorandum to each "qualified institutional buyer" within the meaning of Rule 144A purchasing a Note or Notes from it pursuant to Rule 144A;
- (e) each Note sold in the United States shall contain a legend stating that such Note has not been, and will not be, registered under the Securities Act, that any resale or other transfer of such Note or any interest therein may be made only:
  - (i) to the Issuer or any subsidiary thereof;
  - (ii) to a qualified institutional buyer in a transaction which meets the requirements of Rule 144A.
  - (iii) outside the United States to a non-U.S. person pursuant to Regulation S under the Securities Act;
  - (iv) pursuant to an exemption from registration under the Securities Act provided by Rule 144 thereunder (if available); or
  - (v) pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act.

Any resale or other transfer, or attempted resale or other transfer of Notes sold as part of a private placement in the United States made other than in compliance with the restrictions set out in (i) to (v) above shall not be recognized by the Issuer or any agent of the Issuer and shall be void.

Resale or secondary market transfer of Notes in the United States may be made in the manner and to the parties specified above and to qualified institutional buyers in transactions which meet the requirements of Rule 144A.

Each issue of other types of Notes may be subject to such additional U.S. selling restrictions as the relevant Issuer and the Dealer(s) may agree as a term of the issuance and purchase or, as the case may be, subscription of such Notes, which additional selling restrictions shall be set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement, pricing term sheet or the subscription agreement, as the case may be. Each Dealer agrees that it shall offer, sell and deliver such Notes only in compliance with such additional U.S. selling restrictions.

#### Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors

Each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Program will represent, warrant and agree, that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available and will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Offering Memorandum as completed by the Pricing Supplement in relation thereto to any retail investor in the European Economic Area. For the purposes of this provision:

- (a) the expression "retail investor" means a person who is one (or more) of the following:
  - (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of MiFID II; or
  - (ii) a customer within the meaning of the Insurance Distribution Directive, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; and
- (b) the expression "offer" includes the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe for the Notes.

## Prohibition of Sales to UK Retail Investors

Each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Program will represent, warrant and agree, that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available and will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Offering Memorandum as completed by the Pricing Supplement in relation thereto to any retail investor in the UK. For the purposes of this provision:

- (a) the expression "retail investor" means a person who is one (or more) of the following:
  - (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA; or
  - (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the FSMA and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA.
- (b) the expression "offer" includes the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe for the Notes.

# **United Kingdom**

Each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Program will represent, warrant and agree, that:

(a) in relation to any Notes which have a maturity of less than one year, (i) it is a person whose ordinary activities involve it in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of its business and (ii) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell any Notes other than to persons whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or as agent) for the purposes of their businesses or who it is reasonable to expect will acquire, hold, manage or dispose of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses where the issue of the Notes would otherwise constitute a contravention of Section 19 of the FSMA by the Issuer;

- (b) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be communicated any invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of Section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of any Notes in circumstances in which Section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Issuer; and
- (c) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by it in relation to any Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

## Singapore

Each Dealer has acknowledged, and each further Dealer appointed under the Program will be required to acknowledge, that this Offering Memorandum has not been registered as a prospectus with the MAS. Accordingly, each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Program will represent, warrant and agree, that it has not offered or sold any Notes or caused the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase and will not offer or sell any Notes or cause such Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, and has not circulated or distributed, nor will it circulate or distribute, this Offering Memorandum or any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of the Notes, whether directly or indirectly, to persons in Singapore other than (i) to an institutional investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA) pursuant to Section 274 of the SFA, (ii) to a relevant person (as defined in Section 275(2) of the SFA) pursuant to Section 275(1) of the SFA, or any person pursuant to Section 275(1A) of the SFA, and in accordance with the conditions specified in Section 275 of the SFA and (where applicable) Regulation 3 of the Securities and Futures (Classes of Investors) Regulations 2018 or (iii) otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any other applicable provision of the SFA.

Where the Notes are subscribed or purchased under Section 275 of the SFA, by a relevant person which is:

- (i) a corporation (which is not an accredited investor (as defined in the SFA)) the sole business of which is to hold investments and the entire share capital of which is owned by one or more individuals, each of whom is an accredited investor; or
- (ii) a trust (where the trustee is not an accredited investor) whose sole purpose is to hold investments and each beneficiary of the trust is an individual who is an accredited investor,

the securities or securities-based derivatives contracts (each as defined in Section 2(1) of the SFA) of that corporation or the beneficiaries' rights and interest (howsoever described) in that trust shall not be transferred within six months after that corporation or that trust has acquired the Notes pursuant to an offer made under Section 275 of the SFA except:

- (a) to an institutional investor or to a relevant person, or to any person arising from an offer referred to in Section 275(1A) or Section 276(4)(c)(ii) of the SFA;
- (b) where no consideration is or will be given for the transfer;
- (c) where the transfer is by operation of law;
- (d) as specified in Section 276(7) of the SFA; or
- (e) as specified in Regulation 37A of the Securities and Futures (Offers of Investments) (Securities and Securities-based Derivatives Contracts) Regulations 2018.

Any reference to the SFA is a reference to the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore and a reference to any term as defined in the SFA or any provision in the SFA is a reference to that term or provision as modified or amended from time to time including by such of its subsidiary legislation as may be applicable at the relevant time.

## APPLICABLE FOR SUBORDINATED NOTES AND PERPETUAL CAPITAL SECURITIES ONLY

Each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Program will represent, warrant and agree, that it has not offered or sold any Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities or caused the Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase and will not offer or sell any Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities or cause such Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, to the Issuer or any of its banking group entities or associates (each as defined in MAS Notice 637).

## APPLICABLE FOR SUBORDINATED NOTES AND PERPETUAL CAPITAL SECURITIES ONLY

Each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Program will represent, warrant and agree, that it has not offered or sold any Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities or caused the Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase and will not offer or sell any Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities or cause such Subordinated Notes or Perpetual Capital Securities to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, to the Issuer or any of its banking group entities or associates (each as defined in MAS Notice 637).

# Japan

The Notes have not been and will not be registered for a public offering in Japan pursuant to Article 4, Paragraph 1 of the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan (Act No. 25 of 1948, as amended (the "Financial Instruments and Exchange Act"). Accordingly, the Notes may not be offered or sold, and each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Program will represent, warrant and agree, that it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell the Notes, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan (which term as used herein means any person resident in Japan, including any corporation or other entity organized under the laws of Japan) or to others for re-offering or re-sale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of, and otherwise in compliance with the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act and other relevant laws and regulations of Japan.

# Australia

Each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Program will represent, warrant and agree, that no prospectus or other disclosure document (as defined in the Corporations Act 2001 of Australia (the "Australian Corporations Act")) in relation to the Program or any Notes has been or will be lodged with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission ("ASIC") or the securities exchange operated by ASX Limited (ABN 98 008 624 691) ("ASX Limited"). Each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Program will represent, warrant and agree, that it:

(a) has not offered, and will not offer for issue or sale and has not invited, and will not invite applications, for issue, or offers to purchase, the Notes in Australia (including an offer or invitation which is received by a person in Australia); and

(b) has not distributed or published, and will not distribute or publish, any draft, preliminary or definitive information memorandum, advertisement or other offering material relating to the Notes in Australia,

#### unless:

- (i) the aggregate consideration payable by each offeree or invitee is at least A\$500,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies, but disregarding moneys lent by the offeror or its associates) or the offer or invitation otherwise does not require disclosure to the investors in accordance with Part 6D.2 or Chapter 7 of the Australian Corporations Act;
- (ii) the offer does not constitute an offer to a "retail client" for the purposes of Section 761G of the Australian Corporations Act;
- (iii) such action complies with all applicable laws, regulations and directives; and
- (iv) such action does not require any document to be lodged with ASIC or ASX Limited.

In addition, in the event that the Sydney branch of OCBC Bank or a Specified Issuer that is a resident of Australia (and not issuing the Notes through a branch outside of Australia) (each an "Australian Issuer") issues the Notes (the "Australian Notes"), the relevant Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed that it will:

- (a) use reasonable endeavors to assist the Australian Issuer in ensuring that the Australian Notes are offered for sale in a manner which will allow payments of interest (as defined in Section 128A(1AB) of the Income Tax Assessment Act of 1936 of Australia (the "Australian Tax Act")) on the Australian Notes to be exempt from Australian interest withholding tax under Section 128F of the Australian Tax Act and, in particular, will, within 30 days of any Australian Note being issued to it offer that Australian Note:
  - (i) to at least 10 persons, each of whom the employees of the Dealer involved in the sale do not know or suspect to be an "associate" (as defined in Section 128F(9) of the Australian Tax Act) of any of the other offerees, and each of whom carries on a business of providing finance, or investing or dealing in securities in the course of operating in financial markets; or
  - (ii) as a result of negotiations being initiated publicly in electronic form, or another form, that is used in financial markets for dealing in debentures which are similar to the Australian Notes;

# (b) provide such information:

- (i) which is specified in any additional documentation negotiated and agreed in relation to a specific issue of the Australian Notes; or
- (ii) which the Dealer is reasonably able to provide to enable the Australian Issuer to demonstrate the manner in which the Australian Notes were issued; and
- (c) otherwise provide, so far as it is reasonably able to do so, any other information relating to the issuance and distribution of the Australian Notes as may reasonably be required by the Australian Issuer in order to establish that payments of interest are exempt from withholding tax under Section 128F of the Australian Tax Act,

provided that in no circumstances shall the Dealer be obligated to disclose (1) the identity of any offeree or purchaser of any Australian Note or any information from which such identity would be capable of being ascertained, or (2) any information, the disclosure of which would be contrary to, or prohibited by, any relevant law, regulation or directive or confidentiality agreement or undertaking binding on the Dealer.

In addition, the Dealer has agreed that, in connection with the primary distribution of the Australian Notes, it will not sell the Australian Notes to any person if, at the time of such sale, the employees of the Dealer involved in the sale knew or had reasonable grounds to suspect that, as a result of such sale, any Australian Note or an interest in any Australian Note was being, or would later be, acquired (directly or indirectly) by an Offshore Associate of the Australian Issuer (other than an Offshore Associate acting in the capacity of a dealer, manager or underwriter in relation to the placement of those Australian Notes or a clearing house, custodian, funds manager or responsible entity of a registered scheme within the meaning of the Australian Corporations Act). For the avoidance of doubt, if any employee of the Dealer making the offer, effecting the sale or otherwise directly involved in the sale of the Australian Notes, does not know, or does not have reasonable grounds to suspect, that a person is an Offshore Associate of the Australian Issuer, nothing in the above obliges that Dealer to make positive enquiries of that person to confirm that person is not an Offshore Associate of the Australian Issuer.

"Offshore Associate" means an "associate" (as defined in Section 128F(9) of the Australian Tax Act) that is either:

- (a) a non-resident of Australia that does not acquire the Australian Notes in carrying on a business at or through a permanent establishment in Australia; or
- (b) a resident of Australia that acquires the Australian Notes in carrying on a business at or through a permanent establishment outside Australia.

# Hong Kong

In relation to each Tranche of Notes issued by the Issuer, each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Program will represent, warrant and agree, that:

- (a) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell in Hong Kong, by means of any document, any Notes (except for Notes which are a "structured product" as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of Hong Kong (the "SFO") other than (a) to "professional investors" as defined in the SFO and any rules made under the SFO; or (b) in other circumstances which do not result in the document being a "prospectus" as defined in the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32) of Hong Kong (the "C(WUMP)O") or which do not constitute an offer to the public within the meaning of the C(WUMP)O; and
- (b) it has not issued or had in its possession for the purposes of issue, and will not issue or have in its possession for the purposes of issue, whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere, any advertisement, invitation or document relating to the Notes, which is directed at, or the contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the public of Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the securities laws of Hong Kong) other than with respect to Notes which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside Hong Kong or only to "professional investors" as defined in the SFO and any rules made under the SFO.

#### General

Other than with respect to the admission of the Notes to listing, trading and/or quotation by the relevant listing authorities, stock exchanges and/or quotation systems, no action has been or will be taken in any jurisdiction by the Issuer or the Dealers that would permit a public offering of Notes, or possession or distribution of any offering material in relation thereto, in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. Persons into whose hands this Offering Memorandum or any Pricing Supplement comes are required by the Issuer and the Dealers to comply with all applicable laws and regulations in each jurisdiction in or from which they purchase, offer, sell or deliver Notes or have in their possession or distribute such offering material, in all cases at their own expense.

None of the Issuer, the Trustee or any of the Dealers represents that Notes may at any time lawfully be sold in compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in any jurisdiction, or pursuant to any exemption available thereunder, or assumes any responsibility for facilitating any such sale. With regard to each Tranche, the relevant Dealer will be required to comply with any additional restrictions agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer and set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

# FORM OF PRICING SUPPLEMENT RELATING TO NOTES OTHER THAN PERPETUAL CAPITAL SECURITIES

The form of Pricing Supplement that will be issued in respect of each Tranche of Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities, subject only to the deletion of non-applicable provisions, is set out below:

Pricing Supplement dated [•]

# [OVERSEA-CHINESE BANKING CORPORATION LIMITED, acting through its [registered office/[•] branch]\*/SPECIFIED ISSUER]

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes] under the Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited

# U.S.\$30,000,000,000 Global Medium Term Note Program

This document constitutes the Pricing Supplement relating to the issue of Notes described herein.

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities (the "Conditions") set forth in the Offering Memorandum dated April 6, 2022 [and the supplemental Offering Memorandum dated [•]]. This Pricing Supplement contains the final terms of the Notes and must be read in conjunction with such Offering Memorandum [as so supplemented].

[The following alternative language applies if the first tranche of an issue which is being increased was issued under an Offering Memorandum with an earlier date.

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities (the "Conditions") set forth in the Offering Memorandum dated April 6, 2022. This Pricing Supplement contains the final terms of the Notes and must be read in conjunction with the Offering Memorandum dated April 6, 2022 [and the supplemental Offering Memorandum dated [●]], save in respect of the Conditions which are extracted from the Offering Memorandum dated April 6, 2022 and are attached hereto.]

[The following language applies if any tranche of the Notes is intended to be "qualifying debt securities" (as defined in the Income Tax Act 1947 of Singapore).

Where interest, discount income, prepayment fee, redemption premium or break cost is derived from any of the Notes or coupons (if applicable) by any person who is not resident in Singapore and who carries on any operations in Singapore through a permanent establishment in Singapore, the tax exemption available for qualifying debt securities (subject to certain conditions) under the Income Tax Act 1947 of Singapore (the "Income Tax Act"), shall not apply if such person acquires such Notes or coupons (if applicable) using the funds and profits of such person's operations through a permanent establishment in Singapore. Any person whose interest, discount income, prepayment fee, redemption premium or break cost derived from the Notes or coupons (if applicable) is not exempt from tax (including for the reasons described above) shall include such income in a return of income made under the Income Tax Act.]

[Insert the following language for an issue of AMTNs

The Notes will be constituted by a deed poll ("Note (AMTN) Deed Poll") dated July 5, 2011 executed by the Issuer and will be issued in certificated registered form by inscription on a register. The Notes are AMTNs for the purposes of the Offering Memorandum dated April 6, 2022 and the Conditions.

Notes will be offered in Australia only in the wholesale capital markets and on the basis that no disclosure to investors is required under Part 6D.2 or Chapter 7 of the Corporations Act 2001 of Australia.]

[MIFID II PRODUCT GOVERNANCE/PROFESSIONAL INVESTORS AND ECPS ONLY TARGET MARKET – Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is eligible counterparties and professional clients only, each as defined in Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "MiFID II"); and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.]

[UK MiFIR PRODUCT GOVERNANCE/PROFESSIONAL INVESTORS AND ECPS ONLY TARGET MARKET — Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is only eligible counterparties, as defined in the FCA Handbook Conduct of Business Sourcebook ("COBS"), and professional clients, as defined in the UK MiFIR; and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor")] should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the "UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules") is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.]

[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS – The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area ("EEA"). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "MiFID II"); or (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (the "Insurance Distribution Directive"), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II. Consequently, no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the "PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.]

[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO UK RETAIL INVESTORS – The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom ("UK"). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 ("EUWA"); or (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the "FSMA") and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement IDD, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA. Consequently, no key information document required by the PRIIPs Regulation as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the "UK PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the UK may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.]

SINGAPORE SFA PRODUCT CLASSIFICATION – In connection with Section 309B of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore, as modified or amended from time to time (the "SFA") and the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore (the "CMP Regulations 2018"), the Issuer has determined, and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309A(1) of the SFA), that the Notes are [prescribed capital markets products]/[capital markets products other than prescribed capital markets products] (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and [are] [Excluded]/[Specified] Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendation on Investment Products.<sup>1</sup>

[Pursuant to the Monetary Authority of Singapore Act 1970 of Singapore (the "MAS Act") and the Monetary Authority of Singapore (Resolution of Financial Institutions) Regulations 2018 (the "MAS Regulations"), the Subordinated Notes would be eligible instruments (as defined in the MAS Regulations). Accordingly, should a Bail-in Certificate (as defined in the MAS Act) be issued, Subordinated Notes may be subject to cancelation, modification, conversion and/or change in form, as set out in such Bail-in Certificate.]<sup>2</sup>

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as "Not Applicable" (N/A). Note that the numbering should remain as set out below, even if "Not Applicable" is indicated for individual paragraphs or sub-paragraphs. Italics denote directions for completing the Pricing Supplement.]

1	Issu	er:	[•]
2	(i)	Series Number:	[•]
	(ii)	Tranche Number:	[●]
	[(If fungible with an existing Series, details of that Series, including the date on which the Notes become fungible).]		
3	Spe	cified Currency or Currencies:	[●]
4	Aggregate Principal Amount:		
	(i)	Series:	[•]
	(ii)	Tranche:	[•]
5	(i)	Issue Price:	[•]% of the Aggregate Principal Amount [plus accrued interest from [insert date]] (in the case of fungible issues only, if applicable)
	(ii)	[Estimated Net Proceeds:	[●] (Required only for 144A issues)]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For any Notes to be offered to Singapore investors, the Issuer to consider whether it needs tore-classify the Notes pursuant to Section 309B of the SFA prior to the launch of the offer.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> To ensure that this legend is on the cover page of the Pricing Supplement when Subordinated Notes are issued.

6 (i) Specified Denominations:  $[\bullet]^3$ Calculation Amount: (ii) 7 Issue Date: (i) (ii) Interest Commencement Date: [specify a date/Issue Date/Not Applicable] (iii) Trade Date: 8 Maturity Date: [specify date or (for Floating Rate Notes) Interest Payment Date falling in or nearest to the relevant month and year]4 9 Interest Basis: [[●]% Fixed Rate] [[specify reference rate] +/- [●]% Floating Rate] [Zero Coupon] [Index Linked Interest] [Other (specify)] (further particulars specified below) 10 Redemption/Payment Basis: [Redemption at par] [Index Linked Redemption] [Credit Linked Redemption] [Equity Linked Redemption] [Bond Linked Redemption] [Dual Currency] [Partly Paid] [Installment] [Other (specify)] Change of Interest or Redemption/ 11 Specify details of any provision for convertibility of Notes into another interest or redemption/ Payment Basis: payment basis] 12 Put/Call Options: [Investor Put] [Issuer Call]

[(further particulars specified below)]

13 Listing: [SGX-ST/Other (specify)/None]

14 Status of Notes: [Senior/Subordinated]

15 Method of distribution: [Syndicated/Non-syndicated]

Notes (including Notes denominated in sterling) in respect of which the issue proceeds are to be accepted by the Issuer in the United Kingdom or whose issue otherwise constitutes a contravention of Section 19 of the FSMA and which have a maturity of less than one year must have a minimum redemption value of £100,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies). If the Specified Denomination is expressed to be €100,000 or its equivalent and multiples of a lower nominal amount (for example  $\[ \in \]$ 1,000), insert the following: " $\[ \in \]$ 100,000 and integral multiples of  $\[ \in \]$ 1,000 in excess thereof up to and including €199,000. No notes in definitive form will be issued with a denomination above €199,000". If the Notes are AMTNs, insert the following: "Subject to the requirement that the amount payable by each person who subscribed for the Notes must be at least A\$500,000 (disregarding moneys lent by the Issuer or its

Note that for Renminbi or Hong Kong dollar denominated Fixed Rate Notes where the Interest Payment Dates are subject to modification it will be necessary to specify the Interest Payment Date falling in or nearest to the relevant month and year.

## PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE

16 **Fixed Rate Note Provisions** [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph) (i) Rate[(s)] of Interest: [●]% per annum [payable [annually/ semi-annually/quarterly/monthly] in arrear] (ii) Interest Payment Date(s): [•] in each year [adjusted in accordance with [specify Business Day Convention and any applicable Business Center(s) for the definition of "Business Day"]/not adjusted] (iii) Fixed Coupon Amount[(s)]: [ ] per Calculation Amount 5 (iv) Broken Amount[(s)]: [•] per Calculation Amount, payable on the Interest Payment Date falling [in/on] [●] [30/360/Actual/Actual (ICMA/ISDA)/other] (v) Day Count Fraction (Condition 4(I)):

17 Floating Rate Provisions

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[Not Applicable/give details]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)

(i) Interest Period(s): [●]

Other terms relating to the

for Fixed Rate Notes:

method of calculating interest

(ii) Specified Interest Payment [•]

Dates:

(iii)

Interest Period Date: [•] (Not applicable unless different than Interest

Payment Date)

(iv) Business Day Convention: [Floating Rate Convention/Following Business

Day Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day

Convention/other (give details)]

(v) Business Center(s) (insert New York City for U.S. dollar

(Condition 4(I)): denominated Notes to be held through DTC and

for non-U.S. dollar denominated Notes where exchange into U.S. dollars is contemplated for DTC participants holding through Euroclear and

Clearstream)

For Renminbi or Hong Kong dollar denominated Fixed Rate Notes where the Interest Payment Dates are subject to modification, the following alternative wording is appropriate: "Each Fixed Coupon Amount shall be calculated by multiplying the product of the Rate of Interest and the Calculation Amount by the Day Count Fraction and rounding the resultant figure, in the case of Renminbi denominated Fixed Rate Notes, to the nearest CNY0.01, CNY0.005 being rounded upwards or, in the case of Hong Kong dollar denominated Fixed Rate Notes, to the nearest HK\$0.01, HK\$0.005 being rounded upwards."

(vi) Manner in which the Rate(s) of [Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination/ Interest is/are to be determined: other (give details)] (vii) Party responsible for calculating the Rate(s) of Interest and Interest Amount(s) (if not the [Calculation Agent]): (viii) Screen Rate Determination (Conditions 4(b)(iii)(B), 4(b)(iii)(C) and 4(b)(iii)(D)): Reference Bank: [•] Reference Rate: IEURIBOR/HIBOR/SONIA Benchmark/SOFR Benchmark/SORA Benchmark/Other (give details)] Interest Determination [•] Dates: Relevant Screen Page: Party responsible for [•] (Specify where this is not the Calculation calculation of Rate of Agent) Interest: SONIA: [Applicable/Not Applicable] SONIA Benchmark: [Compounded Daily SONIA/SONIA Index  $\bigcirc$ Average] **SONIA Observation** [Not Applicable/SONIA Observation Lag/SONIA 0 Method: Observation Shift] (Only applicable where the Reference Rate is Compounded Daily SONIA) 0 SONIA Observation [Five London Business Days/[●] London Lookback Days: Business Days] 0 SONIA Compounded [Not Applicable/[●] London Business Day(s)] (Only applicable in the case of SONIA Index Index<sub>START</sub>: Average) **SONIA** Compounded [Not Applicable/[●] London Business Day(s)] (Only applicable in the case of SONIA Index Index<sub>END</sub>: Average) SOFR: [Applicable/Not Applicable]

O SOFR Benchmark: [Compounded SOFR Average/SOFR Index

Average]

Calculation method [Not Applicable/SOFR Observation Lag/SOFR for Compounded Observation Shift/SOFR Payment Delay]
SOFR Average: (Only applicable where the Reference Rate is Compounded SOFR Average)

 SOFR [Lookback Days]/[Observation Shift Days]/[Interest Payment Delay]: [Not Applicable/[•] U.S. Government Securities Business Day(s)] (Only applicable where the Reference Rate is Compounded SOFR Average)

SOFR Rate Cut-Off Date: [Not Applicable/The day that is the [•] U.S. Government Securities Business Day prior to the Interest Payment Date in relation to the relevant Interest Accrual Period] (Only applicable in the case of SOFR Payment Delay)

SOFR Index<sub>START</sub>:

[Not Applicable/[•] U.S. Government Securities Business Day(s)] (Only applicable in the case of SOFR Index Average)

O SOFR Index<sub>END</sub>:

[Not Applicable/[•] U.S. Government Securities Business Day(s)] (Only applicable in the case of SOFR Index Average)

(ix) ISDA Determination (Condition 4(b)(iii)(A)):

Floating Rate Option: [●]

Designated Maturity: [●]

Reset Date: [●]

(x) Margin(s): [+/-] [ $\bullet$ ]% per annum

(xi) Minimum Rate of Interest: [●]% per annum

(xii) Maximum Rate of Interest: [●]% per annum

(xiii) Day Count Fraction (Condition 4(I)):

(xiv) Interest Determination Date(s)
 (Condition 4(I)):

[•] in each year [Insert regular interest payment dates, ignoring issue date or maturity date in the case of a long or short first or last coupon. N.B. only relevant where Day Count Fraction is Actual/Actual-ICMA.]

(xv) Fall back provisions, rounding provisions, denominator and any other terms relating to the method of calculating interest on Floating Rate Notes, if different than those set out in the Conditions: [Benchmark Discontinuation (General) (Condition 4(o)(i))/

Benchmark Discontinuation (SOFR) (Condition 4(o)(ii))/

Benchmark Discontinuation (SORA) (Condition 4(o)(iii))/

specify other if different from those set out in the Conditions]

Lookback/Suspension Period: [Not Applicable]/[Specify where relevant for calculation of Compounded SOFR]

17A Singapore Dollar Notes:

[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)

(i) Floating Rate Notes (Condition 4(n)(ii)):

Manner in which the Rate

of Interest is to be determined:

[SORA Notes/Variable Rate Notes/Other]

Calculation Amount:

[Specify]

Denomination Amount:

[Specify]

Interest Commencement

Date:

[Specify date(s)]

Interest Payment Date:

[Specify date(s)]

Interest Period:

[Specify]

Interest Determination

Date:

[[●] Business Days in [Singapore] prior to

[specify date(s)]]

Relevant Time: [11.00 a.m. (Singapore time)/Other]

Relevant Business Day:

[Specify]

– Margin:

[Give details]

FRN Day Basis:

[Specify]

(ii) SORA Notes (Condition 4(n)(ii)(B)(z)):

– SORA:

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

SORA Benchmark:

[Compounded Daily SORA/SORA Index Average]

 Calculation method for Compounded Daily SORA: [Not Applicable/Lookback/Backward Shifted Observation Period] (Only applicable where the Reference Rate is Compounded Daily SORA)

Observation Period Business Days: [Not Applicable/ $[\bullet]$  Singapore Business Day(s)]

(Only applicable where the Reference Rate is

Compounded Daily SORA

SORA Index<sub>START</sub>: [Not Applicable/[●] Singapore Business Day(s)]

(Only applicable in the case of SORA Index

Average)

SORA Index<sub>END</sub>: [Not Applicable/[●] Singapore Business Day(s)] (Only applicable in the case of SORA Index Average) Variable Rate Notes (Condition (iii) 4(n)(iii)): Interest Commencement [Specify date(s)] Date: Interest Payment Date: [Specify date(s)] Interest Period: [Specify date(s)] Relevant Dealer: [Specify] Other terms or special [Not applicable/give details] conditions: (iv) Calculation Agent: [Specify] 18 **Zero Coupon Note Provisions** [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph) Amortization Yield (Condition [•]% per annum (i) 5(b)(i)(B)): Any other formula/basis of (ii) [•] determining amount payable: **Credit Linked Note Provisions** 19 [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph) (i) Index/Formula: [Give or annex details] (ii) Calculation Agent responsible for calculating the Rate of Interest and/or Interest Amount(s) (if not the [Calculation Agent]): (iii) Provisions for determining [•] Coupon where calculation by reference to Index and/or Formula is impossible or impracticable: (iv) Determination Date(s): [•]

(V)	Coupon where calculation by reference to Index and/or Formula is impossible or impracticable or otherwise disrupted:	
(vi)	Interest Period(s):	[•]
(vii)	Specified Interest Payment Dates:	[•]
(viii)	Business Day Convention:	[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/other (give details)]
(ix)	Business Center(s) (Condition 4(I)):	[•]
(x)	Minimum Rate of Interest:	[●]% per annum
(xi)	Maximum Rate of Interest:	[●]% per annum
(xii)	Day Count Fraction (Condition 4(I)):	[•]
Equi	ty Linked Note Provisions	[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)
(i)	Index/Formula:	[Give or annex details]
(ii)	Calculation Agent responsible for calculating the Rate of Interest and/or Interest Amount(s) (if not the [Calculation Agent]):	[•]
(iii)	Provisions for determining Coupon where calculation by reference to Index and/or Formula is impossible or impracticable:	[•]
(iv)	Determination Date(s):	[•]
(v)	Provisions for determining Coupon where calculation by reference to Index and/or Formula is impossible or impracticable or otherwise disrupted:	[•]
(vi)	Interest Period(s):	[•]

(v	rii) Specified Interest Payment Dates:	[•]
(v	riii) Business Day Convention:	[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/other (give details)]
(iː	x) Business Center(s) (Condition 4(I)):	[•]
(x	x) Minimum Rate of Interest:	[●]% per annum
(x	xi) Maximum Rate of Interest:	[●]% per annum
(x	(ii) Day Count Fraction (Condition 4(I)):	[•]
В	ond Linked Note Provisions	[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)
(i)	) Index/Formula:	[Give or annex details]
(ii	i) Calculation Agent responsible for calculating the Rate of Interest and/or Interest Amount(s) (if not the [Calculation Agent]):	[•]
(ii	ii) Provisions for determining Coupon where calculation by reference to Index and/or Formula is impossible or impracticable:	[•]
(i	v) Determination Date(s):	[•]
(v	Provisions for determining Coupon where calculation by reference to Index and/or Formula is impossible or impracticable or otherwise disrupted:	[•]
(v	ri) Interest Period(s):	[•]
(v	vii) Specified Interest Payment Dates:	[•]
(v	viii) Business Day Convention:	[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/other (give details)]

(IX)	4(I)):	
(x)	Minimum Rate of Interest:	[●]% per annum
(xi)	Maximum Rate of Interest:	[●]% per annum
(xii)	Day Count Fraction (Condition 4(I)):	[•]
	ex Linked Interest Note visions	[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)
(i)	Index/Formula:	[Give or annex details]
(ii)	Calculation Agent responsible for calculating the Rate of Interest and/or Interest Amount(s) (if not the [Calculation Agent]):	[●]
(iii)	Provisions for determining Coupon where calculation by reference to Index and/or Formula is impossible or impracticable:	[●]
(iv)	Determination Date(s):	[●]
(v)	Provisions for determining Coupon where calculation by reference to Index and/or Formula is impossible or impracticable or otherwise disrupted:	[●]
(vi)	Interest Period(s):	[●]
(vii)	Specified Interest Payment Dates:	[•]
(viii)	Business Day Convention:	[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/other (give details)]
(ix)	Business Center(s) (Condition 4(I)):	[•]
(x)	Minimum Rate of Interest:	[●]% per annum
(xi)	Maximum Rate of Interest:	[●]% per annum
(xii)	Day Count Fraction (Condition 4(I)):	[•]

## 23 **Dual Currency Note Provisions** [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph) Rate of Exchange/Method of [Give details] (i) calculating Rate of Exchange: (ii) Calculation Agent responsible for calculating the Rate(s) of Interest and Interest Amount(s) (if not the [Calculation Agent]): (iii) Provisions applicable where calculation by reference to Rate of Exchange impossible or impracticable: Person at whose option [•] Specified Currency(ies) is/are payable: PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION 24 **Call Option** [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph) Optional Redemption Date(s): [ullet] (in the case of Subordinated Notes, insert (i) First Call Date and each Interest Payment Date after the First Call Date) (ii) Optional Redemption Amount(s) [●] per Note of [●] specified denomination of each Note and specified denomination method, if any, of calculation of such amount(s): (iii) If redeemable in part: Minimum Redemption (a) [ ] per Calculation Amount Amount: (b) Maximum Redemption [•] per Calculation Amount Amount: (iv) Notice period: 25 **Put Option** [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph) Optional Redemption Date(s): (i) [•] (ii) Optional Redemption Amount(s) [•] per Calculation Amount of each Note and specified

[•]

denomination method, if any, of calculation of such amount(s):

Notice period:

26 Variation instead of Redemption

(Condition 5(h))

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(Only relevant for Subordinated Notes)

27 Final Redemption Amount of each

Note

[•] per Calculation Amount

28 **Early Redemption Amount** 

> Early Redemption Amount(s) per Calculation Amount payable on redemption for taxation reasons (Condition 5(c)) or an event of default (Condition 10) and/or the method of calculating the same (if required or if different than that set out in the Conditions):

## PROVISIONS RELATING TO LOSS ABSORPTION

29 Loss Absorption Option: Write-off on a Trigger Event (Condition 6(b)):

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(Only relevant for Subordinated Notes)

30 Loss Absorption Option: Conversion: [Applicable – See Appendix/Not Applicable]

(Only relevant for Subordinated Notes)

## **GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES**

31 Form of Notes: [Bearer Notes:]

> [Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a Permanent Global Note which is exchangeable for Definitive Notes/Certificates in the limited circumstances specified in the Permanent Global Note]

[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes on [●] days' notice]

[Permanent Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes in the limited circumstances specified in the Permanent Global Note]

(N.B. The exchange upon notice/at any time options should not be expressed to be applicable if the Specified Denomination of the Notes in paragraph 5 includes language substantially to the following effect: "EUR100,000 and integral multiples of EUR1,000 in excess thereof up to and including EUR199,000". In addition, the "limited circumstances specified in the Permanent Global Note" option may have to be amended to permit such Specified Denomination construction. Furthermore, such Specified Denomination construction is not permitted in relation to any issue of Notes which is to be represented on issue by a Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes.)

# [Registered Notes:]

[Regulation S Global Note (U.S.\$ [•] nominal amount) registered in the name of a nominee for [DTC/a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream]]

[Rule 144A Global Note (U.S.\$[●] nominal amount) registered in the name of a nominee for [DTC/a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream]]

[If the Notes are AMTNs insert the following:

The Notes are AMTNs as referred to in the Offering Memorandum and will be issued in registered certificated form, constituted by the Note (AMTN) Deed Poll and take the form of entries on a register to be maintained by the Australian Agent (as defined below). Copies of the Note (AMTN) Deed Poll are available from the Australian Agent at its principal office in Sydney.]

32 Financial Center(s) (Condition 7(j)) or other special provisions relating to Payment Dates:

[Not Applicable/give details. Note that this paragraph relates to the date and place of payment, and not interest period end dates, to which items 16(ii), 17(v) and 19(ix) relate] (insert New York City for U.S. dollar denominated Notes to be held through DTC)

33 Talons for future Coupons or Receipts to be attached to Definitive Notes (and dates on which such Talons mature): [Yes/No. If yes, give details]

34	Details relating to Partly Paid Notes: amount of each payment comprising the Issue Price and date on which each payment is to be made and consequences (if any) of failure to pay, including any right of the Issuer to forfeit the Notes and interest due on late payment:	[Not Applicable/give details]
35	Details relating to Installment Notes: amount of each Installment, date on which each payment is to be made:	[Not Applicable/give details]
36	Redenomination, renominalization and reconventioning provisions:	[Not Applicable/The provisions [in Condition [●]] apply]
37	Consolidation provisions:	[Not Applicable/The provisions [in Condition [●]] [annexed to this Pricing Supplement apply]]
38	Other terms or special conditions:	[Not Applicable/give details including, if any, conversion loss absorption option to be set out in the Appendix to the Pricing Supplement]
DIST	RIBUTION	
39	(i) If syndicated, names of Managers:	[Not Applicable/give names]
	(ii) Stabilization Manager (if any):	[Not Applicable/give name]
40	If non-syndicated, name of Dealer:	[Not Applicable/give name]
41	Whether TEFRA D or TEFRA C was applicable or TEFRA rules not applicable:	[TEFRA D/TEFRA C/TEFRA not applicable] (TEFRA not applicable for Bearer Notes with a maturity of one year or less or Registered Notes)
		(Where TEFRA D is applicable, a Bearer Note must be issued in the form of a Temporary Note exchangeable upon a U.S. tax certification for a Permanent Global Note or a Definitive Note)
42	Additional selling restrictions:	[Not Applicable/give details]
OPE	RATIONAL INFORMATION	
43	ISIN Code:	[●]
44	Common Code:	[●]
45	CUSIP:	[●]
46	CMU Instrument Number:	[•]

47 Legal Entity Identifier (LEI):

[in the case of Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited, acting through its

registered office in Singapore:

5493007O3QFXCPOGWK22] [in the case of Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited, acting through its registered office in Sydney, Australia: [•]] [insert any other relevant LEI]

48 Any clearing system(s) other than CDP, the CMU, Austraclear, Euroclear and Clearstream and/or DTC and the relevant identification number(s):

[Not Applicable/give name(s) and number(s)]

49 Delivery:

Delivery [against/free of] payment

50 Additional Paying Agent(s) (if any):

[If the Notes are AMTNs, insert the following:

BTA Institutional Services Australia Limited (ABN 48 002 916 396) has been appointed under the Agency and Registry Services Agreement dated July 5, 2011 as issuing and paying agent and registrar ("Australian Agent") in respect of the Notes. The Australian Agent's address is Level 2, 1 Bligh Street, Sydney NSW 2000, Australia]

51 The Agents appointed in respect of the Notes are:

# **GENERAL INFORMATION**

52 The aggregate principal amount of Senior Notes issued has been translated into U.S. dollars at the rate of [●], producing a sum of Senior Notes not denominated in U.S. dollars:

[Not Applicable/U.S.\$[●]]

53 Governing law of Notes:

[English[, save that the provisions of the subordination, set-off and payment void, default and enforcement Conditions in Condition 3(b), Condition 3(c), Condition 3(d), Condition 10(b)(ii) and Condition 10(b)(iii) are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, Singapore law]/Singapore/New South Wales,

Australia]

# [PURPOSE OF PRICING SUPPLEMENT

This Pricing Supplement comprises the final terms required for the issue and admission to trading on the [specify relevant stock exchange/market] of the Notes described herein pursuant to the U.S.\$30,000,000,000 Global Medium Term Note Program of Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited.]

# **RESPONSIBILITY**

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Pricing Supplement.
Signed on behalf of the Issuer:
By: Duly authorized
[By: Duly authorized]*
[*Two signatories required where the Issuer is Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited.]

# FORM OF PRICING SUPPLEMENT RELATING TO PERPETUAL CAPITAL SECURITIES

The form of Pricing Supplement that will be issued in respect of each Tranche of Perpetual Capital Securities, subject only to the deletion of non-applicable provisions, is set out below:

Pricing Supplement dated [•]

#### OVERSEA-CHINESE BANKING CORPORATION LIMITED

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Perpetual Capital Securities] under the Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited

## U.S.\$30,000,000,000 Global Medium Term Note Program

This document constitutes the Pricing Supplement relating to the issue of Perpetual Capital Securities described herein.

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Terms and Conditions of the Perpetual Capital Securities (the "Conditions") set forth in the Offering Memorandum dated April 6, 2022 [and the supplemental Offering Memorandum dated [●]]. This Pricing Supplement contains the final terms of the Perpetual Capital Securities and must be read in conjunction with such Offering Memorandum [as so supplemented].

[The following alternative language applies if the first tranche of an issue which is being increased was issued under an Offering Memorandum with an earlier date.

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Terms and Conditions of the Perpetual Capital Securities (the "Conditions") set forth in the Offering Memorandum dated April 6, 2022. This Pricing Supplement contains the final terms of the Perpetual Capital Securities and must be read in conjunction with the Offering Memorandum dated April 6, 2022 [and the supplemental Offering Memorandum dated [●]], save in respect of the Conditions which are extracted from the Offering Memorandum dated April 6, 2022 and are attached hereto.]

[The following language applies if any tranche of the Perpetual Capital Securities is intended to be "qualifying debt securities" (as defined in the Income Tax Act 1947 of Singapore).

Where interest, discount income, prepayment fee, redemption premium or break cost is derived from any of the Perpetual Capital Securities or coupons (if applicable) by any person who is not resident in Singapore and who carries on any operations in Singapore through a permanent establishment in Singapore, the tax exemption available for qualifying debt securities (subject to certain conditions) under the Income Tax Act 1947 of Singapore (the "Income Tax Act"), shall not apply if such person acquires such Perpetual Capital Securities or coupons (if applicable) using the funds and profits of such person's operations through a permanent establishment in Singapore. Any person whose interest, discount income, prepayment fee, redemption premium or break cost derived from the Perpetual Capital Securities or coupons (if applicable) is not exempt from tax (including for the reasons described above) shall include such income in a return of income made under the Income Tax Act.]

[MIFID II PRODUCT GOVERNANCE/PROFESSIONAL INVESTORS AND ECPS ONLY TARGET MARKET – Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Perpetual Capital Securities is eligible counterparties and professional clients only, each as defined in Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "MiFID II"); and

(ii) all channels for distribution of the Perpetual Capital Securities to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Perpetual Capital Securities (a "distributor") should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.]

[UK MiFIR PRODUCT GOVERNANCE/PROFESSIONAL INVESTORS AND ECPS ONLY TARGET MARKET — Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Perpetual Capital Securities is only eligible counterparties, as defined in the FCA Handbook Conduct of Business Sourcebook ("COBS"), and professional clients, as defined in the UK MiFIR; and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Perpetual Capital Securities to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Perpetual Capital Securities (a "distributor")] should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the "UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules") is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.]

[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS – The Perpetual Capital Securities are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area ("EEA"). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "MiFID II"); or (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (the "Insurance Distribution Directive"), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II. Consequently, no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the "PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Perpetual Capital Securities or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Perpetual Capital Securities or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.]

[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO UK RETAIL INVESTORS – The Perpetual Capital Securities are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom ("UK"). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 ("EUWA"); or (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the "FSMA") and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement IDD, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA. Consequently, no key information document required by the PRIIPs Regulation as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the "UK PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Perpetual Capital Securities or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Perpetual Capital Securities or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the UK may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.]

**SINGAPORE SFA PRODUCT CLASSIFICATION** – In connection with Section 309B of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore, as modified or amended from time to time (the "**SFA**") and the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore

(the "CMP Regulations 2018"), the Issuer has determined, and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309A(1) of the SFA), that the Perpetual Capital Securities are [prescribed capital markets products]/[capital markets products other than prescribed capital markets products] (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and [are] [Excluded]/[Specified] Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendation on Investment Products.<sup>1</sup>

Pursuant to the Monetary Authority of Singapore Act 1970 of Singapore (the "MAS Act") and the Monetary Authority of Singapore (Resolution of Financial Institutions) Regulations 2018 (the "MAS Regulations"), the Perpetual Capital Securities would be eligible instruments (as defined in the MAS Regulations). Accordingly, should a Bail-in Certificate (as defined in the MAS Act) be issued, Perpetual Capital Securities may be subject to cancelation, modification, conversion and/or change in form, as set out in such Bail-in Certificate.<sup>2</sup>

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as "Not Applicable" (N/A). Note that the numbering should remain as set out below, even if "Not Applicable" is indicated for individual paragraphs or sub-paragraphs. Italics denote directions for completing the Pricing Supplement.]

1	Issuer:		Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited
2	(i)	Series Number:	[●]
	(ii)	Tranche Number:	[●]
	[(If fungible with an existing Series, details of that Series, including the date on which the Perpetual Capital Securities become fungible).]		
3	Specified Currency or Currencies:		[●]
4	Aggregate Principal Amount:		
	(i)	Series:	[●]
	(ii)	Tranche:	[●]
5	(i)	Issue Price:	[•]% of the Aggregate Principal Amount [plus accrued Distributions from [insert date]] (in the case of fungible issues only, if applicable)
	(ii)	[Estimated Net Proceeds:	[●] (Required only for 144A issues)]
6	(i)	Specified Denominations:	$[ullet]^3$
	(ii)	Calculation Amount:	[●]

For any Notes to be offered to Singapore investors, the Issuer to consider whether it needs to re-classify the Perpetual Capital Securities pursuant to Section 309B of the SFA prior to the launch of the offer.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> To ensure that this legend is on the cover page of the Pricing Supplement.

Perpetual Capital Securities (including Perpetual Capital Securities denominated in sterling) in respect of which the issue proceeds are to be accepted by the Issuer in the United Kingdom or whose issue otherwise constitutes a contravention of Section 19 of the FSMA and which have a maturity of less than one year must have a minimum redemption value of £100,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies). If the Specified Denomination is expressed to be €100,000 or its equivalent and multiples of a lower nominal amount (for example €1,000), insert the following: "€100,000 and integral multiples of €1,000 in excess thereof up to and including €199,000. No Perpetual Capital Securities in definitive form will be issued with a denomination above €199,000".

7	(i)	Issue	Date:		[●]		
	(ii)	Distrib Date:	oution Co	mmencement	[specify a date/Issue Date/Not Applicable]		
	(iii)	Trade	Date:		[•]		
8	Maturity Date:				[specify date or (for Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Security) Distribution Payment Date falling in or nearest to the relevant month and year] <sup>4</sup>		
9	Distribution Basis:				[[●]% Fixed Rate] [[specify reference rate] +/- [●]% Floating Rate] (further particulars specified below)		
10	Red	emption	/Paymen	t Basis:	[Redemption at par] [Other (specify)]		
11	Change of Distribution or Redemption/ Payment Basis:				[Specify details of any provision for convertibility of Distribution into another Distribution or redemption/payment basis]		
12	Call Options:				[Issuer Call] [(further particulars specified below)]		
13	Listing:			[SGX-ST/Other (specify)/None]			
14	Status of Perpetual Capital Securities:		Capital	Subordinated			
15	Method of distribution:			n:	[Syndicated/Non-syndicated]		
PRO	visio	NS REI	LATING 1	TO DISTRIBUTION	N (IF ANY) PAYABLE		
16	Fixed Rate Perpetual Capital Security Provisions				[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)		
	(i)	Rate[(	s)] of Dis	tribution:	[•]% per annum [payable [annually/ semi-annually/quarterly/monthly] in arrear]		
		(a) F	Reset		[Applicable/Not Applicable]		
		(/	A) First	Reset Date	[•]		
		(1	B) Rese	t Date(s)	The First Reset Date and each date falling every [●] after the First Reset Date		
		(0	C) Relev	vant Rate	[•]		
		(1	D) Initia	l Spread	[●]		

Note that for Renminbi or Hong Kong dollar denominated Fixed Rate Perpetual Capital Securities where the Distribution Payment Dates are subject to modification it will be necessary to specify the Distribution Payment Date falling in or nearest to the relevant month and year.

(b) Initial Distribution Rate: [●]% per annum [payable [annually/ semi-annually/quarterly/monthly] in arrear] (ii) Distribution Period(s): [•] (iii) Distribution Payment Date(s): [•] in each year [adjusted in accordance with [specify Business Day Convention and any applicable Business Center(s) for the definition of "Business Day" // not adjusted [•] per Calculation Amount<sup>5</sup> Fixed Distribution Amount[(s)]: (iv) Broken Amount[(s)]: [•] per Calculation Amount, payable on the (v) Interest Payment Date falling [in/on] [●] (vi) Day Count Fraction (Condition [30/360/Actual/Actual (ICMA/ISDA)/other] 4(i)): (vii) Other terms relating to the [Not Applicable/give details] method of calculating interest for Fixed Rate Perpetual Capital Securities: Floating Rate Provisions [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph) (i) Distribution Period(s): (ii) Specified Distribution Payment Dates: (iii) Distribution Period Date: [•] (Not applicable unless different than Distribution Payment Date) (iv) **Business Day Convention:** [Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/other (give details)] (v) Business Center(s) (Condition (insert New York City for U.S. dollar 4(i)): denominated Perpetual Capital Securities to be held through DTC and for non-U.S. dollar denominated Perpetual Capital Securities where exchange into U.S. dollars is contemplated for

17

Clearstream)

DTC participants holding through Euroclear and

For Renminbi or Hong Kong dollar denominated Fixed Rate Perpetual Capital Securities where the Distribution Payment Dates are subject to modification, the following alternative wording is appropriate: "Each Fixed Coupon Amount shall be calculated by multiplying the product of the Rate of Distribution and the Calculation Amount by the Day Count Fraction and rounding the resultant figure, in the case of Renminbi denominated Fixed Rate Perpetual Capital Securities, to the nearest CNY0.01, CNY0.005 being rounded upwards or, in the case of Hong Kong dollar denominated Fixed Rate Perpetual Capital Securities, to the nearest HK\$0.01, HK\$0.005 being rounded upwards."

(vi) Manner in which the Rate(s) of Distribution is/are to be determined:

[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination/ other (give details)]

(vii) Party responsible for calculating the Rate(s) of Distribution and Distribution Amount(s) (if not the [Calculation Agent]):

[•]

(viii) Screen Rate Determination (Condition 4(b)(iii)(B)):

Reference Bank:

[ullet]

Reference Rate:

IEURIBOR/HIBOR/SONIA Benchmark/SOFR Benchmark/SORA Benchmark/Other (give details)]

Distribution Determination Dates:

Relevant Screen Page:

Party responsible for calculation of Rate of Interest:

[•] (Specify where this is not the Calculation Agent)

SONIA:

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

SONIA Benchmark:  $\bigcirc$ 

[Compounded Daily SONIA/SONIA Index

Average]

**SONIA Observation** 0 Method:

[Not Applicable/SONIA Observation Lag/SONIA Observation Shift] (Only applicable where the Reference Rate is Compounded Daily SONIA)

0 SONIA Observation Lookback Days:

[Five London Business Days/[●] London Business Days]

0 SONIA Compounded Index<sub>START</sub>:

[Not Applicable/[●] London Business Day(s)] (Only applicable in the case of SONIA Index Average)

**SONIA** Compounded Index<sub>END</sub>:

[Not Applicable/[●] London Business Day(s)] (Only applicable in the case of SONIA Index Average)

SOFR:

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

SOFR Benchmark:

[Compounded SOFR Average/SOFR Index Average]

Calculation method for Compounded SOFR Average:

[Not Applicable/SOFR Observation Lag/SOFR Observation Shift/SOFR Payment Delay] (Only applicable where the Reference Rate is Compounded SOFR Average)

 SOFR [Lookback Days]/[Observation Shift Days]/[Interest Payment Delay]: [Not Applicable/[•] U.S. Government Securities Business Day(s)] (Only applicable where the Reference Rate is Compounded SOFR Average)

SOFR Rate Cut-Off Date: [Not Applicable/The day that is the [•] U.S. Government Securities Business Day prior to the Interest Payment Date in relation to the relevant Interest Accrual Period] (Only applicable in the case of SOFR Payment Delay)

○ SOFR Index<sub>START</sub>:

[Not Applicable/[•] U.S. Government Securities Business Day(s)] (Only applicable in the case of SOFR Index Average)

O SOFR Index<sub>END</sub>:

[Not Applicable/[•] U.S. Government Securities Business Day(s)] (Only applicable in the case of SOFR Index Average)

(ix) ISDA Determination (Condition 4(b)(iii)(A)):

Floating Rate Option: [●]

Designated Maturity: [●]

Reset Date: [●]

(x) Margin(s): [+/-] [●]% per annum

(xi) Minimum Rate of Distribution: [●]% per annum

(xii) Maximum Rate of Distribution: [●]% per annum

(xiii) Day Count Fraction (Condition 4(i)):

[•]

(xiv) Distribution Determination Date(s) (Condition 4(a)):

[•] in each year [Insert regular interest payment dates, ignoring issue date or maturity date in the case of a long or short first or last coupon. N.B. only relevant where Day Count Fraction is Actual/Actual-ICMA.]

(xv) Fall back provisions, rounding provisions, denominator and any other terms relating to the method of calculating interest on Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities, if different than those set out in the Conditions: [Benchmark Discontinuation (General) (Condition 4(I)(i))/Benchmark Discontinuation (SOFR) (Condition 4(I)(ii))/Benchmark Discontinuation (SORA) (Condition 4(I)(iv))/specify other if different from those set out in the Conditions]

Lookback/SuspensionPeriod

[Not Applicable]/[Specify where relevant for calculation of Compounded SOFR]

17A Singapore Dollar Perpetual Capital Securities:

[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)

(i) Floating Rate Perpetual Capital Securities (Condition 4(b)):

 Manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined: [SORA Perpetual Capital Securities/Other]

Calculation Amount: [Specify]

Denomination Amount: [Specify]

Distribution [Specify date(s)]
 Commencement Date:

Distribution Payment Date: [Specify date(s)]

Distribution Period: [Specify]

Distribution Determination [[•] Business Days in [Singapore] prior to
 Date: [specify date(s)]]

Relevant Time: [11.00 a.m. (Singapore time)/Other]

Relevant Business Day: [Specify]

- Margin: [Give details]

FRN Day Basis: [Specify]

(ii) SORA Perpetual Capital Securities (Condition 4(k)(ii)(B)(z)):

SORA: [Applicable/Not Applicable]

SORA Benchmark: [Compounded Daily SORA/SORA Index Average]

 Calculation method for Compounded Daily SORA: [Not Applicable/Lookback/Backward Shifted Observation Period] (Only applicable where the Reference Rate is Compounded Daily SORA)

Observation Period Business Days: [Not Applicable/[●] Singapore Business Day(s)]

(Only applicable where the Reference Rate is

Compounded Daily SORA)

SORA Index<sub>START</sub>: [Not Applicable/[●] Singapore Business Day(s)]

(Only applicable in the case of SORA Index

Average)

SORA Index<sub>END</sub>: [Not Applicable/[●] Singapore Business Day(s)]

(Only applicable in the case of SORA Index

Average)

(iii) Calculation Agent: [Specify]

## PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION

18 Call Option

[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)

- (i) Optional Redemption Date(s):
- [•] (insert First Call Date and each Interest Payment Date after the First Call Date)
- (ii) Optional Redemption Amount(s) of each Perpetual Capital Security and specified denomination method, if any, of calculation of such amount(s):
- [●] per Perpetual Capital Security of [●] specified denomination
- (iii) If redeemable in part:
  - (a) Minimum Redemption Amount:
- [•] per Calculation Amount
- (b) Maximum Redemption Amount:
- [•] per Calculation Amount
- (iv) Notice period:
- [•]
- 19 Variation instead of Redemption (Condition 6(f))
- [Applicable/Not Applicable]
- 20 Final Redemption Amount of each Perpetual Capital Security
- [•] per Calculation Amount
- 21 Early Redemption Amount

Early Redemption Amount(s) per Calculation Amount payable on redemption for taxation reasons (Condition 6(c)) and/or the method of calculating the same (if required or if different than that set out in the Conditions):

[ullet]

## PROVISIONS RELATING TO LOSS ABSORPTION

22 Loss Absorption Option: Write-off on a Trigger Event (Condition 7(b)):

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

23 Loss Absorption Option: Conversion:

[Applicable - See Appendix/Not Applicable]

## GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE PERPETUAL CAPITAL SECURITIES

24 Form of Perpetual Capital Securities: [Regulation S Global Certificate (U.S.\$ [•] nominal amount) registered in the name of a nominee for [DTC/a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream]] [Rule 144A Global Certificate (U.S.\$[●] nominal amount) registered in the name of a nominee for [DTC/a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream]] 25 [Not Applicable/give details. Note that this Financial Center(s) (Condition 8(f)) or other special provisions relating to paragraph relates to the date and place of Payment Dates: payment, and not Distribution period end dates, to which items 16(iii) and 17(v) relate] (insert New York City for U.S. dollar denominated Notes to be held through DTC) 26 Other terms or special conditions: [Not Applicable/give details including, if any, conversion loss absorption option to be set out in the Appendix to the Pricing Supplement **DISTRIBUTION** 27 (i) If syndicated, names of [Not Applicable/give names] Managers: (ii) Stabilization Manager (if any): [Not Applicable/give name] 28 If non-syndicated, name of Dealer: [Not Applicable/give name] 29 Whether TEFRA D or TEFRA C was TEFRA not applicable applicable or TEFRA rules not applicable: 30 Additional selling restrictions: [Not Applicable/give details] **OPERATIONAL INFORMATION** 31 ISIN Code: 32 Common Code: 33 CUSIP: 34 CMU Instrument Number: [•] 35 Legal Entity Identifier (LEI) [in the case of Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited, acting through its registered office in Singapore: 5493007O3QFXCPOGWK22] [insert any other relevant LEI]

36	Any clearing system(s) other than CDP, the CMU, Euroclear and Clearstream and/or DTC and the relevant identification number(s):	[Not Applicable/give name(s) and number(s)]
37	Delivery:	Delivery [against/free of] payment
38	Additional Paying Agent(s) (if any):	[•]
39	The Agents appointed in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities are:	[●]
GEN	ERAL INFORMATION	
40	The aggregate principal amount of Perpetual Capital Securities issued has been translated into U.S. dollars at the rate of [•], producing a sum of Perpetual Capital Securities not denominated in U.S. dollars:	[Not Applicable/U.S.\$ [●]]
41	Governing law of Perpetual Capital Securities:	[English[, save that the provisions of the subordination, set-off and payment void, default and enforcement Conditions in Condition 3(a), Condition 3(b), Condition 3(c), Condition 11(b) and Condition 11(c) are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, Singapore law]/Singapore]
[PUR	POSE OF PRICING SUPPLEMENT	
on th herei	e [specify relevant stock exchange/ma	erms required for the issue and admission to trading rket] of the Perpetual Capital Securities described 1,000 Global Medium Term Note Program of ed.]
RESI	PONSIBILITY	
The I	ssuer accepts responsibility for the info	rmation contained in this Pricing Supplement.
Signe	ed on behalf of the Issuer:	
Ву: _ С	Ouly authorized	
	 Duly authorized]*	

[\*Two signatories required where the Issuer is Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited.]

# **CLEARING AND SETTLEMENT**

The following is a summary of the rules and procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream, CDP, the CMU, DTC and Austraclear System (together, the "Clearing Systems"), currently in effect, as they relate to clearing and settlement of transactions involving the Notes. The rules and procedures of these systems are subject to change at any time. Investors wishing to use the facilities of any of the Clearing Systems are advised to confirm the continued applicability of the rules, regulations and procedures of the relevant Clearing System. None of the Issuer, the Arrangers, any Dealer nor any party to the Agency Agreement and the Singapore Supplemental Agency Agreement will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to, or payments made on account of, beneficial ownership interests in the Notes held through the facilities of any Clearing System or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial ownership interests. The applicable Pricing Supplement will specify the Clearing System(s) and/or clearing system(s) applicable for each Series.

# The Clearing Systems

## DTC

DTC has advised us that it is a limited purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a "banking organization" within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the U.S. Federal Reserve System, a "clearing corporation" within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code and a "clearing agency" registered pursuant to Section 17A of the Exchange Act. DTC holds and provides assets servicing for securities that its participants ("Participants") deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the settlement among Participants of securities transactions, such as transfers and pledges, in deposited securities through electronic computerized book-entry changes in Participants' accounts, thereby eliminating the need for physical movement of securities certificates. DTC is owned by a number of its direct participants ("Direct Participants"), which include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly ("Indirect Participants").

Under the rules, regulations and procedures creating and affecting DTC and its operations (the "Rules"), DTC makes book-entry transfers of Registered Notes among Direct Participants on whose behalf it acts with respect to Notes accepted into DTC's book-entry settlement system ("DTC Notes") as described below and receives and transmits distributions of principal and interest (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) or Distribution (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable, on DTC Notes. The Rules are on file with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. Direct Participants and Indirect Participants with which beneficial owners of DTC Notes ("Owners") have accounts with respect to the DTC Notes similarly are required to make book-entry transfers and receive and transmit such payments on behalf of their respective Owners. Accordingly, although Owners who hold DTC Notes through Direct Participants or Indirect Participants will not possess Registered Notes, the Rules, by virtue of the requirements described above, provide a mechanism by which Direct Participants will receive payments and will be able to transfer their interest in respect of the DTC Notes.

Purchases of DTC Notes under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will receive a credit for the DTC Notes on DTC's records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each DTC Note ("Beneficial Owner") is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participant's records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase, but Beneficial Owners are expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the

Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the DTC Notes are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in DTC Notes, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the DTC Notes is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all DTC Notes deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the name of DTC's partnership nominee, Cede & Co, or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of DTC Notes with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the DTC Notes; DTC's records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such DTC Notes are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers. Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the DTC Notes within an issue are being redeemed, DTC's practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such issue to be redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to DTC Notes, unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC's MMI Procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to us as soon as possible after the record date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.'s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts the DTC Notes are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy). Payments of principal and interest (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) or Distribution (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable, on the DTC Notes will be made to DTC. DTC's practice is to credit Direct Participants' accounts on the due date for payment in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC's records unless DTC has reason to believe that it will not receive payment on the due date. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in "street name", and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC or the Issuer, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of principal and interest (in respect of the Notes other than the Perpetual Capital Securities) or Distribution (in respect of the Perpetual Capital Securities only), as applicable, to DTC is the responsibility of the Issuer, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants is the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners is the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.

Under certain circumstances, including if there is an Event of Default or a Default under the Notes, DTC will exchange the DTC Notes for definitive Registered Notes, which it will distribute to its Participants in accordance with their proportionate entitlements and which, if representing interests in a Rule 144A Global Certificate, will be legended as set forth under "Transfer Restrictions".

Since DTC may only act on behalf of Direct Participants, who in turn act on behalf of Indirect Participants, any Beneficial Owner desiring to pledge DTC Notes to persons or entities that do not participate in DTC, or otherwise take actions with respect to such DTC Notes, will be required to withdraw its Registered Notes from DTC as described below.

#### Euroclear and Clearstream

Each of Euroclear and Clearstream holds securities for participating organizations and facilitates the clearance and settlement of securities transactions between their respective participants through electronic book-entry changes in accounts of such participants. Euroclear and Clearstream provide to their respective participants, among other things, services for safekeeping, administration, clearance and settlement of internationally-traded securities and securities lending and borrowing. Euroclear and Clearstream participants are financial institutions throughout the world, including underwriters, securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations. Indirect access to Euroclear or Clearstream is also available to others, such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies which clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Euroclear or Clearstream participant, either directly or indirectly. Euroclear and Clearstream have established an electronic bridge between their two systems across which their respective participants may settle trades with each other.

Distributions of amounts payable with respect to book-entry interests in the Notes held through Euroclear or Clearstream will be credited, to the extent received by the Issuing and Paying Agent, to the cash accounts of Euroclear or Clearstream participants in accordance with the relevant system's rules and procedures.

Each of the persons shown in the records of Euroclear, Clearstream or an Alternative Clearing System as the holder of a Note represented by a Global Note or a Global Certificate must look solely to Euroclear, Clearstream or any such Alternative Clearing System (as the case may be) for his share of each payment made by us to the bearer of such Global Note or the holder of the underlying Registered Notes, as the case may be, and in relation to all other rights arising under the Global Notes or Global Certificates, subject to and in accordance with the respective rules and procedures of Euroclear, Clearstream, or such Alternative Clearing System (as the case may be). Such persons shall have no claim directly against us in respect of payments due on the Notes for so long as the Notes are represented by such Global Note or Global Certificate and our obligations will be discharged by payment to the bearer of such Global Note or the holder of the underlying Registered Notes, as the case may be, in respect of each amount so paid.

Beneficial ownership in Notes will be held through financial institutions as direct and indirect participants in Euroclear and Clearstream.

The aggregate holdings of book-entry interests in the Notes in Euroclear and Clearstream will be reflected in the book-entry accounts of each such institution. Euroclear and Clearstream, as the case may be, and every other intermediate holder in the chain to the beneficial owner of book-entry interests in the Notes, will be responsible for establishing and maintaining accounts for their participants and customers having interests in the book-entry interest in the Notes. The Issuing and Paying Agent will be responsible for ensuring that payments received by it from us for holders of interests in the Notes holding through Euroclear and Clearstream are credited to Euroclear or Clearstream, as the case may be.

We will not impose any fees in respect of the Notes, however, holders of book entry interests in the Notes may incur fees normally payable in respect of the maintenance and operation of accounts in Euroclear and Clearstream.

#### The CMU

The CMU is a central depositary service provided by the Central Moneymarkets Unit of the HKMA (the "HKMA") for the safe custody and electronic trading between the members of this service ("CMU Members") of Exchange Fund Bills and Notes Clearing and Settlement Service securities and capital markets instruments (together, "CMU Instruments") which are specified in the CMU Service Reference Manual as capable of being held within the CMU. The CMU is only available to CMU Instruments issued by a CMU Member or by a person for whom a CMU Member acts as agent for the purposes of lodging instruments issued by such persons. Membership of the CMU is open to all financial institutions regulated by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority, Securities and Futures Commission, Insurance Authority or Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority. For further details on the full range of the CMU's custodial services, please refer to the CMU Reference Manual.

The CMU has an income distribution service which is a service offered by the CMU to facilitate the distribution of interest, coupon or redemption proceeds (collectively, the "**income proceeds**") by CMU Members who are paying agents to the legal title holders of CMU Instruments via the CMU system. Furthermore, the CMU has a corporate action platform which allows an issuer (or its agent) to make an announcement/notification of a corporate action and noteholders to submit the relevant certification. For further details, please refer to the CMU Reference Manual. An investor holding an interest through an account with either Euroclear or Clearstream in any Notes held in the CMU will hold that interest through the respective accounts which Euroclear and Clearstream each have with the CMU.

#### CDP

In respect of Notes which are accepted for clearance by CDP in Singapore, clearance will be effected through an electronic book-entry clearance and settlement system for the trading of debt securities ("**Depository System**") maintained by CDP. Notes that are to be listed on the SGX-ST may be cleared through CDP.

CDP, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Singapore Exchange Limited, is incorporated under the laws of Singapore and acts as a depository and clearing organization. CDP holds securities for its accountholders and facilitates the clearance and settlement of securities transactions between accountholders through electronic book-entry changes in the securities accounts maintained by such accountholders with CDP.

In respect of Notes which are accepted for clearance by CDP, the entire issue of the Notes is to be held by CDP in the form of a global note for persons holding the Notes in securities accounts with CDP ("**Depositors**"). Delivery and transfer of Notes between Depositors is by electronic book-entries in the records of CDP only, as reflected in the securities accounts of Depositors.

Settlement of over-the-counter trades in the Notes through the Depository System may only be effected through securities sub-accounts held with corporate depositors ("**Depository Agents**"). Depositors holding the Notes in direct securities accounts with CDP, and who wish to trade Notes through the Depository System, must transfer the Notes to be traded from such direct securities accounts to a securities sub-account with a Depository Agent for trade settlement.

CDP is not involved in money settlement between Depository Agents (or any other persons) as CDP is not a counterparty in the settlement of trades of debt securities. However, CDP will make payment of interest or Distribution, as applicable, and repayment of principal on behalf of issuers of debt securities.

Although CDP has established procedures to facilitate transfer of interests in the Notes in global form among Depositors, it is under no obligation to perform or continue to perform such procedures, and such procedures may be discontinued at any time. Neither we, the CDP Paying Agent nor any other agent will have the responsibility for the performance by CDP of its obligations under the rules and procedures governing its operations.

## **Book-Entry Ownership**

This section does not apply to AMTNs.

#### **Bearer Notes**

We will make applications to Clearstream and Euroclear for acceptance in their respective book-entry systems in respect of any Series of Bearer Notes. We may also apply to have Bearer Notes accepted for clearance through the CMU or CDP. In respect of Bearer Notes, a Temporary Global Note and/or a Permanent Global Note in bearer form without coupons will be deposited with a common depositary for Clearstream and Euroclear and/or a sub-custodian for the CMU or CDP. Transfers of interests in a Temporary Global Note or a Permanent Global Note will be made in accordance with the normal Euromarket debt securities operating procedures of Clearstream and Euroclear or the CMU or CDP. Each Global Note will have an ISIN and a Common Code or, if lodged with a sub-custodian for the CMU, will have a CMU Instrument Number.

# Registered Notes

We will make applications to Clearstream and Euroclear and we may make applications to the CMU or CDP for acceptance in their respective book-entry systems in respect of the Unrestricted Notes to be represented by each Unrestricted Global Certificate. Each Unrestricted Global Certificate will have an ISIN and a Common Code or, if lodged with a sub-custodian for the CMU, will have a CMU Instrument Number.

We will make applications to DTC for acceptance in its book-entry settlement system of the Unrestricted Notes and/or the Restricted Notes represented by each Global Certificate. Each Global Certificate accepted for clearance in DTC will have a Committee on the Uniform Security Identification Procedure ("CUSIP") number. Each Restricted Global Certificate will be subject to restrictions on transfer contained in a legend appearing on the front of such Certificate, as set out under "Transfer Restrictions". In certain circumstances, as described below in "Transfers of Registered Notes", transfers of interests in a Restricted Global Certificate may be made as a result of which such legend is no longer applicable.

The custodian with whom the Global Certificates are deposited (the "Custodian") and DTC will electronically record the nominal amount of the individual beneficial interests represented by such Global Certificate to the accounts of persons who have accounts with DTC. Such accounts initially will be designated by or on behalf of the relevant Dealer. Ownership of beneficial interests in such a Global Certificate will be limited to Direct Participants or Indirect Participants, including, in the case of any Regulation S Global Certificate, the respective depositaries of Euroclear and Clearstream. Ownership of beneficial interests in a Global Certificate accepted by DTC will be shown on, and the transfer of such ownership will be effected only through, records maintained by DTC or its nominee (with respect to the interests of Direct Participants) and the records of Direct Participants (with respect to interests of Indirect Participants).

Payments of the principal of, and interest on, each Global Certificate registered in the name of DTC's nominee will be to or to the order of its nominee as the registered owner of such Global Certificate. We expect that the nominee, upon receipt of any such payment, will immediately credit DTC participants' accounts with payments in amounts proportionate to their respective beneficial interests in the nominal amount of the relevant Global Certificate as shown on the records of DTC

or the nominee. We also expect that payments by DTC participants to owners of beneficial interests in such Global Certificate held through such DTC participants will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is now the case with securities held for the accounts of customers registered in the names of nominees for such customers. Such payments will be the responsibility of such DTC participants. Neither we nor any Paying Agent or any Transfer Agent will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to or payments made on account of ownership interests in the Global Certificates or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such ownership interests.

All Registered Notes will initially be in the form of an Unrestricted Global Certificate and/or a Restricted Global Certificate. Individual definitive Registered Notes will only be available, in the case of Unrestricted Notes, in amounts specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, and, in the case of Restricted Notes, in amounts of U.S.\$200,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies), or higher integral multiples of U.S.\$1,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies), in certain limited circumstances described below.

#### Individual Certificates

Registration of title to Registered Notes in a name other than a depositary or its nominee for Clearstream and Euroclear or a sub-custodian for the CMU or for CDP or for DTC will not be permitted unless (i) in the case of Restricted Notes, DTC notifies us that it is no longer willing or able to discharge properly its responsibilities as depositary with respect to the Restricted Global Certificate, or ceases to be a "clearing agency" registered under the Exchange Act, or is at any time no longer eligible to act as such and we are unable to locate a qualified successor within 90 days of receiving notice of such ineligibility on the part of DTC, (ii) in the case of Unrestricted Notes, Clearstream or Euroclear is or a sub-custodian for CMU or an Alternative Clearing System and any such clearing system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holidays, statutory or otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or does, in fact, do so or, if such Global Certificate is held on behalf of CDP, and there shall have occurred and be continuing an Event of Default or Default or CDP is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holidays, statutory or otherwise), or CDP announces an intention permanently to cease business and no Alternative Clearing System is available or CDP has notified us that it is unable or unwilling to act as depository for the Notes and to continue performing its duties under the Master Depository Services Agreement and no Alternative Clearing System is available or (iii) we provide our consent.

In such circumstances, we will cause sufficient individual definitive Registered Notes to be executed and delivered to the Registrar for completion, authentication and dispatch to the relevant Noteholder(s). A person having an interest in a Global Certificate must provide the Registrar with:

- (a) a written order containing instructions and such other information as we and the Registrar may require to complete, execute and deliver such individual definitive Registered Notes; and
- (b) in the case of a Restricted Global Certificate only, a fully completed, signed certification substantially to the effect that the exchanging holder is not transferring its interest at the time of such exchange, or in the case of a simultaneous resale pursuant to Rule 144A, a certification that the transfer is being made in compliance with the provisions of Rule 144A. Individual definitive Registered Notes issued pursuant to this paragraph (ii) shall bear the legends applicable to transfers pursuant to Rule 144A.

# **Transfers of Registered Notes**

Transfers of interests in Global Certificates within Clearstream, Euroclear, DTC, the CMU and CDP will be effected in accordance with the usual rules and operating procedures of the relevant clearing system. The laws of some states in the United States require that certain persons take physical delivery in definitive form of securities. Consequently, the ability to transfer interests in a Restricted Global Certificate to such persons may be limited. Because DTC can only act on behalf of direct participants, who in turn act on behalf of indirect participants, the ability of a person having an interest in a Restricted Global Certificate to pledge such interest to persons or entities that do not participate in DTC, or otherwise take actions in respect of such interest, may be affected by the lack of a physical certificate in respect of such interest.

Beneficial interests in an Unrestricted Global Certificate may be held only through CDP, Clearstream or Euroclear. In the case of Registered Notes to be cleared through Clearstream, Euroclear and/or DTC, transfers may be made at any time by a holder of an interest in an Unrestricted Global Certificate to a transferee who wishes to take delivery of such interest through the Restricted Global Certificate for the same Series of Notes provided that any such transfer made on or prior to the expiration of the Distribution Compliance Period (as defined in "Plan of Distribution") relating to the Notes represented by such Unrestricted Global Certificate will only be made upon receipt by the Registrar or any Transfer Agent of a written certificate from Euroclear or Clearstream, as the case may be (based on a written certificate from the transferor of such interest), to the effect that such transfer is being made to a person whom the transferor reasonably believes is a QIB in a transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 144A and in accordance with any applicable securities law of any state of the United States or any other jurisdiction. Any such transfer made thereafter of the Notes represented by such Unrestricted Global Certificate will only be made upon request through Clearstream or Euroclear by the holder of an interest in the Unrestricted Global Certificate to the U.S. Paying Agent and receipt by the U.S. Paying Agent of details of that account at DTC to be credited with the relevant interest in the Restricted Global Certificate. Transfers at any time by a holder of any interest in the Restricted Global Certificate to a transferee who takes delivery of such interest through an Unrestricted Global Certificate will only be made upon delivery to the Registrar or any Transfer Agent of a certificate setting forth compliance with the provisions of Regulation S and giving details of the account at Euroclear or Clearstream, as the case may be, and DTC to be credited and debited, respectively, with an interest in the relevant Global Certificates.

Subject to compliance with the transfer restrictions applicable to the Registered Notes described above and under "Transfer Restrictions", cross-market transfers between DTC, on the one hand, and directly or indirectly through Clearstream or Euroclear, on the other, will be effected by the relevant clearing system in accordance with its rules and through action taken by the Custodian, the Registrar and the U.S. Paying Agent.

On or after the Issue Date for any Series of Registered Notes, transfers of Notes of such Series between accountholders in Clearstream and Euroclear and transfers of Notes of such Series between participants in DTC will generally have a settlement day two business days after the trade date (T+2). The customary arrangements for delivery versus payment will apply to such transfers.

Cross-market transfers between accountholders in Clearstream or Euroclear and DTC participants will need to have an agreed settlement date between the parties to such transfer. Because there is no direct link between DTC, on the one hand, and Clearstream and Euroclear, on the other, transfers of interests in the relevant Global Certificates will be effected through the U.S. Paying Agent, the Custodian and the Registrar receiving instructions (and, where appropriate, certification) from the transferor and arranging for delivery of the interests being transferred to the credit of the designated account for the transferee. Transfers will be effected on the later of (i) three business days after the trade date for the disposal of the interest in the relevant Global Certificate resulting in such transfer and (ii) two business days after receipt by the

U.S. Paying Agent or the Registrar, as the case may be, of the necessary certification or information to effect such transfer. In the case of cross-market transfers, settlement between Euroclear or Clearstream and DTC participants cannot be made on a delivery versus payment basis. The securities will be delivered on a free delivery basis and arrangements for payment must be made separately.

For a further description of restrictions on transfer of Registered Notes, see "Transfer Restrictions".

DTC will take any action permitted to be taken by a holder of Registered Notes (including, without limitation, the presentation of Restricted Global Certificates for exchange as described above) only at the direction of one or more participants in whose account with DTC interests in Restricted Global Certificates are credited and only in respect of such portion of the aggregate nominal amount of the relevant Restricted Global Certificates as to which such participant or participants has or have given such direction. However, in the circumstances described above, DTC will surrender the relevant Restricted Global Certificates for exchange for individual definitive Registered Notes (which will, in the case of Restricted Notes, bear the legend applicable to transfers pursuant to Rule 144A).

Although DTC, Clearstream and Euroclear have agreed to the foregoing procedures in order to facilitate transfers of beneficial interests in the Global Certificates among participants and accountholders of DTC, Clearstream and Euroclear, they are under no obligation to perform or continue to perform such procedures, and such procedures may be discontinued or changed at any time. Neither we, the Issuing and Paying Agent, the CDP Paying Agent, the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent nor any Transfer Agent will have any responsibility for the performance by Euroclear, Clearstream or DTC or their respective direct or indirect participants or accountholders of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations.

While a Restricted Global Certificate is lodged with DTC or the Custodian, Restricted Notes represented by individual definitive Registered Notes will not be eligible for clearing or settlement through DTC, Clearstream or Euroclear.

# **Pre-Issue Trades Settlement for Registered Notes**

It is expected that delivery of Notes will be made against payment therefor on the relevant Issue Date, which could be more than two business days following the date of pricing. Under Rule 15c6-1 of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission under the Exchange Act, trades in the United States secondary market generally are required to settle within two business days (T+2), unless the parties to any such trade expressly agree otherwise. Accordingly, purchasers who wish to trade Notes in the United States on the date of pricing or the next succeeding business day until the relevant Issue Date will be required, by virtue of the fact that the Notes initially will settle beyond T+2, to specify an alternate settlement cycle at the time of any such trade to prevent a failed settlement. Settlement procedures in other countries will vary. Purchasers of Notes may be affected by such local settlement practices and purchasers of Notes who wish to trade Notes between the date of pricing and the relevant issue date should consult their own advisor.

# The Austraclear System

Each Tranche of AMTNs will be represented by a single AMTN Certificate substantially in the form set out in the Note (AMTN) Deed Poll. We shall issue and deliver, and procure the authentication by the Australian Agent of, such number of AMTNs Certificates as are required from time to time to represent all of the AMTNs of each Series. An AMTN Certificate is not a negotiable instrument nor is it a document of title in respect of any AMTNs it represents. In the event of a conflict between any AMTN Certificate and the Register, the Register shall prevail (subject to correction for fraud or proven error).

On issue of any AMTNs, we will (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) procure that the AMTNs are lodged with the Austraclear System. On lodgment, Austraclear will become the sole registered holder and legal owner of the AMTNs. Subject to the Austraclear System Regulations, participants of the Austraclear System ("Accountholders") may acquire rights against Austraclear in relation to those AMTNs as beneficial owners and Austraclear is required to deal with the AMTNs in accordance with the directions and instructions of the Accountholders. Any potential investors who are not Accountholders would need to hold their interest in the relevant AMTNs through a nominee who is an Accountholder. All payments by us in respect of AMTNs entered in the Austraclear System will be made directly to an account agreed with Austraclear or as it directs in accordance with the Austraclear System Regulations.

# Holding of AMTNs through Euroclear and Clearstream

Once lodged with the Austraclear System, interests in the AMTNs may be held through Euroclear or Clearstream. In these circumstances, entitlements in respect of holdings of interests in the AMTNs in Euroclear would be held in the Austraclear System by HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited as nominee of Euroclear, while entitlements in respect of holdings of interests in the AMTNs in Clearstream would be held in the Austraclear System by BNP Paribas Securities Services, Australia Branch as nominee of Clearstream.

The rights of a holder of interests in AMTNs held through Euroclear or Clearstream are subject to the respective rules and regulations of Euroclear and Clearstream, the arrangements between Euroclear and Clearstream and their respective nominees and the Austraclear System Regulations.

#### Transfers

Any transfer of AMTNs will be subject to the Australian Corporations Act and the other requirements set out in the terms and conditions of the AMTNs and, where the AMTNs are entered in the Austraclear System, the Austraclear System Regulations.

Secondary market sales of AMTNs settled in the Austraclear System will be settled in accordance with the Austraclear System Regulations.

# Relationship of Accountholders with Austraclear System

Accountholders who acquire an interest in AMTNs lodged with the Austraclear System must look solely to Austraclear for their rights in relation to such AMTNs and will have no claim directly against the Issuer in respect of such AMTNs although under the Austraclear System Regulations, Austraclear may direct the Issuer to make payments direct to the relevant Accountholders.

Where Austraclear is registered as the holder of any AMTNs that is lodged with the Austraclear System, Austraclear may, where specified in the Austraclear System Regulations, transfer the AMTNs to the person in whose Security Record (as defined in the Austraclear System Regulations) those AMTNs are recorded and, as a consequence, remove those AMTNs from the Austraclear System.

Potential investors in AMTNs should inform themselves of, and satisfy themselves with, the Austraclear System Regulations and (where applicable) the rules of Euroclear and Clearstream and the arrangements between them and their nominees in the Austraclear System.

AMTNs lodged with the Austraclear System will be transferable only in accordance with the rules and regulations (in force from time to time) of the Austraclear System. The transferor of an AMTN is deemed to remain the holder of such AMTN until the name of the transferee is entered in the Register in respect of such AMTN.

# TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS

#### **Restricted Notes**

Each purchaser of Restricted Notes within the United States pursuant to Rule 144A, by accepting delivery of this Offering Memorandum, will be deemed to have represented, agreed and acknowledged that:

- (i) it is (a) a QIB, (b) acquiring such Restricted Notes for its own account or for the account of a QIB and (c) aware, and each beneficial owner of such Restricted Notes has been advised, that the sale of such Restricted Notes to it is being made in reliance on Rule 144A;
- (ii) it understands that such Restricted Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and any other applicable U.S. state securities laws and (a) may not be offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred except (i) in accordance with Rule 144A to a person that it and any person acting on its behalf reasonably believe is a QIB purchasing for its own account or for the account of a QIB, (ii) in an offshore transaction in accordance with Rule 903 or Rule 904 of Regulation S or (iii) pursuant to an exemption from registration under the Securities Act provided by Rule 144 thereunder (if available), in each case in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any state of the United States; (b) the purchaser will, and each subsequent purchaser is required to, notify any subsequent purchaser of such Restricted Notes from it of the resale restrictions referred to in (a) above; and (c) no representation can be made as to the availability of the exemption provided by Rule 144 under the Securities Act for resale of the Notes.
- (iii) it understands that such Restricted Notes, unless the Issuer determines otherwise in compliance with applicable law, will bear a legend to the following effect:

THE NOTE EVIDENCED HEREBY HAS NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 (THE "SECURITIES ACT") OR WITH ANY SECURITIES REGULATORY AUTHORITY OF ANY STATE OR OTHER JURISDICTION OF THE UNITED STATES AND MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD, PLEDGED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED EXCEPT (1) IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT ("RULE 144A") TO A PERSON THAT THE HOLDER AND ANY PERSON ACTING ON ITS BEHALF REASONABLY BELIEVE IS A QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER WITHIN THE MEANING OF RULE 144A PURCHASING FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OF A QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER, (2) IN AN OFFSHORE TRANSACTION IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 903 OR RULE 904 OF REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OR (3) PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION PROVIDED BY RULE 144 THEREUNDER (IF AVAILABLE), IN EACH CASE IN ACCORDANCE WITH ANY APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE OF THE UNITED STATES. NO REPRESENTATION CAN BE MADE AS TO THE AVAILABILITY OF THE EXEMPTION PROVIDED BY RULE 144 UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT FOR RESALES OF THIS NOTE. PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS ARE HEREBY NOTIFIED THAT THE SELLER OF THIS NOTE MAY BE RELYING ON THE EXEMPTION FROM THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 5 OF THE SECURITIES ACT PROVIDED BY RULE 144A;

(iv) it understands that such Restricted Notes, unless the Issuer determines otherwise in compliance with applicable law, will bear a legend to the following effect:

EACH PURCHASER AND SUBSEQUENT TRANSFEREE OF THIS NOTE WILL BE DEEMED TO HAVE REPRESENTED AND WARRANTED THAT, AT THE TIME OF ITS ACQUISITION AND THROUGHOUT THE PERIOD IT HOLDS SUCH NOTE, EITHER (X) IT IS NOT (1) AN EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN AS DEFINED IN SECTION 3(3) OF THE EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT INCOME SECURITY ACT OF 1974, AS AMENDED ("ERISA"),

AND SUBJECT TO TITLE I OF ERISA, (2) A PLAN AS DEFINED IN SECTION 4975(e)(1) OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF 1986. AS AMENDED (THE "CODE"), AND SUBJECT TO SECTION 4975 OF THE CODE, (3) ANY ENTITY WHOSE UNDERLYING ASSETS ARE DEEMED TO INCLUDE "PLAN ASSETS" BY REASON OF INVESTMENT BY ANY OF THE FOREGOING IN THE ENTITY, OR (4) A GOVERNMENTAL, CHURCH, NON-U.S. OR OTHER PLAN WHICH IS SUBJECT TO ANY U.S. FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL OR NON-U.S. LAW THAT IS SUBSTANTIALLY SIMILAR TO THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 406 OF ERISA OR SECTION 4975 OF THE CODE OR (Y) ITS PURCHASE, HOLDING AND DISPOSITION OF THIS NOTE WILL NOT CONSTITUTE OR RESULT IN A NON-EXEMPT PROHIBITED TRANSACTION UNDER SECTION 406 OF ERISA OR SECTION 4975 OF THE CODE (OR, IN THE CASE OF A GOVERNMENTAL, CHURCH, NON-U.S. OR OTHER PLAN, A NON-EXEMPT VIOLATION OF ANY SUBSTANTIALLY SIMILAR LAW). ANY PURPORTED TRANSFER OF THIS NOTE, OR ANY INTEREST THEREIN TO A PURCHASER OR TRANSFEREE THAT DOES NOT COMPLY WITH THE ABOVE REQUIREMENTS WILL BE OF NO FORCE AND EFFECT AND SHALL BE NULL AND VOID AB INITIO;

- (v) either (a) it is neither an "employee benefit plan" as defined in ERISA, and subject to Title I of ERISA, a "plan" as defined in Section 4975(e)(1) of the Code, and subject to Section 4975 of the Code, nor any entity whose underlying assets include "plan assets" by reason of such plan's investment in the entity, nor a governmental, church, non-U.S. or other plan which is subject to any federal, state, local or non-U.S. law that is substantially similar to the provisions of Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code or (b) its purchase, holding and disposition of a Note will not constitute or result in a non-exempt prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code (or, in the case of a governmental, church, non-U.S. or other plan, a non-exempt violation of any substantially similar law). Any purported transfer of a Note, or any interest therein to a purchaser or transferee that does not comply with the above requirements will be of no force and effect and shall be null and void *AB INITIO*;
- (vi) it understands that the Restricted Notes offered in reliance on Rule 144A will be represented by a Restricted Global Certificate. Before any interest in the Restricted Global Certificate may be offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred to a person who takes delivery in the form of an interest in the Unrestricted Global Certificate, it will be required to provide a Transfer Agent with a written certification (in the form provided in the Agency Agreement) as to compliance with applicable securities laws; and
- (vii) it acknowledges that the Issuer, the Registrar, any Dealers and their affiliates, and others will rely upon the truth and accuracy of the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and agreements. If it is acquiring any Restricted Notes for the account of one or more QIBs, it represents that it has sole investment discretion with respect to each such account and that it has full power to make the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and agreements on behalf of each such account.

Prospective purchasers are hereby notified that sellers of the Notes may be relying on the exemption from the provisions of Section 5 of the Securities Act provided by Rule 144A.

Additional transfer restrictions may be set forth in the applicable Pricing Supplement with respect to a particular Tranche of a Registered Series.

#### **Unrestricted Notes**

Each purchaser of Unrestricted Notes outside the United States pursuant to Regulation S and each subsequent purchaser of such Unrestricted Notes in resales prior to the expiration of the Distribution Compliance Period (as defined in "Plan of Distribution"), by accepting delivery of this Offering Memorandum and the Unrestricted Notes, will be deemed to have represented, agreed and acknowledged that:

- (i) it is, or at the time Unrestricted Notes are purchased will be, the beneficial owner of such Unrestricted Notes and (a) it is not a U.S. person and it is located outside the United States (within the meaning of Regulation S) and (b) it is not an affiliate of the Issuer or a person acting on behalf of such an affiliate;
- (ii) it understands that such Unrestricted Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and that, prior to the expiration of the Distribution Compliance Period, it will not offer, sell, pledge or otherwise transfer such Unrestricted Notes except (a) in accordance with Rule 144A to a person that it and any person acting on its behalf reasonably believe is a QIB purchasing for its own account or the account of a QIB or (b) in an offshore transaction in accordance with Rule 903 or Rule 904 of Regulation S, in each case in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any State of the United States;
- (iii) it understands that the Unrestricted Notes, unless otherwise determined by the Issuer in accordance with applicable law, will bear a legend to the following effect:
  - THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 (THE "SECURITIES ACT") OR WITH ANY SECURITIES REGULATORY AUTHORITY OF ANY STATE OR OTHER JURISDICTION OF THE UNITED STATES AND MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD, PLEDGED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED WITHIN THE UNITED STATES EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT:
- (iv) it understands that any Notes, unless the Issuer determines otherwise in compliance with applicable law, will bear a legend to the following effect:

EACH PURCHASER AND SUBSEQUENT TRANSFEREE OF THIS NOTE WILL BE DEEMED TO HAVE REPRESENTED AND WARRANTED THAT, AT THE TIME OF ITS ACQUISITION AND THROUGHOUT THE PERIOD IT HOLDS SUCH NOTE, EITHER (X) IT IS NOT (1) AN EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN AS DEFINED IN SECTION 3(3) OF THE EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT INCOME SECURITY ACT OF 1974, AS AMENDED ("ERISA"), AND SUBJECT TO TITLE I OF ERISA, (2) A PLAN AS DEFINED IN SECTION 4975(e)(1) OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF 1986, AS AMENDED (THE "CODE"), AND SUBJECT TO SECTION 4975 OF THE CODE, (3) ANY ENTITY WHOSE UNDERLYING ASSETS ARE DEEMED TO INCLUDE "PLAN ASSETS" BY REASON OF INVESTMENT BY ANY OF THE FOREGOING IN THE ENTITY, OR (4) A GOVERNMENTAL, CHURCH, NON-U.S. OR OTHER PLAN WHICH IS SUBJECT TO ANY U.S. FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL OR NON-U.S. LAW THAT IS SUBSTANTIALLY SIMILAR TO THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 406 OF ERISA OR SECTION 4975 OF THE CODE OR (Y) ITS PURCHASE, HOLDING AND DISPOSITION OF THIS NOTE WILL NOT CONSTITUTE OR RESULT IN A NON-EXEMPT PROHIBITED TRANSACTION UNDER SECTION 406 OF ERISA OR SECTION 4975 OF THE CODE (OR, IN THE CASE OF A GOVERNMENTAL, CHURCH, NON-U.S. OR OTHER PLAN, A NON-EXEMPT VIOLATION OF ANY SUBSTANTIALLY SIMILAR LAW). ANY PURPORTED TRANSFER OF THIS NOTE, OR ANY INTEREST THEREIN TO A PURCHASER OR TRANSFEREE THAT DOES NOT COMPLY WITH THE ABOVE REQUIREMENTS WILL BE OF NO FORCE AND EFFECT AND SHALL BE NULL AND VOID AB INITIO.

- (v) either (a) it is neither an "employee benefit plan" as defined in ERISA, and subject to Title I of ERISA, a "plan" as defined in Section 4975(e)(1) of the Code, and subject to Section 4975 of the Code, nor any entity whose underlying assets include "plan assets" by reason of such plan's investment in the entity, nor a governmental, church, non-U.S. or other plan which is subject to any federal, state, local or non-U.S. law that is substantially similar to the provisions of Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code or (b) its purchase, holding and disposition of a Note will not constitute or result in a non-exempt prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code (or, in the case of a governmental, church, non-U.S. or other plan, a non-exempt violation of any substantially similar law). Any purported transfer of a Note, or any interest therein to a purchaser or transferee that does not comply with the above requirements will be of no force and effect and shall be null and void *AB INITIO*;
- (vi) it understands that the Unrestricted Notes offered in reliance on Regulation S will be represented by an Unrestricted Global Certificate. Prior to the expiration of the Distribution Compliance Period, before any interest in the Unrestricted Global Certificate may be offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred to a person who takes delivery in the form of an interest in the Restricted Global Certificate, it will be required to provide a Transfer Agent with a written certification (in the form provided in the Agency Agreement) as to compliance with applicable securities laws; and
- (vii) the Issuer, the Registrar, the Dealers and their affiliates, and others will rely upon the truth and accuracy of the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and agreements.

Additional transfer restrictions may be set forth in the applicable Pricing Supplement with respect to a particular Tranche of a Registered Series.

# **LEGAL MATTERS**

Legal matters in connection with the issue and sale of the Notes offered hereby will be passed upon for OCBC Bank by (i) Allen & Gledhill LLP, legal advisor to OCBC Bank, with respect to certain matters of Singapore law, (ii) Linklaters Singapore Pte. Ltd., legal advisor to OCBC Bank, with respect to certain matters of English law and the federal laws of the United States and (iii) King & Wood Mallesons, legal advisor to OCBC Bank, with respect to certain matters of Australian law. The Arrangers are being represented by Clifford Chance Pte. Ltd. as to certain matters of English law and the federal laws of the United States.

# **INDEPENDENT AUDITORS**

The consolidated financial statements of Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited and subsidiaries as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019 have been audited by KPMG LLP, independent auditors as stated in their reports. Our consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2021 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent auditors as stated in their reports.

# **GENERAL INFORMATION**

- (1) We have obtained and each Specified Issuer will obtain all necessary consents, approvals and authorizations in connection with the establishment of the Program or issue of Notes issued by it, as applicable.
- (2) We have not been involved in, and are not aware of, any litigation or arbitration proceedings relating to claims or amounts that are material in the context of the issue of the Notes.
- (3) Each Bearer Note, Receipt, Coupon and Talon will bear the following legend: "Any United States person who holds this obligation will be subject to limitations under the United States income tax laws, including the limitations provided in Sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the Internal Revenue Code".
- (4) Notes have been accepted for clearance through the Euroclear and Clearstream systems (which are entities in charge of keeping the records) and CDP. We may also apply to have Notes accepted for clearance through the CMU. The relevant CMU Instrument Number will be set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement. The Common Code and the International Securities Identification Number ("ISIN") for each Series of Notes will be set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement. In addition, we will make an application with respect to each Series of Registered Notes intended to be eligible for sale pursuant to Rule 144A for such Notes to be accepted for trading in book entry form by DTC. Acceptance of each Series and the relevant CUSIP number applicable to a Series will be set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

The Legal Entity Identifier ("**LEI**") of OCBC Bank acting through its registered office in Singapore is 5493007O3QFXCPOGWK22 or as otherwise specified for a Specified Issuer as set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

- (5) We will apply to have the AMTNs accepted for clearance through the Austraclear System. AMTNs which are held on the Austraclear System will be registered in the name of Austraclear. The Common Code and the ISIN for each Series of AMTNs will be set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement.
- (6) For so long as Notes may be issued pursuant to this Offering Memorandum, the following documents will be available, during usual business hours on any weekday (Saturdays and public holidays excepted), for inspection at our registered office:
  - (i) the Agency Agreement and the Singapore Supplemental Agency Agreement;
  - (ii) the Trust Deed (which includes the form of the Global Notes, the definitive Bearer Notes, the Global Certificates, the Certificates, the Coupons, the Receipts and the Talons) and the Singapore Supplemental Trust Deed;
  - (iii) the Note (AMTN) Deed Poll in respect of AMTNs;
  - (iv) the Australian Agency Agreement in respect of AMTNs;
  - (v) the Deeds of Accession signed by each Specified Issuer;
  - (vi) our Constitution and the constitution of each Specified Issuer;
  - (vii) our latest audited financial statements and latest interim financial statements;
  - (viii) each Pricing Supplement for Notes that are listed on any stock exchange; and

- (ix) a copy of this Offering Memorandum together with any supplemental Offering Memorandum or further Offering Memorandum.
- (7) Copies of the Trust Deed, the Singapore Supplemental Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and the Singapore Supplemental Agency Agreement, the CDP Deed of Covenant, the Note (AMTN) Deed Poll and the Australian Agency Agreement will be available for inspection, at the principal office of the Trustee and at the specified offices of each of the Paying Agents during normal business hours, so long as any of the Notes is outstanding.

# INDEX TO FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited and its Subsidiaries Audited Consolidated Financial Statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021

Director's Statement	F-4
Independent Auditor's Report	F-10
Income Statements	F-18
Statements of Comprehensive Income	F-19
Balance Sheets	F-20
Statement of Changes in Equity – Group	F-21
Statement of Changes in Equity – Bank	F-23
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement	F-24
Notes to the Financial Statements	F-25

The consolidated financial statements set out herein have been reproduced from our annual report for the year ended December 31, 2021. Page references used in this offering memorandum are different from pages references set forth in the consolidated financial statements published in such annual report. The consolidated financial statements have not been specifically prepared for inclusion in this Offering Memorandum.

# OVERSEA-CHINESE BANKING CORPOR VIION LIMITED

elineorporated in Singapore. Registration Sumber: 193/9003/904 AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

# FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the formeral year ended 31 December 2021

# OVERSEA-CHINESE BANKING CORPORATION LIMITED

Charmpoonted in Singapore - Registering a Montree 1930/9804/2Wa

# AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

# FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year coiled 31 December 2021.

# Contents

	Page
Directors' Statement	1
Independent Auditor's Report	-
Income Statements	15
Statements of Comprehensive Income	16
Ralmice Sheets	17
Statement of Changes in Equity - Group	18
Statement of Changes in Equity - Bank	20
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement	21
Notes to the Financial Statements	27

#### DIRECTORS' STATEMENT

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

The directors present that statement to the members of the Hank together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group and the income statement, statement of comprehensive moome, balance shoot and statement of changes in equity of the Bank for the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

#### Le our epinion:

- (a) the funncial statements set out on pages 15 to 152 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Bank as at 31 December 2021, the financial performance and changes in equity of the Group and of the Hank for the funancial year ended on that date, and each flows of the Group for the financial year ended on that date, in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act 1967 (the Act) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (Internationall); and
- (b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Bank will be able to pay its dubts as and when they fall due.

The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial statements for issue.

#### Directors

The directors of the Book in office at the date of this statement are as follows:

Ooi Sang Kuang, Chairman
Andrew Khoo Cheng Hoe (Appointed on 8 March 2021)
Austrew Lee Kok Keng (Appointed on 18 February 2022)
Chong Chunn Neo (Appointed on 18 February 2022)
Churstina Hon Kwee Fong (Christina Oog)
Chua Kim Chiu
Koh Beng Seng
Lee Tib Shili
Premukti Surjandajn
Tan Ngrap Joo
Tan Yen Yen
Wee Joo Yeow

Oni Sang Kuang, Koh Beng Seng, Chestina Hon Kwee Fong (Chestina Opg) and Wee Joe Yeow will retire by solation under Article 98 of the Constitution at the forthcoming annual general inceting of the Bank and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election theren!

Audrew Lee Kok Keng and Cheng Chuan Nos will retire under Article 104 of the Constitution at the forthcoming anumal general meeting of the Bank and, being eligible, will offer themselves for se-election thereat.

### Arrangements to coable directors to acquire shares and debenfures

Neither at the end of, nor at any time during the furancial year, was the Bank a pasty to any arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Bank to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares at, or debentures of, the Bank or any other body corporate, other than as disclosed at this statement.

1

## DIRECTORS' STATEMENT

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

#### Directors' interests in shores or debentures

According to the register of directors' shareholdings, the directors holding office as the end of the financial year had interests in shares in the Bank and its related exponentions, as follows:

	Direc	t interest	Deenied interest (1)		
		At		Ai	
		1.1.2021/Date		1,1.2021/Date	
	At 31.12.2021	of appointment	At 31.12.2021	oΓuppointaient	
RANK					
Ordinary shares					
Oor Sang Kuang	61.202	\$4,397			
Andrew Khoo Clieng Hoe	7.236	7.167			
Christina Hon Kwee Fong (Christina Ong)	31,240	24,829	_	-	
Chiza Kana Chin	20,663	14.391	_	-	
Kinh Beng Sung	7,644	1.541	-		
Lee Tib Shih	11,650,000	11,503,106			
Pracicukti Nurjaudaja	85,050	79,050	-		
Tan Ngiay Jeo	1,424,993	1.400.251	-		
Tan Yep Yen	6,040		_	-	
Wee Ioo Yeow	83,627	76,527	4,892	4,892	

<sup>14</sup> Ordinary shares held by spouse

Save as disclosed above, no director holding office at the end of the financial year had any interest in shares in, or debentures of the Bank or any of its related corporations either at the beginning of the financial year, date of appointment, or at the end of the financial year. There were no changes to any of the above mentioned interests between the end of the financial year and 21 January 2022.

# Share-based compensation plans

The Back's share-based compensation plans are administered by the Remineration Committee, which as at the date of this statement compuses:

Tan Ngrap Reo, Chumman Christma Hors Kwee Fong (Christian Ong) Oor Sang Kuang Koh Beng Seng Tan Yen Yen Wee Joe Yoow

#### DIRECTORS' STATEMENT

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

#### Share-based compensation plans (continued)

Under the share-based compensation plans, no options, rights or awards have been granted to controlling shareholders of the Bank or their associates, nor has any participant received 5% or more of the total number of options, rights or awards available under each respective scheme or plan thring the financial year. No options or rights were granted at a discount during the financial year. The persons to whom the options, rights or awards were issued have no right by virtue of these options, rights or awards to participate in any share issue of any other company. The disclosure requirement in Rola 852(1)(c) of the SGX Listing Manual relating to the grant of options to directors and employees of the parent company and its subsidiaries is not applicable to the Bank's share-based compensation plans.

The Bank's share-based compensation plans are as follows:

## (a) OCBC Share Option Scheme 2001

The OCBC Share Option Scheme 2001 (2001 Scheme), which was implemented in 2001, was extended for a period of 10 years from 2011 to 2021, with the approval of shareholders at an extraordinary general meeting of the Bank which was held on 15 April 2011. Executives of the Group ranked Manager and above and non-executive directors of the Group were eligible to participate in this scheme. The Bank will either issue new shares or transfer treasury shares to the participants upon the exercise of their options.

The 2001 Scheme expired on 2 August 2021. No further options may be granted by the Bank under the 2001 Scheme following its expire. However, the expiration of the 2001 Scheme does not affect the options which have been granted and accepted before the expiry of the 2001 Scheme, whether such options have been exercised (whether fully or partially) or not.

Particulars of Options 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2015CT, 2016, 2016A, 2017, 2017S1, 2017DM and 2018 were set out in the Directors' Reports/Directors' Statements for the financial years ended 31 December 2011 to 2018.

No share options were granted under the 2001 Scheme during the financial year.

Details of unisseed ordinary shares under the 2001 Scheme, options exercised during the financial year and options outstanding and exercisable at 31 December 2021 are as follows:

				Treasury		
		Acquisition	Options	shares	At 31.1	12.2021
Options	Exercise period	price (5)	exercised	transferred	Outstanding	Exercisable
2011	15.03.2012 to 13.03.2021	9.093	501,888	481,275	-	
2012	15.03.2013 to 13.03.2022	8.556	279,660	279,560	999,366	999,366
20t 3	15.03.2014 to 13.03.2023	10.018	1,496,396	1,496,396	2,434,779	2,434,779
2014	15.03.2015 to 13.03.2024	9.169	874,310	861,310	1,992,485	1,992,485
2015	16.03.2016 to 15.03.2025	10.378	416,489	396,830	3,972,559	3,972,559
2015CT	30.06.2016 to 29.06.2025	19.254			31,779	31,779
2016	16.03.2017 to 15.03.2026	8.814	2,212,167	2,212,167	3,599,445	3,599,445
2016A	16.03.2017 to 15.03.2026	8.814			85,202	R5,202
2017	23,03,2038 to 22 03 2027	9.598	1,532,672	1,557,796	6,091,738	6,091,738
2017SL	04,08.2018 to 03.08.2027	11.378	· –		18,943	18,943
2017DM	29.12.2018 to 28.12.2027	12.316	_	-	5,673	5,673
2018	22.03.2019 to 21.03.2028	13.340	-	_	5,878,595	5,878,595
			7,363,782	7,285,434	25,110,564	25,110,564
		_				

#### DIRECTORS' STATEMENT

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

#### Share-based compensation plans (constitued)

#### (b) OCBC Employee Share Porchise Plan

The OCBC Employee Share Purchase Plan (ESP Plan), which was implemented in 2004, was extended for a period of 10 years from 2014 to 2024, with the approval of shareholders at an extraordinary general meeting of the Bank which was held on 24 April 2014. Employees of the Group who have attained the rige of 21 years and have been employed for not less thin six months are eligible to participate in the HSP Plan.

At an extraordinary general meeting held on 17 April 2009, oftentions to the ESP Plan were approved to enable two (but not more than two) Offering Periods to be outstanding on any date. Since each Offering Period currently consists of a 24-month period, these alterations will enable the Plank to prescribe Offering Periods once every 12 months (unstead of once every 24 months as was previously the case).

In July 2021, the Bank launched its sixteenth offering under the HSP Plan, which commenced on 1 September 2021 and will expire on 31 August 2023. Under the sixteenth offering, 6,685 employees enrolled to participate in the HSP Plan to acquire 8,469,427 ordinary shares at \$\$11.58 per ordinary share. The acquisition price is equal to the average of the loss impled price of the ordinary shares of the Bank on the Sungapore Exchange over five consecutive trading days immediately preceding the price fixing date. Particulars of the first to fifteenth offerings under the ESP Plan were set out in the Directors' Reports/Directors' Statements for the financial years ended 31 December 2004 to 2020. During the financial year, 6,467,194 ordinary shares were delivered to participants under the ESP Plan. As at the end of the financial year, there were (i) rights to acquire 9,835,466 ordinary shares at \$\$1.58 per ordinary share granted under the fifteenth offering (which will expire on 30 June 2022) outstanding, and (ii) rights to acquire 8,014,746 ordinary shares at \$\$11.58 per ordinary share granted under the sixteenth offering (which will expire on 31 August 2023) outstanding. Further details on the ESP Plan can be found in Note 13.3 of the Notes to the Financial Statements.

#### (c) OCBC Deferred Share Plnp.

The Bank implemented the OCBC Deferred Share Plan (DSP) in 2003. The DSP was a descretionary uncentive and retention award programme extended to executives of the Group at the absolute discretion of the Remineration Commutee. The DSP was terminated with effect from 29 April 2021, following the adoption of the OCBC Deferred Share Plan 2021 at the annual general meeting of the Bank held on 29 April 2021. However, the termination of the DSP does not affect the awards which have been granted, whether such awards have been released (whether fully or partially) or not.

In light of the Bank's transition to the new DSP 2021 during the financial year, no awards were granted under the DSP during the financial year ended 31 December 2021. Existing awards were adjusted following the declarations of a final dividend for the financial year ended 31 December 2020, and an interim dividend for the financial year ended 31 December 2021, resulting in an additional 531,381 ordinary shares being subject to awards under the DSP (including an additional 21,672 ordinary shares being subject to awards held by Mr Samuel N. Tsien, who supped down as Group Chief Executive Officer and n director of the Bank on 15 April 2021). During the financial year, 7,188,161 deferred shares were released to grantees, of which 294,734 deferred shares were released to Mr Samuel N. Tsien.

## (d) OCBC Deferred Share Plan 2021

The OCBC Deferred Share Plan 2021 (DSP 2021) was adopted at the annual general meeting of the Book held on 29 April 2021 to replace the DSP under which no new ordinary shares may be issued. By implementing the DSP 2021, which permits new redinary shares to be assued, the Bank has greater flexibility in its methods for delivery of ordinary shares, as this can be effected through an issue of new ordinary shares, in addition to the transfer of existing ordinary shares (including measury shares). The objectives of the DSP 2021 are otherwise the same as those for the DSP, which is to stigh the enterests of Group executives with the sustained business performance of the Bank by way of awards of deferred shares as part of variable performance already earned for the previous year.

#### DIRECTORS' STATEMENT

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

#### Share-based compensation plans (continued)

#### (d) OCBC Deferred Share Plan 2021 (cominwed)

Awards over an aggregate of 7,763,260 ordinary shares (including awards over 242,356 ordinary shares granted to Mr Samuel N. Tsom, who stepped down as Group Cloef Executive Officer and a director of the Bank on 15 April 2021) have been granted ender the DSP 2021 since the commencement of the plan to the end of the financial year ended 31 December 2021. No ordinary shares were released under the DSP 2021 during the financial year ended 31 December 2021. An aggregate of 7,801,527 ordinary shares are compressed at awards which are outstanding and have not been released under the DSP 2021 as at the end of the financial year ended 31 December 2021. Existing awards were adjusted following the declarations of a final divident for the financial year ended 31 December 2020, and an interim dividend for the financial year ended 31 December 2020, said an interim dividend for the financial year ended 31 December 2020, said an interim dividend for the financial year ended 31 December 2021, resulting in an additional 269,827 ordinary shares being subject to awards under the DSF 2021 (including an additional 8,509 ordinary shares being subject to awards lield by Mr Samuel N. Tsient.

Details of options granted under the 2001 Scheme, acquisition rights granted under the ESP Plan and share awards granted under the DSP 2021 to Mr Samuet N. Tisten, who stepped down as Group Chief Executive Officer and a director of the Bank on 15 April 2021, are as follows:

	Options/cights/ awards granted during the financial year ended 31.12.2021	Aggregate number of options/rights/ awards granted since commencement of scheme/plan to 31.12.2021	Aggregate number of options exercised/rights converted/awards released since commencement of schemo/plan to 31.12.2021	Aggregate number of options/rights/ awards outstanding at 31,12,2021
2001 Scheme Samuel N. Tsten		5,746,795	3,819,935	1,926.860
ESP Plan Samuel N. Tsten		49,875	31,608 (1)	-
DSP 2021 Samuel N. Faten	242,356	242,356		250,865

# TE Eachales

Except as disclosed above, there were no unassed shares of the Bank or its subsidiaries under options grained by the Bank or its subsidiaries as at the end of the financial year.

 <sup>4.114</sup> lights, 0.462 rights and 3.103 rights which were converted into shares upon expiry of the fifth offering, runth offering and thincertal
rillering respectively as the average market price at that they was lower than the acquisition poice. This was in line with the terms and conditions,
of Set PSP Plan.

 <sup>3.160</sup> rights and 4.00° rights under the fourteeath offering and following respectively, which were not converted into states good to fair.
 Sames IV. Taten's last date of service with the Bank.

#### DIRECTORS' STATEMENT

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

#### **Audit Committee**

The members of the Audit Committee as at the date of this statement are:

Chus Kim Chia (Chairman)
Andrew Khoo Cheng Hoe (Appointed on 8 March 2021)
Chong Chuan Nee (Appointed on 18 February 2022)
Ooi Sang Kuang
Tan Nging Joo
Tan Yen Yen

The Audit Committee performed the functions specified in the Act, the SGX Listing Manual, the Benting (Corporate Governance) Regulations 2005, the MAS Guidelines for Corporate Governance and the Code of Corporate Governance 2018. In performing these functions, the Audit Committee reviewed with the Bank's external and internal auditors their audit plans and findings, including their examination and evaluation of the system of internal accounting councils. The Audit Committee also reviewed the external auditor's independence, objectivity and performance.

The Audit Committee also reviewed, tutar alta, the following:

- response of the Bank's management and the assistance provided by officers of the Bank to the external and internal auditors;
- (6) the CEO and CFO's assurances regarding the integrity of the financial statements and the adequacy and effectiveness of the Bank's risk management and internal control systems; and
- (c) the functial statements of the Group and the Bank and the auditor's report thereon, including key audit matters, prior to their submission to the Board of Directors.

The Audit Committee has full access to, and the cooperation of, the management and has been given the resources required for it to discharge its functions. It has full authority and discretion to invite any director and executive officer to artend its meetings.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board of Directors that the auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, be nominated for re-appointment as the auditor of the Bank at the forthcoming around general meeting of the Bank.

#### Andiba

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has indicated its willingness to accept re-appointment as the auditor of the Bank at the forthoroung annual general meeting of the Bank.

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

OOI SHING KUANG

Director

CITUA KIM CILIU

Southerin

Director :

Singapore

22 February 2022

# INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT To The Members Of Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited

#### Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

#### Our Opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited ("the Bank") and its subsidiaries ("the Group") and the balance sheer, income statement, statement of comprehensive income and statement of changes in equity of the Bank are properly drawn up an accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1967 ("the Act") and Sangapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) ("SFRS(I)s") so as to give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 2021 and of the consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group and of the financial performance and changes in equity of the Bank for the year ended on that date.

#### What we have audited

The funational statements of the Bank and the Group compasse.

- the income statements of the Group and of the Bank for the year ended 31 December 2021;
- the statements of comprehensive income of the Group and of the Bank for the year then ended;
- the balance slicers of the Group and of the Bank as at 51 December 2021.
- the statement of changes in equity of the Group for the year their ended;
- the statement of changes in equity of the Bank for the year then ended;
- the consolidated cash flow statement of the Certain for the year then ended; and
- the notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies

## Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing ("SSAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained as sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

#### Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities ("ACRA Code") together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other othical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code.

7

# Our Audit Approach

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the accompanying financial statements. In particular, we considered where management mide subjective judgements: for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inducently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including among other matters consideration of whether there was evidence of high that represented a risk of material misstatement due to feared.

#### Key Andit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance at our audit of the fipagoio? statements for the year ended 31 December 2021. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

#### Key Audit Matter

# Intrairment of loans to customers

(Refer to Notes 2.25, 26, 28 and 30 to the financial statements)

The Group's allowances on non-impaired loans and impaired loans are SS1,900 million and \$\$2,535 million respectively as at 31 December 2021. These allowances are determined by the Group based on the Expected Credit Losses ("ECL") framework under SFRS(I) 9 Financial Instruments ("SFRS(I) 9").

ECL on non-credit-impaired loans to enstowers in respect of the ECL on non-credit-impaired loans to customers, the Group utilises models which are reliant on internal and external data as well as a number of estimates. We considered this a key audit matter due to the inherent estimation tracertainty in this area which involves significant judgement, and assumptions that relate to, amongst others:

- determining whether a significant increase in credit risk ("SICR") has occurred:
- estimating forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios: and
- identifying and determining post model adjustments to the ECL models.

Further, the prolonged COVID-39 prodemit has increased the uncertainty of these estimates and degree of judgement required to be exercised in estimating the ECL.

# How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

ECL on non-credit-impured loans to customers

We assessed the design and evaluated the operating effectiveness of key controls over the ECL on non-creditimpaired loans to customers. These controls include:

- review and approval of forward-looking information used in the ECL models;
- use of reliable and accurate critical data elements in the ECL models;
- review and approval of the ECI, results, including postmodel adjustments applied:
- independent validation of the ECL models and review of model validation results by management; and
- general TF controls over the ECL system as well as TF application controls over the completeness and accuracy of data flows from source systems to the ECL systems.

We determined that we could rely on these controls for the ipurposes of our audis.

For a sample of the Group's ECL models, we examined the model methodologics and assessed the reasonableness of key i judgements and assumptions made by management in the imodel and parameters used. We also reviewed the results of independent model validation conducted by the Group's model validation function as part of our assessment of the FCL models.

We also assessed the reasonableness of enterta used to determine a SICR and accuracy and timeliness of ablocation of exposures into Stage 1 and Stage 2 based on quantitative and qualitative criteria.

Through the course of our work, we challenged the rationale and calculation basis of post model adjustments.

Overalls, we assessed the methodologies and key assumptions made by the Group to estimate the ECL on non-credit-impaired loans to customers to be reasonable.

## Key Audit Matter

# Impairment of leans to customers (continued)

ECL on covalit-impaired loans to customers. As at 31 December 2021, 58% (85892 million) of the Group's ECL on credit-impaired loans to customers relates to the Global Wholesale Banking ("GWB") loan portfolia.

We focused on this area because of the highly subjective judgements and assumptions applied by management in determining the necessity for, and estimating the amount of, the ECL allowances against credit impaired looks to disterners. Suprificant judgements were also required for the credit grading of borrowers in accordance with MAS Netices 612 and 612A.

iror GWB's credit-required from portfolio, significant management judgement and estimation metade:

- idenofying credit-impaired exposures;
- assessing the future performance of the borrowers and recoverable cash flows; and
- determining collateral values and uning of realisation

Current significant events (e.g. economic and geopolitical developments, and the COVBD 19 pandomic) added complexity to the estimation of the ECL allowances. The pateonic and corresponding impact of these events are incertion.

## How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

ECL on credit-impaired loans to customers

We assessed the design effectiveness and tested the operating effectiveness of key centrols over credit grading, credit munitoring and management's determination of the FCL allowances for loses to easterness. These controls include

- eversight and review of credit risk by the Credit Risk Management Commutee;
- · credit portfolio review and monitoring.
- collateral monitoring and valuation;
- menitoring of loan covenants and breaches; and
- classification of loans to customers in accordance with MAS Notices 612 and 612A.

We determined that we could rely on these controls for the purposes of our audit

We selected a sample of credit exposures in the GWB loan portfolio and performed crustit file reviews to assess the appropriateness of credit grading in accordance with the requirements of MAS Notices 612 and 612A. In that process, we have also considered management's assessment on the impact of correct significant events in the identification of credit-impaired exposures.

Where there was objective evidence of impairment, we assessed whether the ECL allowances were recognised on a timely basis and evaluated the another of such impairment. Our work includes:

- considering the background facts and the latest percursorpers in relation to the borrower;
- examining and challenging management's key assumptions applied on expected future east flows of the borrower, including amounts and tigging of recoveries;
- comparing the realisable value of collateral against externally derived evidence including independent valuation reports, where available; and
- testing the calculation of suparmicut.

For a sample of non-credit impaired loans to customers which had not been classified by management as credit-impaired, we challenged management's key assumptions on whether their classification was appropriate, based on our understanding of the customers, business environment and other external evaluate where available.

Based on the procedures performed, we have assessed that the ECI allowances for credit-imparted loans to customers were within an acceptable range of estimates.

#### Key Audit Matter

Valuation of financial instruments thessured at fair value - Levels 2 and 3

(Refer to Notes 2.25 and 41.3 to the financial statements)

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had financial assets of \$\$51 billion and financial habilities of \$\$9 billion measured at fair value which were classified as Level 2. These represent 29% of the financial assets and 89% of the financial liabilities measured at fair value respectively.

We considered valuation of Level 2 financial instruments to be a key guidi matter due to their financial significance to the Group as well as the judgement required in relation to the application of the appropriate models, assumptions and inputs.

The Group also had financial assets of S\$5 hillion and financial liabilities of \$5640 million measured at fair value which were classified as Level 3. These represent 3% of the financial assets and 6% of the financial liabilities measured at fair value respectively.

We focused on the valuation of Level 3 financial assets and financial liabilities, as management makes significant judgements and assumptions (using valuation models) when valuing these financial instruments, as they are complex or illiquid and the external evidence supporting the Group's valuations are imuted that to the lack of a bound market.

## How our andit addressed the Key Audit Matter

We assessed the design and tossed the operating effectiveness of key controls over the Group's financial instruments valuation processes, including the controls over

- management's testing and approval of valuation models:
- the completeness and accuracy of the data feeds and other imputs into valuation models;
- follow-up on colleteral disputes, which takes into account counterporty valuations, to identify possible undicators of mappropriate valuations by the Group; and
- governance mechanisms and monitoring over the valuation processes by the Market Risk Management Committee, including over valuation adjustments.

We determined that we could rely on the controls for the purposes of our audit.

Together with our valuation specialists, we compared the Group's valuation of Level 2 financial instruments to our own estimates on a sampling basis. This involved sourcing inputs from market data providers or external sources and using our own valuation models, and investigating the root cause for material variances at the instrument level.

For a sample of Level 3 financial instruments, with the assistance of our valuation specialists, we assessed the reasonableness of the methodologies used and the key assumptions made.

For all financial instruments at Levels 2 and 3, we also performed:

- procedures on collateral disputes, which takes into account counterparty valuations, to identify possible indicators of inappropriate valuations by the Group; and
- assessed the adequacy of the Group's financial statements disclosures in the context of the relevant accounting standards.

Overall, the valuation of Levels 2 and 3 financial instruments occasioned at fair value was within a reasonable range of ourcomes.

# Key Audit Maner

## Impairment of goodwill

(Refer to Noves 2.25 and 36 to the function) statements)

The Group has a significant amount of goodwill arrang from its business acquisitions. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of goodwill on the Group's balance sheet amounted to \$\$4,467 million.

In performing the impairment assessment of the carrying impount of goodwill, significant judgement is made by management in estimating the recoverable antesists of the relevant easis peneroting units ("COIs")

For the Banking CGUs, this involves the estimation of discounted cash flows, where the significant assumptions used in the assessment include.

- forcessis of future cash Ωews;
- inputs to determine the rask adjusted, discount setts, and
- perpenual growth rates

For the histirance CGC, the Greep applies the appropriate value recharque, which comprises the embedded value of in-force business and the estimated value of projected distributable profits from new husinesses. The key assumptions used in this assessment include:

- investment returns based on king term strategic asset mix and expected future returns; and
- risk-adjusted discreant rates.

Given the level of complexity and extent of judgement involved, we considered this to be a key audit matter.

## How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

We assessed the appropriateness of management's identification of the Group's CGUs and methodology used in the estimation of recoverable amounts. We also evaluated the key assumptions used and applied sensitivity analysis to the key assumptions to determine whether any prosible change in these key assumptions would result in an impairment

#### Bunking COUs

Together with our valuation specialists, we evaluated:

- management's cash thow projections by comparing previous forecasts to actual results;
- the methodology and external data sources (used in deriving the discount rates and growth rates; and
- the growth sate assumptions against the Group's historical performance and available external industry and economic inducators.

#### Insurance CGU

Together with our actuarial specialists, we evaluated

- the methodologies in esumating the appraisal value: and
- the key assumptions including the accessment returns and the risk-adjusted discount rates used in deriving the appraisal value.

We found the key assumptions and estimates made by management to be reasonable based on our audit procedures performed

## Key Audit Matter

## How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

#### Valuation of insurance contract liabilities

(Refer to Notes 2.25, 22 and 38.4 in the financial statements)

The Group's misirance operations are conducted through Great Eastern Holdings Limited and as substitiones ("GEH").

Management's voluntion of life insurance contract habitation uses complex actuarial methods and models. The voluntion process involves significant judgement about the assumptions of uncertain future events, including mortality, morbidity, expense, lapse, surrepder and interest rates.

In addition to historical experience, management judgement is involved in the application of these assumptions. Changes in these assumptions used could result in a material impact to the voluntion of the life insurance contract habilities and the related movements in the consolidated profit or loss statement of the Group.

We performed the following audit precedures to address this matter.

- we understood the actuarial valuation process, including model changes and assumptions setting;
- we tested the design and operating effectiveness of controls over the accuracy and completeness of the data used:
- we understood the valuation methodologies used, identified changes in methodologies from previous valuation and assessed the reasonableness and impact for material changes identified. We carried out these procedures by applying our industry knowledge and experience and assessed whether the methodologies and changes to those methodologies are consistent with recognised actuated practices and expectations derived from market experience;
- we performed an independent review of model inputs on a sample basis to assess that the methodologies and key assumptions have been applied appropriately; and
- we assessed the reasonableness of the key assumptions used by management including, mortality, morbidity, expense, lapse, surrender and interest rates, by comparing against GEED's historical expensesses and market observable data, where applicable.

Based on the work performed and the evidence obtained, we found the methodologies and key assumptions used by management to be reasonable.

#### Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors' Statement (but does not include the financial statements and our auditor's report, thereon), which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor's report, and the other sections of the aunual report ("the Other Sections"), which are expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and well not express any forms of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work We have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor's report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the Other Sections, if we conclude that there is a material inisstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance and take appropriate actions in accordance with SSAs.

## Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Pinancial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the provisions of the Act and SFRS(I)s, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accomming controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguanted against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accommissibility of assets.

In preparing the linancial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors' responsibilities include overseeing the Group's financial reporting process

#### Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material infestatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conflucted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit inaccordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material masslatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
  design and perform saidit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evaluate that is sufficient and
  appropriate to provide in hasis for our opinion. The risk of not desecting in material misstatement resulting from
  fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as transformation and involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
  misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit to order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an equipm on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
- Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
  the audit expense obsained, whether a material encertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
  significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we exceeded that a material uncertainty
  exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements
  or, if such disclosures are undergrate, to emistify our opinion. Our crucklusters are based on the audit evalence
  obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
  cease to containty as a going someth.
- Explainte the overall presentation, smooture and content of the financial statements, including the itisclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the linancial information of the entities or business activities within the Group to expects an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our analy opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other makers, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant detrements in internal control that we identify during our health.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to commenceate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards

from the matters communicated with the directors, we determine slowe matters that were of most eigenficance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit realters. We describe these matters in our saditor's report unless law or segulation preclades public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare directionsumers, we determine that a matter should not be assuminated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to patweigh the public interest beauties of such communication.

## Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

invaterbonse Coopers LLP

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Bank and by those subsidiary corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the additors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act

The energement partner on the endit resulting in this independent auditor's report is I ian Wee Cheow.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants

Singapore, 22 February, 2022.

# INCOME STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

		CROEP		BANK	
		2021	2020	2021	2020
	Note	5 million	S million	5 million	S million
Imarest income		1,425	4,142	3,919	5.070
le téaget qui periore	_	(1,570)	(5,177)	(70%)	(1,821)
Net Interest Income	٠.	5,855	5,984	3,211	5349
Profit from life insurance (1)	4	1,137	1658		
Preturym increase brook personal resonance;		197	201	-	-
Fees and commissions (net)	5	2,245	2,003	969	81.5
D.viderds	6	113	78	1,049	1,468
Nei trading income	7	74.5	863	249	308
Other income	. 5	186	330	143	158
Non-interest income	-	4.741	4,173	2,410	2,746
Total Income		10,596	10,139	5,62 t	5,993
Start costs		(3,028)	(2,748)	(1,093)	[969]
Other operating expenses	_	(1.736)	11,6911	(1,131)	40,018)
Total operating expenses	9 -	(4.764)	14,439)	(2,224)	(),987)
Operating profit before allowances and amortisation		5.832	5,700	3,397	4,005
Amortisation of miangible assets	36	(103)	(104)	-	
Allowomers for losses and other weapts	-10	(87.3)	(2,144)	(442)	(1,494)
Operating profit after allowances and amountication		4,856	4,553	2,955	2,515
Share of needs of associates, not of the		324	n12		
Profit before income tax		5,680	4,165	2,955	2,515
Literative CSA conjuntate	11.	(048)	(437]	(229)	(169)
Profit for the year	-	5,032	5,72%	2,726	2,346
Attributable to:					
Equity holders of the Hank		4,858	4,586		
Non-controlling interests		174	142		
		5,032	3,728		
Earnings per share (\$)	12				
Passe		1.0⊤	6.80		
Oduced		1.07	9.80		
	-				

<sup>10</sup> Composed persons and inservment output of \$19,506 and sor (2020, \$10,395 million) and insurance classes, exercises and other expenses of \$18,285 million (2020, \$20,500 million) for the Group, Refer to Nove 0.

# STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

	GROUP		BANK	
	2021 5 million	2020 3 million	2021 Smillion	2020 S million
Profit for the year	5,032	3,728	2,726	2,346
Other comprehensive income: Items (but may be reclassified subsequently to income statement:				
Financial assets, in FVOCt 117				
Fair value (losses)/gains for the year Recisesification of (gales)/losses to income statement	(694)	877	(326)	292
on disposal	(131)	(506)	(34)	(73)
- on impairment	1.21,	5	4	(,
Tax on net movements	98	(37)	ıí	(5)
Cash flow hedges	( <b>4</b> )	`4	(7)	ì
Currency cranslation on foreign operations	110	42	(34)	50
Other comprehensive income of exociates	339	129	_	-
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to income statement:				
Corrency translation on foreign operations	(1)	(12)	-	_
Equity instruments, at FVOCI (II), not change in fair value	134	116	44.	(25)
Defined benefit plans remeasurements	(1)	•	-	1#7
Own credit	1			!
Total other comprehensive income, net of tax	(142)	615	(341)	742
Total comprehensive income for the year, not of tha	4,290	4,343	2,385	2,588
Total comprehensive income attributable to:				
Equity holders of the Bank	4,735	4,200		
Non-controlling inserests	155	143		
	4,890	4,343		

Fair value through other comprehensive income # represents amounts less than \$0.5 million

# BALANCE SHEETS

As at 31 December 2021

		GROUP		BASK	
	Note	2021	2020	2021	2020
		Smillion	§ million	5 milbon	5 milhion
EQCITY					
Attailment for an equity holders of the Bunk					
Shine capital	13	18,040	17,833	18,040	17,873
Other reputy instruments	14	1,198	1,196	1,19%	1,795
Capital reserves	15	782	1.229	559	991
hard wall are operations		#4K	1,358	(25)	910
Revesioninerses	Hi	31,795	28,00%	15,825	(4,564)
		\$2,663	49.622	35,597	14,885
Non-controlling interests		1,675	1,554	_	
Total equity		54,338	51,176	35,597	34,855
LIABILITIES					
Democity of neo-bank customers	17	342,195	314,997	221,213	197,745
Depends and haloness of factor	12	8,219	11,5 441	6,708	7,405
Dut to schrichunes	••	174-17		28,250	25,791
Due to assistantes		40	418)	230	2101
Touling perifolia Lebilities		193	110	393	339
Demontor physicis	:8	4.074	(5.506)	7,654	13,788
Other habitings	:9	7.463	8.095	1.906	1,886
Correst tas pasaldes		905	345	458	369
Defended rux Liabilities	20	2.832	12/3	154	22)
Debt exact	21	2N,115	25,400	19,657	23,597
(May result)	., .	391,543	375,765	286,625	271,125
Life insurance fund light inter-	22	96.106	02,454	2011,045	200.123
Total Habilities		487,249	470,219	286.625	
I need Hamitimes		487,649	11.2.51	280.028	271,125
Total equity and fiabilities		541,187	521,795	332,222	206,000
ASSE15					
Code and placements with central banks	23	27,949	26,525	\$2,863	20,469
Singapore governo acta framenty In 3 intil securities.	24	10,002	18,628	10,106	9,294
Ocace government beasury bills and securities	24	26.159	22,003	9,710	9,410
Platerbards with and courts to banks	25	25,462	92,816	17,516	34,083
Loan Closed Somers	26	286,281	263,578	169,401	170,651
(Add to altreputy susporting	29	34,015	33,343	211,0.4 (	17,844
Assets held for sale	47	11	2	- 1	-
Demonstration processability	!8	9,267	15,223	7,811	13,505
Öknet uskok	31	6_334	5,50%	2,3,19	3,135
Options! tax assets	20	280	1.13	85	4;
Associates	12	6.170	4,613	2.262	1,749
Subsaharige	3.4	-	-	37,018	32,272
Property, pears and equipment	30	3.50ъ	3,367	7.15	450
layes ment graperty	3,9	501	813	47,4	475
Goodwill and other changible assets	46	4,774	4,897	1.867	3,867
-		442,091	(24,727	322,222	Pinjeto
Englisherance final assessment seasoning and other assets.	22	100,096	507,088		
Tulplassels		543,187	521,395	322,222	

# STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY - GROUP

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

	41						
	Share capital and Capital		Fair value Resenue			Non- sectrolling	Total
la Smillios	other equity		CLICLES.	FEWERVER	Tutal	interests.	rejuitz
Relence at 1 Japuary 2021	17,031	1,229	1,358	28,004	49,622	1,554	51,176
Fulat comprehensive income for the year							
Proihi for the year				4,658	4,858	174	5.032
Criber comprehensive income Items that may be reclassified sufferquently to income statement:				-	-		
inancial assets, at I VOC I							
Face value linders for the year Brights of further of (gains) lesses to income statement	-	-	(664)	-	(684)	(30)	(694)
- on disposal	-	-	(122)	_	(177)	(9)	(131)
- on automorph	-	-	3		.5	(4)	3
Levien nei maveicenis	-	-	91	-	71	7	98
Cosh Sow Fedges	-	-	-	(4)	(¥5	-	(P)
furrency translation on foreign operations	-	-	-	LLO	110	-	110
Other is emprehensive include of asystemes.	-	-	127	212	330	-	339
tems that will not be reclassified subsequently to income statement:							
limenty translation en lineign operatives.	-	-	-	-	-	(1)	(I)
Quity instruments, at FVOCI, not change is: Tan i-alue	_	_	55	n5	110	1-6	1,54
Acfined benefit plans reincasurements				(1)	(1)	(d)	(1)
Dec could	-	-	-	1	1	-	1
fosel other comprehensive income, not of tax		Ξ	(\$10)	387	(123)	(19)	(142
intal comprehensive lacoure for the year			(510)	5,245	4,735	155	4,890
Fransactions with owners, recorded							
directly in equity							
Contributions by and distributions to owners in constant	10	(430)	_	423		_	
Pansions Buy-back of shares for notding as treasury shares	(406)	(4.50)	-	113	(406)	_	(406)
Kuxaanila andidi sir bushna	-		-	(1,880)	(1,886)	(34)	(1,920)
ihares assued at their or ordinary distribunds	376			11,000)	376	(341	376
XXP reserve from disintends on our extent shares			-	10	10	_	10
there has all powering for staff costs		9	_	-		_	
ilizars insure! to more sessitive directions	1	_	_	_	i	_	1
Riznes issued under Share Option Scheme	1	_			1		,
Studes (constanted to DSP Too)	Яħ	(93)	-	-	[10]	-	(10)
Shanek kesteti under 1951' Skinome		75			7,1		73
Fernancy (Cones transferred/sold	139				139	_	139
ola) contributions by and distributions to owners	207	(447)		(1.455)	(1.0931	(34)	(1,727)
hangra in interests in subsidiaries that							
do not result in loss of control				(1)	. <u> </u>	121	111
forst changes in Interests in substitution Estance at 11 (becomber 202)	- 10 824	782	210	(1) 31,795	(I) (2.61	(#) • 435	<u>. []</u>
errance as an (notollines, but)	10,238	101	818	3145	52,663	1.675	51,338
nulsited in the Yulances							
Hure of icserves of asseziates		-	174	3.115	5.289	-	人289

Included regulatory less allowance reserve of \$874 million at 1 January 2021 and \$444 million at 31 December 2021.

An analysis of the noncounts or each component within "Share capital". Other equity instruments', "Capital reserves" and "Revenue reserves" is presumed in Notes 11 to 16

The accompanying nows form an integral part of these financial statements

<sup>5</sup> A respessores amounts long train \$0.5 million

# STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY - GROUP

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

	Air						
la \$ militoa	Share capital and other equity		Fair value reserves	Revenue reserves	Torsi	Non- controlling interests	Foral eightry
Uninger on 1 January 2020	18,758	1,752	919	36/232	47,062	1,441	48.603
Foral comprehensive income for the year	<u>-</u>			-	.:	-	
Profil for the year		_	_	3,536	3,586	:42	1,728
Other comprehensive income							
Hens that may be reclassified:   swbsequently to become statement:							
Financial assets, at EVOCI							
Faio value gams for the year Reclassification or (gazes/yeases in microse statement			819		814	58	K77
- on disposal	-	_	(461)	-	(461)	[42]	(536)
- no migrations			, ,		• •	· #	5
Tay on oct ingoments			(94)		(34)	ונו	(37)
Clash dlow hedges	_	-	_	r,	P		,
Currency Impolation on foreign operations				42	42	-	42
Uther comprehensive theome of associates			(44)	178	129	_	109
Henry that will not be explayed subsequently to income statement:							
Currency translation on coreign operations						[12]	172
Equity (Secure: Cs, at EVOC), not change an			154	.41.	113		
Defined benefit plans reincasureinetts	-	_	17-	(41) U	113	3	116
Own crodit	-	-	-	ï			
1			419	175	1 1	<del>-</del> -	915
Fotal other comprehensive income, net of lax Total comprehensive income for the year		-	439	3,761	4.200	!. )41	4,341
Transactions with owners, recorded			-71	1,7111	4,2101	3+1	4, 1771
directly in equity							
Constitutions by and distributions to owners							
Fointfort	3	2	_	(5)	_	_	
Huy-back of shaves for holding as treasury shares	0(3)			·	(63)	_	[64]
Dividends and distributions (2)	-	_	_	(1,001)	(1,993)	4341	(2/02)
Shares issued intlien of ordinary dividends (9)	\$26	_	_	-	526	-	524
DSI* reserve from dividend eet unvested shares				19	10	-	10
Perpetual capital securities issued	200	-	_	-	200		200
Perpetinal exprisal securities redecined	(499)	_	_	LD.	(500)		1999
Share-based payments to: staff costs		- 11			. 11	-	ν:
Sharps proved to conjungacionic ediperators	1				1	-	
Shares transferred to DSP 1 rust		(10)			(19)		(100
Shares vested under DSP Scheme	-	n2	-	-	62		62
Lieutiury shares (rankferred/sel/5	105	(89)			16		16
Total contributions by and distributions to enters	271	(74)	_	(1,989)	(1,740)	(34)	(1.774)
Changes in interests in subtidiaries that do not a could in loss of control						4	
Fotal changes in unterests in subsidiaries	<del></del>			(7) (6)	(8) (6)		
Balance sa 31 December 2020	19,561	i 229	1,354	78,84	49,620	:,554	<1,17e
	15/551	1.77	1,747	711/15 <b>44</b>	47,07	.,114	-1,146
Included to the palanees				2217	3341		33/4
Shake Of reversion of Associates			-17	2,217	2,264		2,264

Jackholest regulating these allowance crossing of \$676 million at 1 January 2000 and \$674 million at 11 December 2000. Compares has been reclassified to conform to current year's presented on

An analysis of the bissequents in each comprehent with a "Share capital", "Office equity instructions," (Cignial reserves) and "Revenue reserves, is presented to Notes (1 to 16)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

milestratetts and anti-less Oak 90 5 m. deet

# STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY - BANK

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

ļa \$ rallbion	Share capital and other equity	Capital reserves <sup>(1)</sup>	Pair value reserves	Revenue reserves	Total equity
Balance at 1 January 3021	19,031	994	300	14,560	34,885
Profit for the year	_	_	_	2,726	2,726
Other comprehensive income		_	(325)	(16)	(341)
Trates comprehensive income for the year 121	-	-	(325)	1,710	2,385
Transfers	13	(444)	-	431	_
Buy-back of shares for holding as treasury shares	(406)	_	-	_	(406)
Dividorals and distributions	-	_	_	(1,886)	(1,286)
Shares issued in they of orderary devidends	376	_	-	_	376
DSP reserve from dividends on unvested shares	-	_	-	10	10
Share-based payments for staff costs	-	9	-	-	9
Shares issued to non-executive directors	1	_	-	_	1
Shares issued under Share Option Scheme	1	-	-	-	1
Shares manuferred to DSP Trust	83	-	-	_	83
Treasury shares transferred/sold	139	<del>-</del> _			139
Balance at 31 December 2021	19,338	559	(15)	15,825	15,597
Balance at 1 January 2020	18,758	986	114	14,142	34,000
Profit for the year	_	-		2,346	2,346
Other comprehensive income	_	_	186	56	242
Total comprehensive income for the year (2)		-	186	2,402	2,588
Transfers	3	(3)		_	_
Buy-back of shares for holding as treasury shares	(63)				(63)
Dividends and distributions (4)	`-	_	-	(1,993)	(1,993)
Shares issued in lieu of ordinary dividends (1)	526	_			526
DSP sesse ve from dividends on unvested shares	_	-	-	10	10
Perpetual capital securities issued	200		-	_	200
Perpenual expirel accurities redocated	(499)		-	(1)	(500)
Share-based payenents for staff costs	-	ŧ1	-	-	Li
Shares resent to remember time directors	1	-	-	-	L
Treasury shares transferred/sold	105				105
Balance at 31 December 2020	19,031	<del>99</del> 4	300	14,560	34,885

C Included segulatory loss allowance sessive of \$874 million at 1 January 2021 (1 Sanuary 2020; \$874 million) and \$444 million at 31 December 2021 (Ji December 2020: \$874 million).

12. Refer to Statements of Comprehensive Income for detailed breakdown

13. Comparatives have been seclassified to conform to custom year is presentation.

An analysis of the roovements in each component within "Share capital", "Other equity instruments", "Capital reserves" and "Revenue reserves" is presented in Notes 13 to 16.

# CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

In 5 million	2021	2020
Cush flaws from operating activities		
Profit before income tax	5,680	4,165
Adjustments for non-cash elems:		
Allowances for loons and other assets	873	2,043
Amortisation of intangible assets	103	104
Change in hedging transactions, fair value through profit or loss securities and debt issued	104	26
Depreciation of property and equipment and interest expense on lease Habibiles	416	424
Net gain on disposal of government, debt and equity securities	(92)	(208)
Net gain on disposal of property and equipment	(107)	(44)
Pact gain on disposal of interest in a subaldiary	-	(9)
Share-based costs	73	76
Shace of results of associates, not of tax	(824)	(612)
learns relating to life insurance fund		
Surplus before income tax	1,221	687
Surplus management from life insurance fund	(1,137)	(698)
Operating profit before change in operating assets and liabilities	6,310	5,954
Change in operating assets and liabilities:		
Deposits of non-bank existemers	27,510	12,115
Deposits and belences of banks	(L,347)	1,336
Decinative payables and other Nabilinies	(6,906)	9,161
Trading portfolio liabilities	55	247
Restricted balances with control banks	(764)	693
Government securities and treasury bills	1,614	(4,039)
Fair value through profit or loss securities	(7,059)	(698)
Placements with and Joans to banks	7,354	3,048
Loans to customers	(23,685)	(3,101)
Demostive impelvables and other assers	4,087	(9,919)
Nex change in other assets and liabilities of life insurance fund	8,029	1,660
Cash provided by operating activities	15,196	16,459
Income tax paid (1)	(913)	(822)
Net cash provided by operating activities	14,283	15,637
Cash flows from investing activities		•
Dividends from associates	135	201
Investment in associates	(514)	(418)
Perchases of debt and equity accurities	(12,475)	(14,882)
Purchases of life insurance fund investment securities	(41,636)	(37,978)
Purchases of property and equipment	(443)	(384)
Proceeds from dispusal of debt and equity securities	12,642	12,133
Proceeds from dispusal of interest in a subsidiary		32
Proceeds from disposal of life insurance fund investment securities	34,345	36,371
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment	157	36
Net cash used in investing activities	(2,791)	(4,339)
	1,,	, ,,,,,,
Cash flows from flamening activities	an an	4
Charges in non-controlling reservats	(I) (496)	(63)
Buy-back of stares for holding as treasury shares  The idea of conductive between a side		(1,501)
Dividends and distributions paid  Net redempsion of other debt issued (Note 21.6)	(1,544) (3,840)	(6,961)
	(3)	200
Not provided from projectual expetal securities issued  Proportion of local links little	(91)	(93)
Repayments of lease liabilities	(71)	1,365
Proceeds from subordinated debt issued (Note 21.6)  Proceeds from treasury shares transferred/sold under the Bank's employee share schemes	140	1,593
• •	1	(300)
Redemption of perpetual capital socialities issued		(300)
Redemption of subordinated debt issued (Note 2 £.6)	(400)	(7,333)
Net each used in financing netivities	(6,142)	
Net change in cash and cash equivalents	354	3,765
Net currency cronslation adjustments	283	253
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January	12,079	18,060
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December (Noto 21)	22,714	22,078

Fig. 2021, the Corresponding one case of \$913 million (2020 \$822 million), of which \$280 million (2020; \$230 million) was paid in Sangaport and \$613 million (2020; \$992 million) in other jurns decisions.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

These notes form an integral part of the fenancial statements.

The Board of Directors of Oversca-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited authorised these financial statements for issue on 22 February 2022.

#### I. General

Oversea-Climese Banking Corporation Limited (the Bank) is incorporated and denticited in Singapore and is listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. The address of the Bank's registered office is 63 Chulin Street, #10-00 OCBC Centre East, Singapore 049514.

The conscindated timancial statements relate to the Bank and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the Group) and the Group's interests in associates. The Group is principally engaged in the business of banking, life insurance, general insurance, asset management, investment holding, futures and stockimbling.

## 2. Supposary of significant accounting policies

## 2.1 Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) (SFRS(II) as required by the Singapore Companies Act 1967 (the Act).

The figurated statements are presented in Singapore Dollar, rounded to the nearest multiro unless otherwise stated. If represents amounts less than \$0.5 in:Biot. The figurated statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, every as disclosed in the accounting policies below

The preparation of financial statements in performing with SFRS(I) requires management to exactive its judgement, use estimates and make assumptions in the application of accounting policies on the reported amounts of assets, habilities, revenues and expenses. Although these estimates are based on management's best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from these estimates. Critical accounting estimates and assumptions used that are significant to the Financial statements, and areas proofving a high degree of judgement or complexity, are disclosed in Note 2.25.

The following new/roxised fenancial repeating standards and interpretations were applied with effect from 1 January 2021:

SFRS(I)		Title	
	(I) 1-39, SFRS(I) 7,	Interest Rate Renchmark Reform	Phase 2
SFRS(I) 4, 8	ERS(I) 16 (Amendments)		
SERSED 16 (Amo	edmensi	COPID-19-Relació Rem Cassessi	our beyond 40 June 2021

The mutal application of the above standards (including their consequential amendments) and interpretations did not have any material impact on the Group's financial statements, except for the amendments to SFRS(1) 9, SFRS (1) 3-39. SFRS(1) 7, SFRS(1) 4 and SFRS(1) 16 (Amendments) Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

## 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (vocasional)

#### 2.1 Basis of preparation (commund).

# Adoption of SFRS(t) 9, SFRS(t) 1-39, SFRS(t) 7, SFRS(t) 4, SFRS(t) 16 (Amendments) Interest Rate Renchmark Reform = Phase 2

The Group adopted the amendments to SERS(I) 9. SERS(I) 1-39. SERS(I) 7, SERS(I) 4 and SERS(I) 16 on 1 January 2021. The amendments addresses issues that might affect the Group as a result of the reform of an interest rate benchmark, including the effects of changes to contractual cash flows or hodging relationships arising from the replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark with an alternative benchmark.

#### (i) Change in basis for determining cash flows.

The amendments will require an entity to account for a change in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of a financial asset or financial habitity which is required by interest rate benchmark retorns by opticing the effective precess rate of the financial asset or financial fishility. As a result, no instruction gain or loss is recognised. This applies only when the change is necessary as a direct consequence of the reform, and the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent to the previous basis.

### (ii) Hedge accounting

The amendments provide exceptions to the hedge accounting requirements that will assist the Group to maintain its existing hedging relationships post transition to the alternative henchmark rate. The Group will continue to record any ongoing hedge ineffectiveness in 1900 fit or loss.

#### (iii) Disclosure

The amenoments well require the Group to disclose additional information about the Group's exposure to risks anding from interest rate benchmark reform and related risk management activities.

These amendments with impact the Group's financial statements when financial instruments referencing interest rate benchmarks that are impacted by the interest rate benchmark reform are modified. Refer to Note 3.5.3 and Note 2.7 for significant accounting policies with respect to the modifications. Refer to Note 40 for additional disclosures arising from the Phase 2 amendments.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

## 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (costoned)

#### 2.2 Basis of consolidation

#### 2.2.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are connect which the Group controls when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable remarks from as involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

Substitiarjes are consolidated from the date when control is transferred to the Group and cease to be consolidated on the date when that control ceases. The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts and opening indicate that there have been changes to its power, its rights to variable returns or its ability to use its power to affect its returns.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, intra-group transactions and balances, together with correlated months and expenses aroung from the intra-group transactions among group companies are climinated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to ensure consistency of accounting policies within the Group

Non-controlling anterests (NCI) represent the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to shareholders of the Bank, and are presented separately from equity attributable to equity holders of the Bank. For NCI that arise through minority unit holders' interest in the insurance subsidiaries of Great Eastern Holdings Lámited (GEH) consolidated investment funds, they are propprised as a liability. These interests qualify as a linancial liability as they give the holder the right to put the instrument back to the essuer for east. Changes in these habilities are recognised in the insertion as expenses.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The cost of an acquisition is measured at the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments assued to trahelities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incorred lifentifiable assets acquired and tinbilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a husiness combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquirement date. The Group recognises any NCI color at fair value of at the NCI's proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree's identifiable net assets at the date of acquisition on an acquisition-by-acquiration basis.

The excess of the fair value of consideration transferred, the recognised amount of any NCI in the acquired and the acquired date fair values of any previously held equity interest in the acquired over the fair value of the identifiable not assets acquired is recognised as goodwall at the date of acquisition. When the excess is negative, a bargein purchase gain is recognised immediately in the income statements.

Business combinations arising from transfers of interests in calabies that are under the control of the shareholder that controls the Group are accounted for as if the acquisition has occurred at the beginning of the earliest comparative year presented for, if later, at the date that common control was established; for this purpose comparatives are reclassified. The assets and liabilities required are recognised at the carrying amounts recognised previously in the Group controlling shareholder's consultated timaneral statements. The composities of equity of the acquired emitties are added to the same components within the Group's equity and any parafless arising is recognised directly in equity.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

## Summary of significant accounting policies (continued).

#### 2.2 Basis of consolidation (communed)

#### 2.2.2 Structured entitles

A structured entity is an entity in which voting or similar rights are not the dominant factor in deciding control and is generally established for a narrow and well-defined objective.

For the purpose of disclosure, the Group is considered to be the sponsor of a structured entity if it has a key role in establishing the sourtured entity or its name appears in the overall source of the structured entity.

#### 2.2.3 Associates and joint ventures

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over the financial and operating policies of these entities. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group helds 20% or more of the voting power of another entity.

Asim ventures are arrangements to undertake economic activities in which the Group has joint control, and rights to the not assets of the entities.

Investments in associates and your ventures are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting. If the investment in an associate is held by, or is held inducedly through, an entity that is a venture capital organisation, or a mutual fund, and stust and smaller entities including investment-linked insurance funds, the Group may effect to measure that investment at fair value through peofit or loss in accordance with SFRS(I) 9 Pinancial Insurances. The Group will make this election separately for each associate, at unital recognition of the associate.

Under equity accounting, the investment is initially reorganised at cost, and the carrying amount is adjusted for post-acquisition changes of the Group's slowe of the net assets of the entity until the date the significant influence or joint control ceases. The Group's investment in associates and joint ventures includes goodwill identified on acquisition, where applicable. When the Group's share of losses equals or exceeds its interests in the associates and joint ventures, including any other unsecured receivables. On Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has meanied obligations or made payments on helpful the entities.

In applying the equity method of accounting, unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and passociates and point ventures are climinated to the extent of the Group's interests in these entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impainment of the asset transferred. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of associates and point ventures to ensure consistency of accounting policies with those of the Group.

The results of associates and joint ventures are taken from sudded financial statements or talaudoed management accounts of the entities concerned, made up to dates of not more than three months prior to the reporting date of the Group.

The investment in an associate or joint venture is derecognised when the thoughceases to have significant influence, or joint control, respectively, over the investee. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI) in respect of the investee are transferred to the income statement. Any retained interest in the entity is re-integrated in its fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the retained enterest at the date when significant influence or joint control ceases, and its corresponding fair value, is recognised in the income statement.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

## Summary of significant accounting policies (continued).

#### 2.2 Basis of consolidation (continued)

#### 2.2.4 Life insurance companies

Certain subsidiaries of the Group engaged in life insurance business are structured ento are or more long-term life insurance familis, and shareholders' funds. All promitties received, investment returns, claims and expenses, and changes in liabilities to policyholders are accounted for within the related life insurance fund. Any surplus, which is determined by the appointed Accurry after taking into account these issues, may either be distributed to the shareholders and the princyholders according to a predetermined formula or retained within the life insurance funds. The amount allocated to shareholders is reported as "Profit from life insurance" in the Group's consolidated income statement.

#### 2.2.5 Accumuling for subsidiaries and associates by the Bank

Investments in subsidiaries and associates are stated in the Bank's balance sheet at cost less any impairantent in value after the date of augmention.

#### 2.3 Currency translation

## 2.3.1 Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded in the respective functional currencies of the Bank and its subsidiaries at the exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the respective entities' functional currencies at the exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date. Exchange differences arising on settlement and translation of such items are recognised in the income statement.

Non-monetary items denominated in foreign corrections that are measured at fair value are translated at the exchange rate on the date the fair value is determined. Exchange differences on non-monetary items such as equity investments classified as fair value through other comprehensive meaning (FVOCI) financial assets are recognised in OCI and presented in the fair value reserve within equity.

## 2.3.2 Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustment ansing on the acquisition of a foreign operation, are translated to Singapore Dollar at exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to Singapore Dollar at average exchange rates for the year, which approximate the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Differences arising from the translation of a foreign operation are recognised in OCI and presented in the currency translation reserve within equity. When a foreign operation is disposed of, in part or in full, the relevant amount in the currency translation reserve is included in the income statement on disposed of the operation.

## 2.4 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on liand, balances, money market placements and reverse reportransactions with central banks which are generally short term financial extruments or rephysible on denomind.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

# 2. Summary of algorificant accounting policies (continued)

#### 2.5 Financial instruments.

#### 2.5.1 Recognition

The Group initially recognises derivative financial instruments (forwards, futures, swaps and options) on the trade date. It initially recognises non-derivative financial instruments (loans and advances, deposits and debts issued, and regular way purchases and sales of financial assets) on the sordeneen date. Regular-way purchases and sales are those with defivery of assets within the time period established by regulation of market convention.

#### 2.5.2 De-recognition

Financial assets are de-recognised when the Group's contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire or when the Group transfers the financial asset to another party without recaining control or transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of pwnership of the asset. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the Group's obligations specified in the contract expire or are discharged or cancelled.

## 2.5.3 Modification

The original terms of a financial asset may be renegotiated or otherwise modified, resulting in changes to the contractual cash flows of the financial asset. Financial assets that are renegotiated or otherwise modified will be accounted based on the nature and extent of changes that is expected to asset as a result of the modification or renegotiation.

## Integest rate benchmark reform (\*1608, reform") (policy spoiled from 1 January 2021)

If the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of a financial asset or financial liability measured at amountised cost changes as a result of interest rate benchmark reform, the Group updates the effective interest rate of the financial asset or financial liability to reflect the change that is required by the reform. A change in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows is required by interest rate benchmark reform if the following conductine are met:

- the change is necessary as a direct consequence of the reform; and
- the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent to the previous basis – i.e. the basis manufacturely before the change.

If changes are made to a financial asset or financial liability in addition to changes to the basis for determining the contractual cash flows required by interest rate benchmark reform, the Group first updates the effective interest rate of the financial asset or financial liability to reflect the change that is required by interest rate benchmark reform. After that, the Group applies the policies on accounting for modifications set out above to the additional changes.

### 2.5.4 Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the amounts and an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and actile the liability simultaneously. Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted by the accounting standards.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For the fanancial year ended 31 Descenber 2021.

#### Summary of significant accounting policies (continued).

#### 2.5 Financial Instruments (continued)

#### 2.5.5 Nale and repurchase agreements (including securities lending and horrowing)

Repurchase agreements (repos) are regarded as collateralesed bearrowing. The securities sold under repos are treated as pledged assets and remain as assets on the balance sheets. The amount becomes a recorded as a liability. Reverse repos are treated as collateralised lending and the appoint of securities purchased is reclaided in placements with control banks, locals to banks and non-bank customers. The difference between the amount received and the amount paid mader repos and reverse repos is amestised as interest expense and interest income respectively.

Securities lending and borrowing transactions are generally secured, with collegeral taking the form of securities to cash. The transfer of securities to or from counterparties is not reflected on the balance sheet. Cash collareral advanced or received is accorded as as asset or a liability respectively.

#### 2.6 Non-derivative financial assets

#### Classification and measurement of financial assets

A non-derivative financial asset is initially recognised at fair value and is subsequently measured either at amonised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCt) or fair value through profit or lass (FVIPL). Directly attributable transaction costs are included as pair of the initial cost for fluorial assuminguis, that are not subsequently measured at lair value through profit or lass.

## (a) Business model assessment

The Group makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an used is held at a perifolio level because thus best reflects the way the business is managed, and information is provided to management. The information considered includes

- the stated policies and regretives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. In particular, whether management's strategy facuses on emiting continuous interest income, maintaining a panicular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets or registing cash flows through the sale of the assets:
- how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Gincip's management,
- the risks that affect the performance of the husiness model (and the financial assets held within that business arodel) and its strategy of how these risks are immaged.
- Now managers of the business are compensated (e.g. whether compensation is based on the tair value of the assets managed at the contraction) cash flows collegred); and
- the frequency, volunte and timing of sales or prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectations
  about feature sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not considered in judgition, but as
  part of an overall assessment of how the Group's stated objective for managing the farancial assets or
  achieved and how each flows are realised.

Financial assets that are held for trading and whose performance is evaluated or managed as a fair value basis are measured at FV FPI, because they are neither within the business model to hold the assets to collect community cash flows, not within the business model to hold the assets both to collect contractual easi flows and to self.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

## Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

#### 2.6 Non-derivative furancial assets (continued):

#### (b) Assessment of whether controctual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest

For the purposes of this assessment, 'principal' is defined as the fair value of the financial asses on infial ecognition, 'Interest' is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. lequidity risk and administrative costs), as we'll as a profit grazger.

## 2.6.1 Debt instruments measured at amortised cost

A debt financial instrument is measured at autortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated at FVTPL:

- it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold the asset until maturity to collect
  contractual cash flows; and
- its contraction terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding.

Debt instruments classified as amortised cost are subject to the expected credit loss requirements in accordance with SFRS(I) 9. Interest carried whilst holding the financial assets is included in interest income.

#### 2.6.2 Debt Instruments measured at FVOC1

A debt futancial instrument is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated in FVTPL:

- it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual
  cash flows and selling the financial asset; and
- its contraction terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding.

Debt instruments classified as FVQC1 are subject to the expected credit loss requirements in accordance with SFRS(t) 9. Interest carned whilst holding the financial assets is included in interest income.

At the reporting date, the Group recognises unrealised fair value gains and losses on revaluing these assets in OCI and presents the cumulative gains and losses, in fair value reserve within omity, except for the recognism of indystimient gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses, which are recognised in the income statement. At minimity or upon disposal, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from fair value reserve to the income statement.

## 2.6.3 Debt instruments measured at FVTPL

Debt instruments that do not most the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI are measured at FVIPI. At the reposting date, the Group recognises realised and unrealised gains and basics as trading anciene in the income statement. Interest earned while holding the assets are included in interest income.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

## 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

#### 2.6 Non-derivative fluancial assets (continued)

Classification and measurement of financial assets (waternot)

## (b) Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest (continued)

## 2.6.4 Designation at FVTPL

On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset at EVTPI notwithstanding that it would otherwise meet the requirements to be measured at amounted cost or at EVOCE, if during split eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise area. Upon designation, linancial assets are measured at lair value on each reporting date until moturity or derecognition. Realised and outcalised for value changes are recognised in the income statement.

#### 2.6.5 Equity instruments

Figury instruments held for trading are classified as FVIPL. Equity instruments that are not held for trading may be classified as FVOCI based on an irrevocable election on initial recognition on an investment-by-myestment basis.

At the reporting date, realised and unrealised fair value gains of lissess on revaluing the equity instruments classified as EVTPL are recognised in the income statement. Realised and unrealised fair value gains or losses on revaluing the equity instruments classified as EVOCI are recognised in OCI and are never reclassified to the income statement.

Dividend carried whilst holding the equity instruments classified as FV PPL is recognised as dividend income in the accorde statement. Dividend from equity instruments classified as FVOCT is accognised as dividend income in the income statement unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.

#### 2.6.6 Reclassification

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period when the Group's larges its business model for attaining mg at financial assets.

## 2.7 Derivative financial instruments

All derivative financial instruments are recognised naticilly and subsequently incasticed at fair value on the balance sheet as an asset or hability depending on whether it is a receivable or a physble, respectively. The resulting gain or loss is recognised immediately at positive loss unless it qualifies for recognision in other comprehensive income under cash flow or not an extensit hodge accounting.

Fair values reflect the exit price of the instrument and include adjustments to take into account the credit risk of the Group and the commerpany where appropriate. An embedded derivative is not separated from the bost contract that is a financial bability or a non-financial derivatives.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

#### 2. Surmounty of significant accounting policies (continued)

#### 2.7 Derivative financial instruments (continued)

The Group enters into hedging derivative transactions to manage exposures to interest rate, foreign currency and crodit rasks arising from its core banking activities of lending and accepting deposits. The Group applies fair value, each flow or not investment hedge accounting when the transactions meet the specified criteria for hedge accounting.

Before applying any hedge accounting, the Group determines whether an economic relationship exists between the hedged item and the hedging instrument by considering qualitative characteristics or quantitative analysis of these hours. In its qualitative assessment, the Group considers whether the critical terms of its hedged item and the hedging instrument are closely aligned and evaluates whether the fair values of the bedged item and the hedging instrument respond in an effecting manner to samilar risks. Where economic hedge relationships meet the hedge accounting criteria, the Group establishes its hedge ratio by aligning the principal amount of the hedging instrument to the extent of its hedged item.

In a fair value hedging relationship, the Group mainty uses interest rate awaps and cross currency swaps to hodge us exposure to changes in the fair value of fixed rate instruments and us foreign currency risk exposure. For qualifying fair value hedges, changes in the fair values of the derivative and of the hedged item relating to the hedged risk are recognised in the income statement. If the hedge relationship is terminated, the fair value adjustment to the hedged item committees to be reported as part of the entrying amount of the asset or liability and is amnetised to the income statement as a yield adjustment over the remaining maturity of the asset or liability.

In a cash flow hedging relationship, the Group mainty uses interest rate swaps to hedge the variability in the cash flows of variable rate asset or liability resulting from changes in interest rates. For qualifying each flow hedges, the effective portion of the change in fair value of the derivative is recognised in the cash flow hedge reserve in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the morne statement. Annuals accumulated in the each flow bedge reserve remain in equity until the bedged each flows is recognised in the income statement. When the hedged each flows are no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain we kiss in the hedge reserve is immediately transferred to the income statement.

"Hedge inelfectiveness" represents the amount by which the changes of the fair value of the hedging instrument differ from changes in the fair value of a beachinark hedging instrument that is a perfect match. The amount of ineffectiveness is recognised immediately in profit or loss. The sources of ineffectiveness for both fair value hedges and each flow loadges include imperfect economic relationship or mis-matching of key terms between the bedging instrument and the hedged item as well as the effect of credit risk existing in the hedging instrument.

The hedged risk in the Group's net investment hedges is the foreign currency exposure that arises from a net investment in subsidiaries and foreign operations that have a different functional currency from that of the Bank. The risk arises from the fluctuation in spot excitange rates between the functional currency of the subsidiaries and the Bank's functional currency. The Group uses a mixture of derivative financial instruments and liabilities to manage its foreign currency exposure in its net investment hedges. For hedges of net investments in foreign operations which are accounted for in a similar way as each flow bedges, the girm or loss relating to the effective portion of the hedging instrument is recognised in equity and that relating to the mellective portion is recognised in the income statement unintediately. Game and losses accomplated in equity are transferred to income statement on disposal of the foreign operations. The main source of ineffectiveness for the Group's net investment hedge is the use of a hedging instrument denominated in a proxy currency that is not perfectly correlated to the actual currency to which the Group is exposed.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

#### Summary of significant accounting policies (continued).

#### Derivative financial instruments (continued).

## Specific policies for hodges affected by the IBOR reform

For the purpose of evaluating whether there is an concernic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument, the Group assumes that the benchmark interest rate is not aftered as a result of the interest rate benchmark reform. The Group will cease to apply the specific policy for assessing the economic relationship between the hedged clem and the hedging instrument when the uncertainty arising from interest rate benchmark reform is no longer present with respect to the timing and the amount of the interest rate benchmark-based cash flows of the hedged item or hedging instrument, or when the hedging relationship is discontinued.

From 1 January 2021, when the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of the hedged item or hedging instrument changes as a result of IBOR reform, the Group amends the hedge documentation of that hedging relationship to reflect the change(s) required by IBOR reform (as defined in Note 2.5.3). For this purpose, the hedge designation is amended only to make one or more of the following changes:

- designating an alternative benchmark rate as the hedged risk;
- updating the description of the hedged item, including the description of the designated pertion of the cash.
   Hows or this value being hedged;
- updating the description of the hedging instrument; or
- updating the description of how the entity will assess hedge effectiveness.

The Group amends the formal hedge documentation by the end of the reporting period during which a change required by IBOR reform is made to the bedged risk, hedged item or hedging instrument. These amendments in the formal hedge documentation do not constitute the discontinuation of the bedging relationship or the designation of a new hedging relationship.

If changes are made in addition to those changes required by IEOR reform described above, the Group first considers whether those additional changes result in the discontinuation of the hedge accounting relationship. If the additional changes do not result in the discontinuation of the hedge accounting relationship, then the Group amonds the formal hedge documentation for changes required by IEOR reform as identioned above.

## 2.8 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at oost less accumulated depreciation and impaument losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment metades the purchase price and costs directly analysisable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment is added to the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits, in excess of the standard of performance of the asset before the expenditure was made, will flow to the Group and the cost one be reliably measured. Other subsequent expenditure is recognised in the income statement during the financial year in which the expenditure is incurred.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

#### Summary of significant occounting policies (continued).

#### 2.8 Property, plant and equipment to onserved,

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods of property, plant and equipment are reviewed and adjusted as appropriate, at each reporting date, to ensure that they reflect the expected economic benefits derived from these assets.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Furnisher and fixtures 5 to 10 years
Office equipment 5 to 10 years
Computers 3 to 10 years

Renovation - 8 years or remaining lease term, whichever is shorter

Motor vehicles 5 years

Freehold land and leasehold land with leases of prote than 100 years to expiry are not depreciated. Buildings and other leasehold land are depreciated over 50 years to the period of the lease, whichever is sheeter.

An item of property, plant and equipment is de recognised upon desposal or when no future ecrement benefit is expected from its use. Assy gain or loss ansing on de-recognition of the asset is included in the income statement in the year the asset is rie-recognised.

## 2.9 Investment property

Investment property as property field either for relatal inscene or for capital appreciation to fee both. Investment properties, other their those help under the Group's life insurance fields, are stated at rost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Freehold land and less shold land with lesses of more than 100 years to expiry are not depreciated. Buildings and other lesses which are depreciated over 50 years or the period of the lesses, whichever is shorter.

Investment property held under the Group's life insurance find is stated at fair value at the reposing date and collectively form an asset class which is an integral part of the excell investment strategy for the asset-habitaty management of the life investment basedon based on objective valuations undertaken by independent valuers at the reporting date. Changes in the carrying amount resulting from revaluation are recognised in the income statement of the life incomos find

## 2.10 Goodwill and other intangible assets

## 2.10.1 Goodwill

Goodwall on adjustion of schedulines represents the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the adjunce and the adjusteen-date fair value of any previously held equity interest over the fair value of the identifiable on assets adjunced.

Goodwill is stated at cost less unparenent less. Impairment test is carried out annually, or when there is inducation that the goodwill may be empaired.

Goins or losses on disposal of subsidiaries and associates include the carrying ansault of goodwell relating to the entity sold.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

#### 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

#### 2.10 Goodwill and other intengible assets (continued)

## 2.10.2 Intangible assets

Intangible assets are separately identifiable intangible items aroung from acquaitions and are stated at cost less necumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Intangible assets with finite viseful lives are amortised over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives range from 6 to 20 years. The useful life of an intangible asset is reviewed at least at each farancial year end.

#### 2.11 Non-current assets bold for sale

Non-current assets that are expected to be recovered through sale rather than through continuing use are classified as held for sale. Immediately before classification as held for sale, the assets are measured in accordance with the Group's accounting policies. Thereafter, the assets are generally measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell.

#### 2.12 Impairment of assets

#### Financial assets

Impairment allowences for financial assets are assessed using a forward-looking expected credit loss (ECL) model in accordance with the requirements of SFRS(I) 9.

#### 2.12.1 Scope

Under SFRS(f) 9, the ECL model is applied to debt financial assets measured at amortised cost or FVOCI and most off-balance sheet loan commitments and financial guarantees.

## 2.12.2 Expected credit loss impairment model

Under SFRS(I) 9, credit loss allowances are measured on each reporting date according to a three-stage expected credit loss impairment model:

- Stage 1. On initial recognition and at a subsequent repeating date, where there is no significant increase in credit risk, the expected credit loss will be that resulting from default events that are possible over the ress 12 months.
- Stage 2 Where there is a significant increase in credit risk since the initial recognition, the
  expected credit loss will be that resulting from default events that are possible over the expected
  life of the asset.
- Stage 3 When a financial asset exhibits objective evidence of impairment and is considered to be produt-impaired, the credit loss allowance will be the full lifetime expected credit loss.

## 2.12.3 Measurement

ECLs are n probability-weighted commate of credit losses. They are measured based on the cash shortfalls as elaborated below:

- (a) Fanancial assets that are not credit-impaired (Stage 1 and Stage 2) at the reporting date. The present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract less the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).
- (b) Funancial assets that are credit-impaired (Stage 3) at the reporting date: The gross entrying amount iess the present value of eash flows that the Group expects to receive;
- (c) Undrawn loan commitments: The contraction cash flows that are due to the Group if the commitment is drawn down less the cash flows that the Group expects to receive; and
- (d) Furancial guarantee occuracts. The expected payments to reimburse the holder less any automost that the Group expects to recover.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

#### Summary of significant accounting policies (continued).

## 2.12 Impairment of assets (continued)

#### Financial assets (continued).

## 2.12.3 Measurement (continued)

The key inputs used in the measurement of ECL are:

- Probability of default (PD) This is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a time period such as one year or the exposure's expected life time.
- Loss given default (LGD) This is an estimate of the loss arising on default, it is based on the
  difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the Group would expect to
  receive, including from any collateral.
- Exposure at default (EAD) This is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking auto account expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest as well as expected drawdowns on compatited (activities.

For Stage 1 exposures, BCI, is calculated by multiplying the 12-month PD by LGD and HAD. For Stage 2 and Stage 3 exposures, ECI, is calculated by multiplying lifetime PD by LGD and EAD.

Loans to customers that are collectively assessed are grouped on the basis of shared credit risk characteristics such as local type, industry, geographical location of the borrower, collateral type and other relevant factors.

All key inputs (PD, LGD and EAD) used to estimate Stage 1 and Stage 2 credit loss allowances are modelled based on three inscreeconomic scenarios (or changes in macroeconomic variables) that are most closely operated with credit losses in the relevant portfolio.

The three macroscommic scenarios represent a most likely "Base" outcome, and two other less likely "Upside" and "Downside" scenarios. These scenarios are probability-weighted and underlying key macroscommic assumptions are based on independent external and in-house views. The assumptions are subject to regular management reviews to reflect current economic situations.

Each macroeconomic scenario used in the expected credit laws calculation includes a projection of all relevant macroeconomic variables used in the models for the lifetime period, revening to long-rail averages generally after 3 to 5 year periods. Depending on their usage in the models, macroeconomic variables are projected at a country or more granular level which differ by portfolio. The primary macroeconomic variables adopted are Gross Domestic Product, Unemployment rote, Property Prior Index and Interest rate.

The definition of default used in the measurement of expected credit losses is consistent with the definition of default used for credit risk management purposes. The default definition has been applied consistently to model the PD, LGD and HAD throughout Group's expected credit loss calculations.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default by assessing both quantitative and qualitative criteria such as days past due and the terms of financial covertants. A default occurs when the borrower or bend issuer is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held) or when the financial asset is increation 90 days past due.

A financial asset is considered to be no longer in default when there is an established gread of credit improvement, supported by an assessment of the borrower's repayment capability, cash thinks and financial position.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

Financial essets are written off against their related impairment allowances when all feasible recovery nations have been exhausted or when the recovery prospects are considered remote.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

## 2. Summary of significant accounting policies continuedy

#### 2.12 Impairment of usvets (continued)

Figureial assets (connaucd)

#### 2.12.4 Movement between stages

Movements between Stage 1 and Stage 2 are based on whether an instrument's credit risk as at the reporting date has ancreased aignificantly since its initial recognition.

The Group considers both qualitative and quantitative parameters in the assessment of whether this is a significant increase in credit risk. These violetile the following:

- (a) The Group has established thresholds for significant increases in credit risk based on both a relative and absolute change in lafetime PD relative to initial recognition.
- (b) The Group conducts qualitative assessment to ascertain of there has been significant sucrease in gradit risk.
- (c) The Group uses days past due as a further indication of significant increase in credit risk

Movements between Stage 2 and Stage 3 are based on whether financial assets are credit-impaired as at the reporting date. The determination of whether a financial asset is credit-impaired under SFRS(I) 9 will be based on objective evidence of impairment.

The assessments for a significant increase in credit risk since intitio) recognition and credit-ampairment are performed independently as at each reporting period. Assets can move in both directions through the stages of the impairment model. After a financial asset has imprated to Stage 2, if it is no longer considered that credit risk has significantly uncreased relative to initial recognition in a subsequent reporting period, it will move back to Stage 1. A modification of the tenns of a financial asset that does not result in derecognition will result in the financial asset being transferred out of Stage 3 if the indicators of it being identified as credit impaired in no longer met and that the evidence for its transfer out of Stage 3 solely relates to events such as up-to-date and timely payment occurring in the subsequent periods.

If a modifical financial asset results in derecognition, the new Standard asset will be recognised under Stage 1, unless it is assessed to be credit-impaired at the time of the accordination.

## 2.12.5 Regulatory requirement

Linder MAS 617 requirement, the Group is required to maintain a maximum regulatory loss allowance (MRLA) of 1% of the gross carrying amount of selected credit exposures, not of collateral. Where the accounting loss allowance of selected non-credit-imported exposures computed under SFRS(I) 9 is less than the MRLA, the Group shall maintain the difference in a rise distributable regulatory loss allowance reserve (RLAR) account through the appropriation of revenue reserves. Where the aggregated accounting loss allowance and RLAR exceeds the MRLA, the Group may transfer the excess amount in the RLAR to revenue reserves.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

## Summary of significant accounting policies (continued).

#### 2.12 Impairment of assets (continued)

#### (II) Other usuels

#### 7.17.6 Goodwill

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwal? is allocated to each of the Group's Cash Generating Units (CGU) expected to benefit from synorgies of the business combination. The Group's CGUs correspond with the business segments identified in the primary segment report.

Impairment loss on goodwall cannot be reversed in subsequent periods.

#### 2.12.7 Investments in subsidiaries and associates

Property, plant and equipment Investment property Intangible assets

Investments in subsediaries and associates, property, plant and equipment, investment property and intangible assets, are reviewed like impairment on the reporting date or whenever there is any undication that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. If such an indication exists, the earrying ansount of the asset is written down to its recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less cost to sell and the value in use).

The impairment loss is recognised in the income statement, and is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset is recoverable amount since the last impoirment loss was recognised. The entrying amount of no asset is increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided that this amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (act of amortisation or depreciation) if no impairment loss had been recognised for the asset in prior years

#### 2.13 Insurance receivables

besurance receivables are recognised when due. They are measured at initial recognition at the fair value received or receivable. Subsequent to initial recognition, meanance receivables are measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. A loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses, with the impairment loss recognised in the income statement, lossrance receivables are derecognised when the derecognistion criteria for financial assets has been met. The Group's unsurance receivables include outstanding premium, policy loan and reliasurance receivables. Policy loans are loans and advances made to policyholders, and appenditude by the underlying policies.

## 2.14 Financial liabilities

A non-derivative fanne infiliability is initially recognised at fair value less transaction costs and is subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method except where it is designated as FVTPL.

For financial liabilities designated at fair value, gains and lossest arising from changes in fair value are recognised in the net trading attende the in the income statement except for changes in fair value attributable to the Group's own credit risk where it is presented directly within other comprehensive ancome. Amounts recorded in OCI related to this credit risk are not subject to recycling in profit or loss, but are transferred to mappropriated profit when realised. Financial liabilities are held in fair value through profit or loss when:

- (a) they are acquired or incurred for the purpose of selling or reparchasing in the near term,
- (b) the fair value option designation eliminates or significantly reduces accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise; or
- (c) the financial hability contains an embedded derivative that would otherwise need to be separately recorded.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

## Summary of significant accounting policies (continued):

#### 2.15 Provisions and other liabilities

#### 2.15.1 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Where a provision is expected to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset only when it is virtually opting that reimbursement will be seceived.

Provision for insurance agents' retirement benefits, including deferred benefits, is calculated according to terms and conditions stipulated in the respective agent's agreement. The deferred/retirement benefit accumulated at the reporting date includes accuracy interest.

#### 2.15.2 Policy benefits

Policy benefits are recognised when a policyholder exercises the option to deposit the survival benefits with the life insurance subsidiaries when the benefit fells due. Policy benefits are interest bearing at rates adjusted from time to time by the life insurance subsidiaries, interest payable on policy benefits is recognised in the morne statements as increased.

#### 2.16 Insurance contracts

Insurance contracts are those contracts where the Group (the nearer), mainly the insurance subsidiaries of GER, has accepted significant insurance risk from the policyholders by agreeing to compensate the policyholders if a specified uncertain future event (the ensured event) adversely affects the policyholders. As a general guideline, the Group determines whether it has significant insurance risk, by comparing benefits paid with benefits payable if the assured event did not occur. Insurance contracts can also transfer tinancial risk.

Once a contract has been classified as an engarance congrect, it remains up insurance contract for the remainder of its blictime, even if the insurance risk reduces significantly during this period, unless all rights and obligations are extendulabled to expired.

For the purpose of SFRS(I) 4 Insurance Contracts, the Group adopts maximum policy benefits as the proxy for insurance risk and cash surrender value or discounted maturity value as the proxy for realisable value of the insurance contract. The Group defines insurance risk to be significant when the ratio of the maturance risk over the deposit component is not less than 105% of the deposit component at inception of the insurance contract. Based on this defaution, all policy contracts issued by insurance subsidiarsies within the Group are considered insurance contracts as at the reporting date.

Certain subsidiaries within the Group, primarily GEH and its subsidiaries (GEH Group), write insurance contracts in accordance with insurance regulations prevailing in their respective jurisdictions. Disclosures on the various insurance contract ballduties are classified into the principal components, as follows:

- (a) Life insurance construct limbilities, comprising
  - Participating Fund contract habilities;
  - Non-participating Fund contract habilities; and
  - Investment-linked Fund contract liabilities.
- (b) Non-life insurance contract habilities
- (c) Reinsurance contracts

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

#### 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

## 2.16 Insurance contracts (continued)

#### Life insurance contract liabilities

historatic contracts are recognised and measured in accordance with the terms and conditions of the respective contracts and are based on guidelines laid down by the respective insurance regulations. Premiums, clausis and benefit payments, acquiration and management expenses and valuation of future policy benefit payments or premium reserves as the case may be, are recognised in the income statements of the respective management substictiaries.

The valuation of magrance contract habilities is determined according to the Insurance Regulations:

- (a) Sungapore functioned Act 1966. Insurance (Valuation and Capital) Regulations 2004 for unsurance funds regulated in Singapore (MAS Regulations), and
- (b) Risk-Based Capital Framework for Insurers for insurance familia regulated in Malaysia.

Into insurance contract leabilities are recognised where contracts are entered into and premiums are charged. These liabilities are measured by using the gross premium valuation method. The liability is determined as the sum of the present value of future guaranteed and, where relevant, appropriate level of non-guaranteed benefits and expenses, less the present value of future gross considerations arising from the policy discounted at the appropriate discount rate. The liability is based on best estimate assumptions and with due regard to significant secent expension. An appropriate risk margin allowance for adverse deviation from expected expensione is made in the valuations of ron-paracipanting life policies, the guaranteed benefit liabilities of participancy life policies and liabilities of non-paracipants include policies.

The fishality in respect of participating insurance contracts is based on the higher of the guaranteed herefit liabilities of the total benefit habilities at the contract level derived as stated above.

In the case of life policies where part of, or all the promisms are accumulated in a food, the accumulated amounts, as declared to policyholders are shown as liabilities if the accumulated amounts are higher than the ninesings as calculated using the gross promism valuation method.

In the case of short-term lafe policies covering contangencies ofther than death or survival, the habitity for such life insurance contracts comprises the provision for anearmed premiums and oneapired risks, together with provision for claims putstanding, including an estimate of the incurred claims that have not yet been reported to the Group.

#### Rick transfer

The Group issues a variety of short and long duration insurance countries which transfer risks from the policyholders to the Group to protect policyholders from the consequences of insured events such as death, disability, alloess, accident, including survival. These contracts may transfer both insurance and investment risk or insurance risk alone, from the policyholders to the Group.

Use non-participating policy contracts other than medical insurance policy contracts, the payout to policyholders upon the occurrence of the insured event is pre-determined and the transfer of risk is absolute. For medical insurance policy coparacts, the payout is dependent on the actual medical costs insured upon the occurrence of the insured event.

Contracts which transfer misurance risk alone from policyholders to the Group are economity known as investment lanked policies. As pair of the pricing for these contracts, the insurance subsidiaries within the Group include certain charges and lices to cover for expenses and insured risk. The net investment returns derived from the variety of investment fairly as selected by the policyholders accure directly to the policyholders.

The Group issues investment linked contracts as an usualise contract which usure human life events such as death or survival over a long deranou; coupled wall in embedded derivative linking death benefit payments on the contract to the value of a pool of investments within the investment linked fund set up by the insurance subsidiary. As an embedded derivative meets the definition of an inturance contract it need not be separately accounted for from the best insurance contract. The liability valuation for such contracts is adjusted for changes in the fair value of the underlying assets at frequencies in accordance with the terms and conditions of the insurance contracts.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2027

# 1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

# 2.16 Insurance contracts (costinued)

Life insurance contract liabilities (continued)

The table below provides the key underlying assumptions used for variation of life insurance contract liabilities.

	Shigapore	Malaysia
Valuation method <sup>(1)</sup>	nicihad i.i	Gross pretinunt valuation
	produces the higher reserves of:  (i) Guaranteed and non-guaranteed cash flows discounted at the appropriate rate of rotten reflecting the strategic asset allocation.	For Participating Fund, the method that produces the higher reserves of.  (i) Guaranteed and non-guaranteed each flows discounted at the apprepriate rate of return reflecting the strategic asset allocation, s.c. Total Benefit Reserves; and
	<ul> <li>(ii) Guaranteed cash flows discounted using the interest rate outlined below; and</li> </ul>	(n) Guaranteed eash flows discounted using Malnysia Government Securities zero coupon spot yields (as outlined below)
	(iii) Total assets less all liabilities except insurance contract liabilities of the Participant fund.	For Asset Share Participating Products, the Total Benefit Reserves will be further odjusted in adjectable to the value of Policy Asset.
rate <sup>+1</sup> (J)	For policies denominated in SGF#USD  (i) Singapore Government Securities US  Treasury yields for cash flows up to 20 years and 30 years respectively;  (ii) Ultimate forward rate of 3.8%	Molaysia Government Securities yields determined based on the following:  (i) For each flows with duration less than 15 years, Malaysia Government Securities zero compon spot yields of matching duration.
	applicable for eash flows heysind 60 years;	(ii) For cash flows with duration 15 years of more. Maleysia. Government Securities
	(iii) Extrapolated yields in between, and	zero coopon spot yields of E5 years to materity
	(av) Adjustments for matching adjustment and afiquidity premium according to MAS Notice (33), if any.	,
Mortality, Disability, Dread disease, Expenses, Lapse and	Participating Lund: - Best estimates for Gross Promium Valuation method (i) Best estimates plus provision for adverse deviation (PAD) for Gross Premium - Valuation method (ii)	Participating Fund: Hest estimates for Gross Premium Valuation method (i): Hest estimates plus provisem for risk of adverse Geveation (PRAD) for Gross Premium Valuation questod (ii)
surrenders (d	Non-Participating and Non-Unit reserves of fiverstands linked Fund. Here estimates plus provision for adverse deviation (PAD).	Non-Participating and Non-Unit reserves of Investment-Initied Fund.  Best estimates plus provision for risk of adverse deviation (PRAD).

 $<sup>^{1.1}</sup>$  . Refer to Note 3.25 on Calibrat personning computes extillugations  $_{\rm 3}$ 

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

#### Summary of significant accounting policies (continued):

## 2.16 Insurance contracts (commund)

#### Life insurance contract liabilities (continued)

#### Subsequent measurement of life insurance contract liabilities.

Adjustments to liabilities at each reporting date are recorded in the income statements. Profits originating from the release in margins for adverse deviations are recognised in the income statements over the leves of the comments, whereas lesses are fully recognised in the income statements during the first year.

## Derecognition of life insurance contract liabilities

The last firty is extinguished when the contract expires, is discharged or is cancelled.

#### Benefits and claims

Insurance contract benefits reflect the cost of all maturities, surrenders, withdrawals and clamis arising during the period, as well as policyholder develorats accrued in anticipation of dividend declarations. Accident and health claims incurred exclude all losses occurring during the period, whether reported or not, related handling costs, a reduction for recoveries, and any adjustments to claims outstanding from previous years.

Claims handling costs include internal and external costs incurred in connection with the negonation and sculement of claims, and are included in operating expenses.

#### Insurance contracts and investment contracts with Discretionary Porticipating Veatures (DPF)

A significant pection of insurance contracts assued by subsediaries within the Group contain discretionary participating features. These contracts are classified as participating policies. In addition to guaranteed benefits payable upon insured events associated with human life such as death or disability, the contracts emitte the policyholder to receive benefits, which could vary according to investment performance of the famil. The Group does not recognise the guaranteed components separately from the discretionary participating features.

Profits to shareholders from the participating fund are allocated from the surplus or surplus capital, determined from the results of the annual actuarial viduation parameters which are set out in the insurance regulations of the respective purisdection in which the insurance subsidiaries operate. The results of the assural actuarial viduation also determine the liabilities relating to all the policyholders' benefits of the participating fund. The provisions in the Articles of Association of the Group's insurance subsidiaries are applied in conjunction with the prescriptions in the respective insurance regulations, such that the distribution for any year to policyholders of the participating fund and shareholders approximate 90% and 10% respectively of total distribution from the participating fund. Any surplus that is not allocated is recognised as smallocated surplus. The anallocated surplus forms part of the life insurance contract habilities. The annual declaration of the quantum of policyholder bonus and correspondingly the prefits to shareholders to be distributed out of the participating fund is approved by the board of directors of each insurance subsidiary under the advice of the Appointed Acquary of the respective subsidiary, in accordance with the meanaged regulations and the Articles of Association of the respective subsidiaries.

## Liabibly adequacy test

Each insurance subsidiary within the Group is required by the respective assurance regulations and accounting standards to carry out a liability adequacy test using entrent estimates of finance each flows relating to its insurance occuracis: the process is referred to as the gross pecunian valuation or bonus reserve valuation, depending on the jurisdiction in which the insurance subsidiary operates.

The hability adequacy test is applied to both the guaranteed benefits and the discretionary participating features, the assumptions are based on best estimates, the basis adopted is prescribed by the utsurantee regulations of the respective jurisdiction in which the ansumnee subsidinry operates. The Group performs liability adequacy tests on its achianial reserves to ensure that the corrying amount of provisions is sufficient to cover estimated future cash flows. When performing the bahility indequacy test, the Group discourse all confraction cash flows and compares this answart against the carrying amount of the liability. Any deficiency is charged to the income statement

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

## 2. Suramary of significant accounting policies (communed)

#### 2.16 Insurance contracts (command)

#### Non-life insurance communitiabilities

The Group enters to the protection needs of individuals and business owners through a wide range of general insurance products including but not barited to fire, motive marine and aviation, workmen's compensation, personal accident, health, and other property and casualty lines.

Non-life excurence contract liabilities include claum habilities and premium habilities.

#### Claim liabilities

Claim habilities are based on the estimated ultimate cost of all claims arounced but act settled at the reporting date, whether reported or not, rogether with celoued claims handling costs and reduction for the expected value of salvage, and other recoveries. Delays can be experienced in the notification and settlement of certain types of claims, therefore, the influence cost of these claims cannot be known with cenantry in the reporting date. The habilities are calculated at the reporting date using a range of standard activarial claim projection techniques based on empirical data and current assumptions that may include a provision for adverse deviation. The liabilities are decreognised when the contracts expire, are discharged or are cancelled.

The valuation of near-life tristinance claim liabilities of the reporting dote is based on host estimates eitherned cost of claims plus a provision for adverse deviation. The provision for adverse deviation is set at 75% level of sufficiency for Seigapere. Malaysia and Indonesia. The valuation methods used include the Paul and Indonesia Coss Development methods (also known as the Lank Ratio methods), the Paul and Industria Bombunter-Forguson methods and the Expected Lass Ratio method. For Singapore and Malaysia, the claim habilities are not discounted for the tame value of money. However, for Indonesia, the claim liabilities are discounted for the time value of money as per pre-acquisition practice. No provision for equalisation of calastrophe reserves as recognised.

#### Prembun liabilities

Premium habilities are the provision of uncamed premiums representing paramanis received for risks that have not you explined at the regording date. The provision is recognised when contracts are entered into and premiums are charged. The provision as released over the exercised period of the contracts and is secognised as premium intended.

In determining the uncarned premium reserve at the reporting date, the method that most accurately reflects the accounteness premium is used. For Singapore, the 1/24<sup>th</sup> method for all classes of husiness is used, and for Malaysia and Indonesia, the 25% method is used for matrine and aviation cauge, and transit business, and the 1/265° method is used for all other classes of husiness.

Further provisions are made if expected future each flows of unexpired insurance contracts wall a provision for adverse deviation exceed the uncorrect premiums of these contracts.

#### Reinsurance contracts

The Group codes unsurance risk at the normal course of business for all of its businesses. Reinsurance assets represent apparats receivable in respect of coded insurance leabilities. These amounts are estimated in a manner consistent with the remained insurance contract habilities, the outstanding claims provision or settled claims associated with the reinsurer's policies and are in accordance with the related reinsurance contract. Remaining assets arising from coding of an anti-force book and gross openous contracts are recognised in the same period when the gross habilities are accorded.

Reassurance assets are reviewed for impatement at each reporting date or more frequently when an addication of supportment arises during the financial year. Impartment occurs when there is objective evidence as a result of an event that occurred after airtial recognition of the reinsurance asset that the Group may 150t receive part or all outstanding amounts under the reens of the contract. The impairment loss is recorded in the income statements. Gains or losses on reinsurance are recognised in the income statements immediately at the date of contract and are not anothered. Coded reinsurance arrangements do not relieve the Group from as obligations to policyholders.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

#### 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (combined)

#### 2.16 Insurance contracts (continued)

#### Reinsurance contracts (continued)

The Group also assumes reinsurance risk in the normal course of business for life insurance and men-file insurance contracts where applicable. Premiums and claims on assumed reinsurance are reorganised as revenue or expenses in the same manner as they would be if the reinsurance were considered direct business, taking into account the product classification of the reinsurand business. Reinsurance tabilities represent balances due to reinsurance companies. Automats payable are estimated in a manufact consistent with the related reinsurance contract. Premiums and claims are presented on a gross basis for both coded and assumed reinsurance. Reinsurance assess or liabilities are derecognised when the contractual rights are entanguished or cupiré or when the contract is transferred to another party.

#### 2.17 Share capital and dividend

Ordinary shares, non-contulative non-convertible preference shares and perpential capital securities are classified as equally on the balance sheet.

Incremental costs directly noributable to the issue of new capital securines are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.

Where share capital recognised as equity is repurchased (treasury shares), the amount of the consideration paid, including directly attributable costs, as presented as a deduction from equity. Freasury Shares which are subsequently reissued, sold or cancelled, are recognised as changes in equity

interno dividends on ordinary shares and dividends on preference shares are recorded in the year in which they are doclared payable by the Board of Directors. Final dividends are recorded in the year when the dividends are approved by sharebolders at the annual general meeting.

## 2.18 Leuses

## 2.18.1 As lessee

At the indeption of a contract, the Group assesses if the contract contains a lease. A contract contours a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Reassessment is only sequired when the terms and conditions of the contract are changed.

## Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises a right-of-use (ROU) asset and lease hability at the date which the underlying asset is available for use. ROU assets are assessived at cost which comprises the unital measurement of lease liabilities adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date and lease incentive received. Any initial direct costs that would not have been incorred if the lease had not been obtained are added to the carrying amount of the ROU assets.

These ROU assets are subsequently depreciated using the smalght-line method from the excumencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the ROU asset or the end of the lease terms.

ROU assets are presented within "Property, plant and equipment".

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For the thannaal year caded 31 December 2021.

## 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (compract):

## 2.18 Leaves (contoured)

## 2.18.1 As lesses (continued)

#### Lease liabilities

The initial recasurement of lease hability is measured at the present value of the lease payments descounted using the applicit rate in the lease, if the note can be readily determined, **M** that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group shall use its incremental borrowing rate.

I ease liability is subsequently repassined at amortised cost using the effective interest method. I ease liability shall be remeasured when there is modification in the scope or the consideration of the lease that was not pair, of the original term.

Short-term leaves and low-value assets

The Group has elected to not recognise ROU assers and leave leabilities for shem-term leaves that have leave terms of 12 months or less and leaves of low-value leaves, except for subleave arrangements. Leave payments relating to these leaves are expensed to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the leave term.

#### 2.18.2 As lessur

Remail instance on commendations of the buildings owned by the Group is reaggisted in the months statement on a strugglist line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income, seen the term of the lease.

## 2.19 Recognition of income and expense

## 2.19.1 Interest income and expense

Interest income on expense is recognised using the effective interest method

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly descounts estimated figure cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial assertion among the expected life of the financial assertion among edicate of the financial liability.

In calculating the interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the grass carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit impaired) or to the amortised cost of the hability. However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to unitial recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income revers to the gross basis.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

#### 2. Supposery of algorificant accounting policies (continued)

### 2.19 Recognition of income and expense (continued)

#### 2.19.2 Preminers and commissions from insurance business

#### Lufe insurance business

First year premiums of insurance policies are recognised from inception date and subsequent renewal premiums are recognised when due. Single premiums are recognised on the dates on which the policies are effective. Premiums from the investment-linked business, universal life and certain Takaful non-participaling products are recognised as revenue when phyment is received. Commission is recognised as an expense when incurred.

#### Non-life insurance business

Premiums from the non-life insurance business are recognized as revenue upon commencement of ansurance cover. Premiums pertaining to periods after the reporting date are adjusted through the movement in premium liabilities. Commission is recognised as an expense when incurred, typically upon the risk underwritten as reflected in the premium recognised.

Premiums could out and the corresponding commission means from non-life insurance contracts are recognised in the income statement upon receipt of acceptance confirmation from the coding company or in accordance with provisions incorporated in the treaty contracts. Premiums coded not pertaining to periods after the reporting date are adjusted through the movement in unexpired risk reserve.

#### 2.19.3 Fees and commissions

The Group earns fees and commissions from a range of services rendered to its customers. Fees and commissions are recognised when the Group has satisfied its performance obligations in providing the services to the customer. Transaction based fees and commissions are generally recognised upon the completion of a transaction. For services provided over a period of tane or credit risk undertaken, fees and commissions are smortised over the relevant period.

Expenses are offset against gross fees and commissions in the meome statement only when they are directly related.

### 2.19.4 Dividends

Dividends from equity securities, subsidinties and associates are recognised when the right to receive payment as established.

### 2.19.5 Employee benefits

The Group's compensation package for staff consists of base sularies, allowances, defined contribution plane such as the Central Provident Fund, defined benefit plane, commissions, each bornese, and share-based compensation plans. These are recognised in the income statement when incurred. Employee leave entitlements are estimated according to the terms of employment contract and accrued on the reporting date.

For defined benefit plans, the liability recognised in the balance sheet is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date less the fair value of plan assess, adjusted for enrecognised actuarial gains or leases and past service costs. Remeasurements of defined benefit plans are recognised in OCI in the period in which they arise.

Share-based compensation plans include the Bank's Share Option Schemes, the Employee Share Purchase Plan (PSP Plan) and the Deferred Share Plan (DSP). Equity instruments granted are recognised as expense in the income statement hased on the fair value of the equity instrument at the date of the grant. The expense is recognised over the vesting period of the grant, with corresponding entries to equity.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

#### Summary of significant accounting policies Continued.

### 2.19 Recognition of income and expense (company)

### 2.19.5 Employee benefits grantemed)

At each reporting date, the Group revises its estimates of the number of equity instruments expected to be vested, and the impact of the change to the original estimates, if any, is recognised in the inconsestatement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity over the remaining vesting period.

The Group accross for interest on the monthly contributions made by employees to the savings based ESP Plan. For the OSP, a trust is set up to administer the shares. The DSP frust is consuladated in the Group's faractal statements

Proceeds received upon the exercise of options and acquisition rights, not of any directly attributable transaction costs, are credited to share capital.

# 2.20 Income (as expense

Income tax expense is accognised in the income statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity in which case it is recognised in equity or in other comprehensive income:

Current tax is the expected his payable on the invable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively charted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and the amounts used for tax conquestion. Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences the initial recognition of geodwill, the initial recognition of assets or habilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that does not affect accounting or taxable profit, and differences relating to advestments an subsidiaries, associates and point sentines to the extent that they probably will not reverse to the foreseeable linture. Deferred tax is measured at the tax into what are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted to substantively quacted by the reporting date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available for utilisation against the temporary shifterences. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Charactegristical deformed tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used.

In determining the amount of current and deferred text, the Group takes arts account the impact of uncertain text positions and whether hidding-all caxes and interest may be due. The Group believes that its happings for text habilities are adequate for all open text years based on its assessment of many factors, including interpretations of text low and prices experience. This assessment relies on estimates and associations and may involve a series of judgements about fature events. New information may become available final causes the Group to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing text habilities, such changes to text habilities will impact text expense in the period that such a determination is imade.

## 2.21 Fiduciary activities

The Group acts as trustees and in other fiduciary capacities that result in the holding or placing of assets on behalf of individuals, tousts, retirement benefit plans and other institutions. The assets and monne from these assets do use belong to the Group, and are therefore excluded from these financial statements.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

### 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (communal)

#### 2.22 Harmings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted carnings per share data for als ordinary shares. Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit or bass attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Bank by the weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, adjusted for own shares held. Diluted cantings per share is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary chareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for own shares held, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary chares, which comprise share options granted to employees

### 2.23 Segment reporting

The Group's business segments represent the key customer and product grothys, as follows. Global Consumer/Provate Banking, Global Wholesale Banking, Global Trensury and Markets and Insurance. All operating segments' results are reviewed regularly by the senser management to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess us performance, and for which discrete financial information is available. In determining the segment results, balance sheet items are internally transfer priced and revenues and expenses are attributed to each segment based on internal management reporting policies. Transactions between business segments are recorded within the segment as if they are third party transactions and are eliminated on cansolidation.

A geographical segment engages in providing products and services within a particular economic covariances that is subject to different risks from those of other economic covironments. Geographical segment information is prepared based on the country in which the transactions are booked and presented after elimination of intra-group transactions and balances.

#### 2.24 Government grants

Government grants related to assets the unitially recognised by deducting the grant in arriving at the carrying amount of the asset is there is reasonable assurance that they will be received and the Cironp will comply with the conditions associated with the grant. The grant is recognised in profit or less over the life of a depreciable asset through reduced depreciation exputes.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognised in profit or less by deducing the grant from the related expense.

Grants that are not related to assets or expenses incurred are recognised in profit or loss as other account.

## 2.25 Critical accounting estimates and Judgements

Certain estimates are made in the preparation of the financial statements. These often require management judgement in determining the appropriate methodology for valuation of assets and habilities. A limit description of the Group's critical accounting estimates is set out below.

### 2.25.1 Impairment of financial assets

In determining whether the credit risk of the Group's financial exposures has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group considers quantitative and qualitative information such as the Group's historical credit assessment experience and available forward-looking information. Expected credit losses (1901.) estimates are based on probability-weighted forward-looking economic scenarios. The parameters used in ECI, measurement (probability of default, loss given default and exposure at default) incorporates forward-looking information. The determination of the forward-looking economic seconds and incorporation of forward looking information into ECI, measurement requires management to exercise judgement based on its assessment of current macroeconomic conditions.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

### 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

### 2.25 Critical accounting estimates and Judgements (continued)

### 2.25.1 Empairment of financial assets (communot)

#### Allowances for pojugredji-impaired loaps in custojners

As of 3! December 2021, the forward-lissking sections used in the ECL model have been updated from those as of 31 December 2020. They reflect the latest available macroeconomic view which shows a gradual recovery. However, additional post-model adjustments have been made during the year to reflect the risks ansaing from certain segments of the portfolio that continue to be affected by the current COVID-19 situation as well as the continued macroeconomic uncertainty. These post-model adjustments were reviewed and approved in accredance with the Group's ECL framework.

A key element in determining FCC, is the assessment of whether a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) has occurred and hence whether a lifetime, rather than 12-month, ECL is required. In 2021, the Group contained to offer various loan reliefs, such as payment helidays and meratoriums, to customers as part of a broader set of COVID-19 support measures. Such than reliefs, payment holidays and moratoriums have the effect of delaying ensteader defaults even though ensteaders who took up such relief packages may be of higher task. Therefore, where appropriate, post model adjustments were made to reflect higher risk of delaying customers.

While the latest macroscoromic forecasts have shown signs of recovery for the overall economy, they cannot adequately reflect the continued weaknesses of certain adequately reflect the continued weaknesses of certain adequately and separents due to either travel restrictions or geopolatical events. Therefore, post-model adjustments were also made to more accumulty reflect the credit risk for such sections that are not captured by the macrosconomic forecasts.

As indicated in Note 2.12.3, Stages I and 2 ECT are modelled based on a central baseline forecast with its upper and lower bound to represent forecasting ranges. However, the central forecast with its upper lower range may not factor in significant emerging risks and improceedment events that are expected but uncertain in terms of unpact and trining. Such events have the patential to trigger a recession but are not adequately captured in existing forecasts. Therefore, the Group added as additional scenarious the computation of ECT. As such events are global in nature, these are modelled as a top down post model adjustment.

The Group's allowances for financial assets are disclosed in Note 50

### Allowances for credit-impaired leans to customers

In respect of credit-impored exposures, management judgement and estimation are applied in, amongst inhers, identifying impaired exposures, estimating the related recoverable each flows and where applicable, determining collared values and unting of realisation. Judgements and assumptions in respect of these matters have been updated to reflect the potential impact of COVID-19.

The Group's allowances for credit-impaired loans to austomers are disclosed in Note 28.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

### 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

### 2.25 Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continue))

#### 2.25.2 Fair value estimation

Fair value is derived from quoted market prices or valuation techniques which maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of enobservable inputs. The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded in an active profect (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) are determined by axing valuation techniques. Where unobservable that inputs have a opnificant empairing the value obtained from the valuation model, such a functional instrument is mutally recognised at the transaction prior, which is the best fails and of fair value. The difference between the transaction price and the model value, commonly referred to as "day one profit or loss" is not recognised numediately in the income statement.

The timing of accognition of deferred day one profit or loss is determined underdually. It is amounted over the life of the transaction, released when the instrument's fair value can be desermined using sparkey observable asputs, or when the transaction is deconguised.

#### 2.25.3 Liabilities of insurance business

The estimation of the ultimate liabilities arising from claims made under life and rain life insurance contracts is one of the Gretip's critical accounting estimates. There are several sources of encertainty that need to be considered in the estimation of the liabilities that the Group will ultimately be required to pay as claims.

For life insurance contracts, estimates are made for Entire dearlis, morbidity, disabilities, lapses, voltating terminations, investment returns, administration expenses and discount rates. The Group robes on standard industry and numerial morphity and grophidity tables which represent historical experience, and makes appropriate adjustments for its respective risk exposures and portfolio experience in deriving the morphity and attributes for its respective risk exposures and portfolio experience of the licture benefits to be good to policyladdiers, and as ensure adequate provisions which are merintored against cument and future premiums from those contracts that insure risk on longestity and disability, estimates are make based on recent past experience and emorphic resids Epidemia's and changing patterns of labelytic could result in significant changes to the expected future exposures. Each year, these estimates are assessed for adequate and changes will be reflected as adjustments to insurance contact liabilities.

For non-life insurance contracts, estimates have to be made for both the expected ultimate (our of claims reported at the reporting date and for the expected altimate cost of claims incurred but not yet reported in the reporting date (HNR)

From take a significant time before the iditionate claims costs can be established with centantly and for some type of padicies, IBNR claims form the majority of the maintaine subsidiaries' balance sheet liability. The ultimate cost of custanding claims is estimated using a range of standard actuarial claims projection techniques such as Chain Ladder and Bornshorner-Ferguson methods.

### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

#### Summary of significant accounting pulicles (continued):

#### 2.25 Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)

### 2.25.3 Linbibities of insurance business (companed)

The main assumption underlying these techniques is that a company's past development experience can be used to project future claims development and hence, ultimate claim costs. As such, these methods extrapolate the development of paid and interred losses, average costs per claim and claim numbers based on the observed development of enrier years and expected loss ratios. Historical claims development is mainly analyzed by accident years but can also be further analyzed by significant business times and claims type. Large claims are usually separately addressed, either by being reserved at the face of loss adjustor estimates or separately projected in order to reflect their future development. In anost cases, no explicit assumptions are made regarding future rates of claims inflation or loss ratios. Additional qualitative judgement is used to assess the extent to which past trends may not apply in future (for example, to reflect one off occurrences, changes in external or market factors, economic conditions as well as intental factors such as portfolio mix, pokey features and claims handling procedures) in order to arrive at the estimated ultimate cost of claims that present the likely outcome from the range of possible outcomes, taking account of all uncertainties involved.

#### 2.25.4 Impairment of goodwill and other intengible assets

The Group performs an annual review of the carrying amount of its goodwill and other imangible assets, against the recoverable amounts of the CGU to which the goodwill and other intangible assets have been allocated. Recoverable amounts of banking CGUs are determined based on the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the respective CGUs' continuing operations. The recoverable amount of instantions CGU is determined using the appraisal value method. Management exercises its judgement in estimating the future cash flows, growth rates and discount rates used in computing the recoverable amounts of the CGUs.

In light of current macrocconsume conditions, management reassessed the assumptions applied in estimating the future cash flows, including growth rates and discount rates used in computing the recoverable amount, and determined that no impairment should be recognised during the year.

# 2.28.5 Income laxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several purisdictions. Significant judgement is required in determining the capital allowances and deductibility of certain expenses in estimating the income tax liabilities. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination of uncertain during the ordinary course of husiness. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on estudates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these motions is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax balances in the period in which the determination is made.

### 2.25.6 [osurence contract classification

Contracts are classified as insurance contracts where significant insurance risk is transferred from the policyholder to the Group. The Group exercises judgement about the level of insurance risk transferred. The Sevel of insurance risk is assessed by considering whether upon the occurrence of the meatred event, the Group is required to pay significant additional benefits. These additional benefits include claims hability and assessment costs, but exclude the loss of the ability to charge the policyholder for future services. The assessment covers the whole of the expected term of the contract where such additional benefits could be payable. Some contracts contain options for the policyholder to purchase insurance risk protection at a later date; these insurance risks are deemed not significant.

### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For the financial war ended 31 December 2021

### 3. Net interest income

	GROUP		BAI	ANK	
	ZDZ I S million	znżo S million	žúži Smillion	2020 Surillion	
Interest income					
To units to costinue s	5,786	6,992	3.103	3.791	
Placements with and looms to banks	448	+ 39	.13 M	995	
Office industrial conductor taskets	1,191	1,312	498	584	
	7,425	9,743	3,919	5,070	
Interest expense					
Deposits of non-bank customers	(1,300)	(2.699)	(46K)	(1.269)	
Deposits and balances of banks	(80)	(92)	(66)	(225)	
Office bacowings	(202)	4186)	(174)	(730)	
	(1,570)	(2),77)	(708)	(1.821)	
Analysed by classification of financial instruments					
Income Assets at attachised case	5,963	7,471	3,249	4,235	
Income – Assets at FVOCI	1,173	1,310	455	566	
Income - Assets manifements measured at FVTPL	289	262	215	269	
Patterner - Light littles not at fair value through profit or loss.	(7.565)	(2.569)	(7413)	(1.514)	
Figures - Limbridge numberedly measured at FVTPL	(5)	(K)	(5)	(7)	
Net interest income	5,855	5 Yan	3,211	3,246	

Included in interest accome were interest of \$31 million (2020, \$42 million) and \$15 million (2020, \$30 million) on impaired assets for the Group and Bank respectively.

The Georgi's and Bank's interest expenses on fease habilities were not significant for the financial years ended 31. December 2021 and 31 December 2020.

### 4. Profit from life lusurance

Front from the historance	t.kt	H.P
	2021	2020
	S million	Smillion 8
Lucome		
Annual	8,209	7,3591
Single	111_4200	7.171
Quive рустичник	18.589	15,151
Reithsutiffice	(602)	(339)
Preniem (heame the)	17,987	14,392
Investment income (net) (1)	C.51V	6.298
Total instance	19,506	20,550
Expenses		
Gross clauds, sumenders and analytics	(18.715)	116,046
Claims, surrencers are annualles recovered from reinsurers	-1-13	59%
Net classes, surrectles are automates	(10.772)	(9.574)
Net change in hite in surance contract light littles	(4,196)	(4) (68)
Commission and agency expenses	(1.401)	(1.202)
Depresention - property obtait and equipment (Note 34)	471)	(70)
Other supervises	(1.845)	(284)
Total expenses	(18.285)	(20,203)
Surplus from operations	1,221	657
Standard results of associates		Ų
Income tax fexpense/ariofit	(84)	11
Profit from life insurance	1,137	AAR.

helides mercue from humanial instruments necessive at fair value time uph profit or loss of \$1.05 to 107/2020. \$5.66 Fillion:

Profit from life assurance is presented pet of tax in the income statement as the tax hability is borne by the despective life funds.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

## 5. Fees and commissions (act)

,	GROUP		BANK	
	2021	2020	2021	7020
	2 million	5 million	Ş शामीion	S ≠n∏Hori
Gress fee and commission lacome				
Brokerage	141	140	2	1
Credit card	287	274	246	230
Fund management	133	122	-	-
Guarantoes	14	14	7	6
Investment banking	106	87	89	75
Loan-return	179	165	136	106
Service charges	79	.84	60	58
Trade-related and remittances.	286	252	199	178
Wealth management (f)	1,310	1,130	406	294
Others	46	45	•	8
	2,581	2,313	1.131	956
Fee and commission expense	(336)	(310)	(162)	(141)
Fees and commissions (net)	2,245	2,003	969	

<sup>&</sup>quot; Includes trust and costnellen fore

### 6. Dividends

	GRO	GROUP		BANK	
	2021 \$ million	2020 \$ mālion	2021 \$ million	3020 \$ million	
Subsidiaries	_	_	\$61	1,321	
Associates	-		130	121	
FVTPi, securines	75	4.5	\$7	25	
FYOCE securities	38	14	1	1_	
	113	78	1,049	1,468	

### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

### 7. Net trading income

GRO	GROUP		BANK	
2021 \$ million	2030 Simulton	2021 \$ million	2020 \$ million	
.389	58.5	52	278	
(145)	133	(2.12)	163	
145	(111)	2.51	(282)	
[#)	د			
341	(41)	702	(20)	
45	318	8	46	
(12)	1	(12)	#	
7e.1	F48	249	305	
	2021 \$ million .)89 	2021 2020 \$ nullion \$ multion .089 55.5 	2021   2020   2021	

<sup>30</sup> Funding exchange finding gains and tooses from spot and forward contracts and transfers on foreign currency denominated assets and finist res.

### 8. Other income

	GROUP		BANK	
	202) Smillion	2020 Smillion	2021 SimiRiva	2020 Smillion
Disposal of investment securities	10	208	34	72
Disposal of a subsidiary	-	Ŷ	-	
Disposal of plant and eigenming	(I)	(3)	(1)	(4)
Dispersal of properties	EUH	45	29	×.
Rental and property related income	łú	W)	53	19
• Ahers	21	6	48	36.
	286	: i0	143	158

<sup>(2)</sup> Objects are vices' associated them the use of derivatives to hedge exposures to interest rate and long grievelying risks, which are inherenced the inderlying 'Hedged items'.

<sup>24 &</sup>quot;There's two and other demacrics" include pains and losses from interest rate democracy interests, equity opinities and other democracy instruments.

mediuments

The instance of manufacturering medium tooling gazes and Proper from Survival or financial instruments, which are gather designated at mutal recognition or characteristic measured at SVIPs.

### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

### 9. Staff costs and other operating expenses

	cosis and other operating expenses	GRO	OUP	BA	NK
		2021 Smillion	2020 S reilNoe	2021 Smillion	2020 3 million
1.1	Staff costs (f)				
-	Selectes and other costs	2,723	2,457	974	849
	Share-based expenses	72	75	26	26
	Contribution to defined contribution plans	223	199	\$3	79
		3,018	2,731	1,085	954
	Onectors' emailments:				
	Retriungration of Bank's dispetors	4	11	4	31
	Fees of Bank's directors (2)	•	6	4	4
		- tp			15
	Total staff costs	3,028	2,748	1,093	969
.ż	Other operating expenses				
	Property and equipment: (3)				
	Depreciation	412	419	190	184
	Maintenance and rental (4)	152	150	97	97
	Others (3)	304	293	178	143
		868	862	466	424
	Authors' remunerance:				
	Payable to auditor of the Busic	6	6	3	2
	Payable to sesponated famos of auditor of the Bank	4	1	*	*
	Payable to other auditors	ŕ	#	#	#
	•			3	2
	Other fees:				
	Payable to audator of the Bank (6)	2	2	*	1
	Payable to associated furns of auditor of the Bank	i	ī	- 1	i
			]		ž
	Hub processing charges	_		287	251
	General distingue claims	98	IDL	-	
	Others (1)	757	716	375	339
		855	817	663	590
	Total other operating expenses	1,736	1,698	1,131	1.018
Ţ	Staff costs and other operating expenses	4,764	4,439	2,224	1,987

<sup>(</sup>ii) Grants provided by governments to provide wage support to employers the to the COVID-19 pandemic are recognised as a contaction in such district.

### 10. Allowances for loans and other assets

	GRU	DDP	ВА	NK
	2021	2020	2021	2020
	5 million	S milition	\$ million	5 million
Atlowences:				
Impaired Ioans (Note 28)	852	1,149	354	677
Impeired other wasers	3	30		H
Nun-impaired loans	15	860	81	604
Non-tropaned other assets		4	4	I
Allowances, for leans and other assets	873	2,043	442	1,493

<sup>121</sup> Exchains rememenation shares amounting to \$1 million (2020-\$1 million) remed to discrete

Direct operating expenses on two-estiment property transportation and so the Compared the Rank amounted to \$18 million and \$6 million (2000, \$13 million and \$5 million) respectively. Direct operating expenses unintrectional property that dat not generate remail income for the Group and the Bank amounted to \$0 million and \$2 million (2020, \$1 million and \$4 million) respectively.

<sup>191</sup> Includes expenses relating to short-term leases of \$11 million and \$5 million for the Group and the Bank (2020, \$14 million and \$5 million) respectively, and how-make assets of \$6 million and \$1 million (2020, \$5 million and \$1 million) for the Group and the Page respectively.

<sup>191</sup> Property the scholar received from government are recognized as a reduction or property and equipment expense.

<sup>(5)</sup> Other feet payable to auditor of the Bank relate mainly to engagements or connection with the Bank's note issuances, taxation compliance and advisory services, miscellaneous intestanons and audit confidences.

<sup>19</sup> because in other expenses were printing, stationery, communication, advintrement and printings and printing data.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

# 11. Income tax expense

•	GROUP		BANK	
	2021 Smillion	2020 3 million	ZIIZ E Sentation	2020 Smillinn
Current law expense	883	687	386	250
Deterrial tax enalet (Noty 719)	(173). 710	<u>14</u> 6) . 641	. (106) 280	(37) 213
Over provision to prior years	(62)	(204)	(51)	(44)
Charge to income statements	648	437	229	169

The tax on operating profit dicties from the amount that would arise using the Singapore cooperate tax rate as follows:

	GROLF		BANK	
	2021 Smillion	2020 5 million	2021 Smillion	2020 Smillion
Operating profit ofter allowances and emertisation	4.856	3,553	2.955	2,515
Proma facinities calculated at the same of 17%. Effect of	<b>3</b> 26	604	502	428
Different tax rates in other countries	103	100	22	26
Four end and subsymption tox	(35)	(45)	(176)	(261)
Income taxed at concessionary rates	(94)	(25)	(20)	(13)
Surgapore Title insurance English	(89)	(21)	-	
Non-deductible expenses and losses	(19)	37	48)	14
Others	18	(9)	20	
	710	641	280	21.2
The deferred tax credit comprised:				
Accelained to department	7	•	Ŧ	2
Deperciable assets sequired in business combinations	(11)	(10)	(2)	(1)
Lac losses	1	(1)	-	(1)
Corpologic osses of Sportroplassets	(18)	(2)	47)	(H)
Allowances for assets	(146)	1141	(101)	(18)
Other temporary differences	165	26	(3)	(8)
	(173)	1461	(106)	(37)

# 12. Earnings per share

	GROUP	
	2021 Sentillon	2020 5 mBilon
Profit attributable to equity holders of the Bank	4,658	7,586
Perpetual capital securities distributions declared in respect of the period	(46)	1531
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Bank after other equity distributions	4,812	2,533
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (million)		
For basis, comings per share	4,489	4,420
Adjustment for assurant conversion of Share options and acquisition rights		
For Adulati carrings per share	4.494	4,421
Earnings per share (5)		
Rasic	1.07	0.981
Diletec	1.07	0.80

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

### 12. Earnings per share reontinued/

Basic carnings per share is calculated by dividing profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Bank net of preference dividends and perpenual capital securities distributions by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial year.

For the purpose of calculating the diluted earnings per ecdinary share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue is adjusted to take into account the diffusive effect arising from share options and acquisition rights, with the percential ordinary shores weighted for the perced outstanding

#### 13. Share capital.

### 13.1 Share capital

GROUP AND BANK	2921	2020
	Nhares (million)	Shares (million)
Ordinary shares		
At I January	4,476	4,409
Shares issued in lieu of ordinary dividends	32	67
Shares issued to non-executive directors	R	*
Detgered Share Plan	,	-
Share Option Schedu	Р	
ACM Percuber	4.515	4,476
Treasury shares		
At I January	(2)	(6)
Share bayback	(34)	O)
Share Option School	7	2
Share Purchase Plan	6	4
Freedomy shapes forms formal to 198P. Freed	_	- 11
ACM December	(23)	(2)
	2021	2020
	5 million	\$ rolfiles
GROUP AND BANK		
Issued share capital, at M. December	18,040	17,833

<sup>11</sup> Progressorie Bod Care 508,000 States

The bolders of ordinary shares (excluding treasury shares) are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to use and to one vote per share at meetings of the Bank. All shares (excluding treasury shares) sauk equality with regard to the Bank's residual assets.

The issued ordinary chares have no par value and qualify as Common Equity Tier I capital for the Group

All issued shares were fully paid.

Subsidiaries and associates of the Oroug did not hold shares in the capital of the Bank as at 31 December 2021, and 31 December 2020.

### 13.2 Share option scheme

Executives of the Group ranked Manager and above and non-executive directors of the Group are elegible to participate in the CCBC Share Option Scheme 2001 (2001 Scheme). The Bank has ceased granting share options under the 2001 Scheme effective from financial year 2018 renumeration. Share options granted in prior years continue to be outstanding until the options layer or are exercised by the recipients. Options granted to Group executives are exercisable for up to 10 years, while options granted to non-executive Directors are exercisable for up to five years.

For the financial years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, there was no options grapted under the 2001 Scheme

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

### 13. Sharp capital (command)

#### 13.2 Share option scheme (continued)

Movements in the number of shares under options and the average acquisition prices are as follows:

	2021	2021		
	Nomber		Number	
	of shares under		uf shares under	
	rzyfianis	Average	options:	Average
	(1000)	price	(*000)	price
At Libetizary	32,914	\$10.239	25,154	\$10,123
Exercised	(7,364)	59-367	(2,786)	\$8,800
ForfateMajecd	(439)	\$12,753	(454)	\$11.629
AI31 Deverber	25,111	\$10.450	12,914	\$10/249
Exercisable opinors at 31 December	25,111	\$10,450	30.789	510.025
Average state price underlying the options exercised		\$11.841		\$9,936

At 31 December 2021, the weighted average remaining contractual life of outstanding share options was 4.2 years (2020, 4.9 years). The aggregate number of shares under outstanding options held by an executive director of the Basic was nil (2020, 4.596,480).

### 13,3 Employee share purchase plan

The CCBC Employee Share Purchase Plan (ESP Plan) was implemented for all employees of the participating companies in the Group, including executive Directors.

The FSP Plan is a saving-based share ownership plan to help employees own ordinary shares in the Bank through their monthly contributions via deductions from payroll and/or from Central Provident Fund. The employees have the option to conven the contributions to only pay shares after one year or to withdraw the contributions at any time. As a further intentive to employees to carrol in the ESP Plan, the Bank pays interest on the amounts saved at a preferential interest rate. The duration of the offering period is 34 months.

In July 2021, the Bank launched as sexteenth offering of ESP Plan for Group employees, which commenced on I Seprember 2023 and will expire on 33 August 2023. Under the offering, the Bank granted rights to acquire 8,469,427 (2020–12,688,439) endmary shares in the Bank, including rights granted to an executive director of the Bank to acquire nil (2020–4,908) ordinary shares in the Bank. The fair value of rights, determined using the binomial valuation model, was \$10.8 million (2020; \$13.7 million). Significant inputs to the valuation model are set out below.

	2021	2020
Arquistice, princ (\$)	11.38	8.78
Snare price (S)	12-42	9.24
Paperted violatility based on last 250 Gays historical valuability as of acceptance date (%)	17.11	34.62
Risk-free rate based on 2-year swap rate (%)	П.35	0.31
Expected thy shoot yield (%)	4.00	5 IV

Movements in the number of acquisition rights of the USP Plan are as follows:

	ŽUZ I Number of	2021 Number of			
	acyulsition réghes 110001	Average price	asquisition rights 11000)	Average price	
At I January	£8,090	59.761	14,325	\$11,439	
Exercised and overversion upon expray	(6,467)	\$10,982	(11)	\$11,552	
Exercised	(2,242)	\$10.039	(8,912)	\$11,344	
Subscription	8,469	511.580	12,683	58,980	
At 31 December	£7,850	\$10,147	18.09)	59.76	
As engle klade price to the lying acquise kinging his exprejued convented		512.041		\$6.577	

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

### 13. Share capital (continued).

### 13.3 Employee share purchase plan (continued)

At 31 December 2021, the weighted average remaining contractual life of outstanding acquisition rights was 1.0 years (2020: 1.2 years). There was nil (2020: 7,188) rights held by an executive director of the Bank

### 13.4 Deferred share plan

The OCBC Deferred Share Plan (DSP) aims to increase the performance-orientation and retention factor in compensation packages of executives, and faster an ownership culture within the organisation. It also aligns the interests of executives with the sustained business performance of the Bank. Group executives holding the rank or equivalent rank of Assistant Manager and above, and any Group Executive Director selected by the Remaneration Committee, are eligible to participate in the DSP.

Half (50%) of the share awards will vest after two years with the remaining 50% vesting at the end of three years in accordance with the guidelines carabilished under the DSP. Prior to the vesting date, the executives will not be accorded voting rights for the shares.

The Bank adopted the OCBC Deferred Share Plan 2021 (DSP 2021) on 29 April 2021 to replace the OSP, which was terminated on the same day. The termination of the DSP does not affect the awards which have been granted, whether such awards have been released (whether fully or partially) or not. By implementing the DSP 2023, which permits new ordinary shares to be issued, the Bank has greater flexibility in its methods for delivery of ordinary shares, as this can be effected through an issue of new ordinary shares, in addition to the transfer of existing ordinary shares (including treasury shares)

During the year, 7.188,161 (2020: 5,595,172) deferred shares were released to employees under the DSP, of which nil (2020: 225,961) deferred shares were released to an executive director of the Bank who held office as at the and of the financial year. At 31 December 2021, an executive director of the Bank had deemed interest in nil (2020: 912,015) deferred shares

Potal awards of 7,763,260 (2020: 11,016,332) ordinary shares, which included nil (2020: 409,894) ordinary shares to an executive director of the Bank, were granted and accepted by eligible executives under the DSP 2021 for the financial year cuded 31 December 2021. The fair value of the shares at grant date was \$94.2 million (2020: \$95.1 million).

The accounting treatment of share-based compensation plan is set out in Note 2.19.5.

#### [4. Other equity instruments

		GROUP A	P AND BANK	
	Nete	202 t S million	1020 Suniliion	
SGD1,000 multion 4,0% non-connectance non-conventible perpecual capital securates (4,0% Capital Securities)	(4)	998	998	
5GD200 million 3 0% non-conscious non-economiste perpenual capital securates	(9)	300	700	
(2.0% Capital Securities)		1,198	1.198	

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 1021

### 14. Other equity instruments (manuscri)

(a) The 4.0% Capital Securities issued by the Bank on 24 August 2018 are non-cumulative non-convertible perpetual capital securities. They qualify as Additional Tier 1 capital of the Bank under the requirements of MAS.

The 4.0% Capital Securities may, subject to MAS approval, be redecised at the option of the Bank: (i) en 24 August 2023 (the First Reset Date) or any distribution payment date falling after the First Reset Date; (ii) upon the occurrence of a tax event; or (iii) if the 4.0% Capital Securities would no longer quality as eligible capital. The terms of the 4.0% Capital Securities may also be varied, subject to MAS approval, so that the 4.0% Capital Securities remain as Additional Tier 1 capital of the Bank. If the Bank is determined by the MAS to be non-viable, the 4.0% Capital Securities will be written off in whole or in part.

The 4.6% Capital Securities pay distributions to holders semi-annually in arrear in February and August at a fixed rate of 4.0% per annual from the sissue date to the First Reset Date. If the 4.0% Capital Securities are not redeemed on the First Reset Date and each date falling every five years thereafter to a fixed care per annual equal to the aggregate of the theo-prevailing five-year SGD Swap Offer Rate and the initial spread of 1.811%. Distributions may be cancelled by the Bank at its sale discretion, subject to the provisions of the 4.0% Capital Securities. The Bank is also not obliged to pay distributions to holders under certain discussionness. Any distributions which are not paid, in accordance with the terms and conditions of the 4.0% Capital Securities, are non-comulative and will not compound

(b) The 1.5% Capital Securities issued by the Bank on 30 September 2020 are non-comulative con-convertable perpetual capital securities. Diey qualify as Additional Tier 1 capital of the Bank under the requirements of MAS.

The MAS Capital Securities may, subject to MAS approval, he redeemed at the option of the Hank on or after 30 September 2030 (First Reset Date), and each date falling every 10 years after the First Reset Date. The terms and to be a non-violately loss-absorbing feature. Under this feature, OCBC mast write off the securities when 41) the MAS rectifies the Bank in writing that it is of the opinion that a write-off is necessary, without which the Bank would become non-viable, or (2) a decision by the MAS to make a public sector agreement experienced by the MAS. The Bank will, in consultation with or as directed by MAS, determine the amount to be written off or order for the pon-viability event to cease to continue. In addition to the first call in 2030, the 3-0% Capital Securities may also be redeemed if a qualifying tax event or a change of qualification event occurs.

The 3.0% Capital Securities hear a fixed distribution rate of 3.0% per aneary (rosp the issue date to the First Reset Oute and will be reset every 10 years dicreation to a fixed rate equal to the then-prevailing 10-year SGD Swap Offer Rate plus 2.19%. The non-camadarive distributions may only be paid out of distributable reserves seria annually in March and September, unless cancelled by the Bank at its option. The 3.0% Capital Securities constitute turscented and subordinated obligations, ranking series only to Starcholders of the Bank.

#### 15. Capital reserves

	GRO	N.F		BANK		
	2021	2020	2021	20211		
	Amillam 2	S million	5 million	3 million		
At 1 January	1,220	1,251	994	985		
Share based payments for staff costs.	9	- 11	9	31		
Shares transferred to DSP Trans	(93)	(44)	-	-		
Shares vested under DSP Scheme	73	62	-			
Transfer from unappropriated profit (Note 16.1)	(423)	5	(431)			
listoster turkhara capital	(13)	(3)	(13)	(2)		
At 41 Describes	782	1,226	559	1744		

Capital reserves include segulatory (ass allowance reserve and statutory reserves so aside by the Garup's banking and statisticities for asserves also include the Bank's employee share schemes" reserves and deferred shares held by DSP Trust.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

### 16. Revenue reserves

		GRO	DUP	BANK	
	Note	2021 Smillion	2020 \$ million	2021 \$ mBillon	2020 \$ mail Mon
Unappropriated profit	16.1	30,785	27,321	14,535	13,235
General reserves	16.2	1,349	1,345	1,400	1,396
Cast. Dow hodge reserves	16.5	(II)	(m)	(7)	*
Customey forms at influences	Jñ.4	(336)	(65R)	(101)	(67)
Own credit reserves		(2)	(4)	(2)	(4)
At 31 December		31,795	28,004	15.825	14.560

### 16.1 Unappropriated profit

GROUP			NK	
1021	2920	2021	2020	
5 million	\$ million	Ş mi <del>lli</del> ≎n	Şmi≅llon	
4,858	3,586	2,726	2,346	
27,321	25,775	1.1,235	12,879	
32,179	29,561	15,961	:5,225	
(712)	42,2331	(712)	(1,233)	
(1,128)	(701)	(1,128)	(705)	
-	[19]	-	(19)	
(40)	(40)	,	(40)	
(6)		(6)		
423	(5)	431		
64	(41)	23	4	
ú		ó	-	
(i)	<u>(n</u>		(1)	
<u>(1.394)</u>	[2,040]	(1,426)	11,990)	
30,785	27,321	14,535	13,235	
	1021 5 million 4,858  27,321 32,179  (712)  (1,128)  (40) (6)  413 64 6 (1) (1,1294)	\$ million	T021   2020   2021	

At the annual general meeting to be held, a final tax-exempt dividend of 28 cents per ordinary share in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2021, lotalling \$1,258 million, will be proposed. The dividends will be accounted for as a distribution in the 2022 financial statements.

### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

### Revenue reserves (continuel)

#### 16.2 General reserves

	CR	41163	BA	BANK	
	2021 S milition	21120 S million	2D21 Smillinn	2030 Simullan	
At 1 belong	1.045	1,335	1,346	1,386	
DSP reserve from dividents on unvested stocks	141	III	10	10	
Transfer to unappropriated profit (Note 36.1)	(6)		(0)		
At 31 Devember	L_149	1,345	1,400	1,396	

The general reserves have not been cannacked for any specific purpose, and include merger reserves arising from common control transactions, as well as dividends on injugated shares under the DSP.

### 16.3 Cash flow hedge reserves.

The cash flow hedge reserves comprise the effective portion of the cumulative not charge in the fair value of hedging instruments used in cash flow hedges pending subsequent recognition of the hodged cash flow. The cash flow hedges principally consect of interest rate contracts that are used to hedge against the variability in cash flows of certain floating rate ljabilities.

### 16.4 Currency translation reserves

	GR	GROUP		BANK	
	2021 5 million	2020 Similifon	2020 S million	2020 Similbion	
At Cheary	(658)	(873)	(67)	(1)(7)	
Movements for the year	389	બા	(3.1)	45	
Effective portion of Buxing	(67)	125			
At 61 December	(3.36)	(65A)	(101)	(67)	

Currency translation reserves comprise differences arising from the translation of the ner assets of foreign operations and the effective portion of the hedge on exposure in foreign operations.

Refer to Note 38.3 Currency risk - Structural foreign exchange risk for management of structural foreign exchange risk

### 17. Deposits and balances of non-bank customers and banks

	GROUP		11.4	MANK	
	2021	2020	2112 L	211211	
	S midlion	≯ milllon č	S million	S million	
Deposits of non-hank customers					
Contem-wengets	138,077	105,751	72,297	58,217	
Santi ga deposito	78,546	71,097	64,711	57,30%	
Term exposits	86,046	90,785	49,008	11,998	
Structured deposits	5,192	4,505	2,605	1,448	
Certificates of deposit is and	25.566	22,320	25,060	22,121	
Other deposits	8,548	7,539	7,532	5,652	
	342,395	314,567	224,213	197,745	
Deposits and balances of banks	8,230	9,586	6,708	7,2H8	
	350,644	424 493	227,921	705,154	

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

### 18. Derivative financial instruments

The derivative financial instruments shown in the following tables are held for both trading and hedging purposes. The contractual or underlying principal amounts of these derivative financial instruments and their corresponding gross positive (derivative receivables) and negative (derivative payables) fair values at the reporting date are analysed below.

	2021		2020			
	Principal	Dertwative	Derivative	Principal	Derivative	Derivative
GROUP (\$ million)	notional amount	receivables	payables	notional amount	recelvables	payables
Foreign exchange derivatives (FED)						
Porsands	46,842	344	339	62,902	570	616
Swaps	433,075	3,359	3,071	358,713	5,689	5,900
OTC options	72,241	34L	240	61,700	338	297
Exchange traded futures	27	#	_	1	*	_
	552,191	3,944	3,650	483,322	6,597	6,813
Interest rate derivatives (IRD)					'	
Forwards	-	-	~	527	2	2
Swaps	450,397	4,231	4,342	475,498	7,971	8,020
OTC options	4,243	24	25	3,715	29	42
Exchange inseed forures	8,625	ı	2	5,232	3	
	463,266	4.256	4,372	484,972	8,003	8,065
Equity derivatives						
Swaps	5,685	443	470	3,906	216	204
OTC options	10,945	543	498	7,291	223	243
Exchange traded options	_	_	_	19	*	_
Exchange insided (brures	284	*	×	\$\$1	à	4
	16,916	756	968	11,767	440	451
Credit derivatives						
Swaps - protection buyer	1,553	J	20	3,969	11	60
Sweps - protection seller	1,371	19	3	2,745	56	11
	2,723	22	23	6,714	67	71
Other derivatives						
Precious metals	800	7	8	1,366	25	25
OTC options	8,399	50	47	7,984	89	89
Futures	-	-	_	1	*	_
Commodity swaps	20	2	ž	26	2	3
	9,219	59	57	9,377	μĄ	116
Total	1,444,314	9,267	9,070	996,152	15.223	15,516
Included Bens designated for bedget:	i					
Fair value/each flow hedge - FED	2415	37	73	1,539	_	112
Fair value/each flow hedge - IKD	10,215	90	87	12,293	150	217
Hedge of set investments - PED	3,642	49	189	3,345	161	20
	16,272	171	344	17,177	311	349
	1747	-/-	V11	1.55.		2-7

For the fair value hedges, the carrying amount at 31 December 2021 relating to the assets and liabilities designated as bedged items were \$6,550 million and \$6,169 million (2020: \$7,152 million and \$7,450 million) respectively. The bedged items were mainly fixed rate debt securities held (financial assets) and debt securities issued (financial liabilities).

For the cash flow hedges, the carrying amount at 31 December 2021 relating to the assets and liabilities designated as hedged items were \$2,379 million and \$2,186 million (2020: \$2,151 million and \$2,151 million) respectively. The bedged items were mainly bonds, variable rate loans (financial assets) and deposits (financial liabilities).

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

### 18. Derivative financial instruments icommunici)

		21121		2020		
BANK (5 million)	Principal notional amount	Derivative rereivables	Derivative payables	Principal noclonal amount	Derivative receivables	Derivative payables
Furyiga eschange derivatives (FED)	<b>,</b>					
Fagwards	27,759	176	163	55,397	350	450
Swops	377,160	2,772	2,583	530,179	5,016	5,1%
OFC options	50,077	161	162	4,973	47	45
Explorage tracked befores	27	#	_	7	a	_
<u>-</u> .	455,023	).ui	2,908	370 f2n	5,413	5,691
Interest sate derivatives (IRD)						
Sacapa	330,104	3,878	3,954	394,778	7,766	7,714
OTC options	3,597	25	KX	3,703	2%	42
Factoring (maked between	8,347	#	1	4.930	1	- 1
	341,948	3,963	3,983	403,403	7,796	2,752
Equity decisations						
Swaps	5,233	406	474	4,528	7118	144
OTC ophics	8,250	345	2H2	1.894	45	65
Exchange tracked riptories	_	_	_	٠.	г	-
Exclorage traded littings	265	Į.	P	195		4
•	13,748	751	716	5,739	253	259
Credit decisations						
Swaps - protection larger	034,0	×	20	5.519		602
Swaps - protector seller	1,060	1.0	_	7,593	56	
	2,500	19	20	6.012	26	60
Other derivatives						
Precious metals	121	- 1	2	93	ų	1
OTC options	a,686	27	27	_	-	
Pulcares	-	_	_	:	10	-
	6.807		29	91	<u>"</u>	I
Total	820,026	7,812	7,056	786,174	43.518	13,768
Included frems designated for hedges						
Fair value/cush (low brdge - FED)	4,873	68	120	4.50%	159	:19
Fair value heège – IRD	5.529	78	45	7,922	139	:12
Hodge of neu investments   PED	770	1	10	191	7	.12
neege of net investments. Their	11,172	148	293	12.772	3189	-
	11,112	147	29.1	12 ///	7117	235

## 19. Other liabilities

	GROUP		BANK	
	2021 S millios	2020 Smillion	2021 Smilbion	2020 Smilling
B:lls payable	490	490	337	234
[sdecest payable]	328	477	193	20-1
Lauree In20th first	22%	278	49	67
Precious metal Labilities (1)	1.36.5	2.5	2.3	2!
Suratry arealities	3.138	5.472	659	ned
Others (1)	1.616	1,443	045	509
	7.163	9,043	1,906	1,886

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>th</sup> Comparatives have been restated to continuous carent your Consecutation.

At 31 December 2021, reinsurance halidates decladed in "Others" amounted to \$108 million (2020; \$66 million) for the Group

### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

### 20. Deferred tax

	CROUP		BANK	
	2021 S million	2020 S∙mi <b>ll</b> ion	2021 Sprillion	2020 5 milllo⊭
ACI Zumary	1,685	1.506	182	217
Contractly thouslated and others	2	2	1	111
Nei crodit to moume statements (Note (1)	(173)	(46)	(106)	(37)
Understower) provision in prior years	2	(#)	6	(f)
her (credit / charge to equity	(87)	70	(12)	3
Net change in life inventore land tax	£,123	(147)	_	
At 33 Documber	2,552	1,665	65	182

Deferred income tax assets and halolities are offset when there is a logally enforceable right to set off current tox assets against current tox liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same listal authority.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are to be recovered and settled after one year and the following amounts, detempined after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the balance shoots:

	GROUP		BANK	
	2021 Smillion	2020 S <b>o</b> u <b>lli</b> lon	2021 Smillion	2030 \$ nvilloo
Deferred tax liabilities	<b>,</b>	•	•	•
Appeleonal to, depresance	114	101	73	67
Unrealised gains on investments	216	317	*	ŋ
Depreviable assets acquired in business combineston	121	133	36	38
Provision for policy liabilities	2,344	5,110	_	-
Regulatory Investillowance reserve	62	125	6-2	1.85
(Rivers	197	182	2	2
	2,954	1,974	173	241
Appengitation against determed the assets	(122)	(155)	(19)	(18)
		1,818	154	225
Deferred (as assets				
All awaness for maps about of assets	(254)	(169)	(64)	(26)
Toy heoga	(8)	(9)	461	1101
Cahers	[140]	(110)	(37)	(27)
	(402)	(288)	(107)	(59)
Amount offset ayoutst deterroit to fide littles	122	155	19	18
·	(ZHII)	(144)	(88)	1411
Not deferred (an Nahikitárs/(assets)	2,552	1,685	6 <del>th</del>	182

Deferred income the assets are recognised for the losses carried forward only to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit through luttere taxable profits is probable. At 51 December 2025, untilized tax lesses carried forward for which no deferred income tax has been recognised amounted to \$68 million (2020; \$72 million) for the Group, nil (2020; \$9 million) for the Bank. These tax losses have no expury date except for an ansecut of \$57 million (2020; \$61 million) which will expire between the years 2022 and 2029 (2020; years 2021 and 2028)

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

### 21. Debt issued

	GROUP			BANK		
	Note	2021	2020	2021	2020	
		S an Million	S million	5 million	S million	
Unsecured						
Subordinated debt	21.1	2,730	3,145	2,730	2,745	
Fixed and floating rate notes	21.2	2,771	3,551	2,31,3	2,995	
Commercial paper	21.3	2,668	12,057	\$,668	12,057	
Serucrured onies	21.4	2,425	1,869	2,425	1,869	
		16,594	20,622	16,136	19,664	
Secured						
Covered bonds	21.5	3.521	3,733	3,521	3,733	
Total debt issued		24,115	24,355	19,457	23,397	

#### 21.1 Subordinated debt

				GROUP	
	Note	Issue date	Maturity date	2021 5 million	2020 Smillion
Isoupil by the Bank:					
USD1 billion 4.25% notes	(a)	19 Jun 2014	19 Jun 2024	1,402	1,426
USD1 biflion I 832% notes	( <del>b</del> )	10 Sep 2020	10 Sep 2030	2,730	1,319 2,745
Issued by The Great Eastern Life Assurance Company Limited (GEL): SGDMO million 4.60% neces	<b>(c</b> )	19 Jan 201 J	19 Jun 2026	_	400
Total subordinated debt	10)	19 141 2011	173212010	2,730	3.145

- (a) The subordinated notes can be written off in whole or in part if the MAS determines that the Bank would become non-viable. Interest is payable semi-annually on 19 June and 19 December each year at 4.25% per armum. The Bank had entered into unterest rate swaps to manage the risk of the subordinated notes and the cumulative fair value change of the risk hedged is included in the earrying amount. The subordinated notes qualify as Tier 2 capital for the Group.
- (b) The subordinated notes are redeemable in whole at the option of the Bank on 10 September 2025. They can be written off in whole or in part if the MAS determines that the Bank would become non-viable. Interest is payable semi-annually on 10 March and 10 September each year at 1.832% per antum up to 10 September 2025, and thereafter at a fixed rate per annum equal to the their prevailing 5-year U.S. Treasury Rate plus 1.58% if the redemption option is not exercised. The Bank had entered into interest rate awaps to manage the risk of the subordinated notes and the cumulative fair value change of the risk hedged is ancluded in the carrying amount. The subordinated notes qualify as Tier 2 capital for the Group.
- (c) The subordinated notes are redeemable in whole at the option of GEL on 19 January 2021. Interest is payable scori-annually on 19 January and 19 July each year at 4.60% per annum up to 19 January 2021, and thereafter at a fixed rate per annum equal to the then prevailing 5-year Singapore Swap Offer Rate plus 1.35% if the redeniption option is not exercised.

The subordinated notes were fully redecimed by GEL on 19 January 2021.

### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

### 21. Deht issued (continued)

# 21.2 Fixed and floating rate notes

Second by Pt Bank OCBC NISP Tbk:   IDR335 billion 7.75% 6 seed rate bonds   Gardina MYR50 million 3.00% fixed rate bonds   Gardina MyR50 million 3.20% fixed rate bonds   Gardina MyR50 million 3.30% fixed rate bonds   Gardina MyR50 million 3.30% fixed rate bonds   Gardina MyR50 million 3.50% fixed rate bonds   Gardina MyR50 million MyR50 million 3.50%					GRO	NDP.
Served by the Bank:					702	202n
AUD600 million floating rate notes 49) 23 Apr 2018 25 Apr 2021 - 509 AUD700 million floating rate notes 49) 6 Sep 2018 6 Sep 2021 - 509 AUD700 million floating rate notes 40) 5 Dec 2019 5 Dec 2022 490 509 AUD700 million floating rate notes 40) 5 Dec 2019 5 Dec 2022 490 509 AUD200 million floating rate notes 40) 5 Dec 2019 5 Dec 2022 490 509 AUD200 million floating rate notes 40) 5 Dec 2019 5 Dec 2022 490 509 AUD200 million floating rate notes 40) 18 Mar 2021 18 Mar 2024 451 AUD500 million floating rate notes 41) 18 Mar 2021 12 Aug 2024 490 USD240 million floating rate notes 42) 17 May 2018 17 May 2021 1 451 AUD500 million floating rate notes 43) 17 May 2018 17 May 2021 1 449 USD240 million floating rate notes 43) 17 May 2018 17 May 2021 1 449 2,313 2,973  Issued by PT Bank OCBC NISP Tbk: 1DR535 billion 6,90% flaced rate bonds 43) 6 Jul 2021 1 47 APR 2028 10 Apr 2021 2 47 APR 2028 10 Apr 2021 3 47 APR 2028 10 Apr 2021 3 47 APR 2028 10 Apr 2021 4 51 APR 2028 10 Apr 2021 3 47 APR 2028 10 Apr 2021 4 52 Apr 2021 3 Apr 2021 3 47 APR 2028 10 Apr 2021 3 Apr 2021 3 47 APR 2028 10 Apr 2021 3 Apr 2022 3		Neag	John date	Manupity date	5 Holfilom	2 inligion
AUD500 million floating rate notes  AUD700 million floating rate notes  AUD700 million floating rate notes  AUD700 million floating rate notes  AUD500 million floating rate notes  AUD500 million floating rate notes  AUD200 million floating rate notes  AUD200 million floating rate notes  AUD400 million floating rate notes  AUD500 million floating rate n	Issued by the Bank:					
AUD500 million floating rate notes  (b) 23 May 2019 23 May 2022  -15 Jan 2020 686 712  AUD500 million floating rate notes  (c) 5 Dec 2019 5 Dec 2022 490 509  AUD2400 million floating rate notes  (d) 4 Sep 2020 4 Sep 2025 196 204  AUD500 million floating rate notes  (e) 18 Mar 2021 18 Mar 2024  - 25 Mar 2021 451  AUD500 million floating rate notes  (f) 12 Aug 2021 12 Aug 2024 490  USD240 million floating rate notes  (a) 17 May 2018 17 May 2021 - 449  USD240 million floating rate notes  (a) 17 May 2018 17 May 2021 - 47  IDR342 billion 7.75% fixed rate bonds  (a) 11 Apr 2018 40 Apr 2021 - 47  IDR342 billion 7.75% fixed rate notes  (a) 6 Jul 2013 6 Jul 2021 - 32  Issued by Pac Leave Berhad;  MYR80 million 3.80% fixed rate notes  (a) 25 Sep 2019 23 Mar 2021 - 26  MYR80 million 3.80% fixed rate notes  (a) 26 Sep 2019 26 Mar 2021 - 16  MYR80 million 3.40% fixed rate notes  (g) 6 Mar 2020 7 Mar 2022 16  MYR80 million 3.0% fixed rate notes  (g) 6 Mar 2020 7 Mar 2022 16  MYR80 million 3.0% fixed rate notes  (g) 12 Dec 2020 22 Jun 2022 16  MYR80 million 3.43% fixed rate notes  (g) 17 Dec 2021 19 Jun 2024 26  MYR80 million 3.43% fixed rate notes  (g) 13 Aug 2021 34 Feb 2024 10  Issued by OCBC Wing Hang Bank (China)  Limited:  CNY2 billion 4.06% fixed rate bonds  (h) 28 Nuv 2018 28 Nuv 2021 24 May 2024 157  CNY1.02 billion 3.32% fixed rate bonds  (h) 22 Nuv 2021 24 May 2024 157  CNY1.02 billion 3.32% fixed rate bonds  (h) 22 Nuv 2021 22 Nuv 2024 277  374 405	AUD600 million floating rate notes	4a)	23 Apr 2018	23 Apr 2021	-	610
AUD500 million floating rate notes  AUD200 million floating rate notes  AUD200 million floating rate notes  AUD200 million floating rate notes  (c) 18 Mar 2021	AUD500 million floating rate notes	4a)	6 Sep 2018	6 Sep 2021	-	509
AUD500 million floating rate notes  AUD200 million floating rate notes  AUD200 million floating rate notes  AUD200 million floating rate notes  (c) 18 Mar 2021	AUD700 million floating rate notes	(6)	25 May 2019	23 May 2022		
AUD200 million floating rate notes (d) 4 Sep 2020 4 Sep 2025 196 204  AUD460 million floating rate notes (e) 18 Mar 2021 18 Mar 2024 451  AUD500 million floating rate notes (f) 12 Aug 2021 12 Aug 2024 490  USD240 million flueting rate notes (f) 12 Aug 2021 12 Aug 2021 — 449  LISSued by PT Bank OCBC NISP Tbk:  IDR335 billion 6.90% Excel rate bonds (a) 11 Apr 2018 10 Apr 2021 — 47  IDR342 billion 7.75% 6 seed rate bonds (a) 6 Jul 2013 6 Jul 2021 — 32  ISSued by Pac Lease Berkard:  MYR80 million 3.80% fixed rate notes (a) 25 Sep 2019 23 Mar 2021 — 26  MYR90 million 3.80% fixed rate notes (a) 26 Sep 2019 26 Mar 2021 — 26  MYR90 million 3.00% fixed rate notes (g) 6 Mar 2020 7 Mar 2022 — 16  MYR90 million 3.00% fixed rate notes (g) 6 Mar 2020 7 Mar 2022 — 16  MYR90 million 3.00% fixed rate notes (g) 10 Jul 2021 — 32  MYR90 million 3.40% fixed rate notes (g) 10 Jul 2021 — 34  MYR90 million 3.40% fixed rate notes (g) 13 Aug 2021 — 26  MYR90 million 3.40% fixed rate notes (g) 13 Aug 2021 — 34  MYR90 million 3.40% fixed rate notes (g) 13 Aug 2021 — 34  MYR90 million 3.40% fixed rate notes (g) 13 Aug 2021 — 34  MYR90 million 3.50% fixed rate notes (g) 13 Aug 2021 — 34  MYR90 million 3.50% fixed rate notes (g) 13 Aug 2021 — 34  MYR90 million 3.50% fixed rate notes (g) 13 Aug 2021 — 34  MYR90 million 3.50% fixed rate notes (g) 13 Aug 2021 — 34  MYR90 million 3.50% fixed rate notes (g) 13 Aug 2021 — 34  MYR90 million 3.50% fixed rate notes (g) 13 Aug 2021 — 34  MYR90 million 3.50% fixed rate notes (g) 13 Aug 2021 — 34  MYR90 million 3.50% fixed rate notes (g) 13 Aug 2021 — 34  MYR90 million 3.50% fixed rate notes (g) 13 Aug 2021 — 34  MYR90 million 3.50% fixed rate notes (g) 13 Aug 2021 — 34  MYR90 million 3.50% fixed rate notes (g) 13 Aug 2021 — 34  MYR90 million 3.50% fixed rate notes (g) 13 Aug 2021 — 34  MYR90 million 3.50% fixed rate notes (g) 13 Aug 2021 — 34  MYR90 million 3.50% fixed rate notes (g) 13 Aug 2021 — 34  MYR90 million 3.50% fixed rate notes (g) 13 Aug 2021 — 34  MYR90 million 3.50% fixed rate notes (g) 15	•		- 15 Jan 2020		686	712
AUD500 million Starting rate notes (c) 18 Mar 2021 18 Mar 2024 - 25 Mar 2021 451  AUD500 million Starting rate notes (f) 12 Aug 2021 12 Aug 2024 490  USD240 million flueting rate notes (a) 17 May 1018 17 May 2021 - 449  Lissaed by PT Bank OCBC NISP Tok:  IDR535 billion 6,90% fixed rate bonds (a) 11 Apr 2018 10 Apr 2021 - 47  IDR342 billion 7,75% fixed rate bonds (a) 6 Jul 2013 6 Jul 2021 - 32  Issaed by Pac Leave Berhard:  MYR90 million 3,80% fixed rate notes (a) 25 Sep 2019 25 Mar 2021 - 26  MYR90 million 3,80% fixed rate notes (a) 25 Sep 2019 26 Mar 2021 16  MYR90 million 3,80% fixed rate notes (g) 6 Mar 2020 7 Mar 2021 16  MYR90 million 3,00% fixed rate notes (g) 6 Mar 2020 7 Mar 2022 16 16  MYR90 million 3,00% fixed rate notes (g) 10 Jul 2021 13 Aug 2025 16  MYR90 million 3,10% fixed rate notes (g) 10 Jul 2021 13 Aug 2025 16  MYR90 million 3,10% fixed rate notes (g) 13 Aug 2021 18 Jun 2024 26  MYR90 million 3,20% fixed rate notes (g) 13 Aug 2021 34 Feb 2024 10  Issaed by OCBC Wing Hang Bank (China)  Limited:  CNY2 billion 4,06% fixed rate bonds (h) 28 Nuv 2018 28 Nuv 2021 29 Nuv 2021 20 Nu	AUD500 million floating rate notes	44)	5 Dec 2019	5 Dec 2022	490	509
AUD500 million floating rate notes (f) 12 Aug 2021 12 Aug 2024 490 USD240 million flusting rate notes (a) 17 May 2018 17 May 2021 - 449  Lissued by PT Bank OCBC NISP Tok: IDR535 billion 6.90% fixed rate bonds (a) 6 Jul 2013 6 Jul 2021 - 47 IDR342 billion 7.75% fixed rate bonds (a) 6 Jul 2013 6 Jul 2021 - 32  Lissued by Pac Leave Berknat: MYR90 million 3.80% fixed rate notes (a) 25 Sep 2019 23 Mar 2021 - 26 MYR90 million 3.80% fixed rate notes (a) 26 Sep 2019 26 Mar 2021 - 16 MYR90 million 3.80% fixed rate notes (g) 6 Mar 2020 7 Mar 2021 - 16 MYR90 million 3.00% fixed rate notes (g) 6 Mar 2020 7 Mar 2022 16 MYR90 million 3.00% fixed rate notes (g) 12 Dec 2020 22 Jun 2022 16 MYR90 million 3.20% fixed rate notes (g) 17 Dec 2021 13 Aug 2023 16 MYR90 million 3.48% fixed rate notes (g) 17 Dec 2021 18 Jun 2024 26 MYR90 million 3.28% fixed rate notes (g) 17 Dec 2021 18 Jun 2024 26 MYR90 million 3.28% fixed rate notes (g) 18 Aug 2021 34 Feb 2024 10  Limited: CNY2 billion 4.06% fixed rate bonds (h) 28 Nuv 2018 28 Nuv 2021 42 May 2024 157 CNY102 billion 3.39% fixed rate bonds (h) 22 Nuv 2021 22 Nuv 2024 217 CNY102 billion 3.32% fixed rate bonds (h) 22 Nuv 2021 22 Nuv 2024 217  Limited: CNY2 billion 3.32% fixed rate bonds (h) 22 Nuv 2021 22 Nuv 2024 217	AUD200 million floating rate notes	(8)	4 Sep 2020	4 Sep 2023	196	204
AUDS00 million floating rate notes   (f)   12 Aug 2021   12 Aug 2024   490   USD240 mellion flusting rate notes   (a)   17 May 2018   17 May 2021   -     449   2,313   2,993	AUD460 million floating rate notes	(c)	18 Mar 202	18 Mar 2024		
Issued by PT Bank OCBC NISP Tbk:	•		- 25 Mar 2021		451	
Issued by PT Bank OCBC NISP Tbk:   IDR535 billion 6.90% Exed rate bonds	AUD500 million floating rate notes	(f)	12 Aug 2021	12 Aug 2024	490	
Issued by PT Bank OCBC NISP Tbk:   IDR535 billion 6.90% Exed rate bonds	USD340 million flusting rate notes	(a)	17 May 2018	17 May 2021	_	449
DR535 billion 6,90% fixed rate bonds   (a) 11 Apr 2018   10 Apr 2021   -     47	·			·	2,313	2,993
DR535 billion 6,90% fixed rate bonds   (a) 11 Apr 2018   10 Apr 2021   -     47						
DR535 billion 6,90% fixed rate bonds   (a) 11 Apr 2018   10 Apr 2021   -     47	Issued by PT Bank OCBC NISP Tok:					
DR342 billion 7.75% feed rate bonds   (a)   6 Jul 2013   6 Jul 2021   -   32   -   79		(a)	11 Apr 2018	10 Apr 2021	_	47
Issued by Pac Lease Berhad:	IDR342 billion 7.75% fixed rate bonds	(a)		6 Jul 2021	_	32
MYR80 million 3,80% fixed rate notes       (a) 25 Sep 2019       23 Mar 2021						
MYR80 million 3,80% fixed rate notes       (a) 25 Sep 2019       23 Mar 2021						
MYR50 million 3.80% fixed rate notes   (a)   26 Sep 2019   26 Mar 2021   16 MYR50 million 3.45% fixed rate notes   (g)   6 Mar 2020   7 Mar 2022   16   16 MYR50 million 3.00% fixed rate notes   (g)   72 Dec 2020   22 Jun 2022   16   16 MYR50 million 3.20% fixed rate notes   (g)   30 Jul 2021   13 Aug 2023   16 MYR50 million 3.48% fixed rate notes   (g)   17 Dec 2021   18 Jun 2024   26 MYR50 million 3.28% fixed rate notes   (g)   13 Aug 2021   34 Feb 2024   10   84   74	Issued by Pac Lease Berhad:					
MYR50 million 3.45% fixed rate notes (g) 6 Mar 2020 7 Mar 2022 16 16 16 MYR50 million 3.00% fixed rate notes (g) 22 Dec 2020 22 Jun 2022 16 16 MYR50 million 3.20% fixed rate notes (g) 30 Jul 2021 13 Aug 2023 16 MYR50 million 3.48% fixed rate notes (g) 17 Dec 2021 18 Jun 2024 26 MYR50 million 3.28% fixed rate notes (g) 13 Aug 2021 14 Feb 2024 10 84 Peb 2024 10 Sauced by OCBC Wing Hong Bank (Chino) Limited:  CNY2 billion 4.06% fixed rate bonds (a) 28 Nuv 2018 28 Nuv 2021 44 May 2021 45 May 2024 157 CNY1.02 billion 3.32% fixed rate bonds (h) 22 Nuv 2021 22 Nuv 2024 217 374 405	MYR90 million 3,80% fixed rate notes	(a)	23 Sep 2019	23 Mar 2021		26
MYR50 million 3.45% fixed rate notes (g) 6 Mar 2020 7 Mar 2022 16 16 16 MYR50 million 3.00% fixed rate notes (g) 22 Dec 2020 22 Jun 2022 16 16 MYR50 million 3.20% fixed rate notes (g) 30 Jul 2021 13 Aug 2023 16 MYR50 million 3.48% fixed rate notes (g) 17 Dec 2021 18 Jun 2024 26 MYR50 million 3.28% fixed rate notes (g) 13 Aug 2021 14 Feb 2024 10 84 Peb 2024 10 Sauced by OCBC Wing Hong Bank (Chino) Limited:  CNY2 billion 4.06% fixed rate bonds (a) 28 Nuv 2018 28 Nuv 2021 44 May 2021 45 May 2024 157 CNY1.02 billion 3.32% fixed rate bonds (h) 22 Nuv 2021 22 Nuv 2024 217 374 405	MYR50 million 3.80% fixed rate notes	(a)	26 Sep 2019	26 Mar 2021		16
MYR50 million 3.20% fixed rate notes (g) 30 Jul 2021 13 Aug 2023 16 MYR50 million 3.48% fixed rate notes (g) 17 Dec 2021 18 Jun 2024 26 MYR30 million 3.28% fixed rate notes (g) 13 Aug 2021 34 Feb 2024 10 84 74 Feb 2024 10 84 74 Feb 2024 10 84 74 Feb 2024 10 85 74 Feb 2024 10 85 75 Feb 2025 10	MYR50 million 3.45% fixed rate notes	(g)		7 Mar 2022	16	16
MYR30 million 3.48% fixed rate notes (g) 13 Aug 2021 18 Jun 2024 10 84 Feb 2024 1	MYR50 million 3,00% fixed rate notes	(g)	22 Dec 2020	22 Jun 2022	16	16
MYR30 million 3.28% fixed rate notes (g) 13 Aug 2021 34 Feb 2024 10 84 74  Issued by OCBC Wing Hung Bank (Chinu)  Limited: CNY2 billion 4.06% fixed rate bonds (a) 28 Nov 2018 28 Nov 2021 48/2024 157 CNY1.02 billion 3.32% fixed rate bonds (h) 24 May 2021 24 May 2024 157 CNY1.02 billion 3.32% fixed rate bonds (h) 22 Nov 2021 22 Nov 2024 217 374 405	MYR50 million 3.20% fixed rate notes	(a)	30 Jul 2021	13 Aug 2023	16	
Second by OCBC Wing Hong Bank (Chino)	MYR90 million 3.48% fixed rate notes	(g)	17 Dec 2021	18 Jun 2024	26	
Issued by OCBC Wing Hong Bank (China)   Limited:   CNY2 billion 4.06% faced rate bonds   (a)   28 Nov 2018   28 Nov 2021   405   4	MYR30 million 3.28% fixed rate notes	(g)	13 Aug 2021	14 Fcb 2024	10	
CNY2 billion 4.06% fixed rate bonds   (a) 28 Nov 2018   28 Nov 2021   405		•			84	74
CNY2 billion 4.06% fixed rate bonds   (a) 28 Nov 2018   28 Nov 2021   405						
CNY2 billion 4.06% faced rate bonds (a) 28 Nov 2018 28 Nov 2021 48/05 29/16 29						
CNY730 million 3.50% fixed rate bonds (b) 24 May 2021 24 May 2024 157 CNY1.02 billion 3.32% fixed rate bonds (b) 22 Nov 2021 22 Nov 2024 217 374 405		(a)	28 Nav 2018	28 Nov 2021		aggs
CNY1.02 billion 3.32% fixed rate bonds (h) 22 Nov 2021 22 Nov 2024 217 374 405					157	
374405		4	- · · · ·	- · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
<del></del>	<b></b>	4				405
Total fixed and floating rate notes2,7713,551						
	Total fixed and floating rate notes				2,771	3,551

- (a) The notes and bonds were fully redeeped on their respective manually dates.
- (b) Interest as payable quarterly at the 3-month Bank Bill Swap reference rate γ2us 0.575% to 0.62% per annum.
- (c) Interest is payable quarterly at the 3-month Bank Bill Swap reference rate plus 0.63% per annum.
- (d) Interest is payable quarterly at the 3-month Bank Bill Swap reference rate phis 0,48% per annum.
- (c) Interest is payable quarterly at the 3-month Hank Bill Swap reference rate plus 0.34% to 0.35% peramount.
- (f) Interest is payable quarterly at the 3-month Bank Hill Swap reference rate plus 0.26% per annum.
- (g) Interest is payable semi-manually.
- (b) Interest is payable annually.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

### 21. Debt issued (meanual)

### 21.3 Commercial paper

	CIRC	SHP
	2021 S million	şaşn S milllen
Issued by the Bank	8,668	12,057

The Bank issued the commercial paper under as USD10 billion ECP programme and USD25 billion USCP programme. The notes autstanding as at 31 December 2021 (2020; 31 December 2020) were usued between 14 April 2021 (2020; 6 Pebruary 2020) and 10 November 2021 (2020; 16 December 2020), and oration between 3 January 2022 (2020; 4 January 2021) and 23 September 2022 (2020; 8 October 2021). The commercial papers are zero coupon papers, or floating rate papers pagged to monthly or quarterly market rates.

### 21.4 Structured notes

			GROUP		
fasued by the Bank:	Essur date	Maturity date	2021 S militon	2020 \$ million	
Credit lanked motes	1 Oct 2012 - 28 Dec 2021	3 Jun 2022 - 17 Dec 2026	986	367	
Fixed rate notes	9 Oct 2012 - 27 Dec 2012	9 Oct 2037 - 28 Dec 2037	103	106	
Bland Insked doses	12 Oct 2096 + 24 Jun 2021	20 Sep 2022 - 24 May 2027	197	2.21	
Index linked notes	5 Sep 2018 - 15 Mar 2019	22 Teb 2022	2	14	
Fund indeed cotto	16 lif 7018 - 25 the 7021	20 fan 7002 - 4 May 7076	49	50	
Participation notes	44 Jun 2019 - 29 (Sec 2021)	28 Feb 2022 - 7 Ful 2028	1,171	601	
•			2,425	1,889	

The structured notes were issued by the Bank under its Structured Note and Global Medium Term Notes. Programmes and were measured at amortised cost, except for \$983 million (2020: \$785 million) included under credit linked notes and \$109 million (2020: \$221 million) included under bond linked notes as at 31 December 2021 which were measured at fair value through profit or loss.

In accordance with SFRS(I) 9, to the extent that the underlying economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivatives were not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract, and where such embedded derivatives would meet the definition of a derivative, the Group bifurcated such embedded derivatives and recognised these separately from the host contracts. The bifurcated embedded derivatives were fast vasited through profit or loss, and were included as part of the Group's derivatives in the financial statements.

### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

### 21. Debt Issued reantinuell

### 21.5 Covered bonds

			GROUP		
	Issue date	Materity date	202E	2020	
Issued by the Hank:			\$ málláon	5 million	
FUR 1 billion 0.25% fixed rate bunds	21 Mar 2017	25 Mar 2022			
	= \$40e5 #017	- \$40tt 7022	1,531	1.631	
FUR500 million 0.375% fixed rate bonds	1 Mat 2018	I Mar 2023	767	820	
FigR 500 and turn to 625% house rate bounds	Lx Apr 7018	18 Apri 2025	767	833	
GBP250 million floating this bonds	14 Mar 2018	14 Mar 2024	456	449	
·			3,521	3,745	

The powered bonds were usued by the Bank inder its USID10 billion Global Covered Bend Programme. The Covered Bend Guaranter. Red Said Pte. 1.td., guarantees the payments of interest and principal. The guarantee is secured by a portfolio of Singapore boosing bonds transferred from OCBC Bent, to Red Said Pte. 1.td. (Note 46.2). Interest for the EUR and GTP covered bonds is payable annually and quarterly, respectively, and in arreur.

# 21.6 Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flow arising from financing activities

CROPP (\$ million)	Subordinated delit	Fixed and floating rate mates	Commercial	Structured notes	Casered bonds	Total
At 1 Jenney (SISI	1,797	4,502	17,872	1,747	3,475	29,388
Cash Bows	1,365	(1,20%)	[5,905]	150		(5,596)
New graph changes						
Currency translation	(70)	254	24	(22)	(59)	746
Others	54	:	66	(*)	217	417
At 31 Devember 2020)						
1 January 2021	3,145	7,551	12,057	1,869	3,733	24,155
Cash flows	(400)	(754)	(3.643)	55T	-	(4,240)
Not scatt distinges						
Currency translation	59	(26)	242	(3)	бl	333
Others	(74)	(A)	17	2	(274)	(233)
At 23 December 2021	2,730	2,771	8,668	2,425	3,571	20,115

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For the financial year ended 51 December 2021

### 22. Life insurance fund liabilities and assets

	GR	OUB
	2031	2020
	2 willion	\$ IBIIII PM
Life insurance fund liabilities		
Missenerate in life insurance limit		
Ar Ulars, my	83,469	75,204
Charging translation	(427)	4.
Net change in life in surance contract liabilities	4,204	8,224
A: 31 December	87,246	<3,469
Policy benefits	5,487	5,067
Ohler.	3,510	5,018
	96,506	∀4,444
Life insurance fund investment securities and other assets		
Deposits with banks and financial cost intons	5,973	7,074
Laten	591	890
Securities	\$6.80 <b>o</b>	M1,462
levectment property	1,884	.,767
Others <sup>17</sup>	4,H42	6.873
	100.096	97,008
Life insurance band balances included under the following helance sheet items:		
Liabilities		
Correct tax	188	63
Defigrant tax	2,467	.,31,4
Other habitates	76	8.5
Assets		
Cash and precements with central banks	Р	=
Placeager (s. with and loans to banks	2,22%	1,509
Property, plant and equipment and ortangible assets	1 Ku	702
The following contracts were entered larguarder the file insurance fund:		
Capital communication is and contracted	149	171
Derivative Financial instruments (percept, intome, uninsert)	.4h,740	25,345
Derivative reconventes	356	743
Herivative pasaly is:	1114	.164
··············		

<sup>&</sup>quot; Offices mainly compasse offices seem able alophate collected, propay meets, incresional debtors and suntry debtors

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

# 23. Cash and placements with central banks

_	CHOUP		ffA.	SK
	2021	2020	202 L	2020
	S millin	Smāliun	5 million	\$ million
Cask ya band	631	62%	330	346
Non-restricted halances with central banks	1.810	2,360	1,780	2.34h
Microsy charket pherenomics and revenue report with central Punks	10,267	19389	16,98N	14.881
Cash and cash equivalents	22,710	22,3178	19,098	17,537
Reserveed belances with central banks - mandatory reserve deposits	5,211	4,448	3,767	3,458
Gross cash and placements with central banks	27,921	26,526	22,865	20,970
Allowances for non-impained placements with central banks	42)	(1)	(2)	(0)_
Net cash and placements with central banks	27,919	26,525	E.0M,25	207,669

### 24. Government treasury bills and securities

	GROTIP		RA.	NK
	2021 Smillion	2020 Smillion	2021 Smillion	2020 Similari
Sugapore government trackery hills and securines	11,112	10,678	10,106	9,794
Other government recastry hills and securities	26,159	22,664	9.740	9,411
Total government treasury bills and securities	37,271	93,291	19.816	18,748

### 25. Placements with and loans to banks

	GROLP		BANK	
	2021	2020	2021	2020
	5 million	\$ million	S million	5 million
Contributes of depose held	7,867	13,100	5,877	10,370
Placements with and loans to banks	14,440	.7,406	10,845	13,.00
Market Sill's purobosed	732	864	732	893
Reserve repuis	201	i	67	1
Hulances with books	23.240	21,376	17.521	24 (086
Back balancy at the investment local	2,228	1,509	_	
Placements with and loans to banks	25,468	32,819	17,521	24,0%
Altowances for non-impaired placements with and thank to banks	(0)	(A)	(5)	10
Net placements with and lowes to banks	25.462	12,816	17,516	24,083

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

# 26. Loans to customers

	ic in cityoniery	GRODI		BANK	
		3021	20120	2021	20120
		S million	\$ million	2 mll3inn	ระกาสิโโกเม
Fires	s Ioans	289.716	265,250	194,370	.73.256
Alline	SOUTH STATE OF THE				
ing	urred Gues (Note 28)	(1,535)	$(1 \times i2)$	(722)	(1,493)
No	or approved hours (Note, 30)	[1,989]	(1.880)	(1,247)	(1,177)
Net b	IMEN.	186,281	267,53k	189,401	170,651
26.1	A continued for mondays				
20.	Analysed by product Overdrubs	5.028	3,903	390	513
	Short-term and revolving fixing	66,748	62,780	32,703	26,346
	Syndizated and terms forms	£19,632	.07.33%	94,273	A7,827
	History and extangual property listos	68,849	97,093	44,661	42,189
	Car, credit care and know marein ages	4.n14	3,626	1,174	5,638
	Bill's reversable	7,351	5,322	5,923	3,856
	Orcars	E7,594	15.79%	10,24n	9,428
		289,716	257,240	191,470	175(2)6
26,2	Analysed by industry				
	Appenditure, coming seed quarrying	8,094	8,487	5,330	5,630
	Man Llatin nex	15,642	15,804	N_1K3	5,505
	Bedding and construct on	81,375	1,64	66,198	57,665
	Med-Angliouns	61,733	59,842	42,812	44(42)
	General commerce	30,159	28,874	23,032	20,830
	Transport, storage and communication	\$3,423	14,340	10.913	11.919
	Forametal restitations,				
	present and he ship are parties	25,465	22,827	0,854	5,007
	Professionals and italiyeduzes	36,854	03,689	14.635	11,845
	Others	17,071	(2,44)	13,213	: 1,211
		417,785	267,240	191,370	173,216

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

# 27. Non-performing exsets

Non-performing assets (NPAs) comprise non-performing loans, debt societies and contingents that are classified as Substandard, Doubtful and Loss in accordance with MAS Notices 612 and 612A.

				Grove leans,		Not Inamy
				securities and	Allowances for	securities and
3 million	Substandard	Noubriul	t.oss	constagents	inspaired assets	eomingents.
CROUP						
2021						
Classified lones	2,351	1.3.41	53.1	4,215	(1,482)	2,733
Classified debt securities	4		2	b	(2)	4
Classified contragents	4,1	74	##	117	(53)	64
Total class, hed assets	2,398	1,405	535	4,338	(1,537)	108.5
2020						
Classified Itsus	7,157	1,442	327	5,917	(1,897)	2.116
Classified debt securines		2		7	131	4
Classified contargents	1.4	67	*	A1,	(5)	76
Total plays Entureety	2,178	1,5) 3	373	4,005	(1.515)	2,190
BANK						
2021						
Class feet loans	494	917	99	1.510	(679)	8.51
Classificat delit seguntars	-	-	-	-	14.77	
Classefied contingerss	u	50		61		3 H
fotal classified assers	505	967	1945	1,571	1722)	849
2020						
Class, feed home		422	14:	1451	(1.388)	1.3700
	4,523	422	14.	2,586	11 (28)	1,198
Classified debt securities	-			.54	. <u>.</u> .	
Classified contingents Total classified assers	_	.34 				- 49
recal disastried assets	1,523	936	(4)	2,640	(1,395)	1,247

		GROUP		BANK	
		2021	2020	2011	2020
		S million	\$ milliort	enillian Z	\$ talllien
27.1	Analysed by period overdue				
	Over 180 days	927	1,857	386	1.348
	Over 90 days to 180 days	145	256	46	352
	20 days to SH days	179	1.70	55	95
	Less than 50 days	1.016	473	180	97
	Norwadae	2,064	1,2.0	893	872
		4_438	0.008	1,571	2,640
17.2	Analysed by collateral type				
	Psoppet's	2.031	9281	269	240
	Fixed deposis	16	q	¥	1
	Stock and sharps	50		34	129
	Motor vehicles	17	5	¥	۲
	Second - Official	421	1,395	345	1.200
	Office used - Cooporate and other guarantees	497	WIN	47.4	088
	Dissecond - Clear	1.30%	571	4,10	283
		4,338	47005	1.571	2,840

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

### 27. Non-performing assets a ontonech

		GROUP		HANK	
		2021 5 million	2030 Simullan	2021 Simillion	2020 Smillion
27.3	Annlysed by industry				
	Algoritalizate, thinning, and spilarly ing	96	445	+1	272
	Manufacturing	852	570	91	4.6
	Building and construction	368	211	75	35
	Houses, loans	1,002	470	253	(93
	General mone erve	6,57	814	146	49.3
	Transport, stampe and raminous atmo-	5111	.,636	++ K	1,503
	Fenance institutions, investment and bolding companies	9.9	41		
	Professionals and incividuals	179	:33	43	5 !
	Others	610	43	472	29
		4,338	4,005	1.571	2,640

### 27.4 Restructured/renegotiated loans

Non-performance restrictured loans by loan classification and the related allowances are shown below. The restrictured is ansate a performage of total non-performing frams were 31.0% (2000) 45.2% (2004) 44.8% (2000) 51.6%) for the Group and the Bank respectively.

	2021		2020	
	Алюно	Allonance	Ymount	Allowance
	5 million	S million	5 million	Z ភាជីព្រៃស
GROUP				
Substandard	816	295	5.148	846
(kse)r(a)	4417	2 5H	489	490
Tree	85	37	3.1	19
	I,VIH	5711	5,771	1,224
BANK				
Substantia (	156	29	939	771
16 c/Mail	21A	200	340	308
Loss	1	Į.	5	4
	.475	129	1,334	1,042

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

### 28. Allowances for impoired loans to customers

	GRO	GROUP		NK.
	2021	7020	2021	2020
	2 william	2 milleon	\$ million	5 millise
At 1 January	1,812	1,395	1,193	1,035
Currency translation	44	[\$4]	26	(40)
Net write-offs 6"	(6,153)	(663)	(1,042)	(466)
Net allowances (Note 10)	852	1,149	354	8777
Interest recognition on impaired loans	(31)	(42)	(15)	(30)
Transfers	11	17	6	:7
At 33 Devember (Ni co 26)	1,535	1,3/12	722	1,397

Compuse Sed debts written all too the Group and the Bank of \$1,767 million and \$1,107 million (2020; \$735 million and \$50) = 5 mpt temporary (2020; \$735 million and \$45 million and \$65 million (2020; \$60 million and \$45 million and \$65 mi

# Analysed by industry

	Comulative allowances for imported loans		impalse chargedites income si	ite-back) to
	2021	2020	2021	2020
	2 malion	\$ million	S million	5 millioa
GROUP				
Agriculture, militig, and quarrying	67	72	(7)	52
Manufactoring	283	177	1.33	103
Harkfung and construction	136	45	116	50
Bausing Joans	155	42	110	24
General economy	226	249	198	468
Transport, singage and communications:	2%3	i ,11#	141	190
It is made institutions, investment and helding companies	31	.2		7
Phities couls and individuals	70	711	40	51
Others	284	rith	269	5
	1.505	1.812	852	1,149
BANK				
Agriculture mining and quarrying	37	98	(21)	46
Minutationing	35	36	24	:2
But ding and construction	44	20	35	16
Housing lists	3	3	1	
General commerce	N2	133	87	382
Transport, competend communication	252	1.036	(13)	78.5
I manual evaluators, investiged and holding companies	_	_	(R)	(")
Professionals and individuals	33	jai	4	24
Chins	239	6	237	
	722	1,395	354	377

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

74	Dight	and	equity	occurrities.
£7.	1 7 6 6 1 1		LUUILI	W 7 11 1 11 11 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

The same of the sa		GRO	1UI:	BANK		
		2021 5 million	2020 Smjilling	2021 S neilling	2020 5 milSun	
Deb	securities	28,045	27,934	16,763	13,648	
2 gui	y ardur des	2,568	2.986	1,065	983	
Time	count for de	3,402	2,454	2,2113	.,714	
Leta	scardies	34,015	33,144	30,031	17,845	
Alles	sames time develop planed delta section ters	, (n)	G.	(d)	(1)	
		04,015	\$5,60	20,031	17,844	
Deb	rsecurities analysis:					
29.1	•					
	ipsestagat grade (AAA ta BBB)	18,983	18,503	[2,718	11,697	
	Non-investment grade (BH to C)	96	.09	00	Iry	
	Noneigted	8,996	9,517	3,979	3,542	
		2K,N45	17,934	16,763	5,648	
20.2	By credit quality					
	Plans	28,03%	2 (93)	16,763	0,640	
	Special mention	1	.1	-	3	
	Substantas	4	5	-		
	Dev_buful		2	-	-	
	11155	28,045	77,932	16,763	(5)(45)	
Dada	and equity securities analysis:					
29.3						
	Agent is burg, unroung out of 1975 my	518	545	284	526	
	Manathete (sa)	2.073	1.515	1.627	945	
	Bail day and construction	2,234	2.783	1.421	1,539	
	General commerce	7,5,5	***	.445	10.6	
	Таки дост, воение ил десении оператог	2,421	0.991	1,447	1588	
	I manical list before liversto entailed by chapteres	24,484	21,426	12,201	50,508	
	00,000	4.532	4.71	2.626	2,038	
		34,015	37, 44	20.031	(7,845	

### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

### 30. Allowences for [[quqein] assets

The following tables show reconciliations from the opening to the closing balance of expected credit loss (ECL).

5 million	Stage I	Stage 2	Stage 3	Tatal
GROUP				
At 1 January 2020	470	578	1,397	2,445
Transfer to Stage 1	497	(475)	(22)	-
Transfer to Srege 2	(181)	200	(19)	-
Transfer to Singe 3	(4)	(97)	101	-
Reniessurement (1)	I	783	1,065	1,849
New financial assets originated or purchased	609	257		866
Firstnotal 469ct9 that have been derecognised	(429)	(312)	-	(741)
Changes in models (2)	7	7		14
Write-offs	_	-	(663)	(663)
Foreign exchange and other movemens.	(3)	(I)	(44)	(48)
At 31 December 2020/1 January 2021	967	940	1.815	3,722
Transfer to Stage 8	<del>56</del> 3	(546)	(17)	-
Transfer to Slage 2	(219)	267	(48)	-
Transfer to Stage 3	(4)	[206]	209	_
Romewhat and the	(554)	592	687	725
New financial assets originated or purchased	535	398	-	933
Financial assess that have been decoapproped	(387)	(436)	-	(823)
Changes in models (3)	(10)	18	-	
Write-offs	_	-	(1,1\$3)	(1,153)
Foreign eachange and other movements	2	ż	44	48
At 31 December 2021	\$94	1,029	1,537	3,460
BANK				
At 1 January 2020	224	148	1,035	1,607
Transfer to Stage 1	386	(371)	(15)	_
Transfer to Stage 2	(106)	118	(12)	
Transfer to Stage 3	(2)	(37)	39	-
Remeasurement (1)	77	443	853	1.373
New financial assets originated or purchased	358	192		550
Financial assets that have been derecognised	(216)	(231)	-	(447)
Write-offs		_	(466)	(466)
Foreign exchange and other implements	(4)	(2)	(41)	(47)
At 31 December 2020/1 January 2021	717	460	1,393	2,570
Transfer to Stage 1	371	(358)	(13)	· -
Transfer to Stage 2	(87)	100	(13)	_
Transfer to Stage 3	(2)	(104)	106	_
Renewaterment (1)	(4 <b>00</b> )	429	265	294
New Jayneral assets originated or purchased	318	302	_	620
Financial assets that have been derecognised	(218)	(279)	_	(497)
Changes in models (5)	3	1	_	5
Wnie-offs	-	_	(1,042)	(1,041)
Foreign exchange and other movements	3	3	26	32
At 31 December 2021	705	\$55	722	1,981
				_,,,,_

Remainment includes the changes an model inputs or assumptions such as changes in the forward-locking rescreecenemic variables, pareal repayments, additional dishedowns on existing Societies, obseque in the measurement after a transfer between stages 5, 2 and 1, and the unwinding impact of time value of money.

Changes in establishmaking eigenfrankinkappes in the quantitative models used to estimate the impacts of the expected credit losses.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

# 30. Allowances for financial assets (commuted)

### Assalysed by main class of financial ingrequents

S et Plién	Singe 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Total
GROUP			_	
At J January 2020	455	573	1,395	2,425
Transfer to Stage 1	493	(471)	(22)	
Trunsfer to Stage 2	[160]	199	(19)	
Transfer to Stage 1	(4)	(97)	101	
Remeasurement <sup>(2)</sup>	13	777	1,064	1,854
New tinancial assets originated or purchased	590	257	_	547
Intrancial assets that have been derecognised	(414)	(480)		(724)
Changes in models <sup>(3)</sup>	4	7		11
Wate-offs			(663)	(663)
Foreign exchange and other movements	(3)	(1)	(44)	(48)
At 31 Decreiber 2020:1 January 2021	954	936	1,812	3,702
Transfer to Stage 1	562	(545)	(17)	-
Fransfer to Stage 2	(216)	264	(48)	_
Transfer to Stage 3	(3)	(204)	207	_
Representation (2)	(553)	579	690	716
Now Physical pages originated or pagehastel	\$16	397	_	913
Familial assets that have been derecognised	(373)	(429)	_	(802)
Changes in models (3)	(8)	18	*	10
%mle:offs	-	_	(1,153)	(1,153)
Foreign exchange and other mayoments	2	3	44	49
At 31 December 2021	188	1.019	1,535	3,435
BANK				
Al 1 Jenuary 2020	215	747	1,035	1,597
Transfer to Stage I	385	(170)	(15)	
Transfer to Stage 2	(1115)	117	(12)	-
Transfer to Stage 1	(2)	(37)	39	
Renseasurement (3)	68	442	953	1,383
New financial assets originated or purchased	342	197	-	554
Innancial assets that have been dereognised	(206)	(2.41)		(436)
White-offs			(466)	[4mi)
Foreign eachunge and other convernents	(d)	(2)	(41)	(47)
At 31 December 2020 Lisposey 2021	713	459	1,193	2,565
Transfer to Stage I	370	(357)	(13)	-
Transfer to Stage 2	(84)	97	(13)	-
Transfer to Stage 3	(2)	(104)	146	_
Renseasurement (2)	(400)	436	265	291
New Energial assets originated or perchased	302	301	-	603
paramoid swells that have been de congrised	(208)	(277)	-	(485)
Changes in models 19	.1	2	-	5
Write offs	-	-	(1,042)	(1.042)
Foreign exchange and other movements	2	4_	26	7.2
At 31 December 2021	696	551	T22	1,969

Stallades ECT on contingent habilities and other credit concutrates.

Reseast, einem includes, the changes in model deputs or assumptions such as thanges in the forward-booking macroccoromic variables. partial reproments, additional descriptions on constring facilities, changes in the measurement after a transfer between stages 1, 2 and 3, and the invending impact of time value of namey.

Changes is involved include vigorished changes to the quantitative models used to estimate the appears of the expected credit lesses.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

# 30. Allowances for financial assets (connawd).

The following tables serious information about the credit quality of financial assets

		20	021		2020			
5 milition	Stage	Stage 2	Stage 1	Tutal	Stage L	Niage 2	Stage 3	Total
GROUP								
Cash and placements with cer	eral banks (No	ce 73)						
Page	27,232	36		]*_269	25.8e2	)5	-	25,997
luces allow topes	( <b>*</b> )	121		(2)	(8)		<u> </u>	L:F
Carrying amount	27,232	-54		27,286	25,862	14	-	25,556
Government treasury bills att	d securities – A	mornised e	ost (Note 39					
Passafflarilying appoint.	334	1.1	-	347	778			178
Coverement creasury bills and	d recurities — i		(OI# 59)		24.545			21. 224
3'356	32,909			32,992	29,305	<del>-</del>		28,395 2-3
Coss allowances	(P)	=	-	(d)	(F)	· · · <del>-</del> · · · ·		<u>(n)</u>
Placements with and loads to			(oto 39)					
Fass	17,454	114		17,593	15.416	3	-	19,719
Special meticos		8		<u> </u>				
	17,454	147	-	<b>1</b> ₹,601	19,716	1		19,719
Loss allowances	(6)	14)		(4)	(3)	(n)		
Corry og amount	17,448	115		11,545	(9.71)	)	-	19,715
Placements with and loons to	haaks - FVOC	L' (Note 3	P)					
Poss	5,573	1,516	_	7,109	11,969			11,859
Ensk allowances	[2]	141		(2)	(H)	_	_	(4)
Loans to customers – Amortis								
				3.7 <b>9,</b> 20H	787 048	21,817		058,860
Pass	252,523	26,685	-	6,244	711141	-	-	4,374
Special maniform	-	6,244	2 154	2,351		4,374	2,152	2,132
Sassierward	-	-	2,154				1,447	1,447
Doubt's:	-	-	1,334	1,131	-	-	123	1,44.7
Loss	<del></del>		533	533	11 20 1,000		2,913	
·	252,523	31,929	4,215	289,667	47651	20.19		267,151
Dies allewantes	(776) 254,747	(779) 32,150	. (1 <u>.482)</u> 2,733	13.037) 286,630	716,738	(979) 29,807		. (3.25%) 26%,916)
Carry Systemsont	2,58,147	32,1341	4,133	ZMA,BATH	7.05,736	. 7,5.7		VII A'AIRA
Lauris to edistribers - FYOCE	1 (Note 39)							
Pine.	2			<u> </u>	: <del>-</del>	<u>-</u>		
Loss allowances	(A)			(P)	-	-	-	-
Delit wegnitier - Amortised er	of (Note 39)							
Piss	331		-	331	1405			588
Lines allow appear	(B)	_		(P)	(1)	<del>.</del> .		(1)
Carry inclamount	11;	-		3,31	157			187
Delit securities = FVOCT***(N	Cete 200							
Park	22,478	1,124		23,602	31,103	241		.13,545
Special mention		*,***	_			;		,
Satistizatant	_	_	- 4	4			9	
Doubtfal	_		<u> </u>	2			- ;	- 5
2411111.21	22,418	1.134	<u>-</u> -	\$3,608	71,107	348	- }	23,555
					••			-
Ensyallowances	(6)	(7)	(2)	(15)	(2)	(1)	(9)	(15)
For loan commitments and	fusincial gua	runtee dan	stracts, the	amounts in 1	he table tept	escal the a	iniounts co	mnutted
or guaranteed, respectively								
Laten committeents and contin								
Park Commentaria and Comme	138,170	17,922	_	111,297	308,344	9,67.		118,015
Special mention		454	_	654		×33		X 511
Substantind	_	4.4	<b>ы</b>	641		100	272	272
Doubt fel	_	_	#H7	487			102	402
1005	_		1 MK	ISA			327	127
,	1183**	13.576	1.316	111,262	1.05,744	10,500	5.11	119,646
	1102 4	17.0.4	1		,			
Allowances for contragent								
hoùald ey and viedd		49.15.				***- ***		,
commutations (Note 39)	(104)	(240)	(53)	(198)	(189)	(25%)	(2)	(451)

It accords to with SHRS 100. So that a least operation of 1908 floors or produced in project instrugence with a construction reserves with a country protection of a second of the Construction of the Cons

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

### 30. Allowances for financial assets (continued)

		2021				2020		
S milifon	Stage I	Stage 2	Starge 3	I of all	Stage I	Stage 1	Stage 1	Intal
BANK								
Cash and placements with								
Pasc.	22,478	57	-	72,535	70,589	10		26,624
Ecos allowances	<b>(</b> ₹)	. 121	· ·- <sup>-</sup> -	(2)		(1)		
Carrying amount	22,478	55		22,533	20,589	:-1		20/623
Government freasury bills			ом (Note 30)					
Basi-Carrying amount	334	1.3		.447	174		-	175
Coverament freesury high	and securities -	EMORT FOR	ose 39)					
Sas»	16.585	H.5		K66.01	15,011		_	15,000
Fare attawances	(9)	(4)		(*)	(9)		. ===	¦ †;
Placements with and busins	to banks – Amin	tived real (*	inte 19p					
Pars	10.232	1,412	-	11,044	(7.5m2)			13,451
Look a www.mags	(5)	(0)	-	(5)	(1)	(9)		0.00
Carrying amount	10,227	1,412		11,639	7,000			13,961
Placements with and loans	io banks – FVO	CL 4Note 2	ισ <sub>1</sub>					
Pass	3,845	1,274	_	5,119	+ 459		_	8,597
Local ocusions		(¥)		(81	(8)			
ilinans to costonices – Anni	rtinal cost (Note	101						
Pace	167,580	20,130	_	187,719	150,100	.2.496		108,596
Special meation	_	2,094	-	2,094		1.950		1,950
Selestrodawi	-		-194	404			1,324	1,021
[Av.beful			917	917			622	927
Loss			. 99	499			141	141
	167,580	22,231	1.510	191,524	350,100	14 440	7.5×n	179,092
Localida estado	(A3H)	(392)	(654)	(1,71,9)	(592)	7,000,0	( )88)	(2.279)
Carrying acapent	100,94\$	21,841	831	189,614	55,508	19,147	1,19X	170,854
ltebl scenricies - Amortius	& cost (Note 34)							
l'ass	3.51	-		3.51	488			1-,
Loss alliewances	(2)			(4)	(1)			(1)
Carrying account	111			334	387	-	-	743
Delm securities - FVORTE	(Nore 39)							
Pass	12,495	548	-	13,063	17.018	163		12783
Lessabowanee	(4)	(C)						

For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, the amounts in the table represent the amounts communed or enaranteed, respectively.

or Edminaced, respective								
I can commitment and co	etingent linbilite:	1						
Park	₿b.4]-b	9.510		43.926	42,612	7.722		49,754
Special nationer		-1203		4400		623		6.14
Substancap!			SHI	5KI	-	-	241	741
Doubital		_	441	++1	-	-	777	977
i ex.	_	_	177	177			15×	: 53
	Kυ, <b>≜</b> 3-b	9,990	1.199	97,005	32,912	3,365	676	90,094
							.—	

Alfosobres for contingent hardsty, and coold James Impers (Note 36) 1591 (15%) (45) (260) (123) (1986) (230)(0)

Gravioritations in NLOS(), when desire of the executive CNOS(), any hepothetic is energy and depother from the energy with executive and executive production of the executive and the equipment of the Laboration and the equipment of the Laboration and the executive production of the executive productive production of the executive production of the executive produ

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

### 31. Other assets

	GROUP		JIA.	ANK	
	2021 S million	2020 5 million	2021 Smillion	2020 Smillion	
Interest receivable	889	970	481	509	
Simpley debtags (agt)	927	1,756	K7	46	
Depuisits and prepayments	1.911	2.544	1,391	2,146	
Others	2,612	1,739	.140	382	
	6,334	5,806	2,339	3,135	

At 51 December 2021, remistrance assets included in "Others" amodated to \$467 million (2020; \$298 million) for the Group.

### 32. Associates

	GROUP		BANK		
	2021 5 million	20211 S million	2021 SaniHion	2020 S million	
Quoted equity security, at cost	2,601	2,067	2,157	1,641	
L'aquistrel equity apparation, at cost	145	144		65	
	2,746	2,21	1,222	1,708	
Share of post acquisition reserves	3,289	2,264			
Unquoted equity security, at fair value	95	97	-	-	
Net carrying amount	6,130	4,592	2,222	1,968	
Amounts that from associates (opercored)	40	41	40	41	
Allowances for non-impaired amounts due from associates.	(0)	(n)	(n)	(#)	
	40	4:	40	41	
Investmenty in and amounty due from assignates.	6,170	4,633	2,262	1,749	

## 32.1 List of principal associates

The Group's principal associates are as follows:

	Country of Incorporacion: Principal place of			Effective % interest held **		
Name of associates	hostness	Nature of the retaining high with the Group	2020	20211		
Quoted Bank of Ningoo Co., I td (2)	People's Republic of China	A continercial bank, which enables the Group to expand the bilateral business in offshore financing table finance and provide basising	ŹU	20		
Disquoted Maywoolih Fend Management Company Lurated <sup>18</sup>	Prople's Republic of Coma	A privately held asset manager that manafactures and distributes quitted for dividing Cheste. Class.	29	29		
Network for Flectronic Transfers (Singapore) Pte Ltd <sup>14</sup>	Singapore	Provides electronic rayment services, which enables the Garage to estend hands transfer services to us broad customer base.	33	44		

Addred by First & Young, Address by KPMSG LTP

Enumbed to the property energy

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

## 32. Associates (cominved).

# 32.1 List of principal associates (continued)

As at 31 December 2021, the fair value (Level 1 of the fair value bicrarchy) of the investments in Bank of Ningbowss \$10.74 billion (2020; \$8.60 billion). The carrying amount of the Group's interests was \$5.70 billion (2020; \$4.20 billion).

As Bank of Ningbo is listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, the entity's ability to transfer funds to the Group is subject to focal listing and statutory regulations.

## 32.2 Figuration of material associate

The table below provides the financial information of the Group's material associate;

	Bank of Ning	Bank of Ningbo Co., Ltd.		
2 million	2021	2020		
Selected locume statement information				
Revenue	11,007	8,210		
Net profit from continuing operations	4,087	5,023		
Other comprehensive intentio	630	(227)		
Total comprehensive income	4,717	2,796		
Selected balance sheet information				
Current assets	3 <b>08,</b> 85 <b>6</b>	237,879		
Non-current assets	113,265	91,589		
Current liabilities	(335,881)	(254,161)		
Non-current Mubilities	(59,457)	451,205)		
Net miseti	31,785	24,100		
Non-controlling interests	(122)	(104)		
Preference shares	(3,144)	(3,000)		
Not assets attributable to ordinary sharcholders	28,514	20,998		
Reconstitution of associate's total ordinary thereholders' equity to the				
carrying amount in the Group's financial statements Group's interests in net assets of investee at hegianing of the year Group's short of:	4,799	5,301		
- net predix from continuing operations	783	571		
- other commence income	336	123		
- local comprehensive income	1,119	694		
Divided6	(128)	(118)		
Subscription of shures	514	322		
Carrying amount of interest in investee at end of the year	5,704	4,199		
Dividends received during the year	128	118		

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended \$1 December 2021

# 32. Associates (continued)

## 32.2 Financial information of material associate (continued)

In addition to the interests in associate disclosed above, the Circup also has interests in individually immaterial associates that are accounted for using the equity method

S million	2021	2020
At 31 December:		
Aggregate currying amount of individually immaterial associates	331	246
For the year ended:		
Aggregate amounts of the throught share of:		
Net profit from continuing operations	40-	40
Other comprehensive intorne	A.	6
Trical comprehensive incurre	43	46
Dividends received during the year	t	2
The Group's share of contingent liabilities in respect of all its associates is as follows:		
S million	21121	2010
At At December:		
Shape of contingent liabilities, squeezed jointly with other investors of insocrates	1.5,029	8,670

## 33. Subudiaries

7 u y u ii zi ii s	Ira!	KK.
	2021	202u
	5 million	nollfim č
Investments in subsidiaries, at cost		
Quuted securities	1,970	1,970
Disputed, sentratus	13,149	15,085
Allowance for impairment	(31)	(29)
Not carrying amount	15,088	15,026
Amount due from subsidieries		
Teem to maturity of one year unless	8.842	3,773
Term to marpinity of more than one year	HAD,T.I	8,475
	21,930	17,246
Of which		
Unsecured	21,354	16.652
Spanned	576	544
	21,930	17,246
Investments in and amount due from subsidiaries	37,018	32,272

At 31 December 2021, the fair values (Level 1 of the fair value inerarchy) of the Group's interests in its quoted subsidiaries, Great Fastern Holdings Limited and PT Bank OCBC NISP 10k, were \$8.38 billion (2020; \$8.32 billion) and \$1.25 billion (2020; \$1.50 billion) respectively.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 34 December 2021.

# 33. Subsidiaries (continued)

# 33.1 List of principal subsidiaries

Principal subsidiantes of the Group are as follows:

·	Country of Incorporation Principal place of	interests and held by the	of awnership I voting rights : Group (%)	Proportion of ownershinterests and voting right held by non-controlling interests (%)		
Name of subsidiaries	linslates	2021 : 1	20201:	202111	202011	
Banking						
Batter OCBC Weng Hong, S.A.	Magair SAR	100	100	-		
Back of Singapore Lineared	Singapore	100	100			
OCBC At Anna Back Bertail	Malaysia	100	100			
OCBC Bark (Malayso) Beloat	Malaysia	100	100	_	_	
OCBC Wing Hang Bank (Chera)	People's Reputite					
Linn (rd	e: China	100	100	-		
OCBC Word Hang Hank I medial -	Hong Xiary, SAR	100	100	_		
P1 Hank OCBC NISP TSc	Indenes a	85	7.6	15	15	
lesurance						
Great Eastern General Insurance	Singspore					
Limited		76.5	46	12	1.3	
Great Eastern General Insurance	Malayora					
(Mizhysa) Hebad		748	46	12	12	
Great Eastern Jule Assurance	Malaysia					
(Mylaysca) Berhad		AS	8.6	12	17	
The Great Rastern Life Assoration	Sicceptor					
Company Limited		8.5	23	13	13	
Asset management and https://doi.org/10.1001/						
Lice Global Investors Lineated	Singapore	92	92	н	8	
Great Castern Histories Limited	Sinjapaie	8.9	88	17	1.2	
Stockbroking						
QCBC Securities Private Finaled	Sir удржия	100	100	-	-	

<sup>1.</sup> Strandobradio review persentigo

The principal subsidiaries hoted above are mulited by PricewaterhouseCoopers 1.1.1 Singaproe and its associated firms.

The Greap's subsidiaries do not have significant aestrictions on its ability to access or use its assets and settle its liabilities other than those resulting from their respective local saminary, regulatory, supervisory and banking requirements within which its subsidiaries operate. These requirements require frie Group's subsidiaries to maintain maintain levels of regulatory capital, tiquid assets, and exposure limits. In addition, Great Fastern Holdings Limited and other insurance subsidiaries are subject to their respective local meanance laws and regulations, while the Gracip's banking subsidiaries are subject to paradinal regulatory requirements imposed by local regulators.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

# 33. Subsidiaries (continued)

# 33.2 Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries

The following table summarises the financial information, before intercompany eliminations, relating to principal subsidieries with material NCI.

	PT Bank O		Great Eastern Heldings Limited		
Total comprehensive income attributable to NCI Dividends paid to NCI during the year  Summa rived financial information  Total liabilities  Total net assets  Revenue Profit	2021	2020	2021	2020	
Net assets attributable to NCI	440	402	1,215	1,120	
Total comprehensive income strubulable to NCI	38	18	115	123	
Dividends paid to NCI during the year	-		34	34	
Summarised financial information					
Total assets	19,883	18,886	110,390	106,928	
Total liabilities	(16,935)	(16,196)	(100,254)	(97,453)	
Total net assets	2,948	2,690	10,136	9,475	
Revenue	909	882	19,964	21,478	
Profil	253	169	1,133	988	
Офа: сопрефенно проите	(12)	31	(160)	74	
Total comprehensive income	24)	Z00	973	1,062	
Cash flows provided by operating activities.	1,347	498	4,274	1,532	
Cash flows (used in ) provided by investing activities	(2.043)	(1,594)	(4,081)	2,204	
Cash Hows (used in Sprovided by financing activities	(23)	154	(725)	(302)	
Effect of currency translation reserve adjustment	7	ΪI		4	
Ner changes in each and each equivalents	228	(951)	(532)	3,434	

## 33.3 Consolidated structured entitles

The Bank has established a USD10 billion Global Covered Bond Programme (the Programme). Under the Programme, the Bank may from time to time issue covered bonds (the Covered Bonds). The payments of interest and principal under the Covered Bonds are guaranteed by the Covered Bond Guarantor, Red Sail Pte. 1.td (the CBG). The Covered Bonds issued under the Programme will predominantly be backed by a portfolio of Singapore housing loses transferred from the Bank to the CBG. Integral to the Programme structure, the Bank provides funding and hedging facilities to the CBG.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

# 34. Property, plant and equipment

		20:	26		2020			
		Computer-				Compater-		
CROUP (\$ mililion)	related	related 115	Others	Total	related	related (4)	Others	Total
Com								
At il January	3,764	2,739	656	7,159	3,753	2,494	640	6,887
Corrency translation	32	(1)	_!	31	(11)		(1)	(17)
Additions/modifications	\$9	335	52	476	109	309	38	456
Disposals/Intrainations and								
other transfers	(115)	(34)	(39)	(188)	(82)	(59)	(31)	(167)
Not transfer to:								
Assets held for sale	(10)	_	( <b>4</b> )	(10)	(m)	-	(m)	(*)
Investment property								
(Note 35)	(21)	_	(4)	(21)	(5)			(5)
At 31 December	3,739	3,039	670	7,448	3,764	2,739	656	7,159
Accumulated depreciation								
At L Jarwary	(150,1)	(1,993)	(505)	(3,529)	(899)	(1,805)	(491)	(3,195)
Currency translation	(11)	1	(#)	(9)	(#)	3	1	4
Disposals/terminations and								
other transfers	45	32	.76	113	43	19	76	1340
Deprecimina charge	(141)	(213)	(36)	(390)	(153)	(210)	(34)	(399)
Depreciation charge to								
groß) from life insurance								
(Note 4)	(24)	(39)	(B)	(71)	(23)	(40)	(7)	(70)
Not imported to:								
Assets held for safe	2	-	<b>#</b>	2	F	-	Ħ	¥
hivestment property								
(Note 35)	5			3	I		-	1
At 31 December	(1,155)	(2,211)	(513)	(3,879)	(170,1)	(1,993)	(505)	(3,529)
Accumulated Impairment								
louer								
At I January	(62)	(♥)	(1)	(63)	(63)	(P)	(1)	(64)
Ourrency translation	F	_	ĸ	Ħ,	(4)	_		(#)
Disposals and other transfers	_	_	_	-	T	-	-	1
White-back to income statement	_	_	_	_		-	ŧ	*
At 31 December	(62)	(P)	(0)	(63)	(62)	(A)	(1)	(63)
Net carrying amount, at								
31 December (i)	2,522	828	156	3,506	2,671	746	190	3,567
Firethold property	489				435			
Lesezhoki property	1,335				2,959			
Net carrying amount	2,294	-			2,394	-		
Less Carry III Z Billion III	- Apr. 74	-			2,534	•		

Includes computer sufficience of \$618 million (2020 -\$452 million). The cost and accumulated depreciation are \$2,079 million (2020 -\$1,575 million) and \$1,461 million (2020 -\$1,122 million) respectively.
 Includes RON: access comprising property-related of \$229 million (2020 -\$277 million), computer-related of \$1 million (2020 -\$4 million) and others of \$2 million (2020 -\$2 million).

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

# 34. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

		200	21		2020			
	Property-	Computer-			Property-	Computer-		
BANK (Smillion)	related	related (1)	Others	Tpusi	related	related (1)	Others	Total
Coar								
At 1 Jenuary	42\$	1,447	فخزر	2,060	462	1,332	191	1.940
Currency cranslation	#	(#)	(#)	(4)	ŕ	þ	þ	A
Additions	21	174	30	225	26	155	13	194
Disposals terminations and other								
सकाशिक§	(19)	(14)	(21)	(54)	(13)	(40)	(16)	(69)
Net real/fet to envestment property								
(Note 35)	(5)			(\$)	(\$)			(5)
A) 31 December	422	2,647	197	2,216	425	1.447	. 186	2,060
Accemulated depreciation								
At I January	(145)	(1,062)	(151)	(1,361)	(124)	(976)	(155)	(1,255)
Currency translation	<b>K</b>	*	*	*	(P)	(#)	(#)	(P)
Disposals/terminations and other								
Ganst <del>ers</del>	15	13	21	51	12	40	15	67
Depreçiation charge	(37)	(133)	(12)	(183)	(38)	(126)	(11)	(175)
Nex transfer to investment								
property (Note 35)		-	-	2	2		-	2
Al 31 December	(165)	(1,1\$3)	(142)	(1,490)	(148)	(1,1%2)	(151)	(1,361)
Accumulated impairment losses								
At I January	(1)	-	_	(1)	(1)	-		(1)
Disposals and other transfers			•		<b>p</b>		_	*
At 31 December	(1)			(1)	(1)			(1)
Nes carrying amount,								
at 31 December (2)	256	424	55	735	276	385	37	698
Prochold property	42				43			
Leasehold property	167				176			
Net carrying amount	209	-			219	-		

Fig. Includes complete software of \$166 million (2020: \$328 million). The core and accumulated depreciation are \$1,261 million (2020: \$1,126 million) and \$892 million (2020: \$79% million) expectably.

In Exchaigs ROM passets companing property-related of \$42 million (2020: \$52 million), computer-related of \$1 million (2020: \$3 million) and others of \$44 million (2020: \$4 million).

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

# 35. Investment property

	GROU	BANK		
\$ million	\$021	2020	2021	2020
Cost				
At I January	1,049	7,050	4:112	503
Carsency translation	4	2	-	
Additional	7	4	7	4
Disposals and editornal sters	(23)	1.51	( <sup>0</sup> )	(m)
Net transfer trans (20)*				
Property, plant and equipment (Note 34)	21	5	5	ś
Assets i ald his sauc	(5)	130	(3)	=
At 91 Distriber	1,053	1,049	602	602
Accumulated depreciation				
At Liberary	(235)	(2,6)	4123)	(112)
Cup ency translation	(ti	(0)	_	
Disposeds and other transfers	10	1	4	
Depreciative charge	(22)	(20)	(H)	(94)
No, transfer (from) to		-	-	
Property, plant and equipment (Note 44)	(5)	(1)	(2)	131
Assets held for safe	· . · . · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1	1	
At 11 December	(251)	(235)	(138)	(123)
Accumulated Impairment Insses				
At 1 tingary	(l)	(1)	(1)	(1)
Wisterback to income statement	•	_	Ų	
Natural sfor from property, plant and equipment		(9)		(4)
At 31 December	0)	(3)	(1)	(0)
Set yarrying amount				
Treehold property	525	547	150	!62
Lengtholdgoogerty	276	200	314	<u> 31e</u>
At 51 Denomber	801	813	473	478
Fair value hierarchy				
Ind?	<b>#75</b>	1,023	242	327
Level 3	1,933	1,811	1,103	i,iHi
Market value	2,80M	2,834	1_145	1, 162
-aminei -ming	Later		<u> </u>	1,40

Market values for properties under Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are determined based on the direct practic comparison method. Such valuation is derived from proce per square metro for comparable buildings market data with insuperficant valuation adjustment, if necessary

Market Values for properties under Level. Vol the fair value hierarchy are determined using a continuation of direct market comparison and investment methods. The key unabservable inputs usert in these valuations are the capitalisation rates and rental yields.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

## 36. Goodwill and other intangible assets

	GRO	BANK		
5 million	1021	2020	2021	2020
Goodnill				
At I January	4,431	4,46K	1,867	1,867
Currency translation	36	(37)	_	_
At 31 December	4,467	4,431	1,867	1,867
Intangible awest				
At I forwary	406	512		
Amortisation charged to recome statement:				
Core deposit relationships (1)	(4L)	(42)		
- Customer relationships (2)	(15)	(15)		
Distribution platform	(♥)	(#)		
– Usić ravorance bosinies <sup>DI</sup>	(47)	(47)		
Currency translation	4	(2)		
At 31 December	307	406		
Total goodwill and other latangible assets	4,774	4,837	1,867	1,867
Analysed as follows:				
Goodwill from exquisition of subsidience/business	4,467	4,431	1.867	1,867
Enrangible assess, at cost	1,571	1,560	_	_
Accumulated amonisation for intangible assets	(1,264)	(1,154)		
_	4,774	4,837	1.867	1,867

Fine deposit relationships arrange from the sequentian of OCBC Wing Hang, are determined to have an estimated worful life of 10 years. At 11 December 2.01, there has a remaining useful life of 2.5 years (2020) 3.5 years).

## Impairment tests for goodwill

For impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Group's CGU identified mainly to business segments as follows.

\$ million	Rasis of determining	Carrying amount		
Cash Generating Units	recoverable value	2021	2020	
Goodunii attributed to Honking CGU				
Global Consumer Financial Services		R44	344	
Global Corporate Bunking		57 <b>0</b>	570	
Global Treasury		524	124	
•	Value-in-use	1,938	1,915	
Great Fastern Holdings Limited	Appraisal value	427	427	
Dank of Singapore Jumited	Value-in-use	HL4	7186	
Lion Global Investors Limited	Value-in-use	30	30	
OCBC Wing Hang Back Limited	Velue-in-use	1,073	1,056	
PT Bank OCBC NISP TEK	Yalue∙in use	175	174	
Others	Válue-m-use	LD	10	
		4,467	4,433	

Toolston relationships among from the acquired most Basis of Singapore Limited and Baselays Wild, are determined to have an extending useful life of up are 3 (2020, 6 years).

The control of the control of the control of Basis of Singapore Limited and Baselays Wild, are determined to have an extending useful life of up to 5 years (2020, 6 years).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> The value of collections under business of the Group is accordanced over a useful life of 20 years. At 31 December 2021, the intarighte aget has a remaining useful life of 5 years (2020 4 years).

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

## 36. Condwill and other intengible assets (continued)

The value-in-use calculations apply a disconned cash flow prodel using cash flow projections based on financial budgets and forecasts approved by management covering a five year period. The cash flow projections are discounted at a pre-tax discount rate that includes a reasonable risk premium at the date of assessment of the respective CGC. Cash flows beyond the lifth year are extrapolated using the estimated terminal growth rates (weighted average growth rate in extrapolate each flows beyond the projected years). The terminal growth rate for each CGC used does not exceed management's expectation of the long term average growth rate of the respective industry and country in which the CGC operates. The discount rates and terminal growth rates used are tabulated below for applicable CGUs

	Bankin	Banking CCL		Bank of Singapore Limited		OCBC Wing Bang Bank Limbert		K OCBC
	2021	2020	2021	2020	2021	2020	2021	2020
Discount rate	8.6%	10.0%	9.5%	10.83*	9.6%	10.5%	16.5%	16.0%
Terminal growth rate	2,0%	2.0%	2.0%	2,0%	2,6%	2.05%	4.0%	4.0%

For the insurance CGD, the Group applies the approach value technique for its value in-use calculation. This technique is containedly used to determine the economic value of an insurance bismess, which comprises two components: embedded value of in-force hisiness and existing structural value (value of future sales). The embedded value of the life assurance basiness is the present value of projected distributable profits (each flows) and the in-force business. The cash flows represent a decernitissis approach based on assumptions as in figure operating experience discounted at a risk adjusted rate of 6.00% (2020; 6.00%) and 7.75% (2020; 7.75%) for Sangapore and Malaysia respectively. The assumptions take into account the recent experience of, and expected future outlook for the life insurance business of the CGO. Investment returns assumed are based on long term strategic asset mix and their expected future returns. The existing structural value is the value of projected distributable profits from new businesses, which is calculated based on new businesses sold for the acre months enced up to 30 September and applying a new business multiplier to the value of future sales.

A reasonably possible change in key assumptions will not cause the carrying amount to evaluably exceed the recoverable amount.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 free cuptor 2021.

# 37. Segment information

# 37.1 Business segments

	Giobal Conscione Private	(Bohal Wholesote	Global Treasury and			
§ netlion	Banking	Runking	Markets	Insurance	Others	Group
Year ended 31 December 2021						
Net raterest massive	1.654	2,753	973	98	377	5,855
Num-cofferest accome	2,041	9.11	257	1,4%	46	4,741
Loral liscome	5,685	3,684	1,210	1,594	42.5	18,546
Operating profit before						
all owners and annet sature	1,192	2.285	877	1,270	20K	5,832
Agreem section of intangiple assets	(15)			(47)	441)	ເປັກສາ
All awarens for lights and other assets	(50)	(579)	(4)	ì	(2.15)	(873)
Operating profit after						
oftowances and ansurtisation	1,121	1.706	873	1,224	(68)	4,856
Share of less by obsesses ites, art of the	_	-	_	_	824	H24
Profit belong income to a	1,121	1,70 <del>6</del>	873	1,224	756	5,680
Other Information:						
1'apri il expensione	72	14	1	105	292	484
Depresioner	85	11	2	k	,16b	412
31 31 December 2021						
Seguted awards	5.51,082	184,395	49,082	110,950	35,726	561,235
Unadocated alices	•			-		280
Elimination						(\$9,328)
Lotal assets						542,187
Sentices half, area	167,412	151,651	59,405	97,356	27,116	503,440
Unadoceted halo in ex-	•		-	-		3,731
I; licensiato es						489,3281
Total liabilities						487,849
Other Information:						
Ceres mordsink owns	109,944	177,673	t,274	1	893	289,716
NPAs	1,184	3,143		4	7	4,338

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

## 37. Segment information (continued)

#### 37.1 Business segments (continued)

Vear endort 31 December 2020   Net information:   1,912   2,690   899   146   359   5,966   Non-Instruct income   1,837   812   314   1,149   39   4,173   Total become   3,749   3,502   1,215   1,275   398   14,139   Total becomes and archamiscion   1,401   2,131   905   968   295   5,700   Allowances and archamiscion   1,401   2,131   905   968   295   5,700   Allowances for locate and other assets   (181)   1,489   (1)   (2)   (1970)   (2,943)   (2	S million	Global Consumer/ Private Ranking	Global Wholesale Banking	Global Treesury and Markets	(purranec	Dibera	Group
Non-dimensal incorne   1,837   812   216   1,169   39   4,173   1,746   1,275   378   10,139   1,215   1,275   378   10,139   1	<u> </u>					<del></del>	4-4-1
Non-dimensal incorne   1,837   812   216   1,169   39   4,173   1,746   1,275   378   10,139   1,215   1,275   378   10,139   1			= 400	uds	• • • •		E 114.4
Operating profit before allowesness and arominisation   1,401   2,131   905   968   295   5,700							
Operating profit before allowesness and arominisation   1,401   2,131   905   968   295   5,700			3,502				
Allowances and arsumisation   1,401   2,131   905   968   295   5,700					•		·
Amortisation of miangible assets (15)		1	\$ 131	one		205	6 400
Allowances for linear and other assets  Operating profit after allowancer and amortisation  1.205 642 904 919 (117) 3,553 Shure of results of associates, net of tax  Profit before income tax  1.205 642 904 919 (117) 3,553  Cheer information:  Capital expendance  2.05 642 904 919 (117) 3,553  Cheer information:  Capital expendance  2.05 642 904 919 495 44,165  Cheer information:  Capital expendance  2.08 21 2 103 250 434  Depreciation  2.07 11 2 8 301 419  Ar 31 December 2020  Segment assets  Charling assets  Ch			2,131				•
Comparison of examination   1.205   642   904   919   (117)   3,553					· ·		
Solution		(10:)	(1,469)	- 07	(-)	(370)	(2,114.5)
Share of results of associous, net of tax   -		1.705	447	no.	018	(2.12)	1 661
Profit before Income tax   1,205   642   904   919   495   4,165						4	
Other information:           Capinal expendance         58         21         2         105         250         434           Depreciation         97         11         2         8         301         419           Ar 31 December 2020         Segment assets         127,746         169,710         105,718         107,526         34,794         545,494           Unallocated assets         132           Elemination         (24,237)           Total assets         162,799         138,170         62,908         95,731         32,080         491,888           Unallocated liabilities         2,563           Eliesinarion         (24,232)           Total liabilities         2,563           Eliesinarion         (24,232)           Total liabilities           Cress non-hank loans         105,356         162,327         759         \$ 795         267,240							
Capital expendentre	Profit belore income tax	1,205	1942	7.4	717	497	+,10>
Depreciation   97	Other information:						
Ar 31 December 2020 Segment assets 127,746 169,710 105,718 107.526 34,794 545,494 Unallocated assets 132 Elemination (24,237) Segment itabilities 162,799 138,170 62,708 95,731 32,080 491,888 Unallocated liabilities 2,562 Elemination (24,232) Total liabilities 2,562 Cheer information: Cheer information: Circss non-hank loans (05,356 162,527 759 5 795 267,240	Capital expendentre						
Segment assets   127,746   169,710   105,718   107,526   34,794   545,494     Unallocated assets   132     Eleminarios:   (24,237)     Total assets   162,799   138,170   62,708   95,731   32,080   491,888     Unallocated liabilities   2,562     Elieninarion   (24,232)     Total liabilities   470,219     Other latormation:   (05,356   162,527   759   5   795   267,240     Cress non-hank loans   (05,356   162,527   759   5   795   267,240     Cress non-hank loans   (05,356   162,527   759   5   795   267,240     Cress non-hank loans   (05,356   162,527   759   5   795   267,240     Cress non-hank loans   (05,356   162,527   759   5   795   267,240     Cress non-hank loans   (05,356   162,527   759   5   795   267,240     Cress non-hank loans   (05,356   162,527   759   5   795   795   795     Cress non-hank loans   (05,356   162,527   759   5   795   795   795   795     Cress non-hank loans   (05,356   162,527   759   759   759   759   795	Depreviation	97	Ш	2	В	301	419
Unallocated assets         132           Eleminarios:         (24,237)           Total assets         571,395           Segment liabilities         162,799         138,170         62,708         95,731         32,080         491,888           Unallocated liabilities         2,561         2,562         2,562         2,662         2,762	Ar 31 December 2020						
Unallocated assets         131           Eleminarios:         (24,237)           Total assets         571,395           Segment liabilities         162,799         138,170         62,708         95,731         32,080         491,888           Unallocated liabilities         2,563         161esinarios         (24,232)           Total liabilities         470,219           Other laformation:         795         267,240           Gress non-hank loans         (05,356         162,327         759         \$ 795         267,240	Segment assets	127,746	169,710	105,718	107,526	34,794	545,494
Total assets   571,395     5	Unallocated assets		•	•			132
Total assets	Elemination						(24,237)
Unallocated liabilities         2,562           Elieninarion         (24,232)           Total liabilities         470,219           Other information;         605,356         162,327         759         \$ 795         267,240	Total assets						
Unallocated liabilities         2,562           Elieninarion         (24,232)           Total liabilities         470,219           Other information;         605,356         162,327         759         \$ 795         267,240	Segment (inhibities	162.799	138,170	62,908	95.731	12.080	491.888
Color   Colo	<b>n</b>			VEI TVV		26,787	
Total liabilities							
Gress non-hank louns (05,356 162,527 259 \$ 795 267,240)							
Gress non-hank louns (05,356 162,527 259 \$ 795 267,240)	Other Information:						
		105,356	162,527	259	4	795	267,240
	NPAs	574	3,417		ś	9	4,005

OCBC Group's businesses are presented in the following customer segments and husiness activities. Global ConsumerPrivate Banking, Global Wholesale Banking, Global Treasury and Markets and husinesses.

# Global Cunsumer/Private Banking

Global Consumer/Private Banking provides a full range of products and services to individual customers. At Global Consumer Banking, the products and services offered include deposit products (checking accounts, savings and fixed deposits), consumer loans (limiting loans and other personal loans), credit cards, wealth management products (unit trusts, bancassurance products and structured deposits) and brokerage services. Private Banking catters to the specialised banking needs of high net worth individuals, offering wealth management expertise, including investment advice and portfolio management services, estate and trust planning, and wealth structuring.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

## 37. Segment information (continued)

## 37.1 Rusiness segments (continued)

## Global Wholesale Banking

Global Wholesale Banking serves institutional customers ranging from large comporates and the public sector to small and medium outerprises. The business provides a full range of financing solutions including long-term project financing, short-term credit, working capital and trade financing, as well as customered and structured equity-tasked financing. It also provides customers with a broad range of products and services such as cash management and costedian services, capital market solutions, corporate finance services and advisory banking, and treasury products.

#### Clobal Treasury and Markets

Global Treasury and Markets is responsible for the management of the Group's asset and hability interest care positions, cagages an fereign exchange activities, money market operations, fixed income and derivatives trading, and offers structured treasury products and financial solutions to meet customers' investment and hedging needs. Income from Beastry products and services offered to obstomers of other business segments, such as Global Consumer/Private Banking and Global Wholesale Banking, is reflected in the respective business segments.

#### Insurance

The Group's insurance business, including its fund management activities, is undertaken by the Bank's subsidiary Great Eastern Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries, which provide both life and general insurance products to its customers minuty in Singapore and Maloysia.

#### Others

Others comprise mainly property holding, investment holding and items not attributable to the business segments described above.

The business segment information is prepared based on intental management reports, which are used by senior management for decision-making and performance management. The following management reporting methodologies are adopted:

- (a) income and expenses are astributable to each segment based on the internal management reporting policies;
- (b) in determining the segment results, balance slicer items are internally transfer priced; and
- (c) transactions between business segments are recorded watern the segment as if they are third party transactions and are climinated on consolidation.

Where there are material changes in the organisational structure and management reporting meshodologies, segment information for prior periods is reclassified to allow comparability. There are no material items of income or expense between the business segments.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

## 37. Segment information communed,

# 37.2 Geographical segments

	Total	Profit before	Income tax	Capital	lorel	forst
Ş millim	incompr	jnemue la r	copenses	expenditors	455/15	liabilities
2021						
Singapore	3,955	3,039	271	3.52	317,491	.511,7.48
Malaysiq	1.619	H60	173	T3	66,997	55,450
Indonesia	440	325	72	4.5	20.954	17,650
Greater China	1.453	1.243	75	29	84,031	60.128
Other Asia Pacific	262	102	29	5	18,631	111,644
Rest of the World	367	111	28	2	30,083	_32,239
	10.596	5,680	648	484	542,187	487,844
2020						
Singapere	5,450	1,595	12	278	307.328	298,782
Malays a	1,610	550	166	74	67,005	55,795
Indunesia	913	225	54	.36	19,845	96,690
Circater China	1,603	1,285	116	14	85,376	60,870
Other Asia Pacific	242	123	32	2	18.554	(0,391
Rest of the World	306	177	51	6	23,343	27,737
	10 139	4,165	437	434	521,395	475,219

The Group's operations are in six main geographical areas. The gasgraphical information is prepared based on the country in which the transactions are booked, it would not be materially different if at is based on the country in which the counterparty or assers are located. The geographical information is stated after chimination of intra group transactions and balances.

## 38. Risk miniagement

# 38.1 Overview

The throughs tisk microgeneous framework encompasses good governance, sound policies, robust lanes of defence, right expertise and continuous investment in human resources, technology and digital capabilities. The framework is underpinated by a strong corporate culture that demands accountability, ownership and high ethical standards to ensure this the risks being taken are:

- consistent with the Group's corporate strategy and within established risk appetite;
- adequately compensated and most the Group's risk-return expectations;
- well-inderstood, evolusied qualitatively and supported by robust quantitative analyses and steess sextings.
- managed holistically by evaluating sisk interactions across the different risk types;
- · efficiently and comprehensively captured, aggregated and reported,
- reviewed by an independent risk function with adequate resources, authority and expertise, and
- accompanied by conungency plans to ensure resultence against potential crises or unexpenied events.

The Board of Directors (Board) has the ultimate responsibility for the effective management of risk and establishes the corporate strategy and approves the risk appetite within which senior management should execute the strategy.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

#### 38. Risk management (continued)

#### 38.1 Overview (continued)

The Board Risk Management Committee (BRMC) is the designated board committee overseeing risk management matters. It ensures that the Group's overall risk management philosophy and principles are aligned with the corporate strategy and within the approved risk appetite. It also ensures that the necessary overall risk management organisation is in place and effective. Based on the approved risk appende. BRMC approves various quantitative guidance and qualitative expectations for cascading to major business units and risk functions to guide risk-taking. Risk drivers, risk profiles across major lines of business and risk types, the risk management framework and major risk policies as well as compliance matters are regularly reviewed by sensor management, risk committees and the BRMC. These matters are reviewed and discussed in greater detail at the dedignrod risk committees for major risk types.

The Bank has an independent risk management function, Group Risk Management Division (GRM), headed by the Group Chief Risk Officer (CRO), who reports to the BRMC and Group Chief Executive Officer (CEO), GRM has the functional responsibility for providing independent risk control and managing credit, market, lujuidity and operational risks. It provides regular risk repons and updates out developments at material risk drivers, potential vulnerabilities, and the recommended mitigating actions to the senior management, risk committees, BRMC and the Board. Risk management staff work closely with the business and other support units to ensure that risks are understood and managed.

GRM currently also oversees the New Product Approval Process to ensure risks are adequately addressed. as well as the data management framework to ensure comprehensive, accurate and timely representation of information to support management decisions. As part of our engoing effect to enhance trust in dataand its responsible use, we will continue to strengthen one data and model governonce and technological capabilities, keeping page with the evolving mood for Fauriess, Etines, Accountability and Transparency (FEAT) in the use of Artificial Intelligence (Al) and Data Ambytics.

The table below shows the value-st-risk (VaR) by risk type for the Group's trading perifola-

		20	321			2020			
S million	Ead of the period	Average	Minimum	Maximum	End of the period	Avrenge	Minimum	Mazimum	
Intronyticate Vall	7.11	4_3H	2.35	17.30	5.69	7.49	- 23-	15.20	
Feerige, exchange Vall	0.03	1.74	0.59	5.75	177	2.67	1,000	£ 14	
Зідшіў Уай	1.21	2.05	0.55	6.36	4.58	2.69	0.47	10.49	
Cred capiead Vast	2.01	2.67	1.41	7.02	10.4	5.29	1.34	10.75	
Diversification effect of	(4.93)	(5.53)	NM :	NM **	(7.18)	(8.66)	NM F	NM ***	
Ардгодате МаК	3,03	532	2.49	18.14	2117	10.18	÷ 13	26,34	
								· · · —	

On emiliant to offer, in computed in the difference between Aggregate Maki and the turn of assert and Mallin Military and the control of different days for collected weet classes.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

# 38. Risk management (continued)

#### 38.2 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss of principal and/or shoome due to the failure of an obligor or counterparty to meet its financial or countractual obligations or an adverse change in the credit profile of the obligor or counterparty. Credit risk arises from the Group's lending activities to retail, corporate and institutional customers. It also includes counterparty and issuer credit risks arising from the Group's underwriting, trading and investment banking activities.

## Maximum exposure to credit risk

The following table presents the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk of on-bolance sheet and off-balance sheet instruments, without taking into account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements. For on-balance sheet assets, the exposure to credit risk equals their carrying antourn. For contingent liabilities, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the maximum amount that the Group would have to pay if the obligations of the instruments issued are called upon. For credit commitments, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the full amount of the undrawn credit facilities granted to customers.

	Carrylog	amount	Average	
S million	2021	2020	2021	2020
Credit risk exposure of on-balance sheet assets:				
Loans to customers	286,281	263,538	272,302	264,153
Placements with and loans to banks	25.462	32,816	26,742	33,497
Government measury hills and securities	37,271	33,291	34,669	30,866
Debt securities	28.045	27,934	24,190	27,074
Aronunts due from associates	40	41	38	27
Denisative receivabiles	9.367	15,273	15,269	15,470
Other assets, compensing interest receivables and sundry				
dobtes	1.811	2.126	1,881	2,944
	388,177	374,969	380,191	374,031
Credit risk exposure of off-balance sheet items:				
Contingent liabilities	16,651	11,292	14,937	15,101
Crefit communicatis	171.062	160,334	L <b>64.594</b>	164,713
	187,713	173,426	179,533	:73,314
Total maximum credit risk exposure	575.890	548.395	559,722	547,345

## Collateral

The main types of collaieral obtained by the Group are as follows:

Residential property loans
Commercial property loans
Derivatives
Car Joans
Mongages over commercial properties
Cash and securities
Charges over the vehicles financed

Share margin financing Charges over listed accuriates including those of Sungapore,

Malaysia and Hong Young

Malaysia and Hong Kong

Other loans
 Securities and charges over business assets such as premises, inventories, trade receivables, deposits, single premium.

insurance policies or marketable securities

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

# 38. Risk management a comment,

# 38.2 Credit risk a occurated

## Analysed by geography

		Governmen	I					
		Freshoots			Non-	Allowances		
	Derivative	bills and	Balances	Loans to	performing	for impointd	Delet	
	receits alphas	vegus ities	mi <b>th</b> banks	éustimiers.	235Ms	Starts	vectorities	
5 million	(Note 18)	(Note 24)	(Note 23)	(Note 26)	(Note 23)	(Note 23)	(Sole 29)	
GROUP								
2021								
Singapore	1.231	11.112	¥02	115,620	600	[93	2,827	
Malaysia	AIIF	5,428	2,565	27,611	1,516	561	L.59H	
Imboticosa	209	6.425	404	18,918	1.216	504	1.267	
Greater Chara	1,614	4,173	14,027	74,120	485	2711	14,463	
Other Asia Pacific	599	5,743	1.813	19,293	186	44	4,909	
Rest of the World	5,318	4,540	3,629	34,154	278	165	2,683	
	9,267	37,271	23,240	289,716	4,118	1,537	28.045	
2020								
Singapore	1,719	25,4,01	445	10.9 - 36	1,325	9(0)	7,563	
Malinysia	133	548	2,945	27,5,0	7x2	206	: 452	
Indexes a	311	4 (4)5	553	18,833	951	312	1,318	
Creater China	7,129	5.678	20,898	n32.6	302	129	33431	
Office Awar Par Ca	575	4,905	1,445	18.3-6	118	45	4633	
Restar the Week	9,500	2 129	4 4 4 6	26720	571	122	7.735	
account the service	18,223	41.791	40,349	367.710	1,1815	1,313	2.000	
	. 5,53.1	41.70;	*.,514	267.749	-,161.	1,313	2.44.	
BANK								
2021								
Sargapere	4.368	10,196	304	105,301	604	ויין	1,380	
Malaysik	98	74	6,961	4.062	25	18	941	
Independ	l Hi	274	102	0.155	105	K2	3250	
Lisyate: I Janua	681	2,285	11,914	53.108	104	234	7.901	
Other Aste Pacific	470	5,181	£.6k5	16,005	173	43	4,194	
Rest of the World	5,1131	1,691	£,5115	26.239	195	154	2,318	
	7,812	19.816	17,521	191170	1,571	722	16.763	
2020								
Sinyapero	1,899	0.2902	12	1180 49 7	1,796	-046:	1.17	
Malayera	1×S	5.7	1,783	4.13	107	+1	10%	
Indoorsea	241	576	Circ	tros 17	154	900	15.70	
Orearer China	,293	30,605	18,439	25,000	220	.95	1,524	
Other Asia March.	781	4 195	1,389	19.904	118	-:	4.05	
Rest of the World	9.269	972	2,258	15,729	333	, 13	1,053	
	12.518	18,505	24 084	173,216	2,64	1.30.3	15 (48)	

The analysis by youghphy is determined based on where the credit risk resules.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

# 38. Risk management (continued)

# 38.2 Credit risk (continued)

# Total loans and advances - Credit quality

In addition to the credit grading of facilities under MAS Notices 612 and 612A, mans and advances are categorised into "neither past due not impaired", "past due but not impaired" and "impaired".

	Bank I	фада	Nen-bank losse		
\$ enillion.	2021	7024	2021	2020	
Neither past due nor irepaired	23,240	31,310	284,855	261,370	
Non-impaired			1,690	2,335	
Impaired	_		1,714	2.332	
Pass due leave	_		3,444	4,667	
Impaired but not past due		-	1,457	1,003	
Gross loans	23,240	31,310	189,716	267,240	
Allowances.			•		
Impaired loans	-	-	(3,535)	(1,812)	
Non-impaired loans	(6)	(3)	(1,990)	(1,890)	
Net Ipany	23,234	31.307	286,28L	263,538	

## Part due loans

Analysis of past due loans by industry and geography are as follows:

	Bank	le-ems	Non-bank toans	
5 million	1021	2020	2021	2020
By lodestry		•		
Agriculture, minute and quarrying	_	-	168	102
Manufacturing	_	.,	767	808
Building and construction	_	-	330	<del>4</del> 44
General commence	-	-	669	907
Transport, #10rage and communication	-	-	313	1,163
Figuretial institutions, investment and holding companies	_	_	56	149
Professionals and individuals (include housing loans)	-	-	963	953
Owhers	_	-	138	141
	-		J <sub>1</sub> 404	4,667
By géography				
Siegepore	_	_	625	1,383
Maleysia	_	-	576	672
Indonesia	_	_	1,829	2,043
Greater China	-		280	346
Rest of the World	_	-	94	223
•	_		3,404	4,667

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

## 38. Tüsk management (continued)

#### 38.2 Credit risk (continued)

#### Loans past due but not impaired

Certain loans and indvances are past due but not impaired as the collateral values of these loans are in excess of the principal and interest outstanding. Allowances for these loans may have been set aside. The Group's non-bank loans which are past due but not impaired are as follows.

5 million	2021	2020
Pau due		
Less than 30 days	1,188	1,647
30 to 90 days	314	311
Over 90 days	27H	327
Paul due but nos impaired	1,690	2,335

## Collateral and other credit enhancements obtained

Assets amounting to \$116 million (2020: \$13 million) were obtained by the Group during the year by taking possession of collateral held as security, or by calling upon other credit tubancements and held at the reporting date.

Repossessed properties are made available for sale in an orderly fashion, with the proceeds used to reduce or repay the outstanding indebtedness. The Group generally does not occupy the premises repossessed for its business use.

#### Country risk

The Group's country risk framework covers the assessment and rating of countries, as well as the maximum cross-border transfer risk limit granted to any one country based on its risk rating. The risk covers all cross-border transactions including enshore non-local currency transactions. Limits are allocated into maturity time-bands and vary according to the risk rating of the country and the political and economic outlook. The Group's main cross-border transfer risk exposures during the financial year were in Hong Kong SAR, People's Republic of China and Malaysia

## 38.3 Market risk and asset liability management

Market risk is the risk of losing income and/or market value due to fluctuations in factors such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, credit spreads, equity and commodity prices or changes in volatifities, or correlation of such factors. Market risks arise mainly from the Group's trading, client servicing and balance sheet management activities. It includes interest rate risk in the banking book (IRRBB) which is the risk to carnings and capital arising from exposure to adverse changes in the interest rate environment.

The Group's market risk management framework covers the identification, assessment, measurement, monitoring and control of cake. Group-level market risk policies and procedures are established to provide common guidelines and standards for managing market risks. The Group's market risk management strategy and limits—established within the Group's cisk appetite and in line with the Group's business surgregies—are segularly reviewed, taking into account prevailing macroeconomic and market conditions.

Asset liability management is the strategic management of the Group's balance sheet structure and liquidity requirements. It covers liquidity sourcing and diversification as well as interest rate and structural foreign exchange management.

The Group's asset liability management framework focuses on monaging the exposures arising from the balance about. The Group monitors as inquidity risk, IRRBB and structural foreign exchange risk profiles against approved risk limits under both husiness-as-usual and stressed scenarios. These are based on the standards established in the Group's framework, policies and procedures which are subject to regular reviews to ensure that they remain selevant in the context of prevailing market conditions and practices.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

## 38. Risk management (continued)

#### 38.3 Market risk and asset liability management (communed)

#### Interest rate risk

The primary goal of the management of IRRBH is to ensure that interest rate risk exposures are maintained within defined risk tolerances and are consistent with the Group's risk appetite. The material sources of IRRBH are reprieting risk, yield convertisk, basis risk and optionality risk.

A range of techniques are used to measure IRRBB from both the earnings and economic value perspectives. One method involves the assessment of the impact of various interest rate scenarios on the Group's net interest income and economic value of equity (FVE) of the banking book. Other magaines include interest rate sensitivity metrics such as PV01 and repricing gap profife analysis. Behavioural models are used to assess interest rate risks in relation to lean prepayment, range deposit early redemption and the profile of non-materity deposits. These measurements are used to adjust fRRBB management and bedging strategies, policies and positions.

The significant market risk faced by the Group is interest rate case arising from the re-prizing mismatches of assets and liabilities from its banking business. The impactive net interest mediate of the banking book is simulated under various interest rate scenarios and assumptions. Based on a 100 bp parallel rise in yield curves on the Group's exposure to major currencers it. Singapore Dellar, 4.5 Dellar, Hong Kong Dollar and Malaysian Ringgo, net inserest income is estimated to increase by \$669 million (2020, \$865 million), or approximately \$11.4% (2020; \$15.5%) of reported net interest income. The corresponding empact from a 100 bp decrease in interest rates is an estimated reduction of \$669 million (2020; \$865 million) in net interest income, or approximately \$13.4% (2020; \$13.5%) of reported net interest income.

The 1% rate shock impact an not interest encounces hased on the Group's interest rate risk positive as at reporting date. In does not take into account actions that would be taken by Global Treasury or the business units to integrate the impact of this interest rate risk. The projections also assume a constant balance sheet size and position.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

# 38. Risk management (continued)

# 38.3 Market risk and asset liability management (commund)

## Currency risk

The Group's foreign exchange position by major currencies is shown below. "Others" include mainly Indonesian Rupiah, Chinese Rouminbi, Australian Dollar, Euro, Japanese Yen and Sterling Pound.

S mullion	SGD	USD	MYR	HKD	Others	Total
2021						
Cash and placements with central banks	15,799	5,132	1.420	773	4,795	27,919
Placements with and loans to banks	472	15,090	529	570	6,573	23,234
Loans to customers	101,047	72,414	19,537	34,595	58,688	286,281
Securities (1)	14,841	20,839	6,911	2,441	26,254	71,286
Derivative receivables	1,828	3,965	164	615	1,685	9,267
Other assets	1,383	3,600	416	325	610	6,334
Amounts due from associates	_	_	-	#	40	40
Financial assets	136,370	121,040	28,977	39,379	98,645	474,161
Deposits of non-hepk customers	133,157	109,842	22,603	23,381	53,412	342,395
Deposits and balances of bunks	733	4,358	252	389	2,507	8,239
Trading portfolio habilities	392	_	_	¥	1	393
Derivative payables	2,499	4,167	169	614	1,621	9,070
Other liabilities (b)	2,790	2,506	688	625	906	7,517
Debt issued	1	13,038	84	_	6,992	20,115
Financial Babüldes	139,572	133,911	23,796	25.009	65,441	387,729
Net Connected asserts/(labiNites) exponere (2)	(3,202)	(12,871)	\$,181	14,320	33,204	
2020						
Cash and placements with control banks	16,946	2,735	843	367	5,584	26,525
Placements with and loans to banks	666	22,430	1,209	135	6,867	31,307
Louis to customers	95,519	61,017	19,994	32,593	\$4,615	263,538
Securities (1)	14,164	\$8,303	6,398	2,521	25,048	66,434
Derivative reservables	5,706	5,440	222	1,126	2,730	15,223
Other assets	1,748	2,380	261	549	868	5,806
Amounts due from associates				¥	41	41
Financial assets	134,548	112,305	78,977	37,291	95,753	408,874
Deposits of non-bank customers	123,217	95,226	23,096	23,463	49,905	314,907
Deposits and belances of banks	675	4,268	214	1,065	3,344	9,586
Trading portfolio liabilities	296	42	_		- 1	339
Derivative payables	3,340	5,816	266	1,041	3,053	15,516
Other liabilities (I)	4,050	2,217	559	642	944	8,417
Debt issued	411	15,781	74		8,089	24,355
Financial liabilities	133,989	\$23,350	24,229	26,211	65,336	375,115
Net fluorial assets/(liabilities) exposure (f)	559	(11,045)	4,748	11,080	30.417	

<sup>19</sup> Securities of express grown ment, debt and equity securities

<sup>17</sup> Other Labitives enclude amounts due to associates.

<sup>19</sup> Net exposure without taking into account the effect of offsetting derivative exposures

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

# 38. Risk management (conjuged)

# 38.3 Market risk and asset liability management (continued)

# Structural foreign exchange risk

Structural foreign exchange exposure arises primarily from the Group's non-SGD investment in overseas branches, subsidiaries and associates, strategic investments, no well as property assets. The Group manages structural foreign exchange risk through hedging instruments including the use of derivatives and matched funding for foreign currency investments. The table below shows the Group's structural foreign currency exposure at reporting date.

		2021		2030				
S_undillon_	Structural currency exposure	Structoral currency exposure — hedged	Net structural currency exposure	Structural currency exposure	Structural currency exposure – hedged	Net structural currency expasure		
Hong Kong Dellar	7,234	-	7,234	7,217	_	7,217		
Chinese Renminbe	8,182	_	8,182	6,495	_	6,495		
US Dollar	4,024	3,185	839	3,584	3,115	469		
Others	7,968	117	7,851	7,836	50	7,786		
Total	17,408	3,302	24,106	25,132	3,165	21,967		

## Net investment hedges

The amounts relating to items designated as hedging instruments were as follows

		Carryis	og ameunt
5 mplion	Neminal amount	Assets	[.fa.billtles
2021			
Frango exchange depositives	3,642	49	180
2020			
Poreign exchange derivatives	3,345	161	20

The total change in fair value of the hedging instruments during the year was a loss of \$67 million (2020; gain of \$125 million) and the change in value of the hedging instruments recognised in OCI was a loss of \$67 million (2020; gain of \$125 million). There was no gain or loss recognised in other income arising from hedge ineffectiveness in 2021 (2020; nil).

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

#### 38. Risk management (continued)

# 38.3 Market risk and asset liability management (continued):

#### Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk arising from the inability to meet floancial and each outflow obligations as they fall due without incurring unacceptable costs or losses through fundraising and asset liquidation.

The objective of liquidity risk management is to ensure that the Group has sufficient funds to meet contractual and regulatory financial obligations and to undertake new transactions.

Liquidity consistening is performed daily within a framework for projecting cash flows on contractual and behavioural bases. Indicators such as liquidity and deposit concentration ratios are used to establish the optimal funding mix and asset composition. Funding strategies are established to provide effective diversification and stability in funding sources across tenors, products and geographies. Simulations of liquidity exposures under strategies market scenarios are performed and the results are used to adjust liquidity risk management strategies, policies and positions, as well as develop contingency funding plans.

The table below analyses the carrying amount of assets and liabilities of the Group into maturity time bands based on the remaining term to contractual maturity at at the reporting date.

\$ militar	Within I week	I week to	1 to 3	3 to 12	1 to 3	Over 3 years	No specific materity	Total
2021								
Cash and placements with central banks	13,629	2,436	6,643	_	_	_	5,211	27,919
Placements with and luons to banks	5,773	2,912	4,102	10,381	€0		_	23,234
Loans to customers	24,494	37,225	21,463	32,106	57,751	113,242	_	286,281
Securities (1)	64	2,343	4,421	14,241	22,593	21,293	5,910	71,286
Darivetive receivables	8,922	-,6	99	30	120	90	_	9,267
Other assets (2)	3,336	972	721	542	64	102	\$77	6,614
Associates	1	_	4	35	-	*	6,130	6,170
Property, plant and equipment and investment property (2)			- 1	1	-	_	3,627	3,638
Goodwill and other intengible assets		-	-	-	-	-	4,773	4,773
Total	56,120	43,868	37,454	57,337	80,988	134,727	24,588	439,182
Total life insurance fund assets								103,005
Total assets								542,187
Deposits of non-bank customers	229,550	30,764	41,873	37,392	1,907	969	_	342,395
Deposits and balances of hanks	5,362	1,593	1,075	134	-	55	-	<b>\$,239</b>
Trading portfolio liabilities	_	-	392	_	_	_	1	393
Derivative payables	8,670	- 1	L	84	145	169	-	9,070
Other liabilities 🥙	3,206	1,133	\$26	1,365	268	219	1,083	3,600
Debt assued	782	1511	4,468	5,805	4,759	2,770		20,115
Total	247,570	34,942	48,455	45,300	7,079	4,182	1,084	155,812
Total life maurence fund liabilities								99,037
Toral Kahililia								467,849
Net liquidity gap	(191,350)	10,926	(11,201)	12,017	73,909	130,545		

Securities comprise government, debt and equity exemption.

Other essets include defented tax assets

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Property, plant and equipment and investment property include again held for pale.

<sup>14</sup> Other Italiabets include amounts due to essociates, current on and deferred on liabilities.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

# 38. Risk management (continued)

# 38.3 Market risk and asset liability management (communed)

Liquidity risk (continued)

\$ nelDion	Within t week	l week to I mouth	I to 3 months	3 to 12	1 to 3 years	Over 3 years	No specific macurity	Tensi
2020								
Cash and placements with central banks	11,968	4,546	5,286	277		_	4,448	26,525
Placements with and loans to								
hanks	7,296	1,430	5,509	14,824	2,254	d	-	\$1,307
Loans to customers	19,291	37,177	16,593	27.836	53,112	109,529		203,538
Securities 1.5	522	1,450	3,656	14,927	21,403	19,286	5,210	66,434
Derivative receivables	14,603	3	A	*	320	297	-	15,223
Other assers (*)	2,845	1,078	789	356	69	49	753	5,439
Associates	- 1		A	40	-	ш	4.592	4,633
Property, plans and equipment and investment property (9)	_	*	2	_	_	_	3,679	3,681
Goodwill and other intangible assets							4,837	4,837
Total	56,526	45,684	31.809	58.260	77,158	129,161	23.519	422,117
Total life insurance fund assets	7.010.64	-5.40	. 1.677	24244	11,100	1272171	20.010	49,278
Total assets								521,395
Deposits of non-bank customers	202,686	32,526	39,950	17,286	1,748	791		914,907
Deposits and balances of banks	6,881	2.103	588	L4	-	-	-	7,586
Trading purifolio liabilities	-	-	337	-	-	-	1	329
Derivative gayables	15,167	2	I	45	146	5.55		15.516
Other tianifities (4)	4,294	1.242	759	1,717	221	147	1,138	9,538
Dielji rysaeri	531	1,078	5,777	8_051	4,994	4,074		74,355
Total	229,279	36,901	47,412	47,213	7,109	5,)87	4,140	374.242
Total life insurance fund								95,99a
Lochdeties Total liabilities								470,219
Ner liquidity gap	(172,785)	8,083	(15,603)	11,047	70,049	123,974	_	

Pl Solumbes comprise poserroment, debt and equity sectionies.

As contractual maturities may reit necessarily reflect the timing of actual cash flows of assets and liabilities, eash flows for profiling liquidity risk are on contractual and behavioural bases. The cash flows of assets and liabilities may be different from their contractual terms.

th. Other assers include defraged for assets.

Property, plant and exponentianal divestment property exclude assets held to sale
 Other liabilities, include arounds the to properties, current tax and deferred tax liabilities.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

# 38. Risk management (continued)

# 38.3 Market risk and asset liability management (continued)

# Contractual maturity for financial liabilities

The table below shows the undiscounted cash outflows of the Group's financial habilities by remaining contractual maturities, except for trading portfolio liabilities which is profiled in accordance with the Group's trading strategies. Information on each outflow of gross loan commitments is set out in Note 44. The behavioural cash flows of these liabilities could vary significantly from what is shown in the table. For example, demand deposits of non-bank customers, such as current and savings deposits (Note 17) may exhibit a longer behavioural maturity beyond the contractual profile. Similarly, loan commitments are pot all expected to be drawn down immediately.

\$ catilion	Withta 1 week	f week to	1 to 3 months	3 to 12 manths	I to 3 years	Over 3 years	Tatul
2021							
Deposits of non-bank customers (1)	229,563	34,765	41,946	37,567	2,012	1,020	342,483
Deposits and balances of banks (1)	5,364	1,594	1,076	154	-	55	2,243
Trading portfolio liabilities	-	_	393	-	-	-	393
Other liabilities (7)	3,177	1,048	749	1,039	226	171	6,410
Debt Issued	783	1,512	4,508	5,910	4,910	2,966	28,589
Derivatives					-		
Trading	6,726	_	_	-	_	_	5,726
Redging - Net settled	*	2	3	17	35	20	77
Redging - Gross softled							
Outflow	5	85	912	1,909	1,747	916	5,574
inflow	(0)	(84)	(960)	(1,829)	(1,610)	(\$37)	(5.321)
	247,617	34,922	48,627	44,767	7,330	4,311	387,574
2010							
Deposits of non-bank customers (1)	202,631	32,629	40,082	37,583	1,862	842	315,629
Deposits and belances of banks (1)	0,833	2,104	588	14			9,589
Trading portfolio liabilities	_		339	-			339
Other liabilities (1)	4,258	1,127	627	908	198	160	7,278
Debt issued	331	1,043	5,796	8,250	5,164	4,065	24,649
Derivatives							
Trading	15,167		_		_	_	15,167
Hedging - Net settled	. #	2	5	57	105	58	227
Hedging - Gross settled							
Outflow	1	100	3	19	2,331	837	3,291
Jnflow	-	(97)	(5)	(Z)	(2.446)	(\$12)	(3.362)
	229,271	36,908	47,435	46,829	7,214	5,150	372,807

The strength of the strengt

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>th</sup> Other (infolition metade amounts due to succistee

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

#### 38. Risk management (continued)

## 38.4 Insurance-related risk management

This note sets out the risk management information of GHH Group.

#### Governance framework

Managing risk is an integral part of GEH Group's core business. As stated in the Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) Framework, GEH Group shall operate within parameters and limits that are calibrated to the risk appetite approved by the GEH Board, and pursue appropriate risk-adjusted returns.

GEH Group Risk Management department spearheads the development and implementation of the ERM. Presidework for GER Group.

GEH Board is responsible for overseeing GEH Group's risk management initiatives. GEH Board may delegate this responsibility to the Risk Management Committee (RMC) and Senior Management of GEH Group for the execution of these initiatives. At GEH Group level, detailed risk management and oversight activities are undertaken by the following Group Management committees, all of which are chaired by GEH Group Chief Executive Officer and comprise key Senior Management Executives, namely: Group Management Committee (GMC), Group Asset-Liability Committee (Group ALC), Group Investment Committee (Group EC), Group Product Management and Approval Committee (Group PMAC) and Group Technology Strategy Committee (Group TSC).

GMC is responsible for providing leadership, direction and functional oversight on all matters including sustainability performance of GEH Group. In addition to complying with regulatory requirements, the GMC is also responsible for ensuring compliance and alignment with Group Governance and Oversight Framework, i.e. Group standards and guidelines. The GMC is supported by the Group IC, Group ALC, Group PMAC, Group TSC, Local Senior Management Team (SMT), Local ALC, Local Product Development Committee (PDC) and Local TSC.

Group IC is responsible for overseeing all investment management activities of GEH Group and ensuring that the interests and rights of policyholders are not compounded.

Group ALC is responsible for balance aftest management. Specifically, Group ALC reviews and formulates frameworks, policies, processes and methodologies relating to balance sheet management. Group ALC is also responsible for ensuring compliance and alignment with Group Governance and Oversight Framework, i.e. Group standards and guidelines. Group ALC is supported by the local ALC.

Group TSC is responsible for assisting GMC in providing the overall strategic direction and approval of all TT related issues and initiatives, including the digitalisation and transformation programs to support GPH Group's strategic growth into the future. Group TSC is supported by local TSC.

Group PMAC is responsible for reviewing, approving and managing new and existing products, ensuring the business operates within the risk appetite in delivering the arrival business targets. Local PDC is responsible for reviewing and endorsing new products at the local operating subsidiaries

## Regulatory frantework

Insurers are required to comply with the Insurance Act and Regulations, as applicable, including guidelines on investment limits. The responsibility for the formulation, establishment and approval of the policy for the myestment of the funds rests with the respective Board of Directors (Board) of the insurance subsidiaries. GER Board exercises oversight on investments to safeguard the interests of policyholders and shareholders.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

## 38. Risk management (continued).

## 38.4 Insurance-related risk management (continued)

#### Capital management

The objectives of GEH's capital management policy are to create shareholder value, deliver sustainable returns to shareholders, maintain a strong capital position with sufficient buffer to meet policyholders' obligations and regulatory requirements and make strategic investments for business growth.

GHII Group had no significant changes in the policies and processes relating to its capital structure during the year.

#### Regulatory capital

GEH Group and its insurance subsidiaries are required to comply with the capital requirements prescribed by the insurance regulations of the jurisdictions in which the subsidiaries operate. The Capital Adequacy Ratios of GEH Group and its insurance subsidiaries in Singapore, Metaysia and Indonesia remained well above the regulatory minimum ratios under the Risk-based Capital Frameworks established by the Monetary Authority of Singapore (MAS), Bonk Negara Metaysia (BNM) and Charitas Jasa Keuangan, Indonesia respectively.

GEH Group's approach to capital management aims to maintain an adequate level of capital to meet regulatory requirements, uncluding any additional amounts required by the regulators of GEH Group and its insurance subsidiaries. This involves managing asset, liability decisions and the associated risks in a coordinated way by assessing and manitoring the available and required capital (by each regulated entity) on a regular basis and, where appropriate, taking appropriate actions to adjust the asset liability position of GEH Group and/or its subsidiaries in light of changes in oconomic conditions and risk characteristics.

The primary sources of capital of GEH Group are shareholders' equity. GEH Group defines available capital as the amount of assets in excess of liabilities measured in accordance with the insurance regulations of the respective jurisdictions in which the insurance subsidiaries operate

#### Dividend

GEH's dividend policy sims to provide shareholders with a predictable and sustainable dividend return, payable on a half-yearly basis.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

#### 38. Risk grunngement (communical)

#### 38.4 Insurappy-related risk management (continued)

The following sections provide details of GEH Group's exposure to resurance and key financial risks, as well as the objectives, policies and processes for managing these risks

There has been no change to GPH Group's exposure to these manualite and key transmit risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the tisks.

#### Insurance risk

The principal activity of GEH Group is the provision of insurance products and related financial advisory services. The products cover risks such as mortality, storbidity (health, disability, critical disability, critical disability, property and cascalty, investment saving protection and wealth accomulation guarantees

GHB Group's underwriting strategy is designed to ensure that tisks are well diversified across the types of risk and level of insured benefits. This is largely achieved through diversification across industry sectors and geography, the use of medical screening in order to ensure that pricing takes into account current health conditions and family medical history, regular review of actual claims experience, as well as detailed claims handling procedures. Underwriting family are also established to enforce appropriate tisk selection craetia. For example, GEH Group has the right to reject renewally factorization problem, impose deductibles and reject payment of fraudulent claims.

Risks inherent in GEH Group's activities include but are not limited to the following

## Insurance risks of life insurance contracts

Insurance risks arise when GEH tiroup underwrites insurance contracts. While also raise risks may not vary openitionally across the geographical locations in which GPH Group currently operates, the types of tasks insured, assumptions used in practing the insurance products and subsequent setting earlie of the rechangle provisions may give rise to potential shortfalls in provision for future claims ago expenses when actual cities experience are worse than projections. Assumptions that may cause insurance risks to be underestimated include assumptions on policy lapses, mortality, morbidity and expenses.

GEH Group etilises reinscrattee to manage the mortality and morbidity risks. GEH Group's reinstrance management strategy and policy are reviewed annually by RMC and GEH Group ALC. Reinstrance is structured according to the type of risk material. Catastrophic reinsurance is procured to him) catastrophic losses. GEH Group's exposure to group justifiance business is not significant and there is no material concentration risk.

In general, reinsurers must have a minimum credit rating of S&P A- or equivalent to be considered for remagnature leasurers. GEH Group limits its risk to any one remauser by coding different products to different remainers or to a panel of reinsurers.

GER Group ALC reviews the actual experience of intertably, morbidity, lapses and samenders, and expenses and ensures that the policies, guidelines and lamits established for managing the risks remain adequate and appropriate

A substantial portion of GEB Group's life insurance tunds is participating an nature. In the event of volatile investment climate and/or unusual climas experience, the insurer has the option of revising the benus payable to policyholders.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

# 38. Risk management (continued)

#### 38.4 Insurance-related risk management (communed)

Insurance risk (continued)

Insurance risks of life insurance contracts (continued)

For non-participating funds, the risk is that the guaranteed policy benefits must be met even when investment portfolios perform below expectations, or claims experience is higher than expected.

For investment-linked funds, the risk exposure for GEH Group is lamited only to the underwhining aspect as all investment risks are forme by the policyholders.

Stress Testing is performed at least once a year to assess the solvency of the life insurance fund under various stress scenarios. The stress scenarios include segulatory prescribed scenarios, as well as scenarios depicting drastic changes in key parameters such as new business volume, market volucibities, expense patterns, mortality-marbidaty patterns and lapse rates.

Table 38.4(A):
The table below sets out the distribution of the various life insurance risk as at the reporting date.

		Cross		1	Reinsurance		
	With	Wishout		With	Without		Net
5 million	Others	UPF	Tutal	PPF	ጉቦና	Total	lotal
(a) By class of business							
2021							
Whole life	41.215	11,064	\$2,299	11	(27)	(16)	52,283
Endownient	21,963	9.549	31.512	Ų	(125)	(125)	31,387
Common	#	732	712	(B)	(165)	(165)	567
Accident and health	2	548	550	-	(130)	(133)	417
Auredy	26	444	470	-	_	_	470
Others	128	1,268	E_IØA	(1)	(23)	(34)	1,362
2 ozul	63,334	23,625	N6,95V	10	(483)	(473)	H6,4366
2020							
Whole life	37,089	10,257	47 376	14	(52)	(18)	47,355
Emilion/Ment	22,5%0	7,768	30,348	(65)	(120)	1185)	93,163
Term	Α'	507	507	141	(125)	1125)	682
Arcider Could health.	3	2,457	2,000		(3,866)	(3,590)	499
Annualy	27	497	324				524
Others	[3]	1,361	1.492	(1)	(20)	121)	1,471
Total	59,829	23,077	32,996	(52)	(2,157)	(2.299)	90.697
(h) By country							
2021							
Singapero	47,300	16.581	63,881	17	(311)	(294)	63,587
Mologyera	15,676	n, 166	22,042	17)	(168)	(175)	21,867
Others	358	678	1.036	(#)		(4)	1,032
Lutal	63,334	23,625	86,959	<u>iù</u>	(483)	(473)	36,456
2020							
5-ngapore	43,512	16,745	60.257	(46)	(0.901)	(1.947)	59,310
Malaysia	15,966	1,773	31,239	(7)	(299)	(263)	21,479
Others	351	359	910	3	(3)	(2)	908
Total	39,829	210.7	\$2,908	(5.2)	(2,157)	(2,309)	83,697
		-1.7		4.27	\ <del>-</del>	4-,7	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> DPI is softened as contracts with Disciousnessy Paper, pering Ecourts.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

# 38. Risk management (continued)

#### 38.4 Insurance-related risk management (continued)

Insurance risk (continued)

Insurance risks of life insurance contracts (continued)

The sensitivity analysis below shows the impact of changes in key parameters on the value of policy liabilities, and hence on the income statement and shareholders' equity.

Sensitivity analysis produced are based on parameters set out as follows:

		Chause in essemblions
(8)	Scenario I Mortality and Major Illness	+ 25% for all future years
(b)	Scenario 2 – Monahry and Major Illness	<ul> <li>25% for all future years</li> </ul>
(¢)	Scennic 3 - Health and Disability	+ 25% for all future years
(d)	Scenario 4 – Health and Disability	<ul> <li>25% for all future years</li> </ul>
(c)	Scenario 5 - Lapse and Surrender Rates	<ul> <li>25% for all future years</li> </ul>
(0)	Scenorio 6 - Lapse and Surrender Rates	- 25% for all future years
(g)	Sconanu 7 – Expenses	+ 30% for all future years

# Table 38.4(R1): Profit(loss) after tax and shareholders' equity sensitivity for the Singapore seement

Impact on I-year's profit/(loss) after tax and shareholders' equity

#### Life insurance contracts

		2021			2020	
S enillian	Kelesurance Gross Impact ceded		Net Impact	Gross impact	Reinsurance ceded	Net impact
Scenario I	(754)	362	(392)	(622)	282	(340)
<b>Кодрејјо 2</b>	526	(246)	280	434	(196)	238
Scenario 3	(25T)	141	(116)	(328)	201	(127)
Scenario 4	150	(45)	105	204	(69)	115
Scenario 5	92	(17)	75	108	(17)	91
Semanio 6	(130)	30	(100)	(147)	26	(121)
Scenario 7	(48)	3	(45)	(44)	6	(38)

# Table 38.4(B2): Profit/(loss) after tax and shareholders' equity sensitivity for the Malaysia segment

Impact on I-year's profit/(toss) after tax and shareholders' equity

# Life insugance contracts

		1021			2020	
\$ million	Gross Impact	Keinsurance ceded	Net Impact	Gross Impact	Net impact	
Scenario 1	(133)	_	(133)	(131)	7	(124)
Scenario 2	120	_	120	117	(7)	110
Scenario 3	(23)	-	(23)	(19)	1	(28)
Somiano 4	20	_	20	17	(1)	26
Scenario 5	(24)	-	(24)	(1)	(W)	(1)
Skanario 6	ŞK	-	58	2	, k	5
Scenario 7	(35)	-	(35)	(32)	-	(32)

The tables above demonstrate the sensitivity of GEH Group's profit or loss after tax to possible changes in individual sequence variables held constant.

The method used, including the agnificant assumptions atade, for performing the above sensitivity analysis did not change from the previous year.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

# 38. Risk management (continued)

# 38.4 Insurance-related risk management (continued)

## Insurance risk (continued)

## Insurance risk of non-life insurance contracts

Risks under non-life insurance policies usually cover a twelve-month duration. The risk inherent in non-life insurance contracts is reflected in the insurance contract liabilities which include the premium and claims liabilities. The premium liabilities comprise a reserve for unexpired risks, while the claims liabilities comprise the loss reserves which include both provision for outstanding claims notified and outstanding claims incurred but not reported.

Table 38.4(C1):
The table below sets out the distribution of the various categories of the non-life insurance risk as at the reporting date.

			2621			2020	
	-life insurance contracts lition	Gross presiden Slabilities	Reinsured promises Hubblitles	Net premium Habilities	Gross premiem Kahilities	Reinared premion liabilities	Net prendem Kabilities
(A)	By class of business						
	Fòre	39	(16)	23	32	(14)	LS
	Motor	36	(2)	34	348	(4)	34
	Marine and aviation	6	(4)	4	12	(7)	5
	Workman's companiation	16	(6)	12	22	(7)	LS
	Personal accident and health	23	(2)	21	23	(2)	21
	Miscellaneous	65	(44)	21	62	(39)	23
_	Total	189	(74)	113	189	(73)	23 116
<b>(b)</b>	By country						
• •	Singapore	99	(47)	52	98	(44)	54
	Maleysia	71	(19)	52	74	(23)	51
	ladenteia	17	(¥)	11	17	(6)	L I
	Total	189	(74)	115	189	(73)	116

			2421			2020	
	-itie kommuneç contracts Mico	Grees claims liabilities	Reinsured ebules Habilities	Nec claims Nabilides	Gree elaksa Nabilities	Referenced cludes (fabilities	Net dalams Babilisioo
(e)	By that of business						
	Fire	12 <b>2</b>	(195)	23	35	(37)	l\$
	Motor	54	(6)	48	52	(7)	45
	Marine and aviation	2\$	(21)	7	34	(25)	9
	Workmen's compensation	34	(13)	21	27	(10)	17
	Personal accident and health	25	(5)	20	23	(3)	20
	Miscellaneous	222	(299)	32	160	(124)	36
	Total	49]	(340)	151	351	(206)	4\$
<b>(b)</b>	By country						
	Singapore	175	(113)	62	191	(137)	54
	Malaysia	269	(216)	73	128	(55)	73
	Indonesia	27	(11)	L6	32	(14)	tž
	Total	491	(340)	I <b>5</b> 1	351	(206)	145

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

# 38. Risk management (continued)

# 38.4 Insurance-related risk management (continued)

Insurance risk (continued)

Insurance risk of non-life insurance contracts (continued)

# Table 38.4(C2): Cumulative claims estimates and eumulative payments to-date

The tables below show the comulative elsima estimates, including both claims notified and IBNR for each successive accident year, at each reporting date, together with cumulative payments to date.

(i) <u> </u>	Gross non-life insurance contra	ıcı liəbil	ities for	2021						
	\$ million	2014	2015	2016	20L7	2018	2019	2020	2021	Total
(0)	Estimate of cumulative claims									
	Accident Year	126	165	177	168	162	233	287	273	
	One year later	158	161	177	165	171	234	145	-	
	Two years liner	115	133	172	199	TÁI	234	-		
	Three years later	111	1,39	210	204	256	-	_	-	
	Pour years later	106	177	208	205		-		-	
	Pive years later	140	177	207	-	-	-	_	-	
	Son years later	139	173	-	-		-	_	-	
	Seven years liner	134		-				-	-	
	Current estimate of cumulative									
	el∎1ms _	138	173	207	245	256	234	245	27\$	
(b)	Completive payments	1.74	166	198	(\$Z	140	18\$	178	60	
(e)	Non-Mile gross claim flabilides	2	7	9	23	i i b	46	67	213	4\$3
	Reserve for prior years Non-Me insurance contract									6
	Habilitles, gross									491

(ii) Non-life insurance contract liabilities, net of reinsurance of liabilities, for 2021.

2014

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

## 38. Risk management (continued)

#### 38.4 Insurance-related risk management (continued)

Insurance risk (continued)

t million

Insurance risk of non-life insurance contracts (continued)

	7 PIPII—		F	r=14						
(A)	Entirence of cumulative elating									
	Accident Year	80	81	90	92	105	131	118	116	
	One year later	76	78	84	91	114	171	100	-	
	Two years later	75	74	87	126	116	120			
	Three years later	74	71	106	125	116	-		_	

2015 2016 2017 2018

2020

(-,										
	Accident Year	80	81	90	92	105	131	118	116	
	One year later	76	78	84	91	114	171	100	-	
	Two years later	75	74	82	126	116	120			
	Three years later	74	71	106	175	116	_		-	
	Four years Mer	71	94	105	124		-			
	Five years later	93	94	105	_	-	-	_	-	
	Suc years liner	92	91			-	-	-	-	
	Seven years later	92	_	-	_	-	-	_	-	
	Current estimate of									
	ennulative claims	92	92	1U <b>S</b>	124	116	120	100	116	
(b)	Communitye payments	٩ı	20	100	114	<b>194</b>	103	77	44	
					- 10		<u>-</u>		<u></u>	
(c)	Non-life net cleim liabülitet	<u> </u>		5	10	12	L7	<u> </u>	72	143
	Reserve for prior years									2

Reserve for prior years Non-life insurance contract Habblider, act

Key assumptions

Non-life maurance contract liabilities are determined based on claims experience, knowledge of existing events, the terms and conditions of the relevant policies and interpretation of circumstances. Of particular relevance is past experience with similar cases, trends in historical claims, legislative changes, judicial decisions, economic conditions and claims handling procedures. The estimates of the non-tife insurance contract liabilities are therefore sensitive to various factors and uncertainties. The actual future premium and claims liabilizes will not develop exactly as projected and may vary from initial estimates.

Insurance risk of non-life insurance contracts is mitigated by achieving a large and well-diversified portfolio of insurance contracts across various industries and geographical areas. The rules are further notingated by careful selection and implementation of underwriting strategies, which are designed to ensure that risks are diversified in terms of type of risk and level of insured benefits. Comprehensive assessment of new and on-going claims, regular detailed review of claims handling procedures and frequent investigation of possible traudulent claims are established to further reduce the risk exposure of GEH. Group. In addition, GER Group further enforces a policy of active management and primpt pursuit of claims, in order to reduce its exposure to unpredictable future developments that can negatively impact GEH Group.

GEH Group has also limited its exposure by imposing maximum claim amounts on certain contracts as well as the use of reinsurance arrangements in order to limit exposure to catastrophic events such as horricanes, earthquakes and flood damages.

151

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

## 38. Risk management (continued)

## 38.4 Insurance-related risk management (continued)

insurance risk (continued)

Insurance risk of non-life insurance contracts (continued)

The sensitivity analysis below shows the impact of changes in key assumptions on gross and net liabilities, profit before ux and equity.

		Impact on						
S milition	Change in assumptions	Grees Habilitates	Net Bubilities	Profit before tas	Equity			
2021 Provision for adverse deviation margin Loss ratio (for latest year) Claims handling expenses	+20%	11	4	(4)	(3)			
	+20%	67	37	(37)	(29)			
	+20%	3	2	(2)	(1)			
2020 Provision for adverse deviation margin. Loss ratio (for latest year) Claires handling expenses	+20%	8	4	(4)	(3)			
	420%	78	37	(37)	(30)			
	+20%	2	2	(2)	(1)			

The method used and significant assumptions made for deriving sensitivity information above did not change from the previous year.

## Market and credit risk

Market risk arises when market values of assets and liabilities are adversely affected by changes in financial markets. Changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, equity prices and prices of alternative investment assets can impact present and future earnings of the insurance operations, as well as shareholders' equity.

GEH Group is exposed to market risk through its investment portfolios, as well as in the mismatches between assets and liabilities of the Insurance Funds. In the case of the third-party funds managed by its asset management subsidiary. Lion Global Investors Limited, investment risks are borne by investors and GEH Group does not assume any liability in the event of occurrence of loss or write-down in market valuations.

GEH Group ALC, Group IC and local ALCs actively manage market risks through the setting of investment policies and asset allocations, approving portfolio construction, risk measurement methodologies, as well as bedging and alternative risk transfer strategies. Investment limits are monitored of various levels to ensure that all investment activities are conducted within GEH Group's risk appetite and in line with GEH Group's transgement principles and philosophies. Compliance with established limits forms an integral part of the risk governance and financial reporting framework. The approach adopted by GEH Group in managing the various types of risk, including interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, equity price risk, credit risk, alternative investment risk and liquidity risk, is briefly described below.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

## 38. Risk misnagement (continued)

#### 38.4 Insurance-related risk management (communed)

#### Market and credit risk (continued)

(a) Interest rate risk (including asset liability mismatch). GEH Group is exposed to interest rate risk through (i) investments in fixed income instruments and (ii) policy liabilities in the Insurance Funds. Since the Shatcholders' Funds has exposure to investments in fixed income instruments but no exposure to insurance policy liabilities, it will incur coordante losses when interest rates rise. Given the long duration of policy liabilities and the uncertainties in the cash flows of Insurance Funds, it is not possible to hold assets with duranou that perfectly matches the duration of the policy hisbilities. This results in interest rate and asset hisbility mismatch risk, and these risks are managed and maintained by GEH Group ALC and the local ALCs. The Insurance Funds will incur economic losses when interest rates drop as the duration of policy liabilities is generally longer than the duration of fixed income assets.

Under Singapore regulations governed by the MAS, the discount rare used for discounting hability cash flows may include a positive adjustment in the form of Matching Adjustment, or Illiquidity Premium, subject to certain conditions being met. As a result, the Singapore occupanticipating funds could have lissest when the magnitude of the adjustment decreases leading to higher discounted liabilities.

Under Malaysia regulations governed by BNM, hability each flows with durations less than 15 years are descruisted using the spot yield of Malaysia Government Securities (MGS) with matching durations, whole hability each flows with durations of 15 years or more are discounted using the 15 year MGS spot yield. As a result, the Malaysia non-participating fund could have losses when the MGS spot yield decreases.

## Managing interest rate benchmark reform

# Overview

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks is being undertaken globally, including the replacement of some interbank offered rates (IBOR) with alternative nearly risk-free rates (referred to as IBOR reform). GEH Group has moderate exposure to IBORs on its financial instruments than will be reformed as part of this market-wide annuative. It was mutually expected that most reforms affecting GEH Group will be completed by the end of 2021. Flowever, the transition deadline for USD LIBOR has been extended to end fune 2023, hence some instruments referencing this rate may not be transited until this date.

GHI Group anticipates that IBOR reform will have moderate operational, risk management and necessaring impacts across all of its business lines. The main risks to which GEt1 Group as exposed as a result of IBOR reform are operational. For example, the hillsternt renegositation with private debt issuers, applating of contractual terms, updating of systems that use IBOR curves and revision of operational controls related to the reform. Furtherial risk is predominately limited to interest rate risk.

GEH Group established a cross functional IBOR Working Group to manage its transition to alternative rares. The objectives of the IBOR Working Group include evaluating the extent to which fixed income holdings, derivatives and hisbilities reference IBOR cash flows, whether such contracts need to be amended as a result of IBOR reform and how to manage communication about IBOR reform with counterparties.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

## 38. Risk management (continued)

## 38.4 Insurance-related risk management (continued)

Market and credit risk (continued)

(a) Interest rate risk (including asset liability mismatch) (continued)

Managing interest rate benchmark reform (continued)

#### ii) Non-derivative financial assets

GEH Group's IBOR exposures on bonds/ FRNs holdings include SGD Swap Offer Rate (SOR), USD LIBOR, EUR LIBOR and GBP LIBOR primarily at Great Eastern Life Singapore (GHLS). GEH Group also has corporate loans holdings indexed to SOR.

The alternative reference for SOR is the Singapore Overnight Rate Average (SORA); for USD LIBOR is the Secured Overnight Financial Rate (SOFR); for EUR LIBOR is the Euro Short-Term Rate (ESTR). Changes to the contractual terms of financial assets indexed to SOR, FUR LIBOR and GBP LIBOR to incorporate new benchmark rates are not yet complete as at 31 December 2021. The transition deadline for USD LIBOR has been extended to end June 2023, hence some instruments referencing this rate may not be transited until this date.

GFH Group monitors the progress of transition from IRORs to new benchmark rates by reviewing the total amounts of contracts that have yet to transition to an alternative benchmark rate and the amounts of such contracts that include an appropriate fallback clause. GEH Group considers that a contract is not yet transitioned to an alternative benchmark rate when interest under the contract is undexed to a benchmark rate that is still subject to IBOR reform, even if it includes a fallback clause that deals with the cessorion of the existing IBOR (reformed to as an unreformed contract).

The following table shows the total amounts of unreferenced non-derivative farancial assets as at 31 December 2021. The amounts of trading assets and investment securities are shown at their carrying amounts.

S anillfon	SOR	USD LIBOR	Others	Tetal
Gross carrying amount				
Debt securities	995	1,380	276	2,651
Corporate Ioan	189	_	_	189

## iii) Non-derivative financial liabilities

GEH Group does not have any flonting-rate liabilities which would be impacted by the IBOR reform.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

# 38. Risk management (continued)

#### 38.4 Insurance-related risk management (continued)

Market and credit risk (continued)

(a) Interest cate risk (including asset liability mismatch) (continued)

#### Managing interest rate benchmark reform (continued)

#### iv) Derivatives and bedge accounting

GEH Group holds derivatives for risk enanagement and efficient portfolio management purposes, and are not designated in hodging relationships. The instruments used principally include interest rate, cross-currency, and total return swaps, which have floating legs that are indexed to various IBORs. Typically, derivative transactions that reference atterest rate betchmarks incorporate standard terms such as the 2006 ISDA Definitions published by ISDA. ISDA has reviewed such definitions in light of IHOR reform and assued an IBOR fallback protocol on 23 October 2020 and a supplement to amend the 2006 ISDA Definitions effective 25 January 2021. This sets out how the amendments to new alternative benchmark rates (e.g. SORA, SOFR) in the 2006 ISDA Definitions will be accomplished. The effect of the supplement is to create fallback provisions in derivatives that describe what floating rates will apply on the permanent discontinuation of certain key IBORs or on ISDA declaring a non-representative determination of an IBOR. GEH Group has adhered to the protocol to implement the fallbacks to derivative contracts that were enserted into before the effective date of the supplement, where the existing derivative counterparties have also adhered to the protocol. All new derivative contracts entered into on or after the effective date of the supplement that reference the 2006 ISDA Definitions will also include the fallback.

The following table shows the rotal amounts of unreformed derivative insurancents as at 31 December 2021. For cross-currency swaps, GEH Group used the notional amount of the receive log of the swap. GEH Group expects both logs of cross-currency swaps to be reformed simultaneously.

\$ million	SOR	USDIABOR	Total
Noticeal amount			
Derivatives	330	21	351

(b) Foreign exchange risk. The foreign exchange risk inherent in foreign currency lixed income portfolio is typically hedged using currency forwards and awaps wherever practical and cost-effective. Foreign exchange instruments are also used for efficient portfolio management.

The SGD and MYR positions predominately arose from the entities within GHI Group with the same respective functional currencess. GEH Group has no significant concentration of foreign exchange risk.

Limits are set on the sotal amount of foreign currency (net of liabilities) to cap GEH Group's foreign exchange risk.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

## 38. Risk management (continued)

## 38.4 Ipsgreace-related risk management (continued)

## Market and credit risk (communed)

## (b) Foreign exchange risk (continued)

The tables below show the foreign exchange position of GELI Group's financial and insurance-related assets and liabilities by major currencies.

\$ million	SCID	MYR	CSD	Others	Total
2021					
Financial assets in FVOCI					
Equity securities	479	251	259	1,213	3,202
Debt securices	2,020	1,077	3,645	751	7,493
Financial assets at FVTPL					
Equity securities	L,118	7.123	L,015	4,420	13,676
Drbt scruittes	14,220	15,034	13,894	5,016	52,164
Other anyestments	7,502	236	6,850	2,097	16,685
Pinancial assets at amortised cost					
Delti sevenium	_	-	141	-	242
Derivative Emansion (#2001)	333	6	17	19	370
Loans	323	250		19	592
Reseptorers' share of assurance commet lubilines	343	410	110	14	337
Insurance receivables	1,030	2,267	•	36	3,336
Orber deblors	364	231	208	6	846
Cash and cash equivalents	6,429	1,630	668	391	9,118
Phonocial and insurance-related arress	38,161	JR510	26,921	14,019	107,611
Other creditors	1,328	397	57	29	6,811
Insurance payables	2,172	4.433	2	14	6.621
Derivative financial habilities	12	1	9]	47	111
Provision for agents' returnment benefits		291	_	_	29 L
Insurance contract liabilities	61,296	22,402	3,267	674	\$7,639
Figure in and insurance-related liabilities	64,808	27,524	3,377	764	96,473
				· ·	
2020					
Financial assets at FVCHIII					
Equity securities	392	308	142	1,160	2,022
Debt securities	2,707	1,006	2,449	389	6,551
Financial assets at FVTPI.					
Equity securities (1)	1,291	7,768	1,402	3,179	13,640
Debt securities	17,952	14,873	11.504	5,793	50,122
Other savestments (1)	5,943	151	5,728	2.077	13,899
Financial 2000 stanionised cost					
Deht securities	-	-	159	4	173
Denvative Estational aggests	466	.3	249	44	764
1.aans	587	282	Ż	20	891
Recessorers' chare of sesurance contained liabilities	1,946	338	191	15	2,488
Insurance receivables	1,045	2,005	6	15	3.073
Other debiors	424	283	201	76	984
Cash and cash equivalents	7,408	1,387	516	339	9,650
Franceial and insurance-related assets	40,163	28,404	22,551	13,139	104.257
Other creditors	1,899	460	161	26	2.566
Insurance payables	1,819	4,010	3	10	5,842
Derivative featured listalities	30	-3210	29	214	273
Provision for agents' retirement benefits	-	296	•-	• • • •	296
Dehi issued	400			_	400
Insurance contract trabilines	58,145	21,942	2,690	669	K3,446
Pionocial and insurance-related liabilities	62,293	26,708	2,903	919	92,823
					,
<ul> <li>Comparatings have been reclarating to conform to.</li> </ul>	content year 3 p	preyen <b>ta</b> lkyn			

Comparatings have been replaced to conform to current year a presentation

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

#### 38. Risk management (continued).

#### 38.4 Insurance-related risk management (continued)

#### Macket and credit risk (continued)

- (c) Equity price risk. Exposure to equity price risk exists in investment assets through direct equity, equity derivatives and fund investments, where GHH Group, through investments, bears all in most of the equity volatility and investment risks. Equity price risk also exists in investment-linked products where the revenues of the usurance operations are linked to the performances of underlying equity fouds since this has an impact on the level of fees carried. Limns are set for single security holdings as a percentage of total equity holdings.
- (d) Credit spread risk Exposure to credit spread risk exists in GEH Group's bond investments. Credit spread is the difference between the quoted yields of a credit and a government bond of the same maturity. Credit spreads widen when the default risk of credit bonds increases. Hence, widening credit spreads will result in mark-to-market losses in GEH Group's bond poetfolio.
- (e) Alternative investment risk. GER Group is exposed to alternative investment risk through investments at real estate that it owns in Sugapore and Malaysia, and through real estate funds, private equities, infrastructure and hodge funds. A monitoring process is established to granage foreign exchange, country and manager concentration risks. This process and the acquisition or divestment of alternative investments are reviewed and approved by RMC and GER Group IC.
- (f) Commodity risk. GEH Group does not have any exposure to commodity risk.
- (g) Liquidity risk. Liquidity risk areas when GEH Greep is unable to meet its each flow demands, or if the assets backing the liabilities cannot be sold quickly enough without incurring significant bases. Fire an insurance company, the greatest liquidity needs typically arise from its insurance liabilities. Dentards for funds can astally be met through outgoutg normal operations was premients received, sale of assets or horrowings. Unexpected demands for liquidity may be triggered by suspender of insurance policies due to regative publicity, determination of the comonny, adverse news on other companies in the same or similar lanes of business, manual ipated policy claims, or other unexpected cash demands trem policyhelders.

Expected liquility demants are managed through a combination of treasury, investment and assetlubility management practices, which are monitored on an ongoing basis. Actual and projected each inflows and outflows are regularly monitored, and a reasonable amount of aquid assets are maintained at all times. The projected each flows from the air-force insurance policy contract liabilities consist of renewal premiums, commissions, claims, maturities and surrenders. Renewal premiums, commissions, claims and maturities are generally stable and predictable. Surrenders can be more uncertain although these have been quite stable over the past several years.

Unexpected Equidity demands are matigated through product design, risk deversification, investment strategies and systematic monitoring. Succender penalty in insurance contracts also protects GEH Group from Basses due to unexpected sumender trends and reduces the sensitivity of summiders to changes in interest rates.

The following tables show the expected recovery to settlement of financial and insurance-related assets and maturity profile of GRH Group's financial and insurance-related habitities which are presented based on contricual whitiscounted cash flows, except for insurance contract liabilities which are presented based on discounted cash nutflows resulting from recognised habilities.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended \$1 December 2021

## 38. Risk management (continued)

## 38.4 Insurance-related risk management (continued)

Market and credit risk (continued)

## (g) Liquidity risk (community)

\$ million	Less than Lyear	1 (0.5	Over 5	No specific materity	Total
2021			,,,,,,,		F 41H-
Linarios) assess at FVOCT					
Solyty securities	_	_	-	2,202	2,202
Dehr securities	491	2,663	6,889	_	10,054
Frontein assets at EVITPL		-			
Figure securines	_	_	_	13,676	13,676
Debt seguptors	3,937	17,427	44,443	1,882	68,689
Other investments	_		_	16,685	16,635
Financial assets at experience and					
Debi securinos	12	47	441	_	500
Derivative floureral assets	231	149	-	_	370
Loans	212	393	125	_	670
Reinstrens share of insurance distract hold mes-	5-13	25%	НĻ	_	887
insorance receivables	611	348	i	2,376	3,336
Other achors	845	L	_	μ	846
Cash sast cosh copicalents	9.113	_	-		9,118
Financial and insurance-related users	16,001	21,230	51,980	37,821	127,033
Other creditors	1,809	1	р		1,811
Instrance payables	6,614	7	_	_	6,621
Derivative financial (izbilaties	74	37			LII
Provision for agents' remembers benefits	134	58	99	_	291
Insurance ventraet habilities	16,024	20.018	51,590	7	87,639
Tanoncial and insurance-related liabilities	24,655	20,122	51,689	7	96,473
2020 Financial assess at FVOCT					
Figure securities	_			2,022	2,022
Debu securities	ZXII	2,946	5,950	1.022	8,576
Financial assets at EV 7PL					V O
Equity securities (1)				14,540	13,640
Debt securities	3,460	14,738	44,211	1.852	64,261
Other investments of	,	1		13,899	14,894
Financial assets at annetweel post					,
Debt securities	9	3h	297		542
Decivitive fundicial wisers	584	50	100		764
Lugus	201	623	181		1,063
Reinsurers' share of unsurance community habitanes	1,956	159	146	_	2,488
Insurance receivables	540	2	20	2,411	3,020
Other deplors	483	ī		2.42.	984
Costs and each consequents	9.636			_	9.650
Financial and insurance-related assets	17,748	18,215	56,925	19,824	120,704
Other creditors	2,550	7		<b></b>	2,557
Insurance payables	5,81h	7	_	19	5,847
Decreative foreign Hale litres	190	43	-		273
Provision for agents' represent benefits	:27	61	108	_	296
Delx issued	400	-	-		.400
Insurance contract habilities	فرارة فرارة 16	17,227	39,3%	10	83,446
Financial and insurance-related liabilities	25,925	17,3×5	49,454	29	92.823
	<u> </u>		,	17	76.023

<sup>&</sup>quot; Comportunes have been reclass fied to contemit a funerity early presentation

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

## 38. Risk management (continued)

#### 38.4 [asuronce-related risk management /communical

Market and credit risk (command)

## (g) Liquidity risk (communical)

The following tables show the current/non-current classification of assets and habilities.

Semilion         Cerrent*         current         linked         Total           2021         Caple and each equivalents         8,600         —         552         9,118           Other debaers         815         30         50         99,18           Formance recentables         1,822         1,434         56         887           Laston         194         308         —         528           Laston         194         308         —         529           Derivative infinities         11,616         71,525         9,921         92,162           Associaties         —         95         —         70           Investments         —         95         —         70           Associaties         —         95         —         195           Property, plant and equipment         —         6         480         —         195           Property, plant and equipment         —         6         6,994         —         —         194           Investment and properties         —         6,994         —         —         194           Association         —         —         230         —         —         220			Nom.	L'init-	
Oble and code equivarients         8,666         —         512         9,118           Other deboars         815         30         50         904           Featurer recentables         1,822         1,498         16         887           Larrer         194         300         —         588           Larrer         194         300         —         592           Derivative financial assets         11,616         71,225         90.21         92,462           Associables         —         55         160         —         195           Propertic, plant and equipment         67         480         —         547           Investigation assets         —         1,284         —         547           Investigation properties         2,50         76,861         961         195           Propertic, plant and equipment         6,79         76,861         961         195           Investigation plant         6,79         76,861         961         195           Cober equitors         1,780         76         69         1,924           Derivative function for the mean benefits         1,780         76         69         1,925           Deriv	S million	Corrent*	sursyn1	linked	T¤ixì
Other debuers         \$15         39         50         904           Is some receivables         1,822         1,408         16         833           Lance         194         398         16         835           Lance         194         398         1         592           Derivative financial assets         11,614         71,225         9,921         42,662           Associates         9         11,614         71,225         9,921         42,662           Associates         95         160         -         195           Property, plant and equipment         67         1480         -         195           Property, plant and equipment         67         480         -         195           Property, plant and equipment         67         480         -         195           Instance payshibe         6894         7         20         6,621           Other creditors         1,289         7         20         6,621           Other creditors         1,289         7         20         4,621           Derivative function includes         22         24         3         29           Derivative function includes         59	2021				
Final price   1,822	Cash and eash equivalents	8.600	-	512	9,11%
Reinsurera' share of insurance comract liabilities   538   339   46   887     Lancia	Other debiers	815	39	50	904
Derivative financial assets	la superce receivables	1,822	1,498	16	3,336
Derivative financial assets   312   149   9   370     Investitutif   11,616   71,825   9,921   92,462     Associates   11,616   71,825   9,921   92,462     Associates   15   160   - 195     Investitutif   167   180   - 195     Investitutif properties   167   180   - 547     Investitutif properties   23,905   76,861   9,624   110,390     Investitutif properties   1,780   76   66   1,925     Derivative function   1,780   76   69   1,925     Derivative function   1,780   76   69   1,925     Derivative function benefits   22   244   5   291     Derivative function   1,780   75   75   75     Institutif   1,780   75   75   75     Institutif function   1,780   75     Institutif function   1,780   75   75     Institutif function   1,780   75     Insti	Reinsurers' share of insurance comman liabilities	538	333	16	887
	Laurus	IN	398	-	592
Property plant and equipment   195	Derivative financial assets	212	149	9	370
Property, plant and requipment   67   480   7   547     Interestational properties   67   480   7   547     Interestational properties   7   2,884   7   2,884     Asserts   23,905   76,861   9,624   110,399     Institutional properties   1,780   76   69   1,925     Denominating payables   1,790   1,790   1,990     Denominating payables   1,790   2,533   7   2,579     Institutional desired payables   1,790   1,790     Institutional desired payables   1,790   1,464   7,990     Institutional desired payables   1,790   1,790     Institutional desired payables   1,790   1,790   1,790     Institution payables   1,790   1,790   1,790     Asserts   1,790   1,790     Asserts   1,790   1,790   1,790     Asserts   1,790   1,790     A	Interchange	11,616	71,325	9,021	92,462
Property, plant and equipment         67         480         — 547           Investment properties         — 1,884         — 1,884         — 1,884           Assets         23,965         76,861         9,624         1180,300           becomes a populates         6,894         7         20         6,621           Other creditors         1,780         76         69         1,925           Derivation function functions         10         6         5         111           Incorner tax payable         320         —         —         329           Prox, sout by agents' februaries         59         2,533         7         2,579           Insurance contract liabilities         59         2,533         7         2,579           Insurance contract liabilities         6,512         72,933         7         2,579           Insurance contract liabilities         16,366         75,089         9,799         100,254           20201         —         —         155         9,650           Cher debrars         8,622         28         158         1,028           Desperted flow         9,296         2,848         1,028         1,028           Four sollies         1	Associates		95		마 <u>s</u>
1,884   1,884   1,884   1,884   1,884   1,884   1,884   1,885   1,88	letting the assets	.55	160	-	195
Property   Property	Property, plant and equipment	67	480	-	547
December   December	litivestatent properties	_	1,2984	-	1,884
Other creditors         L780         76         69         1.925           Derivative foundation foundations         70         .06         5         111           Incorn tay payable         329         —         —         329           Prov. soul by appens' temement benefits         22         264         5         291           Debrical for         59         2,533         7         2,579           Insurance contract lightlines         6,512         72,193         9,693         38,498           Lightlifies         16,366         78,089         9,799         100,254           2020         —         15,366         78,089         9,799         100,254           2020         —         15,366         78,089         9,799         100,254           2020         —         15,366         78,089         9,799         100,254           2020         —         15,366         78,089         9,799         100,254           2020         —         15,366         78,089         9,799         100,254           2020         —         15,366         78,089         9,799         100,254           2021         —         1,669         2,889	Assets	23,905	76,861	9,624	140,390
Other creditors         1.780         76         69         1.925           Derivative foundation foundations         70         36         5         111           Incorn tay payable         329         —         —         329           Prov. soul by appens' temement benefits         22         264         5         291           Prov. soul by appens' temement benefits         22         264         5         297           Insurance contract lightlines         6,512         72,193         9,693         38,498           Liabilities         16,366         75,089         9,799         100,254           2020         —         15,366         75,089         9,799         100,254           2020         —         15,366         75,089         9,799         100,254           2020         —         15,366         75,089         9,799         100,254           2020         —         15,366         75,089         9,799         100,254           2020         —         15,366         75,089         9,799         100,254           2020         —         15,366         75,089         100,254           2021         —         1,267         1,267	les mars é royables	6.594	7	20	6.621
Demonstrate flacestal habitairies   70	• •		-		
Deferred tast payable   320					
Provisional for agents   Teste activated   18   19   19   19   19   19   19   19	Income tax mayable	329	_	_	329
Description	·		264		291
Insurance courser liabilities	•	59	2,513	7	2,579
		6.512		9,693	
Description	Liphilities				•
Cash and cosh caposaleuts         5,290         —         155         9,650           Other debrars         862         28         138         1,028           Iconjunct proposality         1,969         1,464          5,071           Reinstances' shade of insurance contract liabilities         1,925         548         .4         2,688           Four's         142         749         —         891           Derivative financial assets         577         1,79         8         704           Investments         12,929         65,530         7,848         80,407           Assetises         31         -         97          97           Interpretation properties         1,707         -         1,707         1,707         1,707           Assets         73,375         71,087         8,496         106,978           Instance payables         5,835         7         8,842           Other creditives         3,835         7         8,842           Other creditives         2,225         90         737         2,705           Instance of payables         275         271         296           Prayables         275 <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>					
Other debtors         \$82         28         138         1,028           Iosquared percendiles         1,769         1,464          3,071           Reinstater's share of insurance contract liabilities         1,925         548         .4         2,988           Frank         142         749          891           Derivative financial assets         577         1,79         8         704           Investments         12,989         65,530         7,948         80,407           Assetis         31		E 242		1-0	0.660
Designative proposition   1,769   1,464     5,071     Reinstater's share of insurance contract liabilities   1,925   548   .4   2,788     Frank					-
Reinstorers' share efficient nice contract liabilities   1.925   548   .4   2,988     Patrix   1.42   749     891     Derivative financial assets   577   1.79   8   7.04     Insectments   12,989   65,530   7,948   80,407     Assetiates     97     97     Intaggible assets     31     41     Property, plant and equipment   68   664     732     Investment properties   77,378   71,087   8,496   (66,978     Dearware physibles   5,835     7,842     Other creditives   7,378   7,778   7,778     Dearware the physible   2,78     7,78     Providing for agents' representation benefits   25   271     296     Defining the physible   400     400     Instantore content further than the physible   400       Defining the physible   400     400     Instantore content further than the physible   400					
Derivative financial assets   577   179   8   794     Investments   12789   65,530   7,948   80,407     Asseciates   - 97   - 97   - 97     Intergable assets   31   - 41     Property, plant and equipment   68   664   - 732     Investment properties   77,378   71,087   8,496   (66,978     Instance payables   77,378   71,087   8,496   (66,978     Derivative financial and dines   184   81   8   273     Income tax payable   275   726     Provision for agents' representation benefits   25   271   296     Definical tax   277   1,444   14   1,485     Debriusced   400   400     Instance exception tax   1,485     Debriusced   1,485     Description   1,485     D					
Derivative financial assets         577         179         8         704           lose-structure         12789         65,530         7,948         80,407           Associates					
12/289   65/380   7/818   80/407     Associates					
Associates         -         97         -         97           Intergable assets         31         41           Property, plant and equipment         68         684         -         732           Investment properties         1,767         1,767         1,767           Assets         77,375         71,037         8,496         106,978           Instance payables         5,835         7         8,496         106,978           Other creditions         2,225         99         737         2,703           Demonstrative of desocial liabilities         1,84         81         8         273           Income tax psychic         275         271         296           Provision for agents' retreatment benefits         25         271         296           Definition reconstruction for agents' retreatment benefits         27         1,444         14         1,485           Debringued         400         400         400         400           Instance construction for the contraction of the contract		-			-
1				7,7415	
Property, plant and equipment   08   684   -   732					-
Investment properties	•	A.b.			
Assets         77,375         71,057         8,496         100,098           Instantance payables         5,835         7         8,842           Other creditives         2,225         99         337         2,705           Denivative flusholat analysis         184         81         8         273           Income tax payable         275         276         726           Praviation for agents' retarement benefits         25         271         296           Deferred tax         27         1,444         14         1,485           Debrissued         400         400         8,828         80,227           Instantances or charact further taxes         8,108         90,241         8,828         80,227	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	03			
1500   1500		27.174		< 406	•
Other creditors         2.225         90         337         2.705           Derivative of adecial adultions         (84         81         8         273           Income tax psyable         275         726         726           Pravaion for agents' represent benefits         25         271         296           Deferred tax         27         1,444         14         1,435           Debrissued         400         400         400           Instance contact (adult) test         8,108         90,241         8,535         80,227	A15-1415		(17)27	2,716	(CF), VCC
Derivative flateral liabilities					
Provision for agents' representation   275   276   276   277   276   277   2				•	
Provision for agents' retirement benefits         25         271         296           Deferred fox         27         1,444         14         1,485           Debrissued         400         400         400           Instance reconnect transitions         8,108         99 (2.9)         8,825         80,227			<1		
Defining that   1   27   1   444   14   1,435   1   1,435					
Debt issued         400         400           Instance evoluted fundations         8,108         99,231         8,828         80,222	•				
Instantion contract fraction tens 8,108 99,231 8,828 80,227		-	1 444	:4	
<u> </u>					-
Liabilities <u>17.095</u> 71,324 9,277 97,454					
	Liabilities	17.093	71,024	9277	97,454

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$  . They werely expected in every in settlement with 1.12 counts to so the reporting date

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

#### 38. Risk management (continued)

#### 38.4 Insurance-related risk management (continued)

Market and credit risk (continued)

#### tlu Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss arising from an obligor failing to discharge an obligation. (iiii) Group is marally exposed to credit risk through (ii) investments in each and bonds. (iii) exposure tending activities and (iii) exposure to counterparty's credit in electivative transactions and remourance contracts. For all three types of exposures, financial loss may materialise as a result of a downgrading of credit rating or credit default by the hopower or counterparty.

The task of evaluating and monitoring credit risk is undertaken by the local ALCs. OEH group wide credit risk is managed by GEH Group ALC. GEH Group establishes internal limits by issuer and counterparty according to their investment credit rating which are actively monitored to manage the credit and concentration risk, and are reviewed on a regular basis. The credit worldiness of reinsurers is assessed on an annual basis by reviewing their liminoial strength through published cresh ratings and other publicly available information.

Remainrance is placed with counterparties that have a good credit rating and concentration of risk is minigated through counterparty (limits that are reviewed and approved on an annual basis,

Credit risk tensing from customer balances metatred on non-payment of premiums or consultations will only persist during the grace period specified in the policy document or trust deed until expiry, when the pelicy is either paid up or terminated.

GEH Group assues unit hicked investment policies in which the policyholder bears the nevestment risk on the assets held in the unit-linked funds as the policy benefits are directly linked to the value of the assets in the fund. Therefore, GEH Group has no material credit risk or market risk on unit-linked financial assets.

The loans in GEH Georg's postfolio are generally secured by cultateral, with a maximum loan to value ratio of 1925. The amount and type of collateral required depend on an assessment of the credit rask of the conderparty. Guidelines on the collateral eligibility have been established, and all pollateral are revalued on a begular basis. Of H management incentees the market values of the collateral requests malitional collateral, when needed and performs an importance valuation when applicable. The fair values of collateral, held by OthH Group as leader, for which it is incitted to self or plestige in the event of default is as inhibited below.

			121	2020		
S.million	Type of colleteral	Carrying amount	Fair value	Carrying amount	Pair value	
Policy Wank	Cash value of policies	2,356	5.115	2,387	5,024	
Seem ed lixury	Properties	395	812	64 !	1,217	
Secured loans	Others		<b>*</b>	1	I	
Operextises	Caşl:	98	98		-	
		2,849	6,026	5,040	6,742	

There were no securities lending arrangements as at 31 December 2021 (2020) oil).

As at the reporting date, no investments (2029; ml) were placed as collateral for currency hedging purposes.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

## 38. Risk management (continued)

## 38.4 Jasurance-related risk management (continued)

Market and credit risk (continued)

## (h) Credit risk (cominued)

The following table sets our information about the credit quality of loans and debt securities measured at amortised cost and debt securities measured at FVOCI. The maximum exposure as shown on a gross basis, before the effect of nutigation through the use of master nothing or collateral agreements and the use of credit derivatives.

S zmilibion	12-mostb ECL	Lifetime ECL net credit- impaired	Lifetime ECL credit- impaired	Total
2021		in the same of the	anipanta.	
Louis at amortised cost				
Investment grade* (BRB to AAA)	479	172	_	49)
Not rated	1		2	4
	4\$1	122	2	445
f.ess allowance	(0)	(10)	(2)	(13)
Carrying amnue:	480	112		592
Debt securities at amortised cort				
Investment grade* (BBB to AAA)	244	-	-	144
Loss allowance	(2)	-	-	(2)
Carrying announa	242	-	-	343
Debt securities at FVOCI				
Investment goete* (BBB to AAA)	6,867	56	_	4.123
Non investment grade* (C to BB)	-	10	3	1.3
Not raich	1.357	_		1,357
	7,424	-66	3	7,493
1020				
Louns at amortised cost				
bivestinent grade* (HBH to AAA)	662	125	_	787
Non investment grade* (C to BB)	-	-	347	!47
Not saled			2	
	603	125	149	937
Loss allowance	<u>. U</u>	(4)	[42]	[47)
Carrying amount	662	. 12:	107	890
Deht securistes at amortised cost				
Investment grade* (BBB to AAA)	169			169
Nor ⇒vetment grade" (C to 8B)	5		-	
	174	-		174
Loss allowance	([]			<u>(1)</u> 175
Carrying ansount	173	<del></del>	<del></del>	177
Debt securities at FVOCI				
Investment grade* (BBB to AAA)	6,258	34	-	6,272
Non investment grade* (C to BB)	204	6	2	212
Nni raied	67	-	<del>-</del>	67
	6,509	40	2	6,551

<sup>\*\*</sup> Hased on internal ratings grades which are equivalent to grades of external sating agencies.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

## 38. Risk management (continuel)

## 38.4 Insurance-related risk management (counties)

Market and credit risk (continues)

#### Credit risk (continued)

The following table sets out the credit analysis for financial assets that are not subjected to ECL.

	Investment	Non				
	grade*	Investment				'Foc∎L
	(HAR to	grade" (('			Not subject to	carrying
S million	AAA)	10 88)	Not rated	Unit-linked		emouni
202]			• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •			
Einancial assess at FVU	K.I					
Econty securities		_	_	_	2,202	2,202
Financial assets at FV:	PL				-,	
Equity securities	_	_	_	3,664	10,042	13,676
Debt kecuntura	43,171	2,276	5.141	1,576	· -	52,164
Other investments	_	_	_	3,781	12,904	16,685
Degressive financial					•	
261075	350	-	11	9	_	370
Rensures' share of						
insurance contract						
habilities	-	-	870	17	-	887
Insurance receivables	626	_	2,740	16	-	3,336
Other slebtors	6	ι	792	47	-	846
Chalt and cosh						
equivalents	_ 8,491		116	511	<u>-</u>	9,118
	52,638	2,277	9,630	9,621	25,118	99,284
2020						
Irananatzi, uksetkizi FVO	KCI .					
hapinty yearstors	_		-	-	2,022	2,022
l'imanafal, assets at FVT	۲J					
beputy from the 20				3,305	10.335	13,640
Dobt securities	49,846	2,024	5,645	1,607		\$3,122
Other investments 5			-	3,404	10,495	:3,899
Derivative (introtal				_		
awats	747		10	7		764
Reinsurers' share of memory contract						
liabilmes			2,48%		-	2,489
Insurance reconsables	7	-	3,058	8	-	3,073
Other debtors	*	1	721	217	-	984
Cash and cash						
equivalents	9,120		97	424		9,650
	50,734	2,025	12,019	9,812	77,852	96,642

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{m+1}{2}$  Based on the malitating a grades which are equivalent to grades of various rating agencies  $\frac{m+1}{2}$  Corresponds to the factor realizes tool to confine the content year's presentation.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

#### 38. Risk management (continued)

#### 35.4 Insurance-related risk management (continued)

Market and credit risk (continued)

(h) Credit risk (continued)

#### Amounts orising from RCL.

ECL provisioning is the setting of allowance for credit-impaired and non-credit-impaired exposure in accordance to SFRS (1) 9 through forward-holding ECL models.

#### Measurement of ECI. - Emplanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques

The key imputs into the measurement of FCH, are the following variables:

- probability of default (PD),
- loss given default (LGD); and
- exposure at default (EAD).

These parameters are derived from statistical models internally developed by GEH Group.

PD represents the likelihood of a horrower defaulting on its financial obligation, either over the next 12 months (12M PD), or over the renouning lifetime (Lifetime PD) of the obligation. PD estimates are derived from PD models that incorporate both quantitative and qualitative inputs, which are in turn derived from internal and external compiled data.

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss incurred during a definilt LGD is expressed as a percentage of loss per unit of exposure at the time of default and represents an estimate of the economic loss in the event of the default of the counterparty. Factors in determining I GDs include claim seniority, availability and quality of collateral, logal enforceability processes in the jurisdiction and industry of borrower and prevailing market conditions. They are estimates at a communication and are derived using statistical models. These statistical models are developed using internally compiled data and incorporate both quantitative and qualitative factors. The model outputs are adjusted to reflect forward-looking information whenever appropriate

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. GFH Group derives the EAD based on the current exposure to the counterparty and potential future exposure.

The ECL is determined by projecting PD, LGD and EAD for each individual exposure. The ECLs are first determined from the product of these durée components, which are then adjusted for forward-leoking information. The ECLs are finally discounted to the reporting date. The discount rate used in the ECL calculation is the original effective interest rate or an approximation thereof.

## Significant increase in credit risk

To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, GEH Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as ai reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. GEH Group considers available reasonable and supportive forward-looking information, which includes the following indicators.

- Internal credit rating;
- External ceedit rating;
- Actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant change to the counterparty's ability to meet its obligations.

A movement of an obligar's credit rating along the rating scale represents a change in the credit risk as measured by the change in FD.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

#### 38. Risk management (continued).

#### 38.4 Insurance-related risk management (conjugad).

#### Market and eredit risk (continued)

#### (h) Credit risk (continues):

Stentificant increase in credit risk (commond). The criteria for assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly will be determined by both quantitative changes in 12M PDs and qualitative factors. The credit risk of an obligor is deemed to have increased significantly since initial recognition if, based on GEH Group's quintimitive model, the 12M PD is determined to have more than doubled since origination, except when the obligor remains within the investment grade ranges.

Using its expert credit judgement and, where possible, selevant lastorical experience, GHH Group may determine that an obligor has undergone a significant increase in credit risk based on qualitative factors. that are undocative of such and whose effect may not otherwise be fully reflected in its quantitative analysis on a timely basis. GFH Group uses the watch-list as an additional trigger for the identification of signalicant increase in credit risk.

GFH Group considers an obligor to have relatively lower credit risk if it is of investment grade quality, taking into account both internal and external credit ratings.

## Credit risk grades

GEH Group assigns each obligor to a credit risk grade that reflects the PD of the obligor. Credit risk grades are established based on qualifyative and quantitative factors that are indicative of default risk. These factors vary depending on the nature of the exposure and the type of counterparty.

Credit risk grades are defined and calibrated such that the default risk increases as credit risk deteriorates. Each exposure is assigned with a credit risk grade at unital recognition, based on available information. on the borrower. Obligers are subject to expojing monitoring and review, and may be assigned with new crodit risk grades that better reflects their croditiviertheness. The monitoring typically involves the use of information obtained during periodic review, including published financial statements, external rating (where available), as well as qualitative information on an obligor's industry, competitive positioning, management, financial policy and financial flexibility.

#### **Delightion** of default

GEEL Group consisters a financial used to be in default by ussessing the following criteria:

Fire insurance receivables, the obliged is said to be endefault if it fails to make contractual payments within 6 months after a falls due (i.e. after expiration of the maximum granted crodit terms). For bands and loans, the obligor is said to be in default if it fails to meet as contactual obligation and there are non-payments. on another debt obligation of the same issuer to GEH Group.

#### Qualitative criteria

The counterparty is in barduraptey or has inducations of potentially segnificant financial difficulty such as lawanits or similar actions that threaten the financial yightliqu of the counterparty; dismessed exchange, interper or amalgamation without assumption or breach of material loan coverants not rectified within a given timofranse, restructuring with expected principal holicant or a breach in more find lean coverant that is not rectified within given timeframe.

The enterin above have been applied to all financial instruments held by GEH Group and are consistent. with the definition of default used for credit risk management purposes. The default definition has been applied consistently to model the PD, EAD and LGD throughout GEB Group's expected loss calculations.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

#### 38. Risk management (continued)

#### 38.4 Insurance-related risk management (continued)

Macket and credit risk (continued)

(b) Credit risk contained)

## Incorporating of forward-looking information

GFH Group incorporates forward-looking information into both its assessment of whether the credit risk of an instrument has increased significantly since its initial recognition and its ECL measurement GEH Group has performed historical analysis and identified key economic variables impacting credit risk and ECLs for each ponfolse.

These economic variables and their associated impact on the PD. EAD and LGD vary by functional instrument. Expert judgement has also been applied in this process. Forecasts of these economic variables (the base economic scenario) are obtained from publicly available economic databases published on a quarterly basis and provide the best estimate view of the economic over the next four to five years, and based on such information to project the economic variables for the full remaining lifetime of each instrument, a mean reversion approach is used. The impact of these economic variables on PDs, EADs and LGDs has been determined via regression analyses.

In addition to the base economic scenario, GTR Group uses multiple scenarios to ensure non-linear risks are captured. The number of scenarios and their attributes are reviewed at each reporting date. At 11 December 2021, for all perifolios, GFR Group concluded that two particular scenarios are capable of capturing non-linear risks inherent in all perifolios. The scenario weightings are determined by expect credit judgement, taking into account the runge of possible outcomes the chosen scenario is representance of. The assessment of signaficant norease in credit tisk is performed using the 12M PD under each of the scenarios multiplied by the associated scenario weights. This determines whether the whole financial instrument is an Stage 1, 2 or 3, and hence whether 12M or laforine ECL should be applied. Following this assessment. Ght1 Group measures ECL as either a probability-weighted 12M ECL (Stage 1), or a probability-weighted lifetime ECL (Stages 2 and 3). These probability-weighted ECLs are determined by running each scenario through the relevant ECL model and multiplying it by the appropriate scenario weighting (as opposed to weighting the inputs).

As with any economic forecasts, the projections and likelihoods of occurrence are subject to a high degree of uncertainty and the actual subcomes may be significantly different from projected outcomes. GEO Group considers these torceasts being representative of the best estanates of the possible outcomes and has analysed the non-linear risks and asymmetries without the various particles of GEO Group to establish that the chosen scenarios are appropriately representative of the range of possible scenarios.

The sensitivity of the ECL to the economic variable assumptions affecting the calculation of ECL was not material to GEH Group for the year oided 31 December 2021.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

## 38. Risk management teantimeedi

## 38.4 Ensurance-related risk management (continued)

Market and credit risk (continued)

## (h) Credit risk (continued)

# oss atlowance

The following tables show reconcidiations from the opening to the closing balance of the loss allowance by class of financial instrument.

S million	12-jenech ECL	Lifetime ECI, non credit impaired	I, (Equinte ECI), credit (impaired	Total
Loans at amortised cost				
At I January 2020	9.7	4.6	47.3	47.6
Imusfer to 12-month FCL	0.5	(0.5)		
Decrease in lesses due to tomafer	(0.3)	-	-	(9.3)
Not remeasurement of loss allowance	(0.1)	(0.6)		(0.7)
New (financial assets purchased	0.1	1.:		: 2
immedial resets that have been decognised.	(0.2)	(0,j)		(0.5)
Danges in psydels/tisk parameters	0,7	(0.8)		(0.1)
At 31 December 2020(1 Junuary 202)	1,4	3.5	42.3	47.2
Net compression and toky allegations	●.3	0.3	(4.0)	(2.9)
New financial assets purchased	0.1	-	-	0.1
commend asserts that have been deere ognised.	(0.3)	-	_	(0.1)
Vr.le offs	-	-	(36.0)	(36.0)
Tunges in residely/risk populations	(9.6)	5.2		4.6
M ST December 2021	9.9	9.5	2_3	12.7
Debt securities at amortised cost				
M 8 Junuary 2070	0.7			0.7
Artwiftmanula: aksats purchased	02	-	-	0.2
Panagas in oscalely/oxk parameters	0.4			0.4
4: 51 December 2020/1 January 2021	1.3			1.3
Secretarist tement of loss allowance	(0.4)	-	-	(0.4)
Vox Tourn in assets parchased	●.3	-	_	0.3
Thunges in exalelentisk paranveters	●.5	-	-	0.5
At 31 December 2021	1.7	-	_	1.7
bone vocuminies as FVCXT				
At 1 January 2020	5.6	1.6	2.8	:02
Frankfal to 12-mileth ECL	0.1	(0.1)		
Decrease) increase an losses due to transfer	(0.2)	0.2	-	-
Vet reministrational of loss allowance	0.2	(0.2)		
Provi Brights of lessons purchasoil	5.7			5.7
minimal assets that have been decognised.	(6.7)	(0.2)		(6.9)
Thangas in modelseask parameters	5.0	(0.13		<u>.5</u> .8
tr 31 December 2020/1 January 2021	10.8	1.2	2.8	14.8
moster to 12-meeth ECL	(0.2)	0.2	-	-
nords et un losses due to transfer	-	L.0	-	1.0
Vet per-environment of lipscallipseamer	(●4)	-	-	(0.4)
sew (instant) assess purchased	2.7	-	-	2.7
change of Leady Prof. have been discovered to severe	(2.5)	(P.II)	-	42.66
hanges in modeforisk parameters	(3.2)	2.1		(1.1)
At 31 December 2021	7.2	4.4	1.8	14.4
встульнуваем в проделения в предоставления предоставления в предоставления				
of financial assets for the year Of December 2021	(3.7)	9.2	(4.0)	1.5
1 December 2020	6 \$	(1.5)	41-41	4.5
1 TAUMING 2720		(1.3)		4.5

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

#### 38. Risk management (continued)

#### 38.4 Insurance-related risk management (continued)

Market and credit risk (continued)

#### (h) Credit risk (cominued)

# Loss allowance (continued)

The carrying amount of outstanding premiums as at 31 December 2021 is \$663.3 million (2020: \$563.7 million). The ECL relating to outstanding premiums as at 31 December 2021 was \$8.0 million (2020: \$8.5 million) for GEH Group. The changes in credit loss recognised in the income statement during the year was \$0.5 million (2020: \$4.2 million).

The changes in risk parameters may consist of management overlays, including but not lighted to, the application of judgeness to:

- key economic variables including GDP growth projections;
- ii) scenano weightings;
- iii) obligor's credit rating to reflect a deterioration to credit risk;
- iv) take into consideration government relief programmes; or
- events ariseo after post-model-ruo that require adjustment.

Loss allowances are reviewed quarterly, taking into consideration the adequacy of key variables.

#### (b) Concentration risk

An important element of managing both market and credit risks is to actively manage concentration to specific issuers, counterparties, inclustry sectors, countries and currencies. Both internal and regulatory limits are put in place to manage concentration risk. These limits are reviewed on a regular basis by the respective management committees. GEH Group's exposures are within the concentration limits set by the respective local regulators.

GEH Group actively manages as investment mix to ensure that there is no significant concentration in market and credit risk.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

## 38. Risk management (continued)

#### 38.4 Insurance-related risk management (continued)

### Market and credit risk (continued)

#### (j) Sensitivity analysis on financial risks

The sensitivity analysis below shows the impact on GEH Group's net profit after tax by applying possible shocks to each key variables, with all other variables constant. Co-movement of key variables can significantly affect the fair values and/or amortised cost of financial assets. To demonstrate the impact due to changes in each key variable, the variables are changed individually.

The impact on oet profit after tax represents the effect caused by changes in fair value of financial assets whose fair values are recorded in the income statement, and changes in valuation of insurance contract liabilities. The equity sensitivity represents the impact on net profit after tax and the effect on changes in fair value of financial assets measured at FVOC1.

#### Market risk seositivity analysis

	Impact on pro	allt ofter tox	Impact on equity		
\$ eptilisen	2021	1029	2021	2024	
Change in variables:					
(a) Interest cate (2)					
+50 hasis points	50.B	105.7	(192.6)	(120.1)	
50 basis points	(117.5)	(179.8)	144.7	63.8	
(b) Foreign currency					
5% increase in market value of MYR.					
ಲಿದಾರಿಗಾ <b>ಗುವಂದ ಕಾ</b> ನಿವರ್ಗ	0.1	PΙ	0.1	0.1	
5% decrease in market value of MYR					
demonstrated mosets	(0.1)	(01)	(0-1)	(0.1)	
5% increase in market value of USD					
dissummated instits	0.7	(01)	<b>0,</b> 7	(0.1)	
5% decrease in market value of USD decommend marks	40.70	01	40.70	D 1	
	(0.7)	01	(0.7)	4.1	
(c) Equity <sup>(b)</sup>					
20% inercest at market indices					
STI	51.3	49.4	129.9	113.6	
KL/CI M76 decrease in market indices	-	01	34.6	409	
5T1	(#1.2)	(49.4)	(129.9)	(113.6)	
KLCI	(51.3)	(0.1)	(34.6)	(40.9)	
	_	(0.1)	4240EF	(40 3)	
(d) Credit (3)					
Spread +300 basis points	(165.2)	(1120)	(487.3)	(436.8)	
Speed - 100 basis points	208.4	140.4	583.6	5200	
(e) Alternative investments (PIC)					
10% increase in market value of all					
alternative investments	72.1	74.2	73.9	76.0	
10% docrease in market value of all					
alternative investments	(72.1)	(74.2)	(73.9)	(76.0)	

Alternative investments compare investments in real estate, private equity, infrastructure and hedge funds.

The method for deriving seasitivity information and significant variables did not change from the previous year.

<sup>(</sup>b) Comparatives have been rectagodied to conform to current year's presentation

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

#### 38. Risk management (continual)

#### 38.4 Insurance-related risk management (continued)

#### Operational and compliance risk

Operational risk is an event or action that may potentially empact partly or completely the achievement of the organisation's objectives resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes and systems, human-factors, or external events.

Compliance risk is any event or action that may potentially impact partly or completely the achievement of the organisation's objectives, as a result of its failure to comply with the following applicable laws, regulations and standards:

- local laws, regulations and rules governing hornsed activities undertaken by GEH Group;
- foreign laws, regulations and roles that have extraterratorial invisdiction over GFH Group's licensed activities;
- codes of practice promoted by industry associations of which GEHI Group are members of, and
- any other applicable regulations which do not specifically govern the licensed activities undortaken by GHR Group but can expose the organisation to legal, regulatery or reputational loss.

The day-to-day management of operational and compliance risk is through the maintenance of comprehensive internal control frameworks, supported by an infrastructure of systems and procedures to monitor processes and transactions. GMC reviews operational and compliance issues on a GEH Group basis at its monthly meetings white local level issues are managed and monitored by the local SMTs. GEH Group Internal. Audit team reviews the systems of internal controls to assess their ongoing relevance and effectiveness, and reports at least quarterly to GEH Group Audit Committee.

#### Technology, Information and cyber risks

Technology risk is defined as risk related to any potential adverse outcome, damage, loss, dispapage, violation, system/hardware failure, capacity deficiency arising from the use of technologies such as electronic hardware/services, software, online networks and telecommunications systems

Information risk is defined as risk telated to confidentiality, integrity and availability of information (in physical or digital form).

Cyber risk is defined as risk related to sets perpetrated by malicious threat actors including internal sabotage, espanage, malicious attacks, backing incidents, freudulest conduct using information and communication technologies.

OEH Occup adopts a risk based approach in managing technology, information and cyber aisks relating to cyber-attacks, data loss/leakage, deficiency in change management, emerging technology, anadequate vendor management, inferior system acquisition and development, network security vulnerability, privilege access manage, system accurity vulnerability, system unavailability and technology obsolescence. Key risk indicators related to technology, information and cyber risks are reported to GEH Group Board on a regular hasts. Independent assessment is performed by GEH Group Internal Audit for its adequacy and effectiveness.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

## 39. Financial assets and financial liabilities classification

	GROUP						
	Mandatorily						
t - Dire-	meaning of	_	Amortised	1310001	Insurance	<b>T</b> 1	
\$ million 2021	FVTPL	‡5 FVTPL	cost	FVOCI	contracts	Total	
			30.010			30.046	
Cash and placements with central banks	-	-	27,919	-	-	27,919	
Singapore government measury bills and accounties	1,230			9,832		11,112	
Other government treasury bills and securities	1,692	10	347	23,110	-	26,159	
Placements with and luens to banks	758		17,595	7,109	_	25,462	
Linens to costomers	47	_	286,232	2	_	786,281	
Dehi securities	4,054	22	331	23,608		28,045	
Equity securities and investment funds	4,596	**	301	1,374	-	5,970	
Debt and equity securities	8,680	23	331	24,982		34,015	
Derivative receivables	9,267	•••	33.	64,562	_	9,267	
Other assets	7,545	_	5.270	_	467	5,737	
Amounts due from associates	_	_	40	_	-	40	
Financial assets	22,674	32	337,734	65,0 <b>85</b>	467	425,992	
Non-figencial essets			031,104	65/063		16,099	
						442,091	
Life insurance fued financial assets	34,381	46.344	11,262	5,995	_	98,182	
Life insurance fund non-financial assets		7		.4772		1,914	
Total assets						542,187	
Deposits of non-bank customers			342,395	-	_	342,395	
Deposits and balances of banks	_	_	8,239	-	-	6,239	
Trading portfolio liabilities	393	_	_	-	_	393	
Derivativo payables	9,070	_	-	-	-	9,070	
Other liabilines (1)	_	-	6,049	-	733	6,\$77	
Debt issued		1,092	19,023	_		20,115	
Financial liabilities	9,463	1,092	375,746	_	78%	387,089	
Non-linanced habilities						4,454	
						391,543	
Lafe insurance sund fanaecial lighthities	109	_	8,595		36,946	95,670	
Lafe unsurance fund son-financial liabilities							
Total Habilities						636	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>(4)</sup> Other habilities include amounts due to associares.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

# 39. Financial assets and financial liabilities classification (continued)

	GROUP						
	Mandatorily						
	measured at		Amortised		Insurance		
S million	FVTPL	as FYTPL	DOLL	PVOCI	contracts	Total	
2020							
Cash and placements with central banks		-	26,525	_	-	26,525	
Singapore government treasury hills							
and securities	1,139			9,489	-	10,678	
Other government measury hills and securities		14	328	18,906	-	22,663	
Placements with and loans to banks	1,231	-	19,716	11,8 <del>6</del> 9		32,R16	
Ohris 10 dustoniers	89		263,449			263,538	
Delte securities	3,972	19	387	23,555	-	27,933	
Equity securities and investment funds	3,661	<del></del>	<del></del>	1,549		5,210.	
Debt and equity securities	7,633	19	387	25,104		33,143	
Démyativo receivables	15,223	-	-	-		£5,223	
Other assets	-	-	4,887	-	298	3,185	
Amounts due from associates			41			41	
Financial atseté	28,680	33	315,383	65,368	298	409,762	
Non-Sinancial assets						14,565	
						424,327	
Life insurance fund financial assets	31,830	44,45?	L4,244	4,749		95,280	
Life insurance fund non-financial assets						1,788	
Total essets					_	521,395	
Deposits of non-bank dustomers	_	_	314,907	_		3:4,907	
Deposits and balances of banks	-		9,586			9,586	
Trading portfolio liabilities	339	_	_	-	_	339	
Derivacive poyables	15,516	_	_	_	_	15,510	
Other liabelities (1)	_	_	7,205	-	605	7,810	
Dehr issued		1,006	23,549	_	_	24,355	
Financial Entillises	15,833	1,006	355,947	_	6015	372,513	
Non-financial Isabilisies		•				3,252	
•						375,765	
Life invarance fund financial liabilities	264		8,590		82,906	91,760	
Life insurance fund non-financial liabilities			-,,,,,		12/12/	2,694	
Tetal liabilities					-	470,219	
THE REVENIES						470,613	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Other labelities etchale attenuts due to assertate.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

# 39. Financial assets and financial liabilities classification (continued)

million	Mandatorily measured at FVTPL	Designated as FVTPL	Amortised cost	FVOCI	<u>Fo</u> tpl
2021					
Cash and placements with central banks	-	-	22,863	_	22,863
Singapore government treasury hills and securities	1,130	-	-	3,976	10,106
Other government treasury bills and securities	1,671	-	347	7,692	9,710
Placements with and loans to banks	758	-	11,639	5,119	17,516
Loans to customers	47	-	189,354	_	189,401
Dehr securities	3,369	-	331	13,063	16,763
Equity securities and repostment funds	3,142	-	-	126	3,268
Debt and equity securities	6,511	-	331	13,189	20.031
Placements with and advances to subsidiaries	-	-	21,930	_	21.930
Derivative receivables	7,812	-	-	-	7,812
Other wesets	-	-	2,059	_	2,059
Amounts due from associates	-	-	40	_	40
Flagneial assets	17,929		248,563	34,976	301,468
Non-financial assets					20,754
Total alseil					322,222
Deposits of non-bank costomers	_	_	221,213	_	221,233
Deposits and balances of banks	-	-	€,708	_	6,708
Deposits and balances of subsidiaries	-	-	28,250	_	28,250
Trading portfolio liabilities	393	-	-	_	393
Derivative psychles	7,654	-	_	-	7,656
Other liabilities (1)	-	-	1,769	_	1,769
Dehx issued	_	1,692	18,565	-	19,657
Financial Babilities	8,049	1,092	276,505		285,646
Non-financial lizbilMies					979
Total lishBitles					286,623

Other liabanies include amounts due to associates.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

# 39. Financial assets and financial liabilities classification (commund)

	BANK					
S million	Mandatorily measured at FYTPL	Designated as FVTPL	Amortised cost	FVOCI	Total	
2010						
Cash and placements with central banks	_	-	20,969	_	20.969	
Singapore governmen reasony hills and securious	1,052	-	-	8,242	9,294	
Other government treasury bills and securities	2,264	-	378	6,769	9.411	
Placements with and Jouns to banks	1,231		13,963	3,889	24,063	
Louis to customers	84	-	170,567	_	170,651	
Debt securities	3,179	-	347	12,081	15,647	
Equity scentifies and investment funds	2,066	-	_	131	7,197	
Debt and equity socurivies	5,245	-	387	12,212	17,844	
Placements with and advances to substitutes	_		17,246	_	17,246	
Derivative receivables	13,518		-	-	13,518	
Other asserts	_	-	2,886	_	2,886	
Arsounts due from associates		-	41	-	41	
Financial aspets	25,394		226,437	36,112	285,943	
Non-financial assets					20,967	
Total assets				_	306,010	
Deposits of non-bank customers		-	197,745	_	197,745	
Deposits and balances of banks	_	-	7,40%	_	7,408	
Deposits and halances of subsidiaries	_		25,793		25,793	
Trading portfolio liabilities	339			-	339	
Derivative payables	13,768	-	-	-	13,768	
Other Habilities (1)		-	1,710	_	1,710	
Debt issued		1,006	22,391		23,397	
Financial liabilities	14,107	1,006	255,047	_	270,160	
Non-financial liabilities		_	•		965	
Total Babliffies				_	271,125	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>(3)</sup> Other liabilities include amounts due to associares

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

#### 40 Interest rate Jean-bouark deform

London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR), a key benchmark used in international financial markets is being replaced by Risk Erice Rates (RFRs). On 5 March 2021, the Francial Conduct Authority (FCA) confirmed a two-phase discontinuation approach for LIBOR. Specifically, all British pound Liero, Swess franci, Japanese yen LIBORs, and the 1-week and 2-month US dollar LiBORs were discontinued after 31 December 2021. All remaining US dollar LiBORs will discontinue after 30 June 2023.

The expected disconsumutation of LIBOR directly inspacts the viability of the Singapore Dollar Swap Offer Rate (SOR), which relies on US dollar LIBOR in its computation. Singapore Interbank Offered Rate (SIBOR), a key benchmark widely used at reliable learns, as sumilarly disadvantaged by the continued rebance on expert pidgement and lack of underlying transactions. The Singapore (Comight Rate Average (SORA) has been identified as fae alternative benchmark to SOR and SIBOR. MAS has established an industry-led Steering Commutee for SOR and SIBOR transition to SORA (SC-S1S) to oversee the coordination and insplication of the transition efforts.

With a view to cheure a smooth transition from LIBOR to Risk From Rates (RFR) and from SOR and SBOR to SORA, the Group established an unertial Steering Companies to coordinate the effects across various business, countd, and support functions. Clear timelines and deliverables were established, keeping pace with the aidustry transition readings and regulatory timelines.

To ensure infrastructure and process readeness, the Group has employmented the necessary system appeades and modifications. The Group have also assessed for adequacy of provisions relating to the permanent discontinuation of benchmarks in loan documentation, derivatives contracts, debt assuances and other relevant contracts. All contracts impacted by the discontinuation of non-HSD LHBORs and rise 1-week and 2-month US delical LIBORs have been remediated or have adequate fallbacks. With regards to SOR and SHIOR transition, the Group expect to achieve full remediation of relial lixens and transition majority of corporate leans and derivatives by end 2022. Appropriate adjustments will be made to reflect the differences between SOR and SORA.

## Hedge accounting

The Greap uses interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps to hedge its exposure to changes in fair value of fixed rate debt instruments and its foreign currency exposure in a fair value hedge. The Group also uses interest rate swaps to hedge the variability in the cash flows that is related to a variable rate asset or liability resulting from changes in interest rate. With respect to heage accounting, the Group's primary exposure is to USD 4.1BOR due to the extent of fixed rate debt instruments and subordinated debt denominated in USD that are designated in fair value hedge relationships.

The Georgi East applies the following relief from heavy accounting requirements that were introduced by the amendments made to SFRS(I) 9:

- When considering the 'highly probable' requirement, the Group assumed that the interest rate benchmark on which the hedged cash flows are based is not altered as a result of interest rate benchmark reform
- In assessing the economic relationship between the hedged item and the fiedging historical, the Group
  assume that the interest rate beachmark on which the hedged item and hedging instruments are based is not
  altered as a result of the interest rate benchmark reform.
- For fair value fieldges of unterest rate risk on fixed true debt, the Group only assesses whether the designated benchmark is separately identifiable at fieldge enception and not revisated on reporting date.

In applying the amendments, she Group assumes that the uncertainty arising from interest rate benchmark reform to no longer present when contracts are modified to reflect the new benchmark rates or are discontinued. The Groupplay assumes that when modifying contracts to reflect the new benchmark rates, no other changes to the terms of the contracts will be made.

As at M December 2021, the notional amount of hedging distruments referencing USD LIBOR is \$9.45 billion (2020, \$10.51 billion)

## NOTES TO THE PINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

#### 40. Interest rate benchmark reform (continued)

## Exposures impacted by the IBOR reform

The following table shows the total amount of non-derivative financial assets, non-derivative financial liabilities and derivative financial instruments that have yet to transition to an alternative benchmark rate as at 31 December 2023.

			GROUP		
\$ million	SOR	LSD LIBÓR	SIBON	Ditter LIBOR	Total
Gross carrying amount					
Leans to enstances	17,352	24,047	15,369	7,320	64,088
Non-decisative limancial asset	17,352	\$4,047	15.369	7,320	64,088
Gross carrying amount					
Deposits of non-bank customers	-	1,621	-		2,621
Departs and Robridge of Lenks	_	76%	_	-	768
Non-derivative financial liability	-	3.389		<u></u>	3,389
Notional amount					
Denvative financial instruments	35,067	116,685	-	8,100	159,852
Debt securities		285		117	402
			BANK		
S million	SOR	USD LIBOR	SIBOR	Other LIBOR	Total
Gross currying aniouni					
Loans to existences	17,353	21.356	15,369	6,587	60,664
Non-derivative financial asset	17,352	21_556	15,169	6,587	60,664
Cross correting amount					
Deposits of non bank austragers		7,621			2,626
Deposits and balances us banks	_	768			768
Non-derivative financial liability		.3 <b>_5</b> H9			.L,589
Noberal amount					
Derivative financial enstrancers	35,347	147,172		8,003	160,522

The "Other LIBOR" belances contain positions that have the last interest fixing in 2021 based on GBP LIBOR, ECR LIBOR or JPY LIBOR. Phose non-USD LIBOR positions will be fixed using an alternative interest rate benchmark from the first interest fixing in 2022 onwards.

### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

#### 41. Fair values of financial instruments.

#### 41.1 Valuation governance framework

The Group has an established governance framework with respect to the measurement of fair values, which includes formalised processes for the review and validation of fair values independent of the businesses entering also the transactions.

The Market Risk Management (MRM) function within the GRM is responsible for the model validation process. Function models are used to price functial instruments and to calculate value-at-risk (VaR). MRM ensures that the models used are fit for their attended purposes through internal independent validation and periodic review. MRM sources market rates independently for risk measurement and valuation.

The Treasury Financial Control and Advisory - Valuation Control function within the Group Finance Division is responsible for the establishment of the overall valuation control framework. This includes, but is not limited to, reviewing and recommending appropriate valuation adjustatest methodologies, independent price testing, and identifying valuation gaps

Valuation policies are formulated and reviewed annually by the Valuation Control function, and approved by the Market Risk Management Committee, the CEO and BRMC. Valuation adjustments are applied to account for input parameter uncertainties, known model deficiencies and other factors that may affect valuation. The main valuation adjustments are described below.

#### **Bid Offer Adjustments**

When the position is marked at mid price, bid offer adjustment is applied to account for close out cost.

#### Model Adjustments

Mode? adjustments are applied when there are inherent limitations in the valuation models used by the Bank.

#### Day 1 Profit or Loss Adjustments

Day 1 profit or loss adjustments are applied when the valuation technique involves the use of significant aiguis which are not readily observable. The difference between the fair value at initial recognition and the transaction process defenred as an adjustment.

The Day I profit or less adjustments are released to the income statement when the significant inputs become observable, when the transaction is derecognised or amonised over the life of the transaction.

## Credit Valuation Adjustments

Credit voluntion adjustments are applied to account for the expected losses due to counterparty default on derivative positions.

## Collateral Valeation Adjustments

Collateral valuation adjustments are applied when a derivative is denominated and discounted using a curve in the sume currency but is opiliteralised in another currency.

## Parameter Uncertainty Adjustments

These valuation adjustments mainly include adjustments for illiquid prices or internal methodologies used to derive model inputs.

The Group is internal audit provides independent assurance on the respective divisions' compliance with the policy.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

#### 43. Fair values of financial instruments (continued).

#### 41.2 Fair values

Financial instruments comprise financial assets, financial liabilities and off-balance sheet financial instruments. The fair value of a financial instrument is the price that would be received to sell an asset or past to transfer a hability in an orderly transaction between market participants. For fatancial assets and habilities not earlied at fair value on the financial statements, the Group has determined that their fair values were not materially different from the carrying amounts at the reporting date. The carrying amounts and fair values of fatancial instruments of the Group are described below.

#### Financial assets

Fair values of each and balances with central banks, placements with banks, interest and other short term receivables are expected to approximate their partyling amounts due to their short terms or frequent re-pricing.

Securities held by the Group, comprising government securities and debt and equity securities are substantially carried at fair value on the halance sheet.

Non-bank customer loans are mainly carried at amortised cost on the balance sheet, not of allowances for impaired and non-impaired loans. The Group deems that the carrying amounts of non-bank loans approximate their fair values in substantially all the loans are subject to frequent re-pricing.

#### Financial Habilitles

Fair value of certain financia: habitities, which include mainly customer deposits with no stated maturity, interback betweenings and hoppowings under represents agreements, are expected to approximate their carrying antisants due to their short tener. For non-hank customer term deposits, contractual or derived cash flows are discounted at market rates as at repeating date to estimate the fair values, which approximate the partying proports.

The fair values of the Group's subordinated form potes and covered bonds are determined based on quoted market prices and independent broker offer prices. For other debts issued which are usually short term, the fair values approximate the carrying autobits.

## 41.3 Fair value hierarchy

The Group determines the lair values of its financial assets and habilities using various measurements. The different levels of fact value measurements are as follows:

- Level 3 quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
- Level 2 inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable market data either directly
  (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from observable market data). The valuation tockniques that use
  market parameters as inputs include, but are not limited to, yield curves, valuabilities and freeign exchange rates;
  and
- Level 3 inputs for the valuation that are not based on observable market data.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

#### 41. Fair values of financial instruments tronsioned,

# 41.3 Fair value hierarchy assessments

The following table seminarises the Group's assets and habilities measured at four values subsequent to initial recognition by level of the fair value hierarchy.

		20	11			20	20	
S mallion	Level I	Level 2	Level 3	Lotal	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	[ oral
Recurring four value measu	rements							
GROUP								
Figuracial assess measured a	nc this value	!						
Placency tywith and savis								
to banks	2,194	5.673		7,867	4,688	18,012		17,7380
Debt and equity securities	24,813	7,699	1,172	33,684	25,204	h,31%	1,214	32,756
Lincoln to Custophers	-	1	47	14			89	54
Detivative receivables	42	8.483	B12	9.267	73	15,0-1×	102	13,328
Claverament heasing buly								
and securities	30,834	6,090		36,924	27,234	5,670		32.915
Lite insurance tood								
avesiment securines								
and other assets	60,879	23,489	2,552	H6,970	50,272	27,797	1,997	3[036
Total	148,763	51,166	4,583	174,711	174,4371	59,874	1,372	175,717
Non-dinencial assets micesur	red at tals s	alue						
Lice his, range fund								
m9551/66/d propertie5			1.884	1,HH4			1,767	1,567
Associates			95	45		97	-	97
Lotat		-	1,474	1,979		92	1.767	1,864
Financial liabilities parasur								
Derivative payables	168 393	8,262	640	9.070 393	117 339	15,430	(1)	10,516
Tool og pertjel schols littes i Debt iskabil		1,092	-	1,992	550	1		jajo) Jajoj
Title myerange rund	-	1,042		1,400		1,000		11281
Lagran halont es	.3	106		109		263		10.1
Lotal	514	4.4441	640	111,664	258	(6,504	rel	004 00,175
10421	HIS	7,4401	ш	111,004	- '0	13, 177	-117	,17
BANK								
lith ancial assert racatured a	ıı fulr vələr							
Plage-ray ty with soil loops								
to banks	1,524	4.553		5,877	2,548	7,557		10,120
Debt in diversity scenarios	13.528	5,376	496	19,700	12,143	3.831	443	17,497
Logist to custometry		-	47	47				4.4
Demographic beautifies	15	7.161	636	7.812	4	(5,41)	94	(3.5°×
Government be outy follow-								
and securities	14,693	4,776	-	14,400	17,903	4,424		18,327
Total	29,360	21.866	1.179	52,405	29,593	20,288	n24	59,506
Financial Habibities measur	od od foda	-l						
Derivan ve begable:	1917年19 1.号	7,075	448	7,656	:-8	15,645		1 - 3-5
Trade g portfolio bola hos	193		440	393	20 339	: 7,414 )	_	339
Debt issued	,77,7	1,092	-	1,042	*11.	1,006	_	1,0.6
Total	526	8,167	4+K	9,341	4317	(4,651	33	
LULAI		•,1u/	++1	7,141		,1111		15,133

During the financial year, the Group transferred increasing assets from I evel 3 to I evel 1 as processor, and observable at sine frem mercused analyst activity. Financial assets were also transferred from Level 1 to I evel 2 when quoted prices become unabservable arising from reduced market activity.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

## 41. Fair values of financial instruments (continued)

## 41.3 Fair value biererchy (continued)

Valuation techniques and unobservable inputs for Level 3 instruments

GROUP	Fair value at			
\$ milition	31 December 202)	Classification	Valuation techniques	Unobservable inputs
financial aggega			·	
Equity securities	1.172	FVTP1/FVOCI	Net asset value/ Multiples/Discounted cash flows	Value of net asset/Earnings and multiples/Cash flows and discount rate
галья 10 сияюльную	47	FVTJY].	Discounted cash flows	Cash flows and discount rate
Derivativo receivables	B12	FVTP).	Option pricing model	Valuatiny/Correlation
			Derivatives prigipa	Long dated rate
Lafe insurance fund investment securities and other assets	2,552	FYTTYLFVOCI	Net asset value	Value of net asset
Total	4,583			·
filmancial lightiteles				
Derivative payables	640	FVIPL	Option pricing rendel Derivatives pricing	Violetilety/Correlation Long deled rate
Total	<b>(48</b>			-

# Movements in Level 3 financial assets and liabilities

			2021		
GROUP \$ million	Delet and equity securities	Loans to	Derivative receivables	Life Insurance fund investment Lecurities and other assets	Tetal
Financial assets measured at fair value					
At 1 January	1,214	89	102	1,967	3,372
Purchases	11	-	42	541	594
Septements/disposals	(14)	(26)	(8)	(243)	(291)
Transfers in to Level 3	201.3	_	226 (11	_	246
Gains\(lusses\) recognised in					
- profit or loss	(68)	(16)	449	188	653
· other comprehensive income	4	(#)	1	(1)	9
At 31 Sweether	1,172	47	<b>2</b> 12	1,552	4.583
Unrealised (losses)/gains included in profit or loss for assets held at the end of the year	(68)	(16)	738	274	928

Helates to nansfers from Level 2 to Level 3 due to use of reputs net based on market observable data

# NOTES TO TRE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

## 41. Fair values of financial instruments a concared)

## 41.3 Fair value hierarchy (communed)

Movements in Lovel Minangial assets and liabilities (communed)

	2020							
GROUP S rigilling	Debt and equity	Loans to	Derlyative receivables	Lafe Insurance fund investment securities and other assets	Total			
Financial assets measured at fair value								
At I January	1,025	RC	- 61	1,76-1	3.020			
Polyhoses	Q.A	- 1	10	284	359			
Settlementskingosak	166)	PAID	(P)	[99]	(275)			
Transfers in perjout of Travel ?	2370.	-	(2) 77	-	16			
Gains (losses) recogn; sed in								
- profit or loss	53	(2)	38	20	109			
<ul> <li>Object completes we mounte</li> </ul>	1415	(9)		(2)	103			
At 31 December	1,214	80	:02	1,967	3,172			
Unrealisted gains (josses) included in profit on loss for assets held at the end of the year	53	(3)	66	51	167			

Genns/Josses) included in profit or loss are presented in the income statement as follows:

	2021			2020		
	Freding Income	Chiber Income	folal	Trediag income	Other Income	Yoral
Total paros mais, ded in profit or loss for the year ended.	365	288	653	64	20	10"
University of points included in predit or less for assets held at the end of the year.	654	274	9ZN	1:6	<b>5</b> 1	167

<sup>\*</sup> Rélates to transfér y from Level 2 to Level 3 due to the of experts not based on market observable data.

\*\* Rélates to transférs from Level 3 to Level 2 due to the of impossible data data data.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

## 41. Fair values of financial instruments (continued)

## 41.3 Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Movements in Level 3 financial exacts and liabilities (continued)

		202	3			2020				
BANK S million	Debt and equity securities	Leans to	Derivetive receivables	Tetal	Debt and equity securities	Least to	Derivative reseivables	Tetal		
Figuretial assets mea	ored at fide	value								
At I January	443	84	96	625	442	172	53	667		
Purchases	4	_	42	46	56		*	94		
Sattlements/disposals	(9)	(21)	(7)	(37)	(83)	(86)	(1)	(170)		
Transfers in rotous of) Level 3	21 (1)	_	_	IL	(2) <sup>(2)</sup>		-	(2)		
Gelias (Toeses) recognised in										
profit or less cuter comprehensive	16	(16)	503	543	12	(2)	35	48		
income	31	4	_	31	(12)	(#)	_	(12)		
At 31 December	496	47	636	1,179	443	84	9\$	625		
Unrealised gaine/(losses) included in profit or loss for saces held at the end of										
therysam	16	(16)	557	557	l2	(3)	69	78		

	2021		2020	
Total gains included in profe or less for the year ended	Trading (access) 503	Tetal 563	Trading Income 48	Total 48
Unrealised gains included in profit or less for essets beld at the end of the year	557	\$57	78	78

Relates to transfers from Level 2 to Level 3 due to use of inputs not based on market observable data.

Believes so complex from Level 3 to Level 2 due to use of inputs based on market observable data.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the figure all year ended 31 December 2021

## 41. Fair values of financial instruments (continued)

#### 41.3 Fair value hierarchy communicity

Movements in Level ! Snanoual assets and liabilities (continued)

	GROUP				BANK			
	2021		207	2020		2021		:0
	Desirative		Derjaulisy		Derivative		Derivative	
5 m IIUan	payables	Total	payables	Tutal	payables	لعادا	paya htes	Total
Financial Habilities messu		t						
At I January	69	64	41	41	55	55	3.3	33
Issaes	144	144	83	#7	144	144	79	79
Senforcented appearls	(80)	(80)	(16)	(16)	(80)	(XU)	(10)	(141)
Transfers in to foul off								
Level 3	226***	226	(7)**	(2)	-	-	-	
Losses igainst recognised in								
- profit or loss	281	2K1	(53)	(44)	329	129	(41)	(40)
corner comprehensive								
ngorae	(°)	4#1		٠	_	-	_	-
ACM December	640	<del>64</del> П	(9	ęψ	4- 8	448	55	55
One ear used (losses) 'gains' included in profit or loss his Labilities held at the								
end of the year	(542)	(542)	4	9	(369)	(369)	19	14

----- · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

Games (lesses) at a unlikelyne produtier by so are presented in the minimal statements is follows:

	GROLF.				BANK				
	202	:1	2020		2021		2020		
S million	Trading jorner	Total	Trading	lelaT	Trailing income:	Tretal	Frading income	Intal	
Total flowest gams meloded or profit or loss for the year ended	12811	(281)	*1	3.	(329)	(.529)		1. 	
There's real (hosers) gains uncluded in profit or loss for hybridises beld at the end of the year.	(\$42)	(\$42)	y	A_	(369)	(100)		19	

# Movements in Lovel 3 non-financial assets

	CROUP								
		2024	2020						
	Life insurance			Lafe ansurance					
	fund lasestment	r		found insertment					
S million	properties	Associates	Total	properties	Tanal				
Non-financial assets measured at fair valu	ie								
ALC Tropping	1,767	-	1,767	1,786	1.786				
Purchases not tamisfer from property, plant									
and equipment	39	-	94	4					
Craffees of the Devel 4		47:1	97	_	-				
Girins (losses) scopen; sed in									
<ul> <li>grafif is loss.</li> </ul>	84	(2)	K2	(19)	1191				
- albet 25 opretabilise nazota	(6)		(6)	7	п				
At 6 December	1,88,1	98	1,979	1,767	1,767				

Relates to parafere them (level 2 or Cevel 2 due to use of increasing hased on non-sectionary able data)

<sup>27</sup> Relative vilouistres from Level 2 to Level 3 due to con of imputs new books on market observation days.

Relates to transfers from Level 1 to Level 2 due to use of mysts has obtained on market observable data.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

#### 42. Offsetting financial assets and financial Habilities

The Group enters into master notting arrangements with counterparties. The credit risk associated with favourable contracts is reduced by the master notting arrangement to the extent that if an event of default occurs, all amounts with the counterparty are settled on a not basis. These arrangements do not qualify for not presentation on the balance about as the right to offset is enforceable only on the occurrence of fature events such as default or other credit events.

The disclosures set out in the tables below pertain to financial assets and financial liabilities that are not presented not in the Group's balance shoot but are subject to enforceable master needing agreement or similar arrangement that covers similar financial instruments. The disclosures enable the evaluation on the potential effect of netting arrangements as well as provide additional information on how such credit risk is mitigated.

GROUP				Referred amounts <u>not</u> wifset on balance sheet		
Types of Heapetal assets/Babilities 5 million	Cerrying amounts so balance sheet (A)	Amounts not subject to detting agreement (B)	Amounts subject to notifing agreement (A - B = C + D + E)	Florovial instruments (C)	Collateral (D)	Net temports to scope (E)
2021						
Financial assets Derivative receivables Reverse repurchase	9,267	3,163	6,104	4,625	236	1,243
egreements	3.03713	1,800	1,237	1,224	_	13
Securities borrowings	ונוך			1	-	_
Totat	12,311	4,969	7,342	5,X50	236	1,256
Pinanciai Habilities Derivative payables Repurchase agreementa	9,070 2,056 <sup>171</sup>	1,731 997	7,339 1, <b>0</b> 59	4,625 995	1,283	1,431
Securities lendings	2,450···	***	3	777	_	**
Total	11,131	2,728	B,403	5,625	L,283	1,495
2020 Figuratial assets Derivative receivables	15,223	4,441	10,782	8,437	423	1,922
Reverse repurchase agreements	4,157.00	2,437	1,720	1.710	_	10
Securities borrowings	200	ı	<u> </u>	1	<del></del>	-
Tetal	19,382	6,879	12,503	10,148	423	1,932
Financial linbilities						
Derivative payables	15,516	3,343	12,173	8,437	1.398	2,338
Repurchase agroemocuts	1,221 (3)	1,136	35	25	-	•
Securines lendings	109	<u> </u>			_	
Teral	16,738	4,480	12.258	8.522	1,398	2,338

PARAMENTAL REPORTS A STREET THE SHOWN SHOWS ARE THE ABSTRACT OF CONTROL OF CONTROL OF SECURITIES AND ASSESSED AND ASSESSED ASSESSED AND ASSESSED AS

<sup>1-9</sup> Cash collaceral placed under securities becowings are presented under placements with end loans to banks and other assets on the balance should find memorated at amortised cost.

Report have agreements shown above are the aggregate of transactions recorded as separate line items on the behance above, manually deposits of banks and non-bank customers and other liabilities, and are substanted at amortised cross

<sup>(%)</sup> Cash colleteral placed under securities lendings are presented under other halt-times, and are measured in amortised costs.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

## 42. Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

BANK				an politions speet an politions speet		
Types of Anancial assets/linbellies 5 million	Carrying smooths on bulance sheet (A)	Amounts not subject to netting agreement (B)	Amounts subject to netring agreement (A - R = C+D+R)	Financial instruments (C)	Collateral (D)	Net nanounts to scope (E)
2021	•		•	•	•	
Financial assets Derivativo roscivables Reverse regurchase	7,812	1,639	6,123	4,45	359	1,306
agreements	2,16914	932	1,237	1,224	-	13
Securities betrowners	6 121	6			-	_
Total	9,967	2,627	7 <sub>6</sub> 760	5,682	359	1,319
Financial Habilides Derivolive payables Reputchase agreements	7,656 1,059 <sup>(2)</sup>	728	6,928 1,059	4,458 995	790	1,68 <b>0</b> 64
Total	8,715	728	7.987	5,453	790	1,744
2020 Strancial sasers Derivative receivables	13,518	2,620	10,698	B,318	607	1,773
Reverse reparchase agreements Securities borrowings	1,808,1 <sup>11</sup>	90	1,718	1,708	-	10
Total	15.327	2,911	12.416	10.026	607	1,783
Financial Habilities Derivative payables	23,768	2,267	11,501	8,31%	1,025	2,158
Repurchase agreements	85 (1)	<del> .</del>	85	85		<u> </u>
Totel	13.653	2.267	11,586	B.403	1.025	2,158

Severse report has agreements shown above are the aggregate of transactions recorded in separate line items on the balance shows namely placements with central banks, these should not be found to the placement of the placeme

Obstructions: placed under securities businengs are presented under placements with end loans to basis on the balance cheer, and are measured as amortised cost.

Reputations agreements shown above are the aggregate of messactions recorded as separate line treats on the balance direct, menely deposits of banks and non-bank customers and other liabilities, and are recovered at amortised cost

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

## 43. Contingent liabilities

The Circup conducts businesses involving acceptances, guarantees, documentary credits and other similar transactions. Acceptances are undertakings by the Group to pay on receipt of bills of exchange drawn. The Group issues guarantees on the performance of customers to third parties. Documentary credits commit the Group to make payments to third parties on presentation of supulated documents. As the Group will only be toquired to meet these obligations in the event of customer's default, the cash requirements of these instruments are expected to be considerably below their normal contractual amounts.

	GROUP		BAN	BANK	
	2021	2020	2021	2028	
	S millSon	Smillion	S mulliform	S celllion	
Guareniess and standing leners of gredu:					
Term to muturity of one year or less	6,770	4,248	5,592	3,202	
Term to maturity of terms that one year	2,472	2,437	1,544	1,505	
	9,242	6.685	7,136	4,707	
Acceptances and endorsements	1,016	845	442	337	
Documentary woulds and other					
short term trade-relized transactions	6,393	5,762	4,721	4,627	
	16,651	13,292	12,299	9,671	
43.1 Applysed by fedurary					
Agriculture, mesing and quarrying	192	56	22	22	
Manufacture	1,417	1,216	353	228	
Building and construction	2,137	2,171	L,066	1,183	
General commerce	10,287	7,423	8,757	6,388	
Transport, storage and communication	359	359	254	296	
Financial institutions, investment and holding companies	1,116	657	550	506	
Professionals and individuals	113	283	49	43	
Others	1,029	1,127	927	1,005	
	16,651	13,292	12,299	9.671	
43.2 Analysed by geography					
Singapore	11,347	8.913	11,276	8,773	
Mulayera	1,125	1,114	6		
Indonesia	1,169	1,003	_	_	
Greater China	2,520	1,835	520	443	
Other Assa Pacific	128	192	135	212	
Rest of the Weeld	362	235	362	235	
	16,661	13,292	17,299	የልየነ	

Contingent liabilities analysed by geography is based on the country where the transactions are recorded.

### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021 -

#### 44. Commitments

Commitments comprise mainly agreements to provide credit facilities to customers. Such credit facilities (concellable) and non-cancellable) can either be made for a fixed period, or have no specific materity.

		GkC	GROUP		NK.
		2021 S million	2020 Smillion	2021 S million	2020 Smillion
44.L	Credit commitments				
	Chadration cought for bitters				
	Term to maturity of one year or less	143,648	2 J4,540	70,6 <del>99</del>	17,66K)
	Form to maturity of more than one year	29,414	25,591	25,649	36,119
		171,062	160,134	96,339	01,914
44.2	Other commitments				
	Capital commitment authorised and contracted	220	227	2.14	235
	Forward depovis and assets purchase	359	4,670	1,090	2.614
		579	3,897	2,224	2,549
443	Total commitments	171,641	((4,03)	98,563	96,768
44.4	Credit controllorests applying by factoring				
	Agriculture, mining and quarrying	1,408	2,500	657	700
	Manufacturing	8,025	5,820	2,637	3.611
	Building and construction	17,338	17,965	13,54D	13,695
	General concrete	24,809	22,782	19,692	17.916
	Transport, statege end contract, carea Front public significances	4,768	3,578	4,080	2,858
	Investigate and building continuous	53,570	45,386	33,967	35,544
	Professionals and individuals	54.552	49,685	16,409	14,072
	<b>Chier</b>	6,592	8,445	5,357	5.963
		171,062	160,154	96,339	93,919
44.5	Credit commitments analysed by geography				
	Singapore	136,454	120,097	83,515	79,890
	Mislowa	8,736	8,44n	469	156
	litekungsia	5,379	5,082	-	_
	Greater China	13.709	19,140	5,548	6,876
	O tea Avit Patitie	3,071	7,915	3,091	2,920
	Rest of the World		3,454	3,716	3,476
		171,062	160,134	<b>46,339</b>	<u> </u>

Credit commitments analysed by geography is based on the country where the transactions are recorded

#### 45. Unconsolidated structured entities

Unconsolidated structured ontities refer to structured entities that are not controlled by the Group. The Group's transactions in these structured entities are for investment opportunities as well as to facilitate cherd transactions. The Group's maximum exposure to loss is primority latinted to the carrying antotation its balance sheet and toan and capital commitments to these structured entities.

The following table summarises the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities recognised in the Group's financial statements relating to the interests in unconsolidated structured entities undertaken by business segments

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

## 45. Unconsolidated structured outilies Continued)

CROUP (\$ million)	Global investment hanking	Insurance	Others	l'eta1
2021				
PVOCLavelmels	83		#	83
2-V 1PL intentions		125	*	126
Okner assers		6_	<del>-</del>	6
Total exerts		131		215
Other (n2n) tres				<del>-</del>
Total liabilities				
Other commitments				
Loan and capital to sum linearly authorised and contracted $^{\mathrm{QS}}$ .	34			
Jaconic earned from sponsored itructured entitles <sup>171</sup>	*	55	34	89
Assets of structured entities	660	7,186	3,019	10,874
2020				
EVOC) investments	5.3	-		53
EVTPL investments	_	112	5	10.7
Other assets		4		-4
Total assets	51		<u> </u>	169
Other Labilities	_			
Total liabilities		· .		
Other comminments				
Four and capital communicates authorised and contracted $ ^{\rm D}$ .				21
laconic earned from sponsored structured entitles in	•	47	36	83
Assets of structured cutities	445	5,252	2270%	3,996

The amount of assets transferred to sponsored omities during 2021 and 2020 were not significant

## 46. Financial assets transferred

## 46.E. Assets pledged

vasera breaten	GROUP		84	NK .
	2021 \$ entition	2020 \$ mallon	202) Smellon	2020 Simellar
Government treasury bills and securities	2 4		3	3 til <u>2</u> il 2 il
- Хибријани	183	102	185	103
- Others	857	277	676	3
Placements with and linns to hanks		- 4		
Loans to du dymens	3,132	2,4 <b>h</b> 2	2,990	2,039
Debt vices hes	[,465	1,951	533	95
	5,637	3,901	4_5H2	2,294
Obligations to requirely sense to pledged	2,056	1,270	1,059	

These were also as label in the Group's capital communertis authorised and contracted in Nov. 44.
The groupe carried prior spring plant in grangement frequence of fair value grant in boost recognised by the Group mesing from the interests bold by the Group in the coconvoledated revestment lasts.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

#### 46. Financial assets transferred (continued)

#### 46.1 Assets pledged (consinued)

- (a) The amounts received from repurchase transactions are recognised as collaterised borrowings, "obtigations to repurchase assets pledged", measured at amortised cost and included in deposits of banks and non-bank customers and other liabilities on the balance sheet. The above assets pledged as collateral for repurchase transactions are not derecognised but are presented separately on the balance sheet.
- (b) The amounts paid in reverse repurchase transactions are recognised as collaterised lendings, measured at amortised cost and included in loans to banks and non-bank customers as appropriate. The firmerial assets accepted as collateral for reverse repurchase transactions are not recognised as assets on the balance sheet. The fair value of financial assets accepted as collateral, which the Group is permitted to sell or re-pledge in the absence of default is \$3.05 billion (2020; \$4.26 billion), of which \$0.96 billion (2020; \$0.06 billion) have been sold or re-pledged. The Group is obliged to return equivalent assets.
- (e) Transactions are conducted under terms and conditions that are usual and customary to standard socurities lending (equivalent to repurchase transactions) and securities borrowing (equivalent to reverse repurchase (ransactions).

#### 46.2 Assets assigned as security for covered bonds issued (Note 21.5)

Pursuant to the Bank's Global Covered Bond Programme, selected pools of Singapore bousing Joans originated by the Bank have been assigned to a bankruptcy-remote structured entity, Red Sail Pte. Ltd. (Note 33.3). These bousing loans continue to be recognised on the Bank's bolance sheet as the Bank remains exposed to the risks and rewards associated with them.

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts of the covered bonds in issue was \$3.52 billion (2020; \$3.73 billion), while the carrying amounts of assets assigned was \$12.08 billion (2020; \$7.28 billion). The difference in values is attributable to an intended over-collateralisation required to maintain the credit ratings of the covered bonds in issue, and additional assets assigned to facilitate future issuances.

## 47. Assets held for sale

Assets held for sale comprise properties which the Group is disposing of, subject to terms that are usual and customary in the completion of the sale. The transactions did not have any material impact on the Group's not carolings and not assets for the financial years goded 31 December 2021 and 33 December 2020.

#### 48. Minimum lease payment receivable

The following table sets cut a maturity analysis of lease payments, showing the undiscounted lease payments to be received after the reporting date:

	GROUP		BANK	
	2021 \$ million	2020 \$ multon	2021 5 million	2020 5 mPlice
Within I year	48	43	16	16
After 1 year but within 5 years	53	50	3	5
Over 5 years	*	_	*	_
	143	93	19	31

The Group leases retail, commercial and hotel space to third parties with varying terms including variable rem, escalation clauses and renewal rights.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year cuded 31 December 2021.

#### 49. Related party transactions

Loans and deposits transactions with related parties arise from the ordinary course of bisiness and are not treated any differently from boars and deposits transactions with other customers of the Group. Crusic facilities grained are subject to the same credit evaluation, approval, monitoring and reporting processes. All transactions with related parties are conducted on commercial terms.

#### 49.1 Material related party transactions

Material related party followes at the reporting date and temps choice during the financial year were as follows:

€illa-					BANK	_
@ illi			1.lfe			1.15e
<u>S million</u>		Associates	intersect fund	Subsidiaries	Associates	_insurance fund
(e) Loen-	splacements and other receivable	5				
	lanuary 3021	41	669)	17,246	40	.98
<b>ਪ</b> ਕ ਰ	hangu <sup>*</sup>	(4)	[69]	4,683	(5)	(199)
At M	December 2021	41	MIL	21,929	40	9
(b) Depos	skis, berrowings and other payable					
	lanury 2021		XIH.	25,793	200	569
Net el	lixnac	25	296	2/457	316	(28)
At 31	December 2021	431	1,197	28,250	230	541
(c) Off-b	slance sheet credit facilities (1)					
ALL	lanuary 2023		- 11	36939	_	::
Net el	harge <sup>*</sup>	_		(4,555)		$\tilde{n}_1$
A) 31	December 2021	<u> </u>		12,374		4
(d) Incon	er statement transactions					
Year	ended 31 December 2021					
Intere	of character	*	13	90	*	p
Interes	ы ехрапае		6	103	1	
Recta	Unveine	-	2	19	_	ď
live in	Althoropeople and other records	-	327	67		Z52
Renta	Land wher expenses	19	21	452	18	
Year	ended 31 December 2020					
latere	SI meome		15	124	#	п
Intest	SI čejkana:	5	5	253	≠ 2	1
	Lincome		2	23		П
	nt rooms asson and other income	21	233	W:		171
Renia	Land other expenses	17	19	305	:7	ů.

OR-halance don't confliction are refer to transaction related and made actated costingenous and commitments.

During the Innancial year, the Group had banking transactions with director-related and key management-related entities and personnel of the Group. These transactions were not material.

## 49.2 Key management personnel compressation

	na na	74 BA
	2021	2030
	eolli m 2	\$ mallon
Key upmagement persecuel compensation is as follows:		
Short-term employed benefits	42	43
Share-based benefits	13	16
	55	e.3

Certain performance related payments in key propagement personant of the Bank in relation to the performance year 2021 included in the above table are subject to the approval of the Renumeration Committee.

Comparatives have been updated following the approval of the performance-related payments to key management personnel of the Bank in relation to the performance year 2020 by the Reminieration Compaignee.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

#### 50. Capital management

The key objective of the Group's capital management policy is to maintain a strong capital position to support business growth and strategic investments, and to sustain investor, depositor, distoiner and market confidence. In line with this, the Group targets a minimum credit rating of "A" and ensures that its capital ratios are comfortably above the regulatory minima, while balancing shareholders' desire for sustainable schemes and high standards of prodence. The Group actively manages its capital composition with an optimal mix of capital instruments in order to keep its overall cost of capital low.

A description of the key teems and conditions of the regulatory capital insumments can be found in Notes 21, 14 and 21 of the financial statements, and the approaches adopted by the Group for the computation of risk-weighted assets can be found in the "Pitlar 5 Disclosures" chapter.

The Group has complied with all extentally amposed regulatory capital sequirements. The table below shows the composition of the Group's regulatory capital and its capital adequacy ratios as of 31 December 2021.

5 million	2021	20711
Tier I Capital		
Codedaty (Sares)	18.040	17,883
Disclosed reserves/others	25,782	21,021
Regulatory adjustments	(8,977)	(7,048)
Common Equity Tier I Capital	34,845	33,206
Additional Tier 1 capital	1.231	1,230
Regulatory adjustments		
Tier I Capital	36.076	747436
Ten 2 deputal	3,497	4,830
Regulatory adjustments		
Total Eligible Capital	39,573	75,966
Cherlot	197.164	190,525
Market	14.681	10.955
Operational	16,021	15803
Risk Weighted Assets	224,566	208,148
Capital Adequacy Ratios		
Common Equity Tier I	15.5%	15.2%
iia I	16.0%	15.83%
Youal	17.6%	17.9%

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

#### 51. New accounting standards and interpretations

As of the reporting date, certain new standards, amountments and interpretations to existing accounting standards have been published. The Group lass not neopical the following relevant new revised facinitial reporting standards and interpretations that have been assued but not yet effective.

SFRS(I)	Title	Effective for figure on or after
Various	Annual Improvements to SFRS(0s 2018-2020	1 January 2022
SFRS(I) 3 (Amendments)	Reference to the Conceptual Francework	1 January 2022
		•
SFRS(f) 1-16 (Amendments)	Prop. 139, Plans and Equipment - Proceeds before - Intended Use	1 January 2023
SFRS(f) 1-37 (Amendments)	Onerous Contracts - Us a of Fulfilling a Contract	1 January 2022
SFRS(1) 17	Insurance Contracts	Lifabatary 2023
Varjous	Amendments to SFRS(I), 17	1 January 2023
Various	Amendments to SFRS(b) 1-1 and SFRS(b) Practice Summers 2: Disciosive of Accounting Policies	Liamoney 2023
SFRS(I) I-I (Amendments)	Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current	1 January 2023
SFRS(1) 1-8 (Antendments)	Definition of decounting historials	LiJanuary 2023
SFRS(f) 1-12 (Amendments), SFRS(f) 1 (Amendments)	Dieferred Tax related to Assets and Elabilities arising from a Single Transaction	1 January 2023
SFRS(I) 1-10 (Amendments). SFRS(I) 1-28 (Amendments)	Sale or Computation of Assets between an Investor and list Assectate or Joint Venture	To be determined

Resed on the Group's preliminary analysis, the initial application of the above standards finefading their consequential emendments) and interpretations are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group's financial statements, except as described below:

#### SFRS(I) 17 Insurance Contracts

SFRS(I) 12 was issued in March 2018 as replacement for SFRS(I) 4 Insurance Contracts. The Accounting Standards Council Singapore (ASC) has issued Amendments to SFRS(I) 17 on 27 Nevember 2020 to defer the effective date to amount reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

It is a comprehensive new accounting standard for inscalance contracts covering recognition and incastrement, presentation and disclosure. SFRS(i) 17 requires a general model where estimates are re-measured in each reporting period. Contracts are measured using the building blocks of

- discounted probability-weighted cash flows:
- an explicit risk nitjustment; and
- a contraction service inargin representing the uncarried profit of the contract which is recognised as revenue
  over the contract period.

#### The general model is supplemented by

- a simplified approach (the premium allocation apprised)) mainly fer short duration contacts, and
- a inredification of the general measurement model (the variable fee approach) for appreach with direct participation features.

SFRS(I) 17 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after I January 2023, with comparative ligares required. Retrospective application to required. However, if full serrospective application for a group of analysis is impracticable, then the entity is required to chaose either a modified retrospective approach or a fair value approach. GEH Group plans to adopt SFRS(I) 17 on the required effective date and a Project Steering Committee was formed to oversee the implementation of the standard. GEH Group expects that SFRS(I) 17 will result in an important change to the accounting policies for insurance conteact habitation of GEH Group and is likely to have a significant impact on profit and total equity together with GEH Group's future foll statements' presentation and disclosures.

#### REGISTERED OFFICE OF THE ISSUER

### Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited

63 Chulia Street #10-00 OCBC Centre East Singapore 049514

#### ARRANGERS AND DEALERS

Merrill Lynch (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. 50 Collyer Quay, #16-01

**OUE** Bayfront Singapore 049321 J.P. Morgan Securities Asia Private Limited

> 88 Market Street Capital Tower, 26th Floor Singapore 048948

> > **TRUSTEE**

in respect of Notes other than AMTNs

The Bank of New York Mellon, **London Branch** 

One Canada Square London E14 5AL United Kingdom

**LEGAL ADVISORS** 

to the Issuer

in respect of English and U.S. law

in respect of Singapore law

in respect of Australian law

Oversea-Chinese Banking **Corporation Limited** 

63 Chulia Street #03-05 OCBC Centre East

Singapore 049514

Linklaters Singapore Pte. Ltd One George Street #17-01

Singapore 049145

Allen & Gledhill LLP

One Marina Boulevard #28-00 Singapore 018989

King & Wood Mallesons

Level 61 Governor Phillip Tower 1 Farrer Place Sydney New South Wales 2000 Australia

to the Arrangers

in respect of English and U.S. law

Clifford Chance Pte. Ltd.

12 Marina Boulevard Marina Bay Financial Centre Tower 3 25th Floor Singapore 018982

#### **AUDITORS**

(in respect of the audited annual consolidated financial statements of OCBC Bank as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019)

**KPMG LLP** 

16 Raffles Quay #22-00 Hong Leong Building Singapore 048581

ISSUING AND PAYING AGENT AND CALCULATION AGENT

in respect of Notes other than AMTNs and (in the case of the Issuing and Paying Agent only) Notes cleared through the CMU, CDP and DTC

> The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch

> > One Canada Square London E14 5AL United Kingdom

CDP PAYING AGENT, TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

in respect of Notes cleared through CDP

The Bank of New York Mellon, Singapore Branch

One Temasek Avenue #02-01 Millenia Tower Singapore 039192

ISSUING AND PAYING AGENT, PAYING AGENT, REGISTRAR AND CALCULATION AGENT

in respect of AMTNs only

BTA Institutional Services Australia Limited (ABN 48 002 916 396)

Level 2 1 Bligh Street Sydney New South Wales 2000 Australia (in respect of the audited annual consolidated financial statements of OCBC Bank as of and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2021)

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

7 Straits View #12-00 Marina One East Tower Singapore 018936

CMU LODGING AND PAYING AGENT, TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

in respect of Notes cleared through the CMU

The Bank of New York Mellon, Hong Kong Branch

Level 26, Three Pacific Place
1 Queen's Road East
Hong Kong

ISSUING AND PAYING AGENT,
EXCHANGE AGENT, TRANSFER AGENT
AND REGISTRAR

in respect of Notes cleared through DTC

The Bank of New York Mellon 240 Greenwich Street New York, NY 10286

**REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT** 

in respect of Notes other than AMTNs and Notes cleared through the CMU, CDP and DTC

The Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV, Luxembourg Branch

> Vertigo Building – Polaris 2-4 rue Eugene Ruppert L-2453 Luxembourg